www.informaworld.com/wjbp

THE OFFICIAL JOURNAL OF THE WORLD FEDERATION OF SOCIEITIES OF BIOLOGICAL PSYCHIATRY

THE WORLD JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL PSYCHIATRY

۲

Volum 0 ction 2009

www.informaworld.com/wjbp

ISSN 1562-2975

THE WORLD JOURNAL OF **BIOLOGICAL PSYCHIATRY**

Volume 10 – Number 4 – Section 2 – 2009



The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry

Chief Editor

Siegfried Kasper Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Medical University of Vienna, Austria Tel: +43 1 40400 3568. Fax: +43 1 40400 3099 E-mail: wfsbp@meduniwien.ac.at

Assistant Chief Editor

Rainer Rupprecht Department of Psychiatry, Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Munich, German Tel: +49 89 5160 2770. Fax: +49 89 5160 5524. E-mail: rainer.rupprecht@med.uni-muenchen.de

Field Editors

Molecular Psychiatry Dan Rujescu - Germany Stephen Lawrie - United Kingdom Psychopharmacology George Papakostas - United States Clinical P Janusz Rybakowski - Polana Basic Science Michel Harmon - France

Regional Editors

Óye Guereje - Nigeria Ahmed Okasha - Egypt Min-Soo Lee - Korea Nori Ozaki - Japan Europe Robertas Bunevicius - Lithuania Florence Thibaut - France Latin America Wagner Gattaz - Brazil Jorge Ospina-Duque - Colombia North America **Owen Wolkowitz** - United States Mauricio Tohen - United States

Education/E-learning Joseph Zohar - Israel

Aims & Scope

This clinically orientated journal is an important platform from which to present information generated within the international field of biological psychiatry. The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry aims to increase knowledge of clinical and basic research and covers a broad spectrum of diverse categories.

Its readership includes clinical psychiatrists, educators, scientists and students interested in learning more about the latest developments

- In particular, The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry strives to:
- Educate through critical review papers
- · Publish original work and observat
- · Express personal opinions through Letters to the Editor

Subscription Information

The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry is a peer-reviewed journal, published 4 times a year by Informa Healthcare, Telephone House, 69-77 Paul Street, London EC2A 4LQ, UK.

Annual Institutional	Subscription,	Volume 10,	2009
Institutional	\$455	£275	€365
Corporate	\$910	£550	€725

For more information, visit the journal's website: http://www.informaworld.com/wjbp For a complete and up-to-date guide to Informa Healthcare's journals and books publishing programmes please visit: http://catalogue.informahealthcare.com/

The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry (USPS permit number pending) is published 4 times a year in March, May, August and November. The 2009 US institutional subscription price is \$455. Periodicals postage paid at Jamaica, NY by US Mailing Agent Air Business c/o Worldnet Shipping USA Inc., 149-35 177th Street, Jamaica, New York, NY11434. US Postmaster: Please send address changes to Air Business Ltd, c/o Worldnet Shipping USA Inc., 149-35 177th Street, Jamaica, New York, NY11434.

The sterling rate applies in the UK, the euro rate applies in mainland Europe and the USD rate applies to the rest of the world. All subscriptions are payable in advance and all rates include postage. Journals are sent by air to the USA, Canada, Mexico, India, Japan and Australasia. Subscriptions are entered on an annual basis, i.e., January to December. Payment may be made by sterling cheque, US dollar cheque, euro cheque, international money order, National Giro, or credit card (Amex, Visa, Mastercard).

Subscription and single issue ordering information

Customer Services, Informa UK Ltd, Sheepen Place, Colchester, Essex CO3 3LP, UK, Tel: +44 (0)20 7017 5540. Fax: +44 (0)20 7017 4614. E-mail: healthcare.enquiries@informa.

Back issues

Informa Healthcare retains a three year back issue stock of journals. Older volumes are held by our official stockists: Periodicals Service Company (http://www.periodicals.com/tandf. html), 11 Main Street, Germantown, NY 12526, USA to whom all orders and enquiries should be addressed. Tel: +1 518 537 4700; Fax: +1 518 537 5899; E-mail: psc@periodicals.com

Editorial Board Hagop Akiskal - United States Carlo Altamura - Italy Franck Baylé - France Michael Bauer - German Graham Burrows - Australia Giovanni B Cassano - Italu Eva Ceskova - Czech Republic Marcelo Cetkovich-Bakmas - Argentina Elias Eriksson - Sweden Peter Falkai - Germany Maria Luisa Figueira - Portugal Thomas Frodl - Ireland Jose Luis Garcia Aguirre - Mexico Serge Gauthier - Canada Birthe Glenhtøj - Denmark Frederick Goodwin - United States Harald Hampel - German Eric Hollander - USA Florian Holsboer - German Ladislav Hosak - Czech Republic Marek Jarema - Poland Shitij Kapur - United Kingdom Sidney Kennedy - Canada Saroja Krishnaswamy - Malaysia Biruta Kupca - Latvia Masayoshi Kurachi - Japan Veronica Larach - Chile Rupert Lanzenberger - Austria Pierre-Michel Llorca - France Mario Maj - Italy Josef Marksteiner - Austria Anu Kant Mital - India Julien Mendlewicz - Belgium Stuart Montgomery - United Kingdom Hans-Jürgen Möller - Germany Sergei Mosolow - Russia Charles Nemeroff - United States Tarek Okasha - Egypt George Papadimitriou - Greece Nicole Praschak-Reider - Austria Giorgio Racagni - Italy Zoltan Rihmer - Hungary

Printed copies of the journal are provided as a free supplementary service accompanying an online subscription. Customers who do not receive their free printed copy can normally request a replacement which will be fulfilled at our discretion and is subject to the availability of stock. Claims for missing copies must be lodged within three months of original publication

Production enquiries to: Therese Pietilä, Production Editor. E-mail: therese.pietila@ informa.com. Advertising enquiries to: Daniel Wallén, Key Account Manager, Tel: +46(08)440 80 40 E-mail: salesscandinavia@informa. com. Enquiries regarding article reprints and translations should be directed to Sonia Shah, Reprints Sales Administrator, Tel: +44 (0)20 7017 5985. E-mail:sonia.shah@informa.com

The print edition of this journal is typeset by Datapage (India) Private Limited, Chennai, India, and printed on ANSI conforming acid-free paper by Hobbs the Printers, Totton, Hampshire, United Kingdom

Copyright © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored, transmitted, or disseminated, in any form, or by any means, without prior written permission from Informa UK Ltd, to whom all requests to reproduce copyright material should be directed, in writing.

Informa UK Ltd grants authorization for individuals to photocopy copyright material for private research use, on the sole basis that requests for such use are referred directly to he requestor's local Reproduction Rights Organization (RRO). The copyright fee is \$43 for STM exclusive of any charge or fee levied. In order to contact your local RRO, please contact International Federation of Reproduction Rights Organizations (IFRRO), rue du Prince Royal, 87, B-1050 Brussels, Belgium; E-mail: IFRRO@skynet.be; Copyright Clearance Center Inc., 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923; E-mail: info@copyright.com; Copyright Licensing Agency, 90 Tottenham Court Road, London, UK W1P 0LP; E-mail: cla@cla.co.uk. This authorization does not extend to any other kind of copying by any means, in any form, and for any purpose other than private research use

Abstracting and indexing services:

Index Medicus/MEDLINE, Science Citation Index Expanded, ISI Alerting Services, Current Contents/Clinical Medicine, Current Contents/Life Sciences, NeuroScience itation Index

Impact Factor: 1.691 (Source: 2007 JCR Science Edition)

Informa UK Ltd makes every effort to ensure the accuracy of all the information (the "Content") contained in its publications. However, Informa UK Ltd and its agents and licensors make no representations or warranties whatsoever as to the accuracy, completeness or suitability for any purpose of the Content and disclaim all such representations and warranties whether express or implied to the maximum extent permitted by law. Any views expressed in this publication are the views of the authors and are not the views of Informa UK Ltd.

Instructions for Authors

The aim of The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry is to increase the worldwide communication of knowledge in clinical and basic research on biological psychiatry. The composition of The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry, with its diverse categories that allow communication of a great variety of information, ensures that it is of interest to a wide range of readers. It offers the opportunity to educate (through critical review papers), to publish original work and observations (original papers), and to express personal opinions (Letters to the Editors). The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry is thus an extremely important medium in the field of biological psychiatry all over the world.

The published articles may derive from research of the full spectrum of biological and psychological fields of inquiry, encompassing classical and novel techniques in biological psychiatry as well as strategies such as neuroimaging, genetics, neuropsychopharmacology, psychoneuroendocrinology and neuropsychology. Emphasis will be given to original research that is of wide interest and clearly advances the field.

Manuscripts must be written in good standard English and should present new results as well as be of significant scientific value

Contributions will be considered for the following categories: Original investigations – this category is intended for full-scale basic or clinical studies including large controlled trials. Articles may contain up to 5,000 words (not including references, figures and tables) and include a structured abstract (not exceeding 200 words) and five keywords. Additonal material like text, tables, figures, images, videos etc may be made available online to specifically interested readers. For more information see point 10 of the manuscript file

Brief reports - this category is intended for smaller, self-contained laboratory or clinical studies brief reports – this category is intended for smaller, self-contained laboratory of clinical studies including series of cases illustrating a novel therapeutic approach or clinical observation, or alerting readers to important adverse drug effects. Please note that single cases and case reports will not be considered. Papers in this category may contain up to 2,500 words (not including references, figures and tables) and include a structured abstract (not exceeding 200 words) and five keywords. Additonal material like text, tables, figures, images, videos etc may be made writely be order to react for like internet of data. available online to specifically interested readers. For more information see point 10 of the manuscript file specifications

Reviews - this category is for scholarly, comprehensive reviews that summarise and critically evaluate research in the field addressed and identify future implications. Potentially acceptable articles should have field-altering impact, reframing current hypotheses or causes and treatment of mental disorders. Papers of this category may contain up to of 5,000 words (not including references, figures and tables) and include a structured abstract (not exceeding 200 words) and five keywords

Letters to the Editors - this category is intended for comments on articles published in the World Journal of Biological Psychiatry. Papers of this category may contain up to 500 words (not including references, figures and tables).

Book reviews - this category is intended for reviews that critically report on recent book publications in the field addressed and identify future implications. Papers of this category may contain up to 500 words (not including references, figures and tables).

Editorials - Editorials will be invited by the Editors but may also be submitted. Authors wishing to submit papers in this category are advised to contact the Editorial Office before doing so Editorials may contain up to 1,000 words (not including references, figures and tables). Online Submission

The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry's web-based manuscript submission and handling system Manuscript Central, is available at http://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/swbp Please note that online submission is mandatory, manuscripts received via email are not accepted.

Click on "online submission" which directs you to Manuscript Central's log in page. Here either create an account or enter an existing account to log in your "Author Centre" to upload manuscripts.

If you have difficulties in submitting your manuscript electronically, or if you require additional assistance, contact the World Journal of Biological Psychiatry's Editorial Office at: wfsbp@ meduniwien.ac.at.

The receipt of the manuscript will be acknowledged by an e-mail which includes a manuscript nber. Each manuscript will be assigned to at least three reviewers. The man number should be quoted in all correspondence with the Chief Editor and Editorial Office. Submission Requirements

ibmission of a manuscript implies: that the work described has not been published before (except in the form of an abstract or as part of a published lecture, review or thesis); that it is not under consideration for publication anywhere else; that the author(s) are entirely responsible for the scientific content of the paper; that its publication has been approved by all co-authors, if any, as well as by responsible authorities - tacitly or explicitly - at the institute where the work has been carried ou

Manuscripts submitted for publication must contain a statement to the effect that all human studies have been approved by the appropriate ethics committee and have therefore been performed in accordance with the ethical standards laid down in the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki. It should also be stated clearly in the text that all persons gave their informed consent prior to their inclusion in the study. Details that might disclose the identity of the subjects under study should be omitted.

thors are requested to disclose any commercial or other associations that might pose a conflict of interest in connection with the submitted article. All funding sources supporting the work, and institutional and corporate affiliations of the authors must be acknowledged. Any conflict of interest should be noted with a separate heading, included in the main manuscript file after the main text and the acknowledgements but before the references. If you do not have As a condition of consideration for publication, registration of clinical trials in a public trials registry is required. A clinical trial is defined by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (in accordance with the definition of the World Health Organisation) as any research any conflict of interest please state so by putting "None to declare" in the respective section. All authors are also prompted to confirm this during the submission process in the online system. Manuscripts that do not include this statement may be sent back to the author for completion. It is further required that all authors sign the Authorship statement form and upload it together. project that prospectively assigns human participants or groups of humans to one or more health-related interventions to evaluate the effects on health outcome. For more information please visit http://clinicaltrials.gov/ vith the manuscript files in the journal's online submission form

Reports of animal experiments must state that the Principles of laboratory animal care (NIH publication No. 86-23, revised 1985) were followed, as well as specific national laws (e.g., the current version of the German Law on the Protection of Animals) where applicable.

It is a condition of publication that authors assign copyright or license the publication rights of the contents of their articles, including abstracts, to Informa Healthcare. This enables full copyright protection and dissemination of the article and the Journal, to the widest possible The editors reserve the right to reject manuscripts that do not comply with the above-me copyright protection and dissemination of the article and the journal, to the Widest possible readership in electronic and print formats. A document to verify this will be sent upon acceptance for publication. This document should be signed by the corresponding author and returned to the publisher for archiving. To read more about Informa Healthcare's policy and guidelines regarding copyright, consult the online author service pages: <u>http://www.informaworld.com/</u> <u>smpp/authors journals copyright</u> requirements. The author will be held responsible for false statements or for failure to fulfil the Manuscript file specifications

- Submitscript jute specifications
 Submit the <u>manuscript text as an editable Word file</u> and Figures as separate TIF or EPS format files. Use Times New Roman in 12 point size and double line spacing throughout the manuscript. Use a clear system of headings to divide up and clarify the text, with not more than three grades of headings. The desired position of figures and tables should be indicated in the engraveriant. indicated in the manuscript.
- The <u>manuscript text file</u> shall contain a title page. On the title page the following shall be stated: The title of the article, which should be concise but informative. A short title or exceeding 40 letters and spaces. The full names, affiliations and addresses of all the contributors, and e-mail address, telephone number and fax number for the corresponding author. The title page should also include details of the number of words, figures, and
- 3. Each article (except for Book reviews, Letters to the Editors and Editorials) must include a short structured <u>Abstract</u> of the essential results (not exceeding 200 words) with the sections Objectives, <u>Methods</u>, <u>Results</u>, <u>Conclusions</u>. This must be noted in both the manuscript submission system as well as in the manuscript file.
- <u>Key words</u>: The manuscript submission system also requires selection of five key words to be used for categorisation and these key words should also be inserted below the abstract

۲

Werner Strik - Switzerland Tom Su - Taiwan Matoshi Takeda - Janan Iari Tiihonen - Finland Michael Trimble - United Kingdom Pichet Udomratn - Thailand Tudor Uristoiu - Romania Livia Vavrusova - Slovakia Marcio Versani - Brazil Eduard Vieta - Spain Daniel Weinberger - United States Avi Weizman - Israel Peter Whybrow - United States Shigeto Yamawaki - Javan

Philippe H Robert - France

Erich Seifritz - Switzerland

Alessandro Serretti - Italy

Hernan Silva-Ibarra - Chile

Constantin Soldatos - Greece

Costas Stefanis - Greece

Dan I Stein - South Africa

Founding Editors

Lakshmi N Yatham - Canada

Hans-Jürgen Möller - Germany Carlos Roberto Hojaij - Australia Ioseph Zohar - Israel

Editorial Assistant Ms. Berenike Oppermann E-mail: wfsbp@meduniwien.ac.at

Publisher

Informa Healthcare P.O. Box 3255. SE- 10365 Stockholm, Sweden Tel: +46 - 8 - 440 80 40 Fax: +46 - 8 - 440 80 50

Printers

Typeset by Datapage (India) Private Limited, Chennai, India

Printed by Hobbs the Printers, Hampshire, UK

The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry

in the manuscript file (except for Book reviews, Letters to the Editors and Editorials). Use terms from the Medical Subject Headings list from Index Medicus.

- Acknowledgements: Authors may receive assistance from colleagues, technical writers language editors and/or writing agencies in preparing manuscripts for publication. Such assistance must be noted in the Acknowlegements. If there are no acknowledgements, please state so by putting "none" in the respective section. The Acknowledgements should be listed before the conflicts of interest and before the references in the manuscript file.
- 6. Conflict of interest statement for further details see note below. If there are no conflicts of interest, do please include this heading in the manuscript file with the statement. "None to declare"
- 7. <u>References</u>: The WJBP uses the CBE style of references with the name/year system. All references cited in the text are to be listed (double-spaced) at the end of the manuscript in alphabetical order under the last name of the first author. If there are more than six authors, list the first six authors and use 'et al.' Articles 'in press' may be included, but must state the journal that has accepted them. Personal communications should be avoided. Journal titles should be abbreviated according to *Index Medicus*.

References in the text should be noted with the author last name and publication year within parentheses. If there are two authors, both should be named (e.g., Agar and Douglas 1955); if an article with more than two authors is cited, only the first author's name plus 'et al.' need to be given (e.g., Komor et al. 1979); if there is more than one reference by the same author or team of authors in the same year, then a, b, c, etc., should be added to the year, both in the text and the list of references. When styling references, the following examples should be followed: Iournal article

Brain WR. 1958. The physiological basis of consciousness. A critical review. Brain 81:426–455.

Kuhlenbeck H. 1954. The human diencephalon. A summary of development, structure, function and pathology. Basel: Karger.

Chapter in book: Teuber HL. 1964. The riddle of frontal lobe function in man. In:Warren T, Akert CH, editors. The frontal and granular cortex and behavior. New York: McGraw-Hill, pp 252-271.

For further guidance, please consult the online guide on CBE style: http://writing.colostate.edu/guides/researchsources/documentation/cbe_name/

bibliographyrules.cfm

- 8. <u>Tables</u> should be included in the main manuscript file but on separate pages and numbered consecutively with Arabic numbers. All tables should include a brief descriptive caption. Tables should be included with the "Create Table" tool in the word processing software. Tables inserted as images or tab delimited text are not accepted.
- 9. Figures: All illustrations, whether photographs, graphs or diagrams, should be numbered consecutively with Arabic numerals and submitted as separate files. Each illustration should be referred to in the text as 'Figure 1', 'Figures 1-4', etc. The figures should have a should be reference to in the text as 'ngue'r', 'ngue's 1-4', etc. The ngue's should have a short tile followed by a concise description. All abbreviations and symbols appearing in the figure must be explained in the legend. Remarks such as 'for explanation (or details) see text' should be avoided. Each figure should have a legend containing sufficient information to render the figure intelligible without reference to the text. The figure legends should be included in the manuscript. If a figure has been published previously, acknowledge the original source and submit written permission from the copyright holder to reproduc it. If photographs of persons are used, either the subjects must be unidentifiable or the written permission to use the photographs must accompany the manuscript. Figures with photographic images can be uploaded as separate files in TIFF or JPG format with an image resolution of at least 300 DPI. Graphs and other illustrations created with office software can be included as embedded files within the manuscript file OR as separate files in TIF format saved with an image resolution of at least 600 DPI to preserve the legibility of the details in the printed version of the journal.
- 10. <u>Additional material</u>: There is the opportunity for original investigations and reviews to make additonal material like text, tables, figures, images, videos etc available online to specifically interested readers. Files shall be submitted through the manuscript submission system and shall be marked as additional material. Please note that additional material will only be published online.
- Win only be published online.
 11. <u>Language:</u> Manuscripts shall be written in clear and concise scientific English. British spelling is recommended to be used throughout. It is the responsibility of the authors to ensure the quality of the language for submitted articles. Colloquial English may not be sufficient and is not necessarily the same as scientific English, for which professional services may be needed. Authors may contact the Editorial office for recommendations of contacts regarding professional services and copy editing. A brief language overview will be carried out for articles accepted for publication, but no major changes are accepted at that charge (see needed). that stage (see note about author proof below).
- 12. <u>Abbreviations and symbols</u> used shall be standard and SI units. Acronyms should be used sparingly and shall be fully explained when first used. Whenever possible, drugs shall be given their approved generic name. When a proprietary (brand) name is used, it shall begin with a capital letter and the manufacturer's address details should be given. Statistical analyses must explain the methods used.

Conflict of interest statement

Copyright

Proofs and offprints Authors will be notified via e-mail when a manuscript is ready for final approval before publication. This e-mail provides instructions on how to log on to the online author service, where the final version of the manuscript can be downloaded as a printer ready PDF file.

To avoid delays of publication, proofs should be checked immediately and returned electronically through the online service, following the instructions given. Corrections submitted via the telephone are not accepted. Authors are advised that they are responsible for proof-reading of the text, references, tables and figures for absolute accuracy. Additional material or major Such extensive changes may result in a delay or withdrawal of the article from publication. Any costs arising from major additional changes may also be charged to the authors.

For further information about the journal, including links to the online sample copy and content pages, visit the journal homepage: www.informaworld.com/wjbp or contact the Editorial Office at the following address:

Berenike Oppermann, Editorial Admir E-mail: wfsbp@meduniwien.ac.at

The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry

Volume 10, No 4: Section 2, 2009

Contents

Editorial

The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry Siegfried Kasper
Review Articles
The effect of melatonergic and non-melatonergic antidepressants on sleep: weighing the alternatives Seithikurippu R. Pandi-Perumal, Ilya Trakht, Venkataramanujan Srinivasan, D. Warren Spence, Burkhard Poeggeler, Ruediger Hardeland & Daniel P. Cardinali
Spectroscopic findings in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: Review and meta-analysis Evgeniy Perlov, Alexandra Philipsen, Swantje Matthies, Tobias Drieling, Simon Maier, Emanuel Bubl, Bernd Hesslinger, Martin Buechert, Jurgen Henning, Dieter Ebert & Ludger Tebartz Van Elst
From psychosurgery to neuromodulation: Deep brain stimulation for intractable Tourette syndrome Irene Neuner, Klaus Podoll, Hildegard Janouschek, Tanja M. Michel, Abigail J. Sheldrick & Frank Schneider
Original Investigations
Vision in depressive disorder Emanuel Bubl, Ludger Tebartz Van Elst, Matthias Gondan, Dieter Ebert & Mark W. Greenlee
Non-fatal overdose of duloxetine in combination with other antidepressants and benzodiazepines Marco Menchetti, Beatrice Ferrari Gozzi, Maria Addolorata Saracino, Laura Mercolini, Carmine Petio & Maria Augusta Raggi
 Lithium but not carbamazepine augments antidepressant efficacy of mirtazapine in unipolar depression: An open-label study <i>Cornelius Schüle, Thomas C. Baghai, Daniela Eser, Caroline Nothdurfter & Rainer Rupprecht</i>390
 Are there differences between serotonergic, noradrenergic and dual acting antidepressants in the treatment of depressed women? Salih Saygin Eker, Selcuk Kirli, Cengiz Akkaya, Sengul Cangur & Asli Sarandol
Treatment of unipolar psychotic depression: The use of evidence in practice guidelines Jaap Wijkstra, Chris D. Schubart & Willem A. Nolen
Use of aripiprazole in tardive dyskinesia: An open label study of six cases Rajaprabhakaran Rajarethinam, John Dziuba, Suzanne Manji, Albert Pizzuti, Leonard Lachover & Matcheri Keshavan
Blood pressure changes during clozapine or olanzapine treatment in Korean schizophrenic patients Young Sup Woo, Won Kim, Jeong-Ho Chae, Bo-Hyun Yoon & Won-Myong Bahk
Prediction of symptom remission in schizophrenia during inpatient treatment Markus Jäger, Michael Riedel, Max Schmauss, Gerd Laux, Herbert Pfeiffer, Dieter Naber, Lutz G. Schmidt, Wolfgang Gaebel, Joachim Klosterkötter, Isabella Heuser, Kai-Uwe Kühn, Matthias R. Lemke, Eckart Rüther, Gerd Buchkremer, Markus Gastpar, Ronald Bottlender, Anton Strauss & Hans-Jürgen Möller
History of early abuse as a predictor of treatment response in patients with fibromyalgia: A post-hoc analysis of a 12-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of paroxetine controlled release
Chi-Un Pae, Prakash S. Masand, David M. Marks, Stan Krulewicz, Changsu Han, Kathleen Peindl, Paolo Mannelli & Ashwin A. Patkar
Cognitive impairment of executive function as a core symptom of schizophrenia Thomas Wobrock, Ullrich K. H. Ecker, Harald Scherk, Thomas Schneider-Axmann, Peter Falkai & Oliver Gruber

Cognitive profiles of healthy siblings of schizophrenia patients: Application of the cognitive domains of the MATRICS consensus battery Hee Jung Nam, Nara Kim, Taesung Park, Sohee Oh, Hyun Ok Jeon, Se Chang Yoon, Yu-Sang Lee, Woo Kyeong Lee, Kyooseob Ha, Ji-Hae Kim & Kyung Sue Hong	452
Interleukin-10 gene promoter polymorphism in patients with schizophrenia in a region of East Turke Ulku Ozbey, Esra Tug & Mustafa Namli	ey 461
Lack of association of three GRIN2B polymorphisms with bipolar disorder Aleksandra Szczepankiewicz, Maria Skibinska, Janusz Rybakowski, Anna Leszczynska-Rodziewicz, Marta Tomaszewska & Joanna Twarowska-Hauser	469
Lower rates of comorbidities in euthymic bipolar patients Fabiana Nery-Fernandes, Lucas C. Quarantini, Amanda Galvão-De-Almeida, Marlos V. Rocha, Flávio Kapczinski & Ângela Miranda-Scippa	474
Turning order into chaos through repetition and addition of elementary acts in obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) Rama Zor, Haggai Hermesh, Henry Szechtman & David Eilam	e 480
Co-morbidity of bipolar disorder in children and adolescents with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in an outpatient Turkish sample <i>Gozde Lus & Nahit Motavalli Mukaddes</i>	488
Pathophysiology of NSS in ADHD Augusto Pasini & Elisa D'Agati	495
Irreversibility of cardiac autonomic dysfunction in female adolescents diagnosed with anorexia nervosa after short- and long-term weight gain Moshe Lachish, Daniel Stein, Zeev Kaplan, Michael Matar, Michal Faigin, Isabella Korsunski & Hagit Cohen	503
Planning in borderline personality disorder: Evidence for distinct subpopulations M. Leonor Bustamante, Juana Villarroel, Valeria Francesetti, Matías Ríos, Mauricio Arcos-Burgos, Sonia Jerez, Patricia Iturra, Aldo Solari & Hernán Silva	512
Paternal age and common mental disorders Saroja Krishnaswamy, Kavitha Subramaniam, Haymanth Indran, Padma Ramachandran, Tishya Indran, Ramesh Indran & Jemain Abdul Aziz	518
Dopamine transporter genotype influences N-acetyl-aspartate in the left putamen Harald Scherk, Martin Backens, Thomas Schneider-Axmann, Susanne Kraft, Claudia Kemmer, Juliana Usher, Wolfgang Reith, Peter Falkai, Jobst Meyer & Oliver Gruber	524
Dose-related immunohistochemical and ultrastructural changes after oral methylphenidate administration in cerebrum and cerebellum of the rat Meltem Bahcelioglu, Rabet Gozil, Gulnur Take, Cigdem Elmas, Hale Oktem, Dural Kadioglu, Engin Calguner, Deniz Erdogan, Mustafa F. Sargon, A. Canan Yazici, Murat Tas, Yesim Bardakci & Selahattin Senol	531
Association of monoamine oxidase A (MAOA) polymorphisms and clinical subgroups of major depressive disorders in the Han Chinese population San-Yuan Huang, Ming-Teng Lin, Wei-Wen Lin, Cheng-Chang Huang, Mee-Jen Shy & Ru-Band Lu	544
The neural substrates of affective face recognition in patients with Hwa-Byung and healthy individu in Korea	ıals
Byeong-Taek Lee, Jong-Woo Paik, Rhee-Hun Kang, Sun-Yong Chung, Ho-In Kwon, Hyun-Soo Khang In Kyoon Lyoo, Jeong-Ho Chae, Jung-Hye Kwon, Jong-Woo Kim, Min-Soo Lee & Byung-Joo Ham	<i>₃,</i> 552
Depressive status does not alter renal oxidative and immunological parameters during early diabetic nephropathy in rats	
Jaimar Rincon, Adriana Pedreañez, Ninoska Viera, Jose L. Arcaya, Edgardo Carrizo & Jesus Mosquera	560

Brief Reports

Functional magnetic resonance imaging of tics and tic suppression in Gilles de la Tourette syndrome Wolfram Kawohl, Annette Brühl, Gunda Krowatschek, Daniel Ketteler & Uwe Herwig	e 567
Parental psychiatric hospitalisation and offspring schizophrenia Holger J. Sørensen, Erik L. Mortensen, June M. Reinisch & Sarnoff A. Mednick	571
Winter/summer seasonal changes in malondialdehyde formation as a source of variance in oxidative stress schizophrenia research Armando L. Morera, Aintzane Intxausti & Pedro Abreu-Gonzalez	576
Development of 5-HT transporter density and long-term effects of methylphenidate in an animal model of ADHD Veit Roessner, Till Manzke, Andreas Becker, Aribert Rothenberger & Nathalie Bock	581
The impact of one session of HF-rTMS on salivary cortisol in healthy female subjects Chris Baeken, Rudi De Raedt, Lemke Leyman, Johan Schiettecatte, Kris Poppe, Leon Kaufman, Margot Haes, Marie-Anne Vanderhasselt, Ellen Anckaert & Hugo D'Haenen	586
Verbal working memory and functional outcome in patients with unipolar major depressive disorde Yasuhiro Kaneda	r 591
Case–control study of association between the functional candidate gene <i>ERBB3</i> and schizophrenia in Caucasian population <i>Dawei Li, Guoyin Feng & Lin He</i>	595
Case Reports	
Obsessive-compulsive disorder followed by psychotic episode in long-term ecstasy misuse Carlo Marchesi, Matteo Tonna & Carlo Maggini	599
Bispectral index monitoring during dissociative pseudo-seizure Alexander Sartorius & Christian Schmahl	603
Myocarditis after overdose of conventional antipsychotics Manjeet S. Bhatia, Ravi Gupta & Jeevanshu Dhawan	606
A case of non-SIADH-induced hyponatremia in depression after treatment with reboxetine Katja Koelkebeck, Katharina Domschke, Peter Zwanzger, Guenter Hetzel, Detlef Lang & Volker Arolt	609
Misdiagnosis of bipolar disorder as borderline personality disorder: clinical and economic consequences	
Hyacinth John & Verinder Sharma	612
Limbic encephalitis presenting with anxiety and depression: A comprehensive neuropsychological formulation	616
nem Talud, Murat Alemdar, All Evien Tulan, Elli Kirnizi-Alsan & Huseyin Kulu	010
A case with occurring adverse effects when cross-over fitration from fluvoxamine to paroxetine associated with increasing the plasma fluvoxamine level in major depressive disorder Hikaru Hori, Reiji Yoshimura, Nobuhisa Ueda, Atsuko Ikenouchi-Sugita, Wakako	
Umene-Nakano & Jun Nakamura	620
Quetiapine-associated dysphagia	

Quetiapine-associated dysphagia Izchak Kohen & Paula Lester	. 623	
Beneficial effects of N-acetylcysteine in treatment resistant schizophrenia Mahmut Bulut, Haluk Asuman Savas, Abdurrahman Altindag, Osman Virit & Alican Dalkilic	. 626	
Unilateral rubral tremor following treatment with risperidone <i>Yu-Chih Shen</i>	. 629	
Transcranial direct current stimulation in a patient with therapy-resistant major depression Ulrich Palm, Daniel Keeser, Christina Schiller, Zoe Fintescu, Eva Reisinger, Thomas C. Baghai, Christoph Mulert & Frank Padberg	632	
Christoph Mulert & Frank Padberg	. 632	

Late-onset obsessive compulsive disorder associated with possible gliomatosis cerebri Vineet Kumar, Subho Chakrabarti, Manish Modi & Manoj Sahoo	636
Repeated intravenous ketamine therapy in a patient with treatment-resistant major depression Michael Liebrenz, Rudolf Stohler & Alain Borgeat	640
Zuclopenthixol-induced neuroleptic malignant syndrome presenting as fever of unknown origin, hyperglycaemia and acute myocardial infarction in a 60-year-old man Asuman Orhan Varoglu, Orhan Ates, Omer Lutfi Gundogdu, Asude Aksoy & Orhan Deniz	644
Is anorexia nervosa a neuropsychiatric developmental disorder? An illustrative case report Jacob Kerbeshian & Larry Burd	648
A controlled single case study with repeated fMRI measurements during the treatment of a patient with obsessive-compulsive disorder: Testing the nonlinear dynamics approach to psychotherapy <i>Günter Schiepek, Igor Tominschek, Susanne Karch, Jürgen Lutz, Christoph Mulert, Thomas Meindl & Oliver Pogarell</i>	658
Delusion of pregnancy associated with antipsychotic induced metabolic syndrome Narayana Manjunatha & Sahoo Saddichha	669
Worsening of bruxism with atomoxetine: A case report Dattatreya Mendhekar & Deep Lohia	671
Augmentative transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) combined with brain navigation in drug-resistant rapid cycling bipolar depression: A case report of acute and maintenance efficacy Bernardo Dell'osso & A. Carlo Altamura	673

Viewpoint Articles

A different hypothesis on hyponatremia in psychiatric patients: Treatment implications and	
experiences	
Branimir Margetić & Branka Aukst-Margetić	677
Trazodone generates m-CPP: In 2008 risks from m-CPP might outweigh benefits of trazodone Richard E. Kast	682

Letters to the Editor

Ashwagandha for anxiety disorders	
Chittaranjan Andrade	. 686
Mirtazapine and hyperpigmentation	
Dattatreya Mendhekar & Amir Inamdar	688

EDITORIAL



The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry

Dear Colleagues,

It is my great pleasure to present to you *the World Journal of Biological Psychiatry*, vol 10, issue 4, section 2 and 3.

As one of the leading journals in the field, *the World Journal of Biological Psychiatry (WJBP)* attracts a high number of articles. This is due to its high impact factor of 3,58 and also due to its high visibility within the field.

As official medium of the World Federation of Societies of Biological Psychiatry (WFSBP), it is a focus of *the WJBP* to cover also topics which are specifically of regional interest in a global world and which enhance education and knowledge in countries with limited continuing education possibilities. This is especially achieved through the WFSBP Treatment Guidelines which are published on a regular basis. With these comprehensive manuals which includes numerous recommendations the WFSBP aims to provide up-to-date treatment options and thus to further improve treatment for patients and to bring knowledge to a global standard. Additionally, *the WJBP* gives authors and researches from regions with limited medical infrastructure the opportunity to publish their findings in a high quality international scientific journal.

It is because of this focus of *the WJBP* which is unique within the field of world-wide psychiatric journals that *the WJBP* attracted a high number of manuscripts which are of great interest to our readers.

With the presented special editions, these papers are now published. I am sure that you will find useful information and interesting updates for a constantly improving treatment of your patients and many inspirations for your research work.

Yours sincerely,

Siegfried Kasper, MD Chief Editor



REVIEW ARTICLE

The effect of melatonergic and non-melatonergic antidepressants on sleep: weighing the alternatives

SEITHIKURIPPU R. PANDI-PERUMAL¹, ILYA TRAKHT¹, VENKATARAMANUJAN SRINIVASAN², D. WARREN SPENCE³, BURKHARD POEGGELER⁴, RUEDIGER HARDELAND⁴ & DANIEL P. CARDINALI⁵

¹Division of Clinical Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, Department of Medicine, College of Physicians and Surgeons of Columbia University, New York, NY, USA, ²Department of Physiology, School of Medical Sciences, University Sains Malaysia, Kubang Kerian, Kota Bharu, Kelantan Malaysia, ³Sleep and Alertness Clinic, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada, ⁴Johann Friedrich Blumenbach Institute of Zoology and Anthropology, University of Goettingen, Goettingen, Germany, and ⁵Department of Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Buenos Aires, Buenos Aires, Argentina.

Abstract

In DSM-IV the occurrence of disturbed sleep is one of the principal diagnostic criteria for major depressive disorder (MDD). Further, there is evidence of reciprocity between the two conditions such that, even in the absence of current depressive symptoms, disturbed sleep often predicts their development. The present review discusses the effects of antidepressants on sleep and evaluates the use of the recently developed melatonin agonist–selective serotonin antagonists on sleep and depression. Although many antidepressants such as the tricyclics, monoamine oxidase inhibitors, serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors, several serotonin receptor antagonists and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) have all been found successful in treating depression, their use is often associated with a disruptive effect on sleep. SSRIs, currently the most widely prescribed of the antidepressants, are well known for their instigation or exacerbation of insomnia. The recently introduced novel melatonin agonist and selective serotonin antagonist antidepressant, agomelatine, which has melatonin MT₁ and MT₂ receptor agonist and 5-HT_{2c} antagonist properties, has been useful in treating patients with MDD. Its rapid onset of action and effectiveness in improving the mood of depressed patients has been attributed to its ability to improve sleep quality. These properties underline the use of melatonin analogues as a promising alternative for the treatment of depression.

Key words: Sleep, melatonin receptors, agomelatine, antidepressants, serotonin-2 receptor antagonists

Introduction

On a worldwide basis depressive disorders are a leading cause of disability, and are associated with high rates of morbidity, suicidal risks, and mortality. According to some estimates, major depressive disorders (MDDs) will be the second most prevalent cause for illness-induced disability by the year 2020 (Murray and Lopez 1997). Controversy still exists regarding the aetiological factors causing depression. Some studies suggest that nearly 40% to 50% of the risk for depression is genetic in nature. Depressive syndromes also occur due to stress or trauma (Fava and Kendler 2000). According to some investigators,

depression is not a single disease, but rather a complex, heterogeneous syndrome consisting of numerous disease domains, each with its distinct cause and pathophysiology (Nestler et al. 2002; Berton and Nestler 2006). The existence of at least two kinds of depression, melancholia and nonmelancholic mood disorder, is being increasingly recognized. The advances in our understanding of depression have thus led to the suggestion that the diagnostic category 'Major depression' should be eliminated (Shorter 2007).

Pharmacotherapies for the treatment of depression have been in use since 1950s. They include tricyclic

Correspondence: S. R. Pandi-Perumal, MSc, Division of Clinical Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, Department of Medicine, College of Physicians and Surgeons of Columbia University, 630 West 168th Street – Rm # BB813, NY 10032, USA. Tel: +1 212 305 6861. Fax: +1 212 342 2969. E-mail: sleepresearch@gmail.com

(Received 26 May 2007; accepted 31 July 2007)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970701625600

antidepressants (TCAs), monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAOIs), selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), serotonin (5-HT)-norepinephrine (NE) reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs), and several serotonergic receptor blockers. They also include the recently introduced melatonin agonist and selective 5-HT antagonists (MASSAs) whose prototype is agomelatine.

Antidepressants are the third most widely prescribed class of therapeutic agents worldwide, with SSRIs accounting for 80% of the total market share (Celada et al. 2004). The present review is focused on the effects of antidepressants on sleep in depressive disorders. Additionally it highlights and evaluates the use of the recently developed MASSAs. In view of recent evidence that melatonin is implicated in the pathophysiology of depressive disorders (see Srinivasan et al. 2006 for a review), agomelatine could be an important new development for the treatment of these diseases.

Sleep disturbances in depression

Sleep abnormalities constitute the most prevalent symptoms of illness, and particularly of mental illness (American Psychiatric Association 1994; Benca et al. 1992). It has been reported that patients with MDDs have nightmares at least twice a week and, compared to normals, have significantly higher scores on scales of suicidality (Agargun et al. 1998). Since the frequency of reported nightmares is related to the risk of suicide, such sleep disturbances are now used as predictors for suicidal behaviour (Agargun et al. 1998). Considerable controversy exists concerning the question of whether sleep disturbances in depression are a 'trait-like' feature (Berger and Riemann 1993). Some studies of patients with depression have shown changes in sleep architecture that persist even during the remission phase. Changes in sleep architecture often precede changes in patients' ongoing clinical state or can signal relapse (Kupfer et al. 1981).

Depressed patients experience difficulty falling asleep, difficulty staying asleep and early morning awakenings (Cajochen et al. 2000). Analysis of slow wave sleep activity (SWA) in NREM sleep has shown that delta wave counts in patients with MDD are decreased when compared to controls. Fast frequency beta activity and elevated alpha have been recorded during sleep in depressed patients, indicating that hyperarousal and increased sleep fragmentation are major characteristics of sleep in depression (Armitage 2007). The synchronization of slow or fast frequency electroencephalography (EEG) is lower in depressed adults and sleep microarchitectural abnormalities are present in non-medicated patients or in clinical remission suggesting that these are trait-like features of depressive illness (Armitage

2007). Disturbances in the organization of the sleep/wake cycle in MDD patients are thought to be due to abnormalities in the timing of the REM/ NREM sleep cycle (Wirz-Justice 2006). The temporal distribution of REM sleep is also typically altered during overnight sleep in depressives (Schulz et al. 1979; Wehr et al. 1979; Cartwright et al. 2003). Decreased REM onset latency (REMOL; <65 min) has been shown to be a common occurence in severe or endogenous depression. It has been suggested that reductions in non-REM sleep, particularly slow-wave sleep (SWS), are the cause of associated reductions in REM latency (Lustberg and Reynolds 2000). For instance, Armitage found that reductions in the amount of time spent in SWS and an abnormal time course correlated with an increased risk for suicide as well as with a greater severity of depressive symptoms (Armitage 2007). Patients with least amounts of SWS also showed the greatest psychomotor retardation (Armitage 2007). These findings supported the conclusion that disruptions to sleep homeostasis are the main form of sleep disturbance in depression. Additionally, increases in REM sleep density have also been found to be specific to affective disorders (Wichniak et al. 2000) and are now thought to be a reliable sleep marker for depression (Lam 2006). Consistent with this view are findings that many antidepressants tend to reduce REM sleep as well as to increase REM latency.

Effects of antidepressants on sleep

The close linkage between depression and sleep disturbance, as well as the increasing amount of evidence that their effects are reciprocal, underscore the importance of an understanding of how commonly used antidepressants can affect sleep (DeMartinis and Winokur 2007). Effects on sleep are particularly influenced by an antidepressant's to degree of inhibition of 5-HT or NE uptake, its effects on 5-HT_{1A} or 5HT₂ receptor sites or actions on α_1 and α_2 -adrenoceptors or histamine H₁ receptor sites (Mayers and Baldwin 2005). While some antidepressants may improve sleep efficiency (SE) by ameliorating the depressive symptoms, others exert more rapid beneficial effects on initiation and maintenance of sleep (Sharpley and Cowen 1995; Tsuno et al. 2005; Thase 2006). The introduction of SSRIs and SNRIs (recent surveys indicate that the SNRI venlafaxine currently represents physicians' drug of choice) has drastically changed the strategies for the clinical treatment of MDD (Rosenzweig-Lipson et al. 2007; DeMartinis and Winokur 2007). Because the administration of SSRIs is commonly associated with insomnia (Anderson 2000), most pharmacoepidemiological surveys indicate that at

least one-third of patients taking SSRIs receive concomitant sedative-hypnotic medications (e.g., Thase 2006). These data support the suggestion that the effects of antidepressants on sleep should represent an important consideration in physicians' prescribing decisions for depressed patients. (Winokur et al. 2001; DeMartinis and Winokur 2007).

Tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) and their effects on sleep in depression

For over 30 years, from the 1960s to 1990, tricyclic drugs were the mainstay treatment for MDD. In addition to their applicability to depressive symptoms, all agents in this class are known to have nonspecific sedative hypnotic effects. TCAs are known to decrease sleep onset latency (SOL), improve sleep SE, and decrease wake time after sleep onset (WASO) (Ware et al. 1989). Because of their antihistaminergic properties these drugs also produce sedating effects during the day, and it has thus been suggested that their use should be avoided in depressed patients who are sensitive to these effects (Winokur et al. 2001).

With the exception of trimipramine all TCAs reduce or suppress REM sleep and increase REM latency (Vogel et al. 1990). It has been suggested that the REM sleep suppression which is associated with these drugs is an essential for their therapeutic action. NE- and 5-HT-containing neurons in the brain, which are directly affected by TCAs, are not only involved in the pathophysiology of affective disorders but also have a significant impact on sleep regulation. NE and 5-HT are known to inhibit electrical activity of the ventrolateral preoptic nucleus which contains a group of sleep active, y-aminobutyric acid (GABA)-galanin producing neurons (Saper et al. 2005). It has also been suggested that blockade of histamine H_1 receptors or antagonism of α_1 -adrenoceptors is at the basis of their sleep-promoting effects (Mayers and Baldwin 2005). Polysomnographic (PSG) studies support the inference that TCAs generally cause sedative effects while clinical experience indicates that drugs such as amitriptyline and trimipramine shorten SOL and improve sleep continuity and efficiency (Winokur et al. 2001; DeMartinis and Winokur 2007). Table I summarizes the results of EEG studies on the effects of antidepressant drugs on sleep.

Effects of monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAOIs) on sleep in depression

The MAOIs tranylcypromine and phenelzine are associated with subjective complaints of insomnia, with polysomnography (PSG) studies confirming that prolonged SOL, impaired sleep continuity and increased WASO occur among patients who use these agents (Kupfer and Bowers 1972; Winokur et al. 2001). REM sleep suppression has also been noted in depressives who were taking phenelzine and tranylcypromine. This effect occurs soon after initiation of treatment and persists for months during continuation of therapy. However use of reversible monoamine oxidase A inhibitors such as moclobemide produces less pronounced REM sleep suppression (Monti 1989).

Serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs)

Venlafaxine, duloxetine and milnacipran belong to the SNRI category of drugs that inhibit presynaptic uptake of both 5-HT and NE (Stahl et al. 2005). In a double-blind placebo controlled study, administration of venlafaxine, at doses ranging from 75 to 225 mg/day, induced increases in WASO after 1 month of treatment. REM sleep latency increased significantly while the total amount of time spent in REM sleep diminished (Salin-Pascual et al. 1997; Winokur et al. 2001; Argyropoulos and Wilson 2005). Yang et al. (2005) reported that venlafaxine was associated with REM sleep suppression and increased in REM sleep latency, although, in contrast to previous studies, no differences in SOL nor SE were observed between depressed patients and control subjects. Venlafaxine was also found to increase the frequency of periodic leg movements in sleep (PLMS). These repetitive and highly stereotyped limb movements, which can occur during sleep and/or the waking state, are the result of EEG arousals or awakenings and might cause difficulties in initiating and maintaining sleep. The PLMS movements, presumably the result of enhanced serotonergic availability and secondarily decreased of dopamine (DA) effects caused by the drug (Yang et al. 2005).

Effects of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) on sleep in depression

The selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), the most commonly used antidepressants, have been considered a major treatment breakthrough ever since the importance of serotonin in mood regulation was recognized. SSRIs now constitute 80% of prescriptions of all antidepressants on the market (Celada et al. 2004). These drugs block the presynaptic uptake of 5-HT and enhance the activation of the postsynaptic receptors, thus prolonging the interaction of 5-HT with the multiple serotonin receptor subtypes. However, SSRIs also have a number of side effects, the most prominent being

Table I. Effects of antidepre	ssants on EEG sleep parame	ters.			
Drug	Sleep efficiency	Slow wave sleep	REM sleep	Sedative effect	Key references
<i>Tricyclics</i> Amitriptyline	Increased (S)	Slight increase	Decreased (S)	Increased (S)	(Kupfer 1982; Winokur et al. 2001; DeMartinis and Winokur 2007)
Doxepin Imipramine Nortriptyline Desipramine	Increased (S) Slight increase Slight increase No effect	Slight increase Slight increase Slight increase Slight increase	Decreased (M) Decreased (M) Decreased (M) Decreased (M)	Increased (S) Increased Increased slightly Increased slightly	
MAOIs Phenelzine Tranylcypromine	Slight decrease Decreased (M)	No effect No effect	Decreased (S) Decreased (S)	No effect No effect	(Kupfer and Bowers 1972; Winokur et al. 2001)
<i>SSRIs</i> Fluoxetine	Decreased (S)	Decreased	Decreased or no effect	Slight or no effect	(Armitage et al. 1994; Sharpley et al. 1996; Wichelene et al. 2001)
Paroxetine	Decreased (S)	Decreased or no effect	Decreased (M)	Not studied	W 1110KUI CI 41. 2001)
<i>SNRIs</i> Venlafaxine	No observation	No observation	Decreased (M)	Increased (M)	(Luthringer et al. 1996; Winokur et al. 2000)
5-HT receptor antagonists Trazodone	Increased (S); maintains	No effect	Decreased slightly	Increased slightly	(Stahl 1996; Rush et al. 1998; Winokur et al. 2000, 2001;
Nefazodone	steep continuity Increased slightly	No effect	Increased slightly	No effect	Mulian 2006; DeiMartunis and Winokur 2007)
Serotonergic-noradrenergic antidepressants Mirtazapine	Increased (S)	Increased in normal subjects; no study in depressives	No effect	Increased (S)	(Winokur et al. 2000, 2001; Shen et al. 2006)
<i>MASSAs</i> Agomelatine	Increased (S)	Increased (S)	No effect	No effect	(Lopes et al. 2005; Guilleminault 2005; Pjrek et al. 2007; Salva et al. 2007)

S, significant; M, moderate.

their effects on sleep and sexual function (Moltzen and Bang-Andersen 2006). In an early study, sertraline (with maximum doses up to 200 mg/day achieved within a 10-day period) significantly prolonged SOL and reduced TST 14 days after treatment (Winokur et al. 2001). However, there was neither a reduction in SE nor an increase in WASO. It has been reported that nearly 25% of depressed patients treated with SSRIs have subjective complaints of insomnia (Armitage 2007). Fluoxetine administration has been shown to cause disruptions in sleep continuity, reductions in SE and increases in WASO (Winokur et al. 2001). In a group of patients with major depression, fluoxetine at doses of 20 mg/ day for 4 weeks caused significant decreases in SE, a finding that correlated well with the fluoxetine levels in plasma (Armitage et al. 1997). Reductions in sleep efficiency following fluoxetine use were also observed by Trivedi et al. (1999). REM sleep suppression has also been a consistent finding in depressed patients who are being treated with fluoxetine (Armitage 2007). Paroxetine is also a drug that similarly reduces SE in depressed subjects, with an increased number of awakenings being observed after 4 weeks of treatment. It has not, however, been found to influence TST nor SOL (Staner et al. 1995). Similar effects have also been noted in normal healthy subjects receiving paroxetine (20 mg/day). Compared to placebo paroxetine was found to produce significant reductions in SE, as well as increases in WASO. Further, REM sleep minutes were reduced and REM latency was significantly prolonged (Sharpley et al. 1996). Yang et al. (2005) used PSG measurements to study 274 patients who had been receiving SSRIs. The investigators found an association between the use of the drugs and suppression of REM sleep as well as increases in REM sleep latency. There were no differences between control and study subjects in terms of SOL or SE. Similar to findings associated with venlafaxine, subjects given SSRIs showed significant increases in PLMS. Inasmuch as PLMS can contribute significantly to difficulties in initiating and maintaining sleep, it is suggested that caution should be exercised in choosing antidepressants for depressed patients who have pronounced sleep complaints (Yang et al. 2005).

Effects of serotonin-2 receptor antagonist/ serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SARIs) on sleep in depressed patients

Trazodone and nefazodone are the two drugs that belong to the SARIs category, their main action being the inhibition of 5-HT₂ receptors, which are also involved in the regulation of sleep (Millan

2006). Trazodone also inhibits the α_1 -adrenergic and the histamine H_1 receptors (Stahl et al. 2003). Nefazodone inhibits α_1 adrenergic receptors and inhibits NE uptake but has weak actions on histamine receptors. Because of its effects on H_1 receptors trazodone administration produces sedating effects and causes daytime somnolence (Winokur et al. 2001). Administration of trazodone to depressed patients has been found to increase TST, reduce SOL, reduce the number of awakenings and arousals, reduce total REM sleep time, and prolong REM latency (Winokur et al. 2001). In an 8-week study of six depressed patients who also had symptoms of insomnia, trazodone treatment resulted in a 44% improvement in SOL, a 14% improvement in TST, and noteworthy improvements in SE (Scharf and Sachais 1990). The administration of nefazodone administration to depressed patients has been found to preserve sleep continuity and to decrease the number of awakenings (Rush et al. 1998). Evidence of its effects on sleep efficiency however has been less consistent, with either increases or no effects being reported (Armitage 2007).

Serotonergic-noradrenergic antidepressant drugs and sleep in depression

Drugs belonging to the serotonergic-noradrenergic antidepressant category, e.g., mirtazapine and mianserin, have a dual-action profile, combining the enhancement of the noradrenergic neurotransmitter system with specific actions on particular serotonergic receptor subtypes. They exert a potent antagonism of presynaptic α_2 -heteroceptors and α_2 autoreceptors that results in an increased release of both 5-HT and NE (Stahl 1996; Wilson and Argyropoulos 2005). They also act as 5-HT₂ and 5-HT₁ serotonin receptor antagonists, thus contributing to their overall anxiolytic and soporific actions (Haddjeri et al. 1995; de Boer 1996; Shen et al. 2006). Mirtazapine also exhibits potent antihistaminergic (H_1) receptor activity. The use of mirtazepine in patients with major depression has been shown to significantly reduce sleep disturbances (Winokur et al. 2000; Shen et al. 2006). In a study of six adult patients with MDD, the administration of mirtazapine in doses of 15 mg/day for 1 week followed by increased doses of 30 mg/day for an additional week caused significant reductions in SOL as well as significant increases in TST as compared to baseline (Winokur et al. 2000). In a comparison of with other antidepressants, mirtazepine use was associated with better SE than fluoxetine (Winokur et al. 2003) or paroxetine (Ridout et al. 2003). Mirtazapine was also

shown to be superior to venlafaxine (Guelfi et al. 2001) or paroxetine (Schatzberg et al. 2002) in terms of improving sleep scores as measured by the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAMD). In the earliest PSG study conducted on sleep architecture in normal volunteers, mirtazapine (30 mg/ day) decreased SOL, WASO and stage-1 sleep and increased SWS (Ruigt et al. 1990). A similar effect was found in another study conducted on healthy volunteers in whom the administration of mirtazapine (30 mg/day) caused a significant improvement in SE with reductions in nocturnal disturbances as compared to placebo (Aslan et al. 2002). Although similar in efficacy to the SSRIs, mirtazapine's side effects, which include increased appetite, weight gain and excessive daytime sedation (mediated by H₁ blockade), have prevented its acceptance as a first-line medication (Thase 2006; Papakostas et al. 2007).

Mianserin has sleep promotion properties, possibly through inhibition of histamine (H_1) receptors (Sharpley and Cowen 1995; Mayers and Baldwin 2005). Earlier studies conducted with depressed patients revealed that, among depressed women with cancer, mianserin (10–20 mg/day) was superior to placebo for improving HAM-D sleep scores (Costa et al. 1985).

Use of sedative-hypnotic medications on sleep in depressives

Although originally developed as anxiolytics benzodiazepines (BZDs) are widely used for the treatment of insomnia. BZDs have been found effective for reducing SOL and increasing sleep time. Wider use of this class of drugs has been limited however by the finding of undesirable side effects following long term use. These include the development of tolerance, rebound insomnia and cognitive deficits (Jindal and Thase 2004; Thase 2006). In one of the placebo-controlled long-term trials in patients with MDD, it was found that the beneficial effects of clonazepam on patient's sleep complaints were limited to the first three weeks of therapy (Smith et al. 2002).

Despite their clinical use for nearly 20 years, there has been a lack of controlled studies using PSG for assessing the effectiveness of BZDs as an add-on therapy with either SSRIs or SNRI in MDD (Thase 2006). Moreover, an APA Task Force which evaluated the tendency of BZDs to cause dependance, toxicity, and abuse has recommended that BZDs not be used for treating insomniacs, particularly elderly patients (Jindal and Thase 2004).

Other hypnotic medications with antidepressants on sleep

Inasmuch as sleep disturbances, particularly insomnia, are often found with antidepressant medications, the use of hypnotic drugs has often been resorted to for dealing with the associated sleep problems. A novel atypical antipsychotic, risperidone, is effective for reducing sleep disturbances in patients with treatment resistent depression (Ostroff and Nelson 1999). Similarly, in a study of SSRItreated depressed patients, it was found that those receiving daily doses of fluoxetine (<40 mg), sertraline (<100 mg) or paroxetine (<40 mg) reported significant insomnia. These patients were then entered into a double-blind phase where they were assigned randomly to zolpidem (10 mg) or placebo for 4 weeks followed by single-blind placebo for 1 week. Those depressed patients who received zolpidem demonstrated significant improvements in sleep with longer TST, better sleep quality and reduced WASO (Asnis et al. 1999).

Need for an innovative antidepressant that improves sleep

The evidence reviewed above demonstrates that while some antidepressants promote sleep initiation and maintenance (5-HT receptor antagonists and TCAs), many antidepressants, particularly SSRIs such as fluoxetine, or the SNRI venlafaxine, exert adverse effects on sleep. As such, the sleep-promoting benefits of these antidepressants are either limited or nonexistent (Lam 2006). While all of these drugs exert their antidepressant effects mainly through alterations of NE and/or 5-HT or both, and are generally considered safe and effective, they are far from ideal. Inasmuch as many of them can exacerbate insomnia, concomitant administration of either BZDs or highly specific GABA_A/ α_1 receptor ligands such as zolpidem, have been proposed as combined treatment strategies (Thase 2006). Although these sedative-hypnotics reduce SOL and prolong TST, they also cause unwanted effects such as dependence. These findings have thus led to calls for newer antidepressants with different modes of action.

Since disturbed sleep is a hallmark symptom in depression, it has been suggested that an ideal antidepressant medication should address sleep disturbances from the outset of treatment (Rouillon 2006). Further, the evidence that depressed patients also suffer from circadian rhythm disturbances has reinforced the view that these disturbances may underlie the development of MDD (Jindal and Thase 2004).

Antidepressant medication and the role of melatonin

Although both decreased and increased levels of melatonin have been reported in depression, antidepressant medications have been shown to increase melatonin levels, mainly by increasing NE levels that could stimulate pineal β-adrenoceptors (Venkoba rao et al. 1983; Thompson et al. 1985; Sack and Lewy 1986; Golden et al. 1988; Srinivasan 1989; Borjigin et al. 1999; Szymanska et al. 2001). The CNS distribution of melatonin receptor mRNA has been shown to be significantly modified by prolonged treatment with antidepressants such as desipramine, clomipramine, and fluoxetine. With the exception of fluoxetine, these drugs were found to increase the amount of mRNA for MT₁ receptors in the hippocampus but to decrease the amount of MT₂ mRNA (Larson et al. 2006; Hirsch-Rodriguez et al. 2006) Based on these findings it was hypothesized that endogenous levels of melatonin could contribute to antidepressant effects depending upon the pattern of melatonin receptor expression in the brain.

It has been suggested that diminished melatonin secretion is at least partially responsible for the deterioration of sleep maintenance that is seen in insomniacs. In a study undertaken in 382 postmenopausal women with a family history of depression, a delay in urinary 6-sulfatoxymelatonin (a6MTs) excretion was found (Tuunainen et al. 2002). Other studies in aging women have documented that reductions in circulating melatonin levels accompany menopause, and as a consequence programs of melatonin replacement therapy have been proposed (Bellipanni et al. 2001, 2005). In a study conducted on 10 patients with MDD, slow release melatonin tablets in doses of 5 mg/day (which was slowly raised to 10 mg/day at the end of 2 weeks) were administered for 4 weeks along with fluoxetine (20 mg/day) (Dolberg et al. 1998). Melatonin treatment promoted a significant improvement in sleep quality, as evidenced from scores on the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI). As reported earlier (Fainstein et al. 1997), despite melatonin-induced enhancements of sleep quality, no improvements were found in the clinical status of the depressed patients (Dolberg et al. 1998). In another study of patients suffering from both delayed sleep phase syndrome and depression, melatonin treatment not only significantly improved the TST but also significantly reduced psychometric scores for depression (Kayumov et al. 2001). In two studies of combination therapy in patients with MDD or treatmentresistant depression, the combination of melatonin (slow release formulation) plus fluoxetine or other (unspecified) antidepressant medication was found

to improve the sleep quality of the patients. The results did not show however that melatonin had an additive effect on the depressive symptoms (Dolberg et al. 1998; Dalton et al. 2000). Other evidence that antidepressant treatment can promote favourable melatonin receptor expression has led to the suggestion that combination therapy using an antidepressant plus a melatonergic agent may be an effective strategy for treating sleep disorders in the context of depression (Hirsch-Rodriguez et al. 2006; Larson et al. 2006).

Melatonin agonists and selective serotonin antagonists (MASSAs) such as agomelatine for sleep disturbance and depression

In developing an effective treatment strategy for sleep problems associated with depression, prescribing decisions usually represent a compromise between what is ideal and what is realistically possible. The first step in the decision making process is to specify the desired characteristics of an ideal drug. Kupfer (2006) has suggested that when considering sleep disturbances in depression an antidepressant should satisfy several requirements. The ideal antidepressant should: (1) decrease SOL; (2) decrease WASO; (3) promote a feeling of being refreshed after a night's sleep; and (4) maintain alertness during the day. The widely used SSRIs generally fail these criteria because they produce insomnia, fragmentation of SWS, and disturbances to REM sleep, and consequently they are not ideal drugs for sleep disturbance in depression. Unfortunately, as reviewed above, most non-SSRI antidepressants are also less than ideal for managing sleep disturbances and in fact often exacerbate them. There is thus a clear need for an antidepressant agent which addresses these deficiencies.

One such antidepressant is the newly developed agent agomelatine (Valdoxan[®], Servier). As the first member of MASSAs, agomelatine is a melatonin MT₁ and MT₂ receptor agonist with 5-HT_{2c} antagonist properties and has been found to be beneficial in treating patients with MDD (Loo et al. 2002; Kennedy and Emsley 2006; Kupfer 2006; Montgomery 2006; Pandi-Perumal et al. 2006). Agomelatine is a naphthalenic compound with a overall selectivity (>100 fold) for MT_1 and MT_2 receptors but has no significant affinities to muscarinic, histaminergic, adrenergic or dopaminergic receptor subtypes (Rouillon 2006). The proven chronobiotic (i.e. substance that adjusts the timing or reinforces oscillations of the central biological clock) action of agomelatine is due to its agonist activity on melatonin receptors MT₁ and MT₂ in the suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) (Redman and Francis 1998; Weibel

et al. 2000; Tuma et al. 2001; Van Reeth et al. 2001). Inasmuch as disruptions in circadian rhythms are linked to depressive states, agomelatine's effectiveness in treating these symptoms support the conclusion that it has a broader range of effect than other antidepressants, and thus may more effectively address the complexities of depressive illness.

Agomelatine in depression

Agomelatine is a potent agonist at melatonin receptors in the SCN and an antagonist at 5-HT_{2C} receptors. This inhibition enhances NE and DA release in the frontal cortex and is thought to contribute substantially to agomelatine's antidepressant action (Millan et al. 2003, 2005; Fuchs et al. 2006; Hamon and Bourgoin 2006; Montgomery 2006; Pandi-Perumal et al. 2006).

Agomelatine has demonstrated its efficacy in reducing depressive symptoms in patients with MDD in three multicentre, multinational studies carried out mainly in Europe. In a multicentre multinational placebo-controlled study involving 711 patients from 102 centres located in Belgium, UK, and France, agomelatine (25 mg/day) was significantly better than paroxetine or placebo in reducing depressive symptoms as measured by the HAM-D rating scale (Loo et al. 2002). Additionally, in a severely depressed patient subgroup, agomelatine was significantly better than placebo in improving HAM-D scores (Loo et al. 2002). In another multicentre study of 212 depressed patients in 21 centres across Finland, Canada, and South Africa, agomelatine administration for the duration of 6 weeks similarly produced significant reductions in HAM-D scores in both depressed and severely depressed patients (Kennedy and Emsley 2006). The effectiveness of agomelatine in severely depressed patients is particularly significant inasmuch as this patient group is resistant to drug therapy involving either SSRIs or SNRIs (Clerc 2001). Agomelatine represents an innovation in the treatment of depression inasmuch as it exhibits antidepressant efficacy at a dose of 25 mg/day, has few adverse effects, and is associated with early resolution of depressive symptoms (den Boer et al. 2006).

Agomelatine's effects on sleep in normal subjects and depressive patients

In a crossover design study, PSG was used to evaluate the effect of agomelatine (5 or 100 mg before bedtime) on sleep architecture in eight healthy young men (Cajochen et al. 1997). Agomelatine increased REM sleep significantly without affecting other stages of sleep. In a similar study of non-depressed healthy elderly men (older than 60 years), administration of agomelatine for 15 days did not affect the total sleep time and sleep stages but phase advanced core body temperature by 2 h and cortisol secretion by 1.5–2.0 h (Leproult et al. 2005).

In depressed patients, agomelatine has been found effective in reducing sleep complaints, increasing the duration of SWS, and normalizing sleep architecture. For example in a PSG study of 6 weeks of agomelatine treatment the duration of SWS increased without affecting REM sleep duration, thus producing, at the study's conclusion, an overall improvement in both sleep quality and continuity (Quera-Salva et al. 2005). These effects were evident even during the first week of treatment with agomelatine.

In a 6-week double-blind study, agomelatine and venlafaxine were compared in their effects on subjective sleep quality (Guilleminault 2005). Agomelatine at doses of 25 mg/day was given to 165 patients and venlafaxine at 150 mg/day to 167 patients. Compared to venlafaxine, agomelatine promoted earlier and greater improvements on the criteria of 'Getting to Sleep' (GTS) and 'Quality of Sleep' as assessed by the Leeds Sleep Evaluation Questionnaire (LSEQ). These changes, which were noted from the first week of treatment with agomelatine, did not occur with venlafaxine (Guilleminault 2005).

The effect of agomelatine on the cyclic alternating pattern of sleep (CAPS) was evaluated in NREM sleep by using PSG (Lopes et al. 2005). After 7 and 42 days of treatment, a significant decrease in CAPS time and CAPS cycles was seen when compared with baseline data. The findings thus demonstrated that agomelatine normalizes NREM sleep in depressed patients (Lopes et al. 2005). The changes in NREM sleep variables preceded the improvements seen in HAM-D scores. Inasmuch as there was a complete elimination of NREM sleep disruption which preceded the improvement in subject mood, it may be possible to infer that part of agomelatine's antidepressant effect is mediated through its ability to improve sleep architecture (Zupancic and Guilleminault 2006).

Agomelatine is thus a dual-action drug, which can improve sleep quality in depressed patients and additionally can produce rapid antidepressant action (Zupancic and Guilleminault 2006). This is particularly relevant clinically inasmuch as improvements in sleep quality among depressed patients are associated with a reduced rate of recurrence of depressive symptoms, and, conversely, that complaints of poor sleep among depressed patients tend to be associated with a poor response to subsequent antidepressant treatment (Kupfer 2006). Agomelatine thus fulfils many of the criteria in the definition of an ideal antidepressant drug since its ability to improve sleep architecture addresses the interrelated symptoms of depressive illness, and it appears to do this better than most of the available antidepressant agents. In a recent study of 37 acutely depressed outpatients with seasonal affective disorder (SAD), the administration of agomelatine (25 mg/day) in the evening for a period of 14 weeks significantly decreased SIGH-SAD (structural Interview Guide for the HAM-D rating Scale) and CGI-S and -I scores (Clinical Global Impression of severity and Improvement) from week 2 onward (P < 0.001) (Pjrek et al. 2007). The Circascreen (a self rating scale for the assessment of sleep and circadian rhythm disorders) also improved during the study (P < 0.001). The response rate was found to be 75.7% while the remission rate was 70.3%. The significant reduction in the patient-rated Circascreen score occuring after 6 and 10 weeks demonstrated that agomelatine significantly improved sleep disturbances and daytime fatigue (Pjrek et al. 2007). In this study it was also noted that agomelatine displayed excellent tolerability at a daily dose of 25 mg and was virtually devoid of any of the side effects typical of other antidepressants such as SSRIs. This study, the longest that has ever been undertaken with agomelatine, is significant since it found no side effects following 14 weeks of administration of the drug (Pjrek et al. 2007). Moreover this is the first study demonstrating the clinical efficacy of agomelatine in patients with SAD.

Recently EEG analysis of the effects of agomelatine on sleep in MDD patients has been reported (Quera-Salva et al. 2007). PSG results revealed that SE increased and intra-sleep awakening decreased progressively from day 7 on, the differences from baseline being close to significance at day 14 (P=0.068 and P=0.076) and significant at the last evaluation (42 days after treatment) (P = 0.05for the increase in SE and P = 0.04 for the decrease of intra-sleep awakening). SWS duration and percentage of sleep period time on SWS (stages 3 and 4) increased significantly after agomelatine treatment (Salva et al. 2007). Agomelatine did not influence REMOL nor the amount of REM sleep (Table I). From these observations it was concluded that agomelatine, by increasing SWS and activity during the first sleep cycle, corrected the abnormalities of sleep regulation that is very much impaired in depression (Borbely et al. 1984).

The available evidence therefore suggests that agomelatine may have considerable promise as an antidepressant that can address the sleep abnormalities that are found in mood disorders. Further studies are necessary however to support definitive conclusions regarding agomelatine's efficacy and long-term effects.

Ramelteon in sleep disorders

Ramelteon (Rozerem[®], Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Ltd), is a tricyclic synthetic analog of melatonin that was approved by the USA's Food and Drug Administration for the treatment of insomnia in 2005. Ramelteon is a melatonin agonist which acts, like endogenous melatonin itself, acts via MT₁ and MT₂ receptors. In three large clinical trials ramelteon has been found effective in reducing SOL, and increasing total duration of sleep in insomniacs (Roth et al. 2005, 2006; Erman et al. 2006). In all doses that have been tested (ranging from 8 to 64 mg/day) ramelteon's safety has been found to be similar to that of placebo (Cajochen 2005; Erman et al. 2006). Since ramelteon has a greater affinity for MT₁ and MT₂ receptors, as well as a longer duration of sleep promoting action, it has greater overall efficacy than exogenously administered melatonin for treating sleep disorders (Pandi-Perumal et al. 2007). These characteristics suggest that ramelteon drug may have significant value for treating the sleep problems associated with depressive illness. As in the case of agomelatine, long-term studies with ramelteon have yet to be performed.

Conclusions

Insomnia is experienced as a major stressor by affected patients who also have MDD. This is not always recognized in clinical practice. Inasmuch as depressive disorders are linked to high suicide rates, traditional approaches to acute antidepressant therapy have tended to focus only on the most overt symptoms of these disorders. By contrast, the associated disruptions to sleep in depressed patients have been viewed as allied symptoms but not as contributors to the clinical picture in a primary sense. In general most of the currently used antidepressants, and especially the more recently introduced SNRIs, SSRIs and SARIs, have served well the clinician's objective to reduce MDD patients' self-destructive tendencies. Although these drugs have a demonstrated efficacy for acutely treating depressive symptoms, certain of them possess considerable adverse effects due to their antinoradrenergic or antihistaminergic properties. Further, a growing body of evidence points to the importance of disruptions to circadian rhythms as possible contributors to overall depressive symptomatology

(Jindal and Thase 2004; Zupancic and Guilleminault 2006; McClung 2007).

It is also clear that currently used antidepressant agents tend to disrupt sleep architecture, induce insomnia, as in the case of SSRIs, or produce daytime drowsiness. Agomelatine, a novel antidepressant, has been found successful in treating MDD patients. Because of its dual mechanism of action on MT₁ and MT_2 melatonin receptors in the SCN and its 5-HT_{2c} antagonist properties, agomelatine has been effective in improving both quality of sleep and mood in depressed patients. These effects, which include its normalization of sleep architecture, contrast greatly with the sleep impairments produced by almost all of the currently used antidepressants. Moreover, agomelatine's sleep enhancement effects have been documented to occur from the very beginning of treatment, presumably mediated by melatonin receptors, and indirectly indicate that circadian rhythm disruption is an important but underappreciated mechanism in the development of depressive illness. Agomelatine may be an antidepressant of choice for treating patients with MDD. Ramelteon, a new synthetic analog of melatonin with greater affinity for MT₁ and MT₂ receptors than melatonin, also holds considerable promise for treating sleep disorders associated with depressive illness. The long term efficacy and acceptability of either agomelatine or ramelteon remains to be studied.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge Ms Puan Rosnida Said for secretarial assistance.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

References

- Agargun MY, Cilli AS, Kara H, Tarhan N, Kincir F, Oz H. 1998. Repetitive and frightening dreams and suicidal behavior in patients with major depression. Compr Psychiatry 39:198–202.
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 4th ed. (DSM-IV). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press.
- Anderson IM. 2000. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors versus tricyclic antidepressants: a meta-analysis of efficacy and tolerability. J Affect Disord 58:19–36.
- Argyropoulos SV, Wilson SJ. 2005. Sleep disturbances in depression and the effects of antidepressants. Int Rev Psychiatry 17:237–245.
- Armitage R. 2007. Sleep and circadian rhythms in mood disorders. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl 104–115.

- Armitage R, Rush AJ, Trivedi M, Cain J, Roffwarg HP. 1994. The effects of nefazodone on sleep architecture in depression. Neuropsychopharmacology 10:123–127.
- Armitage R, Yonkers K, Cole D, Rush AJ. 1997. A multicenter, double-blind comparison of the effects of nefazodone and fluoxetine on sleep architecture and quality of sleep in depressed outpatients. J Clin Psychopharmacol 17:161–168.
- Aslan S, Isik E, Cosar B. 2002. The effects of mirtazapine on sleep: a placebo controlled, double-blind study in young healthy volunteers. Sleep 25:677–679.
- Asnis GM, Chakraburtty A, DuBoff EA, et al. 1999. Zolpidem for persistent insomnia in SSRI-treated depressed patients. J Clin Psychiatry 60:668–676.
- Bellipanni G, Bianchi P, Pierpaoli W, Bulian D, Ilyia E. 2001. Effects of melatonin in perimenopausal and menopausal women: a randomized and placebo controlled study. Exp Gerontol 36:297–310.
- Bellipanni G, Di Marzo F, Blasi F, Di Marzo A. 2005. Effects of melatonin in perimenopausal and menopausal women: our personal experience. Ann NY Acad Sci 1057:393–402.
- Benca RM, Obermeyer WH, Thisted RA, Gillin JC. 1992. Sleep and psychiatric disorders. A meta-analysis. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 49:651–668.
- Berger M, Riemann D. 1993. Symposium: Normal and abnormal REM sleep regulation: REM sleep in depression-an overview. J Sleep Res 2:211–223.
- Berton O, Nestler EJ. 2006. New approaches to antidepressant drug discovery: beyond monoamines. Nat Rev Neurosci 7:137– 151.
- Borbely AA, Tobler I, Loepfe M, et al. 1984. All-night spectral analysis of the sleep EEG in untreated depressives and normal controls. Psychiatry Res 12:27–33.
- Borjigin J, Li X, Snyder SH. 1999. The pineal gland and melatonin: molecular and pharmacologic regulation. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 39:53–65.
- Cajochen C. 2005. TAK-375 Takeda. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 6:114–121.
- Cajochen C, Brunner DP, Krauchi K, Graw P, Wirz-Justice A. 2000. EEG and subjective sleepiness during extended wakefulness in seasonal affective disorder: circadian and homeostatic influences. Biol Psychiatry 47:610–617.
- Cajochen C, Krauchi K, Mori D, Graw P, Wirz-Justice A. 1997. Melatonin and S-20098 increase REM sleep and wake-up propensity without modifying NREM sleep homeostasis. Am J Physiol 272:R1189–R1196.
- Cartwright R, Baehr E, Kirkby J, Pandi-Perumal SR, Kabat J. 2003. REM sleep reduction, mood regulation and remission in untreated depression. Psychiatry Res. 121:159–167.
- Celada P, Puig M, Amargos-Bosch M, Adell A, Artigas F. 2004. The therapeutic role of 5-HT1A and 5-HT2A receptors in depression. J Psychiatry Neurosci 29:252–265.
- Clerc G. 2001. Antidepressant efficacy and tolerability of milnacipran, a dual serotonin and noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor: a comparison with fluvoxamine. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 16:145–151.
- Costa D, Mogos I, Toma T. 1985. Efficacy and safety of mianserin in the treatment of depression of women with cancer. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl 320:85–92.
- Dalton EJ, Rotondi D, Levitan RD, Kennedy SH, Brown GM. 2000. Use of slow-release melatonin in treatment-resistant depression. J Psychiatry Neurosci 25:48–52.
- de Boer T. 1996. The pharmacologic profile of mirtazapine. J Clin Psychiatry 57(Suppl 4):19–25.

352 S.R. Pandi-Perumal et al.

- DeMartinis NA, Winokur A. 2007. Effects of psychiatric medications on sleep and sleep disorders. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 6:17–29.
- den Boer JA, Bosker FJ, Meesters Y. 2006. Clinical efficacy of agomelatine in depression: the evidence. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 21(Suppl 1):S21–24.
- Dolberg OT, Hirschmann S, Grunhaus L. 1998. Melatonin for the treatment of sleep disturbances in major depressive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 155:1119–1121.
- Erman M, Seiden D, Zammit G, Sainati S, Zhang J. 2006. An efficacy, safety, and dose-response study of Ramelteon in patients with chronic primary insomnia. Sleep Med 7:17–24.
- Fainstein I, Bonetto A, Brusco LI, Cardinali DP. 1997. Effects of melatonin in elderly patients with sleep disturbance. A pilot study. Curr Ther Res 58:990–1000.
- Fava M, Kendler KS. 2000. Major depressive disorder. Neuron 28:335–341.
- Fuchs E, Simon M, Schmelting B. 2006. Pharmacology of a new antidepressant: benefit of the implication of the melatonergic system. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 21(Suppl 1):S17–20.
- Golden RN, Markey SP, Risby ED, Rudorfer MV, Cowdry RW, Potter WZ. 1988. Antidepressants reduce whole-body norepinephrine turnover while enhancing 6-hydroxymelatonin output. Arch Gen Psychiatry 45:150–154.
- Guelfi JD, Ansseau M, Timmerman L, Korsgaard S. 2001. Mirtazapine versus venlafaxine in hospitalized severely depressed patients with melancholic features. J Clin Psychopharmacol 21:425–431.
- Guilleminault C. 2005. Efficacy of agomelatine versus venlafaxine on subjective sleep of patients with major depressive disorder. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 15 Suppl 3:S419.
- Haddjeri N, Blier P, de Montigny C. 1995. Noradrenergic modulation of central serotonergic neurotransmission: acute and long-term actions of mirtazapine. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 10 Suppl 4 :11–17.
- Hamon M, Bourgoin S. 2006. Pharmacological profile of antidepressants: a likely basis for their efficacy and side effects? Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 16 Suppl 5:S625–S632.
- Hirsch-Rodriguez E, Imbesi M, Manev R, Uz T, Manev H. 2006. The pattern of melatonin receptor expression in the brain may influence antidepressant treatment. Med Hypotheses 69: 120–124.
- Jindal RD, Thase ME. 2004. Treatment of insomnia associated with clinical depression. Sleep Med Rev 8:19–30.
- Kayumov L, Brown G, Jindal R, Buttoo K, Shapiro CM. 2001. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled crossover study of the effect of exogenous melatonin on delayed sleep phase syndrome. Psychosom Med 63:40–48.
- Kennedy SH, Emsley R. 2006. Placebo-controlled trial of agomelatine in the treatment of major depressive disorder. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 16:93–100.
- Kupfer DJ. 1982. Tricyclic antidepressants and EEG sleep in depressed patients. In: Costa E, Racagni G, editors. Typical and atypical antidepressants in clinical practice. New York: Raven Press. p 269–279.
- Kupfer DJ. 2006. Depression and associated sleep disturbances: patient benefits with agomelatine. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 16(Suppl 5):S639–643.
- Kupfer DJ, Bowers MB Jr. 1972. REM sleep and central monoamine oxidase inhibition. Psychopharmacologia 27: 183–190.
- Kupfer DJ, Spiker DG, Coble PA, Neil JF, Ulrich R, Shaw DH. 1981. Sleep and treatment prediction in endogenous depression. Am J Psychiatry 138:429–434.

- Lam RW. 2006. Sleep disturbances and depression: a challenge for antidepressants. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 21(Suppl 1): S25–29.
- Larson J, Jessen RE, Uz T, et al. 2006. Impaired hippocampal long-term potentiation in melatonin MT2 receptor-deficient mice. Neurosci Lett 393:23–26.
- Leproult R, Van Onderbergen A, L'hermite-Baleriaux M, Van Cauter E, Copinschi G. 2005. Phase-shifts of 24-h rhythms of hormonal release and body temperature following early evening administration of the melatonin agonist agomelatine in healthy older men. Clin Endocrinol (Oxford) 63:298–304.
- Loo H, Hale A, D'haenen H. 2002. Determination of the dose of agomelatine, a melatoninergic agonist and selective 5-HT2C) antagonist, in the treatment of major depressive disorder: a placebo-controlled dose range study. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 17:239–247.
- Lopes MC, Quera-Salva MA, Guilleminault C. 2005. Cycling alternating pattern in the NREM sleep of patients within major depressive disorder: baseline results and change overtime with a new antidepressant. Sleep Med 6(suppl. 2.):87–88.
- Lustberg L, Reynolds CF. 2000. Depression and insomnia: questions of cause and effect. Sleep Med Rev 4:253–262.
- Luthringer R, Toussaint M, Schaltenbrand N, et al. 1996. A double-blind, placebo-controlled evaluation of the effects of orally administered venlafaxine on sleep in inpatients with major depression. Psychopharmacol Bull 32:637–646.
- Mayers AG, Baldwin DS. 2005. Antidepressants and their effect on sleep. Hum Psychopharmacol 20:533–559.
- McClung CA. 2007. Circadian genes, rhythms and the biology of mood disorders. Pharmacol Ther 114:222–232.
- Millan MJ. 2006. Multi-target strategies for the improved treatment of depressive states: Conceptual foundations and neuronal substrates, drug discovery and therapeutic application. Pharmacol Ther 110:135–370.
- Millan MJ, Brocco M, Gobert A, Dekeyne A. 2005. Anxiolytic properties of agomelatine, an antidepressant with melatoninergic and serotonergic properties: role of 5-HT2C receptor blockade. Psychopharmacology (Berlin) 177:448–458.
- Millan MJ, Gobert A, Lejeune F, et al. 2003. The novel melatonin agonist agomelatine (S20098. is an antagonist at 5-hydroxytryptamine2C receptors, blockade of which enhances the activity of frontocortical dopaminergic and adrenergic pathways. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 306:954–964.
- Moltzen EK, Bang-Andersen B. 2006. Serotonin reuptake inhibitors: the corner stone in treatment of depression for half a century – A medicinal chemistry survey. Curr Top Med Chem 6:1801–1823.
- Montgomery SA. 2006. Major depressive disorders: clinical efficacy and tolerability of agomelatine, a new melatonergic agonist. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 16(Suppl 5):S633–638.
- Monti JM. 1989. Effect of a reversible monoamine oxidase-A inhibitor (moclobemide) on sleep of depressed patients. Br J Psychiatry Suppl 61–65.
- Murray CJ, Lopez AD. 1997. Alternative projections of mortality and disability by cause 1990–2020: Global Burden of Disease Study. Lancet 349:1498–1504.
- Nestler EJ, Barrot M, DiLeone RJ, Eisch AJ, Gold SJ, Monteggia LM. 2002. Neurobiology of depression. Neuron 34:13–25.
- Ostroff RB, Nelson JC. 1999. Risperidone augmentation of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors in major depression. J Clin Psychiatry 60:256–259.
- Pandi-Perumal SR, Srinivasan V, Cardinali DP, Monti JM. 2006. Could agomelatine be the ideal antidepressant? Expert Review Neurotherapeutics 6(11):1595–1608.

- Pandi-Perumal SR, Srinivasan V, Poeggeler B, Hardeland R, Cardinali DP. 2007. Drug Insight: The use of melatonergic agonists for the treatment of insomnia – Focus on ramelteon. Nat Clin Pract Neurol 3(4):221–228.
- Papakostas GI, Thase ME, Fava M, Craig Nelson J, Shelton RC. 2007. Are antidepressant drugs that combine serotonergic and noradrenergic mechanisms of action more effective than the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors in treating major depressive disorder? A meta-analysis of studies of newer ggents. Biol Psychiatry 62:1217–1227.
- Pjrek E, Winkler D, Konstantinidis A, Willeit M, Praschak-Rieder N, Kasper S. 2007. Agomelatine in the treatment of seasonal affective disorder. Psychopharmacology (Berlin) 190:575–579.
- Quera-Salva MA, Vanier B, Chapotot F. 2005. Effect of agomelatine on the sleep EEG in patients with major depressive disorders (MDD). Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 15(Suppl 3): S435.
- Quera-Salva MA, Vanier B, Laredo J, et al. 2007. Major depressive disorder, sleep EEG and agomelatine: an open-label study. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 10:691–696.
- Redman JR, Francis AJ. 1998. Entrainment of rat circadian rhythms by the melatonin agonist S-20098 requires intact suprachiasmatic nuclei but not the pineal. J Biol Rhythms 13:39–51.
- Ridout F, Shamsi Z, Meadows R, Johnson S, Hindmarch I. 2003. A single-center, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover investigation of the effects of fexofenadine hydrochloride 180 mg alone and with alcohol, with hydroxyzine hydrochloride 50 mg as a positive internal control, on aspects of cognitive and psychomotor function related to driving a car. Clin Ther 25:1518–1538.
- Rosenzweig-Lipson S, Beyer CE, Hughes ZA, et al. 2007. Differentiating antidepressants of the future: efficacy and safety. Pharmacol Ther 113:134–153.
- Roth T, Stubbs C, Walsh JK. 2005. Ramelteon (TAK-375), a selective MT1/MT2-receptor agonist, reduces latency to persistent sleep in a model of transient insomnia related to a novel sleep environment. Sleep 28:303–307.
- Roth T, Seiden D, Sainati S, Wang-Weigand S, Zhang J, Zee P. 2006. Effects of ramelteon on patient-reported sleep latency in older adults with chronic insomnia. Sleep Med 7:312–318.
- Rouillon F. 2006. Efficacy and tolerance profile of agomelatine and practical use in depressed patients. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 21(Suppl 1):S31–35.
- Ruigt GS, Kemp B, Groenhout CM, Kamphuisen HA. 1990. Effect of the antidepressant Org 3770 on human sleep. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 38:551–554.
- Rush AJ, Armitage R, Gillin JC, et al. 1998. Comparative effects of nefazodone and fluoxetine on sleep in outpatients with major depressive disorder. Biol Psychiatry 44:3–14.
- Sack RL, Lewy AJ. 1986. Desmethylimipramine treatment increases melatonin production in humans. Biol Psychiatry 21:406–410.
- Salin-Pascual RJ, Galicia-Polo L, Drucker-Colin R. 1997. Sleep changes after 4 consecutive days of venlafaxine administration in normal volunteers. J Clin Psychiatry 58:348–350.
- Saper CB, Scammell TE, Lu J. 2005. Hypothalamic regulation of sleep and circadian rhythms. Nature 437:1257–1263.
- Scharf MB, Sachais BA. 1990. Sleep laboratory evaluation of the effects and efficacy of trazodone in depressed insomniac patients. J Clin Psychiatry 51 (Suppl):13–17.
- Schatzberg AF, Kremer C, Rodrigues HE, Murphy GM, Jr. 2002. Double-blind, randomized comparison of mirtazapine and paroxetine in elderly depressed patients. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 10:541–550.

- Schulz H, Lund R, Cording C, Dirlich G. 1979. Bimodal distribution of REM sleep latencies in depression. Biol Psychiatry 14:595–600.
- Sharpley AL, Cowen PJ. 1995. Effect of pharmacologic treatments on the sleep of depressed patients. Biol Psychiatry 37:85–98.
- Sharpley AL, Williamson DJ, Attenburrow ME, Pearson G, Sargent P, Cowen PJ. 1996. The effects of paroxetine and nefazodone on sleep: a placebo controlled trial. Psychopharmacology (Berlin) 126:50–54.
- Shen J, Chung SA, Kayumov L, et al. 2006. Polysomnographic and symptomatological analyses of major depressive disorder patients treated with mirtazapine. Can J Psychiatry 51:27–34.
- Shorter E. 2007. The doctrine of the two depressions in historical perspective. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl 5–13.
- Smith WT, Londborg PD, Glaudin V, Painter JR. 2002. Is extended clonazepam cotherapy of fluoxetine effective for outpatients with major depression? J Affect Disord 70:251–259.
- Srinivasan V. 1989. Psychoactive drugs, pineal gland and affective disorders. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 13:653–664.
- Srinivasan V, Smits M, Spence W, et al. 2006. Melatonin in mood disorders. World J Biol Psychiatry 7:138–151.
- Stahl S. Essential psychopharmacology. Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press.
- Stahl SM, Zhang L, Damatarca C, Grady M. 2003. Brain circuits determine destiny in depression: a novel approach to the psychopharmacology of wakefulness, fatigue, and executive dysfunction in major depressive disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 64(Suppl 14):6–17.
- Stahl SM, Grady MM, Moret C, Briley M. 2005. SNRIs: their pharmacology, clinical efficacy, and tolerability in comparison with other classes of antidepressants. CNS Spectr 10:732–747.
- Staner L, Kerkhofs M, Detroux D, Leyman S, Linkowski P, Mendlewicz J. 1995. Acute, subchronic and withdrawal sleep EEG changes during treatment with paroxetine and amitriptyline: a double-blind randomized trial in major depression. Sleep 18:470–477.
- Szymanska A, Rabe-Jablonska J, Karasek M. 2001. Diurnal profile of melatonin concentrations in patients with major depression: relationship to the clinical manifestation and antidepressant treatment. Neuro Endocrinol Lett 22:192–198.
- Thase ME. 2006. Pharmacotherapy of bipolar depression: an update. Curr Psychiatry Rep 8:478–488.
- Thompson C, Mezey G, Corn T, et al. 1985. The effect of desipramine upon melatonin and cortisol secretion in depressed and normal subjects. Br J Psychiatry 147:389–393.
- Trivedi MH, Rush AJ, Armitage R, et al. 1999. Effects of fluoxetine on the polysomnogram in outpatients with major depression. Neuropsychopharmacology 20:447–459.
- Tsuno N, Besset A, Ritchie K. 2005. Sleep and depression. J Clin Psychiatry 66:1254–1269.
- Tuma J, Strubbe JH, Mocaer E, Koolhaas JM. 2001. S20098 affects the free-running rhythms of body temperature and activity and decreases light-induced phase delays of circadian rhythms of the rat. Chronobiol Int 18:781–799.
- Tuunainen A, Kripke DF, Elliott JA, et al. 2002. Depression and endogenous melatonin in postmenopausal women. J Affect Disord 69:149–158.
- Van Reeth O, Weibel L, Olivares E, Maccari S, Mocaer E, Turek FW. 2001. Melatonin or a melatonin agonist corrects age-related changes in circadian response to environmental stimulus. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 280:R1582– 1591.

354 S.R. Pandi-Perumal et al.

- Venkoba rao A, Parvathi Devi S, Srinivasan V. 1983. Urinary melatonin in depression. Indian J Psychiatry 25:167–172.
- Vogel GW, Buffenstein A, Minter K, Hennessey A. 1990. Drug effects on REM sleep and on endogenous depression. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 14:49–63.
- Ware JC, Brown FW, Moorad PJ Jr, Pittard JT, Cobert B. 1989. Effects on sleep: a double-blind study comparing trimipramine to imipramine in depressed insomniac patients. Sleep 12:537– 549.
- Wehr TA, Wirz-Justice A, Goodwin FK, Duncan W, Gillin JC. 1979. Phase advance of the circadian sleep-wake cycle as an antidepressant. Science. 206:710–713.
- Weibel L, Turek FW, Mocaer E, Van Reeth O. 2000. A melatonin agonist facilitates circadian resynchronization in old hamsters after abrupt shifts in the light-dark cycle. Brain Res 880:207– 211.
- Wichniak A, Riemann D, Kiemen A, Voderholzer U, JernajczykW. 2000. Comparison between eye movement latency and REM sleep parameters in major depression. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 250:48–52.

- Wilson S, Argyropoulos S. 2005. Antidepressants and sleep: a qualitative review of the literature. Drugs 65:927–947.
- Winokur A, Sateia MJ, Hayes JB, Bayles-Dazet W, MacDonald MM, Gary KA. 2000. Acute effects of mirtazapine on sleep continuity and sleep architecture in depressed patients: a pilot study. Biol Psychiatry 48:75–78.
- Winokur A, Gary KA, Rodner S, Rae-Red C, Fernando AT, Szuba MP. 2001. Depression, sleep physiology, and antidepressant drugs. Depress Anxiety 14:19–28.
- Winokur A, DeMartinis NA III, McNally DP, Gary EM, Cormier JL, Gary KA. 2003. Comparative effects of mirtazapine and fluoxetine on sleep physiology measures in patients with major depression and insomnia. J Clin Psychiatry 64:1224–1229.
- Wirz-Justice A. 2006. Biological rhythm disturbances in mood disorders. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 21(Suppl 1):S11–15.
- Yang C, White DP, Winkelman JW. 2005. Antidepressants and periodic leg movements of sleep. Biol Psychiatry 58:510–514.
- Zupancic M, Guilleminault C. 2006. Agomelatine: a preliminary review of a new antidepressant. CNS Drugs 20:981–992.



REVIEW ARTICLE

Spectroscopic findings in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: Review and meta-analysis

EVGENIY PERLOV¹, ALEXANDRA PHILIPSEN¹, SWANTJE MATTHIES¹, TOBIAS DRIELING¹, SIMON MAIER¹, EMANUEL BUBL¹, BERND HESSLINGER, MD¹, MARTIN BUECHERT², JURGEN HENNING², DIETER EBERT¹ & LUDGER TEBARTZ VAN ELST¹

¹Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University Hospital Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, and ²Department of Diagnostic Radiology, University Hospital Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany

Abstract

Objectives. The last decade has seen an increasing interest in the method of magnet resonance spectroscopy (MRS) since this is the only research tool that allows a non-invasive in vivo assessment of neurochemical aspects of ADHD without employing ionising radiation. In this paper we review published MRS results with respect to childhood, adolescence and adult ADHD. Method. We searched the Medline (Pub Med) database using the key words ADHD, attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder, magnet resonance spectroscopy, MRS and spectroscopy. Citations of identified articles were also searched for relevant studies. Meta-analyses were performed for the measured metabolites and regions of assessment. Results. Sixteen studies could be identified that used MRS to investigate the neurobiology of ADHD. Two regions could be identified as the focus of spectroscopic investigations - the frontal lobe including anterior cingulate cortex and parts of prefrontal cortex and the basal ganglia, mostly striatum, alongside the fronto-striato-thalamo-frontal circuits. As for metabolites, in the majority of studies the ratios to creatine and not absolute concentrations of metabolites were estimated. Choline compounds, N-acetyl-aspartate and glutamate/glutamine (to creatine ratios) could be identified as being altered in several studies in ADHD. The meta-analysis showed increased choline compounds in several researched regions. Discussion. MRS is a promising tool for the non-invasive in vivo assessment of the cerebral neurochemistry in ADHD. More regions of interest (ROI) like amygdala, hippocampus, thalamus and cerebellum should be assessed in future studies. Further methodological improvements of MRS are desirable in order to assess the absolute metabolite concentration of several ROIs at the same time. Such developments will open novel perspectives in spectroscopic investigations of ADHD.

Key words: ADHD, magnetic resonance spectroscopy, choline, glutamate, N-acetyl-aspartate

Introduction

Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a serious mental disorder, which begins in childhood and may persist into adult life in a substantial subgroup of patients (Biederman et al. 2005). Patients with ADHD experience significant impairments of social adaptation in various fields, e.g., professional and social life, as a consequence of inattentiveness, impulsivity and hyperactivity. The prevalence rate of ADHD in children ranges from 3 to 12%, depending on the sample selection and diagnostic criteria utilized (Biederman et al. 2005; Moore et al. 2006; Tzavara et al. 2006). In 40–60% of the afflicted children ADHD symptoms persist

into adulthood (Gurvitis et al. 1996; Natsume et al. 1997) including cases with partial remission. The prevalence rate of adults meeting full criteria for ADHD (DSM-IV) is estimated to range from 1 to 2% (Moore et al. 2006). Since the hyperactivity tends to decline more than inattentiveness, ADHD in adulthood is less obvious and thus is often overlooked (Biederman et al. 2000). However, patients with persistent ADHD frequently experience significant dysfunctions in occupational and vocational performance, continuous social impairments, low self esteem, higher rates of motor vehicle accidents and higher risks of substance abuse and other psychiatric conditions (Spencer et al. 2002). The high prevalence, the global impairment and the

Correspondence: Evgeniy Perlov, MD, Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University Hospital Freiburg, Hauptstraße 5, D-79104 Freiburg, Germany. Tel: +49 761 270 6501. Fax: +49 761 270 6619. E-mail: evgeniy_perlov@psyallg.ukl.uni-freiburg.de

(Received 16 November 2007; accepted 29 April 2008)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970802176032

chronicity of this disorder led the Center for Disease Control and Prevention to identify ADHD as a serious public health problem in the year 2002 (Spencer et al. 2002).

Several brain structures have been identified to be abnormal in the context of ADHD. The most common findings in neuroimaging studies are smaller volumes of the total brain, the right frontal cortex and white matter, the cerebellum and striatal subcortical structures (Castellanos et al. 1996, 2002; Schweitzer et al. 2000; Lenartowicz et al. 2005; Nebel et al. 2005; Konrad et al. 2006). In their current review of functional neuroimaging studies in ADHD, Bush et al. (2005) identify the following regions as being reported to be abnormal: the prefrontal cortex (PFC), including dorsolateral PFC (DLPFC) and ventrolateral PFC (VLPFC), the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex (dACC) and the striatum, the parietal cortex, the superior temporal sulcus, thalamus, the brain stem reticular activating system and the cerebellum.

Neurochemically, dopamine plays the central role in most pathogenetic models of ADHD (Biederman et al. 2005). The nigrostriatal and mesolimbic subdivisions of the dopaminergic system modulate motor as well as affective, cognitive and attentional faculties. A subtle cross-regulation and interaction of dopaminergic and glutamatergic neurotransmission in prefrontal, striatal and midbrain sites are the prerequisite for these diverse functions (Sesack et al. 2003).

Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) is a reliable, non-invasive method for in vivo detection of neurometabolites. Glutamate (Glu), glutamine (Gln) often taken together as Glx, *N*-acetylaspartate and *N*-acetylaspartylglutamate (NAA), myo-inositol (mIns), choline-containing compounds (Cho),

 γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) and creatine (Cr) can be detected as ratios relative to Cr or in absolute figures with ¹H-MRS (see Figure 1 for typical spectra). ³¹P-MRS provides information on membrane phospholipids (MPL) and on the metabolism of high-energy phosphate by assessing phosphomonoesters (PME) and phosphodiesters (PDE), phosphocreatine (PCr), andenosine triphosphate (ATP) and inorganic orthophosphate (P_i), respectively. There is a methodological characteristic within the various MRS methods. In 2D chemical shift imaging (CSI) a slice has to be selected and in single voxel spectroscopy a voxel has to be selected prior measurement. While CSI allows the specification of regions of interest (ROI) within the selected slice later during post processing, single voxel spectroscopy is restricted to the originally selected voxel. CSI further allows the comparison of ROIs, if they are within the selected slice. On the other hand, detection of absolute metabolite concentrations is well established for single voxel spectroscopy while it is very difficult for CSI. That is the reason why almost all reviewed CSI studies only calculated metabolite ratios.

³¹P-MRS allows the detection of phosphoruscontaining metabolites concentrations. These methods should be treated separately due to methodical differences (Ross et al. 2001). Even though there are many spectroscopic studies in psychiatric disorders like major depression, schizophrenia or bipolar disorder (Olbrich et al. 2008; Scherk et al. 2007), there are only few papers about spectroscopic findings in ADHD. At the same time MRS seems to be a promising tool in ADHD research, since the assessed neurochemical brain properties and dopaminergic



Figure 1. Typical spectra of ¹H-MRS.

and glutamatergic dysfunctions are known to be of importance in the pathogenesis of ADHD.

This review was made in order to systematize current findings and to identify perspectives for further investigations. To our knowledge this is the first systematic review of spectroscopic findings in ADHD.

Methods

We searched the Medline (Pub Med) database using the key words ADHD, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, magnet resonance spectroscopy, MRS and spectroscopy. Citations of identified articles were also searched for relevant studies. All identified papers which employed MRS in ADHD were included into this review. No limits were placed in respect to year of publication or the age of ADHD population. The endpoint for the literature search was end of September 2007. In this paper we describe and summarize the different MRS methods that have been used and the respective results of the different studies.

Additionally we included the identified studies in our meta-analyses. Meta-analyses were performed separated by metabolite and region of assessment, if at least two controlled studies contributed applicable data. Relational values (ratios to creatine) were pooled with absolute values using standardized means. In the case of high heterogeneity (with P for $I^2 \leq 0.10$), random effect methods were applied. For this purpose we used the statistical software ReviewManager 4.2.8.

One controlled trial (Fayed and Modrego 2005) was excluded from meta-analyses, because variances were not presented and a normal distribution could not be assumed. Another two controlled studies were not comparable to the remaining trials, because different regions (Hesslinger et al. 2001) and outcome variable (Stanley et al. 2006) were examined.

Results

Sixteen published articles using different MRS methods in ADHD research could be identified.

MRS methods used in ADHD

Single voxel spectroscopy. This is the most used localization method of MRS in psychiatric research, which allows obtaining both ratios and absolute figures of neurometabolites in defined region of interest (voxel). The voxel size, localization and number of acquisitions are crucial for the quality of signal (signal-to-noise ratio). The voxel has to be placed precisely into the region of interest. Since typical voxel size should be at least 4 (or better 8 ml), there are some difficulties in measuring small structures of the brain. Another limitation is the quality of spectra if the voxel is positioned in the proximity of ventricles or blood vessels (which is of particular relevance when measuring the basal ganglia, amygdala or striatal structures) (Barker et al. 2001).

Chemical shift imaging. This allows the precise definition of extended regions of interest. Post processing algorithms allow the comparative measurement of neurochemical signals within a slice of the brain, the mapping of the respective metabolite concentrations and a visual differentiation between grey and white matter voxels (see Figure 2) (Brown 1992). The cardinal limitation of this method is a methodological difficulty in absolute quantification of metabolites.

The employed methods of all included studies are summarized in Table I. Only two of the 16 included studies employed CSI while all others used single voxel spectroscopy (SVS). All studies in children used SVS. The majority of studies employed Press sequences, among them all studies with adults.



Figure 2. CSI. Metabolic map and definition of prefrontal grey matter in post processing.

358 E. Perlov et al.

Table I.	Studies	employing	MRS	in ADHD	research.
----------	---------	-----------	-----	---------	-----------

	San	nple			
Study and Year	Patients	Controls	Method	Regions	Findings
Studies with children					
1. Jin et al. 2001	<i>n</i> =12	<i>n</i> = 10	Single voxel ¹ H-MRS PRESS; TE 35.5 ms; TR 1500 ms	Striatum bilateral	NAA/Cr↓; Cho/Cr right↑
2. Carrey et al. 2002	<i>n</i> =4	-	single voxel ¹ H-MRS, before and after medicaltion	Left striatum	Glx/Cr \downarrow
			PRESS; TE 135 ms; TR 1500 ms	Right PFC	\rightarrow
3. MacMaster et al.	n = 9	n = 9	Single voxel 'H-MRS	Left striatum	$Glx/Cr\uparrow(n.s.)$
2005 4 Carrev et al 2003	n = 14	_	Single voxel ¹ H-MRS, before and	Left striatum	Glx/Cr
1. Guiley et ul. 2005	<i>n</i> 11		after medicaltion PRESS: TE 135 ms: TR 1500 ms	Right PEC	
5. Sparks et al. 2004	n = 8	n = 6	Single voxel ¹ H-MRS,	Left striatum	\rightarrow
			PRESS; TE 135 ms; TR 1500 ms	Right PFC	\rightarrow
6. Carrey et al. 2007	<i>n</i> =13	<i>n</i> = 10	Single voxel ¹ H-MRS, absolute	Left striatum	Glx, Cr↑; NAA,
			quantification		Cho, mIns \rightarrow
			PRESS; TE 30 ms; TR 2000 ms	Right PFC	Glx, Cr, NAA, Cho, mIns→
7. Yeo et al. 2003	<i>n</i> =23	<i>n</i> =24	single voxel ¹ H-MRS STEAM; TE 30 ms; TR 2000 ms	Right frontal lobe	NAA, Cho, Cr \rightarrow
8. Courvoisie et al.	n = 8	n = 8	Single voxel ¹ H-MRS	Right frontal lobe	Glu/Cr, NAA/Cr,
2004			STEAM; TE 20 ms; TR 1600 ms	Left frontal lobe	Cho/Cr↑ Glu/Cr↑
9. Sun et al. 2005	n = 20 (10+10)*	<i>n</i> = 10	Single voxel ¹ H-MRS PRESS; TE 35.5 ms; TR 1500 ms	Right lenticular nucleus Left lenticular nucleus	NAA/Cr \downarrow ; Cho/Cr, mIns/Cr, Glx/Cr \rightarrow
10. Fayed and Modre- go 2005	<i>n</i> =8	<i>n</i> = 12	Single voxel ¹ H-MRS PRESS; TE 30 ms; TR 2500	Left centrum semiovale (white matter)	NAA/Cr \uparrow ; Cho/Cr, mIns/Cr \rightarrow
11. Fayed et al. 2007	<i>n</i> =22	<i>n</i> = 8	Single voxel ¹ H-MRS PRESS; TE 30 ms; TR 2500	Left centrum semiovale (white matter) and prefrotal right (grey and whit matter)	NAA/Cr \uparrow ; Cho/Cr, mIns/Cr \rightarrow
12. Moore et al. 2006	n = 15 (+8)**	<i>n</i> =7	Single voxel ¹ H-MRS STEAM; TE 30 ms; TR 2000 ms	ACC (both side in one voxel)	Glx/Cr, Glx/mIns \uparrow ; mIns/Cr \rightarrow
13. Stanley et al. 2006	n = 10	<i>n</i> = 15	Multiple voxel 31-P-MRS	PFC left/right (r/l)	Free-PME r/l, free- PME/free-PDE
				Basal ganlia l/r	Free-PME r/l, free- PME/free-PDE↓
				Superior temporal region l/r	\rightarrow
Studies with adults					
14. Hesslinger et al. 2001	n = 10 (5+5)*	<i>n</i> =5	Single voxel ¹ H-MRS absolute quantification	Left dorsolateral PFC	NAA \downarrow ; Cho, Cr, mIns, Glx, GABA \rightarrow
			PRESS; TE 30 ms; TR 3000 ms	Left striatum	\rightarrow
15. Perlov et al. 2007	<i>n</i> =28	<i>n</i> =28	¹ H-MRS CSI	Right ACC	Glx/Cr \downarrow ; Cho/Cr, mIns/Cr, NAA/Cr \rightarrow
16. Colla et al. 2008	<i>n</i> =15	<i>n</i> = 10	PRESS; TE 30 ms; TR 1500 ms ¹ H-MRS CSI PRESS; TE 135 ms; TR 1500 ms	Left ACC Right ACC Left ACC	→ Cho \uparrow ; NAA, Cr → Cho \uparrow ; NAA, Cr →

*Combined and inattentive subtypes of ADHD; **children with ADHD and bipolar disorder; \uparrow higher; \downarrow lower concentration in ADHD group; \rightarrow no metabolite differences between groups.

Regarding the used echo times (TE), the distribution of short TE ($\sim <30$ ms) and long TE (135 ms) shows no clear prevalence. The same is true for the chosen repetition times (TR), where slightly more studies chose a short TR of 1500 ms in comparison to longer TRs in the second subgroup. Longer TRs result in a better signal-to-noise ratio; however, this increases acquisition time. Only two studies, one in children and one in adults, used absolute quantification algorithms.

³¹*P-MRS*. ³¹*P-MRS* is based on the same physical principles as ¹*H-MRS* but uses the resonances of phosphor instead of proton ions. Since their resonance frequencies are markedly different standard clinical MR scanners need additional costly

equipment to carry out ³¹P-MRS. Such additional ³¹P-MRS options are not offered for any scanner model. ³¹P-MRS allows the measurement of highenergy phosphate (important for assessment of energy metabolism) or phospholipids which can be stated as a marker for neuronal degeneration or proliferation and (de novo) connectivity (Vance 1988; Geddes et al. 1997; Stanley et al. 2006). Due to the low phosphor concentration in the human brain this method meets a high specificity at the cost of a lower sensitivity. Only one study was identified which used ³¹P-MRS, which reflects among others the limited availability and technical challenge of this method.

Spectroscopic findings in ADHD

¹H-MRS research has only recently been applied to ADHD. Nevertheless, several research groups have investigated neurometabolic differences between ADHD patients and healthy controls using this non invasive in vivo method. Table I summarizes the findings of the reviewed studies. In this paper we describe the respective focusing on the different investigated regions of interest separately for children and adults. The single ³¹P-MRS studies are dealt with separately due to the important methodical differences.

Findings in pediatric ADHD

Jin et al. (2001) reported significant bilateral decreases of NAA/Cr ratios in the striatum of 12 boys (mean 13 years) with ADHD compared to 10 healthy controls (mean age 13 years). They also found a significant increase of Cho/Cr ratio in right striatum. An increased Cho/Cr ratio in the left striatum did not reach level of significance. Furthermore, the authors studied ADHD children after one oral dose of 10 mg methylphenidate. No medication effect was observed on measured metabolic concentrations. Carrey et al. (2002) showed a dramatic decrease of Glx/Cr ratio in the left striatum after 14-18 weeks of treatment with methylphenidate or atomoxetine in their case series of 4 ADHD patients (two boys, aged 7–12 years). They also observed a decrease of Glx/Cr ratio in the right prefrontal cortex (PFC) in two patients treated with atomoxetine, but not in patients treated with methylphenidate. MacMaster et al. (2003) studied nine ADHD patients (six male, 7-16 years) and nine ageand gender-matched control subjects in the same regions. In the left striatum, there was a trend towards increased Glx/Cr ratios in the ADHD group. Significantly higher ratios of Glx/Cr were found in the right PFC of ADHD patients as opposed to control subjects. The patient and control group did not differ

with respect to other metabolites measured in this study. This research group also observed a significantly decreased Glx/Cr ratio in the left striatum of 14 paediatric patients (11 male, 7-13 years) following pharmacological treatment with stimulants (methylphenidate, dexedrine or atomoxetine). No other effects of pharmacological treatment on the ratios of NAA/Cr or Cho/Cr were found. Likewise, the prefrontal Glx/Cr ratio did not change with treatment (Carrey et al. 2003). Later they reported unchanged levels of NAA/Cr, Glx/Cr and Cho/Cr in the left striatum and right PFC following medication of three pediatric ADHD patients (n = 8, six males, 7–11 years) and healthy controls (n = 6, four males, agematched) (Sparkes et al. 2004). In their latest article the authors reported significantly increased Glx and Cr concentrations (not as a ratio but using absolute quantification algorithms) in the left striatal region of ADHD patients (n = 13, only male, 6-11 years) as compared to healthy controls (n = 10, only male, agematched). No other metabolite abnormalities in the striatum (NAA, Cho, mIns) or any other measured region (PFC and occipital lobe) was found. Pharmacological treatment with methylphenidate resulted in reduction of striatal Cr concentration only. No significant differences were noted for the remaining striatal metabolite concentrations (Carrey et al. 2007).

The right frontal lobe was investigated by Yeo et al. (2003) – predominantly in white matter – in children with ADHD (n = 23, 17 boys, mean age 9.47) and healthy controls (n = 24, 17 boys, mean)age 9.40) to show no significant differences in concentration of most metabolites (NAA, Cho, Cr). However, the concentrations of Glx or other glutamate compounds were not been measured in this study. The ADHD group contained patients with varying medication regimes, possibly hampering the statistical power of the study. Another research group (Courvoisie et al. 2004) found significantly higher levels of Glu/Cr ratios in both right and left frontal lobe as well as significant higher levels of NAA/Cr and Cho/Cr ratios in the right frontal lobe in eight ADHD children (seven boys, mean age 8.93) compared to eight matched healthy controls. No significant differences for mIns/Cr ratios were found in either left and right frontal lobe when compared to healthy controls.

Sun et al. (2005) observed significant decreased NAA/Cr ratios in the right and left lenticular nuclei in 10 boys with combined ADHD subtype compared to 10 age-matched controls and 10 patients with inattentive subtype of ADHD. No significant differences between groups were found for Cho/Cr, mIns/Cr and Glx/Cr ratios. Fayed and Modrego (2005) demonstrated significantly increased NAA/Cr ratios in the white matter of the left centrum semiovale in ADHD children (three male, five female) compared to agematched healthy controls (five male, seven female) and autistic children (18 male, three female). No significant differences were reported for Cho/Cr and mIns/Cr. In their latest study Fayed et al. (2007) investigated 22 adolescences with ADHD (18 male, four female) and eight controls (four male, four female) measuring the left centrum semiovale and the right corticosubcortical prefrontal region. They found significantly elevated NAA/ Cr ratios and no other alterations in both regions of the patient group.

Moore et al. (2006) acquired the MRS data from the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) of children aged 6-13 years. The authors compared 15 ADHD and eight ADHD plus bipolar disorder children with seven healthy controls (among them four siblings of ADHD children). Three children with ADHD and two with ADHD plus bipolar disorder were medicated (miscellaneous substances) at the time of investigation. The authors used both the x-to-Cr and x-to-mIns ratios for their calculations. Significantly higher Glx/Cr and Glx/mIns ratios were detected in the ADHD group compared to both control and ADHD plus bipolar disorder groups. The level of mIns/Cr ratio did not differ between groups. The ratios also did not differ in patients compared to their siblings.

Using a multi-voxel ³¹P-MRS approach Stanley et al. (2006) studied 10 ADHD children (nine boys, age range 7.0-11.9 years) and 15 healthy comparison subjects (13 boys, age range 6.6-12.6 years). The regions of interest were defined in the PFC (ACC, superior frontal gyrus and prefrontal white matter), the basal ganglia (head of caudate, putamen, anterior portion of the thalamus, anterior horn of the lateral ventricle, and the white matter tracts around this structures) and the superior temporal region (superior temporal gyrus, and pre- and post-central gyrus). Irrespective of hemispheres, free-phosphomonoesters (free-PME) levels were significantly lower in the PFC and the basal ganglia in ADHD children compared to healthy controls. The equilibrium of MPL turnover (free-PDEratio) was significantly lower in the basal ganglia and tended to be lower in the PFC of ADHD patients. There were no significant group differences for the free-PDE, PCr, P_i, ATP and broad-PDE levels, and PCr/P_i ratios in PFC, basal ganglia or superior temporal region.

Findings in adult ADHD

The left dorsolateral PFC (DLPFC) and left striatum were investigated by Hesslinger et al. (2001). They found significant lower concentrations of NAA in the left DLPFC in five unmedicated male ADHD (hyperactive-impulsive subtype) patients (mean age 27.2 ± 3.27 years) compared to five male ADD (inattentive subtype) patients (mean age $27.8 \pm$ 3.03 years) and five male healthy controls (mean age 27.0 ± 2.92 years). The authors reported no differences in other metabolite concentrations (Cho, Glx, Cr, mIns) in the left DLPFC or any differences in above-mentioned metabolite concentrations in the left striatum between groups.

The region of ACC was investigated in two studies. Our research group showed significantly decreased ratios of Glx/Cr in the right ACC (28 adult ADHD patients - combined subtype, mean age 30.5 ± 7.7 years compared to 28 genderand age-matched healthy controls). No further metabolite differences between groups were found (Perlov et al. 2007). Colla et al. (2008) reported significantly increased signals of choline compounds in the ACC in adult ADHD patients which correlated with reduced hit reaction time in continuous performance task. Fifteen ADHD patients (eight male, seven female) and 10 healthy controls (four male, six female) were studied. No differences between groups were reported concerning the signals of NAA or Cr.

Results of meta-analyses

The results of meta-analyses are summarized in Table II. In spite of the low number of MRS studies we detected a rather stable increase of the signal of the choline compounds in different regions of interest. In children the meta-analysis revealed significant changes of choline compounds in left striatum and right frontal lobe. In adults the differences in choline compounds were significant in the right and left ACC (for effect sizes and methodical description see Table II). No other significant metabolite differences were detected in the meta-analysis.

Discussion

In this systematic review we took care to identify all MRS studies in the context of ADHD. The strength of MRS is to detect metabolite signals in the human brain in vivo and non-invasively. Beside postmortem studies and studies using radioactive tracers (PET and SPECT) MRS is the only way to study

Table II. Results of meta-ana	ysis
-------------------------------	------

Population and variable	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Heterogeneity I^2	Effect size (95% CI)	Р
Children						
Left striatum						
NAA ^{1,2}	2	45	SMD (random)	93%+	-1.05 [-3.86 , 1.76]	0.46
Inositol ^{1,2}	2	45	SMD (fixed)	0%	-0.17 [-0.76 , 0.42]	0.56
Glutamix 1,2,3	3	61	SMD (random)	73%+	0.70[-0.36, 1.75]	0.20
Choline ^{1,2}	2	45	SMD (fixed)	0%	0.66 [0.05, 1.27]	0.03
Right frontal lobe						
NAA 4,5,6	3	93	SMD (random)	$70\%^{+}$	0.74 [-0.13, 1.61]	0.10
Inositol ^{4,5}	2	46	WMD (fixed)	0%	0.01 [-0.04, 0.07]	0.62
Choline 4,5,6	3	93	SMD (fixed)	31%	0.52 [0.08, 0.95]	0.02
Right PFC						
Glutamix ^{2,3}	2	41	SMD (random)	76%	0.76 [-0.40, 1.92]	0.20
Adults						
Right ACC						
NAA ^{7,8}	2	80	SMD (fixed)	0%	-0.22 [-0.66 , 0.22]	0.33
Choline 7,8	2	80	SMD (fixed)	0%	0.72 [0.26, 1.18]	0.002
Left ACC						
NAA ^{7,8}	2	80	SMD (fixed)	0%	0.08 [-0.36, 0.53]	0.72
Choline ^{7,8}	2	80	SMD (fixed)	0%	0.54 [0.09, 0.99]	0.02

 $P \le 0.10$; SMD, standardized mean difference, WMD, weighted mean difference, NAA, *N*-acetyl-aspartate; PFC, prefrontal cortex; ACC, anterior cingulate cortex.

¹Jin et al. 2001; ²Carry et al. 2007; ³MacMaster et al. 2003; ⁴Courvoisie et al. 2004; ⁵Fayed et al. 2007; ⁶Yeo et al. 2003; ⁷Colla et al. 2008; ⁸Perlov et al. 2007.

pathobiochemical processes causing ADHD. The aim of this review was to summarize systematically the known MRS data in ADHD and to analyze further ways of progress with this method in ADHD research. The focus of our review was on published results rather than on methodological details.

Our main positive finding is that of increased signals for the choline compound in children as well as adults across different cerebral regions of interest.

Before discussing our results, some limitations of this review have to be mentioned. First, the precise MRS methodology used was rather heterogeneous. Not surprising the frequency of use of certain methods or features seems to depend on its availability in clinical research, costs and technical challenges. This is reflected in the low proportion of studies employing absolute quantification, CSI or ³¹P-MRS, even though each of them could provide specific information not accessible with standard protocols. Further technical developments and improvements of these alternative techniques will allow a more wide-spread application of them in the future.

The small number of identified studies using the MRS methods in ADHD research is another more important limitation. However, still we could identify and examine 16 studies. The methodical differences of the identified studies and differences in measured regions of interest further contributed to the limitations of the meta-analyses. Finally, most identified studies investigated children with ADHD of variable age and only three studies dealt with adult ADHD.

We could identify some regions which were the focus of interest in the last decade. The most frequently measured region is the frontal lobe including the prefrontal cortex with DLPFC and ACC (eight studies in paediatric and two in adult ADHD) followed by the striatum (four studies in pediatric and one in adult ADHD). Regions like the lenticular nucleus, the white matter of the centrum semiovale, the basal ganglia (excluding the striatum) and different parts of cerebellum have all been measured in one study only.

Most MRS studies in ADHD focused on pediatric patients. Presently, there are only three studies investigating adult ADHD patients. Only one of sixteen spectroscopy studies used ³¹P-MRS.

In ¹H-MRS studies NAA concentration or NAA/ Cr ratios were found to be decreased in the striatum (Jin et al. 2001), the lenticular nuclei (Sun et al. 2005) in paediatric and in left DLPFC in adult ADHD (Hesslinger et al. 2001). Increased signals were found in the right frontal lobe (Courvoisie et al. 2004) and in the white matter of the left centrum semiovale (Fayed and Modrego 2005; Fayed et al. 2007) in paediatric patients. Decreased NAA/Cr ratios in the ventral striatum and the lenticular nuclei as a part of the basal ganglia of ADHD children are in line with previously reported volume abnormalities in these regions (Aylward et al. 1996; Mataro et al. 1997; Semrud-Clikeman et al. 2000). The decreased NAA signal in the DLPFC of adult ADHD could be interpreted as a sign of neuronal dysfunction and does not necessarily indicate cell death (Dautry et al. 2000). This interpretation is in line with findings of Stanley et al. (2006) of decreased free-PME in prefrontal regions and basal ganglia. However, the increased NAA/Cr ratios in right frontal lobe and left white matter found for example by Courvoisie et al. (2004) do not support this assumption, even though increased NAA/Cr ratios could also be caused in terms of reduced Crsignals and do not necessarily reflect an essentially increased NAA-signal (Tebartz van Elst et al. 2001).

Glx concentrations or Glx/Cr ratios have been reported to be increased in left striatum, right PFC and ACC in pediatric ADHD (MacMaster et al. 2003; Carrey et al. 2007; Moore et al. 2006). In adult ADHD, one study reported decreased Glx/Cr ratios (Perlov et al. 2007). The glutamate in frontal circuits is supposed to be an important regulator of dopamine, which is thought to be primarily affected in ADHD (Carlsson et al. 1999a, 1999b; Krause et al. 2006). Via feedback mechanism, dopamine concentration could possibly influence the concentration of glutamate (Tebartz van Elst et al. 2005; Olbrich et al. 2008). Following this assumption, the hyperactivity in ADHD children (which is generally not observed in adults) could be understood as an attempt to stimulate a hypofunctional dopaminergic system accompanied by higher glutamate concentrations in pediatric ADHD patients. This hypothesis could be supported by the observation of decreased Glx/Cr ratios in the left striatum of children after the medication with methylphenidate and accordant loss of hyperactivity (Carrey et al. 2002, 2003). Another hypothesis explaining the different Glx/Cr ratios in ADHD and healthy controls could be an altered energy metabolism in ADHD patients. Alterations in energy metabolism of monoamines have been suggested as a core deficit in ADHD (Todd et al. 2001). Following synaptic release glutamate is absorbed by adjacent astroglia and converted to glutamine (Gln). Gln then forms the substrate of mitochondrial Glu synthesis. Glu-Gln cycling is closely coupled to glial glucose utilization and lactate production and is energy-dependent. Russell et al. (2006) hypothesised an insufficient astrocyte function in terms of formation and energy exchange in ADHD. Following this hypothesis, on one side the insufficient lactate supply in oligodendrocytes impairs the myelination of axons during development and on the other side the deficiency in ATP production in neurons disturbs neuronal functioning.

The findings of lower free-PME levels in the basal ganglia and PFC bilaterally (Stanley et al. 2006) are

consistent with these energy hypotheses. Moreover, Cr as an important energy metabolite in the human brain was used as a reference substance in most identified studies and for that reason could not be evaluated to be changed in ADHD. The usage of an absolute quantification method is essential for the investigation of Cr concentrations in ADHD.

Concerning mIns or its ratios to Cr, no differences in concentration were found in any spectroscopic study of ADHD patients. Only in the study of Moore et al. (2006) was significantly increased ratios of Glx/ mIns found in ADHD; however, the Glx/Cr ratio was also increased which might imply that changes are rather caused by increased Glx than by mIns.

The best studied regions in ADHD research i.e. the prefrontal cortex and the striatum are part of prefronto-striato-thalamo-frontal circuits that are known to be of critical importance for the modulation of higher cognitive, emotional and attentional processes (Mega et al. 1994). Another important relay station within these circuits which has been ignored in spectroscopic ADHD research so far is the thalamus. This highly interesting region has been previously found abnormal or altered after therapy with methylphenidate in two PET studies (Zametkin et al. 1993; Schweitzer et al. 2004) and one SPECT study (Kim et al. 2001).

Since ADHD is not only characterized by the symptoms of hyperactivity and attentional deficiency but also by impulsivity and emotional dysregulation the amygdala and related limbic structures seem to be one of the most interesting regions for further spectroscopic ADHD investigations. Subtle amygdala and hippocampal abnormalities have already been reported in volumetric ADHD studies (Plessen et al. 2006); however, we were unable to replicate this finding in adults (Perlov et al. 2008). Furthermore, the amygdala has been shown to be altered in some studies with borderline patients – a syndrome with a high psychopathological similarity and comorbidity with ADHD - and in dysthymia and depression, which are well known to be frequent comorbidities in ADHD (Tebartz et al. 1999, 2000; Rusch et al. 2003; Tebartz van Elst 2005, 2007; Zetzsche et al. 2006).

The hippocampus is known to be involved in attentional processes such as visuospatial working memory (Bedard et al. 2004) and in modulating executive functions (Sergeant et al. 2002). Disturbances in these functional domains belong to the core symptoms of ADHD. Therefore, hippocampal spectroscopy could be a further region of interest in spectroscopic ADHD studies.

As for the cerebellum, Bush et al. (2005) identified it already as an interesting region for further spectroscopic investigations. The cerebellum has been recently recognized as modulating cognitive functions beyond its role in adjusting motor output. The role of the cerebellum in a wide range of cognitive and affective functions has been demonstrated in lesion studies (Townsend et al. 1999; Schmahmann 2004; Golla et al. 2005) and using functional MRI (Desmond et al. 1998).

Interestingly, our meta-analyses revealed a significant difference for the choline compounds. Cho was increased in all regions for which more than one study was performed, even though this metabolite was only significantly altered in two of the original studies in children (in the striatum (Jin et al. 2001) and in the right frontal lobe (Courvoisie et al. 2004)) and in only one study in adults (Colla et al. (2008) reported significantly increased signal of Cho in both left and right ACC). These findings tie in nicely with findings of altered membrane phospholipids in a ³¹P-MRS study (Stanley et al. 2006); however, further studies dealing with choline compounds are necessary to confirm these alterations.

Generally the choline signal is regarded as reflecting the turn-over of cell membranes (Gujar et al. 2005). However, some authors also discuss a possible role of choline-containing substances in the energy metabolism (Purdon et al. 2002) or a possible relationship to cholinergic neurotransmission (Freeman et al. 1976). Significant increases in the Cho resonance are commonly observed in neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's disease and multiple sclerosis (MS), as well as cases of ischaemia and head trauma, presumably due to the release of Cho-containing compounds during membrane breakdown. Increased Cho signals can also be associated with cancer, most likely due to the increased cellular density found in tumours (Stork et al. 2005). In summary, the issue of the precise meaning of altered Cho-signals in MRS is not yet resolved and further basic research is needed to produce more clarity in this matter.

In summary little is done on the field of MRS research in ADHD, with only 16 studies being published so far and all findings being still preliminary. In particularly, in adult ADHD there are only three studies. Most studies measured relative signals, i.e. metabolite ratios and not absolute metabolite signals. Cho, NAA and Glx could be identified as the most important altered metabolites in spectroscopic ADHD research. The choline signals in particular turned out to be altered across different brain regions in childhood and adult ADHD. New methodological developments offer the opportunity of absolute metabolite quantification in larger cerebral areas and thereby possibly open new perspectives in studying ADHD pathophysiology.

Two regions could be identified to be actually in focus of spectroscopic investigations: the frontal lobe including ACC and parts of PFC and the basal ganglia, in particular the striatum.

Further studies should focus on further critical brain areas such as the cerebellum or limbic structures like amygdala or hippocampus known to be abnormal from morphological ADHD studies. The thalamus, as crossing point of several fronto-striatothalamo-frontal brain circuits should also attract more attention for a better understanding of the neurochemical mechanisms implicated in the pathophysiology of ADHD.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

No author has a conflict of interest concerning this manuscript.

References

- Aylward EH, Reiss AL, Reader MJ, Singer HS, Brown JE, Denckla MB. 1996. Basal ganglia volumes in children with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. J Child Neurol 11:112– 115.
- Barker PB, Hearshen DO, Boska MD. 2001. Single-voxel proton MRS of the human brain at 1.5T and 3.0T. Magn Reson Med 45:765–769.
- Bedard AC, Martinussen R, Ickowicz A, Tannock R. 2004. Methylphenidate improves visual-spatial memory in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 43:260–268.
- Biederman J, Faraone SV. 2005. Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Lancet 366:237–248.
- Biederman J, Mick E, Faraone SV. 2000. Age-dependent decline of symptoms of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: impact of remission definition and symptom type. Am J Psychiatry 157:816–818.
- Brown TR. 1992. Practical applications of chemical shift imaging. NMR Biomed 5:238–243.
- Bush G, Valera EM, Seidman LJ. 2005. Functional neuroimaging of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a review and suggested future directions. Biol Psychiatry 57:1273–1284.
- Carlsson A, Hansson LO, Waters N, Carlsson ML. 1999a. A glutamatergic deficiency model of schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry Suppl 2–6.
- Carlsson A, Waters N, Carlsson ML. 1999b. Neurotransmitter interactions in schizophrenia – therapeutic implications. Biol Psychiatry 46:1388–1395.
- Carrey N, MacMaster FP, Sparkes SJ, Khan SC, Kusumakar V. 2002. Glutamatergic changes with treatment in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a preliminary case series. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 12:331–336.
- Carrey N, MacMaster FP, Fogel J, Sparkes S, Waschbusch D, Sullivan S, et al. 2003. Metabolite changes resulting from treatment in children with ADHD: a 1H-MRS study. Clin Neuropharmacol 26:218–221.
- Carrey NJ, MacMaster FP, Gaudet L, Schmidt MH. 2007. Striatal creatine and glutamate/glutamine in attention-deficit/

364 E. Perlov et al.

hyperactivity disorder. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 17:11–17.

- Castellanos FX, Giedd JN, Marsh WL, Hamburger SD, Vaituzis AC, Dickstein DP, et al. 1996. Quantitative brain magnetic resonance imaging in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 53:607–616.
- Castellanos FX, Lee PP, Sharp W, Jeffries NO, Greenstein DK, Clasen LS, et al. 2002. Developmental trajectories of brain volume abnormalities in children and adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Med Assoc 288:1740– 1748.
- Colla M, Ende G, Alm B, Deuschle M, Heuser I, Kronenberg G. 2008. Cognitive MR spectroscopy of anterior cingulate cortex in ADHD: Elevated choline signal correlates with slowed hit reaction times. J Psychiatr Res 42(7):587–595.
- Courvoisie H, Hooper SR, Fine C, Kwock L, Castillo M. 2004. Neurometabolic functioning and neuropsychological correlates in children with ADHD-H: preliminary findings. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 16:63–69.
- Dautry C, Vaufrey F, Broulliet E, Blizat N, Henry PG, Conde F, et al. 2000. Early *N*-acetylaspartate depletion is a marker of neuronal dysfunction in rats and primates chronically treated with the mitochondrial toxin 3-nitropropionic acid. J Cerebral Blood Flow Metab 20:789–799.
- Desmond JE, Gabrieli JD, Glover GH. 1998. Dissociation of frontal and cerebellar activity in a cognitive task: evidence for a distinction between selection and search. Neuroimage 7:368– 376.
- Fayed N, Modrego PJ. 2005. Comparative study of cerebral white matter in autism and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder by means of magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Acad Radiol 12:566–569.
- Fayed N, Modrego PJ, Castillo J, Davila J. 2007. Evidence of brain dysfunction in attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder: a controlled study with proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Acad Radiol 14:1029–1035.
- Freeman JJ, Jenden DJ. 1976. The source of choline for acetylcholine synthesis in brain. Life Sci 19:949–961.
- Geddes JW, Panchalingam K, Keller JN, Pettegrew JW. 1997. Elevated phosphocholine and phosphatidylcholine following rat entorhinal cortex lesions. Neurobiol Aging 18:305–308.
- Golla H, Thier P, Haarmeier T. 2005. Disturbed overt but normal covert shifts of attention in adult cerebellar patients. Brain 128:1525–1535.
- Gujar SK, Maheshwari S, Bjorkman-Burtscher I, Sundgren PC. 2005. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy. J Neuroophthalmol 25:217–226.
- Gurvitis GV, Shenton ME, Hokama H, Ohta H, Lasko NB, Gilbertson MW, et al. 1996. Magnetic resonance imaging study of hippocampal volume in chronic, combat-related posttraumatic stress disorder. Biol Psychiatry 40:1091–1099.
- Hesslinger B, Thiel T, Tebartz vE, Hennig J, Ebert D. 2001. Attention-deficit disorder in adults with or without hyperactivity: where is the difference? A study in humans using short echo (1)H-magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Neurosci Lett 304:117–119.
- Jin Z, Zang YF, Zeng YW, Zhang L, Wang YF. 2001. Striatal neuronal loss or dysfunction and choline rise in children with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: a 1H-magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. Neurosci Lett 315:45–48.
- Kim BN, Lee JS, Cho SC, Lee DS. 2001. Methylphenidate increased regional cerebral blood flow in subjects with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Yonsei Med J 42:19–29.
- Konrad K, Neufang S, Hanisch C, Fink GR, Herpertz-Dahlmann B. 2006. Dysfunctional attentional networks in children with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder: Evidence from an

event-related functional magnetic resonance imaging study. Biol Psychiatry 59:643-651.

- Krause J, Dresel SH, Krause KH, La Fougere C, Zill P, Ackenheil M. 2006. Striatal dopamine transporter availability and DAT-1 gene in adults with ADHD: no higher DAT availability in patients with homozygosity for the 10-repeat allele. World J Biol Psychiatry 7:152–157.
- Lenartowicz A, McIntosh AR. 2005. The role of anterior cingulate cortex in working memory is shaped by functional connectivity. J Cogn Neurosci 17:1026–1042.
- MacMaster FP, Carrey N, Sparkes S, Kusumakar V. 2003. Proton spectroscopy in medication-free pediatric attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Biol Psychiatry 53:184–187.
- Mataro M, Garcia-Sanchez C, Junque C, Estevez-Gonzalez A, Pujol J. 1997. Magnetic resonance imaging measurement of the caudate nucleus in adolescents with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder and its relationship with neuropsychological and behavioural measures. Arch Neurol 54:963–968.
- Mega MS, Cummings JL. 1994. Frontal-subcortical circuits and neuropsychiatric disorders. The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences 6:358–370.
- Moore CM, Biederman J, Wozniak J, Mick E, Aleardi M, Wardrop M, et al. 2006. Differences in brain chemistry in children and adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder with and without comorbid bipolar disorder: a proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. Am J Psychiatry 163:316–318.
- Natsume J, Watabane K, Tadokoro M, Negoro T, Aso K, Nakashima S, et al. 1997. Widespread glucose hypometabolism in patients with hippocampal atrophy: evaluation with ffluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography. Journal of Epilepsy 10:155–160.
- Nebel K, Wiese H, Stude P, de Greiff A, Diener HC, Keidel M. 2005. On the neural basis of focused and divided attention. Brain Res Cogn Brain Res 25:760–776.
- Olbrich HM, Valerius G, Rusch N, Buchert M, Thiel T, Hennig J, et al. 2008. Frontolimbic glutamate alterations in first episode schizophrenia: Evidence from a magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. World J Biol Psychiatry 9(1):59–63.
- Perlov E, Philipsen A, Hesslinger B, Buechert M, Ahrendts J, Feige B, et al. 2007. Reduced cingulate glutamate/glutamineto-creatine ratios in adult patients with attention deficit/ hyperactivity disorder – a magnet resonance spectroscopy study. J Psychiatr Res 41:934–941.
- Perlov E, Philipsen A, Tebartz van Elst L, Ebert D, Henning J, Maier S, et al. 2008. Hippocampus and amygdala morphology in adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Psychiatry Neurosci in press.
- Plessen KJ, Bansal R, Zhu H, Whiteman R, Amat J, Quackenbush GA, et al. 2006. Hippocampus and amygdala morphology in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 63:795–807.
- Purdon AD, Rosenberger TA, Shetty HU, Rapoport SI. 2002. Energy consumption by phospholipid metabolism in mammalian brain. Neurochem Res 27:1641–1647.
- Ross B, Bluml S. 2001. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy of the human brain. Anat Rec 265:54–84.
- Rusch N, Tebartz van Elst L, Ludaescher P, Wilke M, Huppertz HJ, Thiel T, et al. 2003. A voxel-based morphometric MRI study in female patients with borderline personality disorder. Neuroimage 20:385–392.
- Russell VA, Oades RD, Tannock R, Killeen PR, Auerbach JG, Johansen EB, et al. 2006. Response variability in attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder: a neuronal and glial energetics hypothesis. Behav Brain Funct 2:30
- Scherk H, Backens M, Schneider-Axmann T, Usher J, Kemmer C, Reith W, et al. 2007. Cortical neurochemistry in euthymic

patients with bipolar I disorder. World J Biol Psychiatry. 2007 Sep 13:1–10. [Epub ahead of print].

- Schmahmann JD. 2004. Disorders of the cerebellum: ataxia, dysmetria of thought, and the cerebellar cognitive affective syndrome. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 16:367–378.
- Schweitzer JB, Faber TL, Grafton ST, Tune LE, Hoffman JM, Kilts CD. 2000. Alterations in the functional anatomy of working memory in adult attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Am J Psychiatry 157:278–280.
- Schweitzer JB, Lee DO, Hanford RB, Zink CF, Ely TD, Tagamets MA, et al. 2004. Effect of methylphenidate on executive functioning in adults with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: normalization of behavior but not related brain activity. Biol Psychiatry 56:597–606.
- Semrud-Clikeman M, Steingard RJ, Filipek P, Biederman J, Bekken K, Renshaw PF. 2000. Using MRI to examine brainbehavior relationships in males with attention deficit disorder with hyperactivity. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 39:477–484.
- Sergeant JA, Geurts H, Oosterlaan J. 2002. How specific is a deficit of executive functioning for attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder? Behav Brain Res 130:3–28.
- Sesack SR, Carr DB, Omelchenko N, Pinto A. 2003. Anatomical substrates for glutamate-dopamine interactions: evidence for specificity of connections and extrasynaptic actions. Ann NY Acad Sci 1003:36–52.
- Sparkes SJ, MacMaster FP, Carrey NC. 2004. Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy and cognitive function in pediatric attention-deficit/hyperactive disorder. Brain Cogn 54:173–175.
- Spencer TJ, Biederman J, Wilens TE, Faraone SV. 2002. Overview and neurobiology of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 63(Suppl 12):3–9.
- Stanley JA, Kipp H, Greisenegger E, MacMaster FP, Panchalingam K, Pettegrew JW, et al. 2006. Regionally specific alterations in membrane phospholipids in children with ADHD: An in vivo 31P spectroscopy study. Psychiatry Res 148:217–221.
- Stork C, Renshaw PF. 2005. Mitochondrial dysfunction in bipolar disorder: evidence from magnetic resonance spectroscopy research. Mol Psychiatry 10:900–919.
- Sun L, Jin Z, Zang YF, Zeng YW, Liu G, Li Y, et al. 2005. Differences between attention-deficit disorder with and without hyperactivity: a 1H-magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. Brain Dev 27:340–344.
- Tebartz van Elst L. 2005. Amygdala morphometry in affective disorders. Am J Psychiatry 162:629.
- Tebartz van Elst L, Thiel T, Hesslinger B, Lieb K, Bohus M, Hennig J, et al. 2001. Subtle prefrontal neuropathology in a pilot magnetic resonance spectroscopy study in patients with

borderline personality disorder. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 13:511–514.

- Tebartz van Elst L, Valerius G, Buchert M, Thiel T, Rusch N, Bubl E, et al. 2005. Increased prefrontal and hippocampal glutamate concentration in schizophrenia: evidence from a magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. Biol Psychiatry 58:724–730.
- Tebartz van Elst L, Ludaescher P, Thiel T, Büchert M, Hesslinger B, Lieb K, et al. 2007. Evidence of disturbed amygdala energy metabolism in patients with borderline personality disorder. Neurosci Lett 417:36–41.
- Tebartz vE, Woermann FG, Lemieux L, Trimble MR. 1999. Amygdala enlargement in dysthymia – a volumetric study of patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. Biol Psychiatry 46:1614– 1623.
- Tebartz vE, Woermann F, Lemieux L, Trimble MR. 2000. Increased amygdala volumes in female and depressed humans. A quantitative magnetic resonance imaging study. Neurosci Lett 281:103–106.
- Todd RD, Botteron KN. 2001. Is attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder an energy deficiency syndrome? Biol Psychiatry 50:151–158.
- Townsend J, Courchesne E, Covington J, Westerfield M, Harris NS, Lyden P, et al. 1999. Spatial attention deficits in patients with acquired or developmental cerebellar abnormality. J Neurosci 19:5632–5643.
- Tzavara ET, Li DL, Moutsimilli L, Bisogno T, Di M, V, Phebus LA, et al. 2006. Endocannabinoids activate transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 receptors to reduce hyperdopaminergiarelated hyperactivity: therapeutic implications. Biol Psychiatry 59:508–515.
- Vance JE. 1988. Compartmentalization of phospholipids for lipoprotein assembly on the basis of molecular species and biosynthetic origin. Biochim Biophys Acta 963:70–81.
- Yeo RA, Hill DE, Campbell RA, Vigil J, Petropoulos H, Hart B, et al. 2003. Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy investigation of the right frontal lobe in children with attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 42:303–310.
- Zametkin AJ, Liebenauer LL, Fitzgerald GA, King AC, Minkunas DV, Herscovitch P, et al. 1993. Brain metabolism in teenagers with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 50:333–340.
- Zetzsche T, Frodl T, Preuss UW, Schmitt G, Seifert D, Leinsinger G, et al. 2006. Amygdala volume and depressive symptoms in patients with borderline personality disorder. Biol Psychiatry 60:302–310.



REVIEW ARTICLE

From psychosurgery to neuromodulation: Deep brain stimulation for intractable Tourette syndrome

IRENE NEUNER, KLAUS PODOLL, HILDEGARD JANOUSCHEK, TANJA M. MICHEL, ABIGAIL J. SHELDRICK & FRANK SCHNEIDER

Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, RWTH Aachen University, Aachen, Germany

Abstract

Tourette syndrome is a neuropsychiatric disorder characterized by motor and vocal tics. It is often associated with depression, obsessive-compulsive symptoms, self-injurious behaviour and attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). In intractable patients, neuromodulation using deep brain stimulation (DBS) has widely replaced psychosurgery. Three different key structures are defined for DBS, the medial portion of the thalamus, the globus pallidus internus and the anterior limb of the internal capsule/nucleus accumbens. This is a comprehensive overview on the effect of DBS on motor and non-motor symptoms using different case series and two larger studies.

Key words: Deep brain stimulation, Tourette syndrome, thalamus, globus pallidus internus, nucleus accumbens/anterior limb of internal capsule

Tourette syndrome: Clinical symptoms, pathophysiology, treatment options

Tourette syndrome is a chronic neuropsychiatric disorder characterized by motor and vocal tics (Swain et al. 2007). The onset is usually in childhood with aggravation of tics in early adolescence. Most patients improve by their late teens or early adulthood (Leckman et al. 2001; Singer 2005). The severity of tics waxes and wanes over time. Teasing on the street and in school by other students increases tic severity and intensity while focused activity such as reading reduces tics (Leckman et al. 1989; Leckman et al. 1997; Leckman et al. 2001). Tourette syndrome is often accompanied with comorbidities such as obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), depression and attention-deficit-hyperactivity-disorder (ADHD). OCD symptoms vary in degree and especially light forms are very often associated with Tourette syndrome (Singer 2005; Swain et al. 2007).

Pathomechanisms include a strong genetic component. However, research has failed to define a single gene locus for the disorder (Grados et al. 2008; Laurin et al. 2008). Neuroanatomically, a dysfunction of the cortico-striato-thalamo-cortical circuit has been described to be responsible for the cardinal symptoms of the disorder (Peterson et al. 2003; Singer et al. 2005). Interaction between basal ganglia and forebrain circuits as well as the limbic system modulate tic severity and frequency (Peterson et al. 1998; Stern et al. 2008). Structural neuroimaging studies show volume changes in the basal ganglia (caudate nucleus, globus pallidus, putamen) and the amygdala (Peterson et al. 1994, 2003; Amunts et al. 2007; Peterson 2007). Functional neuroimaging studies highlight the role of the anterior cingulate cortex in tic suppression (Bohlhalter et al. 2006; Kawohl et al. 2008). The pharmacological treatment is enriched by the use of atypical neuroleptics and SSRI (Peterson et al. 1998; Scahill et al. 2003; Kawohl et al. 2007a,b; Seo et al. 2008). Cognitive-behavioural therapy (CBT) techniques such as habit reversal training have been proven to be effective, but improvements do not sustain over time (Carr et al. 1996; Marsh et al. 2004; Carr et al. 2005; Marsh et al. 2007).

A certain population of patients, however, neither responds to a sophisticated pharmacological treatment regimen nor to CBT interventions. These patients are usually severely affected and often suffer from comorbidities such as obsessive-compulsive

Correspondence: Irene Neuner, MD, PhD, Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, RWTH Aachen University, Pauwelsstr. 30, 52074 Aachen, Germany. Tel: +49 241 8089632. Fax: +49 241 80896401. E-mail: ineuner@ukaachen.de

(Received 14 July 2008; accepted 23 September 2008)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970802513317

disorder (OCD) and frequent self-injurious behaviour (SIB). For these groups of patients, an alternative therapy regimen is needed. Since 1955, various attempts have been undertaken to reduce symptoms in these patients through neurosurgical procedures (for a review see Temel and Visser-Vandewalle 2004; Babel et al. 2001). Different target regions have been defined such as frontal lobes (prefrontal lobotomy, bimedial frontal leucotomy), limbic system (limbic leucotomy and anterior cingulotomy), thalamus and cerebellum. An amalgamation of different neurosurgical procedures has been used, e.g., anterior cingulotomies in combination with intrathalamic lesions. However, the outcome has often been unsatisfactory regarding the improvement of tics and self-injurious behaviour, accompanied by severe side effects such as hemiplegia or dystonia (for a review see Temel and Visser-Vandewalle 2004; Temel et al. 2004; Babel et al. 2001).

Benabid and co-workers (Benabid et al. 1987; Benabid 2007) laid the groundwork for today's deep brain stimulation through their intraoperative observation that high-frequency stimulation (>100 Hz) produced clinical benefits similar to subsequent ablation. Based on the lesioning approaches of thalamic nuclei by Hassler and Dieckmann (1970), Visser-Vandewalle and colleagues applied high-frequency stimulation instead of lesioning in three treatment-resistant Tourette patients and led the way towards neuromodulation instead of lesioning in the treatment of Tourette syndrome (Vandewalle et al. 1999; Visser-Vandewalle et al. 2003).

Target structures and stimulation parameters for DBS in Tourette syndrome

To date (based on pubmed July 2008), several case reports and two studies, including five and 18 Tourette patients, report on the outcome of deep brain stimulation in Tourette syndrome. Five target points in three different structures have been used: (1) thalamus ((a) medial portion of the thalamus (cross point of the centromedian nucleus, substantia periventricularis and nucleus ventrooralis internus), (b) medial portion of the thalamus (centromedian nucleus, parafascicular nucleus); (2) globus pallidus internus ((a) posteroventrolateral part, (b) anteromedial part), and (3) the nucleus accumbens/anterior limb of the internal capsule (Hardesty et al. 2007; Larson et al. 2008).

The outcome of stimulation and side effects depend on the chosen target structures as well as on the stimulation parameters. After surgery many programmers wait up to 4 weeks to allow for resorption of oedema near the lead, which may cause transient improvement (i.e. "lesional effect"). The initial programming needs – independently of the target structure - fine-tuning in most cases. Basic principles for DBS programming are the use of another contact when side effects and therapeutic response co-occur. Another contact may replace the stimulator case as the anode resulting in a more focal stimulation. If efficacy is lacking, increasing the intensity and modifying the pulse width will improve the outcome (Larson 2008). Side effects such as sedation or vertigo are reported to respond to changes in the stimulus intensity (Welter et al. 2008). The reviewed studies for Tourette patients use variable stimulation intensities between 1.5 and 6 V across the different targets; the pulse frequency is set between 60 and 185 Hz with a pulse width varying from 60 to 210 µs. The individual settings are displayed for each study in the corresponding tables. There is no distinguishable pattern in the stimulation setting for each target.

A systematic assessment of stimulation parameters such as Moreau et al. (2008) performed in Parkinson patients and Kuncel et al. (2007) in patients suffering from essential tremor is not yet available in Tourette patients. To date, the most often used target points for deep brain stimulation in Tourette patients lie in the thalamus.

Medial portion of the thalamus

The first case of deep brain stimulation in Tourette syndrome was reported by Vandewalle et al. (1999). In a male 42-year-old patient DBS eliminated the tics from 38 to 0 tics per minute over a follow-up period of 12 months. Another report including three male Tourette patients by the same group showed a reduction of tics following stimulation varying from 53% (one week) up to 90.1% (follow-up period, 5 years). Two of the three reported patients had suffered from self injurious behaviour and obsessivecompulsive disorder symptoms (Visser-Vandewalle et al. 2003). The authors report that the SIB as well as OCD/OCB disappeared completely. As side effects the authors reported a sedative effect when the stimulator was programmed to the level best to reduce the tics and changes in sexual behaviour in two out of three patients (Visser-Vandewalle et al. 2003). Sexual behaviour was affected differently in the two male patients. One reported increased sexual drive, the other erectile dysfunction (Temel et al. 2004).

Maciunas et al. (2007) used the anterior extent of the centromedian-parafascicular complex as a target point for DBS in their study. In this group, three out of five Tourette patients responded with a reduction of tics in average by 50%. The follow-up period was 3 months. Measures of anxiety, depression and OCD showed a trend towards improvement. SIB was not assessed systematically before and after surgery. The score of the Yale Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale (YBOCS) (Goodman et al. 1989a,b) was reduced from 12.6 to 7.0 points. As a side effect of DBS in one patient, a psychotic episode occurred. No biomarker or clinical salient feature was evident to distinguish the responders from non-responders. Bajwa et al. (2007) report on one 50-year-old male patient with OCD and SIB as comorbidities. Stimulation resulted in an improvement of 66% on the Yale Global Tic Severity Scale (YGTSS) and of 76% on the YBOCS (follow-up period, 24 months).

In a larger study by Servello et al. (2008) including 18 patients, bilateral thalamus stimulation resulted in an improvement varying between 24 und 79% in 15 of 18 patients. The follow-up period ranged from 3 to 18 months. Nine patients were reported to suffer from self-injurious behaviour, nine from obsessive-compulsive behaviour/disorder. The authors report that the comorbid symptoms decreased after DBS, although they do not give a detailed description of the comorbidities and their course after implementation of DBS.

In summary (according to pubmed July 2008), 28 Tourette patients (three female, 25 male) underwent surgery for DBS with thalamic nuclei as targets. Over 50% of the patients had suffered from comorbidities, especially OCD and SIB. Twenty-five of the 28 Tourette patients responded to DBS concerning their motor symptoms. The outcome on tics was a reduction of approximately 49%, with a follow-up period ranging from 3 months to 5 years. The assessment of improvement of comorbidities is difficult due to the limited data given. Table I reports the details as far as assessed in each study.

Globus pallidus internus

Ackermans et al. (2006) raised the question whether DBS in Tourette syndrome should focus on two targets rather than one. Based on the previous studies/protocols of globus pallidus internus (GPi) stimulation in dystonia, different groups applied DBS in the GPi in Tourette syndrome patients. Case reports choosing the internal part of the globus pallidus as a target are shown in Table II.

Four different case reports/case series describe patients with four implanted electrodes: two in thalamic target structures and two in the globus pallidus internus (van der Linden et al. 2002; Houeto et al. 2005; Ackermans et al. 2006; Welter et al. 2008). In the study by Ackermans and co-workers the stimulation results at either site were comparable (tic reduction between 85 and 92% over a follow-up period of 12 months) so the authors decided to externalize the pallidal electrodes. They reported that compulsions resolved in both patients of which one was stimulated in the thalamus and one in the GPi.

After separate and combined measurements, Houeto et al. (2005) reached the same conclusion and externalized the pallidal electrodes in their patient (tic reduction 70%, follow-up period, 24 months). Both stimulation sites abolished SIB.

A case report of a 27-year-old man described by van der Linden and colleagues is also in accordance to these results. These authors decided to externalize the pallidal electrodes (tic reduction up to 95%, follow-up period, 6 months). Pallidal stimulation induced a higher tic reduction in comparison to thalamic simulation at lower stimulation intensities (van der Linden et al. 2002) which prolongs the battery life. As comorbidity, a mild depression is reported but no follow-up data regarding the mood after DBS are available.

In a double-blind randomized study reported by Welter et al. (2008), three patients underwent bilateral stimulation in the thalamus and the GPi. Stimulation of the GPi alone resulted in improvement between 65 and 96%. Bilateral stimulation of the thalamus alone yielded an improvement of 30–64%, simultaneous stimulation, however, did not further reduce tic severity (43–76%). Depressive mood, emotional hypersensitivity, anxiety and impulsiveness tended to decrease with thalamic or simultaneous thalamic and pallidal stimulation but not with pallidal stimulation alone. The follow-up period varied between 20 and 60 months. Accidental failure of pallidal stimulation led to reoccurrence of SIB in one patient.

To the best of our knowledge, Shaded et al. (2007) report the only case of an adolescent aged 16 years in whom DBS in the GPi was performed. He reported a reduction of YGTSS scale from 90 to 14 for a follow-up period of 6 months. The boy suffered from severe SIB and OCD in addition to the Tourette syndrome. The Child Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale (CYBOCS) was reduced from a score of 16 to 5 points. However, the patient was required to wear a body shield after surgery to prevent him from harming the stimulator system.

Another single case report on electrode implantation in the globus pallidus internus in a 27-year-old man is reported by Diederich et al. (2005). In the follow-up period of 14 months, the YGTSS total score decreased from 83 to 44. The obsessivecompulsive behaviour described as mild remained

AuthorsSite of stimulation parameterNFollow-up perVandewalleBilateral thalamus $N=1$, male,12 monthsVandewalleBilateral thalamus $N=1$, male,12 monthset al. 1999(centromedianer42 years old12 monthsnucleus substantia $P=2$ years old12 monthsperiventricularis,nucleus, substantia $P=2$ years old12 monthsvandewalle(centromedianer28, 42, 45 years oldcase 1: 5 years,vandewallecentromedianer28, 42, 45 years oldcase 3: 8 monthperiventricularis,nucleus, substantia28, 42, 45 years oldcase 3: 8 monthperiventricularis,nucleus ventrooralisnucleus ventrooraliscase 2: 1 year,nucleus ventrooralis28, 42, 45 years oldcase 3: 8 monthperiventricularis,nucleus ventrooraliscase 2: 1 year,nucleus ventrooralis10 µs)3-6 V, 125 Hz,3 monthsMaciunasBilateral thalamus $N=5,5$ male,3 monthset al. 2007(anterior extent of the perafascicular com- plex)3-5-3.6 V, 90-210 µs,3 months3.5-3.6 V, 90-210 µs,90-210 µs,90-210 µs,3 monthsbittornus)3.5-3.6 V, 90-210 µs,90-210 µs,24 monthspreferential dianter50 years oldnucleus ventrooralis3 monthsset al. 2007(centromedianer50 years old24 monthsnucleus ventrooralisN = 1, male,24 monthsnucleus ventrooralisN = 1, male,24 m	Table I. Ov	erview for DBS in thalar	nic structures.					
VandewalleBilateral thalamus $N = 1$, male,12 monthset al. 1999(centromedianer 42 years old12 monthset al. 1999(centromedianer 42 years old12 monthsnucleus ventrooralismucleus ventrooralis $N = 3$, males,12 monthsinternus) $4 V_{130}$ Hz, $450 \ \mu s$ $N = 3$, males,Case 1: 5 years,Visser-Bilateral thalamus $N = 3$, males,case 2: 1 year,visser-Bilateral thalamus $N = 3$, males,case 2: 1 year,visser-Bilateral thalamus $N = 5$, faales,3 monthset al. 2003nucleus ventrooralis $N = 5$, faales,3 monthset al. 2007(anterior extent of the parafasciular com- plex) $N = 5$, faales,3 monthsBajwaBilateral thalamus $N = 5$, faales,3 monthset al. 2007(anterior extent of the plex) 28.2 years old24 monthsat 2.007(anterior extent of the plex) 28.2 years old24 monthsat 2.007(anterior extent of the plex) $26 \ y_{130}$ Hz, 90 \mus,24 months $90-210 \ Hz$ $N = 1$, male, $2.0 V_{130}$ Hz, 90 µs2.0 V_{130} Hz, 90 µs2.0 V_{130} Hz, 90 µs $2.0 V_{130}$ Hz, 90 µs $N = 13, 3 \ famale,2.18 months2.0 V_{130} Hz, 90 µsN = 13, 3 \ famale,2.18 months10 = 100710 = 10 \ Hz10 = 10 \ Hz2.0 V_{130} Hz, 90 µs10 = 100710 = 10 \ Hz10 = 10 \ Hz2.0 V_{130}$ Hz, 90 µs $10 = 1007$	Authors	Site of stimulation Stimulation parameter	N	Follow-up period	Comorbidity	Outcome measure YGTSS or Videotape based	Medication	Special remarks
Visser-Bilateral thalamus $N=3$, males,Case 1: 5 years, ter al. 2003, mucleus, substantia $N=3$, males,Case 1: 5 years, ter as 2: 1 year, case 3: 8 month, a periventricularis, mucleus ventrooralis internus) $28, 42, 45$ years oldCase 1: 5 years, case 2: 1 year, case 3: 8 month, case 3: 8 month, 	Vandewalle et al. 1999	Bilateral thalamus (centromedianer nucleus, substantia periventricularis, nucleus ventrooralis internus) 4 V 130 Hz 450 us	N = 1, male, 42 years old	12 months	NA	YGTSS NA, video- tape 100%, r	NA	
MaciunasBilateral thalamus $N=5, 5$ male,3 monthset al. 2007(anterior extent of the centromedian- centromedian- 28.2 years old3 monthsparafascicular com- plex)28.2 years old3 monthsparafascicular com- plex)28.2 years old3 monthsparafascicular com- plex)28.2 years old3 monthsparafascicular com- plex)28.2 years old3 monthsparafascicular com- plex)3.5-3.6 V, 90-210 µs, 90-210 Hz,2 4 monthsglowaBilateral thalamus plexisN=1, male, 50 years old2 4 monthsmucleus, substantia periventricularis, internus)2.0 V, 130 Hz, 90 µs3-18 monthServello2.0 V, 130 Hz, 90 µsN=18.3 female, Menth3-18 month	Visser- Vandewalle et al. 2003,	3 To the second	N=3, males, 28, 42, 45 years old	Case 1: 5 years, case 2: 1 year, case 3: 8 months	3 OCB/OCD 2 SIB	YGTSS NA, % reduction of tics videotape-based: case 1, 82.5% 1 week, 90.1% 5 years; case 2, 60.5% 1 week, 72.2% 1 year; case 3, 53.6% 1 week, 82.6% 8 months	NA	Sedative effect that accompanies the positive effects on the tics; effects on sexual behaviour in 2/3 patients; OCD/OCB, SIB disappeared completely
BajwaBilateral thalamus $N=1$, male,24 monthset al. 2007(centromedianer50 years old24 monthsnucleus, substantia50 years oldperiventricularis,periventricularis,nucleus ventrooralisnucleus ventrooralisinternus)2.0 V, 130 Hz, 90 μs $N=18, 3$ female,3-18 month	Maciunas et al. 2007	Bilateral thalamus (anterior extent of the centromedian- parafascicular com- plex) 3.5–3.6 V, 90–210 µs, 90–210 Hz	N=5, 5 male, 18–34, mean 28.2 years old	3 months	4 OCD 5 Depression 3 ADHD	YGTSS improvement 66%	Idem pre- and post-surgery except one patient due to psychotic episode	BDI-2 10.6± 7.6 vs. 4.2 ±5.4 HAM-D 13.6± 1.5 vs. 9.6±6.5 HAM-A 16.4± 4.2 vs. 8.0±7.0 YBOCS 12.6±10.7vs. 7.0±4.2 SIB NA Responders: 3/5
Servello $N = 18, 3$ female, $3-18$ month	Bajwa et al. 2007	Bilateral thalamus (centromedianer nucleus, substantia periventricularis, nucleus ventrooralis internus) 2.0 V. 130 Hz. 90 us	N = 1, male, 50 years old	24 months	SIB, OCD	YGTSS improvement 66%	Haloperidol reduced from 6 to 1mg	YBOCS 29 vs. 7 SIB improved, not abolished
et al. 2008 Bilateral thalamus 15 male, aged (centromedian- 17–45 years, mean parafascicular, ventral 28.4 years old oral complex) 2.5–4 V, 130 Hz, 60– 120 µs	Servello et al. 2008	Bilateral thalamus (centromedian- parafascicular, ventral oral complex) 2.5-4 V, 130 Hz, 60- 120 µs	N = 18, 3 female, 15 male, aged 17-45 years, mean 28.4 years old	3–18 months	9 SIB 9 OCB 2 Depression 1 ADHD	YGTSS improvement varies between 24 and 79%, mean 64%	3 no medication necessary, 15 reduced medication	The comorbid symptoms of OCB, OCD, anxiety, self-injur- ious behaviours and premoni- tory sensations decreased after DBS.

Table II. Ov	erview for DBS in the g	lobus pallidus internu	s structures.					
Authors	Site of stimulation	Z	Follow-up period	Comorbidity	Outcome measure YGTSS or video- tape based	Medication	Special remarks	
Van der Linden et al. 2002	Implantation of four electrodes, two globus pallidus internus and two medial thalamus (stimulation para- meter not reported)	N=1, male, 27 years old	6 months	Mild depres- sion	YGTSS NA, bilat- eral thalamus 80% with high stimulus intensities 7 days after surgery, bilateral GPi with 95% with low intensities 7 days after surgery and 6 months	Ч	Externalization of pallidal electrodes	
Welter et al. 2008	Implantation of four electrodes; bilateral thalamus (centromedian, paraf- ascicular complex) Bilateral Gpi (ventro- medial part) 1.5 V, 130 Hz, 60 µs	N = 3, 2 female 36 and 30 years old, 1 male, aged 30 years old	Patient 1: 60 months, patient 2 33 months, patient 3 20 months	 SIB, amxiety, ety, depression, symptoms suggestive of borderline personality (2) SIB, mental counting (3) generalized anxiety disorder 	YGTSS and video assessment Bilateral stimula- tion of the GPi resulted in improvement between 65 and 96% Bilateral stimula- tion of the thalamus 30– 64%, simultaneous stimulation did not further reduce tic severivt (43–76%)	Patient 1: dopamine antagonist medication discontinued. Patient 2: dopamine antagonist reduced by 66%	Depressive mood, emotional hypersensitivity, anxiety and impulsiveness tended to decrease with thalamic or simultaneous thalamic and pallidal stimulation but not with pallidal stimulation alone. Failure of pallidal stimulation led to reoccurrence of SIB in patient 1; adaptation of stimulation in patient 2 proved difficult; best stimulation was pallidal stimulation 20 h on 4 h off per day	
Houeto et al. 2005	Implantation of four electrodes; bilateral thalamus (centromedian, parafascicular com- plex) Bilateral Gpi (ventro- medial part) 1.5 V 130 Hz 60 us	N = 1, female, 36 years old	24 months	SIB, anxiety, depression, symptoms suggestive of borderline personality	Bilateral thalamus or bilateral GPi or simultaneous stimulation of thalamic and GPi electrodes reduced YGTSS 70%	Neuroleptics success- fully withdrawn	Both targets eliminated SIB and ameliorated coprolalia, no potentiation effect	
Diederich et al. 2005	Bilateral globus palli- dus internus, 2 V, 185 Hz, 60 µs	N = 1, male, 27 years old	14 months	Mild OCB	YGTTS improvement 47%	NA	Pronation/supination bradykinesia left extremities, haematoma at right electrode tip; OCB unchanged	
Table II (Co	ntinued)							
--------------------------	--	-------------------------------	---------------------	---	--	----	----------	---
Authors	Site of stimulation	Z	Follow-up period	Comorbidity	Outcome measure YGTSS or video- tape based	Me	dication	Special remarks
Ackermans et al. 2006	Case 1 bilateral thalamus, nucleus ventrooralis intrenus, centromedian nucleus, substantia periventricularis, 130 Hz, 120 µs, 6.4 V Case 2 Implantation of four electrodes, two bilateral thalamic as in case 1, two bilateral posteroventrolateral GPi, 3.1 V, 170 Hz, 210 µs	N=2, 2 male, 27, 45 years old	12 months	2 OCB, OCD, SIB case 1 breaking glass	YGTTS NA, vi- deotape based; case 1, 85%; case 2, 92% reduction	AN		In case 2 pallidal electrodes were adapted to stimulator, case 2 turning on of the stimulation results in sudden dystonic jerk of the whole body , Compulsions resolved in both patients, sexual functions altered case 1
Shahed et al. 2007	Bilateral Gpi Right: 5 V, 160 Hz, 90 µts; left: 5 V, 145 Hz, 90 us	N = 1 male, 16 years old	6 months	OCD, SIB, de- pression, ADHD	YGTSS 84% 1	NA		CYBOCS 16 vs. 5 After implantation body shield was required to prevent harm of the system by SIB
Dehning et al. 2007	Bilateral Gpi 4.2 V, 145 Hz, 210 µs	N = 1, female, 44 years	12 months	OCD, SIB,	YGTTS 88%		NA	No details given about SIB and OCD.

unchanged. As a side effect, the patient suffered a small haematoma around the tip of the right electrode resulting in pronation/supination deficits of the left extremities.

Bilateral GPi stimulation in one patient is also reported by Dehning et al. (2007). In a 44-year-old woman with SIB and OCD, the YGTSS improved from a score of 83 to 10 in a follow-up period of 12 months. The influence on SIB and OCD is not reported.

Stimulation in the internal part of the globus pallidus in a total of 10 Tourette patients (three female, seven male) led to an improvement of approximately 76% of the tics. Comorbidities such as OCD and SIB improved in four out of seven, but no details are given. The follow-up period varied from 6 to 60 months.

Anterior limb of the internal capsule/nucleus accumbens

Focusing on the comorbidities such as OCD and SIB, the question of a third target for DBS in Tourette syndrome arises. The rationale is based on two observations.

One is the modulation of tic severity and frequency via interaction of the basal ganglia, forebrain circuits and the limbic system (Rauch et al. 1995; Peterson et al. 1998; Graybiel et al. 2000; Jankovic et al. 2001; Rauch et al. 2003; Stern et al. 2008). Neuroimaging studies show volume changes in the basal ganglia (caudate nucleus, globus pallidus, putamen), the amygdala (Peterson et al. 2001; Peterson 2007) and the anterior limb of the internal capsule (Neuner et al. under review).

The second observation is the positive outcome of nucleus accumbens stimulation for therapy-resistant OCD (Nuttin et al. 2003; Sturm et al. 2003).

Flaherty et al. (2005) reported a reduction of 25% in the YGTSS score and a marked improvement of SIB after bilateral implantation of electrodes in the anterior limb of the internal capsule/ventral striatum in a 37-year-old female patient. The follow-up period was 18 months. Noteworthy is the described change of mood in dependence of the chosen contact for stimulation. The authors describe that high voltage stimulation of the ventral most contacts in the vicinity of the nucleus accumbens induced mild apathy and depression, whereas with high voltage stimulation at the dorsal most contacts, in the body of the capsule, produced hypomania. Middle contact stimulation which helped tics the most was also accompanied by mood stability. Kuhn et al. (2007) report on a 26-year-old male patient who underwent implantation of bilateral electrodes in the ventral capsule internal/nucleus accumbens.

This patient suffered from severe Tourette syndrome with comorbid SIB and OCD. Because of the severity, the patient had to be restrained continuously in a nursing home. After implantation of the electrodes, the YGTSS score was reduced from 90 to 53 and the YBOCS score from 25 to 9. SIB improved drastically and the patient did not have to be restrained anymore (Kuhn et al. 2007). The follow-up period was 30 months. We observed a comparable positive effect on tics and SIB/OCD in a 36-year-old male patient who had electrodes implanted bilaterally in the nucleus accumbens. Most impressive is the successful treatment of SIB and the urge to destroy glass (Neuner et al. 2005, 2007, submitted). The reduction of tics and SIB was stable for 38 months. The case reports for stimulation of the ventral striatum/nucleus accumbens are summarized in Table III.

Stimulation in the anterior limb of the internal capsule/nucleus accumbens is reported in three Tourette patients (three male). All patients suffered from SIB and two from symptoms of OCD. The stimulation resulted in a tic reduction of approximately 43%, the follow-up period varied from 18 to 38 months. In one patient (Neuner et al. 2008), SIB stopped. In the other two it was significantly reduced. YBOCS score, reported in two out of three patients, improved by approximately 50%.

Conclusions

Three different target regions have been chosen for the treatment with DBS in intractable Tourette syndrome. Overall, 40 patients have been treated with deep brain stimulation which reduces the tics in average by approximately 60% within a broad range in responders (37 out of 40) from 24 to 100%.

The most severe reported surgical complication was a small haematoma around the tip of one electrode in two patients (Diederich et al. 2005; Ackermans et al. 2008). Ackermans et al. (2008) report vertical gaze palsy in a 39-year-old Tourette patient after implantation of DBS in the medial portion of the thalamus. After the follow-up period of 6 months, upward saccadic velocities were reduced by $20-25^{\circ}$. For this case, no outcome measures regarding the tics are reported. Servello et al. (2008) report as minor surgical complications wound healing problems in one patient and an abdominal wall haematoma in another. Side effects of stimulation with thalamic stimulation are sedation - depending on stimulation intensity - and changes in sexual behaviour such as erectile dysfunction (Temel and Visser-Vandewalle 2004; Temel et al. 2004). For pallidal stimulation, dystonic jerks were described in one patient when stimulation was

Authors	Site of stimulation	Z	Follow-up period	Comorbidity	Outcome measure YGTSS or Videotape based	Medication	Special remarks
Flaherty et al. 2005	Anterior limb of the internal cap- sule/ventral striatum 4.1 V, 185 Hz, 210 µs	N = 1, female, 37 years old	18 months	SB	YGTSS improvement 25%	NA	SIB improved, different electrode settings altered her mood profoundly; high voltage stimulation of the ventral most contacts in the vicinity of the nucleus accumbens produced mild apathy and depression, whereas high- voltage stimulation at the dorsal-most contacts, in the body of the capsule produced hypomania. Middle contact stimulation, which helped tics the most, generated a stable euthymic state. Unplanned Off situations due to malfunction of the DBS system led to more minor of the chinical summore.
Neuner et al. 2006	Bilateral nucleus accumbens/ven- tral capsula interna 6.0 V, 130 Hz, 00 us	N=1, male, 36 years old	12 months	SIB, OCD	YGTSS improvement 44%	None	SIB abolished
Kuhn et al. 2007	Bilateral nucleus accumbens/ven- tral capsula interna 7 V, 130 Hz, 90 µs	N=1, male, 26 years old	30 months	OCD, SIB	YGTSS improvement 41%	NA	SIB reduced, YBOCS 25 to 9 YGTSS total reduction of 41%, Rush Video Scale 50%
ADHD, attentio internus; HAM-	n deficit-hyperactivity disorder; BDI, A, Hamilton Anxiety Scale; HAM-I vorces vito of the tree second	Beck Depression] D, Hamilton Depr	Inventory; CYBC ression Scale; N	DCS, Children Yal A, not available;	e Brown Obsessive Compulsive S. OCD, obsessive-compulsive disor	cale; DBS, deep rder; OCB, obs	brain stimulation; GPi, globus pallid sessive-compulsive behaviour; SIB, se

Table III. Overview for DBS in in the anterior limb of the internal capsule/nucleus accumbens.

switched on. Welter et al. (2008) reported on nausea and vertigo dependent on the intensity of pallidal stimulation sensations in two out of three patients.

Concerning the effect on comorbidities, the interpretation of outcome is even more difficult due to lack of a standard in assessment and reporting. Based on the limited data reported, the targets in the GPi and anterior limb of the internal capsule /nucleus accumbens seem to have a greater influence on SIB/OCD than stimulation in thalamic structures. From preliminary results, the need for a large multi-centred study tackling the question of primary target location arises. Based on the limited results, one possible approach is to assign patients to one of the three emerging targets based on their comorbidity. From our point of view, to date, the available data do not yet allow one to make a recommendation for one specific target structure. Okun et al. (2008) point out the need to carefully discuss the potential benefit of the DBS on motor and non-motor features. As Mink and colleagues indicate, the selection and inclusion of patients requires a multidisciplinary team to ensure a comprehensive assessment of a patient suffering from intractable Tourette syndrome (Mink et al. 2006; Okun et al. 2008). Outcome parameters should be reported for tics based on the Rush Video Scale, the YGTSS and comorbidities such as depression on the Hamilton Depression Scale, anxiety on the Hamilton Anxiety Scale and obsessive-compulsive symptoms on the YBOCS (Hamilton, 1959; Hamilton, 1967; Goodman, 1989a,b; Leckman et al. 1989; Goetz et al. 1999; Pappert et al. 2003). Self-injurious behaviour should be specified and reported in frequency and intensity.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

All authors report that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Ackermans L, Temel Y, Cath D, van der Linden C, Bruggeman R, Kleijer M, et al. 2006. Deep brain stimulation in Tourette syndrome: two targets? Move Disord 21:709–713.
- Ackermans L, Temel Y, Bauer NJ, Visser-Vandewall V. 2007. Vertical gaze palsy after thalamic stimulation for Tourette syndrome: case report. Neurosurgery 61:E1100.
- Amunts K, Zilles C, Shah N, Neuner I, Pieperhoff P, Schneider F. 2007. Neuroanatomical changes in Tourette patients. Nervenarzt 78:S218.
- Babel TB, Warnke PC, Ostertag CB. 2001. Immediate and long term outcome after infrathalamic and thalamic lesioning for

intractable Tourette syndrome. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 70:666–671.

- Bajwa RJ, de Lotbiniere AJ, King RA, Jabbari B, Quatrano S, Kunze K, et al. 2007. Deep brain stimulation in Tourette syndrome. Move Disord 22:1346–1350.
- Benabid AL. 2007. What the future holds for deep brain stimulation. Expert Rev Med Devices 4:895–903.
- Benabid AL, Pollak P, Louveau A, Henry S, de Rougemont J. 1987. Combined (thalamotomy and stimulation) stereotactic surgery of the VIM thalamic nucleus for bilateral Parkinson disease. Appl Neurophysiol 50:344–346.
- Bohlhalter S, Goldfine A, Matteson S, Garraux G, Hanakawa T, Kansaku K, et al. 2006. Neural correlates of tic generation in Tourette syndrome: an event-related functional MRI study. Brain 129:2029–2037.
- Carr JE, Bailey JS. 1996. A brief behavior therapy protocol for Tourette syndrome. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry 27:33–40.
- Carr JE, Chong IM. 2005. Habit reversal treatment of tic disorders: a methodological critique of the literature. Behav Modif 29:858–875.
- Dehning S, Mehrkens JH, Botzel K. 2008. Therapy-refractory tourette syndrome: Beneficial outcome with globus pallidus internus deep brain stimulation. Move Disord 23:1300–1302.
- Diederich NJ, Kalteis K, Stamenkovic M, Pieri V, Alesch F. 2005. Efficient internal pallidal stimulation in Gilles de la Tourette syndrome: a case report. Move Disord 20:1496–1499.
- Flaherty AW, Williams ZM, Amirnovin R, Kasper E, Rauch SL, Cosgrove GR, et al. 2005. Deep brain stimulation of the anterior internal capsule for the treatment of Tourette syndrome: technical case report. Neurosurgery 57:E403.
- Goetz CG, Pappert EJ, Louis ED, Raman R, Leurgans S. 1999. Advantages of a modified scoring method for the Rush Video-Based Tic Rating Scale. Move Disord 14:502–506.
- Goodman WK, Price LH, Rasmussen SA, Mazure C, Delgado P, Heninger GR. 1989a. The Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale. II. Validity. Arch Gen Psychiatry 46:1012–1016.
- Goodman WK, Price LH, Rasmussen SA, Mazure C, Delgado P, Heninger GR, et al. 1989b. The Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale. I. Development, use, and reliability. Arch Gen Psychiatry 46:1006–1011.
- Grados MA, Mathews CA. 2008. Latent class analysis of Gilles de la Tourette syndrome using comorbidities: Clinical and genetic implications. Biol Psychiatry 64:219–225.
- Graybiel AM. 2000. The basal ganglia. Curr Biol 10:R509-511.
- Hamilton M. 1959. The assessment of anxiety states by rating. Br J Med Psychol 32:50–55.
- Hamilton M. 1967. Development of a rating scale for primary depressive illness. Br J Soc Clin Psychol 6:278–296.
- Hardesty DE, Sackeim HA. 2007. Deep brain stimulation in movement and psychiatric disorders. Biol Psychiatry 61: 831–835.
- Hassler R, Dieckmann G. 1970. Traitement sterrotaxique des tics et cris inarticulés ou coprolaliques considérés comme phénomène d'obsession motrice au cours de la maladie de Gilles de la Tourette. Rev Neurol 123:89–100.
- Houeto JL, Karachi C, Mallet L, Pillon B, Yeknik J, Mesnage V et al. 2005. Tourette syndrome and deep brain stimulation. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 76:992–995.
- Jankovic J. 2001. Surgery for Parkinson disease and other movement disorders: benefits and limitations of ablation, stimulation, restoration, and radiation. Arch Neurol 58:1970–1972.
- Kawohl W, Vernaleken I, Schneider F, Neuner I. 2007. Aripriprazole in the pharmacotherapy of Gilles de la Tourette syndrome in adult patients. World J Biol Psychiatry in press.
- Kawohl W, Vernaleken I, Schneider F, Neuner I. 2008a. Chronic motor tic disorder and aripriprazole. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci in press.

- Kawohl W, Bruhl A, Krowatschek G, Ketteler D, Herwig U. 2008b. Functional magnetic resonance imaging of tics and tic suppression in Gilles de la Tourette syndrome. World J Biol Psychiatry in press.
- Kuhn J, Lenartz D, Mai JK, Huff W, Lee SH, Koulousakis A, et al. 2007. Deep brain stimulation of the nucleus accumbens and the internal capsule in therapeutically refractory Tourettesyndrome. J Neurol 254:963–965.
- Kuncel AM, Cooper SE, Wolgamuth BR, Grill WM. 2007. Amplitude- and frequency-dependent changes in neuronal regularity parallel changes in tremor with thalamic deep brain stimulation. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 15:190–197.
- Larson PS. 2008. Deep brain stimulation for psychiatric disorders. Neurotherapeutics 5:50–58.
- Laurin N, Wigg KG, Feng Y, Sandor P, Barr CL. 2008. Chromosome 5 and Gilles de la Tourette syndrome: Linkage in a large pedigree and association study of six candidates in the region. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 147: 339– 342.
- Leckman JF, Riddle MA, Hardin MT, Ort SI, Swartz KL, Stevenson J, et al. 1989. The Yale Global Tic Severity Scale: initial testing of a clinician–rated scale of tic severity. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 28:566–573.
- Leckman JF, Peterson BS, Pauls DL, Cohen DJ. 1997. Tic disorders. Psychiatr Clin North Am 20:839–861.
- Leckman JF, Peterson BS, King RA, Scahill L, Cohen DJ. 2001. Phenomenology of tics and natural history of tic disorders. Adv Neurol 85:1–14.
- Maciunas RJ, Maddux BN, Riley DE, Whitney CM, Schoenberg MR, Ogrocki PJ, et al. 2007. Prospective randomized doubleblind trial of bilateral thalamic deep brain stimulation in adults with Tourette syndrome. J Neurosurg 107:1004–1014.
- Marsh R, Alexander GM, Packard MG, Zhu H, Wingard JC, Quackenbusch G, et al. 2004. Habit learning in Tourette syndrome: a translational neuroscience approach to a developmental psychopathology. Arch Gen Psychiatry 61:1259– 1268.
- Marsh R, Zhu H, Wang Z, Skudlarski P, Peterson BS. 2007. A developmental fMRI study of self-regulatory control in Tourette syndrome. Am J Psychiatry 164:955–966.
- Mink JW, Walkup J, Frey KA, Como P, Cath D, Delong MR, et al. 2006. Patient selection and assessment recommendations for deep brain stimulation in Tourette syndrome. Move Disord 21:1831–1838.
- Moreau C, Defebvre L, Destée A, Bleuse S, Clement F, Blatt JL, et al. 2008. STN-DBS frequency effects on freezing of gait in advanced Parkinson disease. Neurology 71:80–84.
- Neuner I, Schneider F. 2007. Tiefe Hirnstimulation bei psychischen Erkrankungen. PsychNeuro 7+8:297–303.
- Neuner I, Podoll K, Klein M, Hettmann M, Amunts K, Lenartz D, et al. 2005. Tiefenhirnstimulation bei Gilles-de-la-Tourette-Syndrom. Nervenarzt 78S2:608.
- Neuner I, Podoll K, Vernaleken I, Schneider F. Deep brain stimulation in the nucleus accumbens for Tourette's disorder: Follow-up of 36 months. Biological Psychiatry in press.
- Neuner I, Stöcker T, Posnansky O, Huang R, Tittgemeyer M, Schneider F, et al. TBSS in adult patients suffering from Tourette syndrome. Unpublished data.
- Nuttin BJ, Gabriels L, van KK, Cosysns P. 2003. Electrical stimulation of the anterior limbs of the internal capsules in patients with severe obsessive-compulsive disorder: anecdotal reports. Neurosurg Clin N Am 14:267–274.
- Okun MS, Fernandez HH, Foote KD, Murphy TK, Goodman WK. 2008. Avoiding deep brain stimulation failures in Tourette syndrome. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 79:111–112.

- Pappert EJ, Goetz CG, Louis ED, Blasucci L, Leurgans S. 2003. Objective assessments of longitudinal outcome in Gilles de la Tourette syndrome. Neurology 61:936–940.
- Peterson BS. 2001. Neuroimaging studies of Tourette syndrome: a decade of progress. Adv Neurol 85:179–196.
- Peterson BS, Cohen DJ. 1998. The treatment of Tourette syndrome: multimodal, developmental intervention. J Clin Psychiatry 59:S162–172.
- Peterson BS, Gore JC, Riddle MA, Cohen DJ, Leckman JF. 1994. Abnormal magnetic resonance imaging T2 relaxation time asymmetries in Tourette syndrome. Psychiatry Res 55: 205–221.
- Peterson BS, Skudlarski P, Anderson AW, Zhang H, Gatenby JC, Lacadie CM, et al. 1998. A functional magnetic resonance imaging study of tic suppression in Tourette syndrome. Arch Gen Psychiatry 55:326–333.
- Peterson BS, Staib L, Scahill L, Zhang H, Anderson C, Leckman JF, et al. 2001. Regional brain and ventricular volumes in Tourette syndrome. Arch Gen Psychiatry 58:427–440.
- Peterson BS, Thomas P, Kane MJ, Scahill L, Zhang H, Bronen R, et al. 2003. Basal Ganglia volumes in patients with Gilles de la Tourette syndrome. Arch Gen Psychiatry 60:415–424.
- Peterson BS, Choi HA, Hao X, Amat JA, Zhu H, Whiteman R, et al. 2007. Morphologic features of the amygdala and hippocampus in children and adults with Tourette syndrome. Arch Gen Psychiatry 64:1281–1291.
- Rauch SL. 2003. Neuroimaging and neurocircuitry models pertaining to the neurosurgical treatment of psychiatric disorders. Neurosurg Clin N Am 14:213–223.
- Rauch SL, Baer L, Cosgrove GR, Jenike MA. 1995. Neurosurgical treatment of Tourette syndrome: a critical review. Compr Psychiatry 36:141–156.
- Sakas DE, Kouyialis AT, Boviatsis EJ, Panourias IG, Stathis P, Tagaris G. 2007. Technical aspects and considerations of deep brain stimulation surgery for movement disorders. Acta Neurochir 97:S163–170.
- Scahill L, Leckman JF, Schultz RT, Katsovic L, Peterson BS. 2003. A placebo-controlled trial of risperidone in Tourette syndrome. Neurology 60:1130–1135.
- Seo WS, Sung HM, Sea HS, Bai DS. 2008. Aripiprazole treatment of children and adolescents with Tourette disorder or chronic tic disorder. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 18:197–205.
- Servello D, Porta M, Sassi M, Brambilla A, Robertson MM. 2008. Deep brain stimulation in 18 patients with severe Gilles de la Tourette syndrome refractory to treatment: the surgery and stimulation. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 79:136–142.
- Shahed J, Poysky J, Kenney C, Simpson R, Jankovic J. 2007. GPi deep brain stimulation for Tourette syndrome improves tics and psychiatric comorbidities. Neurology 68:159–160.
- Singer HS. 2005. Tourette syndrome: from behavior to biology. Lancet Neurol 4:149–159.
- Stern ER, Blair C, Peterson BS. 2008. Inhibitory deficits in Tourette syndrome. Dev Psychobiol 50:9–18.
- Sturm V, Lenartz D, Koulousakis A, Treuer H, Herholz K, Klein JC, et al. 2003. The nucleus accumbens: a target for deep brain stimulation in obsessive-compulsive- and anxiety-disorders. J Chem Neuroanat 26:293–299.
- Swain JE, Scahill L, Lombroso PJ, King RA, Leckman JF. 2007. Tourette syndrome and tic disorders: a decade of progress. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 46:947–968.
- Temel Y, Visser-Vandewalle V. 2004. Surgery in Tourette syndrome. Move Disord 19:3–14.
- Temel Y, van Lankveld JJ, Boon P, Spincemaille GH, van der Linden C, Visser-Vandewalle V. 2004. Deep brain stimulation

of the thalamus can influence penile erection. Int J Impot Res $16{:}91{-}94{.}$

- van der Linden C, Colle H, Vandewalle V, Alessi G, Rijckaert D, de Waele L. 2002. Successful treatment of tics with bilateral internal pallidum (GPi) stimulation in a 27-year-old male patient with Gilles-de-la-Tourette syndrome (GTS). Move Disord 17:S341.
- Visser-Vandewalle V. 2007. DBS in tourette syndrome: rationale, current status and future prospects. Acta Neurochir 97:S215– 222.
- Visser-Vandewalle V, Temel Y, van der Linden C, Ackermans L, Beuls E. 2004. Deep brain stimulation in movement disorders. The applications reconsidered. Acta Neurol Belg 104:33– 36.
- Welter ML, Mallet L, Houeto JL, Karachi C, Czernecki V, Cornu P, et al. 2008. Internal pallidal and thalamic stimulation in patients with Tourette syndrome. Arch Neurol 65:952– 957.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Vision in depressive disorder

EMANUEL BUBL¹, LUDGER TEBARTZ VAN ELST¹, MATTHIAS GONDAN², DIETER EBERT¹ & MARK W. GREENLEE²

¹Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Albert-Ludwigs-Universität, Freiburg, Germany, and ²Department of Experimental Psychology, University of Regensburg, Regensburg, Germany

Abstract

Background. Reduced dopaminergic transmission has been implicated in the pathophysiology of major depression. Furthermore, dopaminergic neurotransmission plays an important role in the physiology of visual contrast sensitivity (CS). To test the hypothesis that altered dopaminergic neurotransmission plays a role in major depression we measured contrast sensitivity in patients with major depression and in healthy control subjects. *Methods.* Twenty-eight patients diagnosed with major depressive disorder were compared to 21 age-matched control subjects on their ability to detect a Gabor target with slightly elevated luminance contrast embedded in seven equi-contrast distracters. *Results.* Contrast discrimination thresholds were significantly elevated in unmedicated and medicated patients with major depression compared to control subjects, at all pedestal contrast levels tested. *Conclusions.* Contrast discrimination performance is reduced in depressive patients and might reflect a state of altered dopaminergic neurotransmission.

Key words: Depressive disorder, contrast sensitivity, dopamine, schizophrenia

Introduction

In the last decades there has been on-going controversy over the aetiology of major depression. Currently an explanation based on an imbalance in neurotransmission is widely accepted. Several candidate systems have been discussed including the adrenergic and serotonergic system. Recently a number of authors raised the point of a special relevance of the dopaminergic system in the pathophysiology of major depression (Willner 1995; Ebert and Lammers 1997; Ebert and Berger 1998; Zhou et al. 2005).

Depression and dopamine

As many as 40–50% of patients with Parkinson's disease, a disorder characterized foremost by a nigro-striatal dopamine (DA) deficiency, show depressive symptoms, even before the onset of the classical motor symptoms (Yamamoto 2001; Brandstadter and Oertel 2003). Drugs decreasing the dopaminergic function often provoke depressive symptoms (for example, reserpine neuroleptic drugs or α -methyldopa, Willner 1983), whereas

antidepressants have the opposite effect (Wells and Marken 1989; Zhou et al. 2005). Various classes of antidepressants share the neurophysiological mechanism of sensitizing dopamine receptors and increasing the binding and amount of the dopamine receptors, the latter determined by the mRNA activity (Mai 1990; Ainsworth et al. 1998; Di Matteo et al. 2000; Lambert et al. 2000; Lammers et al. 2000; Larisch et al. 1997). The turnover of dopamine has been associated with the amount and severity of depressive symptoms (Lambert et al. 2000). Animal studies indicate that a genetically determined susceptibility to stress by the mesocortical DA system may facilitate the development of depressive behavioural symptoms via inhibition of subcortical DA transmission (Ventura et al. 2002). The dopamine hypothesis has developed from a theory of single dopamine deficiency towards a model of complex alteration of the dopaminergic system (Delgado 2000). At this point the pathology is thought to occur at the level of the dopamine receptor or beyond (i.e., the second messenger systems) including the interaction between other neurotransmitter systems (Randrup et al. 1975; Mai

Correspondence: Professor Dr Ludger Tebartz van Elst, Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Albert-Ludwigs-Universität; Hauptstr. 5, 79104 Freiburg, Germany. Tel: +49 761 270 6501. Fax: +49 761 270 6619. E-mail: tebartzvanelst@uniklinik-freiburg.de

(Received 6 December 2006; revised 12 June 2007; accepted 12 June 2007) ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970701513756 1990; Ainsworth et al. 1998; Ebert and Berger 1998; Lambert et al. 2000; Lammers et al. 2000; Zhou et al. 2005).

Depression and vision

Several studies addressing the issue of depression and visual deficits could produce preliminary evidence for such an inherent link (Leinhaas and Hedstrom 1994). However, so far there is but one study published that has explored visual symptoms in patients with major depression, indicating subjective visual impairment in depressed patients (Friberg and Borrero 2000). Although based solely on questionnaire data, and as such of limited validity (e.g., it was an open study without a control group and the measured items – i.e., subjective impression of luminance – were not well operationally defined), the results suggest that visual disturbances are related to depressive disorder.

Dopamine in the visual system

It is well established that dopamine deficiency syndromes, e.g., Parkinson's disease, are accompanied by an impaired function (Bodis-Wollner, 1990). The retina is the first stage in visual signal processing in which dopamine plays a role (Bodis-Wollner et al. 1987; Ghilardi et al. 1989; Langheinrich et al. 2000). Dopamine is found in both amacrine and the interplexiform cells (Frederick et al. 1982). Functions of the visual system which are influenced by the dopaminergic systems include both the size of the receptive field and the contrast sensitivity (CS) of the individual neurons. Previous electrophysiological, pharmacological and clinical studies have indicated that the impairment in CS is evoked by a decrease in dopamine activity of the retina (Bodis-Wollner et al. 1987; Mestre et al. 1990; Masson et al. 1993; Tebartz van Elst et al. 1997; Langheinrich et al. 2000). Recently a study analyzing CS in schizophrenia showed that unmedicated patients displayed contrast detection thresholds significantly below those of healthy subjects. In contrast, patients treated with atypical antipsychotic drugs showed unimpaired visual contrast detection; and those given typical antipsychotic drugs exhibited higher visual contrast detection thresholds (Chen et al. 2003).

Assessment of dopaminergic dysfunction

Detecting dopaminergic alterations directly in depression is difficult. Different techniques like single photon emission tomography (SPECT) and positron emission tomography (PET) techniques are still very crude and, in practice, do not allow for the quantification of subtle mesolimbic dopaminergic activity, but only indicate vast nigrostriatal neurotransmission (Scheibel 1997).

One approach to assess visual processing is to determine the effect of stimulus contrast in visual search tasks for a suprathreshold contrast target among distractors with a specific pedestal contrast level. Indeed visual search performance has been shown to be impaired in patients with Parkinson's disease (Lieb et al. 1999).

Working hypothesis

Based on the theoretical considerations summarized above in this study we asked whether depressive patients suffer from a reduced visual contrast discrimination, which might represent an impaired dopaminergic neurotransmission.

Patients and methods

Patients

Patients were identified at the Department of Psychiatry of the University Hospital of Freiburg following approval by the local ethics committee. Twenty-eight patients (mean age = 37.8 years; SD =9.5) were included after giving their informed consent. Inclusion criteria were the current diagnosis of a major depressive episode according to DSM-IV criteria classified as either major depressive disorder (MD) single episode (DSM-IV: 296.2) MD recurrent episode (DSM-IV: 296.3) or bipolar disorder (BD) the most recent episode being depressed (DSM-IV: 296.5). Exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) any other DSM-IV first axis psychiatric disorder except for anxiety disorders, (2) any general neurological or medical condition, and (3) any eye diseases except for corrected hyperopia or myopia. The psychiatric diagnosis was established by senior consultant psychiatrists based on a semi-structured clinical interview following DSM-IV criteria (Table I). Ten of the 28 patients included suffered from MD (single episode; DSM-IV: 296.2); 12 from MD (recurrent depressive disorder; DSM-IV: 296.3) and six from BD the most recent episode being depressed (DSM-IV: 296.5). The present level of depression was measured using the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI). None of the patients had a history of psychotic symptoms. The control group consisted of 21 age- and gender-matched healthy subjects without a history of neurological or mental disorders all of whom scored in the normal range of the BDI. They were selected from the general population of the city of Freiburg and had a mean age of 33.1 years (SD = 10 years).

Table I. Diagnoses comorbidity and medication of patients.

Patient no.	Age (years)	Sex	Diagnosis [DSM-IV]	Comorbidity [DSM-IV]	Medication*
1	42	F	3		D
2	51	М	3		В
3	27	F	2		А
4	40	М	3		А
5	47	М	3		В
6	47	М	3		D
7	19	F	3		В
8	29	F	1		С
9	31	М	2		А
10	28	F	1		В
11	48	М	2	DSM-IV 300.02 DSM-IV 300.4	А
12	34	F	2		D
13	46	М	1		С
14	50	М	2		В
15	34	F	2		D
16	24	F	2	DSM-IV 300.21	В
17	43	Μ	2		А
18	22	F	1		А
19	31	F	2		С
20	49	М	2		А
21	40	М	1		А
22	36	F	3		В
23	56	F	3		D
24	32	F	3	DSM-IV 300.23	В
25	36	М	1		А
26	39	М	3		А
27	31	F	3		D
28	47	F	3		В

1 =DSM IV 296.5; 2 =DSM IV 296.2; 3 =DSM IV 296.3; A, no medication; B, SSRI; C, other monotherapy (tricyclic medication or mirtazapin); D, combination.

Contrast discrimination test procedure

Subjects were seated at a 114-cm distance from the screen. Eight Gabor stimuli (circular patches of sine wave gratings) with constant orientation (45°) and spatial frequency of 2 c/deg were presented simultaneously (see Figure 1).

In every run, 80 trials were shown: 40 contained a target in which higher contrast led the target stimulus to 'pop out' against the others and 40 without an increment (all stimuli had the same contrast). In a forced-choice algorithm subjects had to decide whether or not one grating popped out against the others (i.e., one stimulus with higher contrast).

The contrast increment threshold was determined by the Best-Pest procedure for all trials with a contrast increment (best parameter estimate by sequential testing). The target contrast was adjusted by the Best-Pest in each target trial according to the subject's previous response. Therefore, the present task was a 2AFC task, even though eight stimuli were used.

Although the guessing rate was relatively high (i.e., 50%) we believe that the threshold measurements obtained were reliable, since we could collapse our

measurements over all target locations (see below), thereby increasing the number of observations for each pedestal contrast level to 80 per subject (Treutwein 1995). These data were used to determine the underlying psychometric function (increment threshold, Green and Swets 1966; Liebermann and Pentland 2003). Trials without a target stimulus were used to identify the response bias (Wickens 2001). In separate conditions we varied the Michelson contrast (describing the luminance difference between the light and dark bars of the distractors) along seven contrast levels (1, 3, 10, 20, 30, 40, and 50%).

Data analysis

The experimental hypotheses were tested for statistical significance with respect to the effect of relative pedestal contrasts using ANOVA with the following main effects: group (patients versus controls) pedestal contrast level (repeated factor). Post-hoc analysis was performed to test the effects of type of diagnosis medication and the score on the BDI. In addition we tested for possible differences on reaction time, false alarms, and hit rates between patients and controls.



Figure 1. Example of Gabor stimuli used in the experimental set-up. The panel on the left illustrates a trial with no target stimulus (i.e., all stimuli have the same contrast). The panel on the right shows a trial with a high contrast target at the '10:30' position (arrow not present in experiments).

Results

The results with respect to the relative contrast increment thresholds are shown in Figure 2. The seven pedestal contrast levels (c = 0.01 corresponding to 1% Michelson contrast to c = 0.5 corresponding to 50%) are plotted against the log relative contrast increment threshold log ($C_{target}/C_{reference}$).



Figure 2. Log contrast increment thresholds as a function of reference contrast: the filled circles give the mean values for the control group the open circles present the mean values for the patient group. Error bars show ± 1 standard error of the mean.

Overall there was no significant effect of target position so the data for each target location were pooled for the statistical analyses.

There was no interaction between group and contrast ($F_{6,329} = 0.46$; n.s.) suggesting that the effect of pedestal contrast on the relative contrast increment threshold is similar for both groups.

The patient–control group comparison revealed a highly significant difference between these groups with respect to contrast increment threshold ($F_{1,6} = 24.9$; P = 0.0001). Patients' thresholds were elevated for all pedestal contrast levels (Figure 2).

The factor subdiagnosis (first episode, recurrent depression or bipolar disorder) did not interact significantly with contrast increment thresholds $(F_{2,25} = 0.3; \text{ n.s.})$. In addition there were no significant differences in response bias. There were no significant differences in false alarm rate. The false alarm rate increased with increasing distracter contrast, but the results from the patients is comparable to those of the controls. The pedestal contrast level had no effect on the false alarm rate see below.

CS and medication effects

The medication taken by the patients at the time of study varied. A one-way ANOVA with the main effect antidepressive medication as a four-level variable (A = no medication, B = only SSRI, C = other monotherapy (one patient with tricyclic antidepressant and two patients with mirtazapin), D = combination of different antidepressant medications)

revealed a significant effect ($F_{3,24} = 4.04$, P = 0.019) of medication on contrast sensitivity. This effect was attributable to the small group of three patients receiving monotherapy other than SSRIs (two patients with mirtazapin and one patient with a tricyclic agent) which displayed particularly high pedestal contrasts.

Patients with MD not receiving any medication (n=10) compared with the same number of randomly matched subjects from the control group also showed significantly increased contrast increment thresholds $(F_{1,19}=4.7, P=0.05)$. When the 10 unmedicated patients were compared to the whole subgroup of control subjects this difference in thresholds was even more pronounced.

Reaction time

Figure 3 illustrates the relationship between log reaction time and the pedestal contrast level. No significant effect of pedestal contrast was found. However a significant difference between patients and controls could be noted ($F_{1,6} = 14.2$; P = 0.0002). The patients required approximately 60 ms longer to respond to the contrast stimuli. This effect was evident at low and high pedestal contrast levels.

Reaction time and BDI. An analysis of the relationship between reaction time and BDI did not reveal a significant association ($F_{3,15} = .26$; n.s.).



Figure 3. Comparison of reaction time between patients and controls. The symbols and error bars are as in Figure 2.

False alarm rate

There were no significant differences in false alarm rate between the patient and control groups. The false alarm rate increased with increasing distracter contrast, but the results from the patients is comparable to those of the controls (Figure 4).

Effect of age on contrast increment thresholds

Linear regression analysis between age and contrast increment threshold and between reaction time within the control group did not reveal any correlation between the subjects' age and these dependent variables (age and log reaction time: $R^2 = 0.20$ n.s.; age and contrast increment threshold: R = 0.16 n.s.).

Discussion

In this study we analyzed possible differences in contrast discrimination thresholds between patients with major depressive disorder and healthy control subjects. The main finding is a highly significant increase in discrimination thresholds in patients with depression. The elevation in contrast discrimination thresholds corresponds to a 15% increase over the mean thresholds of the control group. This effect was apparent over all contrast levels tested and all depressive subsyndromes. Unmedicated patients also displayed significantly increased contrast discrimination thresholds.

Before embarking on a discussion of these findings we first discuss the possible limitations of this study.



Figure 4. Comparison of false alarm rate (FAR) between patients and controls. The symbols and error bars are as in Figure 2.

382 E. Bubl et al.

Attentional effects and the role of working memory

Patients with depression often suffer from memory, attention, and motor disturbances (Ravnkilde et al. 2002). This explanation for our results seems unlikely since both patients and controls showed a similar dependence on pedestal contrast. The patients showed the same effect for higher distracter contrast as did the control group suggesting that fatigue or lack of alertness cannot explain our findings. Working memory is very robust for simple visual targets like those used in the present study (Greenlee and Magnussen 1998; Lee and Harris 1996; Magnussen and Greenlee 1999). Using preattentive vision in visual search minimizes memory influence on the task, since the search task requires the simple detection of the target presented among distracters (Palmer 1990). No explicit memory demands were placed on the subjects in this form of visual search. Finally the Best-Pest algorithm used in this study is especially constructed to minimize a response bias based on impaired attention or working memory by 'zooming in' into the critical contrast increment threshold.

Response bias (false alarm rate)

Because the false alarm rate of patients does not differ significantly from that of controls we can rule out that the differences in discrimination thresholds are related to differences in response bias.

Medication effects

Since both unmedicated and medicated patients displayed a significantly increased contrast increment threshold we can exclude that the observed effect is just a consequence of medication. Instead it is probably related to a not yet specified independent factor associated with depression. On the other hand increased discrimination thresholds in the group of three patients with mirtazapine and tricyclic medication might hint to a differential effect of different psychotropic medications on contrast perception. This notion is supported by the report by Chen and co-workers demonstrating a differential modulation of contrast sensitivity depending on neuroleptic medication (Chen et al. 2003). However one should be cautious with the interpretation of this observation since the subgroup is very small.

Reduced CS in depressive disorder

The results illustrated in Figure 2 indicate that the relative pedestal contrasts decrease with increasing pedestal contrast. This effect is evident in both

groups and is characteristic for contrast increment threshold functions (Foley and Legge 1981). Compared to controls the patients require more relative contrast to detect the presence of a target. This effect is apparent over all contrast levels tested suggesting that the alteration in contrast discrimination performance is not restricted to low near-threshold contrast levels.

Severity of depression. Contrast increment thresholds were independent of the present severity of depression in the patient group. This suggests we might have a ceiling effect here.

Reaction time. As can be seen in Figure 3, the differences in RT between both groups are striking. However the methodology chosen for this pilot study ensures that performance was not affected by altered RT (i.e., all participants were given enough time to respond). Thus this observation has to be regarded as an independent component and cannot explain the increased thresholds in depressive patients, in the sense of a speed–accuracy tradeoff. Furthermore there were no significant correlations between RT on the one hand and contrast increment threshold or magnitude of depression as measured with the BDI on the other hand.

Reaction time is a cross-modal function between visual and motor systems (Lemke 1999). Motor symptoms are common in depression. Homovanillic acid (HVA) the metabolite of DA is decreased in patients with motor system impairment whereas agitated patients show an elevated HVA level (Praag et al. 1975; Northoff et al. 1996). One possible conclusion of these observations is that motor system impairment goes along with reduced DA turnover. Whether the reverse is also true remains unknown.

Elevated visual contrast increment threshold as indicator of disturbed dopaminergic neurotransmission?

In Parkinson's disease, dopaminergic disturbance in the visual system is just one aspect of a more widely distributed dopaminergic pathology predominantly affecting the nigrostriatal system. In accordance with the studies mentioned above, the disturbance of dopaminergic neurotransmission in the visual system of patients with depressive disorder might represent just one aspect of a more widely distributed pathology affecting the mesolimbic and nirgrostriatal dopaminergic system (Willner 1983; Bodis-Wollner 1997; Tebartz van Elst et al. 1997; Chen et al. 2003).

Further studies using longitudinal and crossmodal designs are needed to assess the validity, specificity and sensitivity of this promising method determining diagnostic contrast increment thresholds in depression and other psychiatric disorders like schizophrenia.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

References

- Ainsworth K, Smith SE, Sharp T. 1998. Repeated administration of fluoxetine desipramine and tranylcypromine increases dopamine D2-like but not D1-like receptor function in the rat. J Psychopharmacol 12:252–257.
- Bodis-Wollner I. 1990. Visual deficits related to dopamine deficiency in experimental animals and Parkinson's disease patients. [Review, 68 refs.] Trends Neurosci 13:296–302.
- Bodis-Wollner I. 1997. Vision and neurodegenerative diseases. Vision Res 37:3441–3443.
- Bodis-Wollner I, Marx MS, Mitra S, Bobak P, Mylin L, Yahr M. 1987. Visual dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. Loss in spatiotemporal contrast sensitivity. Brain 110:1675–1698.
- Brandstadter D, Oertel WH. 2003. Depression in Parkinson's disease. Review. Adv Neurol 91:371–381.
- Chen Y, Levy DL, Sheremata S, Nakayama K, Matthysse S, Holzman PS. 2003. Effects of typical atypical and no antipsychotic drugs on visual contrast detection in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 160:1795–1801.
- Delgado PL. 2000. Depression: the case for a monoamine deficiency. [Review.] J Clin Psychiatry 61(Suppl 6):7–11.
- Di Matteo V, Di Mascio M, Di Giovanni G, Esposito E. 2000. Acute administration of amitriptyline and mianserin increases dopamine release in the rat nucleus accumbens: possible involvement of serotonin2C receptors. Psychopharmacology 150:45–51.
- Ebert D, Berger M. 1998. Neurobiological similarities in antidepressant sleep deprivation and psychostimulant use: a psychostimulant theory of antidepressant sleep deprivation. [Review]. Psychopharmacology 140:1–10.
- Ebert D, Lammers CH. 1997. The central dopaminergic system and depression. [Review; German.] Nervenarzt 68:545– 555.
- Foley JM, Legge GE. 1981. Contrast detection and near-threshold discrimination in human vision. Vision Res 21:1041–1053.
- Frederick JM, Rayborn ME, Laties AM, Lam DM, Hollyfield JG. 1982. Dopaminergic neurons in the human retina. J Comparative Neurol 210:65–79.
- Friberg TR, Borrero G. 2000. Diminished perception of ambient light: a symptom of clinical depression? J Affect Disord 61:113– 118.
- Ghilardi MF, Marx MS, Bodis-Wollner I, Camras CB, Glover AA. 1989. The effect of intraocular 6-hydroxydopamine on retinal processing of primates. Ann Neurol 25:357–364.
- Green DM, Swets JA. 1966. Signal detection theory and psychophysics. New York: Wiley.
- Greenlee MW, Magnussen S. 1998. Limited-capacity mechanisms of visual discrimination. Vision Res 38:375–385.

- Lambert G, Johansson M, Agren H, Friberg P. 2000. Reduced brain norepinephrine and dopamine release in treatmentrefractory depressive illness: evidence in support of the catecholamine hypothesis of mood disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry 57:787–793.
- Lammers CH, Diaz J, Schwartz JC, Sokoloff P. 2000. Selective increase of dopamine D3 receptor gene expression as a common effect of chronic antidepressant treatments. Mol Psychiatry 5:378–388.
- Langheinrich T, Tebartz van Elst L, et al. 2000. Visual contrast response functions in Parkinson's disease: evidence from electroretinograms visually evoked potentials and psychophysics. Clin Neurophysiol 111:66–74.
- Larisch R, Klimke A, Vosberg H, Loffler S, Gaebel W, Muller-Gartner HW. 1997. In vivo evidence for the involvement of dopamine-D2 receptors in striatum and anterior cingulate gyrus in major depression. NeuroImage 5:251–260.
- Lee B, Harris J. 1996. Contrast transfer characteristics of visual short-term memory. Vision Res 36:2159–2166.
- Leinhaas MA, Hedstrom NJ. 1994. Low vision: how to assess and treat its emotional impact. Geriatrics 49:53–56.
- Lemke MR. 1999. Motor signs of depression. [Review, German.] Nervenarzt 70:600–612.
- Lieb K, Brucker S, Bach M, Els T, Lucking CH, Greenlee MW. 1999. Impairment in preattentive visual processing in patients with Parkinson's disease. Brain 122:303–313.
- Liebermann HR, Pentland AP. 2003. Microcomputerbased estimation of psychophysical thresholds: The Best-Pest. Behav Res Methods Instrum 14:21–25.
- Magnussen S, Greenlee MW. 1999. The psychophysics of perceptual memory. Psychol Res 62:81–92.
- Mai J. 1990. Behavioral effects of antidepressant drugs given repeatedly on the dopaminergic system. Dopamine and mental depression. Oxford: Serra Pergamon. p 139–146.
- Masson G, Mestre D, Blin O. 1993. Dopaminergic modulation of visual sensitivity in man. [Review.] Fundam Clin Pharmacol 7:449–463.
- Mestre D, Blin O, Serratrice G, Pailhous J. 1990. Spatiotemporal contrast sensitivity differs in normal aging and Parkinson's disease. Neurology 40:1710–1714.
- Northoff G, Demisch L, Wenke J, Pflug B. 1996. Plasma homovanillic acid concentrations in catatonia. Biol Psychiatry 39:436–443.
- Palmer J. 1990. Attentional limits on the perception and memory of visual information. J Exp Psychol: Hum Percept Perform 16:332–350.
- Praag HM, Korf J, Lakke JPWF, Schut T. 1975. Dopamine metabolism in depressions psychoses and Parkinson's disease: the problem of the specificity of biological variables in behaviour disorders. Psychol Med 5:138–146.
- Randrup A, Munkvad I, Fog R. 1975. Current developments in psychopharmacology. New York. p 207–229.
- Ravnkilde B, Videbech P, Clemmensen K, Egander A, Rasmussen NA, Rosenberg R. 2002. Cognitive deficits in major depression. Scand J Psychol 43:239–251.
- Scheibel AB. 1997. The thalamus and neuropsychiatric illness. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 9:342–353.
- Tebartz van Elst L, Greenlee MW, Foley JM, Lücking CH. 1997. Contrast detection discrimination and adaptation in patients with Parkinson's disease and multiple system atrophy. Brain 120:2219–2228.
- Treutwein B. 1995. Adaptive psychophysical procedures. Vision Res 35(17):2503–2522.
- Ventura R, Cabib S, Puglisi-Allegra S. 2002. Genetic susceptibility of mesocortical dopamine to stress determines liability to inhibition of mesoaccumbens dopamine and to behavioral

'despair' in a mouse model of depression. Neuroscience 115:999–1007.

- Wells BG, Marken PA. 1989. Bromocriptine in treatment of depression. DICP: The Annals of Pharmacotherapy 23:600– 602.
- Wickens TD. 2001. Elementary signal detection theory. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Willner P. 1983. Dopamine and depression: a review of recent evidence. I–III. [Review, 162 refs.] Brain Res 287:211–246.
- Willner P. 1995 Dopaminergic mechanisms in depression and mania. In: Bloom K, New York: Raven Press. p 921–932.
- Yamamoto M. 2001. Depression in Parkinson's disease: its prevalence diagnosis and neurochemical background. [Review.] J Neurol 248(Suppl 3):I5–11.
- Zhou FM, Liang Y, Salas R, Zhang L, De Biasi M, Dani JA. 2005. Corelease of dopamine and serotonin from striatal dopamine terminals. Neuron 46:65–74.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Non-fatal overdose of duloxetine in combination with other antidepressants and benzodiazepines

MARCO MENCHETTI¹, BEATRICE FERRARI GOZZI¹, MARIA ADDOLORATA SARACINO², LAURA MERCOLINI², CARMINE PETIO³ & MARIA AUGUSTA RAGGI²

¹Institute of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine and Surgery, Alma Mater Studiorum-University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy, ²Laboratory of Pharmaco-Toxicological Analysis, Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Faculty of Pharmacy, Alma Mater Studiorum-University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy, and ³Department of Mental Health, Ospedale Maggiore, Bologna, Italy

Abstract

The pharmaco-toxicological profile of duloxetine, a novel SNRI antidepressant, is still not completely known; in particular, intoxication cases have been scarcely studied. Here a duloxetine overdose case, in combination with other antidepressants and benzodiazepines, is reported and the chemical–clinical correlations discussed; this is probably the first detailed report of such a case. The patient referred to have ingested nine tablets of Cymbalta[®] (more than 500 mg of duloxetine) and high amounts of four other drugs (venlafaxine, trazodone, sertraline and clonazepam). The patient was dozy and confused and some electrolyte imbalances were found. After gastrolavage, toxicological analyses revealed high plasma levels of duloxetine (384 ng/ml) and low levels of the other supposedly involved drugs. The overdose resulted to be not fatal and the outcome was relatively benign, also thanks to the fast emergency assistance. This case suggests that clinicians should be alerted to the possibility of toxic effects caused by simultaneous overdoses of duloxetine and other antidepressants and that caution should be used when prescribing more than one of these drugs to patients at risk of suicide.

Key words: Duloxetine, overdose, depression, HPLC-UV analysis, plasma levels

Introduction

Duloxetine $((\gamma S)$ -N-methyl- γ -(1-naphthalenyloxy)-2-thiophenepropanamine, DULO, Figure 1) is the most recent antidepressant drug belonging to the pharmacological class of serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs), which also includes venlafaxine (VLX) and milnacipran. DULO has a potent and balanced action on both serotonin (5-HT) and norepinephrine (NE) reuptake (Bymaster et al. 2001); in vivo data support the drug dualmonoamine mechanism of action (Hunziker et al. 2005). In addition, DULO displays low affinity for human serotonergic, adrenergic, cholinergic, histaminergic and dopaminergic receptors, suggesting a low risk of adverse effects associated with action at these receptors (Hunziker et al. 2005). The drug was approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2002 for the treatment of major depressive disorder and in 2004 for pain associated with diabetic peripheral neuropathy (Raskin et al. 2006). It has been also approved in some countries for the treatment of stress urinary incontinence (Sweetman 2005). DULO is usually administered at daily doses ranging from 40 to 120 mg; it is well absorbed with peak plasma concentrations (C_{max}) occurring 6 h after administration and with an elimination half-life of about 12 h. Administration with food may delay the maximum concentration time and may decrease the extent of absorption by up to 10%. It is highly protein bound (>90%). DULO pharmacokinetics are doseproportional over the therapeutic range. To the best of our knowledge, only one paper (Sharma et al. 2000) can be found which investigates DULO plasma levels. In this study, DULO levels were found in the 4-80 ng/ml range for daily doses from 40 to 80 mg. DULO is extensively biotransformed through hepatic oxidative metabolism mainly involving two cytochrome P450 (CYP) isozymes, CYP2D6 and CYP1A2. Excretion of unchanged DULO in the

Correspondence: Professor Maria Augusta Raggi, Pharmaco-Toxicological Analysis Laboratory, Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Via Belmeloro 6, I-40126 Bologna, Italy. Tel and Fax: +39 051 2099740. E-mail: mariaaugusta.raggi@unibo.it

(Received 29 March 2007; accepted 17 July 2007)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970701586331



Figure 1. Chemical structure of duloxetine (DULO).

urine consists of only a trace amount (<1%) of the dose. Approximately 70% of the dose is eliminated in the urine as metabolites and 20% is excreted in faeces (Lantz et al. 2003). In clinical trials, the most common side effects associated with DULO administration were nausea, dry mouth, fatigue, insomnia, dizziness, constipation and increased sweating (Hudson et al. 2005).

The present paper reports and comments upon a case of overdose of DULO, venlafaxine, trazodone, sertraline and clonazepam with non-fatal outcome, where the toxicological analyses were carried out using a HPLC method. To the best of our knowledge, no paper describes in detail DULO overdose cases, not even in case of multi-drug intoxication. Only two papers regarding non-accidental DULO overdoses can be found in the literature (Raskin et al. 2003; Anderson et al. 2006); however, the former does not describe the cases in detail and the latter is a forensic report regarding postmortem samples.

Case report

A 66-year-old Caucasian female with a history of depression was admitted to hospital due to a deliberate overdose of antidepressants in an attempted suicide. She reported taking nine 60-mg tablets of DULO (total 540 mg), nine 75-mg tablets of trazodone extended release (TRZ, total 675 mg) and an unknown number of 75-mg tablets of venlafaxine extended release (VLX), 50-mg tablets of sertraline (SRT) and 0.125-mg drops of clonaze-pam (CNZ). The patient lived alone in a protected residence and was found by a housekeeper in a confused state.

She suffered from chronic depression without history of suicide attempts. In the last few months her mood worsened due to some life events (functional impairment following physical illness, family problems) and the primary care physician prescribed her an antidepressant (SRT and then VLX). Subsequently, due to her poor clinical response, she was referred to a Community Mental Health Centre and the psychiatrist switched to DULO 60 mg once daily, TRZ 75 mg once daily and CNZ when needed.

Other than depression, the patient suffered from some physical conditions, in particular loin and sciatic pain from a slipped disk, which had been operated on 3 years previously, and chronic neuropathic pain post surgery. For these physical problems, she took gabapentin and anti-inflammatory drugs. Moreover, she suffered from relapsing herpes zoster, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and hypertension.

About 5 h after drug ingestion, the patient was admitted to the Emergency Department (at 10:00 h). On physical examination, she was found to be somnolent with a tendency for doziness (Glasgow Coma Scale = 14), disoriented, confused, with flat affect, slow and furred speech. She was haemodynamically stable (blood pressure 110/65 mmHg, heart rate = 60). Her blood pH was 7.4 and arterial blood gases showed $pO_2 = 65.5 \text{ mmHg}$, $pCO_2 =$ 52.7 mmHg and oxygen saturation = 93.3%. Scattered hisses were found on her chest examination. Shortly thereafter, the electrocardiogram (ECG) revealed a heart rate of 58 and a QTc of 423. Laboratory analyses revealed some abnormalities: serum sodium, 134 mmol/l; serum chloride, 94 mmol/l; serum potassium, 4.1 mmol/l; azotemia, 66 mg/dl. Her blood count showed leucocytosis $(16.99 \times 10^3/\mu l)$ with neutrophils $10.58 \times 10^3/\mu l$, lymphocytes 4.48×10^{3} /µl and blood platelets 455×10^{3} /µl. At the Emergency Department, a gastrolavage was carried out with 4.5 l of water, 20 g of vegetable charcoal and 20 g of magnesium sulphate that removed some tablets. The patient was also treated with intravenous fluid and oxygen therapy. Subsequently, she was transferred to the Emergency Ward and she was not co-operative, she was slowed down, soporose, with a furred speech. At 15:00 h, laboratory analyses revealed a decrease in potassium levels to 3.5 mmol/l; ECG revealed a heart rate of 69 and a QTc of 439. The day after, she was vigilant and agitated; cardiac activity parameters were: blood pressure 105/60 mmHg, heart rate 66 pulses/min and a QTc of 432. In the afternoon (at 14:00 h), she was then admitted to the Acute Inpatient Psychiatric Ward. On examination she was lucid, oriented in space and time, cooperative with low affect, she had an oxygen saturation of 96% and blood pressure 105/55 mmHg. The patient had a regular course and she was then transferred to a Psychiatric Clinic for her convalescence. Some examinations were done after 1 month: no ECG abnormalities were reported; laboratory values were normal except for her white blood cell count $(12.8 \times 10^3/\mu l)$ and neutrophil count (9.2 $\times 10^3/\mu l).$ A sound of aortic ejection was found on heart examination.

Drug analysis

Thirty-five hours after the drug intake, a blood sample was taken, put into test tubes containing EDTA as the anticoagulant and immediately transported to the Pharmaco-Toxicological Analysis Laboratory. There, the sample was centrifuged at $1400 \times g$ for 15 min (4°C) and the supernatant plasma transferred into 1.5-ml polypropylene test tubes. DULO plasma levels were determined by means of an original and validated high-performance liquid chromatographic (HPLC) method; an accurate sample pre-treatment procedure was carried out by solid-phase extraction (SPE) (Mercolini et al. 2007). Assays of DULO were carried out under the following conditions: mobile phase, acetonitrile/20 mM phosphate buffer (pH 3.0); stationary phase, C8 column (150×4.6 mm I.D., 5 μ m); detection wavelength, 230 nm. Clomipramine was used as the internal standard (IS). The chromatogram of the patient's plasma sample is reported in Figure 2a. The largest peak, with a retention time (t_R) of 6.5 min, corresponds to DULO; the calculated plasma level was 384 ng/ml. Some of the other peaks present in the chromatogram were identified as corresponding to the other drugs involved in the intoxication (TRZ, $t_R = 4.2$ min; CNZ, $t_R = 11.3$ min; N-desmethylsertraline, DSR, $t_{\rm R} = 13.2$ min; SRT, $t_{\rm R} = 15.5$ min) by comparison with injections of standard solutions (Figure 2b). After suitable evaluation on "blank" plasma samples, it was found that the method allowed the simultaneous determination of DULO, TRZ, CNZ, SRT and its main active metabolite. The following plasma concentrations were found: TRZ, 550 ng/ml; CNZ, 83 ng/ml; SRT, 20 ng/ml; DSR, 27 ng/ml. For the analysis of VLX and its main active metabolite O-desmethylvenlafaxine (ODV), another original validated HPLC method with fluorescence detection was used (Mandrioli et al. 2007): the chromatogram of the plasma sample analysed with this method is reported in Figure 2c. The peak at $t_{\rm R} = 6.0$ min corresponds to VLX and that at $t_{\rm R} = 2.9$ min corresponds to ODV; the calculated plasma levels were 6.3 ng/ml for the former and 6.8 ng/ml for the latter.

As one can note, except for DULO, all plasma levels of central nervous system drugs are within their therapeutic ranges.

Discussion

Buckley and McManus (2002) reported that VLX, the parent drug of SNRIs, is more dangerous in

overdose than SSRIs. Thus, it is surely important to collect clinical information about DULO overdose. However, experience with DULO overdose in humans is very limited also because this drug has only been commercially available from a short time.

In fact, only two papers which report DULO overdose cases have been published. In the first paper (Raskin et al. 2003), two cases of non-fatal DULO overdose during a phase-III long-term trial are cited. However, they are reported by the authors among other "serious adverse events" and not described or commented upon in any way. In the second paper (Anderson et al. 2006), the Los Angeles County Department of Coroner released a report of a toxicological study which detected and quantified central blood levels of DULO by means of gas chromatography in 12 post-mortem cases involving suspected basic drug intake. The central blood DULO concentrations ranged from a not detectable value to 590 ng/ml. In seven of these 12 cases, the cause of death was not drug related. In the other five cases, the cause of death was multiple drug intoxication, in particular two of them were suicides and the other three accidental intoxications. DULO was not implicated as the sole cause of death in any of these cases.

The two cases of suicide were in depressed patients treated with DULO and other psychotropic drugs. The first case involved a 40-year-old female whose toxicological postmortem analyses revealed the presence of DULO, TRZ and VLX; the cause of death was established to be multiple drug intoxication. The second case involve a 42-year-old female whose toxicological postmortem analyses revealed the presence of DULO, mirtazapine, norfluoxetine, alprazolam, lorazepam, temazepam, meprobamate and morphine; the cause of death was due to morphine intoxication.

Usually, DULO is considered to be a welltolerated drug at therapeutic doses, like most new generation antidepressants, but its pharmaco-toxicological profile is still not completely known. The most common side effects involve the gastrointestinal tract (Hudson et al. 2005). Generally, effects on the central nervous system are mild and aspecific (headache, dizziness, somnolence, insomnia). Regarding cardiovascular side effects, DULO was found to be associated with small increases in heart rate and systolic blood pressure due to potentiation of noradrenergic neurotransmission (Thase et al. 2005). Moreover, DULO at high doses (120 mg/die) caused significant decreases in PR and QRS intervals compared with a placebo; however, these differences were not clinically meaningful. On the other hand, no effects were reported on QTc even at high therapeutic doses (Thase et al. 2005). There are



Figure 2. (a) HPLC-UV chromatogram of the patient's plasma sample; (b) HPLC-UV chromatogram of a standard solution containing 200 ng/ml of duloxetine (DULO), 200 ng/ml of trazodone (TRZ), 100 ng/ml of clonazepam (CNZ), 100 ng/ml of N-desmethylsertraline (DSR), 50 ng/ml of sertraline (SRT) and 100 ng/ml of clomipramine (Internal Standard, IS); (c) HPLC-FL chromatogram of the patient's plasma sample. HPLC-FL chromatogram of the patient's plasma sample. HPLC-FL chromatographic conditions: mobile phase, acetonitrile/40 mM phosphate buffer (pH 6.8) (25/75, w/w); stationary phase, Zorbax C8 column (150 \times 4.6 mm I.D., 5 μ m); excitation wavelength, 238 nm; emission wavelength, 300 nm. HPLC-UV, high-performance liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection.

no reports on the effects of DULO during multipledrug intoxication.

The patient described in the present paper showed clinical signs and symptoms of an altered mental status and of cardiovascular alterations with hypotension, sinus bradycardia and possibly slightly prolonged QTc interval. These signs and symptoms are not reported in the literature as side effects of DULO. Moreover, the clinical experience on the other SNRI drug available on the market, VLX, showed tachycardia and hypertension (Pascale et al. 2005). Thus, a possible explanation of cardiovascular side effects might be the toxic dosage she ingested or the concomitant medications she took. Since blood sampling for the analysis of plasma levels was done several hours after gastrolavage, the acute (toxic) effects cannot be directly related to the plasma levels of the individual substances. Probably, however, the high plasma levels of DULO were responsible for the main side effects described above for the patient. In fact, several hours after gastrolavage, the plasma level of DULO was 384 ng/ml, which is about 5 times the reported (Sharma et al. 2000) plasma levels (range: 4-80 ng/ml). On the contrary, the plasma concentrations of the other co-ingested drugs (TRZ, VLX, SRT and CNZ) were subtherapeutic, as reported in the Drug analysis section. TRZ can cause orthostatic hypotension at therapeutic doses (50–300 mg/die) and the patient reported that she took 675 mg of this. The TRZ plasma level value found was 550 ng/ml and its therapeutic range is 800-1600 ng/ml (Sweetman 2005). If one considers that both DULO and TRZ have short elimination half-lives (6 h for DULO, 6.6 h for TRZ) and that plasma levels were measured 35 h after the overdose, both drugs could be the cause, or among the causes, of the patient's hypotension.

Even if some symptoms were alarming (altered mental status, cardiovascular alterations with hypotension, sinus bradycardia and QTc interval changes), the outcome was benign; this was also due to the quick clinical and toxicological intervention.

However, this chemical-clinical study suggests that clinicians should be alerted to the possibility of unusual cardiovascular toxic effects caused by an overdose of DULO in polypharmacy with other central nervous system drugs and that caution should be used when prescribing this drug to patients at risk of suicide.

Acknowledgements

This research was financially supported by MIUR (Ministero dell'Istruzione, dell'Università e della Ricerca, Italy – RFO funds).

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

References

- Anderson D, Reed S, Lintemoot J, et al. 2006. A first look at duloxetine (Cymbalta[®]) in a postmortem laboratory. J Anal Toxicol 30:576–580.
- Buckley NA, McManus PR. 2002. Fatal toxicity of serotoninergic and other antidepressant drugs: analysis of United Kingdom mortality data. Br Med J 325:1332–1333.

- Bymaster FP, Dreshfield-Ahmad LJ, Threlkeld PG, et al. 2001. Comparative affinity of duloxetine and venlafaxine for serotonin and norepinephrine transporters in vitro and in vivo, human serotonin receptor subtypes, and other neuronal receptors. Neuropsychopharmacol 25:871–880.
- Hudson JI, Wohlreich MM, Kajdasz DK, Mallinckrodt CH, Watkin JG, Martynov OV. 2005. Safety and tolerability of duloxetine in the treatment of major depressive disorder: analysis of pooled data from eight placebo controlled clinical trials. Hum Psychopharmacol 20:327–341.
- Hunziker ME, Suehs BT, Bettinger TL, Crismon ML. 2005. Duloxetine hydrochloride: a new dual-acting medication for the treatment of major depressive disorder. Clin Ther 27:1126– 1143.
- Lantz RJ, Gillespie TA, Rash TJ, et al. 2003. Metabolism, excretion, and pharmacokinetics of duloxetine in healthy human subjects. Drug Metab Dispos 31:1142–1150.
- Mandrioli R, Mercolini L, Cesta R, Fanali S, Amore M, Raggi MA. 2007. Analysis of the second generation antidepressant venlafaxine and its main active metabolite O-desmethylvenlafaxine in human plasma by HPLC with spectrofluorimetric detection. J Chromatogr B 856:88–94.

- Mercolini L, Mandrioli R, Cazzolla R, Amore M, Raggi MA. 2007. HPLC analysis of the novel antidepressant duloxetine in human plasma after an original solid–phase extraction procedure. J Chromatogr B 856:81–87.
- Pascale P, Oddo M, Pacher P, Augsburger M, Liaudet L. 2005. Severe rhabdomyolysis following venlafaxine overdose. Ther Drug Monit 27:562–564.
- Raskin J, Goldstein DJ, Mallinckrodt CH, Ferguson MB. 2003. Duloxetine in the long-term treatment of major depressive disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 64:1237–1244.
- Raskin J, Wang F, Pritchett YL, Goldstein DJ. 2006. Duloxetine for patients with diabetic peripheral neuropathic pain: a 6-month open-label safety study. Pain Med 7:373–385.
- Sharma A, Goldberg MJ, Cerimele BJ. 2000. Pharmacokinetics and safety of duloxetine, a dual-serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor. J Clin Pharmacol 40:161–167.
- Sweetman SC. 2005. Martindale-The Complete drug reference 34th edition. London: Pharmaceutical Press, p. 261.
- Thase ME, Tran PV, Wietse C, Pangallo BA, Mallinckrodt C, Detke NJ. 2005. Cardiovalscular Profile of Duloxetine, a dual reuptake inhibitor of serotonin and norepineohrine. J Clin Psychopharmacol 25:132–140.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Lithium but not carbamazepine augments antidepressant efficacy of mirtazapine in unipolar depression: An open-label study

CORNELIUS SCHÜLE, THOMAS C. BAGHAI, DANIELA ESER, CAROLINE NOTHDURFTER & RAINER RUPPRECHT

Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Ludwig-Maximilian-University, Munich, Germany

Abstract

Background. The purpose of the present open-label study was to investigate the antidepressant efficacy of lithium and carbamazepine as augmentation strategies in unipolar depressed inpatients. *Method.* Forty-six patients suffering from unipolar depression (major depressive episode according to DSM-IV criteria) were pre-treated with mirtazapine for 2 weeks initially (week -2 to week 0). Thereafter, the patients received either continuation of mirtazapine monotherapy (n = 23), combination treatment with mirtazapine and lithium (n = 13), or combination therapy with mirtazapine and carbamazepine (n = 10) for further 3 weeks (week 0 to week 3). Severity of depression was estimated weekly using the 21-item version of the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (21-HAMD). Response was defined by a reduction of at least 50% in the 21-HAMD sum score after 3 weeks of pharmacotherapy (week 0-3). *Results.* Additional administration of lithium, but not adjunctive carbamazepine significantly augmented the antidepressant efficacy of mirtazapine in the unipolar depressed patients. Moreover, carbamazepine but not lithium significantly lowered the serum concentrations of mirtazapine. *Conclusion.* Whereas the clinical importance of anticonvulsants in the treatment of bipolar disorder is not in doubt, the therapeutic efficacy of antiepileptic drugs such as carbamazepine is obviously limited in the pharmacotherapy of unipolar depression.

Key words: Unipolar depression, mirtazapine, lithium, carbamazepine, augmentation strategies

Introduction

Depression is a highly prevalent disease with significant socioeconomic and quality-of-life implications, yet frequently remains undiagnosed and undertreated in the community (Hirschfeld et al. 1997; Tylee et al. 1999). Up to half of all patients treated for depression do not respond adequately to first-line monotherapy (Nierenberg and Amsterdam 1990). For those patients, various so called secondstep strategies have been proposed (e.g., increasing the dosage of the antidepressant, switching to a new class of antidepressants, combining two antidepressants, augmenting the antidepressant) of which lithium augmentation is considered to be the strategy supported by the best evidence from available research (Bauer et al. 2002).

In the 1970s several small, but controlled studies gave some evidence that the efficacy of lithium monotherapy may be superior to placebo and comparable to established tricyclic antidepressants (Mendels 1976; Souza and Goodwin 1991). Moreover, the clinical use of adding lithium to antidepressant drugs such as tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) or monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAOIs) was already described in 1968 and within the following years (Himmelhoch et al. 1972; O'Flanagan 1973; Zall et al. 1968), but lithium augmentation has not become common for the treatment of acute unipolar depression until the publication of de Montigny and colleagues in 1981 (De Montigny et al. 1981). They reported a dramatic response within 48 h to the addition of lithium in eight patients who had not responded to at least 3 weeks of treatment with tricyclic antidepressants. In the meantime, more than 50 clinical trials of lithium augmentation have been carried out over the past several decades, and most have shown positive effects for lithium augmentation enhancing the therapeutic effects of a broad spectrum of antidepressants (Bschor and Bauer 2006; DeBattista 2006). Bauer and colleagues (Bauer et al. 2003a) recently carried out a systematic review of lithium augmentation studies during the

Correspondence: Cornelius Schüle, MD, Department of Psychiatry, Ludwig-Maximilian-University, Nussbaumstr. 7, 80336 Munich, Germany. Tel: +49 89 5160 5817. Fax: +49 89 5160 5391. E-mail: Cornelius.Schuele@med.uni-muenchen.de

(Received 23 October 2007; accepted 29 November 2007)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970701849978

period from 1966 to 2003 in refractory, mostly unipolar depression. Of 27 prospective trials since 1981, ten were double-blind, placebo-controlled studies, four were randomized comparator studies and 13 were open-label. Overall (summarizing open and controlled data) approximately 50% of patients responded to lithium augmentation, usually within 2 to 6 weeks. In acute treatment trials, the average response rate in the lithium group was 45%, versus 18% in the placebo group (P < 0.001) (Bauer et al. 2003a).

The clinical usefulness of antiepileptic drugs such as carbamazepine, valproate or lamotrigine as mood stabilizers is well established in bipolar disorder (Yatham et al. 2005, 2006). Their acute and prophylactic antimanic properties as well as their efficacy in the maintenance therapy of bipolar disorder in general have been repeatedly shown in controlled trials (Nemeroff 2000). However, the treatment of acute depression is the weakest element in the spectrum of psychiatric efficacy of anticonvulsants (Keck et al. 1998). In particular, studies investigating the use of antiepileptic drugs in unipolar depression are limited and have revealed conflicting results. There are no placebo-controlled studies on the use of valproate in the treatment of acute unipolar depression. However, an open study reports a substantial response rate in unipolar patients receiving valproate (Davis et al. 1996). A small number of retrospective chart reviews (Barbee and Jamhour 2002; Rocha and Hara 2003), openlabel studies (Gabriel 2006; Schindler and Anghelescu 2007), or case reports (Maltese 1999), as well as two small placebo-controlled trials (Normann et al. 2002; Barbosa et al. 2003) provide evidence for some antidepressant efficacy of lamotrigine in unipolar depression. By contrast, in a number of GlaxoSmithKline-sponsored, multicentre, placebocontrolled, randomized trials in patients suffering from acute unipolar depression lamotrigine was not significantly superior to placebo in any of the efficacy measures used (Laurenza et al. 1999; Londborg et al. 1999; DeVeaugh-Geiss et al. 2000). Phenytoin was observed in a small controlled study to be as efficacious as fluoxetine in unipolar depression (Nemets et al. 2005), but was not superior to placebo in unipolar patients in another controlled trial when being added to selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) (Shapira et al. 2006). Moreover, there is some evidence from a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial suggesting topiramate to be an effective agent in the reduction of depressive symptoms in female patient suffering from recurrent major depressive disorder (Nickel et al. 2005). There has also been research into the role of carbamazepine in the management of unipolar depression. In several open-label trials (Wunderlich et al. 1982a,b, 1983; Dietrich and Emrich 1998; Steinacher et al. 2002; Ciusani et al. 2004), retrospective chart reviews (Cullen et al. 1991), and case series (Prasad 1985; Schaffer et al. 1985; Schneier and Kahn 1990; De la Fuente and Mendlewicz 1992; Feiner 1997), some antidepressant effects of carbamazepine were reported. Moreover, in several controlled trials carbamazepine was found to possess comparable antidepressant effects as compared to trimipramine (Neumann et al. 1984), imipramine (Sethi and Tiwari 1984), or lithium (Rybakowski et al. 1999) and to be more efficacious in the treatment of acute depression than placebo (Post et al. 1986). However, the sample sizes of the active comparator trials were rather small having the risk of a type-II error and disallowing firm interpretations. In addition, in all controlled studies investigating putative antidepressant effects of carbamazepine a mixed population consisting of both bipolar and unipolar depressed patients was included. Since in most carbamazepine trials bipolar patients were the majority, and since carbamazepine was demonstrated to have more antidepressant efficaciousness in bipolar than in unipolar depressive disorders (Ballenger 1988), the significance of these findings in carbamazepine for unipolar depression is very limited.

In the present open-label study, the antidepressant efficacy of lithium and carbamazepine as augmentation strategies was investigated in unipolar depressed inpatients pre-treated with mirtazapine. This is the first trial comparing adjunctive lithium and carbamazepine in patients exclusively suffering from unipolar depression.

Materials and methods

Patients

Forty-six drug-free depressed inpatients (14 men, 32 women) aged between 22 and 71 years (mean age 50.78 ± 12.27 years) entered the study after the procedures had been fully explained and written informed consent had been obtained. The patients were the same who had been reported in former trials of our research group investigating the impact of mirtazapine, lithium and carbamazepine on the concentrations of neuroactive steroids (Schule et al. 2006, 2007). All patients entered the study after the procedures had been fully explained and written informed consent had been obtained. The patients were diagnosed by experienced and trained psychiatrists according to DSM-IV criteria using the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV, German version (Wittchen et al. 1997). Inclusion criteria

392 C. Schüle et al.

for the depressed patients were: (a) a major depressive episode according to DSM-IV criteria (bipolar disorder not included); (b) a sum score of at least 18 on the 21-item version of the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (21-HAMD) (Hamilton 1960); (c) exclusion of major medical disorders, availability of normal laboratory parameters, normal blood pressure, normal electrocardiogram, and normal encephalogram; (d) exclusion of addiction or other comorbid psychiatric diagnoses; (e) no other psychotropic drugs than the study medication for at least 5 days before and throughout the study with the exception of chloralhydrate in case of sleep difficulties; (f) exclusion of pregnancy or use of oral contraceptives. Further clinical characteristics are given in Table I.

Study design

After admission to hospital and after a 5-day washout period, all depressed patients were treated with mirtazapine at a standard dosage of 45 mg/day for 2 weeks (week -2 up to week 0) to achieve steady state conditions of this antidepressant before optional additional administration of lithium or carbamazepine. After being treated with a stable dosage of mirtazapine for 2 weeks, the patients were subdivided into three different treatment groups for the following 3 weeks (week 0-3): half of the patients were treated with mirtazapine monotherapy at a dosage of 45 mg/day (group 1, n = 23), another half received combination treatment with mirtazapine (45 mg/day) on the one hand and either lithium (group 2, n = 13) or carbamazepine (group 3, n =10) on the other hand. In case of sleep difficulties, chloralhydrate (up to 1000 mg/day) was allowed as concomitant medication. The allocation to the treatment groups (monotherapy versus combination treatment) was carried out at the discretion of the doctor in attendance considering individual contraindications in the patients with regard to additional lithium or carbamazepine. The dosages of lithium and carbamazepine were not predefined but were adapted according to clinical requirements to reach

Table I. Pre-treatment, clinical and demographic data in depressed patients treated with mirtazapine monotherapy (n = 23), combination therapy with mirtazapine and lithium (n = 13), or combination therapy with mirtazapine and carbamazepine (n = 10). Each patient of the combination therapy groups was treated with mirtazapine monotherapy for 2 weeks (week -2 up to week 0) before adding lithium or carbamazepine (week 0-3). Data represent mean \pm SD.

	Mirtazapine monotherapy $(n=23)$	Mirtazapine + lithium $(n=13)$	Mirtazapine + carbamazepine $(n = 10)$
First depressive episode	3 out of 23	2 out of 13	2 out of 10
No pretreatment	5	4	3
Tricyclics	8	4	3
SSRIs	6	3	1
Reboxetine	1	1	2
Venlafaxine	1	0	1
St. John's wort	2	1	0
TRD before trial	5 out of 23	3 out of 13	3 out of 10
Gender	4M, 19F	6M, 7F	4M, 6F
Age (years)	52.26 ± 11.92	45.92 ± 13.47	53.70 ± 10.67
Height (cm)	166.70 ± 8.90	170.08 ± 8.21	170.50 ± 8.85
weight (kg)	72.48 ± 14.86	73.88 ± 16.12	74.03 ± 15.42
MAP at baseline (mmHg)	99.74 ± 9.62	100.64 ± 11.83	99.90 ± 6.81
Age of onset (years)	41.26 ± 11.77	35.54 ± 13.85	35.10 ± 18.79
Number of episodes	5.09 ± 4.55	4.08 ± 3.52	6.50 ± 6.29
$C_{[mir]}$ week 0 (nmol/l)	279.85 ± 120.93	255.94 ± 80.41	281.84 ± 103.67
C _[mir] week 3 (nmol/l)	297.33 ± 127.70	256.11 ± 97.11	149.65 ± 70.88
Dosage of lithium, week 3 (mg/day)	_	917.31 ± 144.12	_
C _[lithium] week 3 (mmol/l)	_	0.71 ± 0.13	_
Dose of carbamazepine, week 3 (mg/day)	_	_	370.00 ± 67.49
C _[carbamazepine] week 3 (µmol/l)	_	_	32.39 ± 8.16
21-HAMD week -2	26.26 ± 4.05	29.08 ± 5.91	28.00 ± 7.15
21-HAMD week 0	19.48 ± 5.16	21.31 ± 8.74	17.90 ± 9.30
21-HAMD week 1	15.61 ± 6.04	17.38 ± 10.07	17.80 ± 8.74
21-HAMD week 2	14.48 ± 6.29	15.31 ± 10.49	16.80 ± 9.54
21-HAMD week 3	13.83 ± 7.20	12.62 ± 11.01	15.10 ± 10.40
Duration of inpatient status (days)	67.96 ± 30.62	66.62 ± 21.68	89.50 ± 45.93

TRD, treatment-resistant depression (>2 treatment failures before entering the trial). M, males; F, females; MAP, mean arterial blood pressure. $C_{\text{[mir]}}$, $C_{\text{[ithium]}}$, $C_{\text{[carbamazepine]}}$, serum concentrations of mirtazapine (nmol/l), lithium (mmol/l), or carbamazepine (µmol/l).

the intended blood levels in the patients of the combination therapy groups (target levels: lithium 0.5-1.0 mmol/l; carbamazepine 20-40 µmol/l). Before lithium augmentation, normal TSH and thyroid hormone levels, regular renal function (including normal creatinine clearance) and normal cervical circumference (exclusion of pre-existing struma) were established. After completion of the study period (week 3), the depressed patients were treated ad libitum according to routine clinical requirements. Further details of the treatment design are outlined in Figure 1.

Severity of depression was estimated at baseline (week -2) and weekly within the actual study period (week 0–3) using the 21-HAMD in the morning between 09:00 and 11:00 h. In each patient, the same rater was used throughout the whole study period. All raters were experienced psychiatrists. Treatment resistant depression (TRD) before entering the study was defined as failure to respond to at least two trials of antidepressants at an adequate dose and duration from at least two different classes (Ananth 1998).

The study was carried out according to the Declaration of Helsinki (http://www.wma.net) and had been approved by a local ethics committee (intramural review panel of the Ludwig-Maximilian-University of Munich, Faculty of Medicine).

Measurement of mirtazapine, lithium, and carbamazepine serum concentrations

At weeks 0 and 3, the mirtazapine concentrations were determined using blood samples drawn at 08:00 h. The detection of mirtazapine was accomplished via an isocratic reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) separation and ultraviolet (UV) detection at 214 nm as described earlier (Schule et al. 2006). The limits of quantification were 2.5 ng/ml for mirtazapine. SI units (nmol/l) were calculated considering the molecular weight of mirtazapine (molecular weight of mirtazapine: 265.36).

Lithium serum levels were measured by flame photometry using an EFOX 5053 (Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany). Carbamazepine levels were determined by use of CEDIA Carbamazepine assay on a Roche/Hitachi 912 analyser (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany).

Statistical analysis

Homogeneity in demographic variables at baseline between the three treatment groups was analyzed by the Chi-square test for contingency tables with respect to qualitative variables (gender; type of previous medication subdivided into no medication, tricyclics, SSRIs, or other antidepressants) or by



Figure 1. Flow chart of the study design. *Two dropouts in the carbamazepine group.

one-way ANOVA procedure with regard to quantitative variables (age, height, weight, mean arterial blood pressure, age of onset of the depressive disease, number of hitherto existing episodes, 21-HAMD sum score on week -2 and week 0). All patients who were subjected to the statistical analysis participated in the study up to the end of the observation period (week 3). Moreover, one-way ANOVA was employed to compare mirtazapine concentrations at baseline (week 0) and at week 3 between the three treatment groups.

The primary efficacy variable was the change in the 21-HAMD sum score between week 0 (baseline) and week 3 (end of study period). Clinical response was defined by a reduction of at least 50% in the 21-HAMD sum score after 3 weeks of pharmacotherapy (week 0–3). Response rates were compared between mirtazapine monotherapy and lithium augmentation and also between mirtazapine monotherapy and augmentative treatment with carbamazepine using the Chi-square test for contingency tables, respectively.

As a nominal level of significance, $\alpha = 0.05$ was accepted. The software program SPSS version 14.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used for data analysis.

Results

At baseline, patients receiving mirtazapine monotherapy (group 1), additional lithium (group 2), or additional carbamazepine (group 3) did not differ significantly with regard to proportion of treatment resistant depressives ($\chi^2 = 0.268$; df = 2; P = 0.874), gender distribution ($\chi^2 = 3.798$; df = 2; P = 0.150) or type of pre-treatment ($\chi^2 = 1.975$; df = 6; P = 0.922) (Table I). Moreover, one-way ANOVA did not reveal any baseline differences between the treatment groups with respect to age (F = 1.503; df = 2, 43; P = 0.234), height (F = 0.972; df = 2, 43; P =0.387), weight (F = 0.053; df = 2, 43; P = 0.948), mean arterial blood pressure (F = 0.036; df = 2, 43; P = 0.964), age of onset of the depressive disease (F=1.016; df=2, 43; P=0.371), number of episodes (F=0.743; df=2, 43; P=0.482), 21-HAMD sum score on week -2 (F = 1.213; df = 2, 43; P =0.307), and 21-HAMD sum score on week 0 (F =0.632; df = 2, 43; P = 0.537) (Table I). At baseline, the mirtazapine levels were comparable between the three treatment groups (Table I; F = 0.244; df = 2, 43; P=0.784). However, there was a highly significant difference in mirtazapine concentrations between the three groups at week 3 (F = 6.325; df = 2, 43; P = 0.004). Post-hoc tests demonstrated significantly lower mirtazapine levels after additional administration of carbamazepine as compared to

mirtazapine monotherapy (P=0.003), whereas the mirtazapine levels in the monotherapy group and the lithium group were comparable at week 3 (P=0.854), suggesting a lowering effect of carbamazepine on the mirtazapine concentrations (Table I).

During the 2-week initial treatment with mirtazapine (week -2 to week 0), the majority of patients experienced sedation, in particular within the first days of therapy. Otherwise, mirtazapine was well tolerated throughout the whole study period. With regard to patients receiving combination of mirtazapine and lithium, one patient complained about fine hand tremor to moderate degree which persisted up to week 3, but did not necessitate premature termination of the study. In one further patient, a mild lid oedema was observed after addition of lithium which disappeared after 1 week of adjunctive treatment. Moreover, one female patient reported a moderate weight gain during combination treatment with mirtazapine and lithium, but agreed to further participate in the study up to week 3. In all other cases, lithium augmentation was well tolerated without any clinically relevant side effects. In the carbamazepine group, two patients were dropouts after a few days of adjunctive carbamazepine therapy because of marked sedation, dizziness and nausea and are not reported in the evaluation of the clinical parameters. Out of the 10 patients treated with additional carbamazepine for 3 weeks, three patients reported moderate, but tolerable sedation. Moreover, one patient out of the carbamazepine group indicated mild and transient disturbances of accommodation during the first week of carbamazepine treatment which were no longer obvious for the remaining treatment period. In one patient a moderate increase of liver enzymes was seen which was not clinically significant and allowed continuation of pharmacotherapy. In other respects, adjunctive carbamazepine was tolerated without adverse effects of clinical significance.

During the study period (week 0-3), 21.7% (5 out of 23) of the patients receiving mirtazapine monotherapy (group 1) showed a clinical response (more than 50% reduction in the 21-HAMD sum score), whereas 53.8% (7 out of 13) of the patients treated with mirtazapine and additional lithium (group 2) and 20.0% (2 out of 10) of the patients receiving mirtazapine and additional carbamazepine (group 3) were responders. Moreover, these different response rates were also reflected by diverse amounts of 21-HAMD sum score reductions between week 0 and 3 (group 1: -5.65; group 2: -8.69; group 3: -2.80), being the highest in patients treated with additional lithium and the lowest in patients receiving additional carbamazepine (Figure 2). Using the Chi Square test for contingency tables, additional administration of lithium ($\chi^2 = 3.853$; df = 1; P = 0.050), but not of carbamazepine ($\chi^2 = 0.013$; df = 1; P = 0.911) significantly enhanced the response rates as compared to mirtazapine monotherapy (Figure 3). It is also remarkable that patients receiving additional carbamazepine treatment were prone to have a longer stay in the psychiatric hospital (89.50 ± 45.93 days) than patients of the monotherapy group (67.96 ± 30.62 days) or of the lithium group (66.62 ± 21.68 days), although this observation did not reach statistical significance (one-way ANOVA: F = 1.812; df = 2, 43; P = 0.176).

Discussion

The main result of our study is the finding that additional administration of lithium, but not adjunctive carbamazepine augments the antidepressant efficacy of mirtazapine in unipolar depressed patients. Most patients included in the present trial were not treatment-refractory and already showed some improvement within the first 2 weeks of initial mirtazapine monotherapy (week -2 to week 0). Apparently, lithium augmentation is not only useful in treatment-resistant depression as it has been demonstrated in a substantial number of randomized controlled trials (Bauer et al. 2003a), but also enhances the amelioration of depressive symptoms in non-refractory, partially improved depressed patients. According to our results, the additive



Figure 2. 21-HAMD sum score reduction in depressed patients during treatment with mirtazapine monotherapy (n = 23), combination treatment with mirtazapine and lithium (n = 13), and combination treatment with mirtazapine and carbamazepine (n = 10), expressed as differences versus baseline (week 0). Means ±SEM are indicated. Mono, mirtazapine monotherapy; Li, mirtazapine +lithium; Carb, mirtazapine + carbamazepine.



Figure 3. Proportion of non-responders and responders (%) in depressed patients treated with mirtazapine monotherapy (n = 23), combination treatment with mirtazapine and lithium (n = 13), and combination treatment with mirtazapine and carbamazepine (n = 10). *Significant result in the χ^2 -test compared to mirtazapine monotherapy (P < 0.05). NR, non-responders; R, responders; Mono, mirtazapine monotherapy; Li, mirtazapine + lithium; Carb, mirtazapine+carbamazepine.

antidepressant effect of lithium already begins 2 weeks after the initiation of adjunctive lithium administration. Moreover, our patient sample was restricted to unipolar depression. Whereas the efficacy of lithium augmentation in the treatment of acute unipolar depression is well documented (Katona et al. 1995; Bauer et al. 2003a; Bschor and Bauer 2006), the effectiveness of adjunctive lithium is still a matter of debate in the therapy of acute bipolar depression. Since only 6% of patients in the trials included in the meta-analysis of Bauer and colleagues (Bauer et al. 2003a) were reported to have bipolar depression, no firm conclusions can be drawn from double-blind, controlled studies as to whether depressed patients suffering from bipolar disorder respond differently to lithium augmentation than patients with unipolar depression do (Bauer et al. 2003b). Although two uncontrolled trials demonstrated even better antidepressant effects of lithium augmentation in bipolar depression than in unipolar depression (Nelson and Mazure 1986; Rybakowski and Matkowski 1992), randomized controlled studies in bipolar depressed patients are warranted.

Lithium has been found to augment the therapeutic effects of a broad spectrum of antidepressants (De Montigny 1994; Bauer 1995; Baumann et al. 1996; Zullino and Baumann 2001). With regard to mirtazapine, successful pharmacotherapy of treatment-refractory depression using the combination of mirtazapine and lithium was described in a case report (Moustgaard 2000). However, in a randomized, but open-label study comparing the efficacy of lithium addition in imipramine- and mirtazapinetreated depressed patients, the combination of imipramine and lithium was superior to the same treatment strategy with mirtazapine, but more serious side effects were observed in imipramine (Bruijn et al. 1998). In our study, combination treatment with mirtazapine and lithium was clinically effective and was in general well tolerated, although some patients sporadically complaint about lithium's well-known side effects (Rouillon and Gorwood 1998; Freeman and Freeman 2006), such as fine hand tremor or weight gain. Our finding that the mirtazapine levels remained stable after addition of lithium is in line with a former study suggesting lithium not to alter the pharmacokinetics of mirtazapine (Sitsen et al. 2000).

The neurobiological basis of the mechanism of action of lithium augmentation involves in particular a lithium-induced enhancing effect on serotonin function (Bschor and Bauer 2006). In humans, this assumption is supported by neuroendocrinological challenge test showing that additional administration of lithium increases both the prolactin response to ltryptophan in patients receiving tricyclic antidepressants (Cowen et al. 1991) and the cortisol and ACTH secretion during the dexamethasone/CRH test in depressed patients treated with different antidepressants (Bschor et al. 2002), probably via serotonergic mechanisms. It is not clear whether the response to adjunctive lithium is a pure augmentative interaction effect, resulting from a specific pharmacological interaction between lithium and the antidepressant (e.g., in our trial enhancing the impact of mirtazapine on serotonergic transmission), or whether it is simply the antidepressant effect of lithium alone which has been shown in a series of controlled studies in the 1970s (Mendels 1976; Souza and Goodwin 1991) and which may additively enhance the efficacy of the respective antidepressant.

In contrast to lithium, adjunctive carbamazepine did not improve the antidepressant efficacy of mirtazapine in our study but even tended to rather deteriorate the depressive symptomatology as compared to mirtazapine monotherapy. Moreover, two out of 12 patients treated with carbamazepine were dropouts due to side effects (especially sedation, dizziness and nausea). Our results support the view that anticonvulsants are of limited clinical usefulness in unipolar depression and point to the fact that clinical and pathophysiological distinctions between bipolar and unipolar depression are also reflected by a different responsiveness to antiepileptic drugs (Bowden 2005). There is some evidence that anticonvulsants such as valproate (Calabrese et al. 1992; Winsberg et al. 2001; Davis et al. 2005), lamotrigine (Walden et al. 1996; Fogelson and Sternbach 1997; Kusumakar and Yatham 1997; Sporn and Sachs 1997; Calabrese et al. 1999a,b; Suppes et al. 1999; Frye et al. 2000; Van der Loos and Nolen 2006), topiramate (McIntyre et al. 2002), or carbamazepine (Ballenger and Post 1980; Post et al. 1986; Yatham et al. 1997) may be useful in the treatment of bipolar depressed patients. In particular lamotrigine has been demonstrated to be effective in acute bipolar depression with a low risk for switching into mania and is therefore regarded as one of the first-line treatment options in this disease (Yatham et al. 2006, 2005). However, in unipolar depressed patients placebo-controlled trials with sufficient methodological quality testing augmentation strategies with antiepileptic drugs such as carbamazepine or others are lacking (Coryell 2000). Therefore, augmentation with carbamazepine can not be recommended as well proven or high-level evidencebased treatment option in clinical guidelines for unipolar depression (Bauer et al. 2002). Moreover, it has been concluded that carbamazepine is less effective in unipolar depression than established antidepressants and that its use is only justifiable as an experimental pharmacotherapy option when other treatments have failed (Elphick 1989).

One reason for the lacking antidepressant efficacy of carbamazepine in our study may involve pharmacokinetic interactions between mirtazapine and carbamazepine. Carbamazepine has been shown to induce cytochrome P450 isoforms such as CYP1A2, CYP3A4, and others (Ketter et al. 1999; Patsalos and Perucca 2003). The biotransformation of mirtazapine is mainly mediated by the CYP2D6, CYP1A2, and CYP3A4 isoenzymes (Stormer et al. 2000; Timmer et al. 2000). Moreover, in young males, a 60% decrease in mirtazapine levels was found when carbamazepine was added to mirtazapine at steady-state conditions (Ebes et al. 1998; Timmer et al. 2000). In line with this finding, in the present investigation the additional administration of carbamazepine significantly lowered the mirtazapine levels up to the end of the study period, which may at least in part account for the absence of clinical improvement after addition of carbamazepine. This is obviously also true for other antidepressant drugs, since many clinical trials or case series report on a carbamazepine provoked decrease of plasma or serum concentrations of tricyclic antidepressants such as nortriptyline (Brosen and Kragh-Sorensen 1993) or desipramine (Spina et al. 1995), and of SSRIs such as sertraline (Khan et al. 2000), fluvoxamine (Martinelli et al. 1993; Spina et al. 1993), fluoxetine (Spina et al. 1993), nefazodone (Laroudie et al. 2000), citalopram (Leinonen et al. 1996; Steinacher et al. 2002) and mianserin (Eap et al. 1999).

Although the conclusions which can be drawn from the present study are restricted due to the open-label, non-randomized design, our results suggest that lithium but not carbamazepine augments the antidepressant efficacy of mirtazapine in unipolar depressed patients. Whereas the clinical importance of anticonvulsants in the treatment of bipolar disorder is undoubtful, the therapeutic efficacy of antiepileptic drugs such as carbamazepine is obviously limited in the pharmacotherapy of unipolar depression.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

References

- Ananth J. 1998. Treatment-resistant depression. Psychother. Psychosom. 67:61–70.
- Ballenger JC. 1988. The clinical use of carbamazepine in affective disorders. J Clin Psychiatry 49 Suppl:13–21.
- Ballenger JC, Post RM. 1980. Carbamazepine in manic-depressive illness: a new treatment. Am J Psychiatry 137:782–790.
- Barbee JG, Jamhour NJ. 2002. Lamotrigine as an augmentation agent in treatment-resistant depression. J Clin Psychiatry 63:737–741.
- Barbosa L, Berk M, Vorster M. 2003. A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial of augmentation with lamotrigine or placebo in patients concomitantly treated with fluoxetine for resistant major depressive episodes. J Clin Psychiatry 64:403–407.
- Bauer M. 1995. The combined use of lithium and SSRIs. J Serotonin Res 2:69–76.
- Bauer M, Whybrow PC, Angst J, Versiani M, Moller HJ. 2002.
 World Federation of Societies of Biological Psychiatry (WFSBP) Guidelines for Biological Treatment of Unipolar Depressive Disorders, Part 1: Acute and continuation treatment of major depressive disorder. World J Biol Psychiatry 3: 5–43.
- Bauer M, Adli M, Baethge C, Berghofer A, Sasse J, Heinz A, et al. 2003a. Lithium augmentation therapy in refractory depression: clinical evidence and neurobiological mechanisms. Can J Psychiatry 48:440–448.
- Bauer M, Forsthoff A, Baethge C, Adli M, Berghofer A, Dopfmer S, et al. 2003b. Lithium augmentation therapy in refractory depression-update 2002. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 253:132–139.
- Baumann P, Nil R, Souche A, Montaldi S, Baettig D, Lambert S, et al. 1996. A double-blind, placebo-controlled study of citalopram with and without lithium in the treatment of therapy-resistant depressive patients: a clinical, pharmacokinetic, and pharmacogenetic investigation. J Clin Psychopharmacol 16:307–314.

- Bowden CL. 2005. A different depression: clinical distinctions between bipolar and unipolar depression. J Affect Disord 84:117–125.
- Brosen K, Kragh-Sorensen P. 1993. Concomitant intake of nortriptyline and carbamazepine. Ther Drug Monit 15:258– 260.
- Bruijn JA, Moleman P, Mulder PG, van den Broek WW. 1998. Comparison of 2 treatment strategies for depressed inpatients: imipramine and lithium addition or mirtazapine and lithium addition. J Clin Psychiatry 59:657–663.
- Bschor T, Bauer M. 2006. Efficacy and mechanisms of action of lithium augmentation in refractory major depression. Curr Pharm Des 12:2985–2992.
- Bschor T, Adli M, Baethge C, Eichmann U, Ising M, Uhr M, et al. 2002. Lithium augmentation increases the ACTH and cortisol response in the combined DEX/CRH test in unipolar major depression. Neuropsychopharmacology 27:470–478.
- Calabrese JR, Markovitz PJ, Kimmel SE, Wagner SC. 1992. Spectrum of efficacy of valproate in 78 rapid-cycling bipolar patients. J Clin Psychopharmacol 12:538–568.
- Calabrese JR, Bowden CL, McElroy SL, Cookson J, Andersen J, Keck PE, Jr., et al. 1999a. Spectrum of activity of lamotrigine in treatment-refractory bipolar disorder. Am J Psychiatry 156:1019–1023.
- Calabrese JR, Bowden CL, Sachs GS, Ascher JA, Monaghan E, Rudd GD. 1999b. A double-blind placebo-controlled study of lamotrigine monotherapy in outpatients with bipolar I depression. Lamictal 602 Study Group. J Clin Psychiatry 60:79–88.
- Ciusani E, Zullino DF, Eap CB, Brawand-Amey M, Brocard M, Baumann P. 2004. Combination therapy with venlafaxine and carbamazepine in depressive patients not responding to venlafaxine: pharmacokinetic and clinical aspects. J Psychopharmacol 18:559–566.
- Coryell W. 2000. Augmentation strategies for inadequate antidepressant response: a review of placebo-controlled studies. Ann Clin Psychiatry 12:141–146.
- Cowen PJ, McCance SL, Ware CJ, Cohen PR, Chalmers JS, Julier DL. 1991. Lithium in tricyclic-resistant depression. Correlation of increased brain 5-HT function with clinical outcome. Br J Psychiatry 159:341–346.
- Cullen M, Mitchell P, Brodaty H, Boyce P, Parker G, Hickie I, et al. 1991. Carbamazepine for treatment-resistant melancholia. J Clin Psychiatry 52:472–476.
- Davis LL, Kabel D, Patel D, et al. 1996. Valproate as an antidepressant in major depressive disorder. Psychopharmacol Bull 32:647–652.
- Davis LL, Bartolucci A, Petty F. 2005. Divalproex in the treatment of bipolar depression: a placebo-controlled study. J Affect Disord 85:259–266.
- De la Fuente JM, Mendlewicz J. 1992. Carbamazepine addition in tricyclic antidepressant-resistant unipolar depression. Biol Psychiatry 32:369–374.
- De Montigny C. 1994. Lithium addition in treatment-resistant depression. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 9 (Suppl 2):31–35.
- De Montigny C, Grunberg F, Mayer A, Deschenes JP. 1981. Lithium induces rapid relief of depression in tricyclic antidepressant drug non-responders. Br J Psychiatry 138:252–256.
- DeBattista C. 2006. Augmentation and combination strategies for depression. J Psychopharmacol 20:11–18.
- DeVeaugh-Geiss J, Ascher J, Brook S, Cedrone J, Earl N, Emsley R, et al. 2000. Safety and tolerability of lamotrigine in controlled monotherapy trials in mood disorders. Presented at the 39th Annual ACNP Meeting, December 10–14, San Juan, Puerto Rico.
- Dietrich DE, Emrich HM. 1998. The use of anticonvulsants to augment antidepressant medication. J Clin Psychiatry 59(Suppl 5):51–58.

- Eap CB, Yasui N, Kaneko S, Baumann P, Powell K, Otani K. 1999. Effects of carbamazepine coadministration on plasma concentrations of the enantiomers of mianserin and of its metabolites. Ther Drug Monit 21:166–170.
- Ebes F, Van Lookeren-Campagne AM, Hartmans HLA. 1998. A phase I, single center, single-blind, placebo-controlled multiple dose study of the interaction between Org 3770 and carbamazepine in healthy male volunteers. Study 22514, Report No. NL 0003854, Oss: N. V. Organon (Data on file).
- Elphick M. 1989. Clinical issues in the use of carbamazepine in psychiatry: a review. Psychol Med 19:591–604.
- Feiner NF. 1997. Antiepileptic drug augmentation for treatmentresistant depression. J Clin Psychiatry 58:361–363.
- Fogelson DL, Sternbach H. 1997. Lamotrigine treatment of refractory bipolar disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 58:271–273.
- Freeman MP, Freeman SA. 2006. Lithium: clinical considerations in internal medicine. Am J Med 119:478–481.
- Frye MA, Ketter TA, Kimbrell TA, Dunn RT, Speer AM, Osuch EA, et al. 2000. A placebo-controlled study of lamotrigine and gabapentin monotherapy in refractory mood disorders. J Clin Psychopharmacol 20:607–614.
- Gabriel A. 2006. Lamotrigine adjunctive treatment in resistant unipolar depression: an open, descriptive study. Depress. Anxiety 23:485–488.
- Hamilton M. 1960. A rating scale for depression. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 23:56–62.
- Himmelhoch JM, Detre T, Kupfer DJ, Swartzburg M, Byck R. 1972. Treatment of previously intractable depressions with tranylcypromine and lithium. J Nerv Ment Dis 155:216–220.
- Hirschfeld RM, Keller MB, Panico S, Arons BS, Barlow D, Davidoff F, et al. 1997. The National Depressive and Manic-Depressive Association consensus statement on the undertreatment of depression. JAMA 277:333–340.
- Katona CL, Abou-Saleh MT, Harrison DA, Nairac BA, Edwards DR, Lock T, et al. 1995. Placebo-controlled trial of lithium augmentation of fluoxetine and lofepramine. Br J Psychiatry 166:80–86.
- Keck PE, Jr., McElroy SL, Strakowski SM. 1998. Anticonvulsants and antipsychotics in the treatment of bipolar disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 59 (Suppl 6):74–81.
- Ketter TA, Frye MA, Cora-Locatelli G, Kimbrell TA, Post RM. 1999. Metabolism and excretion of mood stabilizers and new anticonvulsants. Cell Mol Neurobiol 19:511–532.
- Khan A, Shad MU, Preskorn SH. 2000. Lack of sertraline efficacy probably due to an interaction with carbamazepine. J Clin Psychiatry 61:526–527.
- Kusumakar V, Yatham LN. 1997. An open study of lamotrigine in refractory bipolar depression. Psychiatry Res 72:145–148.
- Laroudie C, Salazar DE, Cosson JP, Cheuvart B, Istin B, Girault J, et al. 2000. Carbamazepine-nefazodone interaction in healthy subjects. J Clin Psychopharmacol 20:46–53.
- Laurenza A, Asnis G, Beaman M. 1999. A double-blind placebocontrolled study supporting the efficacy of lamotrigine in unipolar depression. Bipolar Disord 1:39–40.
- Leinonen E, Lepola U, Koponen H. 1996. Substituting carbamazepine with oxcarbazepine increases citalopram levels. A report on two cases. Pharmacopsychiatry 29:156–158.
- Londborg PD, Cutler NR, Cunningham LA, Haines FX, Pahl JJ, West SA. 1999. A double-blind, placebo-controlled study suuporting the efficacy of lamotrigine in unipolar depression. Poster presented at the American Psychiatric Association Annual Meeting, May 15–20, Washington, DC. (SCAA2011 [613]).
- Maltese TM. 1999. Adjunctive lamotrigine treatment for major depression. Am J Psychiatry 156:1833.

- Martinelli V, Bocchetta A, Palmas AM, Del Zompo M. 1993. An interaction between carbamazepine and fluvoxamine. Br J Clin Pharmacol 36:615–616.
- McIntyre RS, Mancini DA, McCann S, Srinivasan J, Sagman D, Kennedy SH. 2002. Topiramate versus bupropion SR when added to mood stabilizer therapy for the depressive phase of bipolar disorder: a preliminary single-blind study. Bipolar Disord 4:207–213.
- Mendels J. 1976. Lithium in the treatment of depression. Am J Psychiatry 133:373–378.
- Moustgaard G. 2000. Treatment-refractory depression successfully treated with the combination of mirtazapine and lithium. J Clin Psychopharmacol 20:268.
- Nelson JC, Mazure CM. 1986. Lithium augmentation in psychotic depression refractory to combined drug treatment. Am J Psychiatry 143:363–366.
- Nemeroff CB. 2000. An ever-increasing pharmacopoeia for the management of patients with bipolar disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 61 (Supp 13):19–25.
- Nemets B, Bersudsky Y, Belmaker RH. 2005. Controlled doubleblind trial of phenytoin vs. fluoxetine in major depressive disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 66:586–590.
- Neumann J, Seidel K, Wunderlich H. 1984. Comparative studies of the effect of carbamazepine and trimipramine in depression. In: Emrich, HM, Okuma, T, Muller, AA (Eds.), Anticonvulsants in affective disorders Elsevier, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, pp. 160–166.
- Nickel C, Lahmann C, Tritt K, Muehlbacher M, Kaplan P, Kettler C, et al. 2005. Topiramate in treatment of depressive and anger symptoms in female depressive patients: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Affect Disord 87:243–252.
- Nierenberg AA, Amsterdam JD. 1990. Treatment-resistant depression: definition and treatment approaches. J Clin Psychiatry 51 (Suppl):39–47.
- Normann C, Hummel B, Scharer LO, Horn M, Grunze H, Walden J. 2002. Lamotrigine as adjunct to paroxetine in acute depression: a placebo-controlled, double-blind study. J Clin Psychiatry 63:337–344.
- O'Flanagan PM. 1973. Letter: Clomipramine infusion and lithium carbonate: a synergistic effect? Lancet 2:974.
- Patsalos PN, Perucca E. 2003. Clinically important drug interactions in epilepsy: general features and interactions between antiepileptic drugs. Lancet Neurol 2:347–356.
- Post RM, Uhde TW, Roy-Byrne PP, Joffe RT. 1986. Antidepressant effects of carbamazepine. Am J Psychiatry 143:29–34.
- Prasad AJ. 1985. Efficacy of carbamazepine as an antidepressant in chronic resistant depressives. J Indian Med Assoc 83:235– 237.
- Rocha FL, Hara C. 2003. Lamotrigine augmentation in unipolar depression. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 18:97–99.
- Rouillon F, Gorwood P. 1998. The use of lithium to augment antidepressant medication. J Clin Psychiatry 59 (Suppl 5): 32–39.
- Rybakowski J, Matkowski K. 1992. Adding lithium to antidepressant therapy: factors related to therapeutic potentiation. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 2:161–165.
- Rybakowski JK, Suwalska A, Chlopocka-Wozniak M. 1999. Potentiation of antidepressants with lithium or carbamazepine in treatment-resistant depression. Neuropsychobiology 40: 134–139.
- Schaffer CB, Mungas D, Rockwell E. 1985. Successful treatment of psychotic depression with carbamazepine. J Clin Psychopharmacol 5:233–235.
- Schindler F, Anghelescu IG. 2007. Lithium versus lamotrigine augmentation in treatment resistant unipolar depression: a

randomized, open-label study. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 22:179–182.

- Schneier HA, Kahn D. 1990. Selective response to carbamazepine in a case of organic mood disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 51:485.
- Schule C, Romeo E, Uzunov DP, et al. 2006. Influence of mirtazapine on plasma concentrations of neuroactive steroids in major depression and on 3alpha-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase activity. Mol Psychiatry 11:261–272.
- Schule C, Baghai TC, Di Michele F, et al. 2007. Effects of combination treatment with mood stabilizers and mirtazapine on plasma concentrations of neuroactive steroids in depressed patients. Psychoneuroendocrinology 32:669–680.
- Sethi BB, Tiwari SC. 1984. Carbamazepine in affective disorders. In: Emrich,HM, Okuma,T, Muller,AA (Eds.), Anticonvulsants in affective disorders Elsevier, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, pp. 167–176.
- Shapira B, Nemets B, Trachtenberg A, Belmaker RH. 2006. Phenytoin as an augmentation for SSRI failures: a small controlled study. J Affect Disord 96:123–126.
- Sitsen JM, Voortman G, Timmer CJ. 2000. Pharmacokinetics of mirtazapine and lithium in healthy male subjects. J Psychopharmacol 14:172–176.
- Souza FG, Goodwin GM. 1991. Lithium treatment and prophylaxis in unipolar depression: a meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 158:666–675.
- Spina E, Avenoso A, Pollicino AM, Caputi AP, Fazio A, Pisani F. 1993. Carbamazepine coadministration with fluoxetine or fluoxamine. Ther Drug Monit 15:247–250.
- Spina E, Avenoso A, Campo GM, Caputi AP, Perucca E. 1995. The effect of carbamazepine on the 2-hydroxylation of desipramine. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 117:413–416.
- Sporn J, Sachs G. 1997. The anticonvulsant lamotrigine in treatment-resistant manic-depressive illness. J Clin Psychopharmacol 17:185–189.
- Steinacher L, Vandel P, Zullino DF, Eap CB, Brawand-Amey M, Baumann P. 2002. Carbamazepine augmentation in depressive patients non-responding to citalopram: a pharmacokinetic and clinical pilot study. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 12:255–260.
- Stormer E, von Moltke LL, Shader RI, Greenblatt DJ. 2000. Metabolism of the antidepressant mirtazapine in vitro: contribution of cytochromes P-450 1A2, 2D6, and 3A4. Drug Metab Dispos 28:1168–1175.
- Suppes T, Brown ES, McElroy SL, Keck PE, Jr., Nolen W, Kupka R, et al. 1999. Lamotrigine for the treatment of bipolar disorder: a clinical case series. J Affect Disord 53:95–98.
- Timmer CJ, Sitsen JM, Delbressine LP. 2000. Clinical pharmacokinetics of mirtazapine. Clin Pharmacokinet 38:461–474.

- Tylee A, Gastpar M, Lepine JP, Mendlewicz J. 1999. DEPRES II (Depression Research in European Society II): a patient survey of the symptoms, disability and current management of depression in the community. DEPRES Steering Committee. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 14:139–151.
- Van der Loos M, Nolen W. 2006. Lamotrigine as add-on to lithium in bipolar depression. Presented at the Fifth European Stanley Conference on Bipolar Disorder, Barcelona, October 5–7, 2006.
- Walden J, Hesslinger B, Van Calker D, Berger M. 1996. Addition of lamotrigine to valproate may enhance efficacy in the treatment of bipolar affective disorder. Pharmacopsychiatry 29:193–195.
- Winsberg ME, DeGolia SG, Strong CM, Ketter TA. 2001. Divalproex therapy in medication-naive and mood-stabilizernaive bipolar II depression. J Affect Disord 67:207–212.
- Wittchen HU, Wunderlich U, Zaudig M, Fydrich T. 1997 (Strukturiertes Klinisches Interview für DSM-IV. Achse I: Psychische Störungen. [Structured clinical interview for DSM-IV, Axis I, German version]). Hogrefe, Göttingen.
- Wunderlich H, Heim H, Wunderlich HP. 1982a. Carbamazepin (Finlepsin) bei endogenen affektiven Psychosen: eine neue Therapie. Medicamentum 60:2–8.
- Wunderlich H, Neumann J, Grünes JU. 1982b. Carbamazepin (Finlepsin) bei manisch-depressiven Erkrankungen. Deutsches Gesundheitswesen 37:1471.
- Wunderlich HP, Grunes JU, Neumann J, Zahlten W. 1983. [Antidepressive therapy with carbamazepine (Finlepsin)]. Schweiz. Arch Neurol Neurochir Psychiatr 133:363–371.
- Yatham LN, Kusumakar V, Parikh SV, Haslam DR, Matte R, Sharma V, et al. 1997. Bipolar depression: treatment options. Can. J Psychiatry 42 (Suppl 2):87S–91.
- Yatham LN, Kennedy SH, O'Donovan C, Parikh S, MacQueen G, McIntyre R, et al. 2005. Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments (CANMAT) guidelines for the management of patients with bipolar disorder: consensus and controversies. Bipolar. Disord. 7 (Suppl 3):5–69.
- Yatham LN, Kennedy SH, O'Donovan C, Parikh SV, MacQueen G, McIntyre RS, et al. 2006. Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments (CANMAT) guidelines for the management of patients with bipolar disorder: update 2007. Bipolar Disord 8:721–739.
- Zall H, Therman PG, Myers JM. 1968. Lithium carbonate: a clinical study. Am J Psychiatry 125:549–555.
- Zullino D, Baumann P. 2001. Lithium augmentation in depressive patients not responding to selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. Pharmacopsychiatry 34:119–127.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Are there differences between serotonergic, noradrenergic and dual acting antidepressants in the treatment of depressed women?

SALIH SAYGIN EKER, SELCUK KIRLI, CENGIZ AKKAYA, SENGUL CANGUR & ASLI SARANDOL

Department of Psychiatry, Uludag University Medical Faculty, Bursa, Turkey

Abstract

Background. This study aims to investigate if there is a differential outcome of serotonergic and noradrenergic antidepressant treatment and if menopausal status has an impact on antidepressant response in depressed women. *Methods.* Data of the 111 depressed women who were included and completed the previous four open-label studies where patients were evaluated six times during a 10-week period, were pooled in the current study. Each of the reboxetine, sertraline and venlafaxine groups consisted of 37 depressed women. Patients were also divided into two subgroups of age, determining the 44 years as the cut-off point representing the menopausal status. *Results.* No significant difference was observed in the percent change of Hamilton Depression Rating Scale-17 (HDRS) and remission rates among treatment groups. Percent changes in Clinical Global Impression-Severity of Illness scale (CGI-S) and response rates were in favour of venlafaxine group at week 10. Individual HDRS items 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 demonstrated significant improvement in the sertraline group, whereas HDRS item 7 demonstrated significant improvement in the venlafaxine group. An early reduction in anxiety subscale was observed in the venlafaxine group. Menopausal status had no impact on the outcome measures. *Conclusions.* These results suggest that noradrenergic and serotonergic activity do not differ from each other in treating depressed women. However, serotonergic activity appears to be more prominent in some particular symptoms such as feelings of guilt, suicidal ideation and sleep. Also, menopause does not appear to affect antidepressants' benefit in depressed women.

Key words: Gender, depression, antidepressants

Introduction

Epidemiological studies report a greater prevalence of major depressive disorder (MDD) in women compared to men (Kessler et al. 1994). Depressed women are reported to demonstrate higher levels of somatic symptoms, coronary artery disease, anxiety, psychomotor retardation, increased appetite, feelings of worthlessness and guilt, poor social adjustment and impaired quality of life compared to depressed men (Hirschfeld et al. 1984; Kornstein 1997; Silverstein 1999; Kornstein et al. 2000a; Möller-Leimkühler 2008). Despite several significant gender-related differences, some aetiological factors are proposed to explain the reported differences. Psychosocial (Bebbington et al. 1998; Wang 2004), genetic (Kendler et al. 1993) and personality factors (Goodwin and Gotlib 2004) are suggested as risk factors for developing MDD in women.

Gonadal hormones which are thought to involve in the development of depression, have an interaction with neurotransmitters such as noradrenaline, glutamate, dopamine and particularly serotonin. In animal studies, higher rate of serotonin synthesis (Halem et al. 1990) and higher concentrations of 5hydroxyindolacetic acid in several regions of the female rat brain (Dickinson and Curzon 1986; Carlsson and Carlsson 1988) have been reported. Moreover, oestrogen treatment has been found to increase 5-HT2A receptor and its binding in several regions of the female rat brain (Sumner and Fink 1995; Cyr et al. 1998). Data from animal studies support that decreased levels of oestrogen are associated with decreased activity of serotonin (Amin et al. 2005).

Animal data provide robust information about the interactions between oestrogen and the serotonergic system. However, from human data it is known that

Correspondence: Salih Saygin Eker, MD, Department of Psychiatry, Uludag University Medical Faculty, 16059 Gorukle, Bursa, Turkey. Tel: +90 224 2951840. Fax: +90 224 4428597. E-mail: saygineker@yahoo.com gonadal hormones have an impact on the synthesis and release of neurotransmitters and their receptor functioning (Fink et al. 1996; McEwen et al. 1997; Rubinow et al. 1998). Findings from Nishizawa et al. (1997) and Ellenbogen et al. (1996) reveal that depressed women have a vulnerable serotonergic system and high local cerebral serotonin synthesis (Chugani et al. 1998). Studies demonstrate that oestrogen enhances monoaminergic activity and augments serotonergic postsynaptic responsiveness, and increases both the number and the uptake of serotonergic receptors (Halbreich et al. 1995; McEwen et al. 1997).

Though, the early evidence indicates that some noradrenergic neurons in the central nervous system are oestrogen-receptive and it is likely that oestrogen may enhance noradrenergic transmission within the gonadotropin releasing hormone network, the role of the noradrenergic system in depressed women is hardly mentioned (Herbison 1997; Heritage et al. 1977).

Accumulated data to date suggest that depressed women may differ in response to treatment (Raskin 1974; Kornstein et al. 2000b). There are several reports suggesting that women are more likely to respond and tolerate selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI) (Kornstein et al. 2000b; Khan et al. 2005). On the contrary, however, some studies have failed in finding such differences with various types of antidepressants (Quitkin et al. 2002; Hildebrandt et al. 2003). The evidence is sparse whether depressed women improve better on serotonergic or noradrenergic antidepressants, or both.

If women respond differently to antidepressants, it is necessary to compare drugs with different types of effects on neurotransmitter systems. Considering this, we aimed to investigate two areas; first, to compare the efficacy of reboxetine, sertraline and venlafaxine which exert their mechanisms of action through different pharmacological properties in depressed women. Second, since female hormones may be a factor in causing different responses to antidepressants in depressed women, in addition to the whole sample, patients over 44 years of age or younger were analysed separately.

Methods

Patient population

Subjects were recruited from the databases of previous four studies with same study design. These studies compared reboxetine and venlafaxine (Akkaya et al. 2003), reboxetine and sertraline (Eker et al. 2005), venlafaxine and combination of reboxetine and sertraline (Yazicioglu et al. 2006) and sertraline and combination of reboxetine and sertraline (data on file). Patients who were in the venlafaxine, reboxetine, and sertraline groups and completed the above-mentioned studies were included in the current study. Patients under combination therapy were excluded from the study.

According to the patient eligibility criteria of the above-mentioned studies, patients aged 18-65 years and were diagnosed with MDD, as determined on the basis of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th ed, Text Revision (DSM-IV-TR) (APA 2000), were eligible for participation in the present study. The patients in these four studies had been required to have a score of at least 16 at baseline on the 17-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS) (Hamilton 1960). Patients fulfilling the criteria for a DSM-IV Axis I disorder other than MDD or a DSM-IV Axis II disorder, patients having MDD with psychotic features or patients who had a history of psychoses and patients with significant suicide risk were excluded from the study after the psychiatric interview. Patients who had not responded to venlafaxine, reboxetine or sertraline in previous episodes of depression, patients who have or had history of treatment resistance, patients who have had electroconvulsive therapy within the last 6 months, patients having a history of drug sensitivity (especially to psychotropic drugs), patients with any clinically significant medical disorder or laboratory abnormality, patients with a history of substance abuse within a year were not eligible for participation in the study. Women were excluded if pregnant or if not practicing an adequate birth control method. None of the subjects received hormonal therapy during the trials.

The age subgroups were chosen to be representative of female's reproductive (18–43 years) and perior postmenopausal periods ($44 \ge$ years). Several endocrine changes precede the clinical menopause, such as the pattern of pulsatile GnRH secretion (Crowley and Flicori 1985); therefore we used 44 years as the cut-off for the split of fertile period from peri/postmenopause. The same method was also previously used by Martenyi et al. (2001) and Naito et al. (2007).

Study design

The data of the previous four studies were pooled and depressed women were separately analysed. These four studies had been designed as open-label studies; thus researchers and patients were not blind to the study drugs. Throughout the studies, the patients were assessed six times; on the day of the screening visit (-7th day), at baseline or first visit (day 0), and on the 14th (visit 2), 28th (visit 3), 49th (visit 4) and 70th (visit 5) days after the baseline. All patients underwent a detailed psychiatric evaluation

402 *S.S. Eker et al.*

on the screening visit where inclusion and exclusion criteria as well as MDD diagnosis were assessed according to DSM-IV criteria. Physical examination and laboratory tests including biochemical blood and urine analysis, complete blood count, electrocardiography were carried out and vital signs were measured at the screening visit and at the end of study. The study protocols were approved by the relevant ethics committee, and were conducted in accordance with Declaration of Helsinki. All subjects gave written informed consent to participate.

Drug administration

Patients who met the study inclusion criteria were assigned to venlafaxine XR capsules, reboxetine tablets, sertraline tablets at baseline visit. The initial dose of venlafaxine XR was 75 mg/day which was increased to 150 mg/day at the second week. There are several papers claiming that venlafaxine 150 mg/day is effective in the treatment of depression (Ballus et al. 2000; De Naver et al. 2002). Reboxetine was started with 4 mg/day and the dose was increased to 8 mg/day at the second week of the study. The optimum dose of reboxetine suggested by Pfizer is 8-10 mg/day. There are also papers claiming that 8 mg/day reboxetine is effective (Scates and Doraiswamy 2000; Hajós et al. 2004). Sertraline was started at 50 mg/day and was not changed throughout the study. The minimum optimum dose of sertraline suggested by Pfizer is 50 mg/day. There are also papers claiming that 50 mg/day sertraline is effective (Schweizer et al. 2001; Lepine et al. 2004). The doses remained at those levels throughout the study. At the end of 11th week the study was completed. Patients were not allowed to take concomitant medications. However, in cases of sleep disturbance or increase of anxiety, patients were allowed to take low doses of hydroxyzine (12.5 mg/day) when required. The study was designed as an open-label study; thus researchers and patients were not blind to the study drugs.

Assessment instruments

The Turkish version of HDRS-17 item (Akdemir et al. 1996) was applied at all assessments. Response to an antidepressant was defined as 50% or more decrease in the HDRS score with comparison to the baseline value, and the remission was defined as being of HDRS scale score \leq 7.

To define the effects of antidepressants on different components of depression, HDRS item groups were defined as follows: Core symptoms of depression (HAM-D6) subscale (Bech et al. 1975): HDRS items 1, 2, 7, 8, 10 and 13; Psychomotor retardation subscale: HDRS items 1, 7, 8 and 14; Anxiety subscale: HDRS items 10, 11, 12, 13, 15 and 17 (Guy 1976).

Clinical Global Impression-Severity of Illness scale (CGI-S) (Guy 1976) was also applied at all assessment points.

One investigator was appointed for each study. There was a substantial agreement among these four investigators (P=0.8833, $\kappa=0.766081$).

Data analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS for Windows 13 (SPSS Inc., IL, USA). For categorical variables we calculated frequency statistics and descriptive statistics were calculated for continuous variables. We examined the related variables using Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests whether the assumptions of normal distribution are convenient homogeneity of groups. For group homogeneity HDRS and CGI-S variables which were used as tools for clinical evaluation, were computed before treatment. For time-dependent variables (HDRS, CGI-S, each item of HDRS, and subscales) percent changes were computed. One way variance analyses, Kruskal-Wallis test and/or Mann Whitney U-tests were performed for comparisons between groups concerning the number of groups (age-specified groups and treatment groups) and the convenience of variables to the normal distribution. Comparisons within groups were evaluated by the Wilcoxon *t*-test. The Pearson Chi-Square test was used to determine whether there are differences between groups. Effect sizes (ES) were calculated by using Morse' algorithm (Morse 1999). Siegel and Castellan's (1988) fixedmarginal multirater kappa statistics was used to calculate the interrater reliability.

Results

A total of 156 patients were included in the study, 26 dropped out. Of the remaining 130 patients, 111 were women and 19 were men. A total of 111 women were enrolled to the current study. The mean age of the study sample was 40.5 ± 10.8 years (range 19–65 years). There were 37 patients in each treatment group. There were not any significant differences between treatment groups in terms of demographic and clinical characteristics of the patients as presented in Table I.

Each treatment arm demonstrated significant improvement at the end of the trial. No significant differences were found among treatment groups in terms of reduction in percent changes of HDRS scores at the end of the trial. However, an early reduction which did not continue throughout the trial

	Reboxetine $(n=37)$	Venlafaxine $(n=37)$	Sertraline $(n=37)$
Mean years of age $(\pm SD)$	39.8 (±11)	41.9 (±10.1)	39.9 (±11.4)
Mean number of previous episodes $(\pm SD)$	$1.9(\pm 1.3)$	$2.3(\pm 2.1)$	$1.6 (\pm 0.9)$
Mean basal HDRS score $(\pm SD)$	$21.2(\pm 3.9)$	20.5 (±3.6)	$20.2(\pm 2.8)$
Mean basal CGI-Severity $(\pm SD)$	$4.6 (\pm 0.6)$	$4.7 (\pm 0.5)$	$4.5(\pm 0.6)$
Mean duration of episode- in months $(\pm SD)$	$5.3(\pm 4.1)$	$6.3(\pm 4.1)$	$4.5(\pm 2.7)$
Family history of depression	27%	32.4%	16%
Mean years of age $(\pm SD)$	39.8 (±11)	41.9 (±10.1)	39.9 (±11.4)

Table I. Patient demographics and baseline scores.

HDRS, Hamilton Depression Rating Scale; CGI-S, Clinical Global Impression Severity Scale. Standard deviation values are given in parentheses.

in HDRS scores was observed between the venlafaxine and sertraline groups at visit 2. The venlafaxine and sertraline groups significantly differed from the reboxetine group in reduction of percent changes of CGI-S scores at visit 5. Table II presents HDRS and CGI-S scores and statistical values.

There were no significant differences between treatment groups in terms of remission rates; whereas significant difference was detected between the venlafaxine and reboxetine groups in terms of response rates in favour of the venlafaxine group at visit 5. Table III presents response and remission rates and statistical values.

There were 21 patients in reboxetine, 19 patients in venlafaxine and 21 patients in sertraline subgroups of <44 years. No statistical differences were found in terms of educational status, basal HDRS and CGI-S scores, number of previous depressive episodes, family history of depression, duration of current episode between two age-specified subgroups. No significant differences were found between age specific subgroups in terms of percent changes of HDRS and CGI-S scores and rates of remission and response regardless of treatment groups at the end of the trial. There were no statistical differences between age-specified subgroups of each treatment group with regard to the percent changes of HDRS and CGI-S scores at the end of the trial. In <44 age-specified

subgroup a significant difference was found between the venlafaxine and reboxetine subgroups regarding the percent changes of CGI-S scores (Mann–Whitney U-test: z = -2.467, P = 0.015, ES: 0.1561 (large)) where venlafaxine demonstrated significant decline at visit 3. However, this significance did not persist throughout the trial. Within each treatment groups, there were not any significant differences between agespecified subgroups regarding the percent changes of HDRS and CGI-S scores. There were not any significant differences among treatment groups in terms of remission and response rates by age.

Sertraline produced significantly greater change in HDRS items of "feelings of guilt", "thoughts of suicide", "insomnia early", "insomnia middle" and "late insomnia" at the end of the trial. However, significant difference was observed in HDRS item of "work and activities" in favour of venlafaxine group at the end of the trial. Significant differences were found in percent changes of HDRS items of "psychic anxiety" and "somatic symptoms" (Kruskal-Wallis $\chi^2 = 8.295$, df = 2, P = 0.016, ES: 0.0754 (medium) and Kruskal–Wallis $\chi^2 = 6.825$, df = 2, *P* = 0.003, ES: 0.0632 (medium), respectively) in favour of venlafaxine at visit 3. For HDRS item of "genital symptoms", there was a significant difference in percent changes between treatment groups in favour of reboxetine group (Kruskal–Wallis $\chi^2 = 7.301$, df = 2, P = 0.026,

	Rebox	tetine	Venla	faxine	Sertr	aline
	HDRS	CGI-S	HDRS	CGI-S	HDRS	CGI-S
Visit 1	21.2 (±3.9)	4.6 (±0.6)	20.5 (±3.6)	4.7 (±0.5)	20.2 (±2.8)	4.5 (±0.6)
Visit 2	$17.4 (\pm 4.09)$	4.3 (±0.5)	$15.9 \ (\pm 3.9)^{a}$	$4.1 (\pm 0.7)$	$17.1 (\pm 3.7)$	$4(\pm 0.6)$
Visit 3	13.3 (±4.8)	3.6 (±0.8)	$11.7 (\pm 4.6)$	3.3 (±0.9)	$13.1 (\pm 4.2)$	$3.4(\pm 0.8)$
Visit 4	$10.2 (\pm 4.3)$	3 (±0.9)	$9.4(\pm 4.7)$	$2.7 (\pm 0.9)$	$10.1 (\pm 4.6)$	$2.5(\pm 1.1)$
Visit 5	8.7 (±5.1)	$2.4(\pm 1.1)$	7 (±4.3)	$1.8~(\pm 0.9)$ ^{b1}	7.8 (±4.2)	$1.8 (\pm 1)^{b2}$

Table II. HDRS and CGI-S values at each visit.

HDRS, Hamilton Depression Rating Scale; CGI-S, Clinical Global Impression Severity Scale. Standard deviation values are given in parentheses.

^a Between venlafaxine and sertraline groups \rightarrow Mann–Whitney U-test z = -2.774, P = 0.006, ES: 0.1054 (medium).

^{b1} Between venlafaxine and reboxetine groups \rightarrow Mann–Whitney U-test z = -2.815, P = 0,005, ES: 0.1086 (medium).

^{b2} Between sertraline and reboxetine groups \rightarrow Mann–Whitney U-test z = -2.269, P = 0.023, ES: 0.0705 (medium).

Table III. Response and remission scores at visit 5.

Response n (%)	Remission n (%)
22 (59.5) 32 (86.5)* 29 (78.4)	17 (45.9) 23 (62.2) 18 (48.6)
	Response n (%) 22 (59.5) 32 (86.5)* 29 (78.4)

 $\chi^2 = 7.546$, df = 2, P = 0,023, ES: 0.2607 (small).

ES: 0.0716 (medium)) at visit 2. Also for anxiety subscale there was a significant difference in percent changes between treatment groups in favour of venlafaxine group at visit 2 ((Kruskal–Wallis $\chi^2 =$ 6.717, df =2, P=0.035, ES: 0.0611 (medium)) and visit 3 (Kruskal–Wallis $\chi^2 = 11.592$, df = 2, P = 0.003, ES: 0.1054 (medium)). There were no significant differences between treatment groups in terms of percent changes in rest of the HDRS items. We also did not find any significant differences between treatment groups in terms of percent changes in subscales of core symptoms of depression, psychomotor retardation and anxiety at the end of the trial. Figure 1 illustrates the percent changes of HDRS items and subscales at visit 5. There were not any significant differences between age-specified subgroups in terms of percent changes in individual HDRS items and subscales at the end of the trial.



Figure 1. Percent changes of HDRS items and subscales at visit 5.

Discussion

The aim of this study was to investigate the outcome of serotonergic and noradrenergic antidepressants in depressed women. The results of this trial demonstrate that there are no significant differences between serotonergic and noradrenergic antidepressants in terms of efficacy and remission regardless of menopausal status. However, drugs that have total or in part serotonergic activity revealed better results in response rates.

Though it is suggested that all kinds of antidepressant treatments have similar efficacy (Ayuso-Gutiérrez 2005), recently the differential effects of antidepressants in depressed women become the focus of attention. Accumulated data regarding the effects of antidepressants acting through different mechanisms of action on depressed women demonstrate contradictory results (Kornstein et al. 2000b; Quitkin et al. 2002). In the present study, there were no significant differences between treatment groups in terms of improvement in HDRS scores at the end of the trial. Though the evidence is scarce with regard to the differential effects of antidepressants in depressed women, our results are in line with the Hildebrandt et al. (2003) findings which did not report significant difference between antidepressants in terms of changes in HDRS. The significant difference between the venlafaxine and sertraline groups in this study at visit 2 in terms of reduction in percent changes of HDRS scores, though did not continue throughout the trial, may be attributed to the rapid action of venlafaxine (Stahl et al. 2002). On the contrary, there are some reports which demonstrate differential effects of antidepressants particularly in favour of serotonergic activity in depressed women. Martenyi et al. (2001) reported that female depressed patients had higher reduction in HDRS scores on fluoxetine compared to maprotiline, which has predominantly noradrenergic activity; and citalopram was found superior over reboxetine in terms of remission and response rates (Berlanga and Flore-Ramos 2006). A more recent study by Pjrek et al. (2009) also reported higher response rates with citalopram than with reboxetine in women with seasonal affective disorder. Joyce et al. (2002) also found that depressed women had a superior response to fluoxetine than nortriptyline. In another study, statistically significant differences were found between women taking sertraline and women taking imipramine, which has both noradrenaline and serotonin reuptake properties with respect to reductions in HDRS and in CGI-S scores in favour of sertraline (Baca et al. 2002). However, for women, rates of response with venlafaxine were found greater than those for women receiving SSRIs

in the meta-analysis of Entsuah et al. (2001). Though, there were no significant differences between treatment groups in terms of improvement in HDRS scores at the end of the present study, higher response rates and reductions in CGI-S scores were found in favour of the sertraline and venlafaxine groups compared to the reboxetine group. These data may be interpreted as compatible with the studies that demonstrate higher benefit with serotonergic agents (Martenyi et al. 2001; Berlanga and Flore-Ramos 2006) and may indicate a possible superiority of the serotonergic system over the noradrenergic system in depressed women.

An early study by Raskin (1974) found a differential response to antidepressant therapy between premenopausal and postmenopausal depressed women. Similar findings were replicated by Kornstein et al. (2000b) several decades later. In the present study we did not find a significant difference between age-specific subgroups in terms of percent changes of HDRS and CGI-S scores regardless of treatment groups. We also did not observe a significant difference between age-specified subgroups of each treatment group with regard to the percent changes of HDRS and CGI-S scores at the end of the trial. Significant difference, which did not persist throughout the trial, between venlafaxine and reboxetine in <44 age-specified subgroup regarding the percent changes of CGI-S scores at visit 3 may be attributed to the rapid action of venlafaxine (Stahl et al. 2002). In each treatment group again we did not find any significant difference between age-specific subgroups in terms of percent changes of HDRS and CGI-S scores. Moreover, remission and response rates did not differ between age specific subgroups in each treatment group. In line with the present study, Quitkin et al. (2002) and Thiels et al. (2005) found that women age 50 or older and those younger than age 50 had similar response rates with fluoxetine sertraline, respectively. On the other hand, women younger than 44 years were reported to respond better on fluoxetine compared to maprotiline (Martenyi et al. 2001). In a Japanese study, fluvoxamine was found to produce a significant difference in the time course of Montgomery and Åsberg Depression Rating Scale score change in younger female depressive patients (<44 years of age) compared with older female (\geq 44 years of age), whereas milnacipran, which has both serotonergic and noradrenergic activity, produced no difference between age specific groups (Naito et al. 2007). Thase et al. (2005) reported that women age >50 had significantly lower remission rates with SSRI therapy than did younger women; however, this pattern of response was not observed with venlafaxine. Moreover, women older than 50 were reported to remit better

on venlafaxine compared to SSRIs. In another study involving SSRIs, nefazodone and venlafaxine, premenopausal (\leq 44 years) depressed women compared with postmenopausal (>50 years) depressed women had significantly lower HDRS scores at the end of the trial (Grigoriadis et al. 2003). When they compared the response to SSRIs only, they found that premenopausal depressed women still had significantly lower HRDS scores and had higher remission rates compared to postmenopausal depressed women. The data from several studies mentioned above indicate that it is still unclear whether a difference exists in treatment response to different antidepressants between premenopausal and postmenopausal depressed women.

The antidepressants administered in the present study have different mechanisms of actions through serotonin, noradrenalin or both. This could be critical to understand the different antidepressant response in women considering the modulatory effects of oestrogen by its interaction with neurotransmitters in the mechanisms of depression and its treatment in depressed women. There is evidence, that oestrogen can affect neurotransmitter synthesis, release and reuptake which cause alteration in mood (Fink et al. 1997; McEwen et al. 1997). Furthermore, oestrogen alone is suggested to be effective in the treatment of perimenopausal depression (Schmidt et al. 2000; Soares et al. 2001) but not for postmenopausal women (Cohen et al. 2003; Morrison et al. 2004). However, the data with regard to the effect of oestrogen as an augmentation agent to antidepressants is also not consistent (Amsterdam et al. 1999; Schneider et al. 2001; Soares et al. 2003). Our data from age-specific subgroup analysis suggest that menopause does not appear to affect antidepressants' benefit in depressed women.

The issue of differences in the symptoms that respond to serotonergic or noradrenergic antidepressants is one of the challenges of clinicians. It is suggested that symptoms of loss of interest, anhedonia, and lack of energy or motor retardation improve better on noradrenergic drugs, whereas serotonergic drugs are more likely to improve anxiety and mood (Nelson et al. 2005a). There are some papers that do not find significant differences between the effects of serotonergic and noradrenergic antidepressants on individual symptoms of HDRS (DeJonghe et al. 1991; Bowden et al. 1993). Similarly Nelson et al. (2005b) concluded that the pattern of symptom response was very similar for fluoxetine and reboxetine. However, it should be noted that the data from these studies are irrespective of gender influence. To the best of our knowledge there is no published work about differential effects of serotonergic and noradrenergic

antidepressants on individual HDRS items in depressed women. In the present study, symptom analysis of each individual HDRS item revealed that symptoms with "feelings of guilt" and "thoughts of suicide" improved better with sertraline treatment. Individual symptoms regarding "insomnia early", "insomnia middle" and "late insomnia" improved better on sertraline treatment. This may indicate that insomnia complaints may improve better on SSRI treatment. Individual item "work and activities" improved better on venlafaxine treatment. This may be associated with the additional noradrenergic property of venlafaxine (Harvey et al. 2000) since noradrenergic antidepressants have been reported to have prominent effects on motivation and driving (Healy and McMonagle 1997), which might be reflected in improvement of loss of interest, anhedonia, lack of energy or motor retardation (Montgomery 1997).

Patients demonstrated an early improvement on venlafaxine treatment in individual symptoms "psychic anxiety" and "somatic symptoms general" and cluster of somatization, though no significant difference detected at the end of the trial. Similarly reboxetine-treated patients demonstrated an early improvement in "genital symptoms". These data are in line with literature finding that the sexual dysfunction may appear as a consequence of SSRI treatment (Nurnberg 2008).

The definitive association between gonadal hormones and depression in women remains unclear in many aspects; however, there are biological findings that could explain why women respond better to serotonergic agents. Acute tryptophan depletion using PET and MRI scans in depressed men and women revealed that compared to female counterparts men had 52% higher mean serotonin synthesis (Nishizawa et al. 1997). Similarly, Neumeister (2003) demonstrated that women are more likely to develop depressive symptoms when serotonin synthesis is reduced compared to men. These findings indicate that women may have a more vulnerable serotonergic system. Another study also suggested that tryptophan pyrrolase which reduces blood tryptophan levels, is found to be overactive in women (Bano et al. 2004). These findings may indicate a vulnerable serotonin system in women. Significantly higher response rates and reductions in CGI-S scores and improvement in individual HDRS items mentioned above with sertraline and venlafaxine, but not reboxetine may indicate the mentioned vulnerability.

This study has several limitations. Most importantly this study bears the weaknesses of all open label studies. It is open to bias and the findings should be replicated in a double-blind study. The small patient number and the missing placebo arm is one of the major limitations of the present study. The high rates of remission and response should also be considered as another limitation of this open label study. Though, there are papers claiming that daily dose of 50 mg of sertraline is effective in the treatment of MDD, the dose of sertraline administered in the current study might be considered as low compared to the dosage of venlafaxine and reboxetine. Lack of data on tolerability should also be considered as another limitation of this study. On the other hand this is the first study comparing the efficacy of three different pharmacological types of antidepressants and their effects on individual depressive symptoms in depressed women.

Conclusion

The effects of antidepressants with different pharmacological properties in specific populations, such as women, have become the interest of researches recently. There is still debate on which monoaminergic system in particular should be manipulated while treating depressed women. Also, observation of which symptoms improve better on specific antidepressant is also important in achieving full remission. We conclude that both noradrenergic and serotonergic antidepressants are effective in depressed women. However, depressed women are more likely to benefit from antidepressants with total or partial serotonergic activity. Since women are more likely to suffer from depression than men and full remission is the main goal of depression treatment, double blind, randomized trials are required to differentiate the proper antidepressant treatment in depressed women. Also, the interaction between noradrenergic system and oestrogen and their impact on depressed women should be more extensively studied in future studies since the evidence is focused on oestrogen and serotonergic system so far.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

No support was received from any pharmaceutical company for this study. The authors of this paper do not have any commercial associations that might pose a conflict of interest in connection with this manuscript.

References

Akdemir A, Orsel SD, Dag Iç, İscan N, Ozbay H. 1996. Hamilton Depresyon Derecelendirme Olcegi (HDDO)'nin gecerligi-guvenirligi ve klinikte kullanimi (Validity–reliability and clinical
use of Turkish version of Hamilton depression rating scale). Psikiyatri Psikol Psikofarmakol Derg 4:251–259.

- Akkaya C, Sivrioglu Y, Sarandol A, Kirli S. 2003. Major depresif bozuklukta venlafaksin XR ve reboksetin'in etkililik ve guvenilirliginin karsilastirilmasi (Comparison of venlafaxine XR and reboxetine in terms of efficacy and safety in Major Depressive Disorder). Yeni Symposium 41:170–177.
- American Psychiatric Association. 2000. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 4th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Amin Z, Canli T, Epperson CN. 2005. Effect of estrogenserotonin interactions on mood and cognition. Behav Cogn Neurosci Rev 4:43–58.
- Amsterdam J, Garcia-Espana F, Fawcett J, Quitkin F, Reimherr F, Rosenbaum J, et al. 1999. Fluoxetine efficacy in menopausal women with and without estrogen replacement. J Affect Disord 55:11–17.
- Ayuso-Gutiérrez JL. 2005. Depressive subtypes and efficacy of antidepressive pharmacotherapy. World J Biol Psychiatry 6: 31–37.
- Baca E, Garcia-Garcia M, Porras-Chavarino A. 2004. Gender differences in treatment response to sertraline versus imipramine in patients with nonmelancholic depressive disorders. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 28:57–65.
- Ballus C, Quiros G, De Flores, de la Torre J, Palao D, Rojo L, et al. 2000. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 15:43–48
- Bano S, Akhter S, Afridi MI. 2004. Gender based response to fluoxetine hydrochloride medication in endogenous depression. J Coll Phys Surg Pak 14:161–165.
- Bebbington PE, Dunn G, Jenkins R, Lewis G, Brugha T, Farrell M, et al. 1998. The influence of age and sex on the prevalence of depressive conditions: Report from the National Survey of Psychiatric Comorbidity. Psychol Med 28:9–19.
- Bech P, Gram LF, Dein E, Jacobsen O, Vitger J, Bolwig TG. 1975. Quantitative rating of depressive states. Acta Psychiatr Scand 51:161–170.
- Berlanga C, Flores-Ramos M. 2006. Different gender response to serotonergic and noradrenergic antidepressants. A comparative study of the efficacy of citalopram and reboxetine. J Affect Disord 95:119–123.
- Bowden CL, Schatzberg AF, Rosenbaum A, Contreras SA, Samson JA, Dessain E, et al. 1993. Fluoxetine and desipramine in major depressive disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 13:305– 310.
- Carlsson M, Carlsson A. 1988. A regional study of sex differences in rat brain serotonin. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 12:53–61.
- Chugani DC, Muzik O, Chakraborty P, Mangner T, Chugani HT. 1998. Human brain serotonin synthesis capacity measured in vivo with alpha-[C-11]methyl-L-tryptophan. Synapse 28:33– 43.
- Cohen LS, Soares CN, Poitras JR, Prouty J, Alexander AB, Shifren JL. 2003. Short term use of estradiol for depression on perimenopausal and postmenopausal women: A preliminary report. Am J Psychiatry 160:1519–1522.
- Crowley WR, Filicori M. 1985. The physiology of GnRH secretion in man and woman. Recent Prog Horm Res 41:473–531.
- Cyr M, Bosse R, Di Paolo T. 1998. Gonadal hormones modulate 5-hydroxytryptamine2A receptors: Emphasis on the rat frontal cortex. Neuroscience 83:829–836.
- De Nayer A, Geerts S, Ruelens L, Schittecatte M, Bleeker E, Van Eeckhoutte I, et al. 2002. Venlafaxine compared with fluoxetine in outpatients with depression and concomitant anxiety. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 5:115–120.

- DeJonghe F, Ravelli DP, Tuynmna-Qua H. 1991. A randomized, double blind study of fluoxetine and maprotiline in the treatment of major depression. Pharmacopsychiatry 24:62–67.
- Dickinson SL, Curzon G. 1986. 5-Hydroxytryptamine-mediated behavior in male and female rats. Neuropharmacology 25:771– 776.
- Eker SS, Akkaya C, Akgoz S, Sarandol A, Kirli S. 2005. Comparison of reboxetine and sertraline in terms of efficacy and safety in major depressive disorder. Turk Psikiyatri Derg 16:153–163.
- Ellenbogen MA, Young SN, Dean P, Palmour RM, Benkelfat C. 1996. Mood response to acute tryptophan depletion in healthy volunteers: Sex differences and temporal stability. Neuropsychopharmacology 15:465–474.
- Entsuah AR, Huang H, Thase ME. 2001. Response and remission rates in different subpopulations with major depressive disorder administered venlafaxine, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, or placebo. J Clin Psychiatry 62:869–877.
- Fink G, Sumner BE, Rosie R, Grace O, Quinn JP. 1996. Estrogen control of central neurotransmission: Effect on mood, mental state and memory. Cell Mol Neurobiol 16:325–344.
- Grigoriadis S, Kennedy SH, Bagby RM. 2003. A comparison of antidepressant response in younger and older women. J Clinl Psychopharmacol 23:405–407.
- Goodwin RD, Gotlib IH. 2004. Gender differences in depression: The role of personality factors. Psychiatry Res 126:135–142.
- Guy W. 1976. ECDEU Assessment Manual for Psychopharmacology. Revised US Dept Health, Education and Welfare publication (ADM). Rockville, MD: National Institute of Mental Health.
- Hajós M, Fleishaker JC, Filipiak-Reisner JK, Brown MT, Wong EH. 2004. The selective norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor antidepressant reboxetine: Pharmacological and clinical profile. CNS Drug Rev 10:23–44.
- Halbreich U, Rojansky N, Palter S, Tworek H, Hissin P, Wang K. 1995. Estrogen augments serotonergic activity in postmenopausal women. Biol Psychiatry 37:434–441.
- Haleem DJ, Kennett GA, Curzon G. 1990. Hippocampal 5hydroxytryptamine synthesis is greater in female rats than in males and more decreased by the 5-HT agonist 8-OH-DPAT. J Neural Transm 79:93–101.
- Hamilton M. 1960. A rating scale for depression. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 23:56–62.
- Harvey AT, Rudolph RL, Preskorn SH. 2000. Evidence of the dual mechanisms of action of venlafaxine. Arch Gen Psychiatry 57:503–509.
- Healy D, McMonagle T. 1997. The enhancement of social functioning as a therapeutic principle in the management of depression. J Psychopharmacol 11:25–31.
- Herbison AE. 1997. Noradrenergic regulation of cyclic GnRH secretion. Rev Reprod 2:1–6.
- Heritage AS, Grant ID, Stumpf WE. 1977. 3H estradiol in catecholamine neurons of rat brain stem: combined localisation by autoradiographic and formaldehyde-induced fluorescence. J Comp Neurol 176:607–630.
- Hildebrandt MG, Steverberg EW, Stage KB, Psschier J, Kragh-Soerensen P, Danish University Antidepressant Group. 2003. Are gender differences important for the clinical effects of antidepressants? Am J Psychiatry 160:1643–1650.
- Hirschfeld RM, Klerman GL, Clayton PJ, Keller MB, Andreasen NC. 1984. Personality and gender-related differences in depression. J Affect Disord 7:211–221.
- Joyce PR, Mulder RT, Luty SE, Sullivan PF, McKenzie JM, Abbot RM, et al. 2002. Patterns and predictors of remission, response and recovery in major depression treated with fluoxetine or nortriptyline. Aust NZ J Psychiatry 36:384–391.

- Kendler KS, Neale MC, Kessler RC, Heath AC, Eaves LJ. 1993. A longitudinal twin study of 1-year prevalence of major depression in women. Arch Gen Psychiatry 50:843–852.
- Kessler RC, McGonagle KA, Zhao S, Nelson CB, Hughes M, Eshleman S, et al. 1994. Lifetime and 12-month prevalence of DSM-III-R-psychiatric disorders in the United States. Results from the National Comorbidity Survey. Arch Gen Psychiatry 51:8–19.
- Khan A, Brodhead AE, Schwartz KA, Kolts RL, Brown WA. 2005. Sex differences in antidepressant response in recent antidepressant clinical trials. J Clin Psychopharmacol 25:318–324.
- Kornstein SG. 1997. Gender differences in depression: implications for treatment. J Clin Psychiatry 58:12–18.
- Kornstein SG, Schatzberg AE, Thase ME. 2000a. Gender differences in chronic major depression and double depression. J Affect Disord 60:1–11.
- Kornstein SG, Schatzberg AF, Thase ME, Yonker KA, McCullough JP, Keitner GI, et al. 2000b. Gender differences in treatment response to sertraline versus imipramine in chronic depression. Am J Psychiatry 157:1445–1452.
- Lepine JP, Caillard V, Bisserbe JC, Troy S, Hotton JM, Boyer P. 2004. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of sertraline for prophylactic treatment of highly recurrent major depressive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 161:836–842.
- Martenyi F, Dossenbach M, Mraz K, Metcalfe S. 2001. Gender differences in the efficacy of fluoxetine and maprotiline in depressed patients: a double-blind trial of antidepressants with serotonergic or norepinephrinergic reuptake inhibition profile. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 11:227–232.
- McEwen BS, Alves SE, Bulloch K, Weiland NG. 1997. Ovarian steroids and the brain: implications for cognition and aging. Neurology 48:8–15.
- Montgomery SA. 1997. Reboxetine: additional benefits to the depressed patient. J Psychopharmacol 11:9–15.
- Morrison MF, Kallan MJ, Have T, Katz I, Tweedy K, Battistini M. 2004. Lack of efficacy of estradiol for depression in postmenopausal women: A randomized, controlled trial. Biol Psychiatry 55:406–412.
- Morse DT. 1999. Minsize2: a computer program for determining effect size and minimum sample size for statistical significance for univariate, multivariate, and nonparametric tests. Educ Psychol Meas 59:518.
- Möller-Leimkühler AM. 2008. Women with coronary artery disease and depression: a neglected risk group. World J Biol Psychiatry 9:92–101.
- Naito S, Sato K, Yoshida K, Higuchi H, Takahashi H, Kamata M, et al. 2007. Gender differences in the clinical effects of fluvoxamine and milnacipran in Japanese major depressive patients. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 61:421–427.
- Nelson JC, Portera L, Leon AC. 2005a. Are there differences in the symptoms that respond to a selective serotonin or norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor? Biol Psychiatry 57:1535–1542.
- Nelson JC, Portera L, Leon AC. 2005b. Residual symptoms in depressed patients after treatment with fluoxetine or reboxetine. J Clin Psychiatry 66:1409–1414.
- Neumeister A. 2003. Tryptophan depletion, serotonin, and depression: where do we stand? Psychopharmacol Bull 37:99–115.
- Nishizawa S, Benkelfat C, Young SN, Leyton M, Mzengeza S, de Montigny C, et al. 1997. Differences between males and females in rates of serotonin synthesis in human brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94:5308–5313.
- Nurnberg HG. 2008. An evidence-based review updating the various treatment and management approaches to serotonin

reuptake inhibitor-associated sexual dysfunction. Drugs Today (Barc) 44:147–168.

- Pjrek E, Konstantinidis A, Assem-Hilger E, Praschak-Rieder N, Willeit M, Kasper S, et al. 2009. Therapeutic effects of escitalopram and reboxetine in seasonal affective disorder: A pooled analysis. J Psychiatr Res 43:792–797.
- Quitkin FM, Stewart JW, McGrath PJ, Taylor BP., Tisminetzky MS, Petkova E, et al. 2002. Are there differences between women's and men's antidepressant responses? Am J Psychiatry 159:1848–1854.
- Raskin A. 1974. Age sex differences in response to antidepressant drugs. J Nerv Ment Dis 159:120–130.
- Rubinow DR, Schmidt PJ, Roca CA. 1998. Estrogen-serotonin interactions: implications for affective regulation. Biol Psychiatry 44:839–850.
- Scates AC, Doraiswamy PM. 2000. Reboxetine: A selective norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor for the treatment of depression. Ann Pharmacother 34:1302–1312.
- Schmidt PJ, Nieman L, Danaceau MA, Tobin MB, Roca CA, Murphy JH, et al. 2000. Estrogen replacement in perimenopause-related depression: A preliminary report. Am J Obstet Gynecol 183:414–420.
- Schneider LS, Small GW, Clary C. 2001. Estrogen replacement therapy and antidepressant response to sertraline. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 9:393–399.
- Schweizer E, Rynn M, Mandos LA, Demartinis N, Garcia-Espana F, Rickles K. 2001. The antidepressant effect of sertraline is not enhanced by dose titration: results from an outpatient clinical trial. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 16:137–143.
- Siegel S, Castellan NJ. 1988. Nonparametric statistics for the behavioral sciences. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Silverstein B. 1999. Gender difference in the prevalence of clinical depression: the role played by depression associated with somatic symptoms. Am J Psychiatry 156:480–482.
- Soares CN, Almeida OP, Joffe H, Cohen LS. 2001. Efficacy of estradiol for the treatment of depressive disorders in perimenopausal women: A double-blind, randomized, placebo controlled trial. Arch Gen Psychiatry 58:529–534.
- Soares CN, Poitras JR, Prouty J, Alexander AB, Shifren JL, Cohen LS. 2003. Efficacy of citalopram as a monotherapy or as an adjunctive treatment to estrogen therapy for perimenopausal and postmenopausal women with depression and vasomotor symptoms. J Clin Psychiatry 64:473–479.
- Stahl SM, Entsuah R, Rudolph RL. 2002. Comparative efficacy between venlafaxine and SSRIs: a pooled analysis of patients with depression. Biol Psychiatry 52:1166–1174.
- Sumner BE, Fink G. 1995. Estrogen increases the density of 5hydroxytryptamine (2A) receptors in cerebral cortex and nucleus accumbens in the female rat. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 54:15–20.
- Thase ME, Entsuah R, Cantillon M, Kormstein SG. 2005. Relative antidepressant efficacy of venlafaxine and SSRIs: sex-age interactions. J Womens Health 14:609–616.
- Thiels C, Linden M, Grieger F, Leonard J. 2005. Gender differences in routine treatment of depressed outpatients with the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor sertraline. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 20:1–7.
- Yazicioglu B, Akkaya C, Sarandol A, Akgoz S, Eker SS, Kirli S. 2006. A comparison of the efficacy and tolerability of reboxetine and sertraline versus venlafaxine in major depressive disorder: A randomized, open-labeled clinical trial. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 30:1271–1276.
- Wang JL. 2004. The difference between single and married mothers in the 12-month prevalence of major depressive syndrome, associated factors and mental health service utilization. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 39:26–32.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Treatment of unipolar psychotic depression: The use of evidence in practice guidelines

JAAP WIJKSTRA¹, CHRIS D. SCHUBART¹ & WILLEM A. NOLEN²

¹Rudolf Magnus Institute of Neuroscience, Department of Psychiatry, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, The Netherlands, and ²University Medical Center Groningen, Department of Psychiatry, University of Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands

Abstract

Introduction. In a recent meta-analysis we found no evidence that an antidepressant plus an antipsychotic is more effective than an antidepressant alone in unipolar psychotic depression. However, most current guidelines recommend the combination over an antidepressant alone. *Method.* We assessed available guidelines by the AGREE instrument and discuss their recommendations in relation to the evidence as referred to in the guidelines. *Results.* The UK-NICE guideline had the highest AGREE quality score, followed by the Dutch, Australian, and US-APA guidelines. Guidelines are not always consistent with at date of publication available evidence and (with exception of the UK-NICE and Dutch guidelines) also not with the in that guideline referred evidence. *Conclusion.* Physicians (and patients) should be aware that in guidelines treatment recommendations are stated as being based on the highest level of evidence.

Key words: Affective disorders, psychotic, practice guidelines

Introduction

It is unclear whether unipolar psychotic depression should be treated initially with an antidepressant (AD) and an antipsychotic (AP) in combination or first with an AD alone and with an AP being added if there is no or an insufficient response. In a recent Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis of 10 randomized controlled trials, we found no evidence that the AD plus AP combination was more effective than an AD alone, whereas the combination was statistically more effective than an AP alone (Wijkstra et al. 2005, 2006). We concluded that both AD monotherapy with an AP added if required and combination treatment with an AD and an AP appear to be appropriate options for patients with unipolar psychotic depression. In addition, the balance between risks and benefits would make the first option preferable for many patients. However, most current guidelines quite explicitly recommend the combination as initial treatment for patients with psychotic depression. To investigate this apparent discrepancy, we evaluated the quality of these guidelines and the evidence on which they are based.

Method

To identify relevant guidelines, we searched (in January 2006) Medline[®] using the search terms 'depressive disorder and guideline', the Internet (via Google[®]) with the search terms 'depression, depressive disorder, guideline and practice guideline', guideline databases (National Guideline Clearinghouse, Guideline international Network), and also the website of the World Psychiatric Association to contact national psychiatric organisations in different countries (Argentina, Austria, Azerbaijan, Bolivia, Brazil, Bulgaria, China, Greece, Hungarian, India, Mexico, Nigeria, South Africa, Switzerland, Thailand, Venezuela, and Uruguay). We only excluded all those depression guidelines in which there were no specific recommendations regarding the treatment of unipolar psychotic depression. We identified eight relevant guidelines: the Australian and New Zealand guideline (AU/NZ) (Royal

Correspondence: Jaap Wijkstra, UMC Utrecht, B01.206, P.O. Box 85500, 3508 GA Utrecht, The Netherlands. Fax: +31 30 2505509. E-mail: j.wijkstra@umcutrecht.nl

(Received 31 January 2007; accepted 27 July 2007)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970701599052

Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists Clinical Practice Guideline Team for Depression 2004), the Canadian guideline (CA) (CANMAT Depression Workgroup 2001), the World Federation of Societies of Biological Psychiatry guideline (WFSBP) (Bauer 2002), the Dutch multidisciplinary guideline (NL) (Landelijke stuurgroep Multidisciplinaire Richtlijnontwikkeling in de GGZ 2005), the South African guideline (SA) (South African Society of Psychiatrists, unknown year), the British NICE guideline (UK-NICE) (National Institute for Clinical Excellence 2004), the American Psychiatric Association guideline (US-APA) (American Psychiatric Association 2000), and the Texas Implementation of Medication Algorithms guideline (US-TIMA) (Trivedi et al. 2000).

Two authors (JW, CS) independently scored the quality of the reporting of the guidelines and the quality of the guideline development process, using the AGREE (Appraisal of Guidelines for Research & Evaluation) instrument (Agree Collaboration 2001). This is an instrument for assessing the quality of clinical practice guidelines. Besides the general items (general because there is no relation with diagnostic category) of the AGREE instrument (1. Overall objectives; 2. Clinical question; 3. Patient group; 4. Professional groups included; 5. Patients' views; 6. Target users; 7. Pre-testing among target users; 8. Search methods; 9. Evidence criteria; 10. Methods for decisions; 13. External review; 14. Update procedure; 18. Application tools; 19. Organisational barriers; 20. Cost implications; 21. Key review criteria; 22. Editorial independence; 23. Conflicts of interest), five (out of 23) items were specifically scored with regard to recommendations for unipolar psychotic depression: 11. Health benefits, side effects, and risks have been considered in formulating the recommendations; 12. There is an explicit link between the recommendations and the supporting evidence; 15. The recommendations are

specific and unambiguous; 16. The different options for management of the condition are clearly presented; and 17. Key recommendations are easily identifiable. These five specific items are linked to diagnostic category, in our case psychotic depression. We also retrieved from the guidelines the studies on which the recommendations were based and evaluated their methodological quality, in terms of controlled or uncontrolled studies, double-blind or open studies, inclusion of patients with unipolar psychotic depression or also other diagnoses (e.g. bipolar psychotic depression), and data analysis. Both authors had to reach agreement about their conclusions. In case of disagreement the case could be discussed with the third author (WN) to reach final agreement (which in no case was necessary).

Results

Quality

According to AGREE, the UK-NICE guideline (2004) has the highest quality score followed by the Dutch (2005), Australian (2004), and US-APA (2000) guidelines (see Table I), with 'rigor of development scores' (which covered the following items: search strategy, evidence inclusion criteria, methods for formulating the recommendations, considering benefits as well as risks, link between references and recommendations, external review, update procedure) being 100, 79, 69 and 64%, respectively (expressed as a percentage of maximum possible score). Editorial independence scores (which covered the following items: explicit statement about external funding and statement about conflicts of interest) are 67, 50, 58, and 83%, respectively. The other four guidelines (Trivedi 2000; CANMAT 2001; Bauer 2002; SASOP year unknown) have significantly lower scores on these two important domains.

Table I. Quality of guidelines (AGREE 2001): standardized domain scores.

Guideline			Domain and percentage of maximum possible domain score						
Country	Year	Developer	Scope and purpose	Stakeholder involvement	Rigor of development	Clarity and presentation	Applicability	Editorial independence	Sum score
UK	2004	NICE	100%	88%	100%	71%	61%	67%	487%
NL	2005	Trimbos Inst.	100%	75%	7 9%	92%	17%	50%	413%
USA-APA	2000	APA	78%	42%	64%	83%	0%	83%	350%
AU/NZ	2004	RANZCP	78%	58%	69%	58%	0%	58%	321%
CAN	2001	CPA/CANMAT	100%	50%	38%	83%	0%	17%	288%
Internat.	2002	WFSBP	100%	33%	36%	29%	0%	33%	231%
USA-TIMA	2000	TIMA	78%	38%	7%	67%	22%	0%	212%
SA	?	SASOP	39%	0%	0%	42%	0%	0%	81%

Bold characters: >60% of maximum possible score.

AGREE, Appraisal of Guidelines for Research & Evaluation.

Recommendations

Two guidelines are cautious in their formulation of treatment recommendations. The UK-NICE guideline (2004) states that 'augmenting the current treatment plan (i.e. the NICE recommendations regarding the use of ADs for the treatment of unipolar depression without psychotic features) with an AP should be considered'. The Dutch guideline (2005) considers 'starting with an AD and adding an AP if the patients does not respond' a reasonable option. The other six guidelines strongly recommend treatment with the combination of an AD and an AP instead of an AD alone.

Supporting evidence

Two guidelines do not mention the evidence (studies) on which the guidelines are based (USA-TIMA and South Africa). The other six guidelines all refer to Spiker et al. (1985). Parker et al. (1992) is mentioned by the Canadian and the Dutch guideline and Zanardi et al. (1996) by the Canadian and the UK-Nice guideline. The following studies are mentioned by one guideline: Anton and Burch (1990), Bellini et al. (1994), Zanardi et al. (2000) and Mulsant et al. (2001) by theUK-NICE guideline, Minter and Manderl (1979), Kaskey et al. (1980), Charney and Nelson (1981), Brown et al. (1982), Spiker et al. (1982) by the Australian guideline, Bruijn et al. (2001) by the Dutch guideline, Rothschild et al. (1993) by the WFSBP guideline, Zanardi et al. (1998) and Rothschild et al. (1999) by the Canadian guideline. A critical short overview of all the references is presented in Table II.

The UK-NICE guideline (2004) refers to six randomised clinical trials (RCTs) (Spiker 1985; Anton and Burch 1990; Bellini 1994; Zanardi 1996, 2000; Mulsant 2001), and data were reanalysed according to intention to treat (ITT) principles (i.e. drop-outs after randomisation were included in the analysis). The guideline states that only trials with fewer than 15% patients with bipolar disorders were included. However, in the study of Bellini et al. (1994) 25% (12/48) of the included patients had bipolar disorders and in the study of Spiker et al. (1985) 15.5% (9/58). Therefore, according to the UK-NICE criteria, only the studies by Mulsant et al. (2001) (no patients with bipolar disorders included) and Zanardi et al. (1996) (excluding patients with bipolar disorders in the analysis was possible) should have been included. Of these two RCTs, Mulsant et al. (2001) found no significant difference between treatment with an AD alone or combination treatment with an AD plus an AP, whereas Zanardi et al. (1996) compared two ADs without an AP. Thus, to our opinion and in

fact also according to their own criteria, the UK-NICE guideline does not provide evidence on which to base their cautious recommendation that '... augmenting AD with an AP should be considered'.

The Dutch guideline (2005) refers to three studies (Spiker 1985; Parker 1992; Bruijn 2001) The data of these studies were not re-analyzed. The study of Spiker et al. (1985) included 15.5% patients with bipolar disorders and in the ITT analysis the difference between an AD and an AD plus an AP was no longer statistically significant. The conclusions of the review by Parker et al. (1992) were based on data from mostly uncontrolled studies. The cautious recommendations of this guideline 'Starting treatment with a TCA and if after 4 weeks there is still no response adding an AP is a reasonable option. Starting with the combination of a TCA and an AP is also a reasonable option' are in accordance with the evidence provided by these three studies.

In the US-APA guideline (2000), the recommendation 'a combination of AP and AD medications (or ECT) should be used for psychotic depression' is based on one referred study: the study of Spiker et al. (1985) which was rated as providing a level I evidence (the highest level in this guideline), meaning 'with substantial clinical confidence'. The guideline does not mention that in this trial the difference between the combination of amitriptyline plus perphenazine versus amitriptyline alone was statistically significant only when the data of study completers were analysed and not in the ITT analysis which was not presented in that paper. Thus, we conclude that the recommendation of the US-APA guideline is in fact not based on level I evidence and to our opinion should not be considered evidence based on an ITT analysis of the study by Spiker et al. (1985)

The Canadian guideline (2001) refers to five studies (Spiker 1985; Parker 1992; Zanardi 1996, 1998; Rothschild 1999); the data from these studies were not re-analysed. The guideline seems inconsistent in its evaluation of the available evidence. The study of Spiker et al. (1985) was scored as a level I evidence and those of Zanardi et al. (1996, 1998) as a level II evidence, without further clarification, while the Spiker (1985) study looses significance with ITT recalculation and both Zanardi (1996, 1998) studies do not. Of the study of Parker et al. 1992), the guideline states that '... the results of this meta-analysis are limited by the inclusion of openlabel trials'. Nevertheless, the guideline reaches a clear recommendation: 'First-line treatment is (ECT or) an AP plus AD (level I evidence) and as secondline treatment olanzapine plus AD (level III evidence)'. The guideline does not recommend

412 J. Wijkstra et al.

Table II. Review of references.

Reference	Description of study
Minter and Manderl 1979	A prospective open case report of 11 patients with a psychotic major depression. Nonresponders to single treatment were included again. Treatment was with TCA till maximum tolerated dose (mean dose 150 mg) for at least 3 weeks, or with an AP. Responders with first treatments only: TCA 0/3 (0%), AP 2/4 (50%).
Kaskey et al 1980	A retrospective study of 23 patients with depression and delusions, including 30% with bipolar disorder or schizoaffective disorder. Treatment was with imipramine 100 mg for more than 3 weeks (without blood level control), with an AP, or with the combination. Responders: AD plus AP 7/11 (63%), AP 2/6 (33%) and AD 3/10 (30%)
Charney and Nelson 1981	A retrospective study of patients with unipolar depression with $(n = 54)$ or without delusions $(n = 66)$. Nonresponders to single treatment were included again. Treatment was with TCA mostly 250 mg for a minimum of 3 weeks (without blood level control), or with an AP (or with the combination if nonresponder to AD or AP). Responders to first treatment only: TCA psychotic 2/9 (22%) and nonpsychotic 32/40 (80%), AP psychotic 8/26 (31%) and nonpsychotic 0/1 (0%)
Brown et al 1982	Retrospective study with 34 patients with unipolar depression without psychotic features (NP) and 30 with psychotic features (P). Twenty-three NP and 18 P were treated for at least 3 weeks with at least 150 mg TCA (without blood levels), 1 NP and 0 P with AP, and 0 NP and 3 P with the combination (rest of patients with psychotherapy or ECT). Responders: TCA: NP 12/23 (52%) and P 2/18 (11%), AP: NP 0/1 (0%) and P 0/0, TCA plus AP: NP 0/0 and P 0/3 (0%)
Spiker et al 1982	This study describes the results of the first 2 years of the Spiker et al, 1985 study. ¹²
Spiker et al 1985	RCT of patients with psychotic depression (only patients with delusions); 9/58 (15.5%) of the patients had bipolar disorders. Three treatments: perphenazine versus amitriptyline versus amitriptyline plus perphenazine. Treatment period 4 weeks. In the original publication 7 dropouts were excluded from the analysis. Responders (ITT): perphenazine 3/17, amitriptyline 7/19, combination 14/22. Difference between AD plus AP and AD was not statistically significant.
Anton and Burch 1990	RCT comparing amoxapine versus amitriptyline plus perphenazine. DSM-III psychotic major depressive episode. No blood levels. Treatment period 4 weeks. Dropouts: 8/46 (17%). Bipolar disorders: 6/38 (15.8%). Responders (ITT): amoxapine 12/21 (57%) and amitriptyline plus perphenazine 17/25 (68%). This difference was not statistically significant.
Parker et al 1992	In this review included studies are from before 1988. Most of the included studies were retrospective or open prospective case reports. Some did not use clear classification criteria and many included unknown numbers of patients with bipolar disorders. As a consequence, the conclusion of this review is cautious: "TCA plus AP is not significantly better than TCA" and "Prescriptive statements about the comparative efficacy of drug treatments should not be accepted with confidence"
Rothschild et al 1993	An open prospective study of 23 patients with unipolar psychotic depression (DSM-III-R). Treatment was for 5 weeks with fluoxetine 20 mg (or, if after 3 weeks no response, 40 mg) plus perphenazine 32 mg. Responders: 18/23 (78%).
Bellini et al 1994	Underpowered RCT with 4 study arms. DSM-III-R psychotic major depressive episode. Number of patients 10, 14, 13, and 11. Treatment period 6 weeks. No blood levels. Dropouts: 0. Bipolar disorders: 12/ 48 (25%). Responders: desipramine+placebo 4/10 (40%), desipramine+haloperidol 9/14 (64%), fluvoxamine+placebo 9/13 (10%), fluvoxamine+haloperidol 5/11 (45%)
Zanardi et al 1996	RCT comparing 150 mg sertraline versus 30 mg paroxetine. Included 46 patients with psychotic depressive episode (DSM-III-R); patients with bipolar disorders could be excluded from analysis. Treatment period 5 weeks. Dropouts: paroxetine 5/14 (36%), sertraline 0/18. Responders (ITT): sertraline 13/18 (72%), paroxetine 3/14 (21%).
	Comment: Rothschild and Philips (1999a) have raised question to this study because of the high response rate without a placebo arm. They suggested the possibility of misdiagnosis. Zanardi replied that a placebo arm was ethically impossible, that the lack of placebo response in psychotic depression is well documented, and that diagnosis was strictly according to DSM-III-R.
Zanardi et al 1998	RCT comparing 300 mg fluvoxamine plus pindolol versus 300 mg fluvoxamine plus placebo and including 50 patients with psychotic unipolar depression and 22 patients with bipolar disorders (30.5%). Treatment period 6 weeks. Dropouts: 1/36 (3%) in fluvoxamine plus pindolol group. Responders (ITT): fluvoxamine plus pindolol 29/36 (81%), fluvoxamine plus placebo 28/35 (80%), with a significant more rapid improvement with pindolol addition.
Rothschild et al 1999b	A retrospective study of 22 hospitalised patients with unipolar psychotic depression. They were treated with olanzapine or other neuroleptics and 80% of the patients also with various types of ADs in unknown dose. Length of treatment is unknown (until discharge, partly less than 2weeks). Responders: olanzapine plus an AD 8/11 (73%), other neuroleptics plus an AD 3/11 (27%).
Zanardi et al 2000	RCT comparing 300 mg venlafaxine versus 300 mg fluvoxamine in 22 patients with major depressive disorder with psychotic features (DSM-IV) including 6 (21.4%) patients with bipolar disorders. We received additional data from the author to exclude the patients with bipolar disorders from the analysis. Treatment period 5 weeks. Dropouts: venlafaxine 2/11 (18%), fluvoxamine 0/11. Responders (ITT): venlafaxine 6/11 (55%); fluvoxamine 9/11 (82%).

Table II (Continued)	
Reference	Description of study
Bruijn et al 2001	A subgroup analysis of the patients with unipolar psychotic depression of the Bruijn et al, 1996 ²⁸ study comparing imipramine and mirtazapine in the treatment of major depression. A well-designed RCT including blood level guided dosing of imipramine. Responders in the unipolar psychotic depression group: imipramine 9/15 (60%), mirtazapine 3/15 (20%)
Mulsant et al 2001	RCT with inpatients older than 50 years. DSM-III-R psychotic major depressive episode. (Manic episode in history excluded). Open treatment with nortriptyline until therapeutic plasma level followed by randomisation to nortriptyline or nortriptyline plus perphenazine. With blood levels. Treatment period after randomisation was 2–16 weeks, total treatment was at least 4 weeks. The randomised group was a selected group because responders on nortriptyline and patients with adverse effects and for other reasons were excluded (18/54, 33%). Responder in ITT analysis: nortriptyline 7/19 (37%), nortriptyline+perphenazine 7/17 (41%). This difference is statistically not significant.

monotherapy with a SSRI despite, according to the authors, there being level II evidence for this recommendation, while it advises using olanzapine, which, again according to their own classification, is supported by only level III evidence (Rothschild et al. 1999).

The Australian New Zealand guideline (2004) refers to six studies (Minter and Manderl 1979; Kaskey 1980; Charney and Nelson 1981; Brown 1982; Spiker 1982, 1985) in their conclusion that the treatment with a TCA plus an AP is superior to a TCA alone, indicated by a number needed to treat of 2 (!). However, the guideline does not take into account the many methodological problems of all six studies. The only prospective RCT was the study of Spiker et al. (1985) (the 1982 study of Spiker et al. is part of that study); three studies were retrospective (Minter and Manderl 1979; Charney and Nelson 1981; Brown 1982); two studies used too low doses of a TCA and for only a very short treatment period (Kaskey 1980; Brown 1982); and one study included 30% patients with bipolar disorders Kaskey (1980). As already mentioned, based on ITT analysis, the Spiker et al. (1985) study did not find combination treatment (AP+AD) to be superior to AD monotherapy. Thus, considering the referred studies, the conclusion of this guideline can in fact not be considered evidence based.

The US-TIMA guideline (Trivedi 2000) does not refer to studies. Therefore, we cannot evaluate on which evidence its recommendation 'treatment with AD+AP has been shown to be significantly more effective than either alone' has been based.

The WFSBP guideline (Bauer 2002) refers to two studies (Spiker et al. 1985), and an open uncontrolled study by Rothschild et al. (1993), the data of which were not re-analysed. On the basis of these two studies, the guideline concludes that 'the combination of an AD plus an AP has a considerably better response rate than either component alone', a conclusion that is 'supported' by the highest level of evidence (in this guideline level A means more than three RCTs, at least one with placebo). Given the quality of the studies (and the ITT outcome of the Spiker et al. (1985) study), this conclusion seems not warranted.

The South-African guideline (year unknown) is in fact an enumeration of algorithms for the most prevalent psychiatric conditions. It does not mention any evidence and has no date of publication. It advises combination treatment with an AD and an AP.

Discussion

Quality

With the AGREE method, the UK-NICE guideline (2004) was the best of these eight guidelines. It is cautious in its recommendations with regard to the treatment of unipolar psychotic depression. The Dutch guideline (2005) was second and is also cautious in its recommendations. Given their referred evidence, these two guidelines can be considered as the most evidence based. The other six guidelines scored lower with the AGREE method and all of them recommend using the combination of an AD and an AP.

There is a small correlation between AGREE scores and year of publication. From higher to lower scores: 2004, 2005, 2000, 2004, 2001, 2002, 2000, and one unknown.

Evidence and recommendations

Surprisingly, not all guidelines were based on the same or, considering the year of publication, on the evidence available at date of publication. A possible explanation is that a systematic review, including an extensive literature search and analysis, is too timeconsuming for just a small paragraph in the often large guidelines on the treatment of depression. In this respect, it is noteworthy to indicate that there is no MESH term for psychotic depression, making it very complicated to find all the relevant references.

414 J. Wijkstra et al.

In our review we had to check 3333 abstracts to find 10 RCTs into the pharmacological treatment of bipolar depression (Wijkstra 2005, 2006)

A serious problem is that most of the referred studies methodologically can be criticised (see also Table II). Many of them are retrospective and open studies. Even the few randomised clinical trials have been criticised. Rothschild and Phillips (1999) have raised question to the 1996 study by Zanardi et al. because of the high response rate without a placebo arm. They suggested the possibility of misdiagnosis. The landmark study of Spiker (1985), referred to in all guidelines, excluded drop outs in the results. With intention to treat recalculation in this study the difference between an AD plus an AP and an AD alone looses statistical significance.

The treatment of psychotic depression is a challenge and is under studied. Reasons for the overall scarcity of studies are probably manifold. In most or even almost all clinical trials, also registration trials, patients with psychotic symptoms are excluded. Diagnostics are difficult. Differential diagnosis between psychotic bipolar and unipolar depression for instance depends greatly on information from others about prior illness history. In some, especially the older studies, psychotically depressed bipolar patients were included. And how to differentiate between a first psychotic episode in schizophrenia and psychotic depression? Most schizophrenic patients also have affective symptoms. Besides problems with diagnostics, obtaining informed consent is a problem with psychotic depressed patients. Many of them have extreme difficulties in decision making. Psychotic patients often are incompetent to give informed consent. Informed consent from legal representatives can be difficult to get. In addition, to our own experience, a necessary medication free period prior to randomisation and start of study treatment is emotionally difficult for many doctors and nurses because of the severe suffering of their patients. If family and nurses do not see progress drop out chances quickly rise. And last but not least getting funds for research can be difficult because most pharmaceutical companies are not interested to obtain licensing for only a subcategory of depression.

Implications

Although guidelines not always influence clinical practice as they should (Weinmans 2005), clinical guidelines are in general considered of great importance to clinical practice (Miller 2004) Our previous systematic review of available studies in psychotic depression and subsequently our review of conclusions and treatment recommendations in guidelines based on (part of) these studies, shows that the conclusions and recommendations given in these guidelines appear not as evidence based as being claimed. Physicians (and patients) should be aware of this potential limitation.

In general in could be useful to study guidelines on other treatment issues using the methodology described here.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

J Wijkstra and W Nolen are currently conducting a randomized controlled trial involving patients with unipolar psychotic depression that is financially supported by Wyeth and AstraZeneca.

References

- Agree Collaboration. 2001. Appraisal of Guidelines for Research & Evaluation (AGREE) Instrument. www.agreecollaboration. org.
- American Psychiatric Association. 2000. Practice guideline for the treatment of patients with major depressive disorder (revision).
 Am J Psychiatry 2000;157(Suppl 4):1–45
- Anton RF Jr, Burch EA Jr. 1990. Amoxapine versus amitriptyline combined with perphenazine in the treatment of psychotic depression. Am J Psychiatry 147:203–208.
- Bauer M, Whybrow PC, Angst J, Versiani M, Möller HJ. 2002
 World Federation of Societies of Biological Psychiatry (WFSBP) Guidelines for Biological Treatment of Unipolar Depressive Disorders, Parts 1 and 2. World J Biol Psychiatry 3:5–43, 69–86.
- Bellini L, Gasperini M, Gatti F, Franchini L, Smeraldi E. 1994. A double blind study with fluvoxamine vs. desipramine combined with placebo or haloperidol in delusional depression. Crit Issues Treat Affect Disord 9:32–36.
- Brown RP, Frances A, Kocsis JH, Mann JJ. 1982. Psychotic vs. nonpsychotic depression: comparison of treatment response. J Nerv Ment Dis 170:635–637.
- Bruijn JA, Moleman P, Mulder PG, et al. 1996. A double-blind, fixed blood-level study comparing mirtazapine with imipramine in depressed in-patients. Psychopharmacology 127:231–237.
- Bruijn JA, Moleman P, Mulder PHG, Broek van den WW. 2001. Treatment of mood-congruent psychotic depression with imipramine. J Affect Disord 66:165–174.
- CANMAT Depression Workgroup. 2001. Clinical guidelines for the treatment of depressive disorders. Can J Psychiatry 46(Suppl 1):5–90.
- Charney DS, Nelson JC. 1981. Delusional and nondelusional unipolar depression: further evidence for distinct subtypes. Am J Psychiatry 138:328–333.
- Dutch National Steering Committee Multidisciplinary Guideline Development Mental Health (Landelijke stuurgroep Multidisciplinaire Richtlijnontwikkeling in de GGZ). 2005. Multidisciplinary guideline depression. Trimbos-instituut. www. trimbos.nl/producten. ISBN 9052535078.
- Kaskey GB, Nasr S, Meltzer HY. 1980. Drug treatment in delusional depression. Psychiatry Res 1:267–277.

- Miller AL, Crismon ML, Rush AJ, et al. 2004. The Texas medication algorithm project: clinical results for schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 30:627–647.
- Minter RE, Manderl MR. 1979. A prospective study of the treatment of psychotic depression. Am J Psychiatry 136:1470–1472.
- Mulsant BH, Sweet RA, Rosen J, et al. 2001. A double-blind randomised comparison of nortriptyline plus perphenazine versus nortriptyline plus placebo in the treatment of psychotic depression in late life. J Clin Psychiatry 62:597–604.
- National Institute for Clinical Excellence. 2004. Depression: management of depression in primary and secondary care (Clinical Guideline 23). London: NICE.
- Parker G, Roy K, Hadzi-Pavlovic D, Pedic F. 1992. Psychotic (delusional) depression: a meta-analysis of physical treatments. J Affect Disord 24:17–24.
- Rothschild AJ, Phillips KA. 1999. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and delusional depression (Letter). Am J Psychiatry 156:977–978.
- Rothschild AJ, Samson JA, Besette MP, Carter-Campbell JT. 1993. Efficacy of the combination of fluoxetine and perphenazine in the treatment of psychotic depression. J Clin Psychiatry 54:338–342.
- Rothschild AJ, Bates KS, Boehringer KL, Syed A. 1999. Olanzapine response in psychotic depression. J Clin Psychiatry 60:116–118.
- Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists Clinical Practice Guideline Team for Depression. 2004. Australian and New Zealand clinical practice guideline for the treatment of depression. Aust NZ J Psychiatry 38:389–407.
- South African Society of Psychiatrists (SASOP). Year unknown. Algorithms for the more prevalent psychiatric conditions.

- Spiker DG, Hanin I, Perel JM, Cofsky JE, Rossi AJ, Sorisio D. 1982. Pharmacological treatment of delusional depressives. Psychopharmacol Bull 18:184–1186.
- Spiker DG, Cofsky WJ, Dealy RS, et al. 1985. The pharmacological treatment of delusional depression. Am J Psychiatry 42:430–436.
- Trivedi MH, Shon S, Crismon ML, Key T. 2000. Guidelines for Treating Depressive Disorder. Texas Implementation of Medication Algorithms (TIMA) University of Texas Southwestern Medical School at Dallas.
- Weinmans S, Janssen B, Gaebel W. 2005. Guideline adherence in medication management of psychotic disorders: an observational multisite hospital study. Acta Psychiatr Scand 112:18– 25.
- Wijkstra J, Lijmer J, Balk FJ, Geddes JR, Nolen WA. 2005. Pharmacological treatment for psychotic depression. The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD004044.pub2. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004044.pub2.
- Wijkstra J, Lijmer J, Balk FJ, Geddes JR, Nolen WA. 2006. Pharmacological treatment for unipolar psychotic depression: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 188:410– 415.
- Zanardi R, Franchini L, Gasperini M, Perez J, Smeraldi E. 1996. Double-blind controlled trial of sertraline versus paroxetine in the treatment of delusional depression. Am J Psychiatry. 153:1631–1633.
- Zanardi R, Franchini L, Gasperini M, Lucca A, Smeraldi E, Perez J. 1998. Faster onset of action of fluvoxamine in combination with pindolol in the treatment of delusional depression: a controlled study. J Clin Psychopharmacol 18:441–446.
- Zanardi R, Franchini L, Serretti A, Perez J, Smeraldi E. 2000. Venlafaxine versus fluvoxamine in the treatment of delusional depression: a pilot double-blind controlled study. J Clin Psychiatry 61:26–29.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Use of aripiprazole in tardive dyskinesia: An open label study of six cases

RAJAPRABHAKARAN RAJARETHINAM¹, JOHN DZIUBA¹, SUZANNE MANJI¹, ALBERT PIZZUTI¹, LEONARD LACHOVER¹ & MATCHERI KESHAVAN^{1,2,3}

¹Wayne State University School of Medicine, Detroit, MI, USA, ²Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Harvard University, Boston, MA, USA, and ³University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Abstract

Aripiprazole, a partial dopamine agonist has been reported to help reduce symptoms of tardive dyskinesia (TD). In a prospective, open label study of a series of cases, we examined the effectiveness of aripiprazole in reducing TD symptoms. Six clinically stable patients with schizophrenia or Schizoaffective disorder and a moderate to severe TD participated in this study. They were systematically cross-titrated from their current medication to aripiprazole and maintained for 16 weeks. The mean extra pyramidal symptom score measured by Abnormal Involuntary Movement Scale (AIMS) improved from a baseline score of 15.8 to final score of 5 (paired *t*-test; P=0.0009). The severity of psychiatric symptoms remained unchanged. This study supports our hypothesis that clinically stable patients with moderate tardive dyskinesia who are under treatment with other first- or second-generation antipsychotics may benefit from switching to aripiprazole with a reduction of TD symptoms but with out any significant benefit in psychiatric symptoms. The results need to be viewed with caution and not considered as indicative of a viable treatment option for TD as this is an open label study, and a small sample size.

Key words: Schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, antipsychotics, tardive dyskinesia, EPS

Introduction

Tardive dyskinesia (TD) is a drug-induced movement disorder associated with prolonged administration of conventional dopamine blocking antipsychotics (Casey 1999). Incidence rates of new TD cases approximate 3-5% per year with a cumulative incidence of 53% after 10 years of continuous neuroleptic therapy (Correll and Schenk 2008). TD can be distressing and debilitating to the patients and preclude their successful social integration and rehabilitation. The newer, atypical antipsychotics have a much lower incidence of TD even after long-term use and some of these medications may help reduce TD symptoms possibly due to the different action profile (Kane 2004; Soares-Weiser and Fernandez 2007). Clozapine has been shown to be effective in treating TD and there are reports of improvement in TD with risperidone, olanzapine and quetiapine (Kane 2004). Aripiprazole, the newest atypical antipsychotic (Fleischhacker et al. 2001) has also been associated with a lower incidence of involuntary movements compared to the conventional antipsychotic, haloperidol (Tarsy and Baldessarini 2006; Miller et al. 2007).

TD is hypothesized to result from an antipsychoticinduced hypodopaminergic state leading to dopaminergic supersensitivity (Casey 2004). The reason for lower incidence of TD with newer atypical agents is not well understood. Some of the prominent hypotheses include lesser degree of D2 blockade, 5HT2A receptor antagonism, fast dissociation and sparing of the nigrostriatal dopamine pathway. Aripiprazole is a unique antipsychotic that acts as a weak, partial dopamine agonist and so it can be speculated to mitigate the dopaminergic supersensitivity that may underlie TD. Several case reports have document improvement in TD with Aripiprazole (Sharma et al. 2005; Duggal and Mendhekar 2006; Kantrowitz et al. 2007; Lykouras et al. 2007) but to our knowledge there have been no systematic prospective studies reported. In this open label study we examined the usefulness of short-term (16 weeks) aripiprazole treatment in patients with schizophrenia and/or

Correspondence: Matcheri Keshavan, MD, Professor, Department of Psychiatry, Wayne State University School of Medicine, UHC 9B, 4201, St Antoine St., Detroit, MI, USA. E-mail: rrajaret@med.wayne.edu

(Received 25 February 2009; accepted 14 April 2009)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970902995612

schizoaffective disorder who are suffering from moderate to severe neuroleptic induced TD.

Subjects

Six individuals with a DSM-1V diagnosis of schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder were recruited from the outpatient services affiliated to Wayne State University School of Medicine. The Wayne State University Human Investigations committee approved the study. Inclusion criteria were: (a) age between 18 and 55 years; (b) DSM-1V (American Psychiatric Association 1994) diagnosis of schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder; (c) Research Diagnostic Criteria for TD (Schooler and Kane 1982); The Schooler-Kane criteria require a sum of 4 (a score of >3 on any one of the AIMS items 1 through 7, and >1 on another categorical item); and (d) a total PANSS score between 60 and 120. We excluded patients with current or past history of neurological illness; current or recent (within the past month) DSM-1V diagnosis of substance abuse or dependence; pregnant or breast-feeding individuals as the physiological changes with pregnancy/ lactation may affect TD; and patients who received depot neuroleptics within 3 months of entry.

Methods

A clinical diagnosis using DSM-IV-R was determined using all available clinical information including chart review and interview. Following informed consent, and baseline screening procedures, participants were scheduled for six follow-up visits at 1, 2, 4, 8 and 16 weeks. At day 0 or baseline visit, the participants signed consent, and data regarding clinical presentation, symptomatology and abnormal movements were collected using Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) and Abnormal Involuntary Movement Scale (AIMS) by a psychiatrist and a senior research nurse. If eligible, aripiprazole was started and their current antipsychotic medication was reduced to 50% at this visit. At visit 1 (baseline +7) the participants'

Table I. Clinical data

prior antipsychotic was decreased by another 25% and aripiprazole was titrated if necessary. At visit 2 (baseline +14) the previous antipsychotic was discontinued. Use of concomitant medications and adverse events were addressed during each visit along with PANSS and AIMS. Visits 3 to 6 (baseline +28, 64 and 112 days) consisted of the same assessments as visit 2. The patients were not allowed to take anticholinergic medication during the study. The dosage of aripiprazole was adjusted by the physician depending upon the clinical presentation. The mean dose of aripiprazole at the beginning of the study was 9.16 mg and the mean dose of aripiprazole at study end was 20 mg. Following completion of the trial, the patient was either continued on aripiprazole, or switched to another antipsychotic treatment. One participant signed consent and then withdrew consent prior to any assessments. The following two case summaries highlight the key aspects of our observation.

- 1. BR is a 51-year-old female under treatment for schizophrenia since 1989. Her major symptomatology included auditory hallucinations and paranoid delusions of being poisoned, being watched and being placed under a curse. She was initially treated with fluphenazine deconoate 25 mg, intramuscularly every 4 weeks then with fluphenazine oral pill 5mg twice a day for which she responded well. About 4 years ago, she gradually began to manifest signs of tardive dyskinesia, with oral, buccal, and lingual dystonic movements. At this time her medication was changed to risperidone which helped her with psychiatric symptoms but her TD did not improve. She agreed to participate in this study, and completed the entire study. With aripiprazole treatment her TD symptoms improved (AIMS score 16 to 7) and psychiatric symptoms stayed about the same (PANSS score 78 to 75). She is currently taking aripiprazole 20 mg once a day.
- 2. SG is a 42-year-old male with more than a 5year history of schizophrenia. He was clinically stable but exhibited high residual symptoms

				AIM	S	PAN	ISS	
Subject	Age	Sex	Diagnosis	Begin	End	Begin	End	Completed visits
1	46	М	Schizophrenia	12	5	81	79	6
2	42	М	Schizophrenia	21	7	96	112	5
3	42	М	Schizophrenia	22	6	88	87	5
4	42	М	Schizophrenia	12	5	43	45	4
5	51	F	Schizoaffective d/o	12	0	42	34	4
6	51	F	Schizophrenia	16	7	78	75	6
Mean (SD)			-	15.8 (4.6)	5 (2.6)	71.3 (23.1)	72 (28.5)	
Two-tailed p	aired <i>t</i> -test	:		0.0008	871	0.8	49	

418 R. Rajarethinam et al.

with a total PANSS score of 96 and moderate auditory hallucinations. He had severe TD with buccal/oral movements and a total AIMS score of 21. He tolerated aripiprazole well and experienced a noticeable improvement in TD, but immediately after discontinuing haloperidol his psychiatric symptoms worsened with an increase in the severity of hallucinations. However, he discontinued aripiprazole and started back on haloperidol on his own. He discontinued from the study but continues treatment with one of the authors (JD). He is maintained on a combination of haloperidol and aripiprazole with good control of his symptoms and improvement in TD.

Results

Six participants (four males and two females; mean age was 45.6 ± 5.6 years) were included in this study. The mean PANSS score did not change during the study (71.3 at base line and 72 at the end of study). This was not statistically significant but one of the patients became more symptomatic and needed to restart haloperidol (case example 2). The mean total AIMS score at baseline visit was 15.8 ± 4.7 which improved at the completion of the study to 5 ± 2.6 (P=0009; paired *t*-test). As it is shown in the table, each patient improved to a noticeable degree with their TD symptoms. One patient (subject 2) showed early signs of relapse and discontinued from the study. No major adverse events were noted.

Discussion

This open label prospective study illustrates that aripiprazole may help reduce the symptoms of TD. One of the major limitations with this study is that this is an open label study and the role of patient and rater bias cannot be ruled out; however, the degree of change in the AIMS score is encouraging and tentatively supports our hypothesis. Another limitation is that the sample size is small and so type I errors can not be ruled out. These findings should therefore be considered as preliminary.

As expected, the patients did not change symptomatically. All of them tolerated the switch except for one patient who had worsening of symptoms subjectively and objectively (case example 2). Although this patient dropped out of the study, he is currently stable symptomatically on a combination of haloperidol and aripiprazole with an improvement in TD. He appears to have benefited from the combination with a reduction in TD symptoms and stability through older antipsychotic. This case might imply that aripiprazole can be used as an add-on medication for TD, but further studies are needed to assert this observation.

Our observation of the improvement in TD with aripiprazole is consistent with several anecdotal reports (Kantrowitz et al. 2007). However, occurrence of TD has also been reported in patients treated with aripiprazole (Abbasian and Power 2008; Lim et al. 2008) and recent studies report higher than expected incidence of TD with atypical antipsychotics, especially when they are administered in higher doses for long periods of time (Correll and Schenk 2008). Yet, one of the major advantages and a popular reason for preference by patients and clinicians of the newer second-generation antipsychotics is the lower incidence of extrapyramidal side effects and TD (Tandon and Jibson 2001). Our observations support the idea that patients and clinicians may prefer to switch to aripiprazole for the benefits of relief in TD symptoms, however this observation can not be considered as evidence that aripiprazole is useful in treating TD as the relief from TD symptoms can be due to the discontinuation of the previous medications. We believe that aripiprazole may be considered as a treatment option for patients who are suffering from tardive dyskinesia, but larger controlled studies are needed to confirm our preliminary observation, before this becomes a recommendation in clinical practice.

Acknowledgements

This study was funded by an unrestricted research grant from Bristol Myers Squibb and Otsuka Pharmaceuticals.

Statement of Interest

None.

References

- Abbasian C, Power P. 2009. A case of aripiprazole and tardive dyskinesia. J Psychopharmacol Mar;23(2):214–5. Epub 2008 May 30.
- Casey D. 1999. Tardive dyskinesia and atypical antipsychotic drugs. Schizophr Res 35(Suppl):S61–66.
- Casey D. 2004. Pathophysiology of antipsychotic drug-induced movement disorders. J Clin Psychiatry 65(Suppl 9):25–28.
- Correll C, Schenk E. 2008. Tardive dyskinesia and new antipsychotics. Curr Opin Psychiatry 21(2):151–156.
- Duggal H, Mendhekar D. 2006. Atypical antipsychotics, tardive dyskinesia, and D(2) receptors. Am J Psychiatry 163(8): 1449–1450.
- Fleischhacker W, Lemmens P, van Baelen B. 2001. A qualitative assessment of the neurological safety of antipsychotic drugs; an analysis of a risperidone database. Pharmacopsychiatry 34(3):104–110.
- Kane JM. 2004. Tardive dyskinesia rates with atypical antipsychotics in adults: prevalence and incidence. J Clin Psychiatry 65(Suppl 9):16–20.

- Kantrowitz JT, Srihari V, Tek. 2007. Resolution of tardive dyskinesia after addition of aripiprazole to haloperidol depot. J Clin Psychopharmacol 27(5):525–526.
- Lim HK, Pae CU, Lee C, Lee. 2008. Tardive dystonic symptoms associated with aripiprazole treatment. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 32(2):589–590.
- Lykouras L, Rizos E, Gournellis R. 2007. Aripiprazole in the treatment of tardive dyskinesia induced by other atypical antipsychotics. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 31(7):1535–1536.
- Miller del D, Eudicone JM, Pikalov A, Kim. 2007. Comparative assessment of the incidence and severity of tardive dyskinesia in patients receiving aripiprazole or haloperidol for the treatment of schizophrenia: a post hoc analysis. J Clin Psychiatry 68(12):1901–1906.

- Schooler NR, Kane JM. 1982. Research diagnoses for tardive dyskinesia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 39(4):486–487.
- Sharma A, Ramaswamy S, Dewan VK. 2005. Resolution of ziprasidone-related tardive dyskinesia with a switch to aripiprazole. Prim Care Companion J Clin Psychiatry 7(1):36.
- Soares-Weiser K, Fernandez HH. 2007. Tardive dyskinesia. Semin Neurol 27(2):159–169.
- Tandon R, Jibson MD. 2001. Pharmacologic treatment of schizophrenia: what the future holds. CNS Spectr 6(12): 980–984, 986.
- Tarsy D, Baldessarini RJ. 2006. Epidemiology of tardive dyskinesia: is risk declining with modern antipsychotics? Mov Disord 21(5):589–598.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Blood pressure changes during clozapine or olanzapine treatment in Korean schizophrenic patients

YOUNG SUP WOO¹, WON KIM², JEONG-HO CHAE¹, BO-HYUN YOON³ & WON-MYONG BAHK¹

¹Department of Psychiatry, College of Medicine, The Catholic University of Korea, Seoul, Korea, ²Department of Psychiatry, College of Medicine, Inje University, Seoul Paik Hospital Seoul, Korea, and ³Naju National Hospital, Department of Psychiatry, Naju, Korea

Abstract

Background. Numerous reports have linked atypical antipsychotics, especially clozapine and olanzapine, to the development of cardiovascular risk factors. In this retrospective chart review study, we investigated the blood pressure changes in Korean schizophrenic inpatients treated with clozapine or olanzapine. *Method.* We reviewed the medical record of schizophrenic patients treated with clozapine for 8 weeks. A total of 167 patients were included in the study; 70 patients in clozapine group and 97 patients in olanzapine group. Systolic and diastolic blood pressures prior to medication and at post-treatment (8-week) were assessed, and changes in blood pressure were analyzed. The prevalence of hypertension at the time of study period was assessed and compared between the two groups. *Results.* There was a significant difference in hypertension prevalence in comparisons between the clozapine and olanzapine group. The systolic and diastolic blood pressures in the clozapine group were significantly increased after treatment, but systolic and diastolic blood pressures in olanzapine group did not change significantly. *Conclusion.* Our findings suggest that clozapine treatment may be associated with increased blood pressure and higher prevalence of hypertension, which may have a significant impact on medical morbidity and mortality.

Key words: Clozapine, blood pressure, olanzapine, schizophrenia

Introduction

Side effect profiles related to long term antipsychotic treatment have become the focus of attention recently as concern regarding maintenance treatment has increased. Cardiovascular disease is the most frequent cause of death among both men and women, accounting for approximately 30% of all deaths in the United States (Mokdad et al. 2004). Moreover, patients with schizophrenia have a higher prevalence of cardiovascular disease than the general population (Davidson 2002). The use of atypical antipsychotics has been associated with cardiovascular risk factors including weight gain, hyperlipidemia and diabetes mellitus (Ryan and Thakore 2002). While a growing body of evidence related to serum lipid abnormalities, weight gain, obesity and diabetes mellitus is emerging, there are few reports on the prevalence of hypertension in patients treated with atypical antipsychotics.

Clozapine is associated with significant weight gain, increase in serum lipids, and cardiomyopathy; there are some reports that clozapine is related to onset of hypertension (Gupta and Rajaprabhakaran 1994; George and Winther 1996; Henderson et al. 2004). However, the relationship between clozapine treatment and onset of hypertension is controversial. Lund et al. (2001) found no significant differences in patients receiving clozapine versus conventional antipsychotic agents. Only 5.3% of conventional antipsychotic-treated patients and 4.1% of clozapine-treated patients received treatment for hypertension.

Olanzapine is similar to clozapine in structure and receptor profile and is a well-known cause of significant weight gain and dyslipidemia (Beasley et al. 1997; Lambert et al. 2003). Fontaine et al. (2001) estimated the effects of weight gain on the prevalence of hypertension in patients treated with

Correspondence: Dr W.M. Bahk, Department of Psychiatry, College of Medicine, The Catholic University of Korea, #62 Yoido-Dong, Youngdeungpo-Gu, Seoul 150-713, Korea. Tel: +82 2 3779 1250. Fax: +82 2 780 6577. E-mail: wmbahk@catholic.ac.kr

(Received 30 April 2007; accepted 27 December 2007)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970801910399

antipsychotics using raw data from 5209 respondents from the Framingham Heart Study's (Dawber et al. 1951) public use data set. Hypertension and weight gain were estimated to have a linear effect. However, only a few studies have assessed the risk for hypertension in patients treated with olanzapine (Sachs and Guille 1999; Conley and Meltzer 2000).

Therefore, the objective of this retrospective chart review study was to examine the change in systolic and diastolic blood pressure in inpatients treated with olanzapine or clozapine. In addition, we compared the prevalence of hypertension between the two treated groups.

Materials and methods

Subjects and setting

We reviewed the medical record of Korean patients who were admitted to St. Mary's Hospital, The Catholic University of Korea and Naju National Hospital from 1 January 2001 to 31 December 2005. Medical record review was performed by a psychiatrist (YSW) not involved in clinical care of the patients and blind to patient identity. Institutional review board (IRB) reviewed and approved the protocol, and the study was conducted in accordance with good clinical practices and the Helsinki Declaration. Our IRB waived patientspecific informed consent for this confidential chart review and anonymous reporting of aggregate data. All patients with a DSM-IV diagnosis of schizophrenia at the time of data collection were evaluated. The researchers (WK and BHY) confirmed the diagnosis of schizophrenia made by the treating clinician according to DSM-IV criteria. We selected the records of patients who had stopped taking medication because of poor insight into illness for more than 1 week before admission and clozapine or olanzapine treatment was started on the day of admission and continued for more than 8 weeks. We excluded patients who were discharged from hospital before the eighth week. Patients treated with mood stabilizers, antidepressants, propranolol and antipsychotics other than clozapine or olanzapine were also excluded.

All measurements were obtained as a part of routine clinical monitoring. At the St. Mary's hospital and Naju national hospital, monitoring of daily vital signs, weekly weight, monthly blood chemistry were routinely performed for hospitalized patients. Systolic and diastolic blood pressure measurements were obtained using a manual sphygmomanometer with a standard cuff. Measurements were obtained with the patients in a sitting position after 5 min of quiet rest every morning at 07:00 h. Two measurements were made everyday and systolic blood pressure and diastolic blood pressure were the average of two readings measured at 5-min intervals. Pre-treatment blood pressure data were determined to be the average of the admission day and the next day to rule out the possible psychological effect of hospitalization on blood pressure. Post-treatment blood pressure data were the average of day 55 and 56. Hypertension was defined according to the classification recommended by the Joint National Committee on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure (Chobanian et al. 2003). Patients who met criteria for hypertension at baseline were excluded. Finally, the records of 70 clozapine-treated patients and 97 olanzapine-treated patients were analyzed. Systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, weight, serum triglyceride, total cholesterol and fasting glucose prior to medication initiation (pre-treatment) and post-treatment (8-week) were examined. Data on age and gender were also collected.

Data analysis

Patients' demographic and baseline clinical characteristics were compared between treatment groups using an independent *t*-test for continuous variables and the chi-square test or Fisher's exact test for discrete variables.

The changes from baseline on systolic and diastolic blood pressure, weight, fasting glucose, triglyceride and total cholesterol were compared using paired *t*-test for each group. We used independent *t*-tests to compare the mean changes in systolic and diastolic blood pressure between clozapine group and olanzapine group. Correlation analysis was used to examine the relationship between changes in blood pressure and body weight. The number of hypertensive patients after 8-week antipsychotics treatment were compared between treatment groups using the Fisher's exact test. All tests were considered significant when P values were less than 0.05 (two-tailed).

Results

The clozapine and olanzapine groups did not differ significantly in any of the baseline demographic or clinical variables. The mean age at the time of medication initiation was 40.2 ± 8.5 years with 36 (51.4%) male and 34 (48.6%) female in the clozapine group and 37.7±11.6 years with 51 (52.6%) male and 46 (47.4%) female in the olanzapine group (Table I).

	Clozapine $(N=70)$	Olanzapine (N=97)	P value
Age (years)	40.2 ± 8.5	37.7 ± 11.6	0.110 ^a
Gender Male Female	36 (51.4%) 34 (48.6%)	51 (52.6%) 46 (47.4%)	0.883 ^b

Table I. Comparison of demographic characteristics between clozapine group and olanzapine group (mean \pm SD).

^a*P* values on independent *t*-test.

^b*P* values on chi-square test.

At 8 weeks post-treatment, prevalence of hypertension was significantly higher in the clozapine group. In the clozapine group, 16.7% of patients (n = 11) fulfilled the criteria of hypertension, whereas 5.4% of patients (n = 5) fulfilled the criteria for hypertension in the olanzapine group (P = 0.021).

For the clozapine group, there were significant changes in systolic blood pressure (P=0.031) and diastolic pressure (P = 0.001). Weight (P = 0.003) and serum triglyceride significantly elevated (P =0.026), but not for fasting glucose (P = 0.582) and total cholesterol (P = 0.515). For olanzapine-treated patients, there were no significant changes in systolic (P=0.362) and diastolic (P=0.800) blood pressure. Weight elevated significantly (P=0.000), but there was no significant change in fasting glucose (P =0.332), total cholesterol (P = 0.184) and triglyceride (P=0.066) (Table II). The changes between the clozapine and olanzapine groups were significantly different for systolic blood pressure (P=0.017) and diastolic blood pressure (P = 0.002) (Table III). In addition, we found no significant correlation between changes of systolic (clozapine group: Rp = 0.080, P = 0.508; olanzapine group: Rp = 0.109, P=0.369) or diastolic blood pressure (clozapine group: Rp = 0.079, P = 0.441; olanzapine group: Rp = 0.134, P = 0.192) and changes of body weight.

Discussion

The average life expectancy in schizophrenic patients is approximately 20% shorter than general population in United States (Harris and Barraclough 1998). The significantly lower life expectancy in schizophrenic patients is caused primarily by coronary heart disease. In a meta-analysis, death rates from coronary heart disease were 90% higher in patients with schizophrenia than among the general population (Harris and Barraclough 1998). Hypertension is one of the chief risk factors for excess coronary heart disease mortality among schizophrenic patients (Hennekens et al. 2005).

When comparing the clozapine and olanzapine groups, the prevalence of hypertension at posttreatment was significantly higher in the clozapine group. Moreover, the change in blood pressure between pre- and post-treatment was significant in the clozapine group. Our data show the effect of clozapine on blood pressure, which is consistent with findings of a previous study (Henderson et al. 2004) that clozapine treatment is associated with increased rates of hypertension. Clozapine-induced hypertension was reported by Ereshefsky et al. (1989). In an open-label study conducted to determine the effectiveness and safety of a method of slow crosstitration from clozapine to olanzapine with 20 patients (Littrell et al. 2000), three cases of clozapine-induced hypertension (15%) were reported. While this rate appears elevated, there was no comparison group available to directly test the effect of clozapine. The present study, however, involved data from 97 patients taking olanzapine. We were able to demonstrate significantly high prevalence of hypertension and increased systolic and diastolic blood pressure in the clozapine group compared to the olanzapine group.

There are possible explanations for the influence of clozapine on blood pressure. The increase of blood pressure might be influenced by lowered

Table II. Change of blood pressure and related factors from baseline to endpoint (week 8).

	Clozapine ($N=70$)			(Olanzapine (N=97)			
	Baseline	End-point	P value	Baseline	End-point	P value		
Blood pressure (mmHg)								
Systolic	115.68 ± 8.64	118.64 ± 11.65	0.031*	116.06 ± 9.03	115.23 ± 8.84	0.362		
Diastolic	75.64 ± 6.52	79.36 ± 8.68	0.001*	75.28 ± 7.6	75.08 ± 7.58	0.800		
Weight (kg)	65.09 ± 13.48	66.56 ± 13.71	0.003*	63.19 ± 12.21	65.44 ± 12.29	0.000*		
Fasting glucose (mg/dl)	88.59 ± 22.46	90.47 ± 13.98	0.582	93.32 ± 31.19	89.91 ± 18.03	0.332		
Total cholesterol (mg/dl)	211.97 ± 44.11	208.43 ± 41.56	0.515	208.34 ± 38.09	216.08 ± 36.65	0.184		
Triglyceride (mg/dl)	155.88 ± 54.08	173.09 ± 54.39	0.026*	149.53 ± 56.34	167.91 ± 55.05	0.066		

Values are presented as mean±standard deviation.

^a P values on paired *t*-test, *P < 0.05.

Table III. Comparisons of pre- and post-treatment blood pressure mean change between clozapine and olanzapine treatment group.

Clozapine				Olanzap			
Blood pressure (mmHg)	Pre-	Post-	Mean change	Pre-	Post-	Mean change	P value
Systolic Diastolic	$\begin{array}{c} 115.68 \pm 8.64 \\ 75.64 \pm 6.52 \end{array}$	$\frac{118.64 \pm 11.65}{79.36 \pm 8.68}$	3.18 ± 11.25 4.24 ± 8.46	$\frac{116.06 \pm 9.03}{75.28 \pm 7.60}$	$\frac{115.23 \pm 8.84}{75.08 \pm 7.58}$	$-0.68 \pm 8.79 \\ 0.16 \pm 7.91$	0.017 0.002

Mean changes of blood pressure obtained from endpoint values minus baseline values; *P* values are from independent *t*-test of mean blood pressure change for clozapine group versus olanzapine group.

activity due to hospitalization. However, because both groups equally affected by hospitalization, blood pressure change would not be affected by hospitalization.

Many studies confirm that atypical antipsychotics induce substantially more weight gain in comparison to typical antipsychotics (Allison and Casey 2001; Russell and Mackell 2001), and have reported a variability of weight gain among atypical antipsychotics. Long-term data indicate that olanzapine and clozapine are associated with the greatest weight gain (Nemeroff 1997; Casey 1997). Risperidone and quetiapine may produce less weight gain than olanzapine while aripiprazole and ziprasidone are associated with a relatively low risk of weight gain (Haupt 2006).

Weight gain may correlate with increase in systolic blood pressure (Henderson et al. 2004). In addition, a positive linear relationship between BMI and relative risk of developing hypertension has been reported. Community screening in the United States has demonstrated that the prevalence of hypertension in overweight people is twice as high as it is in those of normal weight (Stamler et al. 1978). Approximately 77% of hypertension in obese people is attributable to obesity (Benotti et al. 1992).

However, the rate of clozapine-induced weight gain remains controversial. In a review of over 13,000 patients treated with clozapine worldwide, weight gain was observed in 0.73% of patients (Liebermann et al. 2001). There was a study which noted weight gain in only three patients treated with clozapine in a retrospective review of 503 inpatient medical charts (Naber and Hippius 1990). In another retrospective study of 216 inpatients treated with a mean daily dose of 317mg/day of clozapine for up to 12 years, a weight gain frequency of 11.6% was noted (Povlsen et al. 1985). According to the results of the present study, weight in the clozapine group increased significantly during 8 weeks of treatment. However, the correlation between body weight change and blood pressure change was not significant. Furthermore, weight in the olanzapine group increased but systolic and diastolic blood pressures have not significantly changed.

Clozapine has a unique pharmacological profile, interacting with dopaminergic (D1, D2, D4), serotonergic (5-HT1C, 5-HT2A/C, 5-HT3), muscarinic, histaminergic, and adrenergic $(\alpha 1, \alpha 2)$ receptors (Meltzer 1995). The typical cardiovascular effects, due to α 1-adrenergic and muscarinic antagonism, are hypotension and tachycardia, respectively (Baldessarini and Frankenburg 1991). However, Kane et al. (1988) reported that 12% of patients treated with clozapine exhibited hypertension. Furthermore, sustained hypertension appeared to be blocked by coadministration of propranolol, a nonselective β -blocker. This result suggests the involvement of adrenergic hyperactivity, at least in part, in the mechanism of clozapine-induced hypertension (George and Winther 1996). Moreover, there are a few reports regarding autonomic dysfunction with increased adrenergic activity in patients receiving prolonged clozapine treatment. Patients treated with clozapine exhibited marked differences in autonomic nervous system functioning compared with those treated with olanzapine as shown by increased heart rate and low-frequency components and lower HRV and high-frequency components (Cohen et al. 2001). This reflects a basal autonomic dysfunction with increased sympathetic and decreased parasympathetic tone. And the inspiratory gasp response (IGR) redilatation time was prolonged in clozapine-treated patients compared to control, but not in olanzapine-treated patients (Mueck-Weymann et al. 2001). This finding can be explained by a prolonged release of noradrenaline due to the $\alpha 2$ antagonistic effect of clozapine. These results raise the possibility that the $\alpha 2$ antagonistic effect may play an important role in increasing blood pressure. The rationale for this hypothesis was supported by a report which evaluated binding potencies of antipsychotic drugs (Richelson and Souder 2000). They reported that clozapine had an affinity 18 times higher than olanzapine for the $\alpha 2$ adrenoreceptor, which may

explain the difference in blood pressure change between clozapine and olanzapine group.

The major limitation of the present study is the retrospective design and small numbers of participating subjects. Retrospective chart reviews cannot control for differences in baseline characteristics not captured in the charts. Absence of assessment of a variety of clinical information was another limitation of our study. The relatively short study duration of 8 weeks would be a reasonable criticism of this study and lack of appropriate assessment for psychiatric symptoms such as anxiety or agitation which can affect blood pressure were severely limited the generalizability of our findings. Uncontrolled previous medication, concomitant medication, medication dosage, comorbid medical condition and other clinical variables may affect the conclusions. Moreover, blood pressure can be affected by behavioural pattern including cigarette smoking, alcohol use, physical activity and food intake. However, most psychotropic medications which can affect blood pressure, such as venlafaxine, bupropion, and propranolol, have a half life of less than 1 week. So, the effect of previous medication can be ruled out because we selected patients who had stopped taking medication for more than 1 week and treated with clozapine or olanzapine for more than 8 weeks. Moreover, increase in blood pressure was not associated with clozapine dose (Henderson et al. 2004). Furthermore, because we selected patients who were stayed in hospital during the study period, the effect of behaviour change can be disregarded. Therefore, the results of the present study are a reflection of the "real world" clinical situation. Further data derived from large studies with a longer study period using standardized measurement of psychiatric symptoms are necessary to more fully explore this important issue.

The results of present study raise concerns about the potential deleterious effects of clozapine on cardiovascular health. Therefore, concern for cardiovascular disease in clozapine-treated patients should be considered. Obesity, diabetes mellitus and dyslipidemia are well-known cardiovascular risk factors in clozapine-treated patients and adding hypertension to these adverse events increases the risk of cardiovascular disease. We suggest that patients treated with clozapine undergo routine medical screening for weight gain, dyslipidemia, diabetes mellitus, and especially hypertension on a regular basis. With vigilant monitoring and the institution of appropriate interventions, we may be able to reduce the medical morbidity and mortality in patients treated with clozapine.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

References

- Allison DB, Casey DE. 2001. Antipsychotic-induced weight gain: a review of the literature. J Clin Psychiatry 62(Suppl 7):22–31.
- Baldessarini RJ, Frankenburg FR. 1991. Clozapine: a novel antipsychotic agent. New Engl J Med 324:746–754.
- Beasley CM Jr, Tollefson GD, Tran PV. 1997. Safety of olanzapine. J Clin Psychiatry 58(Suppl 10):13–17.
- Benotti PN, Bistrian B, Benotti JR, Blackburn G, Forse RA. 1992. Heart disease and hypertension in severe obesity. The benefist of weight reduction. Am J Clin Nutr 55(Suppl 2):586–590S.
- Casey DE. 1997. The relationship of pharmacology to side effects. J Clin Psychiatry 58(Suppl 10):55–62.
- Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR. 2003. The seventh report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure. J Am Med Assoc 289:2560–2572.
- Cohen H, Loewenthal U, Matar M, Kotler M. 2001. Association of autonomic dysfunction and clozapine. Br J Psychiatry 179:167–171.
- Conley RR, Meltzer HY. 2000. Adverse events related to olanzapine. J Clin Psychiatry 61(Suppl 8):26–29.
- Davidson M. 2002. Risk of cardiovascular disease and sudden death in schizophrenia. J Clin Psychiatry 63(Suppl 9):5–11.
- Dawber TR, Meadors GF, Moore FE. 1951. Epidemiological approaches to heart disease: the Framingham Study. Am J Public Health 41:279–286.
- Ereshefsky L, Watanabe MD, Tran-Johnson TK. 1989. Clozapine: an atypical antipsychotic agent. Clin Pharm 8:691–709.
- Fontaine KR, Heo M, Harrigan EP, et al. 2001. Estimating the consequences of anti-psychotic induced weight gain on health and mortality rate. Psychiatry Res 101:277–288.
- George TP, Winther LC. 1996. Hypertension after initiation of clozapine [letter]. Am J Psychiatry 153:1368–1369.
- Gupta S, Rajaprabhakaran R. 1994. Paradoxical hypertension associated with clozapine [letter]. Am J Psychiatry 151:148.
- Harris EC, Barraclough B. 1998. Excess mortality of mental disorder. Br J Psychiatry 173:11–53.
- Haupt DW. 2006. Differential metabolic effects of antipsychotic treatments. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 16(Suppl 3):s149– 155.
- Henderson DC, Daley TB, Kunkel L, Rodrigues-Scott M, Koul P, Hayden D. 2004. Clozapine and hypertension: A chart review of 82 patients. J Clin Psychiatry 65:686–689.
- Hennekens CH, Hennekens AR, Hollar D, Casey DE. 2005. Schizophrenia and increased risks of cardiovascualr disease. Am Heart J 150:1115–1121.
- Kane J, Honigfeld G, Singer J, Meltzer H. 1988. Clozapine for the treatment-resistant schizophrenia: a double-blind comparison with chlorpromazine. Arch Gen Psychiatry 45:789–796.
- Lambert B, Tafesse E, Carson WH Jr. 2003. Antipsychoticinduced hyperlipidemia among people with schizophrenia. Presented at the 156th annual meeting of the American Psychiatric Association; San Fransisco, CA.

- Liebermann JA, Kane JM, Johns CA. 2001. Clozapine: guidelines for clinical management. J Clin Psychiatry 62(Suppl 7):22–31.
- Littrell K, Johnson CG, Hilligoss NM, Peabody CD, Littrell SH. 2000. Switching clozapine responders to olanzapine. J Clin Psychiatry 61:912–915.
- Lund BC, Perry PJ, Brooks JM, Arndt S. 2001. Clozapine use in patients with schizophrenia and the risk of diabetes, hyperlipidemia, and hypertension: a claims-based approach. Arch Gen Psychiatry 58:1172–1176.
- Meltzer HY. 1995. Atypical antipsychotic drugs. In: Bloom FE, Kupfer DJ, editors. Psychopharmacology: The fourth generation of progress. New York: Raven Press. p 1277–1286.
- Mokdad AH, Marks JS, Stroup DF, Gerberding JL. 2004. Actual causes of death in the United States, 2000. J Am Med Assoc 291:1238–1245.
- Mueck-Weymann M, Acker J, Agelink MW. 2001. Autonomic responses of blood vessels and sweat glands in patients with schizophrenia treated with olanzapine or clozapine. Psychopharmacology 154:368–372.
- Naber D, Hippius H. 1990. The European experience with clozapine. Hosp Comm Psychiatry 41:886–890.

- Nemeroff CB. 1997. Dosing the antipsychotic medication olanzapine. J Clin Psychiatry 58:45–49.
- Povlsen UJ, Noring U, Fog R, Gerlach J. 1985. Tolerability and therapeutic effect of clozapine: a retrospective investigation of 216 patients treated with clozapine for up to 12 years. Acta Psychiatr Scand 71:176–185.
- Richelson E, Souder T. 2000. Binding of antipsychotic drugs to human brain receptors focus on newer generation compounds. Life Sci 68:29–39.
- Russell JM, Mackell JA. 2001. Bodyweight gain associated with atypical antipsychotics : epidemiology and therapeutic implications. CNS Drugs 15:537–551.
- Ryan MC, Thakore JH. 2002. Physical consequences of schizophrenia and its treatment: the metabolic syndrome. Life Sci 71:239–257.
- Sachs GS, Guille C. 1999. Weight gain associated with use of psychotropic medications. J Clin Psychiatry 60(Suppl 21): 16–19.
- Stamler R, Stamler J, Riedlinger WF, Algera G, Roberts RH. 1978. Weight and blood pressure. Findings in hypertension screening of 1 million Americans. J Am Med Assoc 240: 1607– 1610.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Prediction of symptom remission in schizophrenia during inpatient treatment

MARKUS JÄGER¹, MICHAEL RIEDEL¹, MAX SCHMAUSS², GERD LAUX³, HERBERT PFEIFFER⁴, DIETER NABER⁵, LUTZ G. SCHMIDT⁶, WOLFGANG GAEBEL⁷, JOACHIM KLOSTERKÖTTER⁸, ISABELLA HEUSER⁹, KAI-UWE KÜHN¹⁰, MATTHIAS R. LEMKE¹¹, ECKART RÜTHER¹², GERD BUCHKREMER¹³, MARKUS GASTPAR¹⁴, RONALD BOTTLENDER¹, ANTON STRAUSS¹ & HANS-JÜRGEN MÖLLER¹

¹Department of Psychiatry, Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Munich, Germany, ²Psychiatric Clinic, District Hospital Augsburg, Germany, ³Psychiatric Clinic, District Hospital Gabersee, Wasserburg/Inn, Germany, ⁴Psychiatric Clinic, District Hospital Haar, Germany, ⁵Department of Psychiatry, University of Hamburg, Germany, ⁶Department of Psychiatry, University of Mainz, Germany, ⁷Department of Psychiatry, University of Düsseldorf, Germany, ⁸Department of Psychiatry, University of Cologne, Germany, ⁹Department of Psychiatry, Charité Berlin, Campus Benjamin Franklin, Germany, ¹⁰Department of Psychiatry, University of Bonn, Germany, ¹¹Psychiatric Clinic, Rheinische Kliniken, Bonn, Germany, ¹²Department of Psychiatry, University of Göttingen, Germany, ¹³Department of Psychiatry, University of Tübingen, Germany, and ¹⁴Department of Psychiatry, University of Essen, Germany

Abstract

Objective: Standardized consensus criteria for remission in schizophrenia were recently proposed. The present study applied the symptom-severity component of these criteria to a sample of inpatients in order to determine the rates of remission during inpatient treatment and to explore predictors of remission. *Method:* A total of 288 inpatients from a multi-centre follow-up programme who fulfilled ICD-10 criteria for schizophrenia were included in the present analyses. PANSS ratings at admission and at discharge from hospitalization were used to examine remission status. Clinical and sociodemographic variables at admission were tested for their ability to predict remission at discharge. *Results:* In total, 55% of the sample achieved symptom remission during inpatient treatment; 84% percent showed remission with respect to 'reality distortion', 85% with respect to 'disorganization' and only 65% with respect to 'negative symptoms'. Logistic regression analysis revealed that the global functioning (GAF) in the year before admission, the total score of the Strauss–Carpenter Prognostic Scale and the PANSS negative subscore at admission were predictive for symptom remission. The regression model showed a predictive value of about 70% and explained 36% of the observed variance. *Conclusion:* The results highlight the impact of negative symptoms for the course and treatment response of schizophrenic illness.

Key words: Schizophrenia, remission, PANSS, prediction, negative symptoms

Introduction

Schizophrenia is a heterogeneous disorder. The identification of subgroups that have a differential course and outcome is an important challenge for psychiatric research (Andreasen 2006). Numerous attempts have been made to identify predictors in schizophrenic disorders, both for the long-term outcome (Möller et al. 1986; Gaebel and Pietzcker 1978; Lenoir et al. 2005) and for the acute treat-

ment response (Möller et al. 1985; Gaebel 1996; Corell et al. 2003). However, the results of those studies depend on the diagnostic concept of schizophrenia applied and the definition of outcome (Lauronen et al. 2007). While operationalized diagnostic criteria were introduced more than 25 years ago, until now standardized outcome criteria have been lacking.

Recently, the Remission in Schizophrenia Working Group proposed consensus criteria for remission in

Correspondence: Markus Jäger, MD, Department of Psychiatry II, University of Ulm, BKH Günzburg, Ludwig-Heilmeyer-Str. 2, 89312 Günzburg, Germany. Tel: +49 8221 96 2204. Fax: +49 8221 96 2737. E-mail: Markus.Jaeger@bkh-guenzburg.de

(Received 11 April 2007; revised 4 June 2007; accepted 25 June 2007) ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970701541054 schizophrenia (Andreasen et al. 2005). In this consensus, remission was defined by using an absolute threshold of severity of symptoms, rather than percentage improvements from a particular baseline score. The proposed criteria consist of two elements: a symptom-based criterion (low scores in diagnostically relevant symptoms) and a time criterion (duration of 6 months). The items that constitute the symptom-severity component of the remission criteria are represented in the three symptom dimensions 'reality distortion (psychoticism)', 'disorganization' and 'negative symptoms' (Andreasen et al. 2005). This definition of remission was considered as conceptually viable and recommended for implementation in clinical trials, health services research and clinical practice (van Os et al. 2006a). The implementation of standardized remission criteria should be the first step 'that will permit us to base our predictions about course on empirical evidence' (Andreasen 2006).

In the meantime, several studies have applied these new consensus criteria to different samples of patients suffering from schizophrenic disorders (Lasser et al. 2005; Dunayevich et al. 2006; van Os et al. 2006b; Wunderink et al. 2006; Emsley et al. 2007). These studies have demonstrated that the proposed remission criteria correlate with established outcome measures and appear achievable for a significant proportion of patients receiving pharmacological treatment (Nasrallah and Lasser 2006). The generalization of these results, however, is limited because they are mainly derived from selected samples of controlled clinical drug trials (Dunayevich et al. 2006; Lasser et al. 2005; Emsley et al. 2007) or first-episode follow-up programmes (Wunderink et al. 2006).

The evaluation of the proposed remission criteria in a naturalistic and more representative sample could be helpful for the assessment of therapeutic effects in future controlled clinical trials. Furthermore, there is the question whether predictive factors for treatment response that were identified in previous studies (Gaebel and Pietzcker 1978; Möller et al. 1985; Möller et al. 1986; Gaebel 1996; Corell et al. 2003; Lenoir et al. 2005) have the ability to predict symptom remission also according to the new criteria.

On this background, the symptom-severity component of the proposed remission criteria was applied to a large sample of inpatients who received treatment for schizophrenia under naturalistic conditions. The aims of the present study were (i) to examine what proportion of patients achieve symptom remission during inpatient treatment and (ii) to identify predictive factors for symptom remission.

Subjects and methods

Subjects

The sample stems from a multi-centre follow-up programme (German Research Network on Schizophrenia) (Wölwer et al. 2003) conducted at eleven psychiatric university hospitals (Aachen, Berlin, Bonn, Cologne, Düsseldorf, Essen, Göttingen, Hamburg, Mainz, Munich, Tübingen) and three psychiatric district hospitals (Augsburg, Gabersee, Haar). In this programme, subjects were randomly selected from all patients who were admitted between January 2001 and December 2004 to one of the 14 hospitals mentioned above for treatment of a schizophrenic spectrum disorder (ICD-10: F20, F21, F22, F23, F24, F25, F28). Randomization software was used to select subjects. Subjects were aged between 18 and 65. Exclusion criteria were a major medical illness as possible cause of psychiatric symptoms, head injury and drug or alcohol dependence. All patients had given informed, written consent to participate in the study. The study protocol was approved by the local ethics committees (Jäger et al. 2007).

In total, 474 patients with schizophrenic spectrum disorders were enrolled in the entire multi-centre follow-up programme. Forty-six patients (10%) dropped out for different reasons (e.g. withdrawal of informed consent, retrospective violation of inclusion criteria, incomplete information). A total of 140 patients were excluded from the analysis: 28 (6%) because they were discharged from hospital within 7 days after admission; 77 (16%) because they did not fulfil diagnostic criteria for ICD-10 schizophrenia (F20) but for other psychotic disorders (F21–F28); and 35 (7%) because they already fulfilled remission criteria at the time of admission.

Therefore, the sample available for analysis comprised 288 subjects with ICD-10 schizophrenia of whom 168 (58.3%) were male and 120 (41.7%) female. ICD-10 diagnoses were as follows: paranoid schizophrenia (n = 236, 82%), hebephrenic schizophrenia (n = 14, 5%), catatonic schizophrenia (n = 3, 1%), undifferentiated schizophrenia (n = 10, 4%), residual schizophrenia (n = 14, 5%) and other schizophrenia (n = 11, 4%). 251 subjects (87%) met the criteria for DSM-IV schizophrenia and 37 (13%) those for DSM-IV schizophreniform disorder.

The mean age (\pm standard deviation) was 35.4 years (\pm 11.3) and the mean duration of illness 11.0 years (\pm 11.2). At admission, the PANSS total score was 75.0 (\pm 18.2), PANSS positive subscore 20.2 (\pm 5.9) and PANSS negative subscore 19.0 (\pm 7.2). The mean duration of inpatient treatment was 57.1 days (\pm 46.6). Eighty-three patients

(28.8%) were suffering from their first episode of schizophrenia.

Patients were treated under naturalistic conditions: 65% percent of the patients received firstgeneration antipsychotics, 52% second-generation antipsychotics, 54% tranquilizers and 7% mood stabilizers. Antidepressants were administered to 17% of the sample.

Assessments

Clinical researchers interviewed the patients at admission and diagnosed them according to the ICD-10 research diagnostic criteria (WHO 1993).

Sociodemographic variables (partnership, employment state) and course-related variables such as age at onset, age at first hospitalization, duration of illness, number of previous hospitalizations and episodes of illness or presence of preceding stressors were recorded during interviews with patients, relatives and care providers using a standardized documentation system (Cording 1998). First-episode disorder was defined as the first hospitalization for schizophrenia together with the absence of an earlier episode of schizophrenic disorder. Duration of illness was defined as the time since the first occurrence of any psychopathological symptoms.

Further prognostic factors were assessed with the 21-item version of the Strauss–Carpenter Prognostic Scale (Kokes 1977). In this scale, each item can be graduated on a five-point (0–4) scale, and the total score ranges from 0 to 84. Global functioning (level at admission, highest and lowest level in the year before admission) was recorded using the Global Assessment of Functioning Scale (GAF) (APA 1994). This is an internationally well-known, uni-dimensional rating scale for the evaluation of the overall functioning of a subject on a continuum from severe psychiatric illness (rated 0) to health (rated 100).

Psychopathological characteristics were assessed with the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale for Schizophrenia (PANSS) (Kay 1991), and the 17item version of the Hamilton rating scale for depression (HAM-D) (Hamilton 1960). The PANSS, a widely used 30-item scale for assessing schizophrenic symptoms, is composed of three subscales: positive symptoms (items P1–P7), negative symptoms (items N1–N7) and general psychopathology (items G1– G16). Each item can be graduated on a seven-point scale (1–7) The PANSS total score ranges from 30 to 210, the positive and negative subscores from 7 to 49, and the general psychopathology subscore from 16 to 112.

Ratings were performed within the first 3 days after admission, and at discharge. All raters (research

clinicians) had been trained how to use the scales. A high inter-rater reliability was achieved (ANOVA-ICC > 0.8).

Statistical analyses

Using the symptom-severity component of the recently proposed standardized remission criteria (Andreasen et al. 2005), remission was defined as a PANSS rating of three or less in all of the following items: 'delusions' (P1), 'unusual thought contents' (G9), 'hallucinatory behavior' (P3), 'conceptual disorganization' (P2), 'mannerism/posturing' (G5), 'blunted affect' (N1), 'social withdrawal' (N4) and 'lack of spontaneity' (N6). This definition was applied to the PANSS ratings at admission and discharge. Patients who met the criterion for symptom remission at admission were excluded from the remaining analyses.

In a descriptive analysis, the symptom remission status at discharge was examined, and the frequency of schizophrenic core symptoms (delusions, unusual thought contents, hallucinatory behaviour, conceptual disorganization, mannerism/posturing, blunted affect, social withdrawal, lack of spontaneity) at admission was compared with those at discharge.

The prediction of symptom remission during inpatient treatment was examined with a logistic regression model using the 'split-half technique'. This model is commonly applied when the outcome variable is binary and the independent variables include both numerical and nominal measures. The total sample (n = 288) was randomized into a definition sample (n = 142) and a validation sample (n = 146).

The logistic regression model was developed using the definition sample (n = 142). In the first step, patients with symptom remission at discharge were compared with those without symptom remission with respect to potential predictor variables (psychopathological symptoms at admission, sociodemographic variables, course-related variables) that were available at admission to hospital. For this purpose, the *t*-test and the χ^2 -test were used to perform an exploratory analysis without an adjustment for multiple testing. A P value of < 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant. In the second step, variables that showed significant differences between both groups in the univariate analyses were included in a multiple logistic stepwise forward regression model in order to identify independent predictor variables for symptom remission. The goodness-offit of the model was tested using the Hosmer-Lemeshow test (Hosmer and Lemeshow 2000). The results of the analysis are expressed in terms of Nagelkerke's R^2 , predictive value, sensitivity, specificity, regression coefficients (B) and corresponding odds ratios.

In a further step, the model was applied to the validation sample (n = 146). Predictive value, sensitivity and specificity are presented for the usual cutoff point of 0.5. However, sensitivity and specificity levels depend on the cut-off point of the model. Therefore, the discriminative ability of the regression model was also evaluated using a receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) curve. The area under the curve (AUC) is a measure of the overall discriminative power. A value of 0.5 for the AUC represents no discriminative ability; a value of 1.0 indicates a perfect power. According to Weinstein and Fineberg (1980) a value of 0.7–0.8 is considered as a reasonable, and a value greater than 0.8 as a good discriminative capacity.

All statistical analyses were carried out using the SPSS 12.0 Software for Windows.

Results

Frequency of symptom remission during inpatient treatment

The frequency of schizophrenic core symptoms (PANSS rating of more than three) at admission and discharge are shown in Figure 1. At admission, the most frequent symptoms were 'delusions' (68%), 'conceptual disorganization' (60%) and 'hallucinatory behaviour' (47%). At discharge, however, the most frequent symptoms were 'blunted affect' (44%), 'social withdrawal' (39%) and 'lack of spontaneity' (25%).

At discharge, 55% of the sample (n = 158) met symptom-severity criteria for remission. A total of 84% (n = 243) showed remission with respect to 'reality distortion (psychoticism)' (PANSS rating of 3 or less in the items 'delusions', 'unusual thought contents' and 'hallucinatory behavior'), 85% (n =245) with respect to 'disorganization' (PANSS rating of 3 or less in the items 'conceptual disorganization'



Figure 1. Frequency of core symptoms of schizophrenia (PANSS > 3) at admission and discharge.

and 'mannerism/posturing') and only 65% (n = 188) with respect to 'negative symptoms' (PANSS rating of 3 or less in the items 'blunted affect', 'social withdrawal' and 'lack of spontaneity'). This means that negative symptoms were more stable during inpatient treatment than the dimensions 'reality distortion' and 'disorganization'.

No statistically significant differences between patients with remission at discharge and those without remission were found in the administration rate of first-generation antipsychotics (66 vs. 65%, $\chi^2 =$ 0.46, P=0.830), second-generation antipsychotics (52 vs. 52%, $\chi^2 = 0.04$, P=0.951), tranquilizers (55 vs. 53%, $\chi^2 = 0.53$, P=0.819), mood stabilizers (7 vs. 8%, $\chi^2 = 0.56$, P=0.812) and antidepressants (16 vs. 19%, $\chi^2 = 0.352$, P=0.819). The duration of inpatient treatment also failed to reach statistic significance (52.4 days for patients with remission at discharge vs. 62.8 days for patients without remission, T=1,814, P=0.067).

Development of the prediction model

The prediction model was developed using the definition sample (n = 142). In the first step, patients with remission during inpatient treatment (n = 79)were compared to those without (n=63). The results of these univariate comparisons are shown in Table I. Significant differences were found with respect to employment status, age at occurrence of first symptoms, age at first hospitalization, duration of illness, duration of previous hospital stays, proportion of first episode disorders, presence of preceding stressors, total score of Strauss-Carpenter Prognostic Scale, the highest and lowest level of global functioning (GAF) in the year before admission, PANSS total score and PANSS negative subscore. The group of patients who achieved remission during inpatient treatment included a higher percentage of first episode disorders, and showed a more favourable social functioning at admission, less pronounced negative symptoms at admission and a better global functioning in the year before admission. These patients were older at onset, and presented more often with preceding stressors. Compared with patients without remission they showed a shorter duration of both illness and previous hospital stays.

When the variables that showed significant differences between patients with and without remission were included in a logistic regression model, the only independent significant predictors were the total score of the Strauss–Carpenter Prognostic Scale, the PANSS negative subscore at admission and the highest level of GAF in the year before admission. This means that higher values in the total score of

430 M. Jäger et al.

Table I. Univariate comparisons between patients with and patients without symptom remission at discharge (definition sample, n = 142).

	Patients with remission $(n = 79)$	Patients without remission $(n = 63)$	P level
Age Gender (female)	34.3 (±10.5) 37%	34.3 (±12.11) 38%	T = -0.010, P = 0.992 $\chi^2 = 1.093, P = 0.296$
Social functioning Stable partnership Regular employment	30% 70%	16% 36%	$\chi^2 = 3.582, P = 0.058$ $\chi^2 = 16.636, P < 0.001$
Course of illness Age at first symptoms (years) Age at first hospitalization (years) Duration of illness (years) Duration of previous hospitalization (weeks) First episode disorders Acute onset of current symptoms Preceding stressors	$\begin{array}{c} 26.2 \ (\pm 10.9) \\ 28.4 \ (\pm 10.9) \\ 8.1 \ (\pm 10.4) \\ 12.9 \ (\pm 27.8) \\ 41\% \\ 54\% \\ 40\% \end{array}$	21.7 (± 11.0) 23.5 (± 10.8) 12.6 (± 11.2) 37.0 (± 63.6) 19% 49% 15%	T = 2.507, P = 0.013 T = 2.685, P = 0.008 T = -2.476, P = 0.014 T = 2.802, P = 0.006 $\chi^2 = 7.547, P = 0.006$ $\chi^2 = 0.383, P = 0.536$ $\chi^2 = 11.106, P = 0.001$
Strauss–Carpenter Prognostic Scale (total score) <i>Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF)</i> Admission Highest level in the year before admission Lowest level in the year before admission	53.6 (± 11.4) 41.3 (± 10.6) 74.5 (± 14.8) 41.2 (± 15.0)	$41.8 (\pm 9.8)$ $39.4 (\pm 9.6)$ $60.8 (\pm 14.1)$ $35.0 (\pm 9.1)$	T = 6.439, P < 0.001 T = 1.143, P = 0.255 T = 5.586, P < 0.001 T = 3.028, P = 0.003
Psychopathological symptoms (admission) PANSS total score PANSS positive subscore PANSS negative subscore PANSS general psychopathology subscore Hamilton Depression Scale (total score)	71.1 (± 17.1) 20.0 (± 5.4) 16.6 (± 6.5) 24.4 (± 10.1) 13.2 (± 8.4)	77.7 (± 17.8) 19.1 (± 6.1) 21.7 (± 6.7) 36.9 (± 10.2) 13.6 (± 9.1)	T = -2.243, P = 0.026 T = 0.994, P = 0.322 T = -4.575, P < 0.001 T = -1.446, P = 0.150 T = -0.285, P = 0.776

Values are presented as means (±standard deviation).

the Strauss–Carpenter Prognostic Scale, higher levels of global functioning in the year before admission and lower levels in the PANSS negative subscore at admission predict symptom remission during inpatient treatment. The model is presented in Table II. The Hosmer–Lemeshow statistic ($\chi^2 = 7.554$, df = 8, P = 0.478) indicated an adequate goodness-of-fit, and Nagelkerke's R^2 suggested that 36% of the variance could be explained with the model. Using a cut-off-point of 0.5 the overall predictive validity was 73%, the sensitivity (correct identification of patients with remission) 75% and the specificity (correct identification of patients without remission) 69%.

Validation of the prediction model

When this logistic regression model was applied to the validation sample (n = 146), a predictive validity of 71%, sensitivity of 71% and specificity of 70% were found using a cut-off point of 0.5. Variations of the cut-off point, however, change sensitivity and specificity of the model. These relationships are presented in a receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) (Figure 2). The AUC was 0.77 (SE 0.04, P < 0.001, 95% CI 0.69–0.85), indicating that the model has a reasonable discriminative power.

Discussion

Rates of symptom remission

The aim of the present study was to examine the rate of and predictive factors for symptom remission during inpatient treatment. The symptom-severity component of the consensus criteria proposed by the Remission in Schizophrenia Working Group (Andreasen et al. 2005) was applied to a sample of inpatients treated under naturalistic conditions for schizophrenia diagnosed according to ICD-10

Table II. Logistic regression model for the prediction of symptom remission at discharge (definition sample, n = 142).

	Coefficient (B)	SE	P level	OR	95% CI
Strauss-Carpenter Prognostic Scale (total score)	0.055 - 0.068 0.035	0.024	=0.022	1.057	1.008–1.108
PANSS negative subscore at admission		0.032	=0.035	0.934	0.876–0.995
Highest level of GAF (year before admission)		0.017	=0.042	1.036	1.001–1.071



Figure 2. ROC curve for prediction of symptom remission at discharge using logistic regression (validation sample, n = 146).

criteria. The analyses revealed that 55% of the sample showed symptom remission at discharge from hospital. This means that 45% of the patients were discharged in a non-remitted state. Lack of remission was mainly because of persisting negative symptoms.

The results are comparable with those of van Os et al. (2006b) and Wunderink et al. (2006), both of whom reported similar rates for cross-sectional symptom remission (46 and 48%, respectively). Lasser et al. (2005), however, found that only 32% of 'clinically stable' patients met the symptom-severity component of the proposed criteria. In this context, one has to mention the differences in the inclusion criteria of these studies (e.g., diagnostic criteria). Taken together, the reported cross-sectional remission rates in patients who are considered to be 'responsive to antipsychotic treatment' (Wunderink et al. 2006) or 'clinically stable' (Lasser et al. 2005) or who were discharged from hospital range from 32 to 55%. This raises the question whether or not the threshold of the proposed criteria is appropriate. Further studies should examine the predictive validity of the proposed remission criteria.

Discriminative power of prediction models in schizophrenia

The logistic regression model showed a predictive validity of about 70%. The AUC of 0.77 indicated a reasonable discriminative capacity. It was possible to confirm the model by cross-validation using the split-half technique. However, only 36% of the

variance could be explained with this model. Although differences in many variables were found between patients with and those without remission, the logistic regression model identified only three factors as independent predictors for symptom remission: Strauss–Carpenter Prognostic Scale, PANSS negative subscore at admission and global functioning in the year before admission.

The results are in line with previous studies that found a similar amount of explained variance (Gaebel 1978; Kay and Murill 1990), even if additional variables such as self-rating scales (Möller et al. 1985) or neuropsychological and radiological parameters (Robinson et al. 2004) were included in the prediction models. The crucial question whether a combination of clinical, neuropsychological and biological variables will increase the predictive power of prediction models should be answered by further studies.

The impact of the Strauss–Carpenter Prognostic Scale and Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF)

In keeping with previous studies that reported a high predictive value of the Strauss–Carpenter Prognostic Scale for both the acute treatment response (Möller et al. 1985) and the long-term outcome (Gaebel and Pietzcker 1978; Möller et al. 1986; Lenoir et al. 2005), this scale was identified as a predictor for symptom remission during inpatient treatment.

The Strauss-Carpenter Prognostic Scale comprises several areas of functioning, e.g. employment state, social class, family history of psychiatric hospitalization, age at onset and psychopathological symptoms. However, it has been criticized for making its prediction on the basis of items that reflect chronicity of the illness, so that its results are more a conclusion from the former course of the illness than a real prediction (Bland et al. 1978). Although the validity of the scale was also demonstrated for patients in the early course of schizophrenic illness (Gaebel and Pietzcker 1978; Lenoir et al. 2005), this criticism is supported by empirical findings about the factor structure of the scale. Händel et al. (1996) reported that the items which are strongly associated with the social functioning in the previous 12 months are especially valuable for prognostic aspects.

The present study also identified the level of global functioning in the year before admission as an independent predictor for symptom remission during inpatient treatment. This factor also reflects a pre-existing chronicity of schizophrenic illness.

The impact of negative symptoms

The results of the present study are in line with those of several studies which showed that pronounced negative symptoms are predictive of an unfavorable treatment outcome (Wieselgren et al. 1995; Ho et al. 1998; Alptekin et al. 2005). The findings can be explained by the fact that positive symptoms ('reality distortion') such as hallucinations or delusions and symptoms of disorganization were frequent at admission, i.e. in the acute stage of illness, but showed a good remission during inpatient treatment. In contrast, negative symptoms such as blunted affect or social withdrawal were less frequent at admission, but more stable and less responsive to treatment. These findings are not surprising because a number of previous studies have shown similar results (Jonstone et al. 1987; Phillips et al. 1991; Arndt et al. 1995; Szymanski et al. 1996).

Conflicting findings were reported about the predictive validity of positive symptoms and symptoms of conceptual disorganization for the acute treatment response (Mauri et al. 1994) and the longterm outcome (Harrow and Marengo 1986; Kay and Murill 1990). However, the findings of Mauri et al. (1994) that more pronounced positive symptoms in an acute stage of schizophrenic illness are associated with a higher amelioration of psychopathological symptoms do not challenge the results of the present study, but rather confirm the assumption that positive symptoms are often transient and responsive to antipsychotic treatment. On the other hand, the findings of Harrow and Marengo (1986) and Kay and Murill (1990) that positive symptoms are predictive of a more unfavourable long-term outcome can be explained by the fact that these studies assessed positive symptoms not in an acute, but in a more chronic stage of schizophrenic illness.

Identification of homogeneous subgroups in schizophrenia

Because the ICD-10 and DSM-IV concepts of schizophrenia include both cases with full remission as well as those with a chronic course (Jäger et al. 2004), it is an important challenge for psychiatric research 'to identify subgroups within this heterogeneous disorder that have a differential course and outcome' (Andreasen 2006). The findings of the present study, which highlight the impact of negative symptoms on the course and treatment response of schizophrenic illness, are in line with the classical concept of Crow (1980) who postulated two distinct subtypes of schizophrenia: Type I, with predominantly positive symptoms, was associated with good premorbid functioning, acute onset, good response to treatment and a better long-term outcome, whereas type II, with mainly negative symptoms,

was associated with an insidious onset, poor premorbid functioning, a tendency to drug resistance and a poorer long-term outcome. In fact, several studies have found that negative symptoms are associated with a chronic course of illness (Murphy et al. 1994; Bottlender et al. 2001) and with distinct neurobiological alterations (Ho et al. 2003; Liu et al. 2004).

However, this classical dichotomous concept, which considers positive symptoms as transient and negative symptoms as persistent, was criticized because in some cases positive symptoms persist and negative symptoms are transient (Liddle et al. 1989). This fact, which is also supported by the present analysis, may explain the limited discriminative power of predictor models in schizophrenia. In the mean time, Crow's dichotomous concept has been replaced with a multidimensional model of schizophrenia consisting of a negative symptom dimension, a psychotic symptom dimension ('reality distortion') and a disorganization dimension (Liddle et al. 1989; APA 1994). A number of studies even tried to establish models with a five-factor structure of schizophrenic symptoms, but such models are still being discussed controversially (van der Gaag 2006). Nevertheless, as yet, assessment tools for psychopathological symptoms in patients with schizophrenic disorders do not allow a reliable and valid differentiation between transient and persistent symptoms. Such a differentiation, however, would help to identify more homogenous subgroups.

Limitations

In contrast to previous studies that examined the recently proposed consensus criteria for remission in schizophrenia (Lasser et al. 2005; Sethuraman et al. 2005; van Os et al. 2006b; Wunderink et al. 2006), patients with schizoaffective disorders were excluded from the present study because the consensus definition can only be applied to patients who have previously been diagnosed using recognized criteria for schizophrenia (Andreasen et al. 2005). However, one has to mention that 28.8% of the sample were first-episode patients. This means that the sample was heterogeneous and included patients at different stages of schizophrenic illness. Remission is expected to be more frequent after the first than after multiple episodes of schizophrenia. Furthermore, the sample only included inpatients and may therefore not be representative for all patients suffering from schizophrenia.

The patients were treated under naturalistic conditions. Such a naturalistic design does not allow the results to be sufficiently controlled for the effect of different pharmacological and psychological treatments. However, the aim of the present study was to examine an unselected and representative sample of patients routinely treated in a psychiatric hospital. No differences were found between patients with and those without symptom remission with respect to the pharmacological treatment during the inpatient stay (administration rate of antipsychotics, tranquilizers, mood stabilizers and antidepressants).

Furthermore, one should note that the outcome of schizophrenia is multidimensional and that the applied consensus criteria for symptom remission do not address other outcome domains such as cognition, psychosocial functioning or quality of life (Remington and Kapur 2005).

The most serious limitation, however, may be the fact that the present study, like others (Sethuraman et al. 2005), only used the symptom-severity component of the proposed remission criteria without considering the time criterion, which requires an absence of relevant symptoms for at least 6 months (Andreasen et al. 2005). The aim of the present study, however, was to examine the acute treatment response during inpatient treatment in terms of a 'cross-sectional remission'.

Conclusions

In accordance with previous findings, the results highlight the impact of negative symptoms on the course and treatment response of schizophrenic illness. However, the results also underline the limited power of predictor models for schizophrenic disorders, not only with respect to the long-term outcome but also with respect to the acute treatment response. Further analyses should examine whether the inclusion of neurobiological and cognitive variables can improve the validity of such predictor models.

Acknowledgements

The study was performed within the framework of the German Research Network on Schizophrenia, which is funded by the German Federal Ministry for Education and Research BMBF (grant 01 GI 0233) and was conducted at 14 psychiatric hospitals: Aachen (P. Hoff, K. Podoll), Augsburg (M. Schmauß, T. Messer, M. Eichinger), Berlin (I. Heuser, M. Jockers-Scherübl), Bonn (W. Maier, K.-U. Kühn, M.R. Lemke, R. Hurlemann, W.P. Hornung, E. Rosen), Cologne (J. Klosterkötter, W. Huff), Düsseldorf (W. Gaebel, A. Klimke, M. Eickhoff, M. von Wilmsdorff), Essen (M. Gastpar, V. Reißner), Gabersee (G. Laux, B. Hermann, B. Plichta), Göttingen (E. Rüther, D. Degner), Haar (H. Pfeiffer, M. Albus, S. Scharf-Büssing), Hamburg (D. Naber, D. Golks), Mainz (L.G. Schmidt, B. Kaufmann-Grebe), Munich (H.-J. Möller, R. Bottlender, M. Riedel, M. Jäger, C. Schorr, B. Schillinger, C. Mirlach), Tübingen (G. Buchkremer, M. Mayenberger).

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

References

- Alptekin K, Erkoc S, Gogus AK, et al. 2005. Disability in schizophrenia: clinical correlates and prediction over 1-year follow-up. Psychiatry Res 135:103–111.
- American Psychiatric Association. 1994. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM). 4th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Andreasen NC. 2006. Standardized remission criteria in schizophrenia. Acta Psychiatr Scand 113:8.
- Andreasen NC, Carpenter WT Jr, Kane JM, Lasser RA, Marder SR, Weinberger DR. 2005. Remission in schizophrenia: proposed criteria and rationale for consensus. Am J Psychiatry 162:441–449.
- Arndt S, Andreasen NC, Flaum M, Miller D, Nopoulos P. 1995. A longidudinal study of symptom dimensions in schizophrenia. Prediction and patterns of change. Arch Gen Psychiatry 52:352–360.
- Bland RC, Parker JH, Orn H. 1978. Prognostic predictors and outcome. Arch Gen Psychiatry 35:72–77.
- Bottlender R, Jäger M, Groll C, Strauss A, Möller HJ. 2001. Deficit states in schizophrenia and their association with the length of illness and gender. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 251:272–278.
- Cording C. 1998. Conceptual aspects in the development and implementation of basic psychiatric documentation. Psychiatr Prax 25:175–178.
- Corell CU, Malhotra AK, Kaushik S, McMeniman M, Kane JM. 2003. Early prediction of antipsychotic response in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 160:2063–2065.
- Crow TJ. 1980. Molecular pathology of schizophrenia: more than one disease process? Br Med J 280:66–68.
- Dunayevich E, Sethuraman G, Enerson M, Taylor CC, Lin D. 2006. Characteristics of two alternative schizophrenia remission definitions: relationship to clinical and quality of life outcomes. Schizophr Res 86:300–308.
- Emsley R, Oosthuizen PP, Kidd M, Koen L, Niehaus DJ, Turner HJ. 2007. Remission in early psychosis: rates, predictors, and clinical and functional outcome correlates. Schizophr Res 89:129–139.
- Gaebel W. 1996. Prediction of response to acute neuroleptic treatment in schizophrenia. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 11(Suppl 2):47–54.
- Gaebel W, Pietzcker A. 1978. Prospective study of course of illness in schizophrenia: Part II. Prediction of outcome. Schizophr Bull 13:299–306.
- Hamilton M. 1960. A rating scale for depression. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 23:56–62.
- Händel M, Bailer J, Bräuner W, Laubenstein D, Rey ER. 1996. The prognostic scale by Strauss and Carpenter and its validity. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 246:203–208.

434 M. Jäger et al.

- Harrow M, Marengo JT. 1986. Schizophrenic thought disorder at follow-up: its persistence and prognostic significance. Schizophr Bull 12:373–393.
- Ho BC, Nopoulos P, Flaum M, Arndt S, Andreasen NC. 1998. Two-year outcome in first episode schizophrenia: predictive value of symptoms for quality of life. Am J Psychiatry 155:1196–1201.
- Ho BC, Andreasen NC, Nopoulos P, Arndt S, Magnotta V, Flaum M. 2003. Progressive structural brain abnormalities and their relationship to clinical outcome: a longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging study early in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 60:585–594.
- Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S. 2000. Applied logistic regression. 2nd ed. New York: Wiley.
- Jäger M, Bottlender R, Strauss A, Möller HJ. 2004. Classification of functional psychoses and its implication for prognosis. Comparison between ICD-10 and DSM-IV. Psychopathology 37:110–117.
- Jäger M, Riedel M, Messer T, et al. 2007. Psychopathological characteristics and treatment response of first episode compared with multiple episode schizophrenic disorders. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosc 257:47–53.
- Jonstone EC, Owens DG, Frith CD, Crow TJ. 1987. The relative stability of positive and negative features in chronic schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry 150:60–64.
- Kay SR. 1991. Positive and negative syndromes in schizophrenia: Assessment and research. Clinical and experimental psychiatry monograph No. 5. New York: Brunner/Mazel.
- Kay SR, Murill LM. 1990. Predicting outcome of schizophrenia: significance of symptom profiles and outcome dimensions. Comp Psychiatry 31:91–102.
- Kokes RF, Strauss JF, Klorman R. 1977. Premorbid adjustment in schizophrenia. Part II. Measuring premorbid adjustment: the instrument and their development. Schizophr Bull 3:186–213.
- Lasser RA, Bossie CA, Gharabawi GM, Kane JM. 2005. Remission in schizophrenia: results from a 1-year study of long-acting risperidone injection. Schizophr Res 77:215–227.
- Lauronen E, Miettunen J, Veijola J, Karhu M, Jones PB, Isohanni M. 2007. Outcome and its predictors in schizophrenia within the Northern Finland 1966 Birth Cohort. Eur Psychiatry 22:129–136.
- Lenoir ME, Dingemans PMAJ, Schene AH, Linszen DH. 2005. Predictors of the early 5-year course of schizophrenia: a path analysis. Schizophr Bull 31:781–791.
- Liddle PF, Barners TRE, Morris D, Haque S. 1989. Three syndromes in chronic schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry 15(Suppl 7):119–122.
- Liu Z, Tam WC, Xue Z, Yao S, Wu D. 2004. Positive and negative symptom profile schizophrenia and abnormalities in the P300 component of the event-related potential: a longitudinal study. Psychiatry Res 132:131–139.
- Mauri MC, Vita A, Giobbio GM, et al. 1994. Prediction of response to haloperidol in schizophrenia: neuroendocrine, neuromorphological and clinical variables. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 9:3–7.

- Möller HJ, Scharl W, v. Zerssen D. 1985. Prediction of therapeutic response under acute neuroleptic treatment conditions: results of an empirical study on 243 schizophrenic inpatients. Fortschr Neurol Psychiat 53:370–383.
- Möller HJ, Schmidt-Bode W, v. Zerssen D. 1986. Prediction of long-term outcome in schizophrenia by prognostic scales. Schizophr Bull 12:225–235.
- Murphy BM, Burke JG, Bray JC, Walsh D, Kendler KS. 1994. An analysis of the clinical features of familial schizophrenia. Acta Psychiatr Scand 89:421–427.
- Nasrallah HA, Lasser R. 2006. Improving patient outcomes in schizophrenia: achieving remission. J Psychopharmacol 20(Suppl. 6):57–61.
- Phillips MR, Zhao Z, Xiong X, Cheng X, Sun G, Wu N. 1991. Changes in the positive and negative symptoms of schizophrenic in-patients in China. Br J Psychiatry 159:226–231.
- Remington G, Kapur S. 2005. Remission: What's in a name. Am J Psychiatry 162:12.
- Robinson DG, Woerner MG, McMeniman M, Mendelowitz A, Bilder RM. 2004. Symptomatic and functional recovery from a first episode of schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder. Am J Psychiatry 161:473–479.
- Sethuraman G, Taylor CC, Enerson M, Dunayevich E. 2005. A retrospective comparison of cumulative time spent in remission during treatment with olanzapine or risperidone among patients with schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 79:337–340.
- Szymanski SR, Cannon TD, Gallacher F, Erwin RJ, Gur RE. 1996. Course of treatment response in first-episode and chronic schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 153:519–525.
- van der Gaag M, Cuijpers A, Hoffman T, et al. 2006. The fivefactor model of the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale I: confirmatory factor analysis fails to confirm 25 published five-factor solutions. Schizophr Res DOI: 10.1016/j.schres. 2006.04.001.
- van Os J, Burn T, Cavallaro R, et al. 2006a. Standardized remission criteria in schizophrenia. Acta Psychiatr Scand 113:91–95.
- van Os J, Drukker M, a Campo J, Meijer J, Back M, Delespaul P. 2006b. Validation of remission criteria for schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 163:2000–2002.
- Weinstein MC, Fineberg HV. 1980. Clinical decision analysis. Philadelphia, PA: WB Saunders.
- Wieselgren IM, Lindstrom E, Lindstrom LH. 1995. Symptoms at index admission as predictor for 1-5 year outcome in schizophrenia. Acta Psychiatr Scand 94:311–319.
- Wölwer W, Buchkremer G, Häfner H, et al. 2003. German research network on schizophrenia. Bridging the gap between research and care. Eur Arch Psych Clin Neurosci 253: 321–329.
- World Health Organisation. 1993. The ICD-10 Classification of mental and behavioural disorders. In: Diagnostic Criteria for Research. Geneva: WHO.
- Wunderink L, Nienhuis FJ, Sytema S, Wiersma D. 2006. Predictive validity of proposed remission criteria in first-episode schizophrenic patients responding to antipsychotics. Schizophr Bull DOI: 10.1093/schbul/sbl015.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

History of early abuse as a predictor of treatment response in patients with fibromyalgia: A post-hoc analysis of a 12-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of paroxetine controlled release

CHI-UN PAE^{1,2}, PRAKASH S. MASAND¹, DAVID M. MARKS¹, STAN KRULEWICZ³, CHANGSU HAN^{1,4}, KATHLEEN PEINDL¹, PAOLO MANNELLI¹ & ASHWIN A. PATKAR¹

¹Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC, USA, ²Department of Psychiatry, The Catholic University of Korea College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea, ³GlaxoSmithKline, King of Prussia, PA, USA, and ⁴Department of Psychiatry, Korea University, Seoul, South Korea

Abstract

Objectives. We conducted a post-hoc analysis to determine whether a history of physical or sexual abuse was associated with response to treatment in a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial of paroxetine controlled release (CR) in fibromyalgia. Methods. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of paroxetine controlled release (CR) (dose 12.5-62.5 mg/day) was conducted in patients with fibromyalgia for 12 weeks. A total of 112 subjects provided complete information on childhood history of abuse that was recorded using the Sexual and Physical Abuse Questionnaire and randomized to treatments. Outcome evaluations in the abuse subgroup were identical to those in the entire sample. Health Status was determined using the 36-Item Short Form Health Survey (SF-36), the Sheehan Disability Scale (SDS), and the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS). Fibromylagia symptom severity was determined using the Fibromylagia Impact Questionnaire (FIQ) and the Visual Analogue Scale for Pain (VAS). The primary outcome was treatment response defined as $\geq 25\%$ reduction in the FIQ-total score. Secondary outcomes include changes in scores on the Clinical Global Impression-Severity and Improvement (CGI-S and CGI-I respectively) and SF-36. Results. The rate of childhood physical and/or sexual abuse was 52.7% (n = 59). The baseline characteristics (health status, perceived stress, symptom severity) were not associated with abuse history. In logistic regression, the history of abuse did not predict treatment response as measured by $\geq 25\%$ reduction in FIQ-total score (OR = 1.16, 95% CI = 1.18–1.60, P = 0.35), while the drug status (paroxetine CR) was significantly associated with treatment response (OR = 2.51, 95% CI = 1.12-5.64, P = 0.02). Abuse history did not predict CGI-I (P=0.32) or CGI-S (P=0.74) improvements during treatment. After 12 weeks of treatment, subjects with sexual abuse history showed significantly lower mean change in health status (SF-36) than those without sexual abuse history (P =0.04). Conclusions. Although, a significant proportion of patients with fibromyalgia reported a history of abuse, it does not appear to have any significant clinical correlates at baseline. History of abuse did not predict response to treatment in patients with fibromyalgia participating in a controlled trial of paroxetine controlled release. Prospective, well-designed studies are needed to confirm whether selective serotonin uptake inhibitors are effective in patients with fibromyalgia irrespective of their abuse history.

Key words: Fibromyalgia, abuse, treatment, paroxetine CR, SSRI

Introduction

A number of studies have reported high rates of childhood trauma in fibromyalgia patients, ranging from 32 to 64% (Goldberg et al. 1999; Imbierowicz and Egle 2003). Although not uniformly consistent, the evidence suggests that the prevalence of childhood trauma is higher in fibromyalgia compared to other chronic pain disorders (Alexander et al. 1998;

Van Houdenhove et al. 2001; Imbierowicz and Egle 2003). Elevated rates of both lifetime sexual and physical abuse (Boisset-Pioro et al. 1995; Walker et al. 1997; Imbierowicz and Egle 2003), and lifetime emotional abuse and neglect have been reported in these patients (Walker et al. 1997; Van Houdenhove et al. 2001). Further evidence supporting the link between abuse and fibromyalgia comes

Correspondence: Ashwin A. Patkar, MD, Associate Professor of Psychiatry, Duke University Medical Center, 2218 Elder Street, Suite 127, Durham, NC 27704, USA. Tel.: +1 919 668 3626. Fax: +1 919 668 5418. E-mail: ashwin.patkar@duke.edu, pae@catholic.ac.kr

(Received 9 September 2008; accepted 9 January 2009)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970902789155

from a community study that found women reporting rape were 3 times more likely to have fibromylagia compared to women who did not report rape. However, there was no evidence of increased childhood abuse in the fibromyalgia group (Ciccone et al. 2005). History of abuse seems to be associated with symptom severity (Walker et al. 1997; McBeth et al. 1999). Evidence suggests that patients reporting abuse experience greater psychological distress, have more severe physical symptoms, greater functional disability, poorer psychological adjustment (Taylor et al. 1995; Walen et al. 2001) and utilize more health care services (Alexander et al. 1998). In addition several physiological and psychological mechanisms might explain how early abuse could influence the onset, clinical expression, and perpetuation of fibromyalgia symptoms. Finally a recent study suggested that childhood sexual or physical abuse history may cause neuro-endocrine alteration in adulthood among fibromyalgia patients, which should be associated with differential effects of pharmacological treatment in patients with fibromyalgia (Weissbecker et al. 2006). Hence trauma history should be evaluated as early as possible in clinical practice and this factor may be potentially involved in components of response to treatment and clinical course in patients with fibromyalgia (Weissbecker et al. 2006).

Meanwhile, antidepressant medications are widely used by clinicians to treatment symptoms of fibromyalgia, despite lack of Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved indication. Although not uniformly consistent, data from randomized controlled trials indicate that tricyclic antidepressants (amitriptyline), selective serotonin uptake inhibitors (fluoxetine and paroxetine controlled release), and dual norepinephrine and serotonin uptake inhibitors (duloxetine) may be beneficial in the treatment of fibromyalgia (Arnold et al. 2000, 2002; O'Malley et al. 2000; Patkar et al. 2007).

There have been few systematic studies examining clinical predictors of response to antidepressants in patients with fibromyalgia despite suggestions that identification of subgroups based on specific clinical characteristics may be useful for maximizing treatment efficacy (Turk et al. 1998; King et al. 2002). In this context there has been limited information on whether fibromyalgia patients with a history of abuse will do as well as those with no such history following antidepressant treatment. This issue is clinically important because of the possible need for additional or alternative interventions for fibromyalgia patients which comorbid trauma.

We had previously investigated the efficacy and safety of paroxetine controlled release (CR) in a 12week, RCT of paroxetine controlled release in 124 subjects with fibromyalgia (Patkar et al. 2007). This post-hoc analyses was to determine whether a history of physical and sexual abuse was associated with the response to treatment in a 12-week, RCT of paroxetine controlled release (CR) in fibromyalgia. We hypothesized that the fibromyalgia patients with childhood abuse history is related with poorer response to the pharmacological treatment since the aforementioned findings (Taylor et al. 1995; Walker et al. 1997; Turk et al. 1998; McBeth et al. 1999; Walen et al. 2001; King et al. 2002; Weissbecker et al. 2006) and several preliminary studies proposed that differential antidepressant treatment effects may exist by presence/absence of early abuse history (Nemeroff et al. 2003).

Methods

Design

This was a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial of paroxetine controlled release (CR) (dose 12.5–62.5 mg/day) in fibromyalgia. Detailed methodology is available elsewhere for which we describe briefly the methods (Patkar et al. 2007).

Subjects and medication

Subject selection was independent of an early abuse history. Eligible subjects included men and women, 18–65 years of age, who fulfilled American College of Rheumatology (ACR) diagnostic criteria for fibromyalgia (Wolfe et al. 1990). Those with history of paroxetine CR treatment for any disease were excluded. Other detailed description refers to our original paper (Patkar et al. 2007).

Assessment

A history of childhood physical and sexual abuse was recorded using the Sexual and Physical Abuse Questionnaire developed by Leserman and colleagues (Leserman et al. 1995; Kooiman et al. 2002). The questionnaire captures responses on sexual abuse, physical abuse and both sexual and physical abuse during childhood (≤ 13 years) and adulthood. Assessments also included the Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire (FIQ) (Burckhardt et al. 1991), the 36-Item Short Form Health Survey (SF-36) (Stansfeld et al. 1997), Clinical Global Impression-Severity and Improvement (CGI-S and CGI-I, respectively), the Sheehan Disability Scale (SDS) (Sheehan 1983), the Visual Analogue Scale for pain (VAS-P), the Beck Depression Inventory (BD)I (Beck et al. 1961), Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI) (Beck et al. 1988), and Perceived Stress Score (PSS) (Cohen et al. 1983). All assessments were measured at the baseline and at each week of the study, with the exception of PSS (at baseline only). Treatment response was defined as $\geq 25\%$ reduction in FIQ-total score from randomization to the end of treatment.

Data analysis

Chi-square analysis was used for all categorical associations and analysis of variance (ANOVA) or *t*-tests and paired *t*-tests were used to examine differences for all continuous variables. The results of the primary efficacy analyses have been published elsewhere (Patkar et al 2007). In multivariate logistic regression, we determined if a history of early abuse was an independent predictor of response to treatment on primary and secondary endpoints. All statistical significance was two-tailed and set at P < 0.05. Statistical analysis was done using the SPSS 10.0 for Windows program (SPSS Inc., Chicago, USA).

Results

Rate of abuse

One hundred and twelve subjects (n = 112/124, 90.3%) participating in the trial responded to the abuse questionnaire. One hundred and six (94.6%) of the subjects were women. Childhood physical abuse was reported by 13 subjects (11.6%), sexual abuse by 31 subjects (27.7%) and 15 participants (13.4%) indicated having experienced both physical and sexual abuse. 53 (47.3%) reported experiencing no physical and sexual abuse.

For the purpose of analysis, we divided the subjects into two groups: Those who had a history of physical and/or sexual abuse (n = 59, 52.7%) and those with no abuse history (n = 53, 47.3%). Comparing the baseline characteristics, we found that a greater proportion of Caucasians reported abuse history compared to African-Americans (P = 0.006). There were no significant differences between the two groups in FIQ-total (FIQ), health (SF-36), disability (SDS), anxiety (BAI), depressive symptoms (BDI), perceived stress and pain (VAS-P) scores at baseline. Table I summarizes the baseline comparisons between the two groups.

Abuse history as a predictor of response

Primary outcome. There was no significant difference in the number of responders defined as $\geq 25\%$ reduction in FIQ-total score over the 12-week trial between subjects with (n=22, 37.2%) or without history of abuse (n=26, 49.1%) (Fisher's exact test, P=0.49). We also examined the proportion of responders in the drug and the placebo groups separately and found no significant differences in the proportion of responders with or without history of abuse in the paroxetine CR (abuse history n = 16, 53.3%; no abuse history n = 14, 46.7%, Fisher's exact test, P = 0.48) or in the placebo groups (abuse history n = 7, 38.9%; no abuse history n = 11, 61.1%, Fisher's exact test, P=0.16). Figure 1 summarizes the distribution of abuse history among responders and non-responders in the paroxetine CR group. On the primary outcome, multivariate logistic regression showed that history of abuse did not predict a treatment response (OR = 1.16, 95%CI = 1.18 - 1.60, P = 0.35), while the drug status (paroxetine CR) was significantly associated with treatment response (OR = 2.51, CI = 1.12-5.64, P = 0.02). Results of the completer analyses (n = 82) were consistent with ITT with LOCF analyses.

Secondary outcomes

Similarly the responder rate did not differ between subjects with (n = 19, 54.3%) or without history of abuse (n = 16, 45.7%); overall Fisher's exact test, P =0.468) when response was defined as a CGI-I score of 1 or 2 at the end of treatment. In a multivariate logistic regression analysis, a history of abuse did not predict a treatment response based on CGI-S score (OR = 1.282, 95% CI = 0.288 - 5.731, P = 0.74), orCGI-I scores (OR = 1.526, 95% CI = 0.663-3.516, P = 0.32). On other secondary outcomes, after 12 weeks of treatment, subjects with abuse history showed significantly lower mean change in health status (SF-36) than those without abuse history, although it was marginal significance (P=0.04)(Table II). Other outcome measures showed no difference between randomization and end of treatment. Table II summarizes changes in primary and secondary outcomes between subjects with or without abuse history.

We also analyzed the data separately for subjects with history of sexual abuse (n=46) and those with history of physical abuse without any sexual abuse (n=13) to determine if there was a differential effect of type of abuse on treatment response. The direction and strength of the results were consistent with the original analysis combining the physical and sexual abuse groups. Logistic regression showed that neither a history of sexual (OR = 0.803, 95% CI = 0.343–1.878, P=0.61) nor physical abuse (OR = 2.261, 95% CI = 0.892–5.734, P=0.08) did not predict response based on the primary outcome measure of $\geq 25\%$ reduction in FIQ-total score.

There were no significant differences between our previous findings (Patkar et al 2007) and results

438 C.-U. Pae et al.

Table I. Baseline characteristics of fibromylagia subjects with or without a history of abuse.

	Without abuse history $(N=53)$	With abuse history $(N=59)$
Demographic variables		
Male	5 (9.4%)	1 (1.7%)
Female	48 (90.6%)	58 (98.3%)
Age	47.0 (10.9)	48.6 (10.0)
Race*		
Caucasian	44 (83.0)	38 (63.3)
African-American	9 (17.0)	21 (36.7)
Employment		
Full-time	26 (50.0)	29 (48.3)
Part-time	11 (21.2)	7 (11.7)
Unemployed	15 (28.8)	23 (40.0)
Marital Status		
Married	31 (59.6)	35 (59.3)
Single	21 (40.4)	24 (40.7)
Education (years)		
≤12	20 (39.2)	23 (41.8)
>12	31 (60.8)	36 (58.2)
Duration of Illness (mean in years)	3.36 (0.9)	3.13 (1.1)
Clinical variables		
FIQ total score	51.3 (8.7)	40.5 (8.9)
Health (SF-36)	91.4 (13.8)	88.2 (14.4)
Disability (SDS)	14.15 (7.5)	16.67 (7.2)
BAI score	9.72 (7.9)	11.71 (10.2)
BDI score	9.11 (5.8)	9.5 (7.1)
Perceived Stress Score	14.84 (6.0)	16.40 (9.7)
Pain (VAS-P)	7.25 (1.6)	7.5 (1.9)
Depression history**		
No	31 (60)	24 (41)
Yes	21 (40)	34 (59)

Data represent number (%) or mean (standard deviation). *P=0.006, **Fisher's exact =0.043 otherwise not significant between subjects with or without abuse history. FIQ, Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire; SF-36, 36-Item Short Form Health Survey; SDS, Sheehan Disability Scale; BAI, Beck Anxiety Inventory; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; VAS-P, Visual Analogue Scale-Pain.

from this analysis. The mean dose of paroxetine CR in the abuse group (39.7 mg/day) was comparable to the entire sample (39.1 mg/day). The dropout rate was 26.8% (n = 30) in the study.



Figure 1. The distribution of abuse history among responders and non-responders in the paroxetine CR group (n=56). Treatment response was defined as $\geq 25\%$ reduction in Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire (FIQ)-total score from randomization to the end of treatment. Fisher's Exact test, P=0.480.

Discussion

To the best of our knowledge this is the first study examining the relationship between abuse history and response to treatment in fibromvalgia. The post hoc analysis was conducted after the initial randomized controlled trial showed a beneficial effect of paroxetine CR in fibromyalgia. The results failed to demonstrate a significant effect for abuse history to predict treatment response based on the primary and most of the secondary outcome measures. Subjects with or without abuse history were equally likely to respond to paroxetine CR. There could be several explanations for the findings. First, early abuse may not contribute to any specific symptoms profiles in adult fibromyalgia patients that are associated with response to paroxetine CR. Second, our sample was not a chronic, severely ill population. Most of our patients were ill for less than 5 years and over twothirds were employed. It is possible that effects of abuse may be relevant in a sicker population, as it is

Table II. Mean changes in clinical variables from baseline to the end of treatment (week 12) in fibromyalgia subjects with and without a history of abuse

	Without abuse history $(N=53)$	With abuse history $(N=59)$
FIQ total	$-6.8 (4.2)^{a}$	$-6.1 (4.7)^{a}$
Health (SF-36)	$-10.85 (16.6)^{a}$	$-7.73 (14.39)^{a}$
Disability (SDS)	$-9.92 (8.39)^{a}$	$-5.19 (8.15)^{a}$
BDI score	$-2.13(5.66)^{a}$	$-2.95(5.83)^{a}$
BAI	-1.64(6.67)	$-3.83 (8.51)^{a}$
Pain (VAS-P)	$-3.11(3.22)^{a}$	$-14.93 (16.19)^{a}$
CGI-Severity*	-0.02	-0.15
CGI-Improvement*	$-2.90^{\rm b}$	-2.81^{b}

Data represent mean (standard deviation). Paired *t*-test was performed to determine mean changes. *Wilcoxon ranked test performed. FIQ, Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire; SF-36, 36-Item Short Form Health Survey; SDS, Sheehan Disability Scale; BAI, Beck Anxiety Inventory; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; VAS-P, Visual Analogue Scale-Pain. ^aAll significant changes at P < 0.03. ^bZ = -5.489, P = 0.000.

often seen with patients with chronic pelvic pain and PTSD (Meltzer-Brody et al. 2007). Third paroxetine has been shown to effect on a wide range of psychiatric disorders whose symptoms overlap with fibromyalgia. These include PTSD (Marshall et al. 2001), generalized anxiety disorder (Pollack et al. 2001), panic disorder (Ballenger et al. 1998) and major depression (Golden et al. 2002). Early abuse may be broadly associated with several of these symptom domains that are common in most patients with fibromyalgia lending categorization of subgroups based on a single variable (abuse) inappropriate. Fourth fibromyalgia is a complex disease and several factors – neuroendocrine, behavioural, psychological, physiological, and neuroanatomic - have been implicated (Goldenberg et al. 2004). It is likely in a multifactorial disease, several variables - apart from trauma - may influence treatment response and a very large sample size may be required to determine these effects. It is also interesting to note that most fibromyalgia studies have found that predictors only explained a small proportion of variance in treatment success ranging between 13 and 15% (King et al. 2002; Ciccone et al. 2005). Finally, the trial was 12 weeks in duration and it is possible that the predictive influence of trauma becomes more apparent in a longer trial.

There are other findings that deserve comments. Consistent with several other studies (Walker et al. 1997; Goldberg et al. 1999; Imbierowicz and Egle 2003). We found approximately 30% of subjects had history of childhood sexual abuse and 50% of subjects reported both sexual and physical abuse during childhood. This lends further support to the evidence that childhood trauma is common among fibromyalgia sufferers. We did not find any association of abuse with severity of symptoms or poor health, unlike some other studies (Taylor et al. 1995; Walen et al. 2001). One possible explanation could be that the most harmful abuse appears to be that involving penetration and multiple incidents (Leserman 2005); our study had few subjects with such severe childhood trauma. Alternatively abuse may have a stronger effect on health care utilization and disability (Alexander et al. 1998) and these relationships may be more evident in a naturalistic study in clinical settings. Interestingly recent studies have shown that the prevalence rate of fibromyalgia in African-American women may be slightly higher than Caucasian Women (Gansky and Plesh 2007). There has been little research on African-American fibromyalgia patients and this group deserves more attention. Finally, the history of depression and/or anxiety did not predict treatment response as measured by $\geq 25\%$ reduction in Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire (FIQ) score.

There are some relatively straightforward clinical implications of the findings. Obtaining a history of sexual and physical abuse should be a part of the evaluation of fibromyalgia. Unfortunately, trauma history often remains hidden from health care practitioners and there are excellent reviews on how to obtain such a history in a sensitive manner in medical settings (Leserman 2005). Given our previous findings (Patkar et al. 2007) and the accumulating evidence (Arnold et al 2002), it appears that SSRIs and SNRIs may have a beneficial role in fibromyalgia, although they do not have FDA approval for the treatment of this condition. In this context it is worth noting that the FDA recently approved pregabalin, an alpha-2 delta ligand that acts on voltage gated calcium channels, as the first drug to treat fibromyalgia. Until more evidence is available; it seems prudent to suggest that a history of abuse should not be an important factor in a physician's judgment about whether antidepressants would potentially benefit an individual patient with fibromyalgia uncomplicated by co-morbid depression or anxiety disorders. However, our results should not be interpreted to conclude that behavioural interventions have no role in patients with fibromyalgia with history of abuse. For those with history of abuse, a referral to a psychiatric provider may be necessary both to screen for comorbid disorders such as PTSD and to decide about appropriate behavioural interventions that have been shown to be effective in PTSD (Harvey et al. 2003). In fact, we should acknowledge that biological treatment is only one of options for successful management of fibromyalgia. More scientifically designed integrated treatment plan such as a combination of pharmacological treatment with proper patient education, aerobic exercise, and/or cognitive-behavioural therapy may lead to the most best effective

treatment outcomes in patients with fibromyalgia (Goldenberg 2008).

The data should be interpreted in the context of certain limitations inherent in the design. Because this study was based on self-report of retrospective events, and background variables such as socioeconomic status were not controlled, the relationship between childhood abuse and adult symptoms of fibromyalgia cannot be assumed to be causal. Second subjects with current major depression or anxiety disorders were excluded from the trial; it is possible that these subjects may have had a higher preponderance of abuse and therefore biased the results. Third, the relatively small number of subjects in the abuse categories and the modest sample size of the overall trial could have underpowered the trial. Finally, the trial was relatively brief in duration (12 weeks) and did not have any behavioural interventions specific for abuse. Therefore it was beyond the scope of the study to address whether behavioural interventions could have had an added benefit.

In conclusion, the findings suggest that a significant proportion of patients with fibromyalgia have a childhood history of abuse. However, childhood abuse failed to predict response to treatment with paroxetine CR or placebo. Research to determine what mechanisms might account for the association of abuse with health status in fibromyalgia and what treatments may benefit fibromyalgia patients with abuse history may help to clarify the role of abuse in fibromyalgia.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by a Collaborative Research Grant from GlaxoSmithKline.

Statement of interest

Dr Pae has received research grants from Glaxo SmithKline Korea, GlaxoSmithKline, AstraZeneca Korea, Janssen Pharmaceutcals Korea, Eli Lilly and Company Korea, Korean Research Foundation, Otsuka Korea, Wyeth Korea, and Korean Institute of Science and Technology Evaluation and Planning; has received honoraria and is on the speaker's bureaus of GlaxoSmithKline Korea, Lundbeck Korea, AstraZeneca Korea, Janssen Pharmaceutcals Korea, Eli Lilly and Company Korea, McNeil Consumer and Specialty Inc, and Otsuka Korea.

Dr Marks is a consultant for Bristol Myers Squibb, and is on the speaker's bureau of Eli Lilly and Company and Pfizer. He has received research support from Merck and Johnson & Johnson.

Dr Han has received Korea University Alumni Grant.

Dr Patkar is a Consultant for Bristol-Myers Squibb, GlaxoSmithKline, and Reckitt Benckiser; is on the speaker's bureau and received honoraria from Bristol-Myers Squibb, Cephalon, Pfizer, and Reckitt Benckiser; has received grant support from National Institutes of Health, AstraZeneca, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Forest, GlaxoSmithKline, Janssen, Jazz Pharmaceuticals Lundbeck, McNeil Consumer & Specialty Inc, Organon, and Pfizer.

Drs Peindl and Mannelli have no financial interest.

Mr Krulewicz is an employee of GlaxoSmith-Kline.

Dr Masand is a consultant for Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, Eli Lilly and Company, I3CME, Janssen Pharmaceutica, Organon, Pfizer; is on the speaker's bureaus of Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, GlaxoSmithKline, Janssen Pharmaceutica, Pfizer Inc., Eli Lilly and Company.

References

- Alexander RW, Bradley LA, Alarcon GS, Triana-Alexander M, Aaron LA, Alberts KR, et al. 1998. Sexual and physical abuse in women with fibromyalgia: association with outpatient health care utilization and pain medication usage. Arthritis Care Res 11:102–115.
- Arnold LM, Keck PE Jr, Welge JA. 2000. Antidepressant treatment of fibromyalgia. A meta-analysis and review. Psychosomatics 41:104–113.
- Arnold LM, Hess EV, Hudson JI, Welge JA, Berno SE, Keck PE Jr. 2002. A randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind, flexible-dose study of fluoxetine in the treatment of women with fibromyalgia. Am J Med 112:191–197.
- Ballenger JC, Wheadon DE, Steiner M, Bushnell W, Gergel IP. 1998. Double-blind, fixed-dose, placebo-controlled study of paroxetine in the treatment of panic disorder. Am J Psychiatry 155:36–42.
- Beck AT, Ward CH, Mendelson M, Mock J, Erbaugh J. 1961. An inventory for measuring depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 4:561–571.
- Beck AT, Epstein N, Brown G, Steer RA. 1988. An inventory for measuring clinical anxiety: psychometric properties. J Consult Clin Psychol 56:893–897.
- Boisset-Pioro MH, Esdaile JM, Fitzcharles MA. 1995. Sexual and physical abuse in women with fibromyalgia syndrome. Arthritis Rheum 38:235–241.
- Burckhardt CS, Clark SR, Bennett RM. 1991. The fibromyalgia impact questionnaire: development and validation. J Rheumatol 18:728–733.
- Ciccone DS, Elliott DK, Chandler HK, Nayak S, Raphael KG. 2005. Sexual and physical abuse in women with fibromyalgia syndrome: a test of the trauma hypothesis. Clin J Pain 21:378– 386.
- Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. 1983. A global measure of perceived stress. J Health Soc Behav 24:385–396.
- Gansky SA, Plesh O. 2007. Widespread pain and fibromyalgia in a biracial cohort of young women. J Rheumatol 34(4):810–817.
- Goldberg RT, Pachas WN, Keith D. 1999. Relationship between traumatic events in childhood and chronic pain. Disabil Rehabil 21:23–30.
- Golden RN, Nemeroff CB, McSorley P, Pitts CD, Dube EM. 2002. Efficacy and tolerability of controlled-release and

immediate-release paroxetine in the treatment of depression. J Clin Psychiatry 63:577–584.

- Goldenberg DL. 2008. Multidisciplinary modalities in the treatment of fibromyalgia. J Clin Psychiatry 69(Suppl 2):30-34.
- Goldenberg DL, Burckhardt C, Crofford L. 2004. Management of fibromyalgia syndrome. J Am Med Assoc 292:2388–2395.
- Harvey AG, Bryant RA, Tarrier N. 2003. Cognitive behaviour therapy for posttraumatic stress disorder. Clin Psychol Rev 23:501–522.
- Imbierowicz K, Egle UT. 2003. Childhood adversities in patients with fibromyalgia and somatoform pain disorder. Eur J Pain 7:113–119.
- King SJ, Wessel J, Bhambhani Y, Sholter D, Maksymowych W. 2002. Predictors of success of intervention programs for persons with fibromyalgia. J Rheumatol 29:1034–1040.
- Kooiman CG, Ouwehand AW, ter Kuile MM. 2002. The Sexual and Physical Abuse Questionnaire (SPAQ). A screening instrument for adults to assess past and current experiences of abuse. Child Abuse Negl 26:939–953.
- Leserman J. 2005. Sexual abuse history: prevalence, health effects, mediators, and psychological treatment. Psychosom Med 67:906–915.
- Leserman J, Drossman DA, Li Z. 1995. The reliability and validity of a sexual and physical abuse history questionnaire in female patients with gastrointestinal disorders. Behav Med 21:141–150.
- Marshall RD, Beebe KL, Oldham M, Zaninelli R. 2001. Efficacy and safety of paroxetine treatment for chronic PTSD: a fixeddose, placebo-controlled study. Am J Psychiatry 158: 1982–1988.
- McBeth J, Macfarlane GJ, Benjamin S, Morris S, Silman AJ. 1999. The association between tender points, psychological distress, and adverse childhood experiences: a communitybased study. Arthritis Rheum 42:1397–1404.
- Meltzer-Brody S, Leserman J, Zolnoun D, Steege J, Green E, Teich A. 2007. Trauma and posttraumatic stress disorder in women with chronic pelvic pain. Obstet Gynecol 109:902–908.
- Nemeroff CB, Heim CM, Thase ME, Klein DN, Rush AJ, Schatzberg AF, et al. 2003. Differential responses to psychotherapy versus pharmacotherapy in patients with chronic forms of major depression and childhood trauma. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100:14293–1426.

- O'Malley PG, Balden E, Tomkins G, Santoro J, Kroenke K, Jackson JL. 2000. Treatment of fibromyalgia with antidepressants: a meta-analysis. J Gen Intern Med 15:659–666.
- Patkar AA, Masand PS, Krulewicz S, Mannelli P, Peindl K, Beebe KL, et al. 2007. A randomized, controlled, trial of controlled release paroxetine in fibromyalgia. Am J Med 120:448–454.
- Pollack MH, Zaninelli R, Goddard A, McCafferty JP, Bellew KM, Burnham DB, et al. 2001. Paroxetine in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: results of a placebo-controlled, flexible-dosage trial. J Clin Psychiatry 62:350–357.
- Sheehan D. 1983. The anxiety disease. New York: Scribner and Sons.
- Stansfeld SA, Roberts R, Foot SP. 1997. Assessing the validity of the SF-36 General Health Survey. Qual Life Res 6:217–224.
- Taylor ML, Trotter DR, Csuka ME. 1995. The prevalence of sexual abuse in women with fibromyalgia. Arthritis Rheum 38:229–234.
- Turk DC, Okifuji A, Sinclair JD, Starz TW. 1998. Differential responses by psychosocial subgroups of fibromyalgia syndrome patients to an interdisciplinary treatment. Arthritis Care Res 11:397–404.
- Van Houdenhove B, Neerinckx E, Lysens R, Vertommen H, Van Houdenhove L, Onghena P, et al. 2001. Victimization in chronic fatigue syndrome and fibromyalgia in tertiary care: a controlled study on prevalence and characteristics. Psychosomatics 42:21–28.
- Walen HR, Cronan PA, Bigatti SM. 2001. Factors associated with healthcare costs in women with fibromyalgia. Am J Manag Care 7 Spec No:SP39–47.
- Walker EA, Keegan D, Gardner G, Sullivan M, Bernstein D, Katon WJ. 1997. Psychosocial factors in fibromyalgia compared with rheumatoid arthritis: II. Sexual, physical, and emotional abuse and neglect. Psychosom Med 59:572–577.
- Weissbecker I, Floyd A, Dedert E, Salmon P, Sephton S. 2006. Childhood trauma and diurnal cortisol disruption in fibromyalgia syndrome. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 31:312–324.
- Wolfe F, Smythe HA, Yunus MB, Bennett RM, Bombardier C, Goldenberg DL, et al. 1990. The American College of Rheumatology 1990 Criteria for the Classification of Fibromyalgia. Report of the Multicenter Criteria Committee. Arthritis Rheum 33:160–172.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Cognitive impairment of executive function as a core symptom of schizophrenia

THOMAS WOBROCK¹, ULLRICH K. H. ECKER², HARALD SCHERK¹, THOMAS SCHNEIDER-AXMANN¹, PETER FALKAI¹ & OLIVER GRUBER¹

¹Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Georg-August-University, Göttingen, Germany, and ²Brain and Cognition Unit, Department of Psychology, University of the Saarland, Germany

Abstract

Cognitive dysfunction is a common finding in schizophrenia. Nevertheless the specific pattern of neuropsychological impairment in schizophrenia compared to other severe mental illnesses has not been intensively studied. Twenty-four patients with schizophrenia belonging to different stages of the disease (11 first-episode patients, 13 patients with multiple episodes), 18 patients with bipolar disorder and 23 healthy control subjects underwent standardized neuropsychological assessment. Statistical analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) demonstrated that, compared to control subjects, patients with schizophrenia performed significantly worse in the trail-making test (P=0.012), verbal fluency (category letter, P=0.004), verbal learning/memory (P=0.005), and the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST) (P=0.004 for administered trials; P=0.025 for perseverative responses, T value) indicating significant deficits in attention and psychomotor performance, and in particular in verbal working memory and cognitive flexibility for schizophrenic patients. A significantly more perseverative responses (P=0.002, ANCOVA), indicating a more pronounced and specific deficit in cognitive flexibility and frontally based executive function. In conclusion, these results may suggest a cognitive endophenotype in schizophrenia and underline the role of the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenic pathophysiology.

Key words: Schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, cognitive dysfunction, endophenotype, first-episode psychosis

Introduction

Schizophrenia is a complex illness with an estimated lifetime morbidity risk of 1% (Goldner et al. 2002). People suffering from schizophrenia experience abnormalities in many different kinds of mental activities, suggesting that more than one distinct brain region may be involved in pathophysiology. Cognitive dysfunction in schizophrenia has been documented in numerous studies in particular (e.g., Heinrich and Zakzanis 1998). Some studies have found rather widespread cognitive dysfunction (e.g., Bozikas et al. 2006), whereas others have provided evidence for more selective cognitive dysfunction (Saykin et al. 1991; Saykin et al. 1994). Cognitive domains especially of interest in schizophrenia are attention, memory, and executive functions. These domains are subserved by neural networks linking frontal and temporal-limbic regions of the brain (Aggleton and Brown 1999; Hopfinger et al. 2000; Gaffan, 2005), thus, the pattern of cognitive dysfunction specifically points to frontotemporal networks being primarily affected (Hoff and Kremen 2002). In agreement with patterns of neuropsychological dysfunction, changes of brain morphology were observed particularly in these areas by volumetric magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (e.g., Shenton et al. 2001; Wright et al. 2000). Brain energy metabolism has also been shown to be differently effected in gray and white matter of the fronto-temporal-striatal region in schizophrenic patients (Jensen et al. 2006).

Impairments in neuropsychological function have been demonstrated in patients with schizophrenia already at first presentation and even in their unaffected relatives (e.g., Heinrichs and Zakzanis 1998). Cognitive impairment is also found in patients with bipolar disorder (e.g., Quraishi and Frangou 2002). A study comparing schizophrenia

Correspondence: Thomas Wobrock, MD, Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Georg-August-University, Von-Siebold-Str. 5, 37075 Göttingen, Germany. Tel: +49 551 39 9667. Fax: +49 551 39 3899. E-mail: twobroc@gwdg.de

(Received 1 November 2007; accepted 3 December 2007)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970701849986
patients with bipolar patients and controls found an impairment on seven out of eight cognitive domains (verbal, visual-spatial, abstraction-executive, verbal declarative memory, executive-motor, perceptualmotor, mental control, and sustained attention/ vigilance) in schizophrenic patients, whereas bipolar patients were impaired on measures of verbal declarative memory. The pattern of deficits was similar for bipolar and schizophrenia patients, but schizophrenia patients were more significantly impaired than bipolar patients on abstraction, perceptual-motor, executive-motor, and vigilance measures (Seidman et al. 2002). A recent study compared neuropsychological disturbances in schizophrenia with bipolar patients, unaffected relatives of both diagnostic groups, and control participants (McIntosh et al. 2005). Current, verbal, and premorbid IQ were reduced in patients with schizophrenia and their close relatives, memory was impaired in all patient and relative groups, and psychomotor performance and performance IQ were impaired in both patient groups. In conclusion, there was no specific impairment in bipolar disorder, but a pattern of cognitive dysfunction related to genetic liability for schizophrenia.

Given phenomenological similarities between schizophrenia and frontal dysfunction syndromes, executive functions have been suggested to be especially affected in schizophrenics. This assumption has been corroborated by behavioral (e.g., Chan et al. 2006), functional imaging (e.g., Holmes et al. 2005) and psychophysiological (e.g., Weisbrod et al. 2000) research. Executive functions encompass a number of abilities, including but not limited to the ability to initiate, plan, and sequence behaviors, the ability to abstract a principle or problem-solving strategy, and the ability to be cognitively flexible (i.e. switch cognitive sets). Although executive functions are largely subserved by the frontal cortex, they are also related to other parts of the brain that have strong connections to the frontal cortex such as the temporal-limbic complex (Gruber and Goschke 2004). Schizophrenia patients had been noted to have a loss of abstract attitude and to exhibit concrete thinking deficits as early as the 1950s. A recent meta-analysis of 71 studies demonstrated an overall effect size of -1.45 for schizophrenia patients relative to controls on measures of executive functioning. This is a substantial effect, suggesting that patients with schizophrenia are significantly impaired on these measures as compared with other psychiatric patients (effect size -0.40).

With regard to the cited literature there is some aspect of specificity in the degree and type of cognitive dysfunction of schizophrenia patients. To explore the specificity issue further, we administered a battery of neuropsychological tests to patients with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and healthy controls. Tests were organized into cognitive domains, assessing a wide spectrum of cognitive functions, including those reported in the literature to be sensitive to schizophrenia. That is, the potential functional consequences of the described disturbed communication between frontotemporal and frontothalamic structures – deficits in verbal fluency, attention, memory, and executive functioning in particular – were assessed. These deficits may be more related to structural and functional neuroimaging findings than psychopathological symptoms, which may result in part from these cognitive disturbances.

Method

Patients and control subjects

The present analysis includes the data of 65 persons recruited from the Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Saarland University, between 2003 and 2005. Diagnostically, the sample consisted of 24 patients with schizophrenia (ICD-10: F20, 11 patients with first-episode schizophrenia, 13 schizophrenic patients with multiple episodes), 18 euthymic patients with bipolar disorder (ICD-10: F31) and 23 healthy control subjects. All schizophrenic and bipolar patients were treated with psychotropic drugs. Subjects suffering from dementia, neurological illnesses, severe brain injuries, or brain tumours at the time of examination were excluded from the sample. Demographic statistics by diagnostic group are given in Table I.

This study, which is in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, was approved by the local ethic committee of the Saarland. After a complete description of the study, written informed consent was obtained from each participating subject.

Diagnostic procedures

The following standardized examinations were performed on each subject: a detailed biographic interview and a consensus diagnosis based on SCID I and II interviews (Wittchen et al. 1991) of two independent psychiatrists. The status of healthy controls was confirmed using SCID I and II.

Neuropsychological assessment

For neuropsychological assessment, we used tests in paper-pencil form and computerized versions (e.g., the Wiener Test System, WTS, and the CANTAB, Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery). Premorbid intellectual function was

444 T. Wobrock et al.

Table I. Sociodemographic characteristics in diagnostic groups.

	SZ-FE (N=11)	SZ-Chron (N=13)	Bipolar $(N=18)$	Controls $(N=23)$	F	Р
Age in years, mean (SD)	29.8 (7.4)	34.8 (10.4)	42.1 (12.2)	30.13 (8.7)	7.91 ^a	0.001
Gender; male/female (N) Education in years, $<9/10-12/13/>13$ (N)	8/3 0/6/5/0	10/3 2/7/4/0	7/11 2/10/3/3	10/13 1/7/11/4	5.90 ⁵ 9.45 ^b	0.052 0.15

N, number of subjects; SZ, schizophrenia; FE, first-episode; Chron, chronic disease; Bipolar, patients with bipolar disorder; *P*, probability; SD, standard deviation; *F*, F statistic.

^aOne-way analysis of variance.

 ${}^{\rm b}\chi^2$ -test.

estimated by a test of verbal intelligence ('Wortschatztest', WST, Schmidt and Metzler 1992). For detecting deficits in attention, speed processing, and psychomotor performance, reaction times were measured using simple and associative perception tasks ('Reaktionstests', RT1 - single stimulus and RT3 - compound stimulus, subtests of the Wiener Test System, WTS, Schufried/Potsdam), and a divided attention task ('Geteilte Aufmerksamkeit', DA, a subtest of the test battery 'Aufmerksamkeitsprüfung', TAP, Zimmermann, Fimm/PSYTEST). For assessment of psychomotor performance and speed, we used the 'Zahlenverbindungstest' (ZVT; Oswald and Roth 1987), a test similar to the trail-making test (TMT, part A). Attention and working memory were appraised with a digit span task ('Zahlennachsprechen', a subtest of the HAWIE, Tewes 1991) and the working memory test 'Arbeitsgedächtnis' (subtest of the TAP), and visuospatial working memory was measured with the Corsi Block-Tapping Test (of WTS battery) and the test of Spatial Recognition Memory (CANTAB). Additionally, a verbal learning and memory test similar to the Auditory or California Verbal Learning Test ('Verbaler Lern- und Merkfähigkeitstest' VLMT; Helmstaedter et al. 2001) was administered, measuring the course of encoding capacity together with both direct and delayed recall and episodic recognition abilities. Nonverbal learning capacity was examined by the 'Nonverbaler Lerntest' (NVLT, subtest of WTS) (Sturm and Willmes 1999). Verbal fluency (VF) was measured by the 'Regensburger Wortflüssigkeits-Test' (RWT; Aschenbrenner et al. 2000). For the detection of deficits in concept formation, cognitive flexibility, and executive functions, the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST; Heaton et al. 1993), and the Tower of London test (TOL; Shallice 1982) were used. Additionally, a test tapping the controlled integration of information from different sensory channels, that is, intermodal comparison (IC, 'Intermodaler Vergleich', subtest of the Attention Test Battery, TAP) was conducted. Interference was tested by the 'Stroop' task (subtest of the WTS), including the

word (Stroop-LI) and color (Stroop-BI) interference conditions.

Statistics

In order to reduce the large number of variables available, from each test a small number of variables was selected for further inspection, based on the literature, theoretical considerations and exploratory discriminant function analysis. This resulted in the selection of 20 variables potentially discriminating between groups. Statistical analyses were then performed with SPSS 10.0 for Windows (Norusis 2002). Domains of neuropsychological function (e.g., executive function and psychomotor performance) were compared between groups using analyses of covariance (ANCOVAs). Thus, analyses were controlled for age, gender, and education, including these potentially intervening variables as covariates. If the assumption of normal distribution was violated as indexed by Kolmogorov-Smirnov testing, non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis tests were performed. In the following, after reviewing demographic group differences, the results of the three group analysis (schizophrenic patients, bipolar patients, healthy control subjects) will be reported, followed by post-hoc group comparisons, applying the Bonferroni correction where applicable.

Results

For demographic variables, there was a significant difference in age between groups: patients with bipolar disorder were older than schizophrenic patients and control subjects (see Table I). In addition, the portion of males was not significantly higher in the group of schizophrenic patients, and control subjects tended to have higher education as compared to the other groups. In Table II, the results of the neuropsychological assessment, reporting means and standard deviations, are presented.

From the ANCOVA adjusted for gender, age and duration of education comparing controls, bipolar patients and schizophrenic patients, seven variables were capable of detecting significant across groups Table II. Neurocognitive measures in diagnostic groups (mean, SD).

	SZ (FE) (N=11)	SZ (chron) (N=13)	Bipolar $(N=18)$	Controls $(N=23)$
ZVT (T value)	39.27 (15.90)	34.73 (8.79)	43.94 (10.31)	52.36 (9.22)
Digit Span (value points)	10.18 (3.28)	11.45 (3.11)	11.43 (2.68)	12.14 (3.24)
RWT, prenames, (sum 1st and 2nd minute)	29.08 (6.65)	24.55 (8.34)	31.50 (11.78)	36.00 (7.81)
RWT, s-words (sum 1st and 2nd minute)	17.33 (6.31)	13.09 (4.46)	19.88 (8.25)	23.50 (5.57)
VLMT 1-5 (sum of trials 1-5)	51.55 (8.99)	41.50 (12.60)	50.07 (8.24)	60.05 (6.13)
VLMT-diff (difference between trial 5 and 7)	2.27 (2.24)	3.25 (1.54)	2.40 (2.53)	1.27 (1.42)
WST (T value)	53.55 (8.49)	47.69 (9.51)	52.06 (7.23)	58.78 (6.23)
NVLT (sum score, difference between right and false answers)	42.18 (13.27)	45.77 (12.81)	40.65 (7.09)	51.22 (10.00)
Corsi	5.55 (1.37)	5.46 (1.13)	5.29 (1.21)	6.00 (1.09)
Stroop-Reading (s)	0.23 (0.13)	0.26 (0.25)	0.24 (0.19)	0.17 (0.15)
Stroop-Naming (s)	0.21 (0.26)	0.15 (0.24)	0.27 (0.21)	0.09 (0.10)
RT1 (s)	54.45 (9.53)	50.83 (7.09)	54.39 (8.40)	59.17 (6.15)
RT3 (s)	47.91 (9.12)	46.50 (7.17)	43.00 (11.00)	51.43 (9.02)
WCST-ta (trials administered)	110.91 (18.56)	104.09 (18.42)	103.25 (20.92)	88.45 (16.77)
WCST-pr (% of perse-verative responses, T value)	52.82 (13.77)	52.55 (13.25)	63.69 (15.43)	62.00 (12.92)
TOL (sum score)	93.73 (11.36)	92.25 (9.36)	95.12 (9.92)	101.91 (8.43)
SRM (% of correct standard score)	-0.99(1.71)	-1.37(1.28)	-1.44(1.15)	-0.56 (1.20)
TAP-WM (s)	724.5 (134.0)	856.3 (155.6)	739.9 (213.5)	625.0 (146.6)
TAP-DA (s)	777.5 (59.6)	758.4 (72.2)	784.7 (87.0)	695.4 (83.4)
TAP-IC (s)	545.7 (41.4)	576.8 (95.7)	549.8 (114.7)	437.5 (68.1)

SD, standard deviation; *N*, number of subjects; SZ, schizophrenia; FE, first-episode; Chron, chronic disease; Bipolar, patients with bipolar disorder; ZVT, Zahlenverbindungstest (similar to Trail Making Test A); RWT, Regensburger Wortflüssigkeitstest (Verbal Fluency); VLMT, Verbaler Lern- und Merkfähigkeitstest (similar to the Auditory Verbal Learning Test); WST, Wortschatztest (comparable to the Boston Naming Test); NVLT, Nonverbaler Lerntest (Nonverbal Learning Test); Corsi, Corsi Block Tapping; Stroop, Stroop Test; RT1, Reaction Test (of the Wiener Test System), single stimulus; RT3, Reaction Test (of the Wiener Test System), compound stimulus; WCST, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test; TOL, Tower of London Test; SRM, Spatial Recognition Memory; TAP, Testbatterie zur Aufmerksamkeitsprüfung (Attention Test Battery); WM, Working Memory; DA, Divided Attention; IC, Intermodal Comparison.

differences in cognitive function (see Table III for details): performance in the trail making test (ZVT) was significantly different across groups, pointing to differences in attention and speeded psychomotor processing. Significant group differences were also found in lexical word fluency (RWT 's'-words), verbal learning and immediate recall capacities (VLMT, sum of trials 1–5), verbal episodic recognition performance (VLMT, difference between trial 5 and 7), premorbid verbal intelligence (WST), executive function (WCST), and crossmodal binding (TAP-IC).

Schizophrenia patients versus controls

Compared to control subjects, patients with schizophrenia performed significantly worse in the trailmaking test (ZVT), the verbal fluency test (RWT 's'words) (see Figure 1), verbal learning and memory test (immediate list recall of VLMT), and the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (sum of administered trials, and perseverative responses). This cognitive pattern indicates significant deficits in attention and psychomotor performance, and in particular in verbal working memory and cognitive flexibility for schizophrenic patients. Thus, high order cognitive functions were most affected in schizophrenics. Interestingly, there was evidence for significantly reduced premorbid intellectual function (lower WST score) only in chronic schizophrenic patients with multiple episodes, but not in first-episode patients, compared to control subjects. Nevertheless, first-episode patients performed worse in the WCST (sum of administered trials), suggesting cognitive dysfunction even at the beginning of the disease.

Schizophrenia versus bipolar patients

A significant difference between schizophrenic and bipolar patients was found only in the WCST. Schizophrenic patients made significantly more perseverative responses, indicating a more pronounced and specific deficit in cognitive flexibility and executive function (see Table III and Figure 2).

Correlations with other parameters

For sake of completeness, the influences of intervening demographic variables were tested by correlation analysis. Sex influenced performance as expected; females performed better in verbally based tests (RWT, VLMT, Stroop-LI) and the working memory test requiring cross-modal integration, whereas males fared better on the spatial Corsi test, corroborating a well-established pattern of

446 T. Wobrock et al.

Table III. Diagnostic group comparisons.

	ANCOVA ^a Factor diagnostic group			SZ (total) vs. Controls	SZ (total) vs. Bipolar	SZ-FE vs. Controls	SZ-Chron vs. Controls
	df	F	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р
ZVT (<i>T</i> value)	2, 51	3.84	0.028	0.012	0.17	0.041	<0.0005
Digit span (value points)	2,50	1.00	0.38				
RWT, prenames (sum 1st and 2nd minute)	2, 51	0.42	0.66				
RWT, s-words (sum 1st and 2nd minute)	2, 51	3.84	0.028	0.004	0.12	0.035	<0.0005
VLMT 1-5 (sum of trials 1-5)	2, 52	5.81	0.005	0.005	0.12	0.013	<0.0005
VLMT-diff (difference between trial 5 and 7)	2, 52	1.80	0.18				
WST (T value)	2, 56	3.45	0.039	0.047	0.92	0.31	0.003
NVLT (sum score, difference between right and false answers)	2, 56	2.70	0.076				
Corsi (total)	2, 56	0.97	0.39				
Stroop-Reading (s)	2, 56	0.69	0.50				
Stroop-Naming (s)*	2*	2.32	0.31				
RT1 (s)	2,56	2.87	0.065				
RT3 (s)	2,56	1.62	0.21				
WCST-ta (administered trials)	2, 52	3.51	0.037	0.004	0.44	0.015	0.038
WCST-pr (% of perseverative responses; T value)	2, 52	5.31	0.008	0.026	0.002	0.069	0.13
TOL (sum score)	2, 55	2.07	0.14				
SRM (% of correct standard score)	2, 48	1.83	0.17				
TAP-WM (s)	2,50	1.99	0.15				
TAP-DA (s)	2, 48	2.85	0.067				
TAP-IC (s)	2, 47	5.66	0.006	0.002	0.54	<0.0005	0.001

^aANCOVA (factors diagnosis, gender; covariates age, education).

*Values were not normal distributed. In consequence non-parametric Kruskal–Wallis Test was performed, and 2^2 instead of F are shown in the table.

N, number of subjects; SZ, schizophrenia; FE, first-episode; Chron, chronic disease; Bipolar, patients with bipolar disorder; df, degrees of freedom; *F*, *F* statistic; *P*, probability; ZVT, Zahlenverbindungstest (similar to Trail Making Test A); RWT, Regensburger Wortflüssigkeitstest (Verbal Fluency); VLMT, Verbaler Lern- und Merkfähigkeitstest (similar to the Auditory Verbal Learning Test); WST, Wortschatztest (comparable to the Boston Naming Test); NVLT, Nonverbaler Lerntest (Nonverbal Learning Test); Corsi, Corsi Block Tapping; Stroop, Stroop Test; RT1, Reaction Test (of the Wiener Test System), single stimulus; RT3, Reaction Test (of the Wiener Test System), compound stimulus; WCST, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test; TOL, Tower of London Test; SRM, Spatial Recognition Memory; TAP, Testbatterie zur Aufmerksamkeitsprüfung (Attention Test Battery); WM, Working Memory; DA, Divided Attention; IC, Intermodal Comparison.

cognitive sex differences. The influence of age was also as expected. Looking only at the directions of correlations, age correlated negatively with performance in every single index (correlation in the Stroop-LI test being the only exception), although of course many of these correlations were nonsignificant. Significant coherence, however, was found for memory measures in particular, including immediate recall and episodic recognition of VLMT, nonverbal learning performance (NVLT), and spatial and basic working memory (Corsi, TAP-WM), but also in tests tapping capacities to divide attention (TAP-DA) and react to compound stimuli (RT3). Although these results seemingly contradict findings of more specific age-related deficits especially with regard to memory (e.g., Cabeza 2006), age was already confounded with diagnostic group (i.e., older subjects were more likely to suffer from bipolar disorder). Finally, education had a large influence on many tests, as well, including but not limited to measures of verbal and nonverbal learning (VLMT,

NVLT), working memory (ZNS, Corsi), and intelligence (WST). Most importantly for present concerns, there was no influence of these demographic variables on the WCST index selectively impaired in the schizophrenic group of patients.

Discussion

In our study, overall, psychiatric patients exhibited poorer performance on many variables of neurocognitive assessment, although it should be highlighted that about half of the variables did not vary significantly with subjects' status. Although variables were selected in order to mirror group effects, many cognitive functions seem to be rather unimpaired in schizophrenia (and bipolar disorder). For example, patients performed quite well in pure working memory tasks (digit span, Corsi, TAP-WM) and did not show dramatically increased susceptibility to basic interference (Stroop). Differences in ZVT (trail making) might also be due to differences in



Figure 1. Verbal fluency (RWT, s-words) in diagnostic groups. Comparison of the performance in the verbal fluency task (RWT), letter category, words beginning with the letter 's' (s-words), sum of raw values in first and second minute. ANCOVA (factors diagnosis, gender; covariates age, education), F=3.84; df=2,51; P=0.028, for factor diagnosis. Analysis of diagnostic subgroup: SZ-FE vs. Controls: P=0.035; SZ-Chron vs. Controls: P<0.0005. RWT, Regensburger Wortflüssigkeits-Test; ANCOVA, analysis of covariance; df, degree of freedom; P, probability; SZ, schizophrenia; FE, first-episode; Chron, chronic disease; Controls, healthy controls; Bipolar, bipolar patients.



Figure 2. WCST (Perseverative Responses) in diagnostic groups. Comparison of the performance in the WCST, percent (%) of perseverative responses, *T* score, in diagnostic groups. ANCOVA (factors diagnosis, gender; covariates age, education), F = 5.31; df = 2,52; P = 0.008, for factor diagnosis. Analysis of diagnostic subgroup: SZ (total) vs. Controls: P = 0.026; SZ (total) vs. Bipolar: P = 0.002. WCST, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test; ANCOVA, analysis of covariance; df, degrees of freedom; *P*, probability; SZ, schizophrenia; FE, first-episode; Chron, chronic disease; Controls, healthy controls; Bipolar, bipolar patients.

assessment-related arousal, as basic reaction time distributions did not differ across groups, speaking against a pure 'speed of processing' account of deficits. Overall results did not indicate a simplified 'task difficulty' account of deficits, as there were no significant group differences in the most challenging tasks (TOL, Stroop, TAP-WM), whereas easier tasks did show group differences (e.g., the VLMT recognition task, in which controls performed near ceiling, or the TAP-IC test).

Taken together, the results point to general higherlevel cognitive functioning being primarily impaired in the patient groups. For instance, basic (pure) working memory tests were not sensitive to group differences (despite numerical tendencies); however, groups differed in the immediate recall of categorized word lists. Even though the latter also heavily relies on working memory processing (and working memory processing per se comprises control processes), performance in this task strongly benefits from additional strategic processing (clustering the groups, generating associations or images, and other strategies). A similar picture arises when comparing performance in the two word fluency tests. In the semantic version (i.e., list all first names you can think of), there is less need for generation of retrieval cues (letters of the alphabet are easily available cues) and strategy switches (subjects would typically follow the alphabet or go through their friend/family circle) as compared to the lexical version (i.e., list all words you can think of commencing with an 's'), requiring flexible generation of retrieval cues and strategy adjustments. Summarising our findings, schizophrenic patients showed deficits as compared to healthy controls in a number of tasks that seem to tap into higher-order cognitive processes, thus requiring multiple brain regions to act in concert to achieve high levels of performance.

The comparison with the bipolar group demonstrates, however, that these deficits might be of a rather general nature, not specific to schizophrenia. In contrast, they could be based on factors in common to both types of psychotic disorders (i.e. bipolar disorder and schizophrenia (Häfner et al. 2005)). Other related causes may be the intake of psychotropic drugs in both groups, a lower premorbid level of functioning, the influence of hospitalization, motivational factors, or an interaction of these and other conceivable factors.

More importantly, however, this study revealed a very specific deficit more peculiar to schizophrenia: schizophrenic patients (both first episode and chronic patients) produced significantly higher levels of perseverative responding in the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST), demonstrating inability to shift from an incorrect response set, compared to bipolar patients. Although the WCST has been subject to some criticism - mainly due to initial attempts to treat it as a 'pure' measure of frontal cortex function - it is not coincidentally one of the most administered neuropsychological tests worldwide, contributing uniquely to neuropsychological assessment (e.g., Greve et al. 1998). The present pattern points to a specific deficit in the ability of schizophrenic patients to flexibly adapt to the environment - a behaviour requiring high levels of action-effect monitoring and strategic control. This deficit is typically demonstrated by patients suffering from frontal lobe lesions. It indicates that frontally based executive functions are more disturbed in schizophrenia than in bipolar disorder. Yet, other functions also require a certain amount of frontal control, those subserving pure working memory tasks for example, and these were not strongly affected by group status in this study. Thus, the index of perseverative responses may be a rather pure measure of the psychological function needed to solve the task (strategy adjustment), but this function is most likely subserved by a distributed neural network rather than a single region. Apparently, this network is specifically disturbed in schizophrenia, and equally so across successive stages of the disease.

There are several limitations of this study. We did not control for the possible influence of psychotropic drugs on cognitive dysfunction. In this study, all of the schizophrenic subjects patients were treated with antipsychotic agents, in nearly all cases with secondgeneration antipsychotics. Bipolar patients received mainly mood stabilizers and to some extent second generation antipsychotics. Both patient groups were not treated with anticholinergic agents (like biperiden), or benzodiazepines at the time of neuropsychological assessment.

However, the influence of antipsychotics on neuropsychological performance should not be overrated, because a recent study (Rémillard et al. 2005) suggests that antipsychotics (risperidone, haloperidol) do not substantially or differentially affect executive functioning as measured by the WCST. Although several methods were applied intending to reduce the number of dependent variables, there still remained the large number of 20 variables. This raises the question of false positive findings caused by multiple testing. However, findings for the different neuropsychological tests were consistent, therefore there is evidence that the results may be interpreted as outlined above.

Notably, our results confirm some findings in the literature. For instance, it was reported that schizophrenia patients perform worse than normal controls on the WCST, with patient siblings showing intermediate performance (El Hamaoui et al. 2006). This is in line with our assumption that frontal lobe/ executive dysfunction marks a cognitive endophenotype in schizophrenia. In a study including both schizophrenic and depressed patient groups, executive dysfunction was found specifically in schizophrenic patients, which was associated with abnormal right frontal cortex activity (Holmes et al. 2005). Another study reported similar results, also showing that executive function (WCST, number of categories) was significantly more impaired in schizophrenic than in bipolar patients (Martinez-Aran et al. 2002).

Other studies have reported more global differences between the two patient groups. For instance, a study with large patient samples revealed evidence for more severe global and specific neuropsychological deficits in schizophrenia compared to psychotic affective disorders (Mojtabai et al. 2000), and another trial demonstrated similar patterns of cognitive dysfunction across groups, but the deficits of schizophrenic patients were more severe (Dickerson et al. 2004).

Nevertheless our results stand in contrast to other studies comparing performance of schizophrenic patients and controls. In one study the greatest deficits of schizophrenics were reported in visuomotor and attentional functions, whereas only intermediate deficits in cognitive flexibility could be demonstrated (Albus et al. 1996). Our study suggests that the former deficit is probably not peculiar to schizophrenia, whereas the latter may in fact be. Also, other research groups comparing neuropsychological performance between the two clinical groups have reported other result patterns, for instance, comparable performance on WCST accompanied by a selective deficit in verbal fluency tests shown by schizophrenia patients (Frangou et al. 2006). Patients suffering from schizophrenia have been reported to show a significant decrease in memory test performance, compared with both normal controls and affectively disturbed patients (Landrø et al. 1993), and these deficits did not correlate with performance on the WCST. A comparison between unaffected siblings of these two patient groups suggested a common impairment in verbal recall and a more pronounced deficit of sensory-perceptual analysis and spatial working memory in the unaffected siblings of schizophrenic patients (Keri et al. 2001). Finally, a study comparing neuropsychological performance between schizophrenic and bipolar patients over a 3-year period found similar results in both groups and stability of cognitive dysfunction over time also in bipolar disorder (Balanza-Martinez et al. 2005).

We propose that a key factor in the resolution of this rather ambiguous state of affairs will be concerned with the ascertainment of more homogeneous clinical subgroups. Interestingly, when bipolar patients with manic or depressive features were compared with schizophrenic patients with disorganized or predominantly negative symptoms, it was observed that executive dysfunction was more related to the symptom profile than to the diagnosis itself (Kravariti et al. 2005). An investigation similar to our study demonstrated a more generalized cognitive impairment and greater degree of impairment in schizophrenia compared with euthymic bipolar subjects (Altshuler et al. 2004). Compared to healthy controls, subjects with bipolar disorder were impaired in two specific domains (verbal memory, measured by CVLT, and executive function, measured by WCST). In this study the bipolar group consisted of a subset with relatively normal executive functioning and a subset with significant impairment, indicating that this patient group is not homogenous.

Further research also including modern imaging methods is necessary in order to confirm the suggestion that impairment of executive function or frontal lobe dysfunction describes a cognitive endophenotype in schizophrenia. Although metaanalyses have concluded that WCST performance is not specifically affected in schizophrenia in general (Laws 1999), there is some evidence of impaired executive functioning as indexed by WCST in patients exhibiting predominantly negative symptoms (Nieuwenstein et al. 2001). Thus, applying multi-method approaches and taking individual pathology patterns into account (e.g., Donohoe et al. 2006; Kurtz and Wexler 2006; Zalla et al. 2006) seems to be the most promising agenda for future research.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

References

- Aggleton JP, Brown MW. 1999. Episodic memory, amnesia, and the hippocampal-anterior thalamic axis. Behav Brain Sci 22:425–444.
- Albus M, Hubmann W, Ehrenberg C, et al. 1996. Neuropsychological impairment in first-episode and chronic schizophrenic patients. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 246:249–255.

- Altshuler LL, Ventura J, van Gorp WG, Green MF, Theberge DC, Mintz J. 2004. Neurocognitive function in clinically stable men with bipolar I disorder or schizophrenia and normal control subjects. Biol Psychiatry 56:560–569.
- Aschenbrenner S, Tucha O, Lange KW. 2000. Regensburger Wortflüssigkeitstest. Göttingen: Hogrefe.
- Balanza-Martinez V, Tabares-Seisdedos R, Selva-Vera G, et al. 2005. Persistent cognitive dysfunctions in bipolar I disorder and schizophrenic patients: a 3-year follow-up study. Psychother Psychosom 74:113–119.
- Bozikas VP, Kosmidis MH, Kiosseoglou G, Karavatos A. 2006. Neuropsychological profile of cognitively impaired patients with schizophrenia. Compr Psychiatry 47:136–143.
- Cabeza R. 2006. Prefrontal and medial temporal lobe contributions to relational memory in young and older adults. In: Zimmer HD, Mecklinger A, Lindenberger U, editors. Handbook of binding and memory: Perspectives from cognitive neuroscience. Oxford: Oxford University Press. p 595–626.
- Chan RC, Chen EY, Law CW. 2006. Specific executive dysfunction in patients with first-episode medication-naïve schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 82:51–64.
- Dickerson F, Boronow JJ, Stallings C, Origoni AE, Cole SK, Yolken RH. 2004. Cognitive functioning in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: comparison of performance on the Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status. Psychiatry Res 129:45–53.
- Donohoe G, Corvin A, Robertson IH. 2006. Evidence that specific executive functions predict symptom variance among schizophrenia patients with a predominantly negative symptom profile. Cogn Neuropsychiatry 11:13–32.
- El Hamoui Y, Elyazaji M, Yaalaoui S, et al. 2006. Wiscosin card sorting task in patients with schizophrenia and their siblings. Can J Psychiatry 51:48–54.
- Frangou S, Dakhil N, Landau S, Kumari V. 2006. Frontotemporal function may distinguish bipolar disorder from schizophrenia. Bipolar Disord 8:47–55.
- Gaffan D. 2005. Widespread cortical networks underlie memory and attention. Science 309:2172–2173.
- Goldner EM, Hsu L, Waraich P, Somers JM. 2002. Prevalence and incidence studies of schizophrenic disorders: a systematic review of the literature. Can J Psychiatry 47:833–843.
- Greve KW, Ingram F, Bianchini KJ. 1998. Latent structure of the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test in a clinical sample. Arch Clin Neuropsychol 13:597–609.
- Gruber O, Goschke T. 2004. Executive control emerging from dynamic interactions between brain systems mediating language, working memory and attentional processes. Acta Psychol (Amsterdam) 115:105–121.
- Häfner H, Maurer K, Trendler G, an der Heiden W, Schmidt M, Könnecke R. 2005. Schizophrenia and depression: challenging the paradigm of two separate diseases – a controlled study of schizophrenia, depression and healthy controls. Schizophr Res 77:11–24.
- Heaton RK, Chelune GJ, Talley JL, Kay GG, Curtiss G. 1993. Wisconsin Card Sorting Test Manual – Revised and expanded. Florida: PAR.
- Heinrichs RW, Zakzanis K. 1998. Neurocognitive deficit in schizophrenia: a quantitative review of the evidence. Neuropsychology 12:426–445.
- Helmstaedter C, Lendt M, Lux S. 2001. VLMT Verbaler Lern und Merkfähigkeitstest. Test und Testhandbuch. Göttingen: Beltz Test GmbH.
- Hoff AL, Kremen WS. 2002. Is there a cognitive phenotype for schizophrenia: The nature and course of the disturbance in cognition? Curr Opin Psychiatry 15:43–48.
- Holmes AJ, Mac Donald A 3rd, Carter CS, Barch DM, Andrew Stenger V, Cohen JD. 2005. Prefrontal functioning during

context processing in schizophrenia and major depression: an event-related fMRI study. Schizophr Res 76:199–206.

- Hopfinger JB, Buonocore MH, Mangun GR. 2000. The neural mechanisms of top-down attentional control. Nat Neurosci 3:284–291.
- Jensen JE, Miller J, Williamson PC, et al. 2006. Grey and white matter differences in brain energy metabolism in first episode schizophrenia: (31)P-MRS chemical shift imaging at 4 Tesla. Psychiatry Res 146:127–135.
- Keri S, Kelemen O, Benedek G, Janka Z. 2001. Different trait markers for schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: a neurocognitive approach. Psychol Med 31:915–922.
- Kravariti E, Dixon T, Frith C, Murray R, McGuire P. 2005. Association of symptoms and executive function in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Schizophr Res 74:221–231.
- Kurtz MM, Wexler BE. 2006. Differences in performance and learning proficiency on the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test in schizophrenia: do they reflect distinct neurocognitive subtypes with distinct functional profiles? Schizophr Res 81:167–171.
- Landrø NI, Orbeck AL, Rund BR. 1993. Memory functioning in chronic and non-chronic schizophrenics, affectively disturbed patients and normal controls. Schizophr Res 10:85–92.
- Laws KR. 1999. A meta-analytic review of Wisconsin Card Sorting studies in schizophrenia: General intellectual deficit in disguise? Cognit Neuropsychiatry 4:1–35.
- Martinez-Aran A, Penades R, Vieta E, et al. 2002. Executive function in patients with remitted bipolar disorder and schizophrenia and its relationship with functional outcome. Psychother Psychosom 71:39–46.
- McIntosh AM, Harrison LK, Forrester K, Lawrie SM, Johnstone EC. 2005. Neuropsychological impairments in people with schizophrenia or bipolar disorder and their unaffected relatives. Br J Psychiatry 186:378–385.
- Mojtabai R, Bromet EJ, Harvey PD, Carlson GA, Craig TJ, Fennig S. 2000. Neuropsychological differences between firstadmission schizophrenia and psychotic affective disorders. Am J Psychiatry 157:1453–1460.
- Nieuwenstein MR, Aleman A, de Haan EHF. 2001. Relationship between symptoms dimensions and neurocognitive functioning in schizophrenia: A meta-analysis of WCST and CPT studies. J Psychiatr Res 35:119–125.
- Norusis MJ. 2002. SPSS 10.0 Guide to data analysis. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Oswald WD, Roth E. 1987. Der Zahlen-Verbindungs-Test (ZVT): Handanweisung (2 Aufl). Göttingen: Hogrefe.
- Quraishi S, Frangou S. 2002. Neuropsychology of bipolar disorder: a review. J Affective Dis 72:209–226.
- Remillard S, Pourcher E, Cohen H. 2005. The effect of neuroleptic treatments on executive function and symptomatology in schizophrenia: a 1-year follow up study. Schizophr Res 80:99–106.
- Saykin AJ, Gur RC, Gur RE, et al. 1991. Neuropsychological function in schizophrenia: selective impairment in memory and learning. Arch Gen Psychiatry 48:618–624.
- Saykin AJ, Shtasel DL, Gur RE, et al. 1994. Neuropsychological deficits in neuroleptic naive patients with first-episode schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 51:124–131.
- Schmidt KH, Metzler P. 1992. Wortschatztest WST. Weinheim: Beltz.
- Seidman LJ, Kremen WS, Koren D, Faraone SV, Goldstein JM, Tsuang MT. 2002. A comparative profile analysis of neuropsychological functioning in patients with schizophrenia and bipolar psychoses. Schizophr Res 53:31–44.
- Shallice T. 1982. Specific impairments in planning. Phil Trans R Soc London Ser B: Biol Sci 298:199–209.

- Shenton ME, Dickey CC, Frumin M, McCarley RW. 2001. A review of MRI findings in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 49: 1–52.
- Sturm W, Willmes K. 1999. Verbaler und Nonverbaler Lerntest (NVLT). Göttingen: Hogrefe.
- Tewes U. 1991. Hamburg-Wechsler-Intelligenztest für Erwachsene, HAWIE-R (German Version of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale – Revised). Bern: Huber.
- Weisbrod M, Kiefer M, Marzinzik F, Spitzer M. 2000. Executive control is disturbed in schizophrenia: Evidence from event-related potentials in a Go/NoGo task. Biol Psychiatry 47:51–60.
- Wittchen HU, Schramm E, Zaudig M, Unland H. 1991. Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-III-R. German revised form of the original SCID version by Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Gibbon M, and First MB. Weinheim: Beltz.
- Wright IC, Rabe-Hesketh S, Woodruff PWR, David AS, Murray RM, Bullmore ET. 2000. Meta-analysis of regional brain volumes in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 157:16–25.
- Zalla T, Bouchilloux N, Labruyere N, Georgieff N, Bougerol T, Franck N. 2006. Impairment in event sequencing in disorganised and non-disorganised patients with schizophrenia. Brain Res Bull 68:195–202.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Cognitive profiles of healthy siblings of schizophrenia patients: Application of the cognitive domains of the MATRICS consensus battery

HEE JUNG NAM^{1,*}, NARA KIM^{1,*}, TAESUNG PARK², SOHEE OH², HYUN OK JEON¹, SE CHANG YOON¹, YU-SANG LEE³, WOO KYEONG LEE³, KYOOSEOB HA⁴, JI-HAE KIM¹ & KYUNG SUE HONG^{1,5}

¹Department of Psychiatry, Samsung Medical Center, Sungkyunkwan University School of Medicine, Seoul, Korea, ²Department of Statistics, Seoul National University, Seoul, Korea, ³Yong-In Mental Hospital, Kyunggi-Do, Korea, ⁴Department of Neuropsychiatry, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Kyunggi-Do, Korea, and ⁵Samsung Biomedical Research Institute, Samsung Medical Center, Seoul, Korea

Abstract

Even though a large body of data suggests the presence of various types of cognitive deficits in the unaffected relatives of schizophrenia patients, more study is needed to clarify the comparative sensitivities of specific cognitive measures for relative-control differences. In this study, the authors compared the cognitive profiles of unaffected siblings of schizophrenia patients and those of patients and normal controls, and attempted to identify cognitive markers that might be associated with genetic liability to schizophrenia. Eighty-eight clinically stable schizophrenia patients, 44 healthy patient siblings, and 100 normal controls were evaluated using comprehensive neuropsychological tests. The domain structure of the MATRICS consensus cognitive battery was adopted, and both domain scores and individual test scores were used in the analysis. Performances of the sibling group were intermediate between those of patients and controls on most measures. A significant difference between the sibling and control groups was observed only in the Category Fluency Test. This cognitive deficit might be caused by familial predisposition to schizophrenia and could be a candidate of endophenotype for schizophrenia.

Key words: Cognitive deficit, Endophenotype, the Category Fluency Test

Introduction

It has been well established that cognitive deficits are pervasive in schizophrenia over a wide range of domains (Nuechterlein and Dawson 1984; Cannon et al. 1994). Certain portions of cognitive impairments appear to be related to the clinical progress of the disease and show partial responses to antipsychotic treatments (Lee et al. 1999; Bilder et al. 2002), whereas some other portions may index genetic liability to schizophrenia (Bredgaard and Glenthoj 2000; Cannon et al. 2001; Erlenmeyer-Kimling 2001; Gottesman and Gould 2003). The latter expectation originates from a large body of findings which indicate that unaffected relatives of patients, who are at greater risk of developing the disease than the general population, also show cognitive task impairments (Cannon et al. 2000; Faraone et al. 2000; Egan et al. 2001; Keri et al. 2001; Sitskoorn et al. 2004; Snitz et al. 2006; Trandafir et al. 2006; Woodward et al. 2007; Groom et al. 2008). Cognitive declines consistently exhibited in the relatives of patients could be candidate endophenotypes that may yield greater statistical power in genetic studies (Myles-Worsley et al. 1999; Gasperoni et al. 2003; Gottesman and Gould 2003; Golimbet et al. 2006).

In terms of the detailed profiles of cognitive deficits in the relatives of schizophrenia patients, previous studies have reported diverse results. Pronounced deficits have been reported in the domains of verbal memory, visual memory, working memory, executive functioning, psychomotor speed, and attention by studies that have evaluated single or

Correspondence: Kyung Sue Hong, Department of Psychiatry, Sungkyunkwan University School of Medicine, Samsung Medical Center, 50 Ilwon-dong, Gangnam-gu, Seoul 135-710, Korea. Tel: +82 2 3410 3584. Fax: +82 2 3410 0050. E-mail: hongks@skku.edu *H.J. Nam and N. Kim contributed equally to this work.

(Received 8 November 2007; accepted 10 June 2008)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970802314815

multiple cognitive areas (Sitskoorn et al. 2004; Snitz et al. 2006) However, it remains to be determined which specific cognitive measures are more sensitive to relative-control group differences. Because previous studies have been heterogeneous in terms of their designs, e.g., types of relatives, psychopathological statuses of relatives, covariates controlled for in the analysis, and neuropsychological tests applied, it is difficult to draw conclusions on the relative effect sizes of individual tasks using meta-analytic approaches. Thus, further individual studies using comprehensive test batteries are warranted to compare multiple cognitive tasks in terms of their abilities to discriminate patients' relatives from controls.

Assumptions concerning cognitive domains raise an important issue that should be resolved to identify valid cognitive markers. Because performance on any one measure reflects multiple cognitive processes, it is difficult to isolate specific mechanisms responsible for deficient performance (Harris et al. 1996). Thus, grouping measures according to a predominant common factor could strengthen conclusions on specific defect profiles (Harris et al. 1996; Genderson et al. 2007). On the other hand, some significant information is likely to be lost by collapsing individual scores into a broader test category (Snitz et al. 2006). Therefore, comparative examinations using both approaches in same studies are required to clarify this issue. Detailed domain structures, i.e. the way in which cognitive domains have been divided and individual tests selected for each domain, also vary between studies. The National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) of the United States recently developed the MATRICS (Measurement and Treatment Research to Improve Cognition in Schizophrenia) cognitive battery (Green and Nuechterlein 2004; Green et al. 2004; Nuechterlein et al. 2004), which is the first standard instrument to have been developed via an extensive consensus process between schizophrenia research experts. MATRICS adopts seven separable cognitive domains, namely, speed of processing, attention/vigilance, working memory, verbal learning and memory, visual learning and memory, reasoning and problem solving, and social cognition. These cognitive dimensions are of relevance to a wide range of studies, including the exploration of cognitive deficits related to liability to schizophrenia. Moreover, it is apparent that the application of a common standard cognitive structure in independent studies provides a basis for inter-study comparisons.

The control of the psychopathologies of relatives is another issue that should be considered in research on the identification of cognitive markers in the relatives of schizophrenia patients. The majority of

studies carried out to date have applied stricter psychopathological exclusion criteria to controls (excluding all axis I disorders) than to relatives (excluding only psychotic disorders) (Tuulio-Henriksson et al. 2002, 2003; Davalos et al. 2004; Snitz et al. 2006). Certain cognitive deficits might be influenced by the manifestation of sub-psychotic levels of schizophrenia-related symptoms or psychopathologies in general (Nuechterlein et al. 2002; Johnson et al. 2003; Thompson et al. 2005; Warnick and Allen 2005; Snitz et al. 2006). Therefore, so as not to overestimate deficits due to the nonspecific effects of psychiatric symptoms (including prodromal symptoms) in relatives, controlling for index relatives' psychopathology is required during subject-screening or data analysis (Hoff et al. 2005).

The present study was performed to delineate the cognitive profiles of unaffected siblings of schizophrenia patients, and to identify specific cognitive markers that might be used as endophenotypes in future genetic studies. The cognitive domain structure of the MATRICS consensus cognitive battery was applied, and both domain scores and individual test scores were analyzed. To identify cognitive deficits associated with liability to disease, we used the same exclusion criteria for psychopathologies in siblings and controls.

Methods

Subjects

Patients who met the diagnostic criteria of DSM-IV schizophrenia were recruited from outpatient clinics of the Samsung Medical Center and of Yong-In Mental Hospital. Clinical interviews were performed by psychiatrists using the Korean Version of the Diagnostic Interview for Genetic Studies (DIGS-K) (Joo et al. 2004). To minimize performance variations due to clinical state during cognitive testing, patients were required to have been clinically stable, i.e. no exacerbation of psychotic symptoms and no change in general clinical state and medication, for at least 3 months prior to the time of assessment. We excluded patients with a concurrent axis I diagnosis of DSM-IV, a current or past central nervous system disease, a medical disease with likely significant central nervous system effects, or a physical problem that would render cognitive measures difficult to administer or interpret.

In the sibling group, full siblings of patients available for study were recruited. The normal control subjects consisted of volunteers from the community. A trained research nurse with more than 7 years of clinical psychiatric experience performed screening interviews (based on DIGS-K) on both

454 H.J. Nam et al.

siblings and controls. These subjects were free of any history of psychiatric symptoms of clinical significance. The same exclusion criteria applied to the patients were used with respect to medical, neurological, and physical conditions. Only one sibling per patient was included in the sibling group. In cases of families in which more than one sibling meet the inclusion criteria, only one sibling whose age was closest to that of the proband's was selected. Controls were also required to have no first- or seconddegree relatives with a psychotic illness. As an additional controlling process for current psychopathology, the Korean version of the Personality Assessment Inventory (PAI: Hakjisa Press, Seoul, Korea) (Morey 1991; Kim et al. 2001), a self-report measure of personality and psychopathology, was administered to siblings and controls. T scores of the following subscales were examined, i.e. Inconsistency, Infrequency, Negative Impression, Positive Impression, Somatic Complaints, Anxiety, Anxiety Related Disorders, Depression, Mania, Paranoia, Schizophrenia, Borderline Features, Antisocial Features, Alcohol Problems, Drug Problems, Aggression, Suicide Ideation, Stress, Non-support, Treatment Rejection, Dominance, and Warmth.

Eighty-eight patients, 44 healthy siblings, and 100 normal control subjects were finally included in the analysis. Demographic characteristics of the 232 study subjects (age range 16–50 years) are summarized in Table I. Written informed consent was obtained from all subjects after a complete explanation of the study. The study was approved by the institutional review boards (IRBs) of Samsung Medical Center and Yong-In Mental Hospital.

Neuropsychological assessment

A comprehensive neuropsychological test battery was administered. Table II provides a description of the measures and corresponding cognitive domains assessed. Two trained clinical psychologists administered the cognitive tests. All subjects received the same battery of tests in a fixed order. Total time for the test battery was about 2 h, but subjects were allowed to take breaks as needed. Examiners attempted to obtain maximal performance at all times. Most of the tests applied were reduced to the six cognitive domains (Table II) of the MATRICS consensus battery (Green and Nuechterlein 2004; Green et al. 2004; Nuechterlein et al. 2004). Social cognition, which was added to the battery due to recent interest in this area, was not included in the present study. Scores of the Vocabulary subtest of the Korean version of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (K-WAIS: Korea Guidance, Inc., Seoul, Korea) (Yeom et al. 1992) were used to predict patients" premorbid functioning and subjects" general ability.

Statistical analyses

One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and the χ^2 -test were conducted to compare demographic variables between groups. For all neuropsychological measures, raw test scores were transformed to standardized *z* scores, using control group means and standard deviations.

Group (patients, siblings, and controls) cognitive performance differences were tested by ANCOVA analyses of covariance) model with age, sex, education, and K-WAIS Vocabulary subtest scores that were selected using the likelihood ratio test (LRT) and Akaike information criterion (AIC) (Akaike 1974) as covariates. Since related siblings and patients are not independent, a familial correlation was incorporated into the model. In addition, multiple comparison tests were applied to all pair-wise group comparisons, i.e. patients versus controls, siblings versus controls, and patients versus siblings.

We considered six cognitive domains of the MATRICS consensus battery. Factor analysis followed by principal components was separately performed for each cognitive domain. We examined if the main factor of each domain representing the general characteristics of that domain sufficiently explained variances. In addition, we explored the

Table I. Subject demographic characteristics.

Variable	Patients (N=88)	Siblings $(N = 44)$	Controls ($N = 100$)	Test statistics
Age (mean years±SD, range) Sex (% female) Vocabulary score of K-WAIS ^a	$28.7 \pm 6.0 (18-47) 48.9 10.8 \pm 2.7$	28.8±7.3 (16–50) 52.3 11.6±2.3	$27.2 \pm 4.0 (20-43)$ 45.0 13.1 ± 1.9	$F = 2.41$ NS $\chi^2 = 0.65$ NS $F = 23.94$ $P < 0.0001^{\text{b}}$
Education 9–12 years 13 < years	13 75	6 38	3 97	$\chi^2 = 9.503$ $P = 0.008^{\circ}$

^aKorean version of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale.

^bPatient vs. Sibling P = 0.049, Patient vs. Control P < 0.0001, Sibling vs. Control P = 0.001 (by post-hoc test using LSD).

^cPatient vs. Sibling P = 0.861, Patient vs. Control P = 0.007, Sibling vs. Control P = 0.024 (by Fisher's exact test).

NS, not significant.

Cognitive Domain	Test	Recorded test variable
Speed of processing ^a	Digit Symbol subtest of K-WAIS ^b	
	Word Fluency ^c	Letter fluency (three Korean consonant alphabets)
		Category fluency (animal, items in supermarket)
	Trail Making Test ^d : Part A	Time of part A
	Trail Making Test ^d : Part B	Time of part B
Working memory ^a	Digit Span subtest of K-WAIS ^b	Digit span backward
	N-back Test ^e	1-back,
		2-back
Verbal learning and memory ^a	Rey-Kim Auditory Verbal Learning Test ^f	Immediate recall (sum of 5 trials)
		20-min delayed recall recognition
Visual learning and memory ^a	Rey-Kim Complex Figure Test ^g	Copy immediate recall 20-min delayed recall
Attention/vigilance ^a	DS-CPT ^h	Sensitivity d' value
	Span of Apprehension ⁱ	% correct of 3-letter array and 12-letter array
Reasoning and problem solving ^a	Picture Arrangement subtest of K-WAIS ^b	
	Block Design subtest of K-WAIS ^b	
Not assigned to domains	Digit Span subtest of K-WAIS ^b	Digit span forward
	N-back Test ^e	0-back
	Finger Tapping Test ⁱ	Scores of dominant hand and non-dominant hand

Table II. Cognitive domains and tests used.

^aCognitive domains of the MATRICS consensus cognitive battery.

^bThe Korean version of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (Korea Guidance, Inc., Seoul, Korea) (Yeom et al. 1992).

^cThe Korean version of Controlled Oral Word Association Test (COWAT) including the categories of "animal" and "supermarket list" and the letters of three Korean consonant alphabets (Kang et al. 2000).

^dThe Trail Making Test materials and guidelines used in this study are parts of the Korean version of the Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease (CERAD) Neuropsychological Assessment Battery (Lee et al. 2002).

eWorking Memory Task V1.06 (Richard Coppola, CBDB, NIMH Neuroscience Center, Washington, DC, USA).

^fKorean version (Kim 2001) of the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test (Rey 1941, 1964) (Neuropsychology Press, Daegu, Korea).

^gKorean version (Kim 2001) of the Rey Complex Figure Test (Rey 1941, 1964) (Neuropsychology Press, Daegu, Korea).

^hDegraded Stimulus-Continuous Performance Test (DS-CPT; UCLA CPT version 8.12, Nuechterlein and Asarnow 1999).

ⁱSpan of apprehension (Span; UCLA SPAN version 5.3, Asarnow and Nuechterlein 1994).

^jFinger Tapper (Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc., Florida, USA).

component structures of the domains. Factors with eigenvalues of greater than 1 were retained as significant sub-categories of domains. The AN-COVA model, used to analyze individual tests scores, was also applied to detect group domain (factor) score differences.

Statistical analyses were performed using SAS version 9.1 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). In comparisons of cognitive performances, the Bonferroni correction using significance values derived by dividing P values by the total number of statistical comparisons (23 for individual tests, and 6 for domains) were applied to control for the experiment-wise type I error. Therefore, only P value of <0.0022 for individual tests, and of <0.0083 for domains were considered significant. P values higher than these and lower than 0.05 were considered to indicate trends.

Results

Subject characteristics

No differences were observed between the three groups in terms of age or sex (Table I). The patient and sibling groups had significantly lower K-WAIS Vocabulary subtest scores and educational levels than the control group (Table I). There was no significant difference between the patient and sibling groups in educational level. The mean duration of illness for patients was 6.6 ± 5.2 years. All of the patients were taking second-generation antipsychotics at the time of assessment except for one patient receiving haloperidol. Seventy-three (82%) of the patients were receiving concomitant medications including benzodiazepines, propranolol, anticholinergics, mood stabilizers, and/or antidepressants. In terms of psychopathology evaluation using PAI, siblings and controls did not differ on any PAI subscale, except for "Suicide Ideation", and for this subscale, the mean of the control group (51.3+14.0) was significantly higher than the mean of the sibling group (45.8 ± 7.7) with t=3.0and P = 0.03.

Group differences in individual neuropsychological test scores

The z score profile of all study subjects is shown in Figure 1. Results of comparisons between the three groups after adjusting for age, sex, education, and K-WAIS Vocabulary subtest score are given in Table III.



Figure 1. Performances of schizophrenia patients, siblings and controls on neuropsychological tests. ^aSiblings differed significantly from patients and controls (patients <siblings <controls). ^bSiblings differed significantly from controls (patients =siblings <controls). Error bars represent ± 1 standard error.

Effect sizes were computed by dividing the difference between mean scores by standard deviation (Cohen's *d*). A positive effect size for comparison means that the level of performance followed the order; patients < controls, siblings < controls, or patients < siblings.

Most of the tests indicated a significant overall group effect. With the exception of the Digit Span forward test, the 0-back of N-back test, copy of the Rey-Kim Complex Figure test, the picture arrangement subtest of the K-WAIS, and the Finger Tapping test patients obtained significantly lower scores than normal controls for all measures.

Siblings performed poorer than control subjects with P values that attained conventional levels of significance (P=0.05) on the Category and Letter Fluency tests, immediate and delayed recalls of the Rey-Kim Complex Figure Test, immediate (sum of five trials) and delayed recalls, and recognition of the Rey-Kim Auditory Verbal Learning Test, and the Digit Span backward test. Using the Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons, only the Category Fluency Test remained significant (P = 0.0002). The effect sizes of sibling-control differences ranged from -0.28 (0-back of the N-back test) to 0.78 (the Category Fluency Test).

Group differences in the factor scores of cognitive domains

According to factor analysis followed by principal component, each cognitive domain of the MATRICS battery generated only one factor with an eigenvalue greater than 1.0. For each cognitive domain, 53–76% of variance was explained by this single main factor (Table IV). The results of comparisons of factor scores for the three groups after adjusting for age, sex, education, and the K-WAIS Vocabulary subtest score are presented in Table IV. Patients showed significantly lower performance for all six cognitive domains than siblings or controls.

For sibling versus control comparisons, siblings tended to have poorer performance for domains of "verbal learning and memory" (d=0.57) and "visual learning and memory" (d=0.56). However,

			Pair-wise test						
		P value	Patients vs.	Patients vs. Control		Sibling vs. Control		Sibling	
Variables	<i>F</i> (df1, df2)		P value	ES ^c	P value	ES ^c	P value	ES ^c	
Digit symbol	F(2,186) = 39.48	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{a}$	1.41	NS	0.27	$< 0.0001^{a}$	1.12	
Letter fluency	F(2,186) = 29.06	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{a}$	1.56	0.0058^{b}	0.76	0.0001^{a}	0.76	
Category fluency	F(2,186) = 16.98	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{a}$	1.08	0.0002^{a}	0.78	NS	0.33	
Trails Making: Part A	F(2,186) = 19.80	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{a}$	0.81	NS	0.13	$< 0.0001^{a}$	0.76	
Trails Making: Part B	F(2,185) = 42.41	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{a}$	1.35	NS	0.39	$< 0.0001^{a}$	1.13	
Digit span forward	F(2,186) = 1.77	NS	NS	0.66	NS	0.33	NS	0.30	
Digit span backward	F(2,186) = 11.89	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{a}$	1.16	0.0302^{b}	0.61	NS	0.46	
N-back Test: 0-back	F(2,180) = 3.75	0.0254	NS	0.05	0.0096 ^b	-0.28	NS	0.30	
N-back Test:1-back	F(2,180) = 23.06	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{a}$	1.28	NS	0.34	$< 0.0001^{a}$	0.90	
N-back Test:2-back	F(2,180) = 15.45	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{a}$	1.08	NS	0.34	0.0008^{a}	0.70	
Learning Verbal memory: immediate recall	<i>F</i> (2,186) = 27.13	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{a}$	1.35	0.003 ^b	0.61	$< 0.0001^{a}$	0.86	
Verbal memory: delayed recall	F(2,186) = 30.84	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{a}$	1.28	0.0392^{b}	0.41	$< 0.0001^{a}$	0.78	
Verbal memory: recognition	F(2,186) = 15.41	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{a}$	0.77	0.0455 ^b	0.26	0.0166^{b}	0.45	
Visual memory: copy	F(2,186) = 2.37	NS	NS	0.47	NS	0.15	NS	0.33	
Visual memory: immediate recall	F(2,186) = 21.71	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{a}$	1.14	0.0218 ^b	0.53	0.0015^{a}	0.60	
Visual memory: delayed recall	F(2,186) = 24.33	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{a}$	1.19	0.0111 ^b	0.58	0.0014^{a}	0.61	
DS-CPT ď	F(2,184) = 13.89	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{a}$	1.05	NS	0.40	0.0012^{a}	0.45	
Span of apprehension, 3-letter	F(2,186) = 13.02	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{a}$	0.81	NS	0.20	0.0002^{a}	0.57	
Span of apprehension, 12-letter	F(2,186) = 5.12	0.0069	0.0016^{a}	0.48	NS	0.40	NS	0.24	
Picture arrangement	F(2,186) = 3.71	0.0263	0.0110^{b}	0.57	NS	0.15	NS	0.45	
Block design	F(2,186) = 10.37	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{a}$	0.95	NS	0.36	0.0026^{a}	0.56	
Finger tapping (Dominant)	F(2,184) = 4.26	0.0155	0.0434^{b}	0.53	NS	0.03	0.0095^{a}	0.46	
Finger tapping (Non-dominant)	F(2,184) = 0.51	NS	NS	0.33	NS	0.12	NS	0.20	

Table III. Comparison of individual neuropsychological test scores for the patient, sibling, and control groups.

ANCOVA was conducted with age, sex, education, and Vocabulary subtest score of the Korean version of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale.

(K-WAIS) as covariates. DS-CPT, Degraded Stimulus-Continuous Performance Test.

^aSignificantly different after applying the Bonferroni correction.

^bDifference vanishes after applying the Bonferroni correction.

^cEffect sizes: Cohen's d.

NS, not significant.

after applying the Bonferroni correction, none of these domains reached the level of significance.

Discussion

It is likely that the clinical phenotype of schizophrenia is not consistently expressed among those who carry susceptibility genes. Thus, investigations on neurobiological traits that may reflect an underlying genetic liability are essential to facilitate future genetic studies. The purpose of the present study was to delineate the cognitive profiles of the healthy siblings of schizophrenia patients, and to identify possible cognitive markers that might be associated with genetic liability to schizophrenia. Analyses were performed using both individual test scores and factor scores based on the cognitive domains of the MA-TRICS consensus battery.

During factor analysis, we could extract only one major factor for each cognitive domain, and the rate of variances explained by this factor was higher than 50%. This result indicates that the assignment of individual tests to cognitive domains in the present study was acceptable. Patients were found to perform markedly worse than control subjects for all six cognitive domains, and for all individual tests, except for a few concentration, visuo-spatial construction, and motor speed tasks. More pronounced cognitive dysfunctions found in patients compared to siblings and controls could be partially explained by side effects of psychotropic medications that can exert significant effects on cognitive functions (Keefe et al. 2007; Mortimer et al. 2007; Voruganti et al. 2007). Siblings performed worse than the control group with P values indicating a trend towards statistical significance for a number of cognitive variables. These included domains of "verbal learning and memory" (d=0.57) and "visual learning and memory" (d=0.56), and most of individual tests assigned to these domains (d=0.26-0.61). Additionally, the Digit Span backward test and the Category and Letter Fluency tests also showed a trend toward a significant sibling-control difference with moderate to large effect sizes (d=0.61-0.78). However,

458 H.J. Nam et al.

Table IV. Comparisons of the cognitive domain scores of the patient, sibling, and control groups.

				Patier vs. Cor	nts ntrol	Pair-wise tes vs. Cor	st Sibling htrol	Patient vs.	Sibling
Cognitive domain ^a	Variance ^b explained	<i>F</i> (df1, df2)	P value	P value	ES ^e	P value	ES ^e	P value	ES ^e
Speed of processing	53	F(2,185) = 42.01	< 0.0001	< 0.0001 ^c	1.16	NS	-0.04	< 0.0001 ^c	1.20
Working memory	64	F(2,180) = 18.79	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{\circ}$	1.12	NS	0.26	$< 0.0001^{\circ}$	0.80
Verbal learning & memory	76	F(2,186) = 22.90	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{\circ}$	1.28	0.0138 ^d	0.57	$< 0.0001^{\circ}$	0.82
Visual learning & memory	75	F(2,186) = 23.37	< 0.0001	$< 0.0001^{\circ}$	1.16	0.0134 ^d	0.56	0.0018°	0.57
Attention/vigilance	55	F(2,184) = 7.20	0.0010	0.0004^{c}	0.62	NS	0.27	0.0181 ^d	0.39
Reasoning & problem solving	72	F(2,186) = 7.67	0.0006	0.0003 ^c	0.87	NS	0.34	0.0124 ^d	0.49

ANCOVA was conducted with age, sex, education, and vocabulary subtest score of the Korean version of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (K-WAIS) as covariates.

^aCognitive domains identified by the MATRICS consensus process.

^b% variance explained by the single main domain factor.

^cSignificantly different after applying the Bonferroni correction.

^dDifference vanishes after applying the Bonferroni correction.

^eEffect sizes: Cohen's d.

NS, not significant.

among those cognitive measures, only the Category Fluency Test showed a statistically significant group difference after applying the Bonferroni correction.

Abnormalities in word fluency tests have consistently been found in relatives of schizophrenia patients (Keefe et al. 1994; Laurent et al. 1999; Chen et al. 2000; Laurent et al. 2000; Dollfus et al. 2002; Appels et al. 2003). Even though negative findings have also been reported by studies on discordant twin samples (Goldberg et al. 1995; Cannon et al. 2000) and mixed first-degree relatives (Krabbendam et al. 2001), a recent meta-analysis (Snitz et al. 2006) demonstrated that among cognitive tests the Category Fluency test shows largest relative-control differences.

Almost all studies, including the present study, that have explored cognitive trait markers in the relatives of schizophrenia patients have shown consistent results in terms that the performances of relatives lie between those of patients and normal controls. However, the relative-control discriminatory powers of specific cognitive measures were variable. Cognitive measures which have shown significant relative-control differences in more than one previous study, e.g., verbal and spatial working memory tasks, verbal memory tasks, the Continuous Performance Test, and the Trail Making B Test (Sitskoorn et al. 2004; Snitz et al. 2006) showed only a trend of difference or did not discriminate between sibling and control groups in the present study. Several factors may account for discrepancies between studies, including differences in sample sizes, types of family members and the control subjects enrolled, types of neuropsychological tests applied, and others. The sizes of differences between siblings and controls found in the present study can be

considered conservative, because levels of education and general ability (vocabulary subtest of K-WAIS), which were adjusted for during the analysis, are likely to have been influenced by a predisposition to schizophrenia. In addition, we applied the same clinical exclusion criteria to siblings and control, and these groups were not different in terms of psychopathologies as measured by PAI. Thus, the possibility that the subclinical psychopathologies of siblings might have inflated effect sizes also appears low. Our interpretation of data might also be conservative, as we applied the Bonferroni correction to comparisons of cognitive variables that were not completely independent and which correlated with at least one other measure.

The methodological limitations of the present study need to be considered. First, although we used a broad neuropsychological test battery, we did not test all aspects of cognitive functioning, for example, the social cognition domain of the MA-TRICS cognitive battery was not included, and for verbal and visual memory domains, we did not include simple memory tests with lower degrees of difficulty. Second, it was difficult to blind assessors to the group identities of subjects. The third limitation is that we could not trace all siblings of patients, and those who participated in this study may have differed from those who did not in terms of cognitive functioning or psychopathology.

Our findings suggest that healthy siblings of schizophrenia patients are significantly impaired on the verbal fluency. Within the limitations discussed before, this cognitive deficit might be associated with genetic liability to schizophrenia. In addition, more subtle deficits in verbal working memory (by the Digit Span backward test), and verbal and visual memories showing trends with respect to siblingcontrol difference are also worth pursuing. To test the possibility as endophenotype of these cognitive variables, future studies on heritabilities are required to determine whether the normal variation of these cognitive variables is familial.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by grants of the Korea Health 21 R&D Project, Ministry of Health & Welfare, Republic of Korea (A040042 & 03-PJ10-PG13-GD01-0002) and IN-SUNG Foundation for Medical Research. The work of T. Park was supported by the National Research Laboratory Program of Korea Science and Engineering Foundation (M10500000126).

Statement of interest

The authors have not declared any conflicts of interest.

References

- Akaike H. 1974. A new look at the statistical model identification. IEEE Trans Automatic Control 19:716–723.
- Appels MC, Sitskoorn MM, Westers P, Lems E, Kahn RS. 2003. Cognitive dysfunctions in parents of schizophrenic patients parallel the deficits found in patients. Schizophr Res 63:285– 293.
- Asarnow RF, Nuechterlein KH. 1994. Directions for Use of the UCLA Span of Apprehension Program, Version 5.3 for Arrays 3 and 12 Letters, on IBM AT and Fully Compatible Microcomputers. Los Angeles, CA: UCLA Department of Psychiatry and Biobehavioral Sciences.
- Bilder RM, Goldman RS, Volavka J, Czobor P, Hoptman M, Sheitman B, et al. 2002. Neurocognitive effects of clozapine, olanzapine, risperidone, and haloperidol in patients with chronic schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder. Am J Psychiatry 159:1018–1028.
- Bredgaard R, Glenthoj BY. 2000. Information processing and attentional dysfunctions as vulnerability indicators in schizophrenia spectrum disorders. World J Biol Psychiatry 1:5–15.
- Cannon TD, Zorrilla LE, Shtasel D, Gur RE, Gur RC, Marco EJ, et al. 1994. Neuropsychological functioning in siblings discordant for schizophrenia and healthy volunteers. Arch Gen Psychiatry 51:651–661.
- Cannon TD, Huttunen MO, Lonnqvist J, Tuulio-Henriksson A, Pirkola T, Glahn D, et al. 2000. The inheritance of neuropsychological dysfunction in twins discordant for schizophrenia. Am J Hum Genet 67:369–382.
- Cannon TD, Gasperoni TL, van Erp TG, Rosso IM. 2001. Quantitative neural indicators of liability to schizophrenia: implications for molecular genetic studies. Am J Med Genet 105:16–19.
- Chen YL, Chen YH, Lieh-Mak F. 2000. Semantic verbal fluency deficit as a familial trait marker in schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res 95:133–148.
- Davalos DB, Compagnon N, Heinlein S, Ross RG. 2004. Neuropsychological deficits in children associated with increased familial risk for schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 67:123– 130.

- Dollfus S, Lombardo C, Benali K, Halbecq I, Abadie P, Marie RM, et al. 2002. Executive/attentional cognitive functions in schizophrenic patients and their parents: a preliminary study. Schizophr Res 53:93–99.
- Egan MF, Goldberg TE, Gscheidle T, Weirich M, Rawlings R, Hyde TM, et al. 2001. Relative risk for cognitive impairments in siblings of patients with schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 50:98–107.
- Erlenmeyer-Kimling L. 2001. Early neurobehavioral deficits as phenotypic indicators of the schizophrenia genotype and predictors of later psychosis. Am J Med Genet 105:23–24.
- Faraone SV, Seidman LJ, Kremen WS, Toomey R, Pepple JR, Tsuang MT. 2000. Neuropsychologic functioning among the nonpsychotic relatives of schizophrenic patients: the effect of genetic loading. Biol Psychiatry 48:120–126.
- Gasperoni TL, Ekelund J, Huttunen M, Palmer CG, Tuulio-Henriksson A, Lonnqvist J, et al. 2003. Genetic linkage and association between chromosome 1q and working memory function in schizophrenia. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 116:8–16.
- Genderson MR, Dickinson D, Diaz-Asper CM, Egan MF, Weinberger DR, Goldberg TE. 2007. Factor analysis of neurocognitive tests in a large sample of schizophrenic probands, their siblings, and healthy controls. Schizophr Res 94:231–239.
- Goldberg TE, Torrey EF, Gold JM, Bigelow LB, Ragland RD, Taylor E, et al. 1995. Genetic risk of neuropsychological impairment in schizophrenia: a study of monozygotic twins discordant and concordant for the disorder. Schizophr Res 17:77–84.
- Golimbet V, Gritsenko I, Alfimova M, Lebedeva I, Lezheiko T, Abramova L, et al. 2006. Association study of COMT gene Val158Met polymorphism with auditory P300 and performance on neurocognitive tests in patients with schizophrenia and their relatives. World J Biol Psychiatry 7:238–245.
- Gottesman II, Gould TD. 2003. The endophenotype concept in psychiatry: etymology and strategic intentions. Am J Psychiatry 160:636–645.
- Green MF, Nuechterlein KH. 2004. The MATRICS initiative: developing a consensus cognitive battery for clinical trials. Schizophr Res 72:1–3.
- Green MF, Nuechterlein KH, Gold JM, Barch DM, Cohen J, Essock S, et al. 2004. Approaching a consensus cognitive battery for clinical trials in schizophrenia: the NIMH-MA-TRICS conference to select cognitive domains and test criteria. Biol Psychiatry 56:301–307.
- Groom MJ, Jackson GM, Calton TG, Andrews HK, Bates AT, Liddle PF, et al. 2008. Cognitive deficits in early-onset schizophrenia spectrum patients and their non-psychotic siblings: a comparison with ADHD. Schizophr Res 99:85–95.
- Harris JG, Adler LE, Young DA, Cullum CM, Rilling LM, Cicerello A, et al. 1996. Neuropsychological dysfunction in parents of schizophrenics. Schizophr Res 20:253–260.
- Hoff AL, Svetina C, Maurizio AM, Crow TJ, Spokes K, DeLisi LE. 2005. Familial cognitive deficits in schizophrenia. Am J Med Genet Part B. Neuropsychiatr Genet 133:43–49.
- Johnson JK, Tuulio-Henriksson A, Pirkola T, Huttunen MO, Lonnqvist J, Kaprio J, et al. 2003. Do schizotypal symptoms mediate the relationship between genetic risk for schizophrenia and impaired neuropsychological performance in co-twins of schizophrenic patients? Biol Psychiatry 54:1200–1204.
- Joo EJ, Joo YH, Hong JP, Hwang S, Maeng SJ, Han JH, et al. 2004. Korean version of the diagnostic interview for genetic studies: Validity and reliability. Compr Psychiatry 45:225–229.
- Kang Y, Chin J, Na D, Lee J, Park J. 2000. A normative study of the Korean Version of Controlled Oral Word Association Test (COWAT) in the elderly. Kor J Clin Psychol 19:385–392.

- Keefe RS, Silverman JM, Roitman SE, Harvey PD, Duncan MA, Alroy D, et al. 1994. Performance of nonpsychotic relatives of schizophrenic patients on cognitive tests. Psychiatry Res 53: 1–12.
- Keefe RS, Sweeney JA, Gu H, Hamer RM, Perkins DO, McEvoy JP, et al. 2007. Effects of olanzapine, quetiapine, and risperidone on neurocognitive function in early psychosis: a randomized, double-blind 52-week comparison. Am J Psychiatry 164:1061–1071.
- Keri S, Kelemen O, Benedek G, Janka Z. 2001. Different trait markers for schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: a neurocognitive approach. Psychol Med 31:915–922.
- Kim H. 2001. Assessment of memory disorders using Rey-Kim Memory test. J of Rehab Psychol 8:29–48.
- Kim Y, Oh S, Kim J, Lim Y, Hong S. 2001. Standardization study of Personality Assessment Inventory (PAI): Reliability and Validity. Korean J Clin Psychol 20:311–329.
- Krabbendam L, Marcelis M, Delespaul P, Jolles J, van Os J. 2001. Single or multiple familial cognitive risk factors in schizophrenia? Am J Med Genet 105:183–188.
- Laurent A, Moreaud O, Bosson JL, Naegele B, Boucharlat J, Saoud M, et al. 1999. Neuropsychological functioning among non-psychotic siblings and parents of schizophrenic patients. Psychiatry Res 87:147–157.
- Laurent A, Biloa-Tang M, Bougerol T, Duly D, Anchisi AM, Bosson JL, et al. 2000. Executive/attentional performance and measures of schizotypy in patients with schizophrenia and in their nonpsychotic first-degree relatives. Schizophr Res 46:269–283.
- Lee MA, Jayathilake K, Meltzer HY. 1999. A comparison of the effect of clozapine with typical neuroleptics on cognitive function in neuroleptic-responsive schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 37:1–11.
- Lee JH, Lee KU, Lee DY. 2002. Development of the Korean version of the Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Packet (CERAD-K): clinical and neuropsychological assessment batteries. Gerontol B psychol Sci Soc Sci 57:47–53.
- Morey LC. 1991. Personality Assessment Inventory Professional Manual. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Mortimer AM, Joyce E, Balasubramaniam K, Choudhary PC, Saleem PT. 2007. Treatment with amisulpride and olanzapine improve neuropsychological function in schizophrenia. Hum Psychopharmacol 22:445–454.
- Myles-Worsley M, Coon H, McDowell J, Brenner C, Hoff M, Lind B, et al. 1999. Linkage of a composite inhibitory phenotype to a chromosome 22q locus in eight Utah families. Am J Med Genet 88:544–550.
- Nuechterlein KH, Dawson ME. 1984. Information processing and attentional functioning in the developmental course of schizophrenic disorders. Schizophr Bull 10:160–203.

- Nuechterlein KH, Asarnow RF. 1999 Degraded Stimulus Continuous Performance Test (DS-CPT): Program for IBM-Compatible Micro-Computers, Version 8.12 [Computer software] Los Angeles: Authors.
- Nuechterlein KH, Asarnow RF, Subotnik KL, Fogelson DL, Payne DL, Kendler KS, et al. 2002. The structure of schizotypy: relationships between neurocognitive and personality disorder features in relatives of schizophrenic patients in the UCLA Family Study. Schizophr Res 54:121–130.
- Nuechterlein KH, Barch DM, Gold JM, Goldberg TE, Green MF, Heaton RK. 2004. Identification of separable cognitive factors in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 72:29–39.
- Rey R. 1941. L'examen psychologique dans les cas d'encéphalopathie traumatique Archives de Psychologie 28:286–340.
- Rey R. 1964. L'examen clinique en psychologie. Paris: Press Universitaire de France.
- Sitskoorn MM, Aleman A, Ebisch SJ, Appels MC, Kahn RS. 2004. Cognitive deficits in relatives of patients with schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. Schizophr Res 71:285–295.
- Snitz BE, Macdonald AW, 3rd, Carter CS. 2006. Cognitive deficits in unaffected first-degree relatives of schizophrenia patients: a meta-analytic review of putative endophenotypes. Schizophr Bull 32:179–194.
- Thompson JL, Watson JR, Steinhauer SR, Goldstein G, Pogue-Geile MF. 2005. Indicators of genetic liability to schizophrenia: a sibling study of neuropsychological performance. Schizophr Bull 31:85–96.
- Trandafir A, Meary A, Schurhoff F, Leboyer M, Szoke A. 2006. Memory tests in first-degree adult relatives of schizophrenic patients: a meta-analysis. Schizophr Res 81:217–226.
- Tuulio-Henriksson A, Haukka J, Partonen T, Varilo T, Paunio T, Ekelund J, et al. 2002. Heritability and number of quantitative trait loci of neurocognitive functions in families with schizophrenia. Am J Med Genet 114:483–490.
- Tuulio-Henriksson A, Arajarvi R, Partonen T, Haukka J, Varilo T, Schreck M, et al. 2003. Familial loading associates with impairment in visual span among healthy siblings of schizophrenia patients. Biol Psychiatry 54:623–628.
- Voruganti LP, Awad AG, Parker G, Forrest C, Usmani Y, Fernando ML, et al. 2007. Cognition, functioning and quality of life in schizophrenia treatment: results of a one-year randomized controlled trial of olanzapine and quetiapine. Schizophr Res 96:146–155.
- Warnick EL, Allen DN. 2005. Verbal and spatial working memory differences among individuals with familial and non-familial risk for schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 77:361–362.
- Woodward ND, Tibbo P, Purdon SE. 2007. An fMRI investigation of procedural learning in unaffected siblings of individuals with schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 94:306–316.
- Yeom Y, Park Y, Oh K, Kim J, Lee Y. 1992. K-Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale. Seoul, Korea: Korea Guidance.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Interleukin-10 gene promoter polymorphism in patients with schizophrenia in a region of East Turkey

ULKU OZBEY¹*, ESRA TUG²* & MUSTAFA NAMLI³

¹Department of Medical Biology and Genetics, Faculty of Medicine, Firat University, Elazig, Turkey, ²Department of Medical Genetics, Izzet Baysal Medical School, Abant Izzet Baysal University, Bolu, Turkey, and ³Psychiatry Hospital, Elazig, Turkey

Abstract

Schizophrenia is one of the most severe psychiatric disorders, with a worldwide incidence of 1%. Immunological abnormalities have been found to be associated with schizophrenia for decades. Cytokines are key proteins involved in the immune system activation. Interleukin-10 (IL-10), an important immunoregulatory cytokine, is located on chromosome 1q31–32, a region previously reported to be linked to schizophrenia in genetic studies. In the present study it was aimed to examine the IL-10 gene promoter region's polymorphic variants in patients with schizophrenia in a population of the Elazig Region of East Anatolia, Turkey. Polymorphisms at position -1082, -819 and -592 in the IL-10 promoter region were determined in 171 Turkish patients who were diagnosed with schizophrenia, based on the DSM-IV, and 168 healthy controls, by polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP). We analyzed allele, genotype, and haplotype distributions using a case–control association study. Genotyping was performed by RFLP. Statistically significant differences were observed in both allelic and genotypic frequencies of the -592A/C polymorphism (Allele, P=0.034, OR = 1.26, 95% CI 1.02–1.56; Genotype, P=0.048), while the other two polymorphisms in distribution of the alleles and genotypes in patients with schizophrenia were not significantly different from those of controls (P>0.05). Our results show a significant increase of GTA homozygotes (the high IL-10-producing haplotype) in schizophrenic patients compared to control subjects (P= 0.0001). These data suggest that the IL-10 gene promoter polymorphism may be one of the susceptibility factors to develop schizophrenia in the Turkish population, and apparently in all humans.

Key words: Biological psychiatry, cytokines, genetics, polymorphism, schizophrenia

Introduction

Schizophrenia (MIM 181500) is a complex disorder characterized by disturbed patterns of thought, feelings and behavior. It affects nearly 1% of the population throughout the world (He et al. 2006). Epidemiological studies of schizophrenia indicate that both, genetic and environmental factors are likely to be involved in pathogenesis (Shirts et al. 2006; Ozbey et al. 2008). Several studies show a possible role of the immune system in the genesis of schizophrenia, and thereby support the hypothesis that non-specified infections and associated immune response may lead to schizophrenia (Cazzullo et al. 2003; Schosser et al. 2007). Schizophrenia-associated immune alterations include decreased mitogen-induced lymphocyte proliferation, increased numbers of total T or T-helper cells, and the presence of antibrain antibodies in serum. Changes in cytokines, cytokine receptors, and cytokine activity modifiers have been reported in the serum and cerebrospinal fluid of schizophrenic patients (Zhang et al. 2002; Müller et al. 2000).

Cytokines have been associated with various brain activities including immunological, neurochemical, neuroendocrine and stress-related behavioural activities, which have been suggested as the possible mechanisms in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia (Kronfol et al. 2000; Ozbey et al. 2008). Cytokines can also play a role in neurodevelopment, and can have a neuroprotective or neurodegenerative effect, depending on the cellular receptors and intracellular environment (Cazzullo et al. 2003; Shirts et al. 2006). Several groups have reported evidence of cytokine imbalance in schizophrenia (Müller et al.

Correspondence: Esra TUG, MD, PhD, Department of Medical Genetics, Izzet Baysal Medical School, Abant Izzet Baysal University; 14280 Bolu, Turkey. Tel: +90 374 253 46 56, ext. 3082. Fax: +90 374 253 45 59. E-mail: esratug@hotmail.com *These authors contributed equally to this work and should be considered co-first authors

(Received 13 October 2008; accepted 12 November 2008)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970802626580

2000; Kim et al. 2004). Recently, there has been renewed interest in cytokine genes because of more consistent findings of elevated interleukin-10 (IL-10), interleukin-6 (IL-6) and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) with decreased interleukin-2 (IL-2) and interferon- γ , indicating predominance of cytokines stimulating the T-helper 2 (Th2) response over Thelper 1 (Th1) cytokines among schizophrenia patients (Kowalski et al. 2000; Müller et al. 2000; He et al. 2006; Shirts et al. 2006). These observations suggest that the Th1/Th2 imbalance is associated with schizophrenia, and that IL-10, the product of Th2, which has been demonstrated to selectively inhibit cytokine production by Th1 cells as IL-2, interferon (IFN)- γ , might be involved in the aetiology of schizophrenia (Kowalski et al. 2000; Yu et al. 2004; Ozbey et al. 2008).

In addition, IL-10 is also a cytokine mainly produced by immune cells (monocytes/macrophages, T- and B-lymphocytes) and exhibits diverse activities in various organs. It has been originally described as "cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor", having regulatory function during inflammation and is thought to counteract pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF or IL-1 (Schosser et al. 2007). In the recent study, it has been indicated that there might be a potential role for IL-10 in susceptibility to schizophrenia, though frequencies of allele and haplotype showed differences in different ethnic populations (Yu et al. 2004).

The IL-10 gene has been mapped to the chromosome 1q31-32 region, which is suggested to be linked to schizophrenia (Gurling et al. 2001). Genome scan metaanalysis of schizophrenia also implicated that the region may be a susceptibility locus (He at al. 2006). IL-10 gene is structured by five exons and four introns encoding for a 160amino acid protein. Twin and family studies have suggested that $\sim 75\%$ of the variation in IL-10 production is genetically determined, and IL-10 production appears to be controlled at the transcriptional level. IL-10 5' flanking region contains numerous polymorphisms that directly influence the expression of the protein (Chiavetto et al. 2002). Three biallelic polymorphisms (-1082G/A,-819T/C, -592C/A) may have a functional effect on IL-10 transcription activation and cytokine production (Yu et al. 2004). These polymorphisms have been found to be in strong linkage disequilibrium in Caucasians, and a significant increase of -1082G allele and the haplotype GCC in schizophrenia was identified in Caucasians (Chiavetto et al. 2002) although not in the Korean population (Jun et al. 2003).

With these point of view, in the present study, the relationship of IL-10 gene promotor polymorphism

at position -1082, -819 and -592 for schizophrenia was investigated by using restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) in the Turkish population.

Material and methods

Subjects

In our hospital-based case-control study, 171 schizophrenic patients (94 males and 77 females) and 168 controls (92 males and 76 females) were recruited. The schizophrenia patient group was consisted of Turkish schizophrenia patients diagnosed by a psychiatrist using a semi-structured interview tool (SCID-I) according to schizophrenia criteria defined in Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV) (American Psychiatric Association 1994). The mean age of the patients was 37.6 ± 10.8 years (mean \pm SD) and the controls' mean age was 35.6 ± 14.8 years (mean \pm SD).

Both, patients and controls consisted of entirely native unrelated Turkish population and were also recruited from the same geographic area, Elazig region, which is located in the east of Turkey. Written informed consent was obtained from all subjects after full description of the objectives and procedures of the present study.

From the original group, 27 subjects were excluded from the study after exclusion criteria were carried out. 15 subjects were excluded from the schizophrenia patient group and 12 were excluded from the control group. Before sampling, subjects were interviewed by a senior psychiatrist using a semi-structured scale (SCID- I). With this interview current psychiatric problems or past history of psychiatric disorders, including schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorders and other psychotic, affective disorders and substance abuse were excluded.

The exclusion criteria were as follows for the patient group: in addition to the psychiatric diseases mentioned above, mental illnesses, systemic diseases such as neurological illnesses, endocrine disorders, acute or chronic inflammatory infections and autoimmune diseases.

The control group consisted of unrelated healthy volunteers free from present, past, and family history (first-degree relatives) of psychiatric illness or substance abuse and the exclusion criteria for the patients. The group consisted of medical students and hospital personnels of Firat University Medical School. Subjects with the above-mentioned concomitant diseases were excluded from the study after relevant laboratory tests and consultations with appropriate physicians. The present study was approved by the Ethical Committee of Firat University Medical School.

DNA extraction

Genomic DNA was extracted from whole blood by proteinase K using a method described elsewhere (Miller et al. 1988). The DNA samples were then stored at 4° C until used as a template DNA in polymerase chain reaction (PCR).

Determination of IL-10 genotype

A 1017-base pair long fragment from the IL-10 promoter -1082 A/G, -819 T/C and -592 A/C genotypes were determined by using a polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-restriction fragment length polymorphism, the PCR primers were designed based on described previously (Roh et al. 2002). Sequences of primers, restriction enzyme and sizes of resultant PCR products specific for IL-10 -1082, IL-10 -819 and IL-10 -592 are summarized in Table I. PCR reactions were carried out in a total volume of 25 µl, using approximately 100 ng DNA, 2.5 mmol/l MgCl₂, 200 mol/l dNTPs, 12.5 ng of each primer, and 0.5 units of Taq DNA polymerase (Promega, Madison, WI) in the PCR buffer provided by the manufacturer (10 mmol/l Tris-HCl, pH 9.0, and 50 mmol/l KCl). The PCR procedure was as follows: an initial denaturation step at 95°C for 5 min, and then amplified for 35 cycles at 94°C for 1 min, 60°C for 1 min, and 72°C for 1 min, followed by a final extension step at 72°C for 10 min using the Gene Amp PCR System 9700 thermocycler (PE Applied BioSystems).

The genotype was determined using RFLP analysis. The IL-10 promoter polymorphisms were at positions -1082A/G (139 bp), -592A/C (412 bp) and -819T/C (209 bp) (He et al. 2006). Ten percent of PCR products were digested with *MnII* (New England Biolabs, Hitchin, UK) at 60°C for 2 h, with *RasI* (New England Bio Labs) at 37°C for 3

h, with *Mae*III (Roche Diagnostics Gmbh, Mannheim, Germany) at 55°C for 2 h, respectively. Digests were separated on a 3% agarose gel with ethidium bromide. The electrophoresis was run for 2.5 h at 150 V. The ethidium bromide staining DNA fragments were analyzed on UV source using the image analysis system Kodak EDAS 120.

Statistical analysis

Comparisons for sex, genotype, allele and haplotype frequencies for schizophrenic patients and healthy controls were performed using the χ^2 -test and Fisher's exact test when appropriate and odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated to assess the relative risk conferred by a particular allele and genotype. Data are presented as mean \pm SD. Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium was tested with a goodness of fit χ^2 -test with 1 degree of freedom to compare the observed genotype frequencies among the subjects with the expected genotype frequencies. Significance was accepted at P < 0.05. All calculations were performed with the SPSS 15.0 statistical package.

Results

The demographics of the cases and controls enrolled in this study are shown in Table II. There were no significant differences between the cases and controls for the mean age or gender distribution and this suggested that the matching based on these two variables was adequate.

Identification of the two alleles at each polymorphic site was performed by incubating PCR products with a restriction enzyme chosen to cut 1 of the 2 alleles (Table I), followed by electrophoresis on agarose gel (3%) (Figures 1–3). The IL-10–1082 genotypes were named according to the presence or absence of the enzyme restriction sites. *MnI*I AA, AG and GG are homozygous for the absence of the site

Table I. Primer sequences and reaction conditions for genotyping interleukin-10 polymorphisms

Polymorphism	Primer sequence	No. of bases	Annealing temperature (°C)	Restriction enzyme	Product size (bp)	Genotype
-1082 (G/A)	F:5' CTC GCT GCA ACC CAA CTG GC 3'	20	60	MnII	139	AA
	R:5' TCT TAC CTA TCC CTA CTT CC 3'	20			139,106	AG
					106	GG
-819 (T/C)	F:5' TCA TTC TAT GTG CTG GAG ATG G 3'	22	58	MaeIII	209	TT
	R:5' TGG GGG AAG TGG GTA AGA GT 3'	20			209, 125, 84	TC
					125, 84	CC
-592 (A/C)	F:5' CCT AGG TCA CAG TGA CGT GG 3'	20	59	RsaI	412, 236	CC
	R:5' GGT GAG CAC TAC CTG ACT AGC 3'	21			412, 236, 176 176	CA AA

464 U. Ozbey et al.

Table II. Characteristics of the study populations.

Variable	Shizophrenia patients $(n = 171)$	Controls (n = 168)
Age (years) Sex	37.6 ± 10.8	35.6 ± 14.8
Male	94	92
Female	77	76

(139 bp), heterozygous for the presence of the site (139/106/33 bp) and homozygous for the presence of the site (106/33 bp), respectively (Figure 1).

The IL-10-819 genotypes were named according to the presence or absence of the enzyme restriction sites. *Mae*III CC, TC, and TT are homozygous for the presence of the site (125/84 bp), heterozygous for the presence of the site (209/125/84 bp), and homozygous for absence of the site (209 bp), respectively (Figure 2).

Similarly, the IL-10 –592 genotypes were named according to the presence or absence of the enzyme restriction sites. *Ras*I AA, AC, and CC are homozygous for the presence of the site (236/176 bp), heterozygous for the presence of the site (412/236/12)

176 bp) and homozygous for absence of the site (412 bp), respectively (Figure 3).

We analysed -1082G/A, -819T/C, and -592A/C polymorphisms of the IL-10 gene promoter in 171 unrelated patients with schizophrenia and 168 healthy controls. All the markers of the IL-10 gene in our study were in Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium (P > 0.05). We identified three biallelic polymorphisms at positions -1082, -819 and -592. The first polymorphism at position -1082 is a G to A substitution, the second at position -812 is C to T substitution and the third at position -592 a A to C substitution.

The frequencies of the AA, AG and GG genotypes of -1082 G/A were 85.6, 14.3 and 0.3% in controls and were 85.914.03 and 0% in cases, respectively. The frequencies of the A and G alleles of -1082were 92.7 and 7.44% in controls and 92.9 and 7.01% in cases, respectively. The frequencies of the TT, TC and CC genotypes of -819 T/C were 42.8, 39.28 and 18.45% in controls and 45.6, 37.42% and 16.95% in cases, respectively. The frequencies of the T and C alleles of -819 were 62.44% and 38.09%



Figure 1. Representative agarose gel electrophoresis illustrating PCR products for the IL-10 promoter polymorphisms. IL-10 -1082G/A polymorphism: lane 1, M was loaded with appropriate molecular markers; lane 2, heterozygous subject, G allele cut with *Mnl*I generating 106- and 33-bp fragments, A allele does not cut; lane 3, homozygous AA subject; lane 4, homozygous GG subject.



Figure 2. Representative agarose gel electrophoresis illustrating PCR products for the IL-10 promoter polymorphisms. IL-10 –819T/C polymorphism: lane 1, M was loaded with appropriate molecular markers; lane 2, homozygous CC subject, C allele cut with *Mae*III generating 125- and 84-bp fragments; lane 3, heterozygous subject; lane 4, homozygous TT subject, T allele does not cut.

in controls and were 64.31% and 35.66% in cases, respectively. The distribution of the genotype at the position -1082 and -819 between patients and controls was not significantly different as shown in Table III ($\chi^2 = 1.04$, df = 2, P = 0.599; $\chi^2 = 0.74$, df = 2, P = 0.698, respectively). No significant difference in the alleles at each position was found as shown in Table IV ($\chi^2 = 0.3$, df = 1, P = 0.865; $\chi^2 = 0.74$, df = 1, P = 0.662, respectively).

A modest increase in frequency of the -592 A allele in the patients (56.1%) compared to the control group (50.86%) was found ($\chi^2 = 4.44$, df = 1, P = 0.034; OR = 1.26, 95% CI 1.02–1.56). Although the genotype and allele frequencies of the IL-10 promoter -1082G/A and -819T/C polymorphisms in schizophrenia patients were not significantly different than those in controls (P > 0.05), the distribution of genotypes and allele frequencies

Table III. Frequencies of genotypes of the IL-10 gene promoter in patients with schizophrenia and in controls.

					Genotype	
Polymorphisms	G	Genotype counts frequ	ency	df	χ^2	P value
-1082G/A	AA	AG	GG			
Control 168	143(85.6)	24(14.3)	1 (0.3)			
Schizophrenia 171	147(85.9)	24(14.03)	0 (0.0)	2	1.04	0.599
-819T/C	TT	TC	CC			
Control 168	72(42.8)	66(39.28)	31 (18.45)			
Schizophrenia 171	78(45.6)	64(37.42)	29 (16.95)	2	0.74	0.698
-592A/C	AA	AC	CC			
Control 168	36(21.4)	99(58.92)	33 (20)			
Schizophrenia 171	52(30.4)	88(51.4)	31 (18.1)	2	6.20	0.048

IL, interleukin.



Figure 3. Representative agarose gel electrophoresis illustrating PCR products for the IL-10 promoter polymorphisms. IL-10 - 592A/C polymorphism: lane 1, M was loaded with appropriate molecular markers; lane 2, homozygous CC subject, C allele does not cut with *Rsa*I; lane 3, homozygous AA subject, A allele cuts with *Rsa*I to generate 176- and 236-bp fragments; lane 4, heterozygous subject.

of the IL-10 promoter -592A/C polymorphism was different between the two groups ($\chi^2 = 6.20$, df = 2, P = 0.048).

In the analysis of haplotype distributions, we observed seven haplotypes with a frequency greater than 1%. When the haplotypes had been taken into account, we did find that the distribution of the haplotype defined by -1082G/A, -819T/C and -592A/C differed significantly between the patients with schizophrenia and control groups in our sample ($\chi^2 = 24.551$, df = 8, P = 0.0009) (Table V). We also found that the frequency of haplotype GTA was much higher in cases than in controls (P = 0.0001).

Discussion

Previous genetic association studies of schizophrenia and IL-10 generally focused on single polymorphisms (Chiavetto et al. 2002; Jun et al. 2003; Yu et al. 2004; Shirts et al. 2006). In this study, three single nucleotide polymorphisms in the promoter region of the IL-10 gene were investigated to establish its role in susceptibility to schizophrenia in the Turkish population.

In their latest meta-analsis, Potvin et al. (2008) speculated that Th2 polarisation was dominant in schizophrenia and that there was an immunological association between schizophrenia and the Th2 cells. In other words, it has been declared that the physiopathology of schizophrenia or even its aetiology may be associated with an imbalance in inflammatory cytokines, leading to a decrease in Th1 and an increase in Th2 cytokine secretion (Müller et al. 2000). For this point of view, for schizophrenia pathogenesis, IL-10 is also an important anti-inflammatory cytokine that contributes to the dampening of the immune and inflammatory response (Potvin et al. 2008).

A previous study using Caucasian samples demonstrated that the -1082G was strongly associated with schizophrenia (Lazarus et al. 2002). In addition, in the previous results, it was hypothesized that an individual carrying the GA (-1082G and -592A alleles) may also have increased IL-10 expression for susceptibility to schizophrenia (Yu et al. 2004). According to our results, the IL-10 promoter polymorphism at position -1082G/A, -819T/C in patients with schizophrenia was not different from that of controls. However, in agreement with the findings of Yu et al. (2004), the -592A/C in the promoter region of the IL-10 gene displayed a significant association with schizophrenia (P =0.034). This study gives more evidence to the possible involvement of the immune system in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia; however, it is more clear that immune system modulation is not the

Table IV. Frequencies of the alleles of the IL-10 gene promoter in patients with schizophrenia and in controls.

				Allele	
Polymorphisms	Allele cou	unts frequency	df	χ^2	P value
-1082G/A	А	G			
Control 168	92.7	7.44			
Schizophrenia 171	92.9	7.01	1	0.3	0.865
-819T/C	Т	С			
Control 168	62.44	38.09			
Schizophrenia 171	64.31	35.66	1	0.74	0.662
-592A/C	А	С			
Control 168	50.86	49.46			
Schizophrenia 171	56.1	43.8	1	4.44	0.034

IL, interleukin.

Haplotype	-1082G/A	-819T/C	-592A/C	Schizophrenia (N=171)	Control ($N = 168$)
1	А	С	С	0.061	0.065
2	А	Т	А	0.119	0.113
3	А	Т	С	0.036	0.041
4	А	С	А	0.015	0.012
5	G	С	С	0.012	0.015
6	G	Т	С	0.0002	0.003
7	G	Т	А	0.005	0

Table V. Estimated haplotype frequencies of interleukin-10 polymorphisms.

P = 0.0009; df = 8; $\chi^2 = 24.551$.

result of the action of a single cytokine or cytokine gene but, rather, there is a complex interplay of many different molecules and genes.

When the haplotypes had been taken into account, in schizophrenia, it was suggested that the IL-10 gene promoter polymorphism displays ethnic differences (Lazarus et al. 2002). The three common haplotypes ATA, ACC and GCC were also the dominant ones in Caucasian populations (Rood et al. 1999). The commonest haplotype was ATA in Chinese, whereas in Caucasians it was GCC (Chiavetto et al. 2002; He at al. 2006). In addition, Jun et al. (2003) postulated that the GT haplotype was not observed in the Korean and Japanese samples, while the Chinese population was chacterized by the GT haplotype. We did also find that the distribution of the haplotype defined by -1082G/A, -819T/C and -592A/C differed significantly between the patients with schizophrenia and control groups (Table V). The haplotype GTA (-1082G, -819T)and -592A alleles) revealed the greatest contribution to schizophrenia, which is in consistent with the hypothesis of Yu et al. (2004) that the haplotype containing -592A and -1082G may indicate susceptibility to schizophrenia. In the other words, the frequency of the -1082G, -819T and -592A alleles in the Chinese population (Jun et al. 2003; Yu et al. 2004), and the -1082G alleles in the Caucasian population (Chiavetto et al. 2002; He et al. 2006) showed similarity with our patient population. The GTA haplotype was the prevalent haplotype in our patient population. The explanation of the haplotype variation in different populations seems to be the ethnic background. We may say that our results also support the different genotypes in the IL-10 promoter region in diverse anthropological origins.

Because we had no facility to mesure any plasma interleukin level in our hospital, and because our aim was not to determine the association of the pathogenesis with the phenotypic characteristic of the Th2 cytokine IL-10, which is dominant in schizophrenia, and because typical and atypical antipsychotic drugs may modulate the production of cytokines (Yu et al. 2004), we have no results about the plasma IL-10 cytokine levels, which, beyond doubt, would make our study more valuable. Instead, we genotyped the IL-10 gene for determining its association with schizophrenia.

Our results suggest an important genetic risk due to polymorphisms in the promoter region of IL-10. Future replicate studies are needed to confirm this risk, and additional cytokine expression studies may benefit from verification of genetic effects. We found no other study referring to IL-10 at the molecular level in schizophrenia patients in Turkey. In our opinion, the results of Turkish schizophrenia patient's genotypes could help elucidate the characterization of the diversity between ethnic origins worldwide. Further, we believe that this study may provide important support for other moleculargenetic studies relating to genotypic variations of schizophrenia. Future independent studies are necessary to confirm these findings. We would like to encourage other researchers to carry out similar future studies of larger patient groups from different areas of Turkey, which may provide the genotypic variation of susceptible IL-10 genes for schizophrenia in the Turkish population.

Additionally, it may also provide a contribution to the basic knowledge of this issue and may help to create specific criteria for early diagnosis to generate information for genetic epidemiological research and even attempts at gene therapy in the future.

Acknowledgements

We would kindly thank Dr Selma Duzenli Gepdiremen from Department of Medical Genetics, Medical Faculty, Abant Izzet Baysal University, for her valuable suggestions in writing the English manuscript.

Statement of interest

The authors have not declared any conflicts of interest.

References

- American Psychiatric Association. 1994. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorder (DSM-IV). 4th ed. Washington DC: American Psychiatric Press.
- Cazzullo CL, Trabattoni D, Saresella M, Annoni G, Arosio B, Clerici M. 2003. Research on psychoimmunology. World J Biol Psychiatry 4:119–123.
- Chiavetto LB, Boin F, Zanardini R, Popoli M, Michelato A, Bignotti S, et al. 2002. Association between promoter polymorphic haplotypes of interleukin-10 gene and schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 51:480–484.
- Gurling H, Kalsi G, Brynjolfson J, Sigmundsson T, Sherrington R, Mankoo BS, et al. 2001. Genomewide genetic linkage analysis confirms the presence of susceptibility loci for schizophrenia, on chromosomes 1q32.2, 5q33.2, and 8p21–22 and provides support for linkage to schizophrenia, on chromosomes 11q23.3–24 and 20q12.1–11.23. Am J Hum Genet 68:661–673.
- He G, Zhang J, Li XW, Chen WY, Pan YX, Yang FP, et al. 2006. Interleukin-10–1082 promoter polymorphism is associated with schizophrenia in a Han Chinese sib-pair study. Neurosci Lett 394:1–4.
- Jun TY, Pae CU, Kim KS, Han H, Serretti A. 2003. Interleukin-10 gene promoter polymorphism is not associated with schizophrenia in the Korean populatio. Psychiatr Clin Neurosci 57:153–159.
- Kim YK, Myint AM, Lee BH, Han CS, Lee HJ, Kim DJ, et al. 2004. Th1, Th2 and Th3 cytokine alteration in schizophrenia. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 28:1129–1134.
- Kowalski J, Blada P, Kucia K, Lawniczex T, Madej A, Belowski D et al. 2000. In-vitro immunomodulatory effects of haloperidol and perazine in schizophrenia. World J Biol Psychiatry 1:190– 196.
- Kronfol Z, Remick DG. 2000. Cytokines and the brain: Implicationsfor clinical psychiatry. Am J Psychiatry 157:683–694.
- Lazarus R, Klimecki WT, Palmer LJ, Kwiatkowski DJ, Silverman EK, Brown A, et al. 2002. Single-nucleotide polymorphisms in the interleukin-10 gene: differences in frequencies, linkage

disequilibrium patterns, and haplotypes in three United States ethnic groups. Genomics 80:223–228.

- Miller SA, Dykes DD, Polesky HF. 1988. A simple salting out procedure for extracting DNA from human nucleated acid. Nucleic Acids Res 16:1215.
- Müller N, Riedel M, Ackenheil M, Schwarz MJ. 2000. Cellular and humoral immune system in schizophrenia: a conceptual reevaluation. World J Biol Psychiatry 1:173–179.
- Ozbey U, Tug E, Kara M, Namli M. 2008. The value of interleukin-12B (p40) gene promoter polymorphism in patients with schizophrenia in a region of East Turkey. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 62:307–312.
- Potvin S, Stip E, Spehry AA, Gendron A, Bah R, Kouassi E. 2008. Inflammatory cytokine alterations in schizophrenia: A systematic quantitative review. Biol Psychiatry 63:801–808.
- Roh JW, Kim MH, Seo SS, Kim SH, Kim JW, Park NH, et al. 2002. Interleukin-10 promoter polymorphisms and cervical cancer risk in Korean women. Cancer Lett 184:57–63.
- Rood MJ, Keijsers V, Linden MW, Tong TQ, Borggreve SE, Verweij CL. 1999. Neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus is associated with imbalance in interleukin 10 promoter haplotypes. Ann Rheum Dis 58:85–89.
- Schosser A, Aschauer HN, Wildenauer DB, Schwab SG, Albus M, Maier W, et al. 2007. Homozygosity of the interleukin-10 receptor 1 G330R allele is associated with schizophrenia. Am J Med Genet 144B:347–350.
- Shirts BH, Wood J, Yolken RH, Nimgaonkar VL. 2006. Association study of IL10, IL1β, and IL1RN and schizophrenia using tag SNPs from a comprehensive database: Suggestive association with rs16944 at IL1β. Schizophr Res 88:235–244.
- Yu L, Yang MS, Zhao J, Shi YY, Zhao XZ, Yang JD, et al. 2004. An association between polymorphisms of the interleukin-10 gene promoter and schizophrenia in the Chinese population. Schizophr Res 71:179–183.
- Zhang XY, Zhou DF, Zhang PY, Wu GY, Cao LY, Shen YC. 2002. Elevated interleukin-2, interleukin-6 and interleukin-8 serum levels in neuroleptic-free schizophrenia: Association with psychopathology. Schizophr Res 57:247–258.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Lack of association of three GRIN2B polymorphisms with bipolar disorder

ALEKSANDRA SZCZEPANKIEWICZ^{1,4}, MARIA SKIBINSKA^{1,2}, JANUSZ RYBAKOWSKI², ANNA LESZCZYNSKA-RODZIEWICZ^{1,2}, MARTA TOMASZEWSKA³ & JOANNA TWAROWSKA-HAUSER^{1,2}

¹Laboratory of Psychiatric Genetics, Department of Psychiatry, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland, ²Department of Adult Psychiatry, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland, ³Clinical Neuropsychology Unit, Nicolaus Copernicus University Torun, Collegium Medicum Bydgoszcz, Poland, and ⁴Department of Pulmonology, Pediatric Allergy and Clinical Immunology, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland

Abstract

We investigated three polymorphisms in the NMDA receptor 2B subunit gene (*GRIN2B*), involved in glutamatergic neurotransmission, as a candidate gene for bipolar disorder. In the study we included 419 patients with bipolar disorder. Consensus diagnosis by at least two psychiatrists was made, according to DSM-IV criteria, using SCID. The control group consisted of 487 healthy subjects. Genotypes for -200G/T, 366C/G and rs890G/T of *GRIN2B* polymorphisms were established by PCR-RFLP method. Linkage disequilibrium analysis was done with Haploview. Genotype distributions were in Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium for the three polymorphisms in the group of patients and control subjects. No association was found between the three polymorphisms and bipolar disorder. In linkage disequilibrium analysis we did not find linkage between the three polymorphisms of *GRIN2B* gene. The polymorphisms of *GRIN2B* gene analysed in this study are not likely to be associated with bipolar disorder.

Key words: Association, polymorphism, GRIN2B gene, bipolar disorder

Introduction

In the aetiology of bipolar disorder, several receptor systems have been implicated. One of them is the glutamatergic receptor system, in particular the Nmethyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor complex. The neurotransmitter L-glutamate is the mediator of excitatory neurotransmission in the central nervous system and acts via activation of ionotropic ligand gated ion-channels and metabotropic G protein-coupled receptors (Hollmann et al. 1994; Nakanishi et al. 1998; Dingledine et al. 1999; Lerma et al. 2001). Its receptors are expressed throughout the nervous system, localized pre- and post-synaptically. They mediate neurotransmission at central synapses and are involved in the structural and functional plasticity of the synapse, including learning and memory processes (Scannevin and Huganir 2000). Depending on their pharmacological properties, ionotropic receptors subunits were

grouped into three families according to different selectivity for the agonists: N-methyl-D-aspartate α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-(NMDA), propionate (AMPA), and kainate (Schiffer 2002). The NMDA receptor is heteromeric ligand-gated ion channel that mediates synaptic function like long-term potentation and long-term depression (Ishii et al. 1993; Laurie et al. 1997; Lijam et al. 1997; Cull-Candy et al. 2001). There are two major families of NMDA receptor subunits: NR1 that is necessary for functional receptor formation and NR2 that consists of four subunits (A-D) and determines physiological and pharmacological specificity (Monyer et al. 1992). The NR2B subunit is essential for NMDA receptor structure and function (Krupp et al. 1996; Laube et al. 1997; Vicini et al. 1998).

The gene encoding NR2B subunit (GRIN2B) is localized on the short arm of chromosome 12

Correspondence: Aleksandra Szczepankiewicz, Department of Pediatric Pneumonology, Allergy and Clinical Immunology, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland. Tel.: +48 61 8491311. Fax +48 61 8480111. E-mail: alszczep@amp.edu.pl

(Received 14 February 2008; accepted 25 September 2008)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970802514968

(12p12) (Mandich et al. 1994; Schito et al. 1997), which is a chromosomal region linked to bipolar disorder (Faraone et al. 2004) and was identified as a candidate gene for both schizophrenia and bipolar disorder (Fallin et al. 2005). GRIN2B is expressed predominantly in forebrain structures, i.e. hippocampus, striatum, thalamus and olfactory bulb (Laurie et al. 1997). Its altered expression was found previously in bipolar disorder (Benes et al. 2001; Law and Deakin 2001; Scarr et al. 2003); however, this observation was not confirmed by the recent study (Martucci et al. 2006).

In the gene structure several polymorphisms were identified and analysed in psychiatric disorders such as schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and alcoholism. Ohtsuki et al. (2001) performed thorough mutation analysis of the gene region and showed higher frequency of G allele of 366C/G polymorphism in exon 2 in schizophrenic patients in comparison to the control group. Another study, performed by Martucci et al. (2006) in schizophrenic and bipolar patients, described three polymorphisms: -200T/G located in the 5'-UTR region and A5806C and T5988C, both localized within the 3'-UTR of gene. They found that the G allele of -200T/G polymorphism was associated with schizophrenia but not with bipolar disorder, whereas the C allele of T5988C polymorphism was transmitted more frequently in the bipolar patient sample. The A5806C polymorphism was not associated in any of the groups analysed. For bipolar disorder, there was one large study performed in the population of 337 Ashkenazi Jewish case-parent trios presenting the suggestive evidence for linkage of GRIN2B SNPs and haplotypes with this disease (Fallin et al. 2005), which was recently confirmed to be a candidate gene for bipolar disorder in the second-stage follow-up study in the same population (Avramopoulos et al. 2007). Moreover, in alcohol dependence, which is a frequent comorbid disorder in bipolar disease, two GRIN2B gene polymorphisms (G2108A and C2664T) were found to be associated with ethanol dependence (Wernicke et al. 2003).

We hypothesized that polymorphisms in the *GRIN2B* gene might lead to a dysfunction of the glutamate receptor system and alter the risk of developing bipolar disorder. To the best of our knowledge, there were only a few studies of *GRIN2B* polymorphisms with bipolar disorder. Therefore, we aimed to analyse the three polymorphisms of the *GRIN2B* gene, analysed previously in schizophrenia with positive results, in association with bipolar disorder.

Subjects and methods

Patients

The study was performed on 419 patients with bipolar disorder (176 males, with a mean age 43.5 years, SD = 13.5; 243 females, with a mean age of 46 years, SD = 13.5). Patients were recruited from inpatients from Wielkopolska region, considered as ethnically homogeneous (Cavalli-Sforza 1994), treated at the Department of Psychiatry, University of Medical Sciences in Poznan. Consensus diagnosis by at least two psychiatrists was made for each patient, according to DSM-IV and ICD-10 criteria (SCID) (First 1996).

Control group

The control group consisted of 487 subjects (180 males, with a mean age 47 years, SD = 9.6 and 307 females, with a mean age 41 years, SD = 11.4). Control subjects were recruited from the group of healthy volunteers, blood donors, hospital staff and students of University of Medical Sciences in Poznan and Clinical Neuropsychology Unit, Collegium Medicum Bydgoszcz. They were not psychiatrically screened, which is the main limitation of this paper. The local ethics committee accepted the project.

After complete description of the study to the subjects, written informed consent was obtained. The study was approved by the Local Bioethics Committee. The study was performed in compliance with the Code of Ethics of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki).

Genotyping

DNA was extracted from 10 ml of EDTA anticoagulated whole blood using the salting out method (Miller et al. 1988). The SNP selection was based on their functionality (-200G/T) (Miyatake et al. 2002), and the fact that two other polymorphisms (rs7301328 and rs890) showed positive association with schizophrenia (Ohtsuki et al. 2001; Di Maria et al. 2004) which is suspected to have a common genetic background with bipolar disorder.

The three *GRIN2B* polymorphisms: 366C/G (Pro122) (rs7301328), rs890G/T and -200T/G (rs1019358) were analysed using PCR-RFLP analysis according to Ohtsuki et al. (2001) with minor modifications.

PCR was performed in PTC-200 (MJ Research) thermal cycler. A 15- μ l amplification mixture for each polymorphism contained 250 ng of genomic DNA, 0.45 μ M of each primer, 0.17 mM of each dNTP, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 75 mM Tris–HCl, 20 mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, 0.01% Tween and 0.5 U of Taq DNA

polymerase (MBI Fermentas). Cycling conditions were: initial denaturation at 95°C for 2 min, followed by 30 cycles, with a profile of 94°C for 30 s, 56°C (366C/G polymorphism), 58°C (rs890G/T polymorphism) or $64^{\circ}C$ (-200T/G) for 30 s, $72^{\circ}C$ for 30 s, and final elongation at 72°C for 5 min. A volume of 5 µl of each PCR product (112 bp for 366C/G; 196 bp for rs890 G/T and 159 bp for -200T/G) was then digested overnight in a total volume of 10 μ l at 37°C with 0.5 U of appropriate restriction endonuclease (TaqI for 366C/G polymorphism, PsuI for rs890G/T polymorphism and HpaII for -200T/G polymorphism). After RFLP analysis, the following alleles were observed: for 366C/G polymorphism, allele C (uncut PCR product, 112 bp) and allele G (93 and 12 bp); for rs890G/T polymorphism, allele T (uncut PCR product, 196 bp) and allele C (136 and 60 bp); for -200T/G polymorphism, allele G (101, 37 and 21 bp) and allele T (122 and 37 bp). The uncut PCR products for 366C/G and rs890G/T were digested twice to confirm the results. The control of RFLP analysis was also performed (25% of randomly chosen samples from both groups).

Statistical analysis

The two-tailed Pearson's chi-square (χ^2) test and Fisher's exact test were used to test differences in the genotypic and allelic (respectively) distribution between the groups of bipolar patients and control subjects. Two-tailed power analysis was also performed. Calculations were performed using the computer programme Statistica, version 7.1. For polymorphisms containing <less than five observations per cell we performed the Freeman-Halton exact test using StatsDirect statistical software, v.2.6.2 (trial). Odds ratios were calculated using a demo of the GraphPad InStat 3 programme. We also performed linkage disequilibrium analysis of the analysed polymorphisms of GRIN2B gene using free online software Haploview version 3.2 from the website: http://www.broad.mit.edu/mpg/haploview/index.php (Barrett et al. 2005).

Results

All analysed polymorphisms (366C/G, rs890G/T and -200G/T) were in Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium for all studied groups: P=0.979, P=0.809 and P=0.473, respectively in the control group; P=0.680, P=0.568 and P=0.656, respectively in the bipolar patients group.

For 366C/G we have not observed any significant differences in genotype distribution nor allele frequencies between the bipolar patients and the control subjects. For rs890G/T we also did not observe any significant differences between patients and the control group. For -200G/T we did not find any differences either for genotype or allele frequencies. The data are presented in Table I.

On the basis of the obtained results, we also performed linkage disequilibrium analysis of analysed polymorphisms of *GRIN2B* gene comparing the group of patients with the control subjects. However, we have not observed any linkage between the analysed polymorphisms (for C/G and G/T, D' =0.11, $r^2 = 0.007$; for T/G and C/G, D' = 0.084, $r^2 =$ 0.004; for T/G and G/T, D' = 0.002, $r^2 = 0.000$), so no haplotype blocks could be created.

The power to detect an association for odds ratio that in our sample was evaluated for 1.0 was about 10% for each SNP.

Discussion

In recent years, we have analysed the association of the polymorphisms of such genes as brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) with bipolar disorder. As to Val66Met *BDNF* polymorphism, we did not find an association with bipolar disorder (Skibinska et al. 2004). In addition, we observed an association between T-50C polymorphism of GSK-3 and bipolar disorder (Szczepankiewicz et al. 2006).

Table I. Genotype distributions and allele frequencies of the three analysed polymorphisms of *GRIN2B* gene for bipolar patients versus control group (figures in parentheses indicate percentages).

Polymorphism	Bipolar patients	Control group	P value
366C/G			
Genotypes			
CC	141 (33.25)	162 (33.26)	
CG	210 (49.53)	238 (48.87)	0.736
GG	72 (16.98)	87 (17.86)	
Alelles			
С	492 (58.16)	562 (57.70)	0.849
G	354 (41.84)	412 (42.30)	
rs890G/T			
Genotypes			
TT	124 (31.47)	148 (30.45)	
TG	199 (50.51)	238 (48.97)	0.635
GG	71 (18.02)	100(20.58)	
Alelles			
Т	447 (56.73)	534 (54.94)	0.469
G	341 (43.27)	438 (45.06)	
-200T/G			
Genotypes			
GG	129 (30.79)	161 (33.33)	
GT	211 (50.36)	229 (47.41)	0.647
TT	79 (18.85)	93 (19.25)	
Alelles			
G	469 (55.97)	551 (57.04)	0.668
Т	369 (44.03)	415 (42.96)	

The main finding of the present study is lack of association of the three polymorphisms of GRN2B gene (-200G/T, 366C/G and rs890G/T) with bipolar disorder.

Most association studies analysing *GRIN2B* polymorphisms were performed in schizophrenia, whereas for bipolar disorder the data are less abundant. To our knowledge, there was only one study analysing three *GRIN2B* polymorphisms (-200T/G, A5806C, T5988C) in bipolar disorder (Martucci et al. 2006). They performed analysis on 318 nuclear families (comprising father, mother and bipolar proband) and found that the C allele of T5988C polymorphism was overtransmitted in the bipolar sample (P=0.04). For the two other polymorphisms (-200T/G and A5806C) no association was found.

In our study, we have not found an association with any of the three GRIN2B polymorphisms analysed. This is consistent with the study by Martucci et al. (2006) as they also did not find an association with -200T/G polymorphism. The other two polymorphisms (366C/G and rs890G/T) were not analysed by them, so we cannot compare our results. However, association of GRIN2B gene polymorphisms was found in the Jewish Ashkenazi population and was confirmed recently by the same group. The different outcome may in part result from the fact that this study analysed only three SNPs from the GRIN2B gene, which might not have been sufficient to detect an association with bipolar disorder, but also may be due to the ethnic differences between the two populations (Jewish Ashkenazi and Polish).

In the linkage disequilibrium analysis, the obtained results suggested that GRIN2B polymorphisms analysed in this study are not linked as we observed very low D' and r^2 values. Therefore, no haplotypes were generated and it seems unlikely that the studied polymorphisms may together affect susceptibility to bipolar disorder. Similar results were obtained in the study by Liou et al. (2007) as they also found only weak LD with the GRIN2B polymorphisms they have analysed (-200T/G), 366C/G and 2664C/T) in their sample of schizophrenic patients. However, this was not confirmed by Martucci et al. (2006), who found preferential transmission of haplotype T-C-C (-200T/G, 5806A/C and 5988T/C, respectively) in the bipolar sample of family trios. Also, in the study by Fallin et al. (2005) they found several haplotype blocks in the GRIN2B gene based on D' values in the Ashkenazi Jewish trios. The inconsistent results in haplotype analysis may be due to the fact that different polymorphisms from several gene regions as well as different populations (family-based and unrelated

case–controls) were analysed by the mentioned studies. One should also consider that three SNPs analysed here did not give the complete information about the linkage within the whole gene region, and therefore might not be the ones associated with bipolar disorder, which is the main limitation of this study. However, inconsistencies may also indicate that family studies are more informative for linkage disequilibrium detection if sample sizes for trios and case–control analyses are comparable.

Of the three analysed polymorphisms, only functionality of -200T/G has been described. It was found to be localized in the putative Sp1 binding site in the 5' upstream region of the GRIN2B gene and different luciferase reporter activity was found for different alleles suggesting that this region is essential for GRIN2B regulation (Miyatake et al. 2002). One of the possible explanations of lack of association may be that other functional variants exist in the regulatory or coding region of the GRIN2B gene that are involved in the susceptibility to bipolar disorder. However, polymorphism screening over the coding sequence of the GRIN2B gene did not identify any functional or non-synonymous SNPs (Ohtsuki et al. 2001). Thus, further genetic and experimental studies with variants encompassing non-coding, untranslated and regulatory regions of GRIN2B gene would be required.

The main limitation of the present study is lack of psychiatric screening in the control group that might have yielded false-negative results and inconsistencies with other studies mentioned above. Lack of positive results may be also due to the limited sample size (~ 500 cases and ~ 500 controls). Although we doubt if further increase of sample size would much affect the results, it would be useful to consider this issue in future studies.

In conclusion, our findings indicate that none of the three studied polymorphisms in the *GRIN2B* gene is involved in the susceptibility to bipolar disorder in our group.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the Polish Commitee of Scientific Research, grant no. N402 086 31/2644. Dr Aleksandra Szczepankiewicz is the recipient of a 2008 Annual Fellowship for Young Scientists from the Foundation for Polish Science (FNP).

Statement of interest

There are no potential conflicts of interest for any of the authors to the subject of the report.

References

- Avramopoulos D, Lasseter VK, Fallin MD, Wolyniec PS, McGrath JA, Nestadt G, et al. 2007. Stage II follow-up on a linkage scan for bipolar disorder in the Ashkenazim provides suggestive evidence for chromosome 12p and the GRIN2B gene. Genet Med 9:745–751.
- Barrett JC, Fry B, Maller J, Daly MJ. 2005. Haploview: analysis and visualization of LD and haplotype maps. Bioinformatics 21:263–265.
- Benes FM, Todtenkopf MS, Kostoulakos P. 2001. GluR5,6,7 subunit immunoreactivity on apical pyramidal cell dendrites in hippocampus of schizophrenics and manic depressives. Hippocampus 11:482–491.
- Cavalli-Sforza L. 1994. The history and geography of human genes. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Cull-Candy S, Brickley S, Farrant M. 2001. NMDA receptor subunits: diversity, development and disease. Curr Opin Neurobiol 11:327–335.
- Di Maria E, Gulli R, Begni S, De Luca A, Bignotti S, Pasini A, et al. 2004. Variations in the NMDA receptor subunit 2B gene (GRIN2B) and schizophrenia: a case-control study. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 128B:27–29.
- Dingledine R, Borges K, Bowie D, Traynelis SF. 1999. The glutamate receptor ion channels. Pharmacol Rev 51:7–61.
- Fallin MD, Lasseter VK, Avramopoulos D, Nicodemus KK, Wolyniec PS, McGrath JA, et al. 2005. Bipolar I disorder and schizophrenia: a 440-single-nucleotide polymorphism screen of 64 candidate genes among Ashkenazi Jewish case–parent trios. Am J Hum Genet 77:918–936.
- Faraone SV, Su J, Tsuang MT. 2004. A genome-wide scan of symptom dimensions in bipolar disorder pedigrees of adult probands. J Affect Disord 82(Suppl 1):S71–78.
- First MB, Spitzer RL, Gibbon M., Williams J. 1996. Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders, Clinician Version (SCID-CV). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press.
- Hollmann M, Boulter J, Maron C, Heinemann S. 1994. Molecular biology of glutamate receptors. Potentiation of *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptor splice variants by zinc. Ren Physiol Biochem 17:182–183.
- Ishii T, Moriyoshi K, Sugihara H, Sakurada K, Kadotani H, Yokoi M, et al. 1993. Molecular characterization of the family of the *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunits. J Biol Chem 268:2836–2843.
- Krupp JJ, Vissel B, Heinemann SF, Westbrook GL. 1996. Calcium-dependent inactivation of recombinant N-methyl-Daspartate receptors is NR2 subunit specific. Mol Pharmacol 50:1680–1688.
- Laube B, Hirai H, Sturgess M, Betz H, Kuhse J. 1997. Molecular determinants of agonist discrimination by NMDA receptor subunits: analysis of the glutamate binding site on the NR2B subunit. Neuron 18:493–503.
- Laurie DJ, Schoeffter P, Wiederhold KH, Sommer B. 1997. Cloning, distribution and functional expression of the human mGlu6 metabotropic glutamate receptor. Neuropharmacology 36:145–152.
- Law AJ, Deakin JF. 2001. Asymmetrical reductions of hippocampal NMDAR1 glutamate receptor mRNA in the psychoses. Neuroreport 12:2971–2974.
- Lerma J, Paternain AV, Rodriguez-Moreno A, Lopez-Garcia JC. 2001. Molecular physiology of kainate receptors. Physiol Rev 81:971–998.

- Lijam N, Paylor R, McDonald MP, Crawley JN, Deng CX, Herrup K, et al. 1997. Social interaction and sensorimotor gating abnormalities in mice lacking Dvl1. Cell 90:895–905.
- Liou YJ, Wang YC, Chen JY, Bai YM, Lin CC, Liao DL, et al. 2007. Association analysis of polymorphisms in the *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor subunit 2B (GRIN2B) gene and tardive dyskinesia in schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res
- Mandich P, Schito AM, Bellone E, Antonacci R, Finelli P, Rocchi M, et al. 1994. Mapping of the human NMDAR2B receptor subunit gene (GRIN2B) to chromosome 12p12. Genomics 22:216–218.
- Martucci L, Wong AH, De Luca V, Likhodi O, Wong GW, King N, et al. 2006. N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor NR2B subunit gene GRIN2B in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: Polymorphisms and mRNA levels. Schizophr Res 84:214–221.
- Miller SA, Dykes DD, Polesky HF. 1988. A simple salting out procedure for extracting DNA from human nucleated cells. Nucleic Acids Res 16:1215.
- Miyatake R, Furukawa A, Suwaki H. 2002. Identification of a novel variant of the human NR2B gene promoter region and its possible association with schizophrenia. Mol Psychiatry 7:1101–1106.
- Monyer H, Sprengel R, Schoepfer R, Herb A, Higuchi M, Lomeli H, et al. 1992. Heteromeric NMDA receptors: molecular and functional distinction of subtypes. Science 256:1217–1221.
- Nakanishi S, Nakajima Y, Masu M, Ueda Y, Nakahara K, Watanabe D, et al. 1998. Glutamate receptors: brain function and signal transduction. Brain Res Rev 26:230–235.
- Ohtsuki T, Sakurai K, Dou H, Toru M, Yamakawa-Kobayashi K, Arinami T. 2001. Mutation analysis of the NMDAR2B (GRIN2B) gene in schizophrenia. Mol Psychiatry 6:211–216.
- Scannevin RH, Huganir RL. 2000. Postsynaptic organization and regulation of excitatory synapses. Nat Rev Neurosci 1:133–141.
- Scarr E, Pavey G, Sundram S, MacKinnon A, Dean B. 2003. Decreased hippocampal NMDA, but not kainate or AMPA receptors in bipolar disorder. Bipolar Disord 5:257–264.
- Schiffer HH. 2002. Glutamate receptor genes: susceptibility factors in schizophrenia and depressive disorders? Mol Neurobiol 25:191–212.
- Schito AM, Pizzuti A, Di Maria E, Schenone A, Ratti A, Defferrari R, et al. 1997. mRNA distribution in adult human brain of GRIN2B, a N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor subunit. Neurosci Lett 239:49–53.
- Skibinska M, Hauser J, Czerski PM, Leszczynska-Rodziewicz A, Kosmowska M, Kapelski P, et al. 2004. Association analysis of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) gene Val66Met polymorphism in schizophrenia and bipolar affective disorder. World J Biol Psychiatry 5:215–220.
- Szczepankiewicz A, Skibinska M, Hauser J, Slopien A, Leszczynska-Rodziewicz A, Kapelski P, et al. 2006b. Association analysis of the GSK-3beta T-50C gene polymorphism with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Neuropsychobiology 53:51–56.
- Vicini S, Wang JF, Li JH, Zhu WJ, Wang YH, Luo JH, et al. 1998. Functional and pharmacological differences between recombinant N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. J Neurophysiol 79:555– 566.
- Wernicke C, Samochowiec J, Schmidt LG, Winterer G, Smolka M, Kucharska-Mazur J, et al. 2003. Polymorphisms in the *N*methyl-D-aspartate receptor 1 and 2B subunits are associated with alcoholism-related traits. Biol Psychiatry 54:922–928.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Lower rates of comorbidities in euthymic bipolar patients

FABIANA NERY-FERNANDES¹, LUCAS C. QUARANTINI¹, AMANDA GALVÃO-DE-ALMEIDA¹, MARLOS V. ROCHA¹, FLÁVIO KAPCZINSKI² & ÂNGELA MIRANDA-SCIPPA^{1,3}

¹Center for Study and Treatment of Affective Disorders (CETTA), Universidade Federal da Bahia (UFBA), Salvador-Ba, Brazil, ²Bipolar Disorder Program & Molecular Psychiatry Laboratory, Hospital de Clínicas, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre-RS, Brazil, and ³Department of Neuropsychiatry, Universidade Federal da Bahia (UFBA), Salvador-Ba, Brazil

Abstract

Objective. This study assessed the frequency of axis I psychiatric comorbidities in euthymic bipolar patients and the clinical differences between patients with and without comorbidities. *Method.* In this study, 62 euthymic bipolar outpatients assessed using a clinical questionnaire underwent a structured diagnostic interview (SCID/CV – DSM-IV) as well as a symptoms evaluation (YMRS and HAM-D-17). *Results.* The lifetime frequency of patients with comorbidities was 27.4%. The most frequent comorbidities were anxiety disorders (33.7%), and the positive associated variables were more advanced age, the presence of a steady partner, a first episode of the depressive type and lifetime attempted suicide. *Conclusions.* The lower frequency of comorbidities found in our study in comparison with those described in the literature may be due to the evaluation restricted only to euthymic patients. This suggests the importance of assessing psychiatric comorbidity in bipolar individuals while not in acute phases of the disorder.

Key words: Bipolar disorder, mood disorders, comorbidity, outpatients

Introduction

Bipolar disorder (BD) represents an important psychiatric disorder with an estimated prevalence ranging between 1 and 1.6% in the general population (Almeida-Filho et al. 1997; Jonas et al. 2003; American Psychiatric Association 2004). The cooccurrence of BD and psychiatric comorbidity is often reported in relation with bipolar patients, with prevalence varying between 50 and 70% in the majority of the studies (Pini et al. 1999; Vieta et al. 2001), but, in some cases, reaching more than 90% (Kessler et al. 1997). The presence of one or more comorbidities has been associated with a worse prognosis, more severe BD subtypes, early onset, mixed mood episodes, lower remission rates, worse functional performance, suicidal behaviour, and lower response to pharmacological treatment in the acute phase of the disease (Vieta et al. 2001; McIntyre and Keck 2006; Goodwin and Jamison 2007). Hence, detecting distinct patterns of comorbidities has an important implication in the treatment therapy and management of these patients (Pini et al. 1999).

However, the identified studies are not unanimous and the heterogeneous aspect of the applied methodologies may make it more difficult to understand these findings. In the literature, some of the most frequent axis I psychiatric comorbidities in bipolar patients are substance abuse/dependence and anxiety disorders (Sanches et al. 2005; Disalver et al. 2006).

A methodological challenge for studies evaluating psychiatric comorbidities in bipolar patients is their extensive array of clinical features, among which are symptoms of depression, mania, anxiety, and cognitive impairment. This issue may lead to overestimation of psychiatric comorbidity prevalence in an acute phase of BD (Vieta et al. 2001; Goodwin and Jamison 2007). However, most studies dealing with bipolar patients have failed to evaluate them in specific, well-defined periods of euthymia, described as the absence of acute episodes during a period of

Correspondence: Fabiana Nery-Fernandes, Rua do Ébano, n 105, ap. 201, Zipcode 41820-370, Salvador, Bahia, Brazil. Tel./Fax: +55 71 3351 4111. E-mail: fabiana.nery@hotmail.com

(Received 4 July 2008; accepted 26 November 2008)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970802688929

time, and low scores on both the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAM-D-17) and the Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS) (Vieta et al. 2001). Besides that, when euthymic or non-euthymic bipolar patients were compared with healthy control ones, the findings were inconsistent regarding the presence of structural or metabolic differences (Silverstone et al. 2003; Wu et al. 2004; Scherk et al. 2007).

The present study aims to assess the frequency of axis I psychiatric comorbidities in euthymic bipolar outpatients and to evaluate the possible clinical differences between patients with and without psychiatric comorbidities.

Methods

Sample

All bipolar patients were referred to this study from an outpatient clinic and were seen consecutively through the Affective Disorders Program at the General Hospital of the Federal University of Bahia, Brazil, from March 2005 to March 2007, having diagnostic criteria for BD, according to the DSM-IV. Seventy-one patients were subsequently recruited, nine of whom were excluded for not being in a euthymic phase (characterized by the absence of acute episodes in the previous 2 months and with HAM-D-17 and YMRS scores <7) at the time of the assessment (Hamilton 1960; Young et al. 1978).

Methods of measurement and data collection

The study was approved by the local Medical Review Ethics Committee and performed in accordance with the ethical standards set in the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki. Additionally, all patients had provided written informed consent prior to their inclusion in the study.

All patients were evaluated through the Structured Clinical Interview with the DSM-IV axis I (SCID-I) (First et al. 1997), the HAM-D-17 and the YMRS scales. Once both the BD diagnosis and the euthymic state, were confirmed, a questionnaire was submitted in order to gather clinical and sociodemographic characteristics.

The interviews, as well as the scale application, were carried out simultaneously on the day of the patient's consultation. These were done individually, or when necessary, with the presence of family members. The data gathered from the patient's report were complemented, as seen fit, by data contained in the medical chart. The evaluations were carried out by three psychiatrists, trained in using the referred instruments, with more than 5 years of experience in the field. The descriptive data from the sample, the frequency of psychiatric comorbidities and the most frequent comorbidities types were gathered in a preliminary results analysis. Subsequently, the sample was divided, according to the presence or absence of axis I psychiatric comorbidities, into two groups (17 patients who had presented at least one psychiatric comorbidity throughout his or her life, and 45 who had never been diagnosed with any psychiatric comorbidity).

Statistical analysis

In the statistical analysis, the continued variables were compared using the Student's *t*-test or the Mann–Whitney test. The categorical variables were compared using the chi-squared test or the Fisher's exact test (when necessary) and the forces of association between the independent variables and the studied outcomes (psychiatric comorbidities) evaluated. The data were entered into the Software Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 13.0, and analysed in the EPIDATA version 3.1 R Package program version 2.3.1. Two-tailed values with P < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Results

A total of 62 patients – most of whom were type I bipolar patients (90.3%) – were included in the study; 13 (21%) were males and 49 (79%) were females. The patients' ages ranged between 19 and 74 years, the average age being 42 (SD = 12.73). Forty-eight of these patients (77.4%) did not have a steady partner and only 16 (25.8%) did any type of remunerated work; 45 of the patients in our sample (72.6%) were Afro-descendents.

The lifetime frequency of patients having axis I psychiatric comorbidities was 27.4% (n = 17). Of these, 64.7% (n=11) presented a single comorbid diagnosis, 23.5% (n=4) had two comorbidities and 11.8% (n=2) had four other psychiatric diagnoses. The current frequency of psychiatric comorbidities was 24.2% (n = 15). The most frequent comorbidities observed were anxiety disorders (33.7%), with 14 patients (22.6%) having at least one anxiety disorder (the current and lifetime frequency were the same), followed by substance abuse/dependence (8%), with five patients (8%) having at least one of these disorders (current frequency = 1.6%) and only one patient (1.6%) with a history of eating disorder in the past. The total sum and the percentages of the comorbidities were not equal to the total sum and percentages found in the frequency, as some patients presented more than one comorbidity (Table I).

476 F. Nery-Fernandes et al.

Table I. Frequency of psychiatric comorbidities in 62 euthymic bipolar patients from a specialized centre in Brazil.

Psychiatric comorbidities	Ν	%	
Alcohol abuse or dependence	4	6.4	
Non-alcoholic substance dependence	1	1.6	
Obsessive-compulsive disorder	1	1.6	
Pos-traumatic stress disorder	1	1.6	
Generalized anxiety disorder	8	12.9	
Generalized anxiety disorder - NOS	2	3.2	
Hypochondria	1	1.6	
Specific phobia	4	6.4	
Panic disorder	2	3.2	
Social phobia	2	3.2	
Periodic compulsive eating disorder	1	1.6	

Numbers and percentages do not sum to total amounts because some subjects had more then one disorder.

NOS, no other specifications.

The comparison between bipolar patients, with or without comorbidites, did not show any statistically significant differences from the majority of the sociodemographic characteristics (Table II), except for more advanced age (P=0.03) and the presence of a steady partner (P=0.04), which were associated with the presence of comorbidity.

In the same manner, there were no significant differences between these groups in regards to most of the clinical characteristics (Table II). However, an association between the presence of psychiatric comorbidity with depression being the first episode (P=0.03) and a history of suicide attempt throughout life (P=0.02) was observed.

Discussion

The frequency of lifetime axis I psychiatric comorbidity in bipolar patients found in our study (27.4%) was lower than previously described in literature (Kessler et al. 1997; Suppes et al. 2001). This difference may be explained by the fact that most studies included symptomatic bipolar patients, while we evaluated only euthymic patients. The use of such restrictive inclusion criteria, exclusively assessing euthymic patients, aimed to avoid a possible overestimation of comorbid diagnosis, a result of overlapping acute symptoms of mood episodes and symptoms belonging to a current comorbid pathology. Besides that, the use of psychiatrists and semi-structured diagnosis interviews may also have contributed to finding a lower frequency of psychiatric comorbidities in our study than in previous reports. A study also evaluating only euthymic patients (YMRS <7 and HAM-D-17 < 9) reported a similar rate of psychiatric comorbidity (31%) to the one found in our study (Vieta et al. 2001).

An important issue observed in this study, which may have influenced the rate of comorbidities, is that the majority of the sample was formed by bipolar I (90.3%). The literature is controversial regarding the higher frequency of axis I comorbidity between bipolar I and II patients (Coryell et al. 1985; Cassano et al. 1992; Benazzi 1997; McElroy et al. 2001; Mantere et al. 2006). In reports of specific disorders, substance abuse is more common among bipolar I patients than among bipolar II patients. The opposite is true for anxiety and eating disorders (Goodwin and Jamison 2007). A recent study evaluating anxiety disorders comorbidity in euthymic bipolar patients also found no differences in the rates of current and lifetime anxiety between bipolar I and bipolar II patients (Albert et al. 2008). Although a large body of evidence derived from rigorously conducted studies supports the presence of higher comorbidity in bipolar patients, the difference between the comorbidity frequency in bipolar I and II patients is open to debate.

One interesting socio-demographic issue about our sample is the fact that almost 80% were females. According to literature, consultation rates and helpseeking patterns for women are consistently higher than those for men, especially in the case of emotional problems and depressive symptoms (Mackenzie et al. 2006; Judd et al. 2008). Empirical evidence shows that low treatment rates for men cannot be explained by better health, but must be attributed to a discrepancy between perception of need and help-seeking behavior (Möller-Leimkühler 2002). The results found in our study are compatible with those in other researches, which describe higher frequency of anxiety comorbidity in women with bipolar disorder than in equally afflicted men (Graaf et al. 2002; Gaudiano and Miller 2005; McIntyre et al. 2006). Moreover, it is important to highlight that gender is not the only variable that interferes with the frequency of comorbidity.

Another peculiar aspect of this present study is the high frequency of Afro-descendents (72.6%), which is similar to that observed in the general population of Salvador (78% of Afro-descendents), where the study was conducted (Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística 2006). Reports revealed potential disparities in treatment, presence of psychosis, history of involuntary commitment and presence of comorbidity with substance use disorder among minorities (Afro-descendents and Hispanics) compared with Caucasian patients (Kennedy et al. 2004; Kilbourne et al. 2005). These findings could reflect either genuine ethnic differences in the presentation of BD or be explained by BD patients from ethnic/racial minority groups receiving less intensive specialized mental health treatment than Table II. Socio-demographic and clinical differences between euthymic bipolar patients from a specialized center in Brazil with and without psychiatric comorbidities.

	All BP (N=62) N (%)/Mean (SD)	BP with comorbidity (N=17) N (%)/Mean (SD)	BP without comorbidity (N=45) N(%)/Mean (SD)	t-Test or Chi-square P
Gender (males)	13 (21%)	6 (46.1%)	7 (53.9%)	0.15
Actual age (years)	42 (12.73)	45.8 (11.21)	39.9 (13.02)	0.03
Ethnicity (Afro-descendants)	45 (72.6%)	14 (31.1%)	31 (68.9%)	0.35
Educational level (years)	10.9	11.3 (2.44)	10.7 (3.97)	0.72
Marital status				0.04
Without Partner	48 (77.4%)	10 (20.8%)	38 (79.2%)	
With Partner	14 (22.6%)	7 (50%)	7 (50%)	
Currently working				1.00
No	46 (74.2%)	13 (28.3%)	33 (71.7%)	
Yes	16 (25.8%)	4 (25%)	12 (75%)	
*Type of first episode				0.03
Mania	27 (43.5%)	4 (14.8%)	23 (85.2%)	
Depression	33 (53.2%)	13 (39.4%)	20 (60.6%)	
Hospitalization (yes)	51 (82.3%)	12 (23.5%)	39 (76.5%)	0.15
Rapid cycling (yes)	3 (4.8%)	0 (0%)	3 (100%)	0.55
Electroconvulsotherapy (yes)	6 (9.7%)	1 (16.7%)	5 (83.3%)	1.00
Suicide Attempt (yes)	16 (25,8%)	8 (50%)	8 (50%)	0.02
Use of lithium during life (yes)	54 (87.1%)	14 (25.9%)	40 (74.1%)	0.67
Family history of suicide (yes)	15 (24.2%)	6 (40%)	9 (60%)	0.31
Family history of suicide attempt (yes)	10 (16.1%)	1 (10%)	9 (90%)	0.26
Family history of BD (yes)	10 (16.1%)	2 (20%)	8 (80%)	0.71
Suicidal ideation during life (yes)	16 (25.8%)	7 (43.7%)	9 (56.3%)	0.19
Suicide plan during life (yes)	12 (19.3%)	5 (41.7%)	7 (58.3%)	0.30
Presence of psychosis (yes)	37 (59.7%)	10 (27%)	27 (73%)	0.93
Type of bipolar disorder				0.66
Type I	56 (90.3%)	15 (26.8%)	41 (73.2%)	
Type II+NOS	6 (9.7%)	2 (33.3%)	4 (66.7%)	
Age at first episode (years)	25.7 (12.01)	27.2 (12.42)	24.8 (11.66)	0.54
Time of illness evolution (years)	16 (10.94)	18.7 (11.20)	15.1 (11.00)	0.19
Number of hospitalizations	5.2 (5.34)	5.5 (4.35)	5.3 (5.74)	0.41
Number of episodes pole+	5.4 (5.09)	6.6 (6.37)	4.9 (4.50)	0.42
Number of episodes pole -	4.8 (5.70)	5.5 (6.60)	4.7 (5.73)	0.11

SD, standard deviation; BD, bipolar disorder; NOS, no other specification.

*Numbers and percentages do not sum up to total amounts because two of the subjects could not remember which type was their first episode, therefore only 60 subjects answered this question.

Caucasian patients (Gonzáles et al. 2007). However, little is known about ethnic differences in the clinical, psychosocial and treatment characteristics in bipolar patients; and the few studies having a majority of Afro-descendents did not evaluate comorbidities (Fekadu et al. 2006; Kebede et al. 2006; Negash et al. 2005).

Regarding specific disorders, we found that anxiety disorders were the most frequent comorbid disorders (33.7%), with 22.6% of our sample having at least one anxiety disorder at some point in life. In literature, the lifetime prevalence of any anxiety disorder in bipolar patients is widely varied, and ranges from 18% in clinical studies to 93% in community-based epidemiological studies (McIntyre et al. 2006). To our knowledge, only two other studies evaluated anxiety disorders in euthymic bipolar patients, but one described only the current frequency of comorbid anxiety disorders (7%), while the other reported a current and lifetime frequency of bipolar patients with anxiety disorder (32.4 and 41%, respectively) (Vieta et al. 2001; Albert et al. 2008). In our study, we evaluated both the current and lifetime frequency of comorbid anxiety disorders (33.7%) and the current and lifetime frequency of bipolar patients with anxiety disorders (22.6%). This variation could be partly explained by some methodological differences in the diagnostic criteria used and the definition of euthymia, as being a period of time without acute symptoms and YMRS and HAM-D scores.

The question about whether substance misuse precedes, induces or follows bipolar disorder is still unresolved. Bipolar disorder preceded by substance misuse may represent a clinically milder subtype of bipolar illness. This subtype would be less primary and might be targeted earlier on by primary prevention with programs focused on substance misuse (Pacchiarotti et al. 2007). This could explain the low frequency of substance abuse and dependence observed (8%), when compared to most of the articles described in literature (28–58%) (Frye and Salloum 2006). Another reason for these differences, besides the euthymia issue, may be the larger ratio of women in our sample. Women, in general, present a lower prevalence of this disorder, when compared to men (Brady and Randall 1999; Greenfield et al. 2007).

The presence of a steady partner, and a more advanced age were the socio-demographic variables most associated with comorbidity. One might suppose that in this population the presence of a steady partner does not necessarily mean having the social network element as a protective factor. In a community-based study conducted in Ethiopia, being married was associated with improvement of social functioning in recent-onset cases of BD. This association, however, was not observed in longstanding cases (Kebede et al. 2006). In our sample, most cases were not recent-onset, like the trend seen in Ethiopia. The influence of marital status in bipolar patients remains unclear, and the data is rare and controversial (Carpenter et al. 1995; Szádóczky et al. 1998). More advanced age could be chronologically associated with the greater probability of developing other psychiatric disorders at some point in time. The literature, in general, does not describe significant differences related to socio-demographic data between patients with and without psychiatric comorbidity (Pini et al. 1999; McElroy et al. 2001; Vieta et al. 2001).

The association between axis I psychiatric comorbidity and the first BD depressive-type episode and a history of suicide attempts is worth noting. These findings are similar to those found in literature (Pini et al. 1999; Vieta et al. 2001). With specific regard to suicide attempts, a recent systematic review showed that the presence of axis I psychiatric comorbidity was associated with a history of suicide attempts at some point in life (Hawton et al. 2005). Such association reinforces the idea that the presence of psychiatric comorbidity increases the severity of the illness and worsens the prognosis of bipolar patients (Colom et al. 2000).

The main limitation of this study was the restricted sample size. Although only a small portion of the total number of patients was excluded (n=9; 14.5%), the small sample prevented us from carrying out a logistic regression aimed at removing confusing factors and decreasing the power of both generalization of the findings and increasing the risk of type II errors. Other important limitations were the retrospective data collection, which increased the risk of a memory bias.

In summary, our study showed that, in literature, the diagnosis of comorbidities in bipolar patients

may be overestimated due to methodological issues, such as assessing these individuals in an acute phase of BD. Despite the lower frequency of comorbidities found in our sample, it is important to highlight that more than one-fourth of bipolar patients in our sample had at least one psychiatric comorbidity, the presence of which could negatively influence the prognosis of BD. Longitudinal studies with larger sample sizes are warranted to further investigate the impact of each psychiatric comorbidity in the course of BD and its role as a risk factor for suicide attempts.

Acknowledgements

This project has been supported in part by the Center for Study and Treatment of Affective Disorders (CETTA). The authors thank Dr. Maurício Cardeal for the statistical analysis.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other association in connection with the submitted article.

References

- Albert H, Rosso G, Maina G, Bogetto F. 2008. Impact of anxiety disorder comorbidity on quality of life in euthymic bipolar disorder patients: differences between bipolar I and II subtypes. J Affect Disord 105:297–303.
- Almeida-Filho N, Mari J, Coutinho E, Franca J, Fernandes J, Andreoli S, et al. 1997. Brazilian multicentric study of psychiatric morbidity. Methodological features and prevalence estimates. Br J Psychiatry 171(12):524–529.
- American Psychiatric Association. 2004. Diretrizes para o tratamento de pacientes com transtorno bipolar. In: American Psychiatric Association, editors. Diretrizes para o tratamento de transtornos psiquiátricos. Porto Alegre: Artmed. p 341–396.
- Benazzi F. 1997. Prevalence of bipolar II disorder in outpatient depression: a 203-case study in private practice. J Affect Disord 43:163–166.
- Brady KT, Randall CL. 1999. Gender differences in substance use disorders. Psychiatr Clin North Am 22(2):241–252.
- Cassano GB, Akiskal HS, Savino M, Musetti L, Perugi G. 1992. Proposed subtypes of bipolar II and related disorders: with hypomanic episodes (or cyclothymia) and with hiperthymic temperament. J Affect Disord 26:127–140.
- Carpenter D, Clarkin J, Glick I, Wilner P. 1995. Personality pathology among married adults with bipolar disorder. J Affect Disord 34:269–274.
- Colom F, Vieta E, Martinez-Arán A, Reinares M, Benabarre A, Gastó C. 2000. Clinical factores associated to treament noncompliance in euthymic bipolar patients. J Clin Psychiatry 6:549–555.
- Coryell W, Endicott J, Andreasen N, Keller M. 1985. Bipolar I, bipolar II, and nonbipolar major depression among the relatives of affectively ill probands. Am J Psychiatry 142:817–821.
- Disalver SC, Akiskal HS, Akiskal KK, Benazzi F. 2006. Dose-response relationship between number of comorbid anxiety disorders in adolescent bipolar/unipolar disorders, and
psychosis, suicidality, substance abuse and familiality. J Affect Disord 96:249-258.

- Fekadu A, Kebede D, Alem A, Fekadu D, Mogga S, Negash A et al. 2006. Clinical outcomes in bipolar disorder in communitybased follow-up study in Butajira, Ethiopia. Acta Psychiatr Scand 114(6):426–434.
- First M, Spitzer R, Gibbon M, Williams J. 1997. Structured Clinical Interview for the DSM-IV Axis I Disorders – clinician version (SCID-CV). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press.
- Frye M, Salloum I. 2006. Bipolar disorder and comorbid alcoholism: prevalence rate and treatment considerations. Bipolar Disord 8:677–685.
- Gaudiano B, Miller T. 2005. Anxiety disorder comorbidity in bipolar I disorder: relationship to depression severity and treatment outcome. Depress Anxiety 21:71–77.
- Gonzáles J, Thompson P, Escamilla M, Araga M, Singh V, Farrelly N, et al. 2007. Treatment characteristics and illness burden among European Americans, African Americans, and Latinos in the first 2000 patients of systematic treatment enhancement program for bipolar disorder. Psychopharmacol Bull 40(1):31–46.
- Goodwin F, Jamison K. 2007. Manic-depressive illness. New York: Oxford University Press. pp 223–245.
- Graaf R, Bijl R, Smit F, Vollebergh W, Spijker J. 2002. Risk factors for 12-month comorbidity of mood, anxiety, and substance use disorders: findings from the Netherlands Mental Health Survey and Incidence Study. Am J Psychiatry 159(4):620–629.
- Greenfield SF, Brooks AJ, Gordon SM, Green CA, Kopp F, McHugh RK, et al. 2007. Substance abuse treatment entry, retention, and outcome in women: A review of literature. Drug Alcohol Depend 86:1–21.
- Hamilton M. 1960. A rating scale for depression. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 23:56–72.
- Hawton K, Sutton L, Haw C, Sinclair J, Harris L. 2005. Suicide and attempted suicide in bipolar disorder: a systematic review of risk factors. J Clin Psychiatry 66:693–704.
- Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística IBGE. 2006. Sistema de recuperação automática – SIDRA [www.ibge. org.br].
- Jonas B, Brody D, Roper M, Narrow W. 2003. Prevalence of mood disorders in national sample of young American adults. Soc Psychiatr Epidemiol 38:618–624.
- Judd F, Komiti A, Jackson H. 2008. How does being female assist help-seeking for mental health problems? Aust NZ Psychiatry 42(1):24–29.
- Kebede D, Alem A, Shibire T, Deyassa N, Negash A, Beyero T, et al. 2006. Symptomatic and functional outcome of bipolar disorder in Butajira, Ethiopia. J Affect Disord 90(2–3):239– 249.
- Kennedy N, Boydell J, Van Os J, Murray R. 2004. Ethnic differences in first clinical presentation of bipolar disorder: Results from an epidemiological study. J Affect Disord 83(2–3): 161–168.
- Kessler R, Rubinow D, Holmes C, Abelson J, Zhao S. 1997. The epidemiology of DSM-III-R bipolar disorder in a general population survey. Psychol Med 27:1079–1089.
- Kilbourne A, Bauer M, Pincus H, Williford W, Kirk G, Beresford T. 2005. Clinical, psychosocial, and treatment differences in minority patients with bipolar disorder. Bipolar Disord 7:89– 97.

- Mackenzie C, Gekoski W, Knox V. 2006. Age, gender, and the underutilization of mental health service: the influence of helpseeking attitudes. Aging Ment Health 10(6):574–582.
- Mantere O, Melartin T, Suominen K, Rytsälä H, Valtonen H, Arvilommi P, et al. 2006. Differences in axis I and II comorbidity between bipolar I and II disorders and major depressive disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 67(4):584–593.
- McElroy S, Altshuler L, Suppes T, Keck P, Frye M, Denicoff K. 2001. Axis I psychiatric comorbidity and it relationship to historical illness variables in 288 patients with bipolar disorder. Am J Psychiatry 158:420–426.
- McIntyre R, Keck P. 2006. Comorbidity in bipolar disorder: clinical and research opportunities. Bipolar Disord 8:645–647.
- McIntyre R, Soczynska J, Bottas A, Bordbar K, Konarski J, Kennedy S. 2006. Anxiety disorders and bipolar disorder: a review. Bipolar Disord 8:665–676.
- Möller-Leimkühler A. 2002. Barriers to help-seeking by men: a review of sociocultural and clinical literature with particular reference to depression. J Affect Disord 71(1–3):1–9.
- Negash A, Alem A, Kebede D, Deyessa N, Shibre T, Kullgren G. 2005. Prevalence and clinical characteristic of bipolar I disorder in Butajira, Ethiopia: A community-based study. J Affect Disord 87(2–3):193–201.
- Pacchiarotti I, Marzo S, Colom F, Sánchez-Moreno J, Vieta E. 2007. Bipolar disorder preceded by substance abuse: A different phenotype with not so poor outcome? World J Biol Psychiatry 13:1–8.
- Pini S, Dell'osso L, Matrocinque C, Marcacci G, Papasogli A, Vignoli S. 1999. Axis I comorbidity in bipolar disorder with psychotic features. Br J Psychiatry 175:467–471.
- Sanches R, Assunção S, Hetem L. 2005. Impacto da comorbidade no diagnóstico e tratamento do transtorno bipolar. Rev Psiquiatr Clin 32(Suppl 1):71–77.
- Scherk H, Backens M, Schneider-Axmann T, Usher J, Kemmer C, Reith W, et al. 2007. Cortical neurochemistry in euthymic patients with bipolar I disorder. World J Biol Psychiatry 13:1– 10.
- Silverstone P, Wu R, O'Donnell T, Ulrich M, Asghar S, Hanstock C. 2003. Chronic treatment with litium, but not sodium valproate, increases cortical N-acetyl-aspartate concentrations in euthymic bipolar patients. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 18(2):73–79.
- Suppes T, Leverich GS, Keck PE, Nolen WA, Denicoff KD, Altshuler LL. 2001. The Stanley Foundation Bipolar Treatment Outcome Network II: demographics and illness characteristics of the first 261 patients. J Affect Disord 67(1–3):45–59.
- Szádóczky E, Papp Z, Vitrai J, Ríhmer Z, Furedi J. 1998. The prevalence of major depressive and bipolar disorders in Hungary: results from a national epidemiologic survey. J Affect Disord 50:153–162.
- Vieta E, Colom F, Corbella B, Martínez-Arán A, Reinares M, Benabarre A. 2001. Clinical correlates of psychistry comorbidity in bipolar I patients. Bipolar Disord 3(5):253–258.
- Wu R, O'Donnell T, Ulrich M, Asghar S, Hanstock C, Silverstone P. 2004. Brain choline concentrations may not be altered in euthymic bipolar disorder patients chronically treated with either lithium or sodium vaproate. Ann Gen Psychiatry 3(1):13.
- Young R, Biggs J, Ziegler V, Meyer D. 1978. A rating scale for mania: reliability, validity and sensitivity. Br J Psychiatry 133:429–435.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATON

Turning order into chaos through repetition and addition of elementary acts in obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD)

RAMA ZOR¹, HAGGAI HERMESH², HENRY SZECHTMAN³ & DAVID EILAM¹

¹Department of Zoology, Tel-Aviv University, Ramat-Aviv 69978, Israel, ²Outpatient Department and Anxiety Disorders and Behaviour Therapy Unit, Geha Mental Health Center, Rabin Medical Center, Petach-Tiquva and Sackler Faculty of Medicine, Tel Aviv University, Ramat-Aviv, Israel, and ³Department of Psychiatry and Behavioural Neurosciences, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada L8N 3Z5

Abstract

A concept and methodology derived from an animal model provided the framework for a study of rituals in obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD) patients and yielded objective and observable criteria applicable for compulsive rituals across patients. The employed ethological approach should be able to reveal and identify a common structure underlying OCD rituals, pointing to shared psychopathology. Eleven OCD rituals performed by patients in their own home were videotaped and compared with the behaviour of healthy individuals instructed to perform the same rituals. The videotaped rituals were deconstructed into *visits* to specific locations or objects (ritual space), and to the *acts* performed at each location/object (ritual basic components). Quantitative analyses revealed that compulsiveness emanates from the expansion of repeats for some acts and visits, and from the addition of superfluous act types. Best discrimination between OCD and control rituals (90.9% success) was provided by the parameter "maximum of act repeats in a ritual" ($R^2 = 0.77$). It is suggested that the identified properties of compulsive behaviour are consistent with a recent hypothesis that ritualized behaviour shifts the individual's attention from a normal focus on structured actions to a pathological attraction onto the processing of basic acts, a shift that invariably overtaxes memory. Characteristics and mechanisms of compulsive rituals may prove useful in objective assessment of psychiatric disorders, behavioural therapy, and OCD nosology.

Key words: Rituals, compulsive behaviour, CBT, spatiotemporal structure, OCD diagnosis

Introduction

Obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) is a severe, chronic psychiatric problem (Rapoport 1989a, 1990; Rasmussen et al. 1991) with a prevalence rate of 1-3% (Karno et al. 1988; Weissman et al. 1994). Obsessions are recurring, persistent thoughts, impulses, or images that inappropriately intrude into awareness and cause marked distress or anxiety. Compulsions are the need to repeat physical behaviours such as checking or mental behaviours such as counting things, and occur in response to an obsession with strictly applied rules (DMS-IV; APA 2000). Altogether, OCD is a disabling disorder with strong severe impact on life quality (El-Sayegh et al. 2003). Diagnosis, assessment, and treatment of OCD are based on various criteria and rating scales (Jenike et al. 1990; APA 2000). However, these rating scales are based on the patients' introspection or their self-reporting, thus providing little information on the form (structure) of compulsive behaviour. Considering the heterogeneity of OCD rituals (Lochner et al. 2003), it is difficult to use rating scales to analyze and quantify OCD rituals, except perhaps to obtain basic information on stress, duration of preoccupation, or relative prevalence of subtypes. Here we aimed to isolate the structural units of OCD rituals in order to enable a quantitative analysis across disparate rituals and thus allow a search for any common underlying mechanisms (Reed 1985; Insel 1988). The isolation of structural units may have bearing on OCD research by: (i) providing observable and measurable, relatively objective, characteristics of OCD rituals; and (ii) distinguishing between components that are unique to OCD rituals and components shared with normal performance of the same activities.

Correspondence: Professor David Eilam, Department of Zoology, Tel-Aviv University, Ramat-Aviv 69 978, Israel. Tel: +972 3 6406471. Fax: +972 3 6409403. E-mail: eilam@post.tau.ac.il

(Received 12 December 2006; accepted 13 April 2007)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970701416539

Materials and methods

Study population

OCD patients. Five male and two female adult patients, meeting DSM–IV (APA 2000) and SCID criteria for OCD and who had compulsions with obvious motor rituals, were videotaped at their homes where they routinely perform rituals. Y-BOCS scores were 15–32, ages were 21–44, and durations of OCD were 10–31 years. After a complete description of the study to the subjects, written informed consent was obtained. The study was approved by the Helsinki Committee of Geha Mental Health Center.

Control individuals. A matched healthy individual of similar age and gender was asked to perform the same task that formed the OCD ritual. For example, if a patient described his/her ritual as "I lock my car", the respective control was requested to "lock your car".

Procedure

The psychiatrist (H.H.) and experimenter arrived at the patient's home, described the research and asked again for the patient's approval to participate and be videotaped. It was stipulated that the rituals that the patient wished to display should be the frequently performed recent ones. After an explanation of the videotaping equipment and procedure, videotaping commenced and lasted for 1–2 h, with only the experimenter following the patient with a handheld camera. Patients reported a medium or higher degree of closeness of the videotaped ritual to their off-camera compulsion.

Data acquisition and analysis

A ritual was defined as the set of movements performed to accomplish a task as specified by the patient. For instance, for a patient who described a motor performance as "car locking", this was taken by the experimenter to be its function and the ritual was labeled as "car locking". The ritual included all the movements displayed at the locations and/or objects within the functional action. The beginning and end of a ritual were determined by the patient's activity – for example, when the patient arrived at a specific location, performed a set of acts there, and departed from that location, the start and end of the ritual were respectively arrival and departure from the location. However, when a ritual was less clearly demarcated by spatial location, the patient's behaviour was used to identify the start and end of the ritual - for example, in a "nose-blowing" ritual, start was the point when the patient picked up a tissue paper and end was set when the patient cleaned his/ her shirt from pieces of the tissue paper and switched to operating the TV with a remote control. In such a case, it was considered by the experimenter that the remote control is not part of the "nose-blowing" ritual. However, had the patient touched the remote control before cleaning the shirt, then touching the remote control would have been considered as part of the "nose-blowing" ritual. It should be noted that the ascribed function was used as a framework for analysis and not for deciphering the patients' motivation/understanding behind their performance.

Rituals were scored during playback of the video records. Briefly, we listed the *acts* or movements that comprised each ritual, and the *objects or locations* at which these acts were performed. This list served in scoring of behaviour with the *Observer* (Noldus Information Technology, The Netherlands), a software for ethological descriptions. For each ritual, the following 16 parameters were extracted from the videorecordings: duration and incidence of visits and acts performed at each object/location (mean, maximum and minimum values for each variable; = 12 parameters); the overall number of acts and visits in a ritual, the overall ritual duration, the number of act types, and the number of different objects/ locations.

Statistics

Because of the large variability in duration of different rituals (for example, a ritual of "arranging shirts in closet" is longer than a "lighting a cigarette" ritual), paired *t*-tests (two-tailed) were employed to compare OCD rituals and their matched controls for each of the 16 parameters. To examine which of these measures discriminates best between patients and controls, a binary logistic regression was employed where the dependent variable was group (patients versus controls) and the covariates were the 16 pertinent measures. The covariates as potential predictors were evaluated using the stepwise forward conditional method to assess the model, with probabilities for stepwise entry and removal set at 0.05 and 0.10, respectively. Calculations were performed using SPSS 14.0 for Windows. Alpha level was set to 0.05.

Results

Table I depicts a ritual of an OCD patient and of a matched control individual. Columns stand for the objects at which the ritual was displayed. The sequence of acts in the ritual is given by reading from left to right and from top to bottom. As shown,

482 R. Zor et al.

Table I. Exemplary OCD and control rituals. A ritual of lighting a cigarette by an OCD patient (top) and a respective control (bottom). Objects/locations at which acts were performed are depicted in the top row. The sequence of acts is depicted from left to right and top to bottom for each object/location.

Cigarette packet	Cigarette	Match box	Match	Chess tool	Object on shelf	Ashtray
OCD patient						
Put on table		Put on table				Put on table
Pick up		Pick up				
Hold		Hold				
Touch		Touch				
Hold		Hold				
	Pick one					
Put on table						
	Hold	Put on table				
		Pick up	Take one			
	Put in mouth	1				
			Touch			
		Hold				
Turn						
Touch		Touch				
10000		Hold		Touch		
		11014	Light	10000		
	Hold in mouth		Ligitt			
	fiold in mount	Put on table				
Pick up		Pick up				
I lek up		Tick up	Throw			
			THIOW			Remove
Put on table		Put on table				Remove
Fut off table		Fut off table				
Flip sides		Flip sides				Touch
Flip sides		Flip sides		(T1-)7		Touch
				$\{100cn\} \times I$	(Transla) + 4	
	TT 11				$\{10ucn\} \times 4$	
	Hold					Put in the cigarette
Control						
	Pick one					
	Put in mouth					
Put on table		Pick up	Take one			
		-	Light			
			Throw			
		Put on table				

the patient started by putting three items on the table: a cigarette packet, a match box, and an ashtray. The patient then picked up the cigarette packet and match box, holding them in one hand and touching them with the other hand. He then held both objects while looking at them, picked out a cigarette, placed the packet and matches back on the table, and so on. Overall, the patient displayed 52 acts over 64.3 s compared with only eight acts over 36.7 s in the control individual that was asked to light a cigarette. Table I thus exemplifies the structural units: *acts* that are performed during *visits* to objects (or locations), and together form the entire *ritual*.

Overall duration of rituals was longer in OCD patients than in their respective controls, but there were no significant differences between patients and controls in the mean duration of a visit to an object/ location or in the mean duration of an act displayed in a ritual (Figure 1A). Implicit in these findings is the likelihood that the longer duration of OCD rituals was a result of repeating visits and/or acts. Indeed, the total number of visits to objects/locations and the total number of acts were both significantly higher in OCD compared with control rituals (Figure 1B,C). Similarly, the mean number of times that an object/location was visited, and the average frequency of acts performed during a visit were both significantly higher in OCD (Figure 1B,C). Finally, while in both OCD and control rituals the minimum number of visits in a ritual or of acts in a visit to an object/location was 1 (data not shown), the maximum numbers of such visits and acts were both significantly higher in OCD compared with control rituals (Figure 1B,C). Clearly, the longer duration of OCD rituals does not reflect a slowing down of movements but rather an increase in the repetition of acts and visits.

Figure 2 provides a more detailed portrait of the increase in repeats of visits and acts. It reveals that the incidence of repeated visits was more common in



Figure 1. Parameters of three structural units that comprise rituals evaluated in 11 OCD and 11 control rituals. Values are means+SEM per ritual with each ritual contributing one value to the calculations. (A) Durations (s) of rituals, visits, and acts. Duration of OCD rituals was significantly longer than the duration of the corresponding rituals performed by controls $(t_{10} = 2.32; P < 0.05)$. There were no significant differences in visit duration ($t_{10} = 0.57$; ns) and in act duration ($t_{10} = 0.22$; ns) of OCD rituals compared with their respective control rituals. (B) Total, maximum, and average number of visits in a ritual were all significantly higher in OCD compared with control rituals $(t_{10} = 3.53, P < 0.01; t_{10} = 3.08, P < 0.005; \text{ and } t_{10} = 5.70,$ P<0.0005, respectively). (C) Total (left), maximum (center), and average (right) number of acts in a ritual were significantly higher in OCD compared with control rituals $(t_{10} = 5.01,$ P < 0.001; $t_{10} = 2.74$, P < 0.05; and $t_{10} = 3.97$, P < 0.005, respectively).

OCD rituals; moreover, it was not unusual for a visit to an object/location to be repeated even six or more times, an expansion rarely observed in controls. The



Figure 2. Relative frequency distribution of the number of visit repeats in rituals (a) and of act repeats at each object/location (b) in healthy individuals and OCD patients. (A) The relative frequency distribution of 293 OCD visits and 99 control visits (at all objects/locations and in all rituals). The proportions of objects/locations that were visited only once versus objects that were visited repeatedly (44.3 and 55.7% for controls, and 25.8 and 74.2% for OCD rituals, respectively) revealed a significant difference ($\chi^2 = 7.07$, df = 1; P < 0.01). (B) The relative frequency distribution of act repeats in the 545 OCD acts and 159 control acts over visits to the various objects/locations in all rituals. As for visits, the number of act repeats was also divided into two categories: one act repeat versus two or more act repeats. The proportions of 81.1 and 18.9% in controls compared with 48.7 and 51.3% in OCD patients were significantly different $(\chi^2 = 34.8, df = 1; P < 0.001).$

repetition of acts showed a similarly great difference between patients and controls (Figure 2). Strikingly, whereas control individuals performed an act only once in more than 80% of the cases, more than 50% of the acts performed by OCD patients were repeated twice or more during a visit to an object/ location.

A logistic regression was used to examine which variables discriminate best between OCD and control rituals. The "maximum of act repeats in a ritual" (Figure 1) was the only variable needed to provide an excellent fit to the model (Nagelkerke $R^2 = 0.773$, Wald statistic = 7.632, P = 0.006), with a correct classification of 90.9% ($\chi^2 = 19.1$, P < 0.001), misclassifying one of 11 control and one

484 R. Zor et al.

	Overlapping	Unique to OCD	Unique to Control
Acts			
	Put on table	Touch	
	Pick up	Hold in mouth	
	Take one	Remove	
	Pick one	Flip sides	
	Put in mouth	Put in the cigarette	
	Light	Hold	
	Throw		
Total	7	6	0
Objects/Locations			
	Cigarette packet	Ashtray	
	Cigarette	Chess tool	
	Match box	Object on shelf	
	Match		
Total	4	3	0

Table II. Content of OCD and control rituals: Extraction of the variety of act types and objects/locations.

The content of the rituals shown in Table I are depicted here as overlapping acts or visits, or as those that were performed only in the OCD rituals or only in the control ritual. For example, the OCD ritual of lighting a cigarette (Table I) comprised seven objects, compared with only four in the control ritual. The control objects overlapped with those of the OCD ritual, which included additional three objects that were not visited in the control ritual. Two of these objects/locations, the chess tool and the object on the shelf, were entirely irrelevant to cigarette lighting. Similarly, there are seven overlapping act types in both OCD and control rituals of cigarette lighting, and additional six act types in OCD but not in the control ritual. Overall, the OCD ritual comprised almost twice the number of different objects/locations and act types compared with the control ritual.

of 11 OCD rituals. A similarly good fit to the model (Nagelkerke $R^2 = 0.837$, Wald statistic = 4.352, P = 0.037) and an identical classification rate was obtained if "maximum number of visits in a ritual" (Figure 1) was substituted for "maximum of act repeats in a ritual" (correct classification of 90.9%, $\chi^2 = 21.7$, P < 0.001).

In addition to the increased repeats of acts and visits, OCD rituals comprised an elevation in the number of distinct objects/locations visited and in the variety of act-types performed. The extraction of the variety of visits and acts is illustrated in Table II for the ritual shown in Table I. As shown, objects/locales can be subdivided into three distinct sets. One set is common to patients and controls, consisting of all objects/locales visited by both groups ("Overlapping" column in Table II). The other two sets are unique either to patients or to controls: one of them consists of objects/locales visited by patients but not by controls, and the other set consists of objects/locales visited by controls but not by the patients. These sets appear to represent superfluous visited objects/locations, unnecessary for ritual performance.

Figure 3 depicts the results of a similar analysis for the variety of acts performed in all 11 rituals. The common set is depicted in Figure 3 (gray bar) for all



Figure 3. Variety of different objects/locations (a) and act types (b) in rituals. Values are means+SEM, calculated for 11 OCD and 11 control rituals. (A) Total number of different objects/locations in a ritual is depicted on the left for control and OCD rituals, and was significantly higher in OCD rituals than in their respective controls ($t_{10} = 2.95$; P < 0.05). The number of unique objects/locations visited by only controls or by only OCD patients is depicted in the central bars, and the number of overlapping objects/locations that were visited in both OCD and control rituals are depicted at the right (gray bar). (B) Total number of different acts in a ritual is depicted on the left for control (clear bars) and OCD (dark bars) rituals, and is twice as large in OCD than control rituals ($t_{10} = 3.7$; P < 0.005). The number of acts unique to controls or to only OCD patients is depicted in the central bars, and the number of overlapping acts that were performed in both OCD and control rituals are depicted at the right (gray bar).

rituals as the "overlapping set" and appears to represent a minimum (or necessary) set of objects/ locales for the performance of the rituals. As shown, OCD patients had on average a significantly greater repertoire of acts than controls; moreover, they had significantly more superfluous acts compared to controls. Altogether, even when repetitions were excluded, there was a substantial difference between the composition of OCD and control rituals, and the number of unnecessary objects/locales was significantly higher in OCD rituals compared with control rituals. The greater variety in act types and objects/ locations was another characteristic of OCD rituals, which together with repetitions accounted for the phenotype of compulsions.

Superfluous act types found in OCD but not in control rituals were typically "touch", "stare", "hold", "check", etc. (see OCD video-clip at Eilam, 2007). For example, in Table I, "touch", was the act with the highest incidence (18 times), and was performed 11 times at objects/locations unconnected to cigarette lighting. The act with the second highest incidence was "hold" and, like "touch", it may be considered as a type of checking. Together, these two acts comprised 44% of the acts in that OCD ritual, but were absent in the control ritual.

Discussion

The structural units of compulsive behaviour in OCD patients: Rituals, visits to objects/locations, and acts at these objects/locations

In the present study we scrutinized the spatiotemporal structure of OCD rituals. We began with defining a ritual as a set of acts that are linked to the purpose or function that a patient attributes to his/her activity. For analysis, rituals underwent segmentation into a sequence of visits to objects or locations, a segmentation that was based on two notions: first, this analytic approach has been utilized in studying rituals in an animal model of OCD (Szechtman et al. 1998; Eilam et al. 2005); and second, this ritual parsing follows the notion that objects/locations have a pivotal role in segmentation of events (Zacks et al. 2001). Visit content consisted of basic acts (or movements) performed at a specific object/location. Thus, acts are the elemental components and visits are the higher level of organization - a larger segment comprised of several acts. The sequence of visits comprises the ritual and is the germane behavioural unit of compulsive behaviour. A benefit of this concept of structural units lies in overcoming the problem of comparing different rituals (Mataix-Cols et al.

2005). Specifically, how can one compare and quantify different rituals such as hand washing, door locking, or arranging shirts? As shown in this study, the segmentation into visits and acts provides a common means for such quantification. In the following we argue that parsing of rituals into visits and acts has a bearing on three perspectives of OCD. First, it provides a means to identify and quantify changes in rituals, highlighting the involved mechanisms; second, identifying such mechanisms enables conceptualization of the malfunctioning in OCD; and, third, the structural units and the conceptual change that characterize OCD rituals may be utilized in improving diagnostic and therapeutic tools.

Why do OCD rituals look "repetitive and normal"?

Comparing rituals in OCD patients and in healthy controls revealed three characteristics: (i) OCD rituals comprised more repetitions of acts and visits; (ii) OCD rituals comprised surplus acts and visits, some irrelevant to the patient-ascribed function of the ritual; (iii) the duration of visits and acts in OCD did not differ from that of controls, and the prolonged duration of the OCD ritual was due to repeated performance of some components. Because of the latter characteristic, compulsive rituals have been intuitively perceived as repetitive. OCD rituals have also been considered normal because, except for repetitions, it is usually hard to discern in what sense OCD rituals may be abnormal (Rapoport 1989a,b, 1990). We argue that the apparent "normality" in OCD rituals stems from: (i) OCD rituals share a large overlap (more than 50%) of act types and visits with control behaviour; (ii) the duration of visits and acts do not differ in OCD and control rituals. Taking together these two properties, it is sometimes hard to discern what is strange in OCD rituals until one notices the repetitions and the surplus act types that underlie the compulsive ritual (see OCD video-clip at Eilam, 2007).

In addition to repetitions, OCD rituals had twice the number of act types of their respective controls (Table II). Moreover, surplus act types were typically "check", "touch", "clean", etc. These act types were repeated excessively and were performed during frequent visits to a few objects/locations at a rate that was not matched in controls, and perhaps account for labeling OCD rituals as, for example, "checking ritual" (Figure 2). In all, the present study provides a seminal notion on the structural units of compulsive rituals, and by quantitative and qualitative inspection of these units it is possible to discern in what sense compulsive rituals look repetitive but normal.

Which perceptual and conceptual processes may explain compulsive rituals?

In a recent account, Boyer and Lienard (2006) suggested that two systems may account for the occurrence of many ritualized behaviours, including OCD rituals. One system is of "inferred threats to fitness"; the second is of "action-parsing". The data collected here strongly support the hypothesis for the involvement of an action-parsing system, where rituals develop by virtue of a shifted focus in actionparsing from mid-ranged actions to finer movements (Boyer and Lienard 2006). Specifically, the authors suggested that behaviour may be described at three levels: (i) simple gestures; (ii) behavioural episodes; and (iii) scripts. For example, in a script of "getting dressed for dinner", there are mid-range episodes such as "put on a shirt", "put on shoes", etc. Each of these episodes consists of simpler (basic) gestures; for example, "put on shoes" comprises "take" the shoes, "insert" the feet into the shoes, and "tie" the laces. Boyer and Lienard (2006) review evidence that most people spontaneously focus on the midlevel of episodes. Indeed, "getting dressed for dinner" is generally described by putting on shoes, shirt, etc., and not by the lower level of gestures. In light of this concept, Boyer and Lienard (2006) hypothesized that an excessive focus on the lower level of basic gestures is what characterizes rituals (including OCD rituals). Indeed, this is precisely what was revealed in the present study. Parsing categories become obvious when behaviour was described in the context of the acts that are performed at a specific location or object (Eilam et al. 2006). In OCD rituals, the focus on certain acts is implicit in the inflated rate of act types and act repetition, reflecting a descent to gesture level.

Zacks et al. (2001) consider an event as a segment of time at a given location that is conceived by an observer to have a beginning and an end. Accordingly, data-parsing is a way of bringing order into a continuous flow of events by establishing hierarchical structural units. Spontaneous focusing at the mid-range units (Zacks et al. 2001) is a form of "chunking" of elementary (basic) gestures (acts), and chunking is a way of simplifying perception and conception. In contrast, a shift to the elementary level involves increased complexity. Hence, Boyer and Lienard (2006) suggested that compulsive behaviour entails a momentary overloading or swamping of working memory, especially when act sequences are represented at the lower parsing level. The authors suggested that such swamping of memory accounts for the temporary relief of anxiety afforded by performance of compulsive rituals. Although the present study does provide strong support for the existence of a focus on lower levels of data-parsing, it does not help to illuminate whether the functional significance of compulsive rituals is indeed to provide relief from anxiety by overtaxing working memory.

Practical implications of the present analysis of rituals

Comparing the various parameters measured in OCD rituals revealed that of all the parameters, the "maximum of act repeats in a ritual" was the only variable needed to discriminate between OCD and control rituals. The distinct and non-overlapping range of this parameter (4.1+0.9 in control vs.) 14.7 ± 2.4 in OCD rituals) may therefore provide a simple diagnostic tool: counting more than 10 repetitions of a specific act seems to reliably identify an OCD ritual. The maximum number of visits to an object/location may be another distinctive parameter $(2.4\pm0.3 \text{ in control vs. } 6.6\pm1.0 \text{ in OCD rituals}).$ Thus, the present study delineates observable categories that unequivocally distinguish between rituals of OCD patients and healthy individuals. However, the specificity and implementation of these parameters as OCD predictors needs further elaboration and verification.

The present study demonstrated a coupling of compulsive rituals and specific objects/locations (Eilam et al. 2006). This spatial component of OCD may be of value in behavioural therapy (BT). For example, a patient with a coffee-making ritual had a way of throwing a spoon filled with coffee from a height of 30 cm into the empty cup, claiming that this prevented dirt. That patient may be asked to gradually lower the spoon until pouring the coffee directly into the cup without the spoon-throwing activity. Other therapeutic implementations of the coupling between behaviour and a specific environment could be that of moving to another environment or removing the object at which rituals converge (Penzel 2000, 2003). Thus, attending to the spatial component in compulsive rituals may add means in BT of OCD, in utilizing the spatialenvironmental component in exposure and response prevention. Moreover, exposing OCD patients to their own video records may have value in BT. We base this suggestion on our striking experience, when patients who could describe their rituals precisely down to the very small detail were surprised when watching their ritual on video. It is as if there is a gap between the patients' egodystonic awareness of what they do, and observing how that behaviour looks on video. Consequently, exposure of OCD patients to video recordings of their own rituals may increase the efficacy of BT.

Epilogue

The present analyses of compulsive behaviour provide novel and heuristic segmentation of OCD rituals into structural units, units that may also help in nosology of OC spectrum disorders and OCD (Jenike 1990; Hollander 1993; McElroy et al. 1994; Hollander et al. 2005). Another diagnostic application of these parameters may lie in resolving the debate over whether complex tics in Tourette's syndrome are compulsions or tics. The present account on OCD rituals has identified objective tools for assessment of observable compulsions, and these may be useful in other fields of OCD research. For example, the fine structural units of compulsions (acts) may be performed during parallel brain imaging. Similarly, watching personal video recording of rituals may promote the efficacy of cognitive behavioural therapy. Altogether, the present results provide measurable knowledge that may prove useful in OCD research. Finally, Zacks and Tversky (2001) suggested that the human mind is gifted in bringing order to chaos by perceiving activity as consisting of discrete events that have some orderly relations. The present results illustrate, however, that the OCD mind may also generate chaos out of order (Kubota et al. 2002) by the parsing of activity at the more basic level of discrete acts (gestures) (Bover and Lienard 2006) and of affinity between acts and specific objects/locations.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to the anonymous OCD patients and control individuals who willingly participated in this study, to Professor J. Zohar for his help, and to Naomi Paz for editing the manuscript. This study was supported by a Tel-Aviv University Intra-University Research Foundation grant to D.E. and H.H.

Statement of interest

The authors have not declared any conflicts of interest.

References

- APA. 2000. Diagnostic and statistical manual. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press.
- Boyer P, Lienard P. 2006. Why ritualized behavior? Precaution Systems and action parsing in developmental, pathological and cultural rituals. Behav Brain Sci 29:595–650.
- Eilam D. 2007. OCD video-clip at http://www.tau.ac.il/lifesci/ departments/zoology/members/eilam/eilam.html
- Eilam D, Szechtman H. 2005. Psychostimulant-induced behavior as an animal model of obsessive-compulsive disorder: an ethological approach to the form of compulsive rituals. CNS Spectrum 10:191–202.

- Eilam D, Zor R, Szechtman H, Hermesh H. 2006. Rituals, stereotypy and compulsive behavior in animals and humans. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 30:456–471.
- El-Sayegh S, Bea S, Agelopoulos A. 2003. Obsessive-compulsive disorder: unearthing a hidden problem. Cleveland Clin J Med 70:824–825.
- Hollander E. 1993. Obsessive-compulsive related disorders. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press.
- Hollander E, Friedberg J P, Wasserman S, Yeh C-C, Iyengar R. 2005. The case for the OCD spectrum. In: Abramowitz JS, Houts AC, editors. Handbook of controversial issues in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Press.
- Insel T. 1988. Obsessive-compulsive disorder: new models. Psychopharmacol Bull 24:365–369.
- Jenike MA. 1990. Illnesses related to obsessive-compulsive disorder. In: Jenike MA, Baer LB, Minichiello WE, editors. Obsessive compulsive disorders: Theory and management. Chicago, IL: Year Book Medical. pp 39–60.
- Jenike MA, Baer L, Minichiello WE. 1990. Obsessive-compulsive disorders: Theory and management. Chicago, IL: Year Book Medical Publishers, Inc.
- Karno M, Golding JM, Sorenson SB, Burnam MA. 1988. The epidemiology of obsessive-compulsive disorder in five US communities. Arch Gen Psychiatry 45:1094–1099.
- Kubota S, Sakai K. 2002. Relationship between obsessivecompulsive disorder and chaos. Med Hypotheses 59:16–23.
- Lochner C, Stein DJ. 2003. Heterogeneity of obsessive-compulsive disorder: A literature review. Harvard Rev Psychiatry 11:113–132.
- Mataix-Cols D, Conceicao do Rosario-Campos M, Leckman JF. 2005. A multidimentional model of obsessive-compulsive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 162:228–238.
- McElroy SL, Phillips KA, Keck PE. 1994. Obsessive compulsive spectrum disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 55:33–51.
- Penzel F. 2000. Obsessive-compulsive disorders: A complete guide to getting well and staying well. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Penzel F. 2003. The hair-pulling problem: A complete guide to trichotillomania. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Rapoport JL. 1989a. The biology of obsessions and compulsions. Sci Am 260:83–89.
- Rapoport JL. 1989b. The boy who could not stop washing: The experience and treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder. New York: Penguin.
- Rapoport JL. 1990. The waking nightmare: An overview of obsessive compulsive disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 51:25–28.
- Rasmussen S, Eisen JL. 1991. Phenomenology of OCD: clinical subtypes, heterogeneity and coexistence. In: Zohar J, Insel T, Rasmussen S, editors. The psychobiology of obsessive-compulsive disorder. New York: Springer. pp 13–43.
- Reed GF. 1985. Obsessional experience and compulsive behaviour: A cognitive-structural approach. Orlando, FL: Academic Press.
- Szechtman H, Sulis W, Eilam D. 1998. Quinpirole induces compulsive checking behavior in rats: A potential animal model of obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD). Behav Neurosci 112:1475–1485.
- Weissman MM, Bland RC, Canino GJ, et al. 1994. The cross national epidemiology of obsessive compulsive disorder. The Cross National Collaborative Group. J Clin Psychiatry 55(Suppl):5–10.
- Zacks JM, Tversky B. 2001. Event structure in perception and conception. Psychol Bull 127:3–21.
- Zacks JM, Tversky B, Iyer G. 2001. Perceiving, remembering, and communicating structure in events. J Exp Psychol 130:29–58.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Co-morbidity of bipolar disorder in children and adolescents with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in an outpatient Turkish sample

GOZDE LUS & NAHIT MOTAVALLI MUKADDES

Child Psychiatry Department, Istanbul School of Medicine, Istanbul University, Istanbul, Turkey

Abstract

This study aimed to assess the prevalence of bipolar disorder (BPD) in children and adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and to compare the clinical characteristics of a group with ADHD with a group with co-morbidity of ADHD and BPD. The study includes 121 individuals, aged 6–16 years, with a diagnosis of ADHD. Co-morbidity of BPD was evaluated using the Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for School-age Children-Present and Lifetime version (K-SADS-PL) and the Parent-Young Mania Rating Scale (P-YMRS). The Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL) was used to assess psychopathology in two groups. Ten children (8.3%) in the ADHD sample received the additional diagnosis of BPD. The ADHD+BPD group had significantly higher scores than the ADHD group on withdrawn, anxiety/depression, social problems, thought problems, attention problems, aggression, externalization, total score items of CBCL, and on the P-YMRS. It could be concluded that BPD is not a rare co-morbid condition in children with diagnosis of ADHD and subjects with this co-morbidity show more severe psychopathology than subjects with pure ADHD. Differential diagnosis of BPD disorder in subjects with ADHD seems crucial in establishing an effective treatment program, and therefore improving mental health outcomes.

Key words: Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder, bipolar disorder, comorbidity

Introduction

Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) consists of a persistent pattern of inattention, hyperactivity and impulsivity (APA 2000). It is well established that ADHD is frequently comorbid with other psychiatric disorders such as oppositional defiant disorder, conduct disorder, anxiety disorders, depression, tic disorders, substance abuse and bipolar disorders (AACAP 2007). Perhaps the most diagnostically challenging and controversial of co-occurring disorders in ADHD is bipolar disorder (BPD). When they occur in combination, these conditions often complicate the assessment process, clinical diagnosis and treatment. Literature reviews indicate that this topic has received increased clinical and scientific attention in recent years. Many studies have been conducted to assess the rate of this co-morbidity, phenomenology, clinical characteristics and differential diagnosis with BPD.

Despite the increasing amount of research in paediatric bipolar disorder, there is still confusion and controversy surrounding clinical diagnosis of this condition. This confusion is partly due to the lack of awareness and clinical bias, in certain setting, against the diagnosis of mania in children (Geller et al. 1998; Biederman 2003). Symptom overlap between BPD and other childhood-onset psychiatric disorders is another important factor contributing to diagnostic difficulties (Diler et al. 2007). Differential diagnosis with ADHD is an especially crucial issue. Since several symptoms are shared by ADHD and BPD, the debate regarding the validity of paediatric bipolar disorder has shifted from whether paediatric bipolar disorder exists to which symptoms should be considered cardinal symptoms of bipolar disorder in children (Mick et al. 2005). Irritability, impulsivity, hyperactivity, and distractibility are very frequent in both disorders, therefore not specific for mania (Mick et al. 2005). Elation, grandiosity, racing

Correspondence: Prof. Dr. Nahit Motavalli Mukaddes, Sezai Selek Sok-Sevim Ap No: 7/4 Nisantasi, Istanbul 80200, Turkey. Tel: +90 212 2349207. Fax: +90 212 2349208. E-mail: nmotavalli@yahoo.com

(Received 17 September 2008; accepted 20 February 2009)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970902929876

thoughts, decreased need for sleep and hypersexuality are common in bipolar disorder and can discriminate BPD from ADHD (Geller et al. 2002; Pavuluri et al. 2005).

Additionally, several instruments such as the Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL) (Achenbach 1991), Young Mania Rating Scale (Young et al. 1978), and the Child Mania Rating Scale (Pavuluri et al. 2006) are considered effective instruments for helping clinicians differentiate mania in an ADHD population.

Results of studies evaluating the effectiveness of the CBCL in differential diagnosis of paediatric bipolar disorder are controversial. A few studies proposed a CBCL paediatric bipolar profile (BPD) based on the significant elevation in the anxiety/depression, attention problems and aggression subscales (Mick et al. 2003; Farone et al. 2005). However, the predictive validity of CBCL-BPD in identifying BPD has been recently questioned (Volk and Todd 2007; Meyer et al. 2008). Some authors have attempted to differentiate ADHD from mania using the Young Mania Rating Scale and the Parent-Young Mania Rating Scale (Fristad et al. 1995; Diler et al. 2007). However, other investigators stated that this instrument is designed to quantify rather than diagnose an episode of mania (Carlson and Kelly 1998).

Regarding the rate of this co morbidity, several studies have investigated the rate of BPD in ADHD and vice versa. Six population-based studies evaluated the co-occurrence of ADHD and BPD in youths, three of which showed elevated rates of BPD in participants who have ADHD; however, three failed to show an association between the two disorders (Galanter and Leibenluft 2008). Clinical studies have found rates of BPD ranging from 8.2 to 23% in youths who have ADHD (Wozniak et al. 1995; Butler et al. 1995; Biederman et al. 1996; Diler et al. 2007). Regarding the rate of ADHD in clinic referred subjects with BPD, rates vary widely across samples, from 4 to 98% (Kowatch et al. 2005; Birmaher et al. 2006; Jaideep et al. 2006). Setting, participants age, age of onset of BPD, referral source and ascertainment bias affect these rates.

The relatively high degree of co-occurrence between these disorders raises the question of probable common aetiological factors. Several studies proposed the role of dopamine transporter genes in ADHD (Cook et al. 1995; Faraone et al. 2005) and BPD (Greenwood et al. 2006). Further, the involvement of the brain-derived neutrophic factor (BDNF) gene in the pathogenesis of ADHD (Kent et al. 2005) and BPD (Geller et al. 2004) was reported. Family studies strongly suggest that paediatric onset bipolar disorder has a strong familial component. Some investigators documented that bipolar disorder and ADHD co segregated in relatives support the hypothesis that ADHD and co morbid bipolar disorder may represent a unique developmental subtype of bipolar disorder (Faraone et al. 1997; Biederman et al. 2004).

Despite increasing research on BPD, paediatric bipolar disorder is still unrecognized in most countries other than the USA. BPD research from outside of the USA is limited and according to some studies, there is significant ethnic differences in the prevalence of BPD (Youngstrom et al. 2005) and clinical presentation of BPD (Kennedy et al. 2004). These findings underlie the need for further assessment of bipolar disorder in children with different ethnic origin.

This study aimed to: (a) assess the prevalence of BPD in children and adolescents with diagnosis of ADHD using a semi-structured interview; (b) compare the clinical characteristics of children with ADHD with a group with ADHD and comorbid BPD.

Materials and methods

Subjects

The sample consisted of 121 individuals aged 6–16 years (23 girls, 98 boys), with diagnosis of ADHD who had been referred to the ADHD unit at the Child Psychiatry Department of Istanbul School of Medicine, Istanbul University (IUITF), Turkey, between October 2006 and September 2007. All were referred from general out-patient child psychiatry clinic. All consecutive referrals who met the criteria mentioned below were included in the study.

Inclusion criteria were: (1) consensus for the diagnosis of ADHD by at least two child psychiatrists; (2) parent's informed consent and patient's assent to be included in the study.

Exclusion criteria were presence of chronic medical illness, any sensory-motor disability, neurological disorder, diagnosis of pervasive developmental disorder and other developmental disorders.

Procedures

The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board at Istanbul School of Medicine and all parents gave written consent for their child's participation in the study. Diagnosis of ADHD was made by the consensus of two child psychiatrists (NMM and GL) according to DSM-IV-TR criteria.

All individuals were referred from the general outpatient clinic to the ADHD unit. Diagnosis of ADHD was reconfirmed using DSM-IV-TR criteria. All parents completed the Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL) 4-18 and the Parent-Young Mania Rating Scale (P-YMRS) prior to the structured clinical interview. Comorbidity of Bipolar disorder was detected using the Turkish version of Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for School-age Children-Present and Lifetime version (K-SADS-PL) (Gökler et al. 2004). The K-SADS-PL was administered to the mother and the child separately. In addition to K-SADS, DSM-IV-TR mania criteria was applied. Final diagnosis of BPD was made based on Leibenluft's "the narrow phenotype" definition (Leibenluft et al. 2003). Therefore, only subjects who met the full criteria in DSM-IV-TR for hypomania or mania, including the duration criterion and hallmark symptoms of elevated mood or grandiosity were diagnosed with BPD. The onset of the first episode, the number of episodes, and the offset of the last episode associated with the bipolar disorder were assessed.

Assessment

- 1. The Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for School Age Children-Present and Lifetime Version Present and Life Time version: The K-SADS PL is a semi structured diagnostic interview designed to assess current and past episodes of psychopathology in children and adolescents according to DSM-III-R and DSM-IV criteria and is worded such that it discerns BPD criteria over and above chronic symptoms. Probes and objective criteria are provided to rate individual symptoms. It can be effectively administered by clinicians or trained interviewers, and has established psychometric properties. The Turkish version of K-SADS-PL was used in this study. The translator demonstrated the reliability and validity of this version (Gökler et al. 2004).
- 2. Child Behavior Check List: The CBCL is one of the best-studied, empirically derived checklists that measure psychopathology (Achenbach 1991). The CBCL includes 118 problem behaviour items rated from zero (not at all typical of the child) to two (often typical of the child). It has 11 scales: delinquency, aggression, withdrawal, somatic complaints, anxiety/ depression, and social problems, thought problems, attention problems, internalization, externalization, and total score. Scores on the scales are reported as t scores with a mean of 50 and a standard deviation of 10. A cut-off point of 70 has been traditionally recommended as a clinically meaningful cut-off point (Achenbach 1991).

3. Parent-Young Mania Rating Scale: The P-YMRS is an 11-item rating form adapted from the Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS) (Gracious et al. 2002). Parents rate their child's manic symptoms on five explicitly defined grades of severity, with item scores ranging from 0 to 4 (and three items ranging from 0 to 8). The P-YMRS yields a total score that can range from zero to 56, with higher scores representing greater psychopathology. Ratings were based on the reported presence of symptoms over the previous week (Gracious et al. 2002).

Statistics

Statistical analysis was done using SPSS version 11.0. Two groups (ADHD and ADHD+BPD) were compared in terms of sociodemographic data and clinical characteristics based on CBCL sub scores and P-YMRS. Sociodemographic data was compared using the Pearson chi-square test. CBCL subscores and P-YMRS scores were analyzed using the Mann–Whitney *U*-test and the Pearson chisquare test.

Results

A total of 121 children and adolescents, with the diagnosis of ADHD were evaluated. The mean age of the total group was 10.59 ± 2.19 years. It included 98 boys (81%) and 23 girls (19%).

Ten children (8.3%) received the additional diagnosis of BPD (ADHD+BPD). There was no statistically significant difference between the two groups in terms of mean age and gender (Table I).

The age of onset of bipolar disorder in ADHD + BPD group ranged between 7 and 12 years (mean age: 8.9 ± 2.2 years). Two patients (20%) in the ADHD+BPD group had BPD type II and eight patients (80%) had BPD type I, of whom two were rapid cycling and one of them was rapid cycling with psychotic features (Table II).

The ADHD+BPD group had significantly higher scores than the ADHD group in the CBCL subscales including; withdrawn (P=0.005), anxiety/ depression (P=0.023), social problems (P=0.004), thought problems (P=0.043), attention problems (P=0.011), aggression (P=0.00), externalization (P=0.002) and total score (P=0.006) items (Figure 1).

Further assessment evaluating the rate of CBCLproxy showed that 55 subjects had CBCL-PBD profile. However, only 10 of this group were diagnosed with bipolar disorders. Therefore, the

			Age		
	Ν	Mean (SD)	Minimum–Maximum	z	Р
ADHD ADHD+BPD	111 10	10.62 (2.166) 10.20 (2.530)	7–16 7–14	-0.638	0.524*
ADHD ADHD+BPD	Boys 90 (91.8%) 8 (8.2%)	Girls 21 (91.3%) 2 (8.7%)	Total 111 (100.0%) 10 (100.0%)	df 1	P 0.933*

Table I. Demographics of two groups (Pearson Chi-square test).

ADHD, attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder; BPD, bipolar disorder; *P > 0.05.

positive predictive validity of CBCL proxy in this study was 18%.

The ADHD+BPD group had a significantly higher P-YMRS mean score than the ADHD group $(31.60 \pm 4.42 \text{ versus } 11.25 \pm 5.97 \text{ and } P = 0.00)$ (Table III).

Discussion

The goal of this study was to assess the prevalence of BPD in children and adolescents with the diagnosis of ADHD and to compare the clinical characteristics of children with ADHD with a group with co morbid ADHD and BPD. The prevalence of BPD was 8.3% in this population and the ADHD+BPD group had significantly higher scores on the CBCL items (withdrawn, anxiety/depression, social problems, thought problems, attention problems, aggression, externalization and total score), and P-YMRS than the ADHD group.

The first point that needs to be discussed is the prevalence of BPD in our ADHD group. The majority of studies report a higher prevalence than our findings. Biederman et al. (1996) assessed 140 children with ADHD at baseline and then again 4 years later, and they found that BPD was diagnosed in 11% of ADHD children at baseline and in an additional 12% at 4-year follow-up (Biederman et al.

1996), and they reported that their findings are consistent with a 22% rate among hospitalized ADHD children reported by Butler et al. (1995). In these studies, diagnosis of mania was made according to DSM-III-R criteria and K-SADS-E (epidemiological version) was used. A recent study from Turkey with similar assessment methods reported the similar rate (8.2%) in prepubertal, clinical referred children with ADHD. The low rate, in our study and Diler's study seems to be related with applying Leibenlufts' "the narrow phenotype" criteria.

Comparing the clinical features of the two groups using CBCL and P-YMRS showed that the groups can be distinguished by using both tools. Most of the previous studies comparing CBCL scores between individuals with ADHD and BPD accompanying ADHD showed that the later group displays higher scores in several subscales of CBCL (Geller et al. 1998; Hazell et al. 1999; Diler et al. 2007). Compatible with some of these studies, we found that the ADHD+BPD group had significantly higher rates than the group with ADHD on the withdrawn, anxiety/depression, social problems, thought problems, attention problems, aggression, and externalization subscales of CBCL. Mick et al. (2003) and Faraone et al. (2005) studies reported a relatively homogenous profile of CBCL associated

Table II. Characteristics of ADHD+BPD group.

	Age	Gender	Age of first episode of BPD	Number of episodes	Type of BPD
Case 1	7	Male	7	1 manic episode	BPD 1
Case 2	7	Male	7	1 manic episode $+1$ depressive episode	BPD 1
Case 3	14	Male	12	2 manic+1 depressive episodes	BPD 1
Case 4	10	Female	7	5 manic episodes	BPD 1 rapid cycling
Case 5	9	Male	7	5 manic episodes	BPD 1 rapid cycling
Case 6	12	Male	12	2 depressive +1 hypomanic episodes	BPD II
Case 7	9	Male	7	3 manic episodes	BPD 1
Case 8	9	Female	9	4 manic episodes	BPD 1 rapid cycling with psychotic features
Case 9	11	Female	9	2 manic episodes	BPD 1
Case 10	14	Male	12	2 depressive +1 hypomanic episodes	BPD II

ADHD, attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder; BPD, bipolar disorder; BPD 1, bipolar disorder 1; BPD II, bipolar disorder II.



Figure 1. Comparison of the mean CBCL scores between two groups (Mann–Whitney U-test). CBCL, Child Behavior Checklist; ADHD, attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder; BPD, bipolar disorder.

with paediatric bipolar disorder with clinically significant elevations in the anxiety/depression, attention problems and aggression subscales. However, evaluating the predictive validity of CBCL profile of BP in our study revealed a poor positive predictive validity (18%) for CBCL- BPD profile. In addition to this a recent longitudinal study examined diagnostic and functional trajectories of individuals with the CBCL-BPD profile from early childhood through young adulthood. The results of this study showed that children with the CBCL-BPD profile are at risk for ongoing, severe psychiatric symptomatology, including behaviour and emotional comorbidities in general, and bipolar disorder, anxiety, ADHD and cluster B personality disorders in particular. The authors concluded that the value of this profile might be in predicting ongoing comorbidity and impairment, rather than any one specific DSM-IV diagnosis (Meyer et al. 2008). Although the present study showed the poor predictive validity of CBCL-BPD profile in identifying youths with BPD, it seemed that subjects with co-morbidity of ADHD and BPD had more clinical impairment and more behavioural problems as indicated by higher scores in the CBCL subscales.

Consistent with previous studies, our study reconfirms that P-YMRS is a powerful instrument in differentiating ADHD and BPD (Youngstrom et al. 2004; Diler et al. 2007). While the mean total scores of the ADHD group was 11.25 ± 5.975 , the

mean total scores of ADHD+BPD were 31.60 ± 4.427 (P = 0.00). Therefore, it could be concluded that along with findings based on detailed clinical examination, P-YMRS could help clinicians to assess BPD symptoms and differentiate this group from ADHD.

Regarding the age of onset of BPD, in the present group it was 8.9 ± 2.2 years old. The previous studies reported a different range of onset for BPD. Biederman et al. (2004) reported that the average age at onset of BPD in ADHD children was 6.3 ± 4.7 years, and stated that in 55%, onset was before the age of 6 years in another study. The reported average age of onset of manic episodes in another study from Turkey was 9.24 ± 0.68 years. The age of onset of BPD in Spain was reported as 13.2 ± 3.5 (Soutollo et al. 2005) and in Brazil 9.6 ± 3.5 (Tramontina et al. 2003). It is not clear if the difference in the age of onset is related with ethnic difference, or it could be related to sample characteristics. Further studies need to assess this point.

In conclusion, the present study revealed a significant rate of comorbidity of BPD in children with ADHD and it has been detected that children with comorbidity of BPD can be distinguished from children with ADHD alone based on clinical examination and supporting tools such as P-YMRS. Further, we found that CBCL-BP profile does not have a high positive predictive value in identification of this group.

Table III. Comparison of the mean P-YMRS scores between two groups (Mann-Whitney U-test).

	Group	Ν	Mean (SD)	z	Р
P-YMRS	ADHD ADHD+BPD	111 10	11.25 (5.975) 31.60 (4.427)	-5.074	0.00*

ADHD, attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder; BPD, bipolar disorder; P-YMRS, Parent-Young Mania Rating Scale; *P<0.05.

The present study suffers from some limitations such as small sample size and including only clinicreferred children. However, since there is a shortage of studies on this topic from non-western countries, it may contribute to the knowledge of BPD presentation in different cultures. In addition, it may help raise clinician awareness about the presence of BPD in subjects with ADHD.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of Interest

None.

References

- American Psychiatric Association. 2000. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 4th ed. Text Revision. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association Press.
- American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry. 2007. Practice parameter for the assessment and treatment of children and adolescent with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 46(7):894–921.
- Achenbach TM. 1991. Manual for the child behaviour checklist 4–18 and profile. Burlington, VT: University of Vermont Department of Pschiatry.
- Biederman J. 2003. Pediatric bipolar disorder coming of Age. Biol Psychiatry 53:931–934.
- Biederman J, Faraone S, Mick E, Wozniak J, Chen L, Ouellette C, et al. 1996. Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder and juvenile mania: an overlooked comorbidity? J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 35(8):997–1008.
- Biederman J, Mick E, Faraone SV, Van Patent S, Burback M, Wozniak J. 2004. A prospective follow-up study of pediatric bipolar disorder in boys with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorders. J Affect Disord (82):17–23.
- Birmaher B, Axelson D, Strober M, Gill MK, Valeri S, Chiappetta L, et al. 2006. Clinical course of children and adolescents with bipolar spectrum disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry 63(2): 175–183.
- Butler FS, Arredondo DE, McClosky V. 1995. Affective comorbidity in children and adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Ann Clin Psychiatry 7:51–55.
- Carlson GA, Kelly KL. 1998. Manic symptoms in psychiatrically hospitalized children–what do they mean? J Affect Disord 51:123–135.
- Cook EH Jr, Stein MA, Krasowski MD, Cox NJ, Olkon DM, Kieffer JE, et al. 1995. Association of attention-deficit disorder and the dopamine transporter gene. Am J Hum Genet 56(4):993–998.
- Diler RS. 2007. Pediatric bipolar disorder: A global perspective. New York: Nova Science Publishers, Inc.
- Diler RS, Emiroglu NI. 2007. Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder with bipolar disorder: A Familial subtype? J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 36(10):1378–1387.
- Diler RS, Uguz S, Seydaoglu G, Erol N, Avci A. 2007. Differentiating bipolar disorder in Turkish prepubertal children with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Bipolar Disord 9:243–251.

- Faraone SV, Perlis RH, Doyle AH, Smaller JW, Goralnick JJ, Holmgre MA, et al. 2005. Molecular genetics of attention deficits/hyperactivity disorder. Biol Psychiatry 57:1313–1323.
- Fristad MA, Weller RA, Weller EB. 1995. The Mania Rating Scale (MRS): further reliability and validity studies with children. Ann Clin Psychiatry 7(3):127–132.
- Galanter CA, Leibenluft E. 2008. Frontiers between attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and bipolar disorder. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am 17(2):325–346.
- Geller B, Williams M, Zimerman B, Frazier J, Beringer L, Warner KL. 1998. Prepubertal and early adolescent bipolarity differentiate from ADHD by manic symptoms, grandiose delusions, ultra-rapid or ultradian cycling. J Affect Dis 51(2):81–91.
- Geller B, Zimerman B, Williams M, Delbello MP, Frazier J, Beringer L. 2002. Phenomenology of prepubertal and early adolescent bipolar disorder: examples of elated mood, grandiose behaviors, decreased need for sleep, racing thoughts and hypersexuality. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 12(1):3–9.
- Geller B, Badner JA, Tillman R, Christian SL, Bolhofner K, Cook EH Jr. 2004. Linkage disequilibrium of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor Val66Met polymorphism in children with a prepubertal and early adolescent bipolar disorder phenotype. Am J Psychiatry 161(9):1698–1700.
- Gokler B, Unal F, Pehlivanturk B, Cengel Kultur E, Akdemir D, Taner Y. 2004. Okul Çağı Çocukları için dugulanim bozuklukları ve şizofreni görüşme çizelgesi-şimdi ve Yaşam boyu şekli – Türkçe uyarlanmasinin geçerlilik ve güvenirliği. Çocuk ve gençlik Ruh sağlığı dergisi 11:109–116 (in turkish).
- Gracious BL, Youngstrom EA, Findling RL, Calabrese JR. 2002. Discriminative Validity of a Parent Version of the Young Mania Rating Scale. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 41(11):1350–1359.
- Greenwood TA, Schork NJ, Eskin E, Kelsoe JR. 2006. Identification of additional variants within the human dopamine transporter gene provides further evidence for an association with bipolar disorder in two independent samples. Mol Psychiatry 11(2):125–133.
- Hazell PL, Lewin TJ, Carr VJ. 1999. Confirmation that Child Behavior Checklist clinical scales discriminate juvenile mania from attention deficit hyperactivity disorder J Paediatr Child Health 35(2):199–203.
- Jaideep T, Reddy YC, Srinath S. 2006. Comorbidity of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in juvenile bipolar disorder. Bipolar Disord 8(2):182–187.
- Kaufman J, Birmaher B, Brent D, Rao U, Flynn C, Moreci P, et al. 1997. Schedule for affective disorders and schizophrenia for school age children-present and lifetime version (K-SADS-PL): initial reliability and validity data. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 36(7):980–988.
- Kennedy N, Boydell J, Van Os J, Murray RM. 2004. Ethnic differences in first clinical presentation of bipolar disorder: results from an epidemiological study. J Affect Disord 83 (2–3):161–168.
- Kent L, Green E, Hawi Z, Kirley A, Dudbridge F, Lowe N, et al. 2005. Association of the paternally transmitted copy of common Valine allele of the Val66Met polymorphism of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) gene with susceptibility to ADHD. Mol Psychiatry 10(10):939–943.
- Kowatch RA, Youngstrom EA, Danielyan A, Findling RL. 2005. Review and meta-analysis of the phenomenology and clinical characteristics of mania in children and adolescents. Bipolar Disorder 7(6):483–496.
- Leibenluft E, Charney DS, Towbin KE, Bhangoo RK, Pine DS. 2003. Defining clinical phenotypes of juvenile mania. Am J Psychiatry 160(3):430–437.
- Meyer SE, Carlson GA, Youngstrom E, Ronsaville DS, Martinez PE, Gold PW, et al. 2009. Long-term outcomes of youth who

manifested the CBCL–Pediatric Bipolar Disorder phenotype during childhood and/or adolescence. J affect Disord 113(3):227–35.

- Mick E, Biederman J, Pandma G, Faraone SV. 2003. A preliminary meta-analysis of the child behavior checklist in pediatric bipolar disorder. Biol Psychiatry 53:1021–1027.
- Mick E, Spencer T, Wozniak J. 2005. Heterogeneity of irritability in attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder subjects with and without mood disorders. Biol Psychiatry 58:576–582.
- Pavuluri MN, Birmaher B, Naylor MW. 2005. Pediatric bipolar disorder: A review of the past 10 years. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 44(9):846–871.
- Pavuluri MN, Henry DB, Devineni B, Carbray JA, Birmaher B. 2006. Child mania rating scale: development, reliability, and validity. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 45(5):550–560.
- Soutullo CA, Chang KD, Díez-Suárez A., Figurvoa Quintana A., Escamilla-Canales I, Rapado-Castro M, et al. 2005. Bipolar disorder in children and adolescents: international perspective on epidemiology and phenomenology. Bipolar Disord 7: 497–506.
- Tramontina S, Schmitz M, Polanczyk G, Rohde LA. 2003. Juvenile bipolar disorder in Brazil: clinical and treatment findings. Biol Psychiatry 53:1043–1049.

- Volk HE, Todd RD. 2007. Does the Child Behavior Checklist juvenile bipolar disorder phenotype identify bipolar disorder? Biol Psychiatry 15; 62(2):115–120.
- Wozniak J, Biederman J, Kiely K, Ablon SJ, Faraone SV, Mundy E, et al. 1995. Mania-like symptoms suggestive of childhoodonset bipolar disorder in clinically referred children. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 34(7):867–876.
- Young RC, Biggs JT, Ziegler VE, Meyer DA, 1978. A rating scale for mania: reliability, validity, and sensitivity. Br J Psychiatry 133:429–435.
- Youngstrom EA, Gracious BL, Danielson CK, Findling Rl, Calabrese J. 2003. Toward an integration of parent and clinical report on the Young Mania Rating Scale. J Affect Disord 77:179–190.
- Youngstrom EA, Findling Rl, Calabrese JR, Gracious BL, Demeter C, Bedova DD, et al. 2004. Comparing the diagnostic accuracy of six potential screening instruments for bipolar disorder in youths aged 5 to 17 years. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 43:847–858.
- Youngstrom E, Youngstrom JK, Starr M. 2005, Bipolar diagnoses in community mental health: Achenbach Child Behaviour Checklist profiles and Patterns of comorbidity. Biol Psychiatry 58(7):569–575.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Pathophysiology of NSS in ADHD

AUGUSTO PASINI & ELISA D'AGATI

Unit of Child Neurology and Psychiatry, Department of Neuroscience, University of Rome "Tor Vergata", Rome Italy

Abstract

Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is the behavioural disorder most commonly diagnosed in childhood. In addition to the main symptoms of inattention, impulsiveness and hyperactivity, neurological soft signs (NSS) are often associated with ADHD. NSS are discrete motor and sensory disorders that cannot be linked to specific cerebral lesions. We review all the scientific contributions on NSS in ADHD. The conclusions support the presence of an alteration in the neural networks for motor control inhibition, at the base of the pathophysiology of NSS in children with ADHD, as well as a possible central role of dopamine in these neural circuits.

Key words: ADHD, NSS, control inhibition, neural networks, dopamine

Introduction

Neurological soft signs (NSS) have been described as non-normative performance on a neurological examination of motor and sensory functioning in the absence of a focal lesion (Shafer et al. 1983). Some examples of NSS include difficulty in the fluid execution of rapid alternating movements such as pronation and supination of the hand (dysdiadochokinesis), motor slowness, dysgraphesthesia (Schonfeld et al. 1989), and difficulty in sequencing complex motor tasks. The origin of NSS is unknown. Nichols and Chen (1981) found that only a small number of many possible perinatal complications discriminated children diagnosed as having soft signs from normal controls. NSS have been found to be associated with IQ deficits, hyperactivity and learning disorders (Nichols and Chen 1981). These neurological abnormalities have longitudinal stability and are positively correlated with poor functional outcome in adulthood (Pine et al. 1996). Several investigators found positive correlations between neurological soft signs and increased risk of psychiatric disorders, such as depression and ADHD (Rasmussen and Gillberg 2000), and a strong association between NSS and ADHD (Denckla and Rudel 1978; Gillberg 1998). Shaffer et al. (1985) reported that adolescents with early soft signs had significantly lower IQs and were more likely to have a psychiatric disorder characterized by anxiety, withdrawal and affective disorders (Shaffer et al. 1985) as well as schizophrenia in adulthood (Leask et al. 2002). During the past 32 years, a number of standardized neurological test instruments have been used in research and clinical practice to identify and quantify NSS. One of the first was the Physical and Neurological Examination for Soft Signs (PANESS) (Guy 1976). Then, Touwen and Prechtl developed the Examination of the Child with Minor Neurological Dysfunction (Touwen and Prechtl 1970) as a quantitative examination for children with possible minor neurological dysfunction (MND), often referred to as "soft signs" (Touwen and Sporrel 1979). In clinical practice, The Revised Neurological Examination for Subtle Signs (NESS, Denckla 1985) is sensitive to soft developmental changes and to revealing soft motor deficits in central nervous system development. Denckla proposed a clear distinction between "soft signs" that, although soft, are abnormal at any age and those that would be normal if found in a younger child. In fact, motor ability and neuroanatomical structures show substantial growth, elaboration and myelination during early childhood (Denckla 1985). Although it is common to observe soft signs in typically developing younger children, persistence of soft signs into later childhood and adolescence suggests motor dysfunction and could

Correspondence: Augusto Pasini, Unit of Child Neurology and Psychiatry, Department of Neuroscience, University of Rome "Tor Vergata", Via Alberico 2 n.35, 00193 Roma, Italy. Tel.: +39 06 42013020. Fax: +39 06 41400343. E-mail: pasini@uniroma2.it

(Received 26 October 2008; accepted 21 January 2009)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970902789148

be a marker for atypical neurological development (Larson et al. 2007). NSS are variable and their presence alone should not be considered either diagnostic or the unique basis for explaining complex behavioural and neurological diseases (Dijxhoorn et al. 1987).

NSS and ADHD

Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is the behavioural disorder most commonly diagnosed in childhood. It usually manifests before a child reaches 7 years of age and consists of a persistent pattern of inattentiveness, impulsiveness and/or hyperactivity. Besides the "core" symptoms, the motor ability of ADHD children is often significantly poorer than it should be based on their age and level of intellectual functioning. Gillberg and Rasmussen (2000) examined the longer-term outcome of 55 subjects, aged 22 years, affected by ADHD, particularly when combined with developmental coordination disorder (DCD), previously referred to as attention deficit disorder (ADD) or minimal brain dysfunction (MBD), at initial workup at 7 years of age. In this context, MBD requires the presence of both attentional deficit and signs of either finemotor, gross-motor or visual perception/conceptualization dysfunction. None of the subjects had received stimulant treatment. They were compared with 46 age-matched subjects not affected by such diagnoses. In the ADHD/DCD group 58% had a poor outcome characterized by remaining symptoms of ADHD, antisocial personality disorder, alcohol abuse, criminal offending, reading disorders, and low educational level compared with 13% in the control group. The authors determined that increased NSS were very useful as a screening tool for psychopathology, and diagnosis of ADHD (Rasmussen and Gillberg 2000). Dickstein et al. (2005) studied NSS in 17 children with ADHD and in 20 normal controls (NC) with no significant group differences in hand or foot lateral preference. They found that subjects with ADHD were slower than NC on repetitive motor tasks (Dickstein et al. 2005), consistent with some previous studies reporting that children with ADHD had impaired repetitive motor responses (Rubia et al. 1999b; Epstein et al. 2003). Uslu et al. (2007) underlined that certain factors investigated by the Neurological Examination for Subtle Signs (NESS), such as speed of movement, dysrhythmia and overflow with timed movements, provide important information that could increase our understanding of the neurobiological bases of ADHD and the clinical implications of neurological soft signs. They studied a group of 30 children with ADHD using the NESS and found an

increase in overflow movements in children with ADHD. This could indicate a deficit in cortical inhibitory functions, which is a cardinal neurophysiological feature of ADHD (Uslu et al. 2007). This was also underlined in a study by Mostofsky et al. (2003) in which 42 children with ADHD showed significantly more overflow movements than 30 NC, predicting performance on measures of motor response inhibition (Mostofsky et al. 2003). At the same time, dysrhythmia and slowed speed of movement are associated with functional deficits in the cerebellum and basal ganglia (Kandel 2000). Mostofsky et al. (2003) also underlined a significant effect of sex on the association between ADHD and Total Overflow movements; in fact, in boys the presence of ADHD is associated with significantly more overflow movements than in girls, and the number of movements is higher in children with the full syndrome of impulsive, hyperactive and inattentive symptoms (Mostofsky et al. 2003).

NSS and clinical subtypes of ADHD

Meyer and Sagvolden (2006) studied 528 South African children (264 with symptoms of ADHD and 264 normal controls) of both genders, divided in two age groups, 6-9 and 10-13 years, who were assessed using the following tests: the Grooved Pegboard, which measures manual dexterity, complex coordination and movement speed; the Maze Coordination Task, which measures complex coordination, goaldirected fine movements, accuracy and stability of movement; and the Finger Tapping Test, which is a sample measure of finger movement and speed (Meyer and Sagvolden 2006). All tasks were performed with both hands. Problems in motor control were found primarily in children between 6 and 9 years of age. In fact, motor speed and accuracy on both repetitive and sequential tasks increased with age in healthy children (Denckla 1973), confirming that in order for an examination to be useful it must be standardized for different ages. This study also shows that in children with ADHD motor control problems are independent from cultural differences (in fact, they are detected in Europe and Africa as well as in other countries) and are not related to hand preference. Compared with children who had no mental disorders, all ADHD clinical subtypes (C, combined; I, predominantly inattentive; HI, predominantly hyperactive/impulsive) performed worse on the Grooved Pegboard and Motor Coordination Task than on the Finger Tapping Test. This result replicates the findings of a European study (Seidman et al. 1997). The impairment was most severe in the ADHD-C subtypes and less severe in the ADHD-I and HI subtypes in both genders, with slight differences in performance between hands. Pitcher et al. (2003) found that type and degree of movement difficulty differed between subtypes and that males with ADHD-I and ADHD-C had significantly poorer fine motor ability (P < 0.001) than control children (Pitcher et al. 2003). In a preceding study they showed that boys in the ADHD-I subtypes had great difficulty with timing and force output and showed greater variability in motor outcomes (Pitcher et al. 2002). Thus, it is likely that poor fine motor skills make greater demands on sustained attention. Furthermore, there is a strong association between inattention and movement difficulties, as greater inattention is predictive of greater difficulty in motor coordination (Pitcher et al. 2003). These findings indicate the need for increased recognition of the clinical and research implications of the relationship between ADHD and motor dysfunction (Pitcher et al. 2002).

The "network inhibition hypothesis" at the base of the pathophysiology of NSS In ADHD

The neuroanatomical basis of NSS remains poorly understood, and it has yet to be established whether the disorder is due to specific or to diffuse brain abnormalities (Dazzan and Murray 2002).

The excessive overflow movements in children with ADHD appear to reflect immaturity of the neural networks involved in inhibitory control (Mostofsky et al. 2003). Houk and Wise (1995) described the interconnections and the role of the basal ganglia, the cerebellum and the cerebral cortex in planning and controlling action (Houk and Wise 1995). Using blood oxygen level-dependent functional magnetic resonance imaging, Cao et al. (2006) showed decreased regional homogeneity in the frontal-striatal-cerebellar circuits, consistent with the hypothesis of abnormal frontal-striatalcerebellar networks in boys with ADHD (Cao et al. 2006).

Role of cerebral cortex in inhibitory control

The neural mechanisms underlying habituated motor responding and motor response inhibition in children with ADHD, were studied by comparing fMRI activation during a Go/No go task in 25 children with ADHD and 25 typically developing (TD) children, aged 8–13 years. Increased intrasubject variability (ISV), measured in response time, is reported in children with ADHD across various tasks. For TD children, increased pre-supplementary motor area (pre-SMA) activation during No/Go events was associated with less ISV, while the reverse was true in ADHD children for whom increased pre-SMA activation was associated with more ISV. In contrast, ADHD patients with less ISV showed greater prefrontal activation. These data suggest a functional anomaly of the pre-SMA in ADHD and the recruitment of prefrontal circuits as a compensatory mechanism by which some children with ADHD are able to achieve more consistent performance despite abnormalities in pre-SMA activation (Suskauer et al. 2008a). The pre-SMA area is connected to the anterior prefrontal areas (Dum and Strick 1991) and striatal projections from the pre-SMA largely extend to the caudate nucleus and the middle and rostral putamen (Lehericy et al. 2004). Anatomic imaging studies of children with ADHD reported localized anomalies in pre-SMA area, including reduced volume (Mostofsky et al. 2002) and thickness when compared with control children (Shaw et al. 2006). This area plays an important role in motor planning and switching from automatic to voluntary controlled actions (Hoshi and Tanji 2004). A possible explanation is that abnormality in the pre-SMA circuits is central to impaired response inhibition in ADHD, regardless of task demand (Suskauer et al. 2008b).

Role of basal ganglia in inhibitory control

Deficits in repetitive motor tasks, documented in children with ADHD (Dickstein et al. 2005), provide further evidence of dysfunctional dopaminergic circuits in cortical and basal ganglia structures that result in the inability to regulate motor excitation and inhibition in the pathophysiology of ADHD (Casey et al. 1997; Durston et al. 2003). Schulz et al. (2005) examined inhibitory control in adolescents with ADHD during childhood using fMRI with the Stimulus and Response Conflict Tasks. They found positive correlations between prefrontal and basal ganglia activation and ADHD symptom intensity (ratings). This evidence suggests that difficulty with inhibitory control may represent a core deficit in ADHD and raises the possibility that the increased frontostriatal activation normalizes with the concomitantly remission of symptomatology (Schulz et al. 2005).

Role of cerebellum in inhibitory control

Another region in the brain showing deviance associated with ADHD is the cerebellum. This is true when it is measured algorithmically as a single unit and when its different components are considered (Castellanos et al. 2002), and even more when the posterior cerebellar vermis is measured (Mostofsky et al. 1998; Castellanos et al. 2001). In fact, in the cerebellum of males with ADHD the size of the posterior vermis is significantly decreased; further, within the posterior vermis the inferior posterior lobe (lobules VIII-X) is involved in this reduction, whereas the superior posterior lobe (lobules VI/VII) is not (Mostofsky et al. 1998). The dopamine membrane transporter (DAT) is a specific marker of DA axons (Ciliax et al. 1995) and the cerebellar vermis contains selective dopaminetransporter-like immunoreactive axons. Further, within the vermis labelled axons were present only in portions of a subset of lobules. In lobules II, III and IV, DAT-IR axons were found primarily in the depths of the intracentral and preculminate fissures and to a lesser degree in the more external folia of these lobules. In lobules VIIIA and VIIIB, DAT-IR axons were present in both the external and the internal folia, but the density of immunoreactive axons was greater in the internal folia (Melchitzky and Lewis 2000). Another fMRI study demonstrated that the reduced volume of the inferior posterior cerebellar hemispheres is correlated with a poor clinical outcome in patients with ADHD (Mackie et al. 2007). Thus, both the cerebellar vermis and the cerebellar posterior lobe have an important function in motor control (Ito 1984).

In an fMRI study, Sakai et al. (2000) showed some of the interactions between the pre-SMA area and the posterior lobe of the cerebellum. The authors found that the pre-SMA area was selectively active in response selection, whereas the cerebellar posterior lobe was selectively active in timing adjustment, and that the primary motor cortex received connections from both the pre-SMA and the cerebellum (Sakai et al. 2000). Both the basal ganglia and the cerebellum have recurrent connections with the prefrontal cortex, which is the site of high-level information processing because of its activity related to working memory, action planning and decisionmaking. The activity of the cortical neurons could be the result of the recurrent dynamics of the corticobasal ganglia and the cortico-cerebellar networks to provide common representations of the cerebellum and the basal ganglia working together (Doya 2000) (see Figure 1).

In ADHD, inborn developmental abnormality of the brain-impaired function of neurocircuitries is important for attention and for the motor system. Exploration of the cerebellum's influence on cortico-striatal-thalamo-cortical (CSTC) circuits (Alexander et al. 1986), which determine the choice, the initiation and the performance of complex motor and cognitive responses (Graybiel 1998), seems very promising for clarifying the pathophysiology of ADHD.



Figure 1. Principal neural networks involved in inhibitory control. This model graphically represents the neural mechanisms for the processing of response selection, and timing adjustment in motor control. The prefrontal cortex is specialized for unsupervised learning, and has been regarded as the site of high-level information processing, because of its activity related to working memory, action planning, and decision making. The information processing is guided by the input signal itself, but may also be regulated by the ascending neuromodulatory inputs from: the presupplementary motor area (Pre-SMA), active in response selection, the cerebellar posterior lobe, active in timing adjustment, and from the basal ganglia. The basal ganglia are specialized for reinforcement learning, which is guided by the reward signal encoded in the dopaminergic input from the substantia nigra. The thalamus receives the posterior cerebellum and basal ganglia inputs, and projects to the Pre-SMA area.

Animal models and the "network inhibition hypothesis" of NSS in ADHD

Animal models are helpful in medical research since they have simpler nervous systems, more easily interpretable behaviours, more homogeneous genetics, a more easily controlled environment, and a greater variety of interventions available (Sagvolden et al. 2008). In the literature, there are no investigations on neurological soft signs in animal models of ADHD, but some interesting findings are useful to clarify the pathophysiology of NSS in ADHD. There is a variety of commonly used animal models for ADHD: e.g., the spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR), the dopamine transporter knockout and knockdown (DAT KO and DAT KD) mice, and the Coloboma mice. Irrespective of the genetic determinants of each of these models, these animal models show possible impairments of response inhibition as being related directly to abnormal catecholamine function in the prefrontal cortex and/or basal ganglia. (Groman et al. 2008). SHR are a selectively bred line originating from normotensive Wistar-Kyoto (WKY) rats and display many characteristics that resemble ADHD symptoms, such as hyperactivity and inattention (Sagvolden 2000). Dopamine release is decreased in SHR prefrontal cortex and norepinephrine concentrations are elevated (Russell et al. 2000a). The noradrenergic system appears to be hyperactive as a result of impaired alpha-2A adrenoceptor regulation (Russell et al. 2005). Russell et al. (2000) investigated possible long-term effects of methylphenidate treatment on dopaminergic function in striatal slices of SHR compared to their WKY control rats, suggesting that presynaptic mechanisms controlling dopamine release had been altered in SHR rats (Russell et al. 2000b). Effective ADHD treatments, including methylphenidate, amphetamine and atomoxetine, reduce impulsive behaviour, probably by enhancing response inhibition, in rats (Navarra et al. 2008). Some studies evaluate both cognitive and motor function of DA-depleted rats after intracerebral neonatal microinjections of 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA). This experimental model, in developing rats, is strikingly similar to the clinical syndrome of MBD (Shavwitz et al. 1976; Archer et al. 1988). Animal models provide us with important findings in order to understand the anatomic bases of motor learning and motor control. Recent anatomical studies proposed a cerebellar and basal ganglia interaction, based on the identification of a disynaptic pathway originating from cerebellum and projecting to the striatum via the thalamus (Ichinohe et al. 2000). Rossi et al. (2008) studied striatal longterm depression (LTD), a crucial form of synaptic plasticity involved in motor learning after cerebellar lesions in rats. Authors showed that the cerebellum controls striatal synaptic transmission in general, and synaptic plasticity in particular, supporting the notion that the two structures operate in conjunction during motor learning (Rossi et al. 2008).

NSS and pharmacological treatments

Effect of methylphenidate on NSS in patients with ADHD

Lerer and Lerer (1976) published the first study about the effect of methylphenidate (MPH) on NSS in patients with ADHD. These authors found that out of 40 children with three or more NSS, 29 showed marked improvement or complete resolution of NSS following a 60-day treatment with MPH. They also underlined that administration of the placebo did not appreciably change the neurological status of 20 hyperactive children and that behavioural improvement, which was studied by means

Table I. Recent studies included in this review.

of Conners' Abbreviated Teacher Rating Scale, did not always correspond to resolution of the abnormal neurological signs (Lerer and Lerer 1976). Rubia et al. (2003) demonstrated the effectiveness of persistent administration of methylphenidate on deficits in motor timing in ADHD children and extended the use of methylphenidate from the domain of attentional and inhibitory functions to the domain of executive motor timing (Rubia et al. 2003).

Motor system excitability can be investigated in vivo by means of single and paired pulse transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS). Moll et al. (2000) studied motor system excitability in 18 drug-naive ADHD children, aged 8-12 years, compared with 18 age-matched healthy children using the TMS. They provided evidence of inhibitory deficits within the motor cortex of ADHD children and of an enhancement of inhibitory mechanisms in this brain region after the oral intake of 10 mg of methylphenidate (Moll et al. 2000). Deficits in repetitive motor tasks provide further evidence that dysfunctional dopaminergic circuits in cortical and basal ganglia structures cause the inability to regulate motor excitation and inhibition in the pathophysiology of ADHD (Casey et al. 1997; Durston et al. 2003).

Conclusion

Multiple abnormalities of the motor system have been identified in some children with ADHD including persistence of overflow movements (Denckla and Rudel 1978), impaired timing of motor responses (Rubia et al. 1999a) and deficits in fine motor abilities (Pitcher et al. 2003). The presence of excessive overflow movements in children with ADHD appears to reflect immaturity of the neural networks involved in inhibitory control (Mostofsky et al. 2003). This review analyzes all the scientific contributions on NSS in ADHD (see Table I) and supports the evidence of a "network inhibition hypothesis" at the base of the pathophysiology of NSS in ADHD, where the interconnections between

Reference	ADHD	Controls	Mean age	Evaluation scale
Pitcher et al. 2003	104	39	10 years	Movement Assessment Battery for Children
				(MABC) and the Purdue Pegboard Test
Mostofsky et al. 2003	42	30	9.8 years	The Physical and Neurological Examination for Soft Signs,
				Conflicting motor response task, Controlateral response task
Dickstein et al. 2005	17	20	10.6 years	The Revised Physical and Neurological
				Examination for Soft Signs
Meyer and Sagvolden	264	264	6-13 years	The Grooved Pegboard, the Maze Coordination
2006			-	Task and the Finger Tapping Test
Uslu et al. 2007	30	74	9.20 years	Neurological Examination for Soft Signs (NESS)

basal ganglia, cerebellum and cerebral cortex have a central role in the inhibition of voluntary movements. The finding of selectively containing dopamine transporter-like immunoreactive axons in the cerebellar vermis (Melchitzky and Lewis 2000) suggests that dopamine has a central role; this is also supported by the effect of methylphenidate on NSS, documented in the articles cited above. The importance of the dopamine function in the genesis of NSS derives from evidence that deficits in repetitive motor tasks are due to dysfunctional dopaminergic circuits in cortical and basal ganglia structures. Dysfunction of the nigro-striatal dopamine branch causes several NSS associated with ADHD, including impaired force and timing regulation of muscle groups, and symptoms include poor motor control (Kadesjo and Gillberg 1999). The finding of slowed speed of movement in repetitive motor tasks is connected to functional deficits in the cerebellum and basal ganglia. NSS are spontaneously present in drug-naive children with ADHD. This evidence supports the possibility of a dopamine dysfunction prior to the administration of drugs also because of marked improvement or complete resolution of NSS in children with ADHD after treatment with MPH (Lerer and Lerer 1976).

More studies are needed to assess the sensory and motor soft signs associated with ADHD and to integrate clinical evidence with neuroimaging findings and neuropsychological dysfunction. Direct investigation of the cortical processes leading to motor overflow may provide a more complete understanding of the pathological relevance of motor overflow and NSS in general (Hoy et al. 2008). The comparability of future studies can be improved by using the same structured rating scale for NSS; moreover, a useful examination must be standardized for different ages. In an attempt to elucidate the role of NSS in children with ADHD, it is crucial that repeated neurological assessment be included in the medical examination of drug-naïve and treated children with ADHD.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of Interest

The authors disclose any commercial or other associations that might pose a conflict of interest in connection with the submitted article.

References

- Alexander GE, DeLong MR, Strick PL. 1986. Parallel organization of functionally segregated circuits linking basal ganglia and cortex. Annu Rev Neurosci 9:357–381.
- Archer T, Danysz W, Fredriksson A, Jonsson G, Luthman J, Sundstrom E, et al. 1988. Neonatal 6-hydroxydopamineinduced dopamine depletions: motor activity and performance in maze learning. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 31:357–364.
- Cao Q, Zang Y, Sun L, Sui M, Long X, Zou Q, et al. 2006. Abnormal neural activity in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging study. Neuroreport 17:1033–1036.
- Casey BJ, Castellanos FX, Giedd JN, Marsh WL, Hamburger SD, Schubert AB, et al. 1997. Implication of right frontostriatal circuitry in response inhibition and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 36: 374–383.
- Castellanos FX, Giedd JN, Berquin PC, Walter JM, Sharp W, Tran T, et al. 2001. Quantitative brain magnetic resonance imaging in girls with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 58:289–295.
- Castellanos FX, Lee PP, Sharp W, Jeffries NO, Greenstein DK, Clasen LS, et al. 2002. Developmental trajectories of brain volume abnormalities in children and adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Med Assoc 288: 1740–1748.
- Ciliax BJ, Heilman C, Demchyshyn LL, Pristupa ZB, Ince E, Hersch SM, et al. 1995. The dopamine transporter: immunochemical characterization and localization in brain. J Neurosci 15:1714–1723.
- Dazzan P, Murray RM. 2002. Neurological soft signs in firstepisode psychosis: a systematic review. Br J Psychiatry Suppl 43:s50–57.
- Denckla MB. 1973. Development of speed in repetitive and successive finger-movements in normal children. Dev Med Child Neurol 15:635–645.
- Denckla MB. 1985. Revised neurological examination for subtle signs. Psychopharmacol Bull 21:773–800.
- Denckla MB, Rudel RG. 1978. Anomalies of motor development in hyperactive boys. Ann Neurol 3:231–233.
- Dickstein DP, Garvey M, Pradella AG, Greenstein DK, Sharp WS, Castellanos FX, et al. 2005. Neurologic examination abnormalities in children with bipolar disorder or attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Biol Psychiatry 58:517–524.
- Dijxhoorn MJ, Visser GH, Touwen BC, Huisjes HJ. 1987. Apgar score, meconium and acidaemia at birth in small-forgestational age infants born at term, and their relation to neonatal neurological morbidity. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 94: 873–879.
- Doya K. 2000. Complementary roles of basal ganglia and cerebellum in learning and motor control. Curr Opin Neurobiol 10:732–739.
- Dum RP, Strick PL. 1991. The origin of corticospinal projections from the premotor areas in the frontal lobe. J Neurosci 11: 667–689.
- Durston S, Tottenham NT, Thomas KM, Davidson MC, Eigsti IM, Yang Y, et al. 2003. Differential patterns of striatal activation in young children with and without ADHD. Biol Psychiatry 53:871–878.
- Epstein JN, Erkanli A, Conners CK, Klaric J, Costello JE, Angold A. 2003. Relations between Continuous Performance Test performance measures and ADHD behaviors. J Abnorm Child Psychol 31:543–554.

- Gillberg C. 1998. Hyperactivity, inattention and motor control problems: prevalence, comorbidity and background factors. Folia Phoniatr Logop 50:107–117.
- Graybiel AM. 1998. The basal ganglia and chunking of action repertoires. Neurobiol Learn Mem 70:119–136.
- Groman SM, James AS, Jentsch JD. 2008. Poor response inhibition: At the nexus between substance abuse and attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. In Press.
- Guy W. 1976. Physical and Neurological Examination for Soft Signs (PANESS). ECDEU Assessment Manual for Psychopharmacology. Revised. U.S.: 383–406.
- Hoshi E, Tanji J. 2004. Differential roles of neuronal activity in the supplementary and presupplementary motor areas: from information retrieval to motor planning and execution. J Neurophysiol 92:3482–3499.
- Houk JC, Wise SP. 1995. Distributed modular architectures linking basal ganglia, cerebellum, and cerebral cortex: their role in planning and controlling action. Cereb Cortex 5: 95–110.
- Hoy KE, Georgiou-Karistianis N, Farrow M, Fitzgerald PB. 2008. Neurological soft signs in schizophrenia: Investigating motor overflow. World J Biol Psychiatry:1–9.
- Ichinohe N, Mori F, Shoumura K. 2000. A di-synaptic projection from the lateral cerebellar nucleus to the laterodorsal part of the striatum via the central lateral nucleus of the thalamus in the rat. Brain Res 880:191–197.
- Ito M. 1984. The cerebellum and neural control Raven. New York: Raven Press.
- Kadesjo B, Gillberg C. 1999. Developmental coordination disorder in Swedish 7-year-old children. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 38:820–828.
- Kandel ER. 2000. Principles of neural science. 4th ed. New York: Elsevier/North Holland.
- Larson JC, Mostofsky SH, Goldberg MC, Cutting LE, Denckla MB, Mahone EM. 2007. Effects of gender and age on motor exam in typically developing children. Dev Neuropsychol 32:543–562.
- Leask SJ, Done DJ, Crow TJ. 2002. Adult psychosis, common childhood infections and neurological soft signs in a national birth cohort. Br J Psychiatry 181:387–392.
- Lehericy S, Ducros M, Krainik A, Francois C, Van de Moortele PF, Ugurbil K, et al. 2004. 3-D diffusion tensor axonal tracking shows distinct SMA and pre-SMA projections to the human striatum. Cereb Cortex 14:1302–1309.
- Lerer RJ, Lerer MP. 1976. The effects of methylphenidate on the soft neurological signs of hyperactive children. Pediatrics 57:521–525.
- Mackie S, Shaw P, Lenroot R, Pierson R, Greenstein DK, Nugent TF 3rd, et al. 2007. Cerebellar development and clinical outcome in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Am J Psychiatry 164:647–655.
- Melchitzky DS, Lewis DA. 2000. Tyrosine hydroxylase- and dopamine transporter-immunoreactive axons in the primate cerebellum. Evidence for a lobular- and laminar-specific dopamine innervation. Neuropsychopharmacology 22:466–472.
- Meyer A, Sagvolden T. 2006. Fine motor skills in South African children with symptoms of ADHD: influence of subtype, gender, age, and hand dominance. Behav Brain Funct 2:33.
- Moll GH, Heinrich H, Trott G, Wirth S, Rothenberger A. 2000. Deficient intracortical inhibition in drug-naive children with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder is enhanced by methylphenidate. Neurosci Lett 284:121–125.
- Mostofsky SH, Reiss AL, Lockhart P, Denckla MB. 1998. Evaluation of cerebellar size in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. J Child Neurol 13:434–439.

- Mostofsky SH, Cooper KL, Kates WR, Denckla MB, Kaufmann WE. 2002. Smaller prefrontal and premotor volumes in boys with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Biol Psychiatry 52:785–794.
- Mostofsky SH, Newschaffer CJ, Denckla MB. 2003. Overflow movements predict impaired response inhibition in children with ADHD. Percept Mot Skills 97:1315–1331.
- Navarra R, Graf R, Huang Y, Logue S, Comery T, Hughes Z, et al. 2008. Effects of atomoxetine and methylphenidate on attention and impulsivity in the 5-choice serial reaction time test. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 32:34–41.
- Nichols PL, Chen TC. 1981. Minimal brain dysfunction. A prospective study. Hillsdale, NJ: L.E. Associates.
- Pine DS, Scott MR, Busner C, Davies M, Fried JA, Parides M, et al. 1996. Psychometrics of neurological soft signs. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 35:509–515.
- Pitcher TM, Piek JP, Barrett NC. 2002. Timing and force control in boys with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: subtype differences and the effect of comorbid developmental coordination disorder. Hum Mov Sci 21:919–945.
- Pitcher TM, Piek JP, Hay DA. 2003. Fine and gross motor ability in males with ADHD. Dev Med Child Neurol 45:525–535.
- Rasmussen P, Gillberg C. 2000. Natural outcome of ADHD with developmental coordination disorder at age 22 years: a controlled, longitudinal, community-based study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 39:1424–1431.
- Rossi S, Mataluni G, De Bartolo P, Prosperetti C, Foti F, De Chiara V, et al. 2008. Cerebellar control of cortico-striatal LTD. Restor Neurol Neurosci 26:475–480.
- Rubia K, Overmeyer S, Taylor E, Brammer M, Williams SC, Simmons A, et al. 1999a. Hypofrontality in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder during higher-order motor control: a study with functional MRI. Am J Psychiatry 156:891–896.
- Rubia K, Taylor A, Taylor E, Sergeant JA. 1999b. Synchronization, anticipation, and consistency in motor timing of children with dimensionally defined attention deficit hyperactivity behaviour. Percept Mot Skills 89:1237–1258.
- Rubia K, Noorloos J, Smith A, Gunning B, Sergeant J. 2003. Motor timing deficits in community and clinical boys with hyperactive behavior: the effect of methylphenidate on motor timing. J Abnorm Child Psychol 31:301–313.
- Russell VA, Allie S, Wiggins T. 2000a. Increased noradrenergic activity in prefrontal cortex slices of an animal model for attention–deficit hyperactivity disorder–the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Behav Brain Res 117:69–74.
- Russell VA, de Villiers AS, Sagvolden T, Lamm MC, Taljaard JJ. 2000b. Methylphenidate affects striatal dopamine differently in an animal model for attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder-the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Brain Res Bull 53:187–192.
- Russell VA, Sagvolden T, Johansen EB. 2005. Animal models of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Behav Brain Funct 1:9.
- Sagvolden T. 2000. Behavioral validation of the spontaneously hypertensive rat (SHR) as an animal model of attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder (AD/HD). Neurosci Biobehav Rev 24:31–9.
- Sagvolden T, Dasbanerjee T, Zhang-James Y, Middleton FA, Faraone SV. 2008. Behavioral and genetic evidence for a novel animal model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder predominantly inattentive subtype. Behav Brain Funct 4:56.
- Sakai K, Hikosaka O, Takino R, Miyauchi S, Nielsen M, Tamada T. 2000. What and when: parallel and convergent processing in motor control. J Neurosci 20:2691–2700.
- Schonfeld IS, Shaffer D, Barmack JE. 1989. Neurological soft signs and school achievement: the mediating effects of sustained attention. J Abnorm Child Psychol 17:575–596.

502 A. Pasini & E. D'Agati

- Schulz KP, Tang CY, Fan J, Marks DJ, Newcorn JH, Cheung AM, et al. 2005. Differential prefrontal cortex activation during inhibitory control in adolescents with and without childhood attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Neuropsychology 19: 390–402.
- Seidman LJ, Biederman J, Faraone SV, Weber W, Ouellette C. 1997. Toward defining a neuropsychology of attention deficithyperactivity disorder: performance of children and adolescents from a large clinically referred sample. J Consult Clin Psychol 65:150–160.
- Shafer SQ, Shaffer D, O'Connor PA, Stokman CJ. 1983. Hard thoughts on neurological soft signs. Dev Neuropsychiatry 133–143.
- Shaffer D, Schonfeld I, O'Connor PA, Stokman C, Trautman P, Shafer S, et al. 1985. Neurological soft signs. Their relationship to psychiatric disorder and intelligence in childhood and adolescence. Arch Gen Psychiatry 42:342–351.
- Shaw P, Lerch J, Greenstein D, Sharp W, Clasen L, Evans A, et al. 2006. Longitudinal mapping of cortical thickness and clinical outcome in children and adolescents with attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 63:540–549.

- Shaywitz BA, Yager RD, Klopper JH. 1976. Selective brain dopamine depletion in developing rats: an experimental model of minimal brain dysfunction. Science 191:305–308.
- Suskauer SJ, Simmonds DJ, Caffo BS, Denckla MB, Pekar JJ, Mostofsky SH. 2008a. fMRI of intrasubject variability in ADHD: Anomalous premotor activity with prefrontal compensation. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. In Press.
- Suskauer SJ, Simmonds DJ, Fotedar S, Blankner JG, Pekar JJ, Denckla MB, et al. 2008b. Functional magnetic resonance imaging evidence for abnormalities in response selection in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: differences in activation associated with response inhibition but not habitual motor response. J Cogn Neurosci 20:478–493.
- Touwen BC, Sporrel T. 1979. Soft signs and MBD. Dev Med Child Neurol 21:528–530.
- Touwen BCL, Prechtl HFR. 1970. The neurological examination of the child with minor nervous dysfunction. Clinics in Developmental Medicine. London: H. Medical.
- Uslu R, Kapci EG, Oztop D. 2007. Neurological soft signs in comorbid learning and attention deficit hyperactivity disorders. Turk J Pediatr 49:263–269.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Irreversibility of cardiac autonomic dysfunction in female adolescents diagnosed with anorexia nervosa after short- and long-term weight gain

MOSHE LACHISH¹, DANIEL STEIN², ZEEV KAPLAN³, MICHAEL MATAR³, MICHAL FAIGIN², ISABELLA KORSUNSKI² & HAGIT COHEN³

¹Soroka Medical Center, Faculty of Health Sciences, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Beer-Sheva, Israel, ²The Safra Childrens' Hospital, The Chaim Sheba Medical Center, affiliated with the Sackler Faculty of Medicine, Tel-Aviv University, Israel, and ³Ministry of Health Mental Health Center, Anxiety and Stress Research Unit, Faculty of Health Sciences, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Beer-Sheva, Israel

Abstract

Anorexia nervosa (AN) patients may present with cardiac autonomic system dysfunction. Power spectral analysis of heart rate variability (HRV) is a reliable noninvasive examination for the quantitative assessment of the central sympathovagal interaction that modulates cardiovascular autonomic function. In the present study, HRV parameters were assessed in female adolescent AN inpatients in the malnourished phase at admission, at discharge when achieving weight restoration, and 24–36 months after discharge, when considered remitted. Nineteen normal-weight female controls were similarly assessed. Spectral analysis of HRV was done with the fast Fourier transform algorithm. At admission and discharge, patients underwent routine laboratory examinations and responded to questionnaires assessing eating-related preoccupations, behaviors, and personality attributes, depression and anxiety. Compared with the controls, AN patients had significantly lower heart-rate and HRV, lower total power and low frequency components, elevated high frequency components, and decreased low to high frequency power ratio as assessed with the power spectral analysis at all three evaluation points. These disturbances were not correlated with the baseline laboratory and psychometric measures. Our preliminary findings suggest that female adolescent AN inpatients may have a cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction in the form of vagal abnormality present not only in malnourished patients, but also persisting following short-term and long-term weight restoration.

Key words: Anorexia nervosa, heart rate, heart rate variability, autonomic nervous system

Introduction

Anorexia nervosa (AN) is an eating disorder (ED) characterized by voluntary restriction of food and loss of weight of at least 85% of desired weight (1), that often leads to severe malnutrition and an exceedingly high mortality risk compared with most other psychiatric illnesses (Sullivan 1995; Casiero and Frishman 2006). Although the mechanisms associated with increased mortality in AN are still poorly understood, it is likely related to disturbances in cardiovascular function resulting from a host of malnutrition-related physical complications, including electrolyte imbalances, hypotension, bradycardia or arrhythmias (Neumarker 1997; Neumarker et al. 1997). The median length of time between diagnosis and death in AN patients is around 10 years (Millar

et al. 2005). Whereas some studies have found that a substantial percentage of deaths linked to AN occur at or above the age of 65 years (Reas et al. 2005), the long-term survival of AN in other studies does not differ from that expected in the studied populations (Korndorfer et al. 2003).

Many disturbances found in AN patients can be attributable to autonomic nervous system (ANS) dysregulation, likely affecting thermoregulation, vascular motility, heart rate and rhythm, and blood pressure (Kollai et al. 1994; Galetta et al. 2003). Indeed, almost 80% of AN patients have cardiovascular abnormalities, mainly bradycardia, hypotension, arrhythmias and repolarization disorders. Additionally, AN patients may present with reduced left ventricular mass (Galetta et al. 2003; Romano et al. 2003) and alterations in sympathovagal

Correspondence: Hagit Cohen, PhD, Anxiety and Stress Research Unit, Ministry of Health Mental Health Center, Faculty of Health Sciences, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, P.O. Box 4600, Beer-Sheva 84170, Israel. Tel: +972 8 6401743. Fax: +972 8 6401742. E-mail: hagitc@bgu.ac.il

(Received 25 July 2008; accepted 5 April 2009)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970902980770

balance (Kollai et al. 1994; Kreipe et al. 1994; Petretta et al. 1997; Rechlin et al. 1998; Casu et al. 2002; Galetta et al. 2003; Cong et al. 2004; Melanson et al. 2004; Platisa et al. 2005; Platisa et al. 2006), the latter being of parrticular relevance in increasing the risk of cardiovascular mortality and sudden death in AN (Neumarker 1997).

Heart rate variability (HRV) and related measures are a reliable noninvasive technique enabling quantitative assessment of cardiovascular autonomic regulatory responses to autonomic regulatory mechanisms (Task Force 1996). Heart rate (HR) is not constant, but oscillates around a mean value. These oscillations are due to modulations of autonomic nervous system (ANS) activity which control HR. Changes in sinus rate over time, or more precisely, the standard deviation of intervals between successive R waves (SDRR) of the cardiac cycle, are termed heart rate variability (HRV). Representation of the relative share (also called "power") of oscillations of different time ranges into frequency distributions (using Fourier transform) have shown that HRV signals are concentrated into at least three distinct frequency bands: high-frequency (HF), lowfrequency (LF), and very-low frequency (VLF) (Task Force 1996). The HF band has respiration as the primary rhythmic stimulus ("sinus arrhythmia") and is mediated by changing levels of parasympathetic tone. The LF band is affected by the oscillatory rhythm of the baroreceptor system and is mediated by sympathetic influences. The VLF component has not yet been given a precise physiological meaning and is subject to considerable debate, having been attributed variously to thermoregulatory processes, peripheral vasomotor activity, and the rennin-angiotensin system. It is considered to be a predominately sympathetic indicator (Akselrod et al. 1981).

The ANS links the central nervous system (CNS) and the cardiovascular system. Efferent links in the neural control of heart rhythm consist of sympathetic and parasympathetic fibres innervating the sinus node. Because sympathetic and parasympathetic firing alters spontaneous sinus node depolarization, cardiac rate and rhythm convey information about autonomic influences to the heart (Elghozi et al. 2001). Taken together, power spectrum analysis of HRV, which is reliable and noninvasive, can utilize the assessment of peripheral ANS system to provide a general indication of central cardiovascular autonomic regulatory responses (Task Force 1996).

The aim of the present study was to evaluate the ANS parameters in a group of female adolescent AN patients at three time points: in the acute malnourished underweight phase, when achieving weight restoration, and following long-term weight gain. The ANS parameters were compared to normalweight healthy control women, matched for age and gender. In line with the high mortality risk found in AN patients overtime, we hypothesized that malnourished AN patients will show disturbances in HR, HRV and spectral indexes compared to healthy controls, that will persist also at short- and longterm weight restoration.

Methods

The study underwent the standard procedure for approval by the Helsinki Ethics Committees of the Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, and the Chaim Sheba Medical Center, Tel Hashomer. Participants, or their parents or other legal guardians in the case of minors under the age of 18 years, gave their written voluntary consent after having received detailed information about the study.

Participants

Experimental group. Twenty-four females meeting DSM-IV (American Psychiatric Association 1994) criteria for AN (all diagnosed with restricting-type AN (AN-R)) were recruited from the adolescent ED inpatient department at the Chaim Sheba Medical Center, Tel-Hashomer, Israel. Patients were excluded from the study if diagnosed with lifetime or current schizophrenic spectrum disorder, bipolar disorder, substance use disorder, organic brain disorder potentially affecting food consumption and weight (diabetes mellitus or thyroid disorders), or if taking any medication.

Control group. This group included 19 healthy female volunteers matched to the experimental group for age and time of day of electrocardiogram recordings. Control women had no lifetime or current medical and psychiatric disorders and no stigmata indicative of an ED. Their weight was within 85–115% of ideal body weight (IBW) since puberty according to the Metropolitan Life Insurance (1959) criteria (there are no established Israeli IBW criteria), and they had regular menstrual cycles since menarche.

Patients were assessed at three time points: (1) within 7 days of admission, (i.e. during the acute malnourished phase of the illness; n = 24); (2) at discharge, when achieving their desired weight and maintaining it for at least two consecutive weeks (n = 12). 3) At long-term follow-up (24–36 months after discharge; n = 6). Controls were assessed once. No differences were found in baseline demographic, clinical, laboratory, psychological, and cardiovascular parameters between AN patients who participated, or

did not participate in the second and third evaluations. Duration of hospitalization was 4.23 ± 4.7 months.

Instruments. AN was diagnosed independently by two certified child and adolescent psychiatrists with the Eating Disorder Family History Interview (EDFHI) (Strober 1987), according to the DSM-IV (American Psychiatric Association 1994) criteria. The EDFHI is a structured clinical interview designed to gather detailed information on weight and eating history that has been extensively used in studies of ED patients (Pollice et al. 1997), including in Israeli samples (Stein et al. 2005). Duration of AN-R before admission was 2.5+2.8 years. Other psychiatric morbidity was similarly assessed with the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders-Patient Edition (SCID-I/P, Version 2.0) (First et al. 1995) according to the DSM-IV criteria (American Psychiatric Association 1994).

A structured questionnaire specified the participants' demographic data, All participants were also administered the following self-rating scales:

The Eating Attitudes Test-26 (EAT-26) (Garfinkel and Newman 2001; Garner et al. 1982) is the most widely used scale to assess eating-related preoccupations and behaviors. It consists of 26 items that gather into three factors and a total score: dieting, refraining from fatty food and physical appearance; bulimic symptomatology and preoccupation with food; and personal control over eating. Higher scores indicate greater disturbance. A total score of 20 or above is indicative of eating-related pathology. The EAT-26 has been previously validated in Israeli ED populations (Koslovsky et al. 1992).

The Eating Disorders Inventory-2 (EDI-2) (Garner 1991) is considered the gold standard for the assessment of core ED traits and ED-related personality attributes (Thiel and Paul 2006). It includes 91 items which gather into eleven subscales that measure drive for thinness, bulimia, body dissatisfaction, ineffectiveness, perfectionism, interpersonal distrust, interoceptive awareness, maturity fears, asceticism, impulse regulation, and social insecurity. Higher scores indicate greater pathology. The EDI-2 has been previously shown to differentiate Israeli ED patients from controls (Niv et al. 1998; Stein et al. 2005).

The Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) (Beck et al. 1961) is a 21-item inventory measuring symptoms of depression. Higher scores indicate more depressive symptoms. The BDI has been previously used in eating disorders patients (Pollice et al. 1997), including in Israeli samples (Stein et al. 2005)

The State Anxiety Inventory (STAI) (Spielberger et al. 1973) assesses the anxiety at the time of the evaluation (State–Anxiety, 20 items) and the general tendency to display anxiety (Trait–Anxiety, 20 items). Higher scores indicate more anxiety symptoms. The STAI has been previously used in eating disorders patients (Pollice et al. 1997), including in Israeli Samples (Yackobovitch-Gavan et al. 2009).

Procedure. AN-R inpatients were interviewed within 7 days of admission with the EDFHI and the SCID, after being considered medically stable. The selfrating scales were also administered at that time by trained research assistants. A complete medical and neurological evaluation was performed at admission and thereafter monthly, until discharge. Routine laboratory examinations, including glucose, sodium, potassium, calcium, phosphorous, urea, creatinine, complete blood count, iron, folic acid, vitamin B-12, free thyroxin index, triiodothyronine, thyroid stimulating hormone, cortisol and urinalysis were collected between 08:00 and 09:00 h, after an overnight fast within the first week of hospitalization, and thereafter monthly, until discharge. Only those inpatients whose medical condition was stable throughout the study period were analyzed. Weight and height were obtained at admission and thereafter monthly, until discharge. For the sake of reducing internal variability, all measurements were taken during the morning hours by a single investigator, using standardized procedures (Tanner 1994). Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared (Bray 1992).

It is the standard policy of this department to discontinue psychotropic treatment of AN patients within the first week of hospitalization, and to wait for about 4 weeks before stating serotonin specific reuptake inhibitors (SSRI) treatment if required, and if the BMI is 17 kg/m^2 or greater. In the case of severe agitation, patients can be temporarily treated with clonazepam or prothiazine, or occasionally with low doses of risperidone or olanzapine, as required.

In the current study, no patients received any psychotropic medication at the first evaluation on admission, whereas eight of the 12 patients assessed at discharge were treated with SSRIs. In these cases, the drug regimen was stable for at least 4 weeks before the respective evaluation. The six patients assessed at long-term follow up did not receive any psychotropic treatment.

Electrographic (ECG) recordings

All ECG recordings were performed between 10:00 and 12:00 h to avoid circadian bias. ECG recordings were acquired by connecting the participants in a seated position at complete rest to a Holter monitor (Oxford 4-24). To minimize extraneous stress, the room used was quiet and the temperature maintained at 25° C (to prevent activation of thermo-

regulatory mechanisms which affect power spectra). A detailed explanation of the procedure was given. Participants were instructed to breathe normally.

Segments of lead II ECG were amplified, digitalized (500 Hz, width pass 0.05-35 Hz), and stored using a personal computer connected to an analogue/digital converter (National Instrument Inc.)based software system (Biopac System, Inc). After classification of QRS couples configuration, the frequency histogram of RR intervals was displayed and ECG strips of the intervals in both tails of the RR distribution were manually confirmed until no QRS complex was mislabelled as either an artefact or an ectopic beat. Premature ventricular beats, electrical "noise", or aberrant beats along with the preceding and following intervals were rejected. Ventricular premature complexes and other artefacts were rejected applying thresholds at +15% of reference RR duration. Only normal-to-normal intervals R–R were analyzed.

Analysis of HRV

HRV was analyzed in both time and frequency domain. In the time domain, we calculated the mean value of HR, and the standard deviation of the successive difference in RR intervals (HRV). In the frequency domain, power spectrum density (PSD) of HRV signals was calculated using fast Fourier transform. The spectral components (peaks) were assessed in term of frequency (in Hz) and in power, which was calculated for each individual component (the area under the portion of the power spectrum density curve related to each component): VLF band (0.01–0.04), LF bands (0.04–0.15 Hz) and HF bands (0.15-0.4 Hz), and total power (TP, 0.01–0.4 Hz), represented by the total area under the curve. Because total power varied greatly among individual participants, it was determined in both absolute units and as normalized values. The representation of LF and HF in normalized units emphasizes the controlled and balanced behaviour of the two branches of the ANS. Normalized units were calculated for the LF and the HF components as: $Power_{NU} = (100 \times Absolute power)/((Total power -$ VLF) \times SD of successive difference in R–R intervals).

Data analysis

To compare group effects, the variables were analyzed by analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA). Because of the skewness of the data, logarithmic transformation was performed on the absolute units of the spectral components of HRV before the statistical analysis. The groups were compared with Scheffe's posthoc comparison test. Because of the skewness of the data, logarithmic transformation was performed on the absolute units of the spectral components of HRV before the statistical analysis. Chi-square tests were used for categorical data.

We used linear regression analyses to assess the relationship between disease duration and HR and HRV indices.

Results

The assessment of the anthropometric data revealed no difference in the age of the malnourished AN patients $(15.9 \pm 0.45 \text{ years})$ and the controls $(15.6 \pm$ 0.45 years). One AN patient was diagnosed additionally with major depressive disorder, two with an obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD), and another two with social phobia; another seven patients were diagnosed with a combination of a depressive disorder (major depression or dysthymia), and an anxiety disorder (OCD or a different anxiety disorder). No differences have been found in any of the physiological and psychological parameters introduced between AN patients with or without a comorbid diagnosis at baseline.

Comparison of the BMI of the 19 controls $(21.0\pm0.3 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ with that of the AN patients as assessed on admission $(15.5 \pm 0.3 \text{ kg/m}^2, n=24)$, discharge (19.5 \pm 0.4 kg/m², n = 12), and long-term follow-up $(21.5 \pm 1.1 \text{ kg/m}^2, n=6)$, revealed significant between-group differences [F(3,57) = 46.9], P < 0.0001]. Specifically, the BMI of the AN patients on admission was exceedingly low in comparison to the controls. It increased significantly during hospitalization, reaching almost normal ranges at discharge (Bray 1992). The six patients assessed with the EDFHI at follow-up were all considered remitted (Strober et al. 1997; Yackobovitch-Gavan et al. 2009), as their BMI was within normal range (Bray 1992), they had regular menstrual periods, and none had evidence of restricting, bingeing and/or purging behaviours for at least 12 consecutive months.

The results of the laboratory tests of the malnourished and weight restored AN were within normal range on both admission and discharge, with no differences in any of these variables in the 12 patients assessed on both evaluation points (results not shown).

Analysis of the psychometric testing revealed that the AN patients scored higher on all EDI-2 subscales (except for the bulimia subscale) compared to Israeli norms (Niv et al. 1998; results not shown). Their mean EAT-26 score both on admission (38.9 ± 5.1) and discharge (46.5 ± 7.6) was considerably higher than the cut-off point of 20 required to define eatingrelated pathology (Garner et al. 1982), being significantly higher also in comparison to Israeli standards (Koslovsky et al. 1992). The mean BDI score on admission (23.2 ± 3.7) signified moderate-severe depressive symptoms, whereas the mean score at discharge (31.1 ± 6.5) represented severe depression (BDI scores moderate severe depression = 20 - 29, severe depression \geq 30, see Rotherham-Borus and Ttrautman, 1988). The mean scores for the STAI State-Anxiety and Trait-Anxiety both on admission $(51.9\pm5.3 \text{ and } 46.4\pm4.5, \text{ respectively})$ and discharge (63.4+4.6 and 45.5+11.05, respectively)represented moderate to severe anxiety (Spielberger et al. 1970), being significantly elevated in comparison to the mean scores of 32.5 ± 9.0 for STAI stateanxiety and 37.4 ± 9.2 for STAI trait-anxiety in the general Israeli population (Teichman and Melineck 1979). No significant differences between admission and discharge were found in the scores of the psychometric scales of the twelve patients assessed on both evaluation points (results nit shown).

The electrophysiological results are presented in Table I. The malnourished AN patients exhibited significantly lower mean HR and HRV compared with the control group [F(3,57) = 10.1, P < 0.0002 and F(3,57) = 25.2, P < 0.0001, respectively]. Moreover, the AN group continued to exhibit lower mean HR and HRV in comparison to the control women both at discharge (P < 0.015 and P < 0.0001, respectively].

tively), and at the long-term follow-up assessment (P < 0.05 and P < 0.0001, respectively).

In the case of the spectral indexes used for analysis of ANS regulation, malnourished AN patients had significantly lower total power (F(3,57) = 7.3, P < 0.00035), lower LF components power (in normalized units) (F(3,57) = 9.8, P < 0.00001) and higher HF components power (F(3,57) = 9.8, P < 0.00001), compared to the control group (Table I). The ratio of low to high frequency power was significantly decreased in the malnourished AN patients compared to the controls (F(3,57) = 8.1, P < 0.0002). Moreover, these differences between AN patients and controls were still present at the discharge and follow-up assessments (Table I).

Bradycardia (i.e. HR <50 bpm) was observed in four malnourished AN patients (16.7%) and in two AN patients at discharge (16.67%). By contrast, none of the control participants had evidence of bradycardia.

All electrophysiological findings retained their significance following Bonferroni correction. HR, HRV, and the spectral indexes were not correlated with the duration of AN before assessment and with the baseline laboratory and psychometric data. No differences were shown in any of the ECG parameters between the AN patients receiving, or not receiving SSRIs on discharge, and no between-group differences were found in the respiratory rate (range 13–17 cyclic/min).

Table I. Power spectral analysis of heart rate variability (HRV) in anorexia nervosa (AN) patients and normal controls

	Controls I N=19	Starvation phase II N=24	Weight restoration III N=12	Follow-up IV N=6	One-way ANOVA
Time domain:					
Heart rate ¹ (bpm)	81.6 ± 1.8	65.7 ± 2.3	69.8 ± 3.4	69.3 ± 3.7	I≠II, III, IV
Heart rate variability ² (ms)*	0.27 ± 0.03	0.09 ± 0.009	0.09 ± 0.02	0.08 ± 0.01	$\rm I \neq II, III, IV$
Frequency domain:					
Total power ³ :	539.6 ± 32.3	409.6 ± 19.5	373.8 ± 31.9	380.5 ± 36.7	$\rm I \neq II, III, IV$
Absolute (log) power values of the f	frequency bands:	(ms ²):			
VLF	4.4 ± 0.07	4.3 ± 0.08	4.4 ± 0.08	4.1 ± 0.1	
LF	5.3 ± 0.07	4.7 ± 0.07	4.7 ± 0.1	4.7 ± 0.2	
HF	5.4 ± 0.08	5.3 ± 0.07	5.0 ± 0.1	5.2 ± 0.2	
Power (normalized units):					
$LF\%^4$	48.0 ± 0.5	37.0 ± 1.7	38.9 ± 2.6	37.9 ± 1.6	I≠II, III, IV
HF% ⁵	52.0 ± 0.5	63.0 ± 1.7	61.0 ± 2.6	62.1 ± 1.6	I≠II, III, IV
LF/HF^{6}	0.93 ± 0.02	$0.62\!\pm\!0.05$	0.68 ± 0.1	0.62 ± 0.04	$I \neq II$, III, IV

Results are expressed in mean \pm SEM; bpm, beats per minute; ms, milliseconds; ms² log values of frequency bands: VLF, very low frequency; LF, low frequency; HF, high frequency; *SD of successive difference in R–R intervals.

 ${}^{1}F(3,57) = 10.1, P < 0.0002.$

 ${}^{2}F(3, 57) = 25.2, P < 0.0001.$ ${}^{3}F(3, 57) = 7.3, P < 0.00035.$

 ${}^{4}F(3,57) = 9.8, P < 0.0001.$

 ${}^{5}F(3,57) = 9.8, P < 0.0001.$

 ${}^{6}F(3, 57) = 8.1, P < 0.0002.$

Discussion

The present naturalistic prospective preliminary study shows that malnourished female adolescent AN inpatients assessed at rest have significantly lower mean HR and HRV, lower total power and LF components, higher HF components, and decreased low to high frequency power ratio compared to a matched control group. These disturbances in the various spectral components may indicate a shift of sympathovagal balance toward vagal tone predominance and a reduced sympathetic tone. These results are confusing, since vagal tone activation might underlie susceptibility toward bradycardia, usually accompanied by an elevation in total power, whereas the reverse occurs during sympathetic activation (Task Force 1996). Our results are also not characteristic of any peripheral ANS disturbance. Thus, we may speculate that the phenomenon detected in our study reflects a dysfunction of central nervous system regulation in AN patients, rather than a peripheral abnormality. Moreover, HRV measures fluctuations in autonomic inputs to the heart rather than the mean level of autonomic inputs (Task Force 1996). Thus, both autonomic withdrawal and a high level of sympathetic input to the point of saturation can lead to diminished HRV. Altogether, we may speculate that the physiological periodic fluctuations of the ANS activity are abnormal in these AN patients. Alternatively, our findings to be related to reduced responsiveness of sinus nodal.

Most importantly, these cardiac and spectral disturbances indicative of cardiovascular vagal abnormality still persist in the 12 AN patients examined at weight restoration, and in the six patients examined 24–36 months after discharge. At that time, these six patients exhibit normal BMI and are considered remitted from AN according to standardized accepted criteria. Both at discharge and at long-term follow-up, cardiac and spectral parameters are still significantly different from the controls, although at these two evaluation points there is no difference in BMI between patients and controls.

Several studies assessing cardiac autonomic control in malnourished underweight AN patients have found marked decrement of sympathetic tone (LF) (Nudel et al. 1984; Kreipe et al. 1994; Rechlin et al. 1998), whereas other studies, similar to ours, show an increase in vagal tone activity (Kollai et al. 1994; Petretta et al. 1997; Casu et al. 2002; Galetta et al. 2003; Cong et al. 2004; Vigo et al. 2008), with a concomitant decrease in sympathetic activity. Such an imbalance can be detrimental, potentially contributing to the higher cardiovascular mortality risk seen in AN patients (Petretta et al. 1997). In line with these results, Melanson et al. (2004) have found reduced HRV in AN patients who are ill for a prolonged period of time. By contrast, Platisa et al. (2005) have found that when standing, AN patients show higher HR, and reduced total HRV and HF spectral power as compared to controls.

Taken together, the studies showing reduced HRV in AN support the notion that malnourished AN patients have abnormal vagal tone activity. Platisa et al. (2006) evaluated linear and non-linear measures of HRV, and found differences in both measures in acute and chronic AN patients over a 24-h assessment period. Specifically, acute AN was characterized by decreased HR and increased HRV, whereas chronic AN patients showed increased HR, reduced HRV and higher differences between awakening and sleeping conditions. Also, Lesinskiene et al. (2008), in a meta-analysis of heart rate and QT interval alteration in anorexia nervosa, showed that bradycardia and relationship between HR and BMI decrease as the disease continues. In contrast to these findings, in our AN sample, the HR and HRV parameters were similar in the acute and chronic phases, and there was no significant correlation between length of disease and HRV parameters.

We have also shown that despite short-term weight restoration and long-term remission characterized with maintenance of normal BMI, female adolescents hospitalized because of AN continue to exhibit cardiovascular vagal hyperactivity. By contrast, other studies have shown reversibility of cardiac abnormalities in AN patients following weight restoration. Thus, Rechlin et al. (1998) have found that the HRV parameters of weight-restored female AN patients are not different from those of control women. Yoshida et al. (2006) have reported that after short-term refeeding (32.4 days), the mean daytime HR of female AN patients rises significantly (from 54.9 to 69.4 bpm) despite no increase in BMI; additionally, the changes in sympathetic activity have been negatively correlated with the changes in HRV. In another study (Ulger et al. 2006), underweight female AN adolescent patients have shown low HR and low R wave amplitudes in V6 lead compared to control girls. Following weight restoration, HR has increased to normal levels, as assessed at one year follow-up. By contrast, although R wave amplitudes in V6 lead have increased after refeeding, they have not reached the levels found in the control group, suggesting that some functional cardiac abnormalities may persist in weight restored AN patients.

The inconsistencies in the findings of the studies assessing HR and HRV in AN may also reflect differences in the patients' gender, age, nutritional status, psychiatric comorbidity, and mineral and electrolyte levels. Whereas mineral and electrolyte alterations are known to affect the function of the such alterations have been found in our sample. The alterations in HR, HRV, and spectral power components found in our AN individuals not only in the malnourished condition, but also at discharge and long-term follow-up, suggest that these alterations are not the mere result of acute malnourishment, but rather represent the consequence of prior illness. Alternatively, the presence of vagal hyperactivity after long-term remission from AN, with the assumed absence of confounding nutritional influences, may suggest that these autonomic changes may putatively reflect a premorbid trait of AN, that might have existed even before the appearance of acute weight reduction (Kaye et al. 2004). If this the case, then the voluntary food restriction and weight reduction found in AN patients puts this already vulnerable group at a particularly high risk to develop cardiac morbidity. Alternatively, the increased ANS involvement in future to be AN patients may have a role in increasing anxiety (Freedman et al. 2007), this when bearing in mind that elevated anxiety is considered a pivotal predisposing factor for the development of AN (Strober 2004)

autonomic function, it is important to note that no

We additionally found in the ECG recordings of some AN patients several segmentations in which the R–R interval fluctuations are abnormal as compared to matched healthy controls (Figure 1). This highly unusual finding is not reflected by the spectrum analysis method and may indicate a form of control-dysregulation.

Apart from possible contributions to our understanding of altered ANS functioning in AN patients, HRV may yield important insights concerning cardiovascular morbidity in these conditions. Experimental and clinical studies demonstrate that cardiovascular autonomic regulation plays an important role in cardiac morbidity and mortality (Kleiger et al. 1987; Verrier 1987; Singer et al. 1988; Tsuji et al. 1994; Carney et al. 1995). Reduced HRV is itself associated with sudden cardiac death, at least in non-psychiatric patients (Singer et al. 1988). Moreover, anxiety symptoms are associated with a 4- to 6-fold increase in sudden cardiac death and cardiac arrhythmias (Coryell et al. 1986; Haines et al. 1987), presumably because of some abnormality in the autonomic control of the heart (Yeragani et al. 2007a,b,c, 2008; Bar et al. 2008).

In light of the evidence that mortality is increased in AN, and since changes in HRV are also predictive risk factors for cardiovascular morbidity and mortality, follow-up prospective longitudinal studies in larger AN samples are required to determine the course and effect of autonomic dysregulation in these patients.

We found no improvement in core ED traits (EAT-26 and EDI-2), EDI-2 related personality attributes, depression and anxiety following weight restoration. Other studies have also found similar findings (Bastiani et al. 1995; Pollice et al. 1997; Stein et al. 2005). One can argue that the lack of improvement following short-term weight restoration may be associated with the presence of considerable psychological distress in adolescent AN inpatients who are still not adjusted to undesired changes in weight and physical appearance. Alternatively, the inclination towards dysphoria and behavioural over-control at weight restoration demonstrated in our AN sample in the high scores of depression, anxiety, and EDI-2-Perfectionism may be explained by a potential increase in brain serotonin concentrations in weight restored AN patients (Kave et al. 2005).

Limitations

We have not followed our comparison group to check whether alterations in cardiac parameters would be found also in normal individuals over time, reflecting a possible time-period effect. We have not been able to control for the effects of psychiatric comorbidity, as similar to previous studies (Halmi et al. 1991), most of our AN inpatients are diagnosed with at least one comorbid DSM-IV Axis I disorder. Moreover, as we have studied only severely ill AN inpatients, our findings cannot be generalized to less severe populations. Fourthly, SSRI treatment is known to affect the function of the ANS and may contribute to



Figure 1. Spontaneous fluctuations in interbeat interval (R-R interval) of a 600-s time period during supine rest. The power spectra (ECG spectrum) show the heart rate variations in all frequency bands. Y-Axis spectra: PSD (ms2r103Hz) Spectral power ranged from 0.0 to 5x104.

disturbances in cardiac autonomic function. However, all malnourished patients and the six remitted patients assessed at long-term follow-up have not received psychotropic medications. Furthermore, the cardiac findings are almost identical in the eight patients receiving SSRIs and the four patients not receiving SSRIs on discharge. These findings suggest that the HRV disturbances in our AN patients are likely the result of the eating disorder itself, rather than a consequence of the influence of psychotropic treatment.

A major limitation of the present study is the considerable dropout rate, both in the weight restoration stage, and specifically at the follow-up assessment. Nevertheless, no differences have been found in any of the baseline physiological and psychometric assessments between AN patients assessed, or not assessed, at stage 2 and 3. Dropout at weight restoration has been associated with the release of several patients from the department before achieving their desired weight, the development of physiological disturbances that required the discontinuation of the study, and technical problems of the spectral analyzer. Our department is a tertiary care centre that hospitalizes patients from all over Israel, thus reducing the likelihood of continuation of treatment in our service following discharge. This may have potentially accounted for our difficulties in locating some former patients at follow-up, whereas others were serving in the Israeli army, thus being unable to participate. Altogether, we suggest that the limitations noted in our study allow our findings to be considered at this time only as preliminary, requiring a much larger cohort to draw more definite conclusions about cardiac ANS abnormalities in AN.

Conclusions

The present preliminary study found that female adolescent inpatients diagnosed with AN have cardiovascular autonomic control dysfunction that may be irreversible after short- and long-term weight gain. This ANS dysfunction may increase the risk of mortality in AN, including that of sudden death.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have not declared any conflicts of interest.

References

- Akselrod S, Gordon D, Ubel F, Shannon D, Barger A, Cohen R. 1981. Power spectral analysis of heart rate fluctuation: A quantitative probe of beat-to beat cardiovascular control. Science 213:220–222.
- American Psychiatric Association. 1994. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 4th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Bar KJ, Koschke M, Berger S, Schulz S, Tancer M, Voss A, Yeragani VK. 2008. Influence of olanzapine on QT variability and complexity measures of heart rate in patients with schizophrenia. J Clin Psychopharmacol 28:694–698.
- Bastiani AM, Rao R, Weltzin T, Kaye WH. 1995. Perfectionism in anorexia nervosa. Int J Eating Disord 17:147–152.
- Beck AT, Ward CH, Mendelson M, Mock J, Erbaugh J. 1961. An inventory for measuring depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 4:53–63.
- Bray GA. 1992. An approach to the classification and evaluation of obesity. In: Bjorntorp P, Brodoff BN, editors. Obesity. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott. pp 294–308.
- Carney RM, Saunders RD, Freedland KE, Stein P, Rich MW, Jaffe AS. 1995. Association of depression with reduced heart rate variability in coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol 76:562–564.
- Casiero D, Frishman WH. 2006. Cardiovascular complications of eating disorders. Cardiol Rev 14:227–231.
- Casu M, Patrone V, Gianelli MV, Marchegiani A, Ragni G, Murialdo G, et al. 2002. Spectral analysis of R–R interval variability by short-term recording in anorexia nervosa. Eat Weight Disord 7:239–243.
- Cong ND, Saikawa T, Ogawa R, Hara M, Takahashi N, Sakata T. 2004. Reduced 24 hour ambulatory blood pressure and abnormal heart rate variability in patients with dysorexia nervosa. Heart 90:563–564.
- Elghozi JL, Girard A, Laude D. 2001. Effects of drugs on the autonomic control of short-term heart rate variability. Auton Neurosci 90:116–121.
- First M, Spitzer R, Gibbon M, Williams J. 1995. Structured clinical interview for Axis-I, DSM-IV disorders. New York: Biometrics Research Department, New York State Psychiatric Institute.
- Friedman BH. 2007. An autonomic flexibility-neurovisceral integration model of anxiety and cardiac vagal tone. Biol Psychiatry 74:185–199.
- Galetta F, Franzoni F, Prattichizzo F, Rolla M, Santoro G, Pentimone F. 2003. Heart rate variability and left ventricular diastolic function in anorexia nervosa. J Adolesc Health 32:416–421.
- Garfinkel PE, Newman A. 2001. The eating attitudes test: Twenty-five years later. Eat Weight Disord 6:1–24.
- Garner DM. 1991. Eating Disorder Inventory-2: Professional Manual. Odessa, Florida: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Garner DM, Olmstead MP, Bohr Y, Garfinkel PE. 1982. The eating attitudes test: Psychometric features and clinical correlates. Psychol Med 12:871–878.
- Halmi KA, Eckert ED, Marchi P, Sampugnaro V, Apple R, Cohen J. 1991. Comorbidity of psychiatric diagnoses in anorexia nervosa. Arch Gen Psychiatry 48:712–718.
- Kaye WH, Bulik CM, Thornton L, Barbarich N, Masters K. 2004. Comorbidity of anxiety disorders with anorexia and bulimia nervosa. Am J Psychiatry 161:2215–2221.
- Kaye WH, Frank GK, Bailer UF, Henry SE. 2005. Neurobiology of anorexia nervosa: clinical implications of alterations of the function of serotonin and other neuronal systems. Int J Eat Disord 37:S15–19; discussion S20–11.
- Kollai M, Bonyhay I, Jokkel G, Szonyi L. 1994. Cardiac vagal hyperactivity in adolescent anorexia nervosa. Eur Heart J 15:1113–1118.

- Korndorfer SR, Lucas AR, Suman VJ, Crowson CS, Krahn LE, Melton LJ. 2003. Long-term survival of patients with anorexia nervosa: a population-based study in Rochester, Minn. Mayo Clin Proc 78:278–284.
- Koslovsky M, Scheinberg Z, Bleich A, Mark M, Apter A, Danon Y, et al. 1992. The factor structure and criterion validity of the short form of the Eating Attitudes Test. J Pers Assess 58:27–35.
- Kreipe RE, Goldstein B, DeKing DE, Tipton R, Kempski MH. 1994. Heart rate power spectrum analysis of autonomic dysfunction in adolescents with anorexia nervosa. Int J Eat Disord 16:159–165.
- Lesinskiene S, Barkus A, Ranceva N, Dembinskas A. 2008. A meta-analysis of heart rate and QT interval alteration in anorexia nervosa. World J Biol Psychiatry 9:86–91.
- Melanson EL, Donahoo WT, Krantz MJ, Poirier P, Mehler PS. 2004. Resting and ambulatory heart rate variability in chronic anorexia nervosa. Am J Cardiol 94:1217–1220.
- Metropolitan Life Insurance Company. 1959. New weight standards for men and women. Stat Bull 40:1–11.
- Millar HR, Wardell F, Vyvyan JP, Naji SA, Prescott GJ, Eagles JM. 2005. Anorexia nervosa mortality in Northeast Scotland, 1965–1999. Am J Psychiatry 162:753–757.
- Neumarker I. 1997. Mortality and sudden death in anorexia nervosa. Int J Eat Disord 21:205–212.
- Neumarker KJ, Dudeck U, Meyer U, Neumarker U, Schulz E, Schonheit B. 1997. Anorexia nervosa and sudden death in childhood: clinical data and results obtained from quantitative neurohistological investigations of cortical neurons. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 247:16–22.
- Niv N, Kaplan Z, Mitrani E, Shiang J. 1998. Validity study of the EDI-2 in Israeli population. Isr J Psychiatry Rel Sci 35:287–292.
- Nudel DB, Gootman N, Nussbaum MP, Shenker IR. 1984. Altered exercise performance and abnormal sympathetic responses to exercise in patients with anorexia nervosa. J Pediatr 105:34–37.
- Petretta M, Bonaduce D, Scalfi L, de Filippo E, Marciano F, Migaux ML, et al. 1997. Heart rate variability as a measure of autonomic nervous system function in anorexia nervosa. Clin Cardiol 20:219–224.
- Platisa MM, Gal V, Damjanovic S. 2005. Spectral analysis of heart period variability in anorexia nervosa. Vojnosanit Pregl 62:27–31.
- Platisa MM, Nestorovic Z, Damjanovic S, Gal V. 2006. Linear and non-linear heart rate variability measures in chronic and acute phase of anorexia nervosa. Clin Physiol Funct Imaging 26:54–60.
- Pollice C, Kaye WH, Greeno CG, Weltzin TE. 1997. Relationship of depression, anxiety, and obsessionality to state of illness in anorexia nervosa. Int J Eat Disord 21:367–376.
- Reas DL, Kjelsas E, Heggestad T, Eriksen L, Nielsen S, Gjertsen F, et al. 2005. Characteristics of anorexia nervosa-related deaths in Norway (1992–2000): data from the National Patient Register and the Causes of Death Register. Int J Eat Disord 37:181–187.
- Rechlin T, Weis M, Ott C, Bleichner F, Joraschky P. 1998. Alterations of autonomic cardiac control in anorexia nervosa. Biol Psychiatry 43:358–363.
- Romano C, Chinali M, Pasanisi F, Greco R, Celentano A, Rocco A, et al. 2003. Reduced hemodynamic load and cardiac hypotrophy in patients with anorexia nervosa. Am J Clin Nutr 77:308–312.
- Rotherham-Borus MJ, Trautman PD. 1988. Hopelessness, depression, and suicidal intent among adolescent suicide attempters. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 27:700–704.
- Singer DH, Martin GJ, Magid N, Weiss JS, Schaad JW, Kehoe R, et al. 1988. Low heart rate variability and sudden cardiac death. J Electrocardiol 21:S46–55.

- Spielberger CD, Gorsuch RL, Lushene RE. 1973. Test Manual for the State Trait Anxiety Inventory. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Stein D, Maayan R, Ram A, Loewenthal R, Achiron A, Modan-Moses D, et al. 2005. Circulatory neurosteroid levels in underweight female adolescent anorexia nervosa inpatients and following weight restoration. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 15:647–653.
- Strober M. 1987. The Eating Disorders Family History Interview. Los Angeles, CA: University of California.
- Strober M. 2004. Pathologic fear conditioning and anorexia nervosa: on the search for novel paradigms. Int J Eat Disord 35:504–508.
- Strober M, Freeman R, Morrell W. 1997. The long-term course of severe anorexia nervosa in adolescents: survival analysis of recovery, relapse, and outcome predictors over 10–15 years in a prospective study. Int J Eat Disord 22:339–360.
- Sullivan PF. 1995. Mortality in anorexia nervosa. Am J Psychiatry 152:1073–1074.
- Tanner J. 1994. The diagnosis and treatment of endocrine disorders in childhood and adolescence. In: Kappy MS, Migeon CJ, editors. Auxology. Springfield, IL: Charles C Thomas. pp 154–158.
- Task Force. 1996. Heart rate variability. Standards of measurement, physiological interpretation, and clinical use. Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and the North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology. Eur Heart J 17: 354–381.
- Teichman Y, Melineck H. 1979. Hebrew translation of the State Trait Anxiety Inventory. Tel Aviv: Tel Aviv University Press (in Hebrew).
- Thiel A, Paul T. 2006. Test-retest reliability of the Eating Disorder Inventory 2. J Psychosom Res 61:567–569.
- Ulger Z, Gurses D, Ozyurek AR, Arikan C, Levent E, Aydogdu S. 2006. Follow-up of cardiac abnormalities in female adolescents with anorexia nervosa after refeeding. Acta Cardiol 61:43–49.
- Verrier RL. 1987. Mechanisms of behaviorally induced arrhythmias. Circulation 76:I48–56.
- Vigo DE, Castro MN, Dörpinghaus A, Weidema H, Cardinali DP, Siri LN, et al. 2008. Nonlinear analysis of heart rate variability in patients with eating disorders. World J Biol Psychiatry 9:183–189.
- Yackobovitch-Gavan M, Golan M, Valevski A, Kreitler S, Bachar E, Lieblich A, et al. 2009. An integrative quantitative model of factors influencing the course of anorexia nervosa over time. Inter J Eat Disord 42(4):306–317.
- Yeragani VK, Berger R, Desai N, Bar KJ, Chokka P, Tancer M. 2007a. Relationship between beat-to-beat variability of RTpeak and RT-end intervals in normal controls, patients with anxiety, and patients with cardiovascular disease. Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol 12:203–209.
- Yeragani VK, Kumar R, Bar KJ, Chokka P, Tancer M. 2007b. Exaggerated differences in pulse wave velocity between left and right sides among patients with anxiety disorders and cardiovascular disease. Psychosom Med 69:717–722.
- Yeragani VK, Pohl R, Bar KJ, Chokka P, Tancer M. 2007c. Exaggerated beat-to-beat R amplitude variability in patients with panic disorder after intravenous isoproterenol. Neuropsychobiology 55:213–218.
- Yeragani VK, Chokka P, Tancer M, Sivaraju A, Bar KJ. 2008. Increased beat-to-beat'R' amplitude variability in patients with panic disorder. Int J Cardiol.
- Yoshida NM, Yoshiuchi K, Kumano H, Sasaki T, Kuboki T. 2006. Changes in heart rate with refeeding in anorexia nervosa: a pilot study. J Psychosom Res 61:571–575.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Planning in borderline personality disorder: Evidence for distinct subpopulations

M. LEONOR BUSTAMANTE^{1,2}, JUANA VILLARROEL¹, VALERIA FRANCESETTI³, MATÍAS RÍOS³, MAURICIO ARCOS-BURGOS^{4,5}, SONIA JEREZ¹, PATRICIA ITURRA², ALDO SOLARI² & HERNÁN SILVA¹

¹Personality Disorders Unit, Department of Psychiatry and Mental Health, Clinical Hospital of the University of Chile, Santiago, Chile, ²Biomedical Sciences Institute, Faculty of Medicine, University of Chile, Santiago, Chile, ³Faculty of Social Sciences, University of Chile, Santiago, Chile, ⁴Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Leonard M. Miller School of Medicine, University of Miami, FL, US, and ⁵Medical Genetics Branch, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, US

Abstract

Objective. Borderline personality disorder is a severe mental disorder, whereas previous studies suggest executive functions may be impaired. The aim of this study was to evaluate executive planning in a sample of 85 individuals. *Methods.* Planning was assessed by means of the Tower of London (Drexel University version) task. Latent class cluster analysis models were adjusted to the data. *Results.* We identified two different subpopulations of borderline personality disorder patients, one of them with significantly reduced performance. *Conclusion.* Neuropsychological mechanisms may be involved in borderline personality disorder, at least in a subgroup of patients.

Key words: Borderline personality disorder, neuropsychological tests, impulsivity

Introduction

Borderline personality disorder (BPD) is a psychiatric condition characterized by affective disturbance, impulsivity, disturbed cognition, and intense unstable relationships (Herpertz et al. 2007). BPD affects 1–2% of the population and it is associated with high levels of suffering and impairment and a significant increase in the suicide risk (Hyman 2002), as well as a greater frequency of utilization of various forms of treatment compared to other mental disorders (Bender et al. 2001). Major depressive disorder, anxiety disorders and substance abuse are frequently comorbid with BPD and in this context have a poorer prognosis (Skodol et al. 2002).

Executive functions (EF) are the cognitive skills responsible for the development of complex, goal-oriented behaviours, including set-shifting and set maintenance, interference control, inhibition, integration across space and time, planning and working memory (Pennington and Ozonoff 1996). Neuropsychological correlates of BPD are currently not known, since studies that have been carried out for the past two decades have shown inconsistent results. While some of them conclude that there is a link between executive dysfunction and BPD (Burgess 1991; van Reekum et al. 1996; Bazanis et al. 2002; Coolidge et al. 2004; Dinn et al. 2004; Stevens et al. 2004; Beblo et al. 2006), other identified no differences between patients and control individuals (Driessen et al. 2000; Sprock et al. 2000; Kunert et al. 2003). A detailed review of studies of cognition in BPD can be found in (Fertuck et al. 2006). A meta-analysis concluded that BPD patients perform more poorly than controls in every aspect of EF (Ruocco 2005). This author identified a smaller, albeit statistically significant, effect size for cognitive flexibility, whereas the domain of planning showed a much larger effect relative to healthy controls. We studied planning among BPD patients and normal individuals. Using

Correspondence: M. Leonor Bustamante, Personality Disorders Unit, Department of Psychiatry, Clinical Hospital of the University of Chile, Av. La Paz 1003, Recoleta, Santiago, Chile. Tel: +56 2 9788620. Fax: +56 2 7776786. E-mail: mbustamante@med.uchile.cl; bustamanteleonor@gmail.com

(Received 24 August 2008; accepted 7 May 2009)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970903079481

latent class cluster analysis (LCCA) we found the presence of cryptic substructure among BPD patients based on their EF performance.

Methods

Subjects, clinical and neuropsychological assessment

Individuals were ascertained from outpatient consultants to the departments of Psychiatry, Odontology or Surgery of the Clinical Hospital of the University of Chile. The sample consisted of 85 individuals. Sixty percent the sample (51 subjects) met criteria for BPD, while 34 subjects did not. Diagnostic suspicion of BPD was established through the abbreviated IPDE interview. The BPD module of the complete version of IPDE was administered to those individuals that scored high on this part of the abbreviated IPDE. Using the abbreviated version of the interview, at least another personality disorder was suspected in 88.9% of the BPD patients (at least one cluster A disorder in 60%, at least one cluster B disorder other than BPD in 57.8%, and at least one cluster C disorder in 66.7%). Control individuals did not meet criteria for any personality disorder. Both for BPD patients and control subjects, presence of Axis I pathology, including current or past psychotic disorders or bipolar disorder, or neurological or medical illnesses interfering with the neuropsychological evaluation were exclusion criteria. BPD patients were free of medication for at least 2 weeks prior to evaluation.

Measures of impulsivity were also performed, using the Overt Aggression Scale modified for outpatients (OAS-M), and Barratt Impulsiveness Scale version 10 (BIS-10). OAS-M (Yudofsky et al. 1986; Coccaro et al. 1991) is an instrument for rating aggressiveness (OAS-A), irritability (OAS-I) and suicidality (OAS-S). These features are scored independently and the three scores are added to obtain a total (OAS-T). This measure is statedependent. On the other hand, BIS-10 (Patton et al. 1995) is a trait-dependent instrument. It is a self-report, Likert-type questionnaire that estimates impulsiveness that manifests as motor (BIS-M), attentional (BIS-A), and non-planning (BIS-NP) impulsiveness. It has a significant, positive correlation with BPD diagnosis (Fossati et al. 2007).

Executive planning was assessed by means of the Tower of London, Drexel University version (TOL-DX) task. The test is composed by a board of three different sized bars and three beads of different colors. The examinee must construct a given configuration while following the specific constraints of the task. The following scores are recorded: *total move score* (TMS: number of movements that the

subject needed to accomplish the pattern that exceed the minimum of movements required); latency time (LT: time that goes from the reception of the instruction to the initiation of the action); execution time (ET: time that it takes to the subject to solve the exercises, starting from the first movement that he performs); and problem solving time (PST: the sum of the latency and execution times). Ten problems are presented in an increasing degree of difficulty. Problems 1 through 5 can be solved in a minimum of two to five moves, while the rest of the problems require six or seven moves to be solved. The resolution of the more difficult problems (6-10) could increase the sensitivity of the measure (Culbertson and Zillmer 1998) and were therefore considered for the following analysis.

All the individuals gave their written consent to participate in this study, which was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Clinical Hospital of the University of Chile and was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Statistical analysis

Mean comparisons were carried out through parametric (Student's t) and non-parametric (Mann-Whitney U) tests when corresponding, using SPSS 17.0 software. Correlations were investigated using Pearson's coefficient.

Latent Class Cluster Analysis (LCCA) models containing one through 10 classes were fitted to the data using Latent Gold 4.0 software (Statistical Innovations, Belmont, MA). To avoid ending up with local solutions (a well-known problem in LCA), we used multiple sets of starting values as automatically implemented in Latent GOLD. The Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) was used to select the best fit model. Because we were dealing with sparse contingency tables, we estimated P values associated with L^2 statistics by (500 replicates) rather than relying on asymptotic P values. To obtain a bootstrap estimate of the *P* value corresponding to the difference in log-likelihood value between two nested models, such as two models with different numbers of latent classes or different number of discrete factors follows a procedure where the -2LL-difference statistic is defined as $-2 \times (LLH0)$ - LLH1), where H0 refers to the more restricted hypothesized model (say a K-class model) and H1 to the more general model (say a model with K+1classes). Replication samples were generated from the probability distribution defined by the ML estimates under H0. The estimated bootstrap p value is defined as the proportion of bootstrap samples with a larger -2LL-difference value than the original sample (Vermunt and Magidson 2005). This approach was overall comparable with the selection of the best fitting model when using parsimony criteria such as the BIC.

The analysis included as indicators the TMS, LT, ET, and PST scores in the TOL-DX as well BIS and OAS-M scores. As covariates for the model, we used gender, age, and BPD diagnosis. We did not consider the presence of interactions between variables and the basic assumption of local independence of the standard latent class model was supported. Next, we relaxed the local independence assumption by allowing for interactions between variables, as well as for direct effects of covariates on variables (Vermunt 1997). Latent GOLD calculates bivariate variablevariable and variable-covariate residuals that can be used to detect which pairs of observed variables are more strongly related. Therefore, bivariate residuals greater than 3.84 were included iteratively for each model to identify significant correlations between the associated variable-variable and variablecovariate pairs inside each class. An alpha level of 0.01 was chosen to consider a variable or covariate as significant.

The data generated by LCC was used to assign each individual to its corresponding cluster, and means of the scores of each cluster on clinical and neuropsychological measures were compared by parametric (ANOVA followed by Tukey test) or non-parametric (Kruskal–Wallis H followed by Mann–Whitney U) tests.

Results

The sample was composed of 85 individuals, 71.8% female and 28.2% male. Their mean age was 31.3 years. Sixty percent of the sample was affected by BPD. Table I shows the scores of controls and BPD patients on clinical measures (BIS and OAS total

Table I. Controls' and borderline personality disorder patients' scores (mean \pm SD) on clinical measures.

	Control	BPD
BIS total**	57.44 ± 10.96	76.35 ± 12.34
BIS-M**	14.44 ± 3.61	24.75 ± 5.14
BIS-A**	22.21 ± 4.57	26.8 ± 4.88
BIS-NP**	20.79 ± 4.84	24.8 ± 5.68
OAS-total**	1.56 ± 2.21	38.27 ± 21.33
OAS-A**	1.18 ± 1.87	28.94 ± 19.76
OAS-I**	0.35 ± 0.77	6.53 ± 2.05
OAS-S**	0.03 ± 0.17	2.98 ± 3.41

BPD, borderline personality disorder; BIS, Barratt Impulsiveness Scale, including total, motor (BIS-M), attentional (BIS-A), and non-planning (BIS-NP) impulsiveness; OAS, Overt Aggression Scale, modified for outpatients, including total, aggressiveness (OAS-A), irritability (OAS-I) and suicidality (OAS-S) scores. **Significant differences (P<0.01) between both groups. and subscales). There are significant differences (P < 0.01) on each one of them.

Table II shows the scores of controls and BPD patients on the TOL-DX. No significant differences (P > 0.05) were identified between both groups. Significant correlations at the 0.05 level were found between OAS scores (except OAS-S) and ET, and between OAS-I and PST. No correlation was found between BIS scores and TOL-DX parameters (data not shown).

LCC analysis

A three-class model was found to best fit the data. Of the proposed indicators, LT, ET, PST, and BIS total and subtotals and OAS score proved to have a significant effect on cluster membership (P<0.01). TMS score did not have an effect (P=0.94). Among the covariates, diagnosis was shown to be significant in terms of cluster membership (P<0.01). Age and gender did not have an effect (P=0.027 and P=0.62, respectively). Figure 1 depicts the threeclass model.

All of the control individuals belonged to cluster 2. Meanwhile, 79.1% of BPD patients belonged to cluster 1, and 20.9% to cluster 3. Cluster 1 and cluster 3 were made up exclusively of BPD patients, and these two clusters behave in a similar fashion regarding the OAS and BIS scores. However, as to the TOL-DX performance, cluster 1 is indistinguishable from cluster 2 (which is made up of non BPD individuals), while cluster 3 separates from the other two clusters. This latter group presents higher times of latency, execution, and total problem solving. Tables III–V present the comparison between the scores of controls and of the two BPD patients subgroups on clinical and neuropsychological measures.

Discussion

In the present study we identified two subpopulations among the BPD patients distinguishable on the basis of their performance on a task that measures EF. BPD patients tended to score higher on clinical

Table II. Controls' and borderline personality disorder patients' scores (mean \pm SD) on problems 6–10 of the Tower of London-DX task.

	Control	BPD
TMS	17.06 ± 1.65	17.27 ± 9.79
LT	15.65 ± 10.35	22.45 ± 20.94
ET	84.41 ± 35.14	106.02 ± 60.75
PST	103.82 ± 36.56	118.61 ± 59.5

BPD, borderline personality disorder; TMS, total move score; LT, latency time; ET, execution time; PST, problem solving time.


Figure 1. Three-class model for impulsivity measures and executive planning. OAS, Overt Aggression Scale, modified for outpatients; BIS, Barratt Impulsiveness Scale; LT, latency time; ET, execution time; PST, problem solving time.

self-report measures (BIS, OAS), but one subgroup performed poorer on all time indices of the TOL-DX, whereas a second subgroup performed comparably to controls. This suggests that neuropsychological mechanisms are involved in BPD, at least in a subgroup of patients.

The literature regarding the neuropsychological performance of BPD patients comprises discordant results whose comparison is not straightforward, however meta-analytical techniques point to the existence of differences with control individuals, specially in the domain of planning (Ruocco 2005). When tower tasks have been employed, the pattern of impairment observed is comparable to that found by our group (Beblo et al. 2006), with differences in the time of resolution of the task but not in the number of moves. Discordant conclusions (Kunert et al. 2003) could be explained by existence of heterogeneity within the population of patients that has been demonstrated in the present study. The work of (Ruocco 2005) also suggests that this discrepancy is likely due to low limited statistical power of individual studies.

Table III. Controls (cluster 2) and borderline personality disorder patients (clusters 1 and 3) scores (mean \pm SD) on Barratt Impulsiveness Scale.

Cluster	1	2	3
BIS total BIS-M BIS-A BIS-NP	$76.65 \pm 13.32 \\ 25.13 \pm 5.17 \\ 26.9 \pm 5.28 \\ 24.63 \pm 5.79$	57.44±10.96** 14.44±3.61** 22.21±4.57** 20.79±4.84**	$75.27 \pm 8.77 \\23.36 \pm 5.03 \\26.45 \pm 3.14 \\25.45 \pm 5.5$

Significant differences (*P<0.05 and **P<0.01, respectively) with the other two clusters. BIS, Barratt Impulsiveness Scale, including total, motor (BIS-M), attentional (BIS-A), and non-planning (BIS-NP) impulsiveness.

Table IV. Controls (cluster 2) and borderline personality disorder patients (clusters 1 and 3) scores (mean \pm SD) on Overt Aggresion Scale modified for outpatients.

Cluster	1	2	3
OAS total OAS-A OAS-I OAS-S	$39.88 \pm 22.02 \\ 30.45 \pm 20.52 \\ 6.65 \pm 2.07 \\ 3 \pm 3.24$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.56 \pm 2.2^{\star\star} \\ 1.18 \pm 1.87^{\star\star} \\ 0.35 \pm 0.77^{\star\star} \\ 0.03 \pm 0.17^{\star\star} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 32.45 \pm 18.3 \\ 23.45 \pm 16.34 \\ 6.09 \pm 2.02 \\ 2.91 \pm 4.13 \end{array}$

**Significant differences (P<0.01) with the other two clusters. OAS, Overt Aggression Scale, modified for outpatients, including total, aggressiveness (OAS-A), irritability (OAS-I) and suicidality (OAS-S) scores.

Clinical differences between BPD patients subgroups are not evident with the measures used in this study. Thus, BIS total and subscales scores, as well as OAS total and subscales scores are not significantly different between these subpopulations. Further studies are needed to find out whether these neuropsychological patterns correlate with clinical severity, response to treatment, among others.

The findings of the present study indicate that executive dysfunction is not an essential feature of BPD. In fact, despite the absence of dysfunction in the TOL-DX task, cluster 1 individuals exhibit high levels of impulsivity and aggression. A possible explanation for this is that these clinical features are not mediated by neuropsychological mechanisms, but the possibility of the existence of executive dysfunction that has not been detected by the present study must also be acknowledged. TOL-DX is mainly although not exclusively a measure of working memory, planning and strategy use (Unterrainer and Owen 2006), but other domains of EF, such as the inhibition of habitual or prepotent responses were not evaluated. Furthermore, whereas abstract and decontextualized problems like the one we presented here demand the activation of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, situations with affective involvement require the activation of orbitofrontal cortical regions (Castellanos et al. 2006), a region that may be compromised in BPD (Berlin et al. 2005) and that was not evaluated here. Administration of other EF tasks, including those where an affective component is involved, could be necessary

Table V. Controls (cluster 2) and borderline personality disorder patients (clusters 1 and 3) scores (mean \pm SD) on Tower of London, Drexel University version.

Cluster 1 2 3 LT 14.7±5.94 15.65±10.35 50.64±30.67** ET 86.18±24.39 84.41±52.14 178.18±93.96** PST 86.18±24.39 103.82±36.56 228.82±86.97**				
LT 14.7 ± 5.94 15.65 ± 10.35 $50.64 \pm 30.67^{**}$ ET 86.18 ± 24.39 84.41 ± 52.14 $178.18 \pm 93.96^{**}$ PST 86.18 ± 24.39 103.82 ± 36.56 $228.82 \pm 86.97^{**}$	Cluster	1	2	3
$101 80.18 \pm 24.39 102.82 \pm 20.30 228.82 \pm 80.97^{\circ}$	LT ET	14.7 ± 5.94 86.18 ± 24.39	15.65 ± 10.35 84.41 ± 52.14 102.82 ± 26.56	$50.64 \pm 30.67^{**}$ $178.18 \pm 93.96^{**}$
	121	80.18 ± 24.39	103.82 ± 30.50	228.82±86.97^^

**Significant differences (P<0.01) with the other two clusters. LT, latency time; ET, execution time; PST, problem solving time.

for the purposes of this line of research. Another limitation of the present study is that included only outpatients. We must also address the fact that our sample shows a high frequency of comorbidity with other personality disorders, thus making difficult to ensure that our findings are specific of BPD. This phenomenon has been acknowledged both in research as well as in clinical practice, where practically all patients meet criteria for more than one personality disorder. This is viewed as a limitation of the categorical classification system (Livesley 2008). An answer to that limitation could be an extension of the current model with the integration of a dimensional approach (Livesley 2007). Until that new framework is well defined, the categorical diagnosis is helpful for communication and reproduction of our findings.

Considering that both daily life activities as well as medical and psychological treatment compliance are goal-oriented complex behaviors, executive dysfunction is a major source of impairment in psychiatric disorders (Royall et al. 2002). Therefore, although differences between healthy and affected individuals are neither generalized nor large enough as to be useful as markers of the disorder, recognizing its presence should be a part of an integral diagnosis that can properly estimate the functional status and that could have prognostic relevance. It could be hypothesized that the amount of benefit obtained from psychotherapy, a process that relies on memory and language, could be diminished in those patients with cognitive dysfunctions. These dysfunctions should be also considered when deciding about pharmacological treatment, given that drugs can influence EF either positively or negatively (Arnsten et al. 1995, 1999; Mehta and Riedel 2006). Furthermore, non-pharmacological, cognitively oriented interventions that have proven useful in other disorders (Wasserstein and Lynn 2001) could have a role in BPD.

The present study contributes to the neuropsychological characterization of BPD and poses questions regarding the significance of executive dysfunctions in this disorder, proposing that these could have diagnostic and prognostic relevance.

Acknowledgements

This work was financed by the Fondo Nacional de Desarrollo Científico y Tecnológico (FONDECYT) Project 1071045 and by the Oficina de Apoyo a la Investigación Científica (OAIC) from the Clinical Hospital of the University of Chile, Project 193/06.

Statement of interest

No conflict of interest declared.

References

- Arnsten AF, Cai JX, Steere JC, Goldman-Rakic PS. 1995. Dopamine D2 receptor mechanisms contribute to age-related cognitive decline: the effects of quinpirole on memory and motor performance in monkeys. J Neurosci 15(5 Pt 1):3429– 3439.
- Arnsten AF, Mathew R, Ubriani R, Taylor JR, Li BM. 1999. Alpha-1 noradrenergic receptor stimulation impairs prefrontal cortical cognitive function. Biol Psychiatry 45(1):26–31.
- Bazanis E, Rogers RD, Dowson JH, Taylor P, Meux C, Staley C, et al. 2002. Neurocognitive deficits in decision-making and planning of patients with DSM-III-R borderline personality disorder. Psychol Med 32(8):1395–1405.
- Beblo T, Saavedra AS, Mensebach C, Lange W, Markowitsch HJ, Rau H, et al. 2006. Deficits in visual functions and neuropsychological inconsistency in Borderline Personality Disorder. Psychiatry Res 145(2–3):127–135.
- Bender DS, Dolan RT, Skodol AE, Sanislow CA, Dyck IR, McGlashan TH, et al. 2001. Treatment utilization by patients with personality disorders. Am J Psychiatry 158(2):295–302.
- Berlin HA, Rolls ET, Iversen SD. 2005. Borderline personality disorder, impulsivity, and the orbitofrontal cortex. Am J Psychiatry 162(12):2360–2373.
- Burgess JW. 1991. Relationship of depression and cognitive impairment to self-injury in borderline personality disorder, major depression, and schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res 38(1):77– 87.
- Castellanos FX, Sonuga-Barke EJ, Milham MP, Tannock R. 2006. Characterizing cognition in ADHD: beyond executive dysfunction. Trends Cogn Sci 10(3):117–123.
- Coccaro EF, Harvey PD, Kupsaw-Lawrence E, Herbert JL, Bernstein DP. 1991. Development of neuropharmacologically based behavioral assessments of impulsive aggressive behavior. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 3(2):S44–51.
- Coolidge FL, Thede LL, Jang KL. 2004. Are personality disorders psychological manifestations of executive function deficits? Bivariate heritability evidence from a twin study. Behav Genet 34(1):75–84.
- Culbertson WC, Zillmer EA. 1998. The Tower of London(DX): a standardized approach to assessing executive functioning in children. Arch Clin Neuropsychol 13(3):285–301.
- Dinn WM, Harris CL, Aycicegi A, Greene PB, Kirkley SM, Reilly C. 2004. Neurocognitive function in borderline personality disorder. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 28(2):329–341.
- Driessen M, Herrmann J, Stahl K, Zwaan M, Meier S, Hill A, et al. 2000. Magnetic resonance imaging volumes of the hippocampus and the amygdala in women with borderline personality disorder and early traumatization. Arch Gen Psychiatry 57(12):1115–1122.
- Fertuck EA, Lenzenweger MF, Clarkin JF, Hoermann S, Stanley B. 2006. Executive neurocognition, memory systems, and borderline personality disorder. Clin Psychol Rev 26(3):346– 375.
- Fossati A, Barratt ES, Borroni S, Villa D, Grazioli F, Maffei C. 2007. Impulsivity, aggressiveness, and DSM-IV personality disorders. Psychiatry Res 149(1–3):157–167.
- Herpertz SC, Zanarini M, Schulz CS, Siever L, Lieb K, Moller HJ. 2007. World Federation of Societies of Biological Psychiatry (WFSBP) guidelines for biological treatment of personality disorders. World J Biol Psychiatry 8(4):212–244.

- Hyman SE. 2002. A new beginning for research on borderline personality disorder. Biol Psychiatry 51(12):933–935.
- Kunert HJ, Druecke HW, Sass H, Herpertz SC. 2003. Frontal lobe dysfunctions in borderline personality disorder? Neuropsychological findings. J Personal Disord 17(6):497–509.
- Livesley WJ. 2007. A framework for integrating dimensional and categorical classifications of personality disorder. J Pers Disord 21(2):199–224.
- Livesley WJ. 2008. Research trends and directions in the study of personality disorder. Psychiatr Clin North Am 31(3):545–559, ix.
- Mehta MA, Riedel WJ. 2006. Dopaminergic enhancement of cognitive function. Curr Pharm Des 12(20):2487–2500.
- Patton JH, Stanford MS, Barratt ES. 1995. Factor structure of the Barratt impulsiveness scale. J Clin Psychol 51(6):768–774.
- Pennington BF, Ozonoff S. 1996. Executive functions and developmental psychopathology. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 37(1):51–87.
- Royall DR, Lauterbach EC, Cummings JL, Reeve A, Rummans TA, Kaufer DI, et al. 2002. Executive control function: a review of its promise and challenges for clinical research. A report from the Committee on Research of the American Neuropsychiatric Association. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 14(4):377–405.
- Ruocco AC. 2005. The neuropsychology of borderline personality disorder: a meta-analysis and review. Psychiatry Res 137(3):191–202.

- Skodol AE, Gunderson JG, Pfohl B, Widiger TA, Livesley WJ, Siever LJ. 2002. The borderline diagnosis I: psychopathology, comorbidity, and personality structure. Biol Psychiatry 51(12):936–950.
- Sprock J, Rader TJ, Kendall JP, Yoder CY. 2000. Neuropsychological functioning in patients with borderline personality disorder. J Clin Psychol 56(12):1587–1600.
- Stevens A, Burkhardt M, Hautzinger M, Schwarz J, Unckel C. 2004. Borderline personality disorder: impaired visual perception and working memory. Psychiatry Res 125(3):257–267.
- Unterrainer JM, Owen AM. 2006. Planning and problem solving: from neuropsychology to functional neuroimaging. J Physiol Paris 99(4–6):308–317.
- van Reekum R, Links PS, Finlayson MA, Boyle M, Boiago I, Ostrander LA, et al. 1996. Repeat neurobehavioral study of borderline personality disorder. J Psychiatry Neurosci 21(1):13–20.
- Vermunt J. 1997. Log-linear models for event histories. Thousand Oakes, CA: Sage Publications.
- Vermunt J, Magidson J. 2005. Technical guide for Latent Gold 4.0: Basic and advanced. Belmont, MA: Statistical innovations Inc.
- Wasserstein J, Lynn A. 2001. Metacognitive remediation in adult ADHD. Treating executive function deficits via executive functions. Ann NY Acad Sci 931:376–384.
- Yudofsky SC, Silver JM, Jackson W, Endicott J, Williams D. 1986. The Overt Aggression Scale for the objective rating of verbal and physical aggression. Am J Psychiatry 143(1):35–39.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Paternal age and common mental disorders

SAROJA KRISHNASWAMY¹, KAVITHA SUBRAMANIAM², HAYMANTH INDRAN³, PADMA RAMACHANDRAN⁴, TISHYA INDRAN⁵, RAMESH INDRAN⁶ & JEMAIN ABDUL AZIZ⁷

¹Department of Psychiatry, Penang Medical College, Penang, Malaysia, ²Department of Public Health Medicine, Penang Medical College, Penang, Malaysia, ³Codegen Research, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, ⁴Department of Psychology, Middlesex University, London, UK, ⁵Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Adelaide, Australia, ⁶University of Kent, Canterbury, UK, and ⁷Department of Statistics, Faculty of Science and Technology, National University of Malaysia, Bangi, Malaysia

Abstract

Introduction. There is evidence in the literature that there are associations between advancing paternal age and psychosis or more specifically schizophrenia, but not enough to support a strong link between advancing paternal age and common mental disorders. *Objective*. This study aims to explain the association between paternal age at birth and common mental disorders in progeny during their adulthood. *Methodology*. This is a sub-study from a larger survey which was planned to study the epidemiology of mental disorders in Malaysia. Respondents who could remember the age of parents at birth were included in the study. The diagnosis of common mental disorders (CMD) was made using the CIS-R (Clinical Interview Schedule-Revised) instrument in the PROQSY (Programmed Questionnaire System) format. Association between paternal age at birth and CMD was studied using logistic regression, after controlling for age, gender, ethnicity and presence of family history of mental disorders. *Results*. Respondents with paternal age at birth of 19 and below and 50 above and had higher rates of 10 and 25% for common mental disorders ($\chi^2 = 7.007$, P = 0.072) with odds ratios of 2.89 (95% CI of OR = 1.1–7.6) and 4.28 (1.4–12.7). *Discussion*. Progenies of fathers under 20 and over 50 had higher risk for mental disorders. Factors such as immaturity in sperm of teenage fathers, mutation in germ line of older fathers, environmental and psychosocial factors could have contributed to increased prevalence of common mental disorders in the progeny.

Key words: Paternal age, common mental disorders

Introduction

Advanced parental age-associated mutation in the gametes is related to higher rates of congenital disorders in the progenies (Tarin et al. 1998; Thacker 2004), as in Down's syndrome being 1 in 300 if maternal age at birth is 35 and 1 in 100 if the maternal age is 40 and above (Thacker 2004). Association between advanced paternal age of 50 and above with increased risk of schizophrenia has been noted in studies using cohort and case-control study designs (Brown et al. 2002; Dalman and Allebeck 2002). A three-country study (Denmark, Sweden and Australia) examining the effect of parental age at birth as a risk factor for psychosis showed that in Denmark and Sweden the risk of psychosis was higher among the offspring of older fathers and very young mothers (20 and below)

(El-Saadi et al. 2004). To our knowledge there is no available literature on the association between parental ages at birth and risk of common mental disorders per se in the progenies. This study which is a part of a larger epidemiological survey, the Malaysian Mental Health Survey, MMHS, (2004–2006) was designed to examine the prevalence, of risk factors and quality of life associated with psychiatric disorders, while this study aims to explain the association between paternal age and presence of common mental disorders in adult progenies.

Methodology

Sampling

The required sample size was estimated to be 4300 respondents at 90% confidence level by taking into

Correspondence: Professor Saroja Krishnaswamy, Department of Psychiatry, Penang Medical College, No. 4, Jalan Sepoy Lines, 10450 Penang, Malaysia. E-mail: Saroja54@hotmail.com

(Received 30 June 2008; accepted 18 November 2008)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970802653691

account the disorder with the least prevalence rate in the population, panic disorder (Singleton et al. 2003). Multistage cluster sampling method was used to sample respondents. First stage involved selection of states (clusters) by geographical distribution with one state from the west coast (Penang), one from the east coast (Kelantan), one from the middle of the peninsular Malaysia (Negeri Sembilan) and one state from the East Malaysia (Sarawak). Federal Territory was included to represent the capital of the country. The second stage of sampling involved selection of enumeration blocks (EB) by ethnic distribution, from which households were later selected systematically. Enumerators, upon visit to the listed households, made a list of the eligible samples in the household and chose two respondents, preferably a male and a female, with the aid of random selection tables provided. All Malaysian citizens aged 16 and above were eligible to participate in the survey with exception of those unable to answer questions due to physical impediments, the elderly (aged 60 and above) who had low scores (0-4)for Elderly Cognitive Assessments Questionnaire (ECAQ) (Saroja et al. 1995), those who were not members of the household (e.g., relatives who were visiting) and those who were not at home after three consecutive attempts to contact them. The selected respondents were interviewed upon verbal consent using the instruments in the absence of other family members.

Enumerators for this study, who were college students, medical students, research assistants and contract staff from the Statistical Departments were trained and mock interviews were carried out for three days before the actual commencement of the fieldwork. Only those who showed satisfactory agreement with the trainers were kept in the survey. The enumerators were assisted by trainers on the field on the first day of data collection and watched interviews being carried out by trainers upon consent by the respondents.

Instruments

Instruments used in this study were the Clinical Interview Schedule Revised (CIS-R) (Lewis et al. 1992) in Programmed Questionnaire System (PROQSY) format (Lewis 1994) to diagnose common mental disorders which include mixed anxiety and depressive disorder, depressive episode, generalized anxiety disorder, phobic disorders, panic disorder and obsessive compulsive disorder. The instrument has 14 subsections, each assessing an individual symptom. A total score of 12 and above after summation of scores for individual sections indicate presence of clinically diagnosable mental

disorders. The PROQSY generates an automatic ICD-10 diagnosis for each respondent based on the answers given, thus providing an outcome equivalent to as being seen by a psychiatrist. Psychosis screening questionnaire (PSQ) was used to screen for psychosis (Bebbington and Nayani 1995), Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) questionnaire for alcohol use disorders (Babor et al. 1992), Items from Diagnostic Interview Schedule (DIS) (Robins et al. 1982) for drug use and Shortforms 12 (SF-12) (Ware et al. 1996) for quality of life assessment. Subjects who were screened positive for psychosis using PSQ or were in the highest and lowest 5% scores for CIS-R or AUDIT were identified and interviewed by psychiatrists using Schedule for Clinical Assessment in Neuropsychiatry, SCAN (Wing et al., 1990) within a month from data collection. Age of parents at birth of the respondents was determined by the respondents being asked to estimate the parental age as in these categories, 20-29, 30-39, 40-49, 50-59 years old and older. Family history of mental illness was assessed only in the first-degree family members, i.e. parents, siblings and children. Presence of family history of mental disorders was assessed using an item from WHO-Mental Health Risk Factor analysis instrument. The item was as follows: "Has any of your parent, sibling or children ever had mental disorders?"

Ethical approval

Ethical approval was obtained from the National University of Malaysia Ethical Committee.

Analysis

Analysis was made using the Statistical Packages for Social Sciences (SPSS) software version 12. Descriptive statistics including chi-square tests were used to study association between parental age at birth and common mental disorders. Logistic regression models were developed to study parental age at birth and the presence of mental illness after adjusting for age, gender, ethnicity and presence of family history of mental disorders.

Results

Three thousand six hundred and sixty-six adults from five states in Malaysia participated in the Malaysian Mental Health Survey (MMHS). A total of 2174 respondents or 59% from the MMHS population could estimate the age of at least one parent and were included in this study. Ninety-one percent of those respondents (n = 1972) knew the age of both of their parents whereas 183 subjects only knew the age of mother and 19 subjects only that of their fathers.

Prevalence rate for common mental disorders was 6% (n = 130) with 95% confidence interval of 5.53– 6.47. The most frequently obtained diagnosis was mild mixed anxiety and depressive disorder (n = 59), followed by mixed anxiety and depressive disorder (n = 34), generalised anxiety disorders (n = 15), phobic disorders (n = 14) and mild depressive episode (n = 8).

Forty-one percent of the MMHS subjects did not know the age of parents at birth and thus could not be included in this analysis. The included and excluded respondents were compared for prevalence of mental disorders and demographic characteristics. The two groups do not have significantly different rates for common mental disorders (6 and 5%) and no significant difference in demographics (Table I).

Fifty-four percent (n = 1181) of the respondents were born to mothers aged 20–29 years old followed by mothers aged 30–39 years old (n = 599, 28%). Forty-five percent of respondents (n = 929) were born to fathers 20–29 years old, followed by 35% born to fathers 30–39 years old. More mothers were aged below 20 (n = 294, 13%) in comparison to fathers (n = 78, 3%) and there were more fathers aged 40 and above (n = 248, 12%) in comparison to mothers (n = 81, 4%).

Profiling of parental age and presence of common mental disorders among respondents are shown in Table II. No association was observed between maternal age at birth and presence of common mental disorders among respondents ($\chi^2 = 7.007$,

Table I. Knew parental age versus those who did not.

Factor	Knew parental age	Did not know parental age	Test statistics (χ^2, P)
Presence of CM	D		
No	2043 (94)	1413 (95)	0.88
Yes	131 (6)	79 (5)	0.3495
Gender			
Female	1334 (62)	909 (61)	0.19
Male	830 (38)	583 (39)	0.6603
Ethnicity			
Malay	1196 (55)	773 (52)	18.58
Chinese	564 (26)	424 (28)	0.000
Indian	248 (11)	134 (9)	
Others	166 (8)	161 (10)	
Age			
≤ 19	216 (10)	79 (5)	339.69
20–29	468 (21)	226 (15)	0.000
30–39	497 (23)	311 (21)	
40–49	443 (20)	334 (22)	
50–59	326 (15)	286 (19)	
≥ 60	185 (9)	256 (17)	
Missing	39 (2)		

P = 0.072). Respondents with paternal age at birth of 19 and below and 50 above and had higher rates for common mental disorders of 10 and 25% while respondents whose fathers were aged between 20 and 49 years had rates between 5–6% ($\chi^2 = 7.007$, P = 0.072) plotted as a J-shaped curve (Figure 1).

Respondents born to fathers aged 19 years and below were at increased risk of common mental disorders by 2.89 times and for paternal age of 50 and above the risk increased by 4.28 times. Presence of a family member with mental illness was associated with a three-fold risk for having mental disorders themselves. Gender had no impact on the rate of common mental disorders in the model. Age groups of 19 and below and 20– 29 had significantly higher odds for common mental disorders of 3.80 and 2.45 in comparison to the reference groups of 30–39 years old. Malays and Indians were five times more likely to have common mental disorders than the Chinese (Table III).

Discussion

This is a sub-study from a Malaysian Mental Health Survey, MMHS. A total of 2174 respondents who form 59% of the MMHS population were included in this analysis. The included numbers of respondents suffice for estimation at 80% confidence level. Rate of mental disorders did not differ significantly across those who knew age of parents at birth and those who did not. Demographic comparison showed similar distribution of gender across the two groups. There was excess of people aged 50 and above in the excluded group suggesting that the older population could have more difficulties in remembering parental age. The older group in this study population had younger parents in comparison to the younger counterparts which reflect the younger age of marriages in the earlier generation. Maternal age at birth did not show any association with the presence of common mental disorders. Logistic regression model that explains the association between paternal age and presence of common mental disorders was developed upon controlling for age, gender, ethnicity and presence of mental disorders among first-degree family members. Being born to teenage fathers or fathers aged 50 and above was found to be significantly associated with increased rate of common mental disorders. This suggests a non-monotonic relationship between paternal age and common mental disorders as highlighted by the three country study for psychosis (El-Saadi et al. 2004). A study conducted in Israel showed similar non-monotonic pattern for paternal age and schizophrenia (Malaspina et al. 2001). Another interesting comparison is a study showing

		Presence of commo	on mental disorders		Test statistic
Parental age at birth (years)		No n (%)	No n (%) Yes n (%)		(χ^2, P)
Mother's age	≤19	267 (91)	27 (9)	294	$\chi^2 = 7.01 P = 0.0717$
U	20-29	1118 (95)	63 (5)	1181	
	30–39	567 (95)	32 (5)	599	
	≥ 40	75 (93)	6 (7)	81	
	Don't know*	16 (85)	3 (15)	19	
Father's age	≤19	70 (90)	8 (10)	78	$\chi^2 = 28.180 P = 0.000$
-	20–29	878 (94)	51 (6)	929	
	30–39	695 (94)	41 (6)	736	
	40–49	196 (94)	12 (6)	208	
	≥ 50	30 (75)	10 (25)	40	
	Don't know*	174 (95)	9 (5)	183	

Table II. Parental age at birth and presence of common mental disorders among respondents.

* Categories not included in the analysis. Respondents who know only the age of one parent at birth are displayed in "Do not know" category in profiling for the age of the other parent.

learning capacities to be a U-shaped curve in progenies of very young fathers and old fathers (Auroux et al. 1989).

Having older parents has psychological consequences on children (Hare and Moran 1979) and increased parental age could result in earlier loss of parents which has been identified as a risk factor for schizophrenia (Hare and Moran 1979; Dalman and Allebeck 2002). However this has only been observed for older fathers, not for mothers. Consanguinous marriages or marriages between biologically related or blood relatives have been reported to contribute to the inheritance of many genetic and congenital disorders (Kumaramanickavel et al. 2002; Al-Ghazali et al. 2006). This has been described when parents are of similar ancestry as seen in autosomal disorders like haemoglobinopathies, glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase, and ocular genetic disorders such as retinitis pigmentosa (Kumaramanickavel et al. 2002; Al-Ghazali et al. 2006). Practice of arranged marriages among relatives like cousins, uncles and nieces still occur in Asia where the man can be much older especially between uncles and nieces. Incest or violence could



Figure 1. Common mental disorders across paternal age probands. * Respondents who did not know the age of father at birth were not included in the analysis.

contribute to marriages among young women and older men, which are under-reported, denied or covered up. The available record for year 2000–2007 shows that the highest numbers of incest cases were

Table III. Paternal age at birth and presence of common mental disorders during adulthood among respondents.

			95.0% i	Confidence nterval
Factors	Significance (P)	Adjusted odds ratio	Lower	Upper
Gender Male†				
Female	0.105	1.482	0.921	2.387
Age 19 and below 20–29 30–39†	0.001 0.001 0.013	3.803 2.458	1.768 1.213	8.180 4.980
40–49 50–59 60 and above	0.122 0.965 0.452	1.797 1.021 0.608	0.855 0.413 0.166	3.777 2.523 2.224
<i>Ethnicity</i> Malays Chinese† Indians	0.001 0.001 0.002	5.039 5.236	1.992 1.837	12.746 14.927
Others	0.785	0.792	0.147	4.255
Mental illness among family members No†	0.007			
Yes Do not know Refused	0.001 0.294 0.670	3.131 3.274 0.025	1.596 0.358 0.000	6.143 29.975 571246.493
Father's age at birth (years)	0.029			
<19 20–29†	0.032	2.887	1.096	7.603
30–39 40–49 50 <	0.746 0.676 0.009	0.918 1.162 4.281	0.547 0.575 1.442	1.540 2.350 12.712

† Reference category.

involving fathers, followed by uncles and stepfathers. There are no available published articles on this issue due to cultural sensitivity (Ministry if Women, Family and Community Development Malaysia, 2008). Such marriages and problematic family environments would have adverse effect on the children contributing to psychiatric and other common mental health problems either through the mother–foetal connection or a dysfunctional family environment as the child grows. Studies have showed the association between familial adversity, dysfunction and increased psychiatric symptomatology and mental disorders among adolescents (Forehand et al. 1998; Goebert et al. 2000).

The association between advanced paternal age at birth and common mental disorders among progenies could be due to the possibility of a geneenvironmental interaction. The rates of de novo mutation in the male germ line has been reported to increase with age (Crow et al. 1999) and association between accumulation of de novo mutation and increasing risk of schizophrenia has been highlighted in other studies (Malaspina et al. 2001; Dalman and Allebeck 2002; Sipos et al. 2004). Accumulation of random mutation could have also contributed to higher rates of common mental disorders in the progenies of older fathers in this study.

As for younger fathers, immature spermatids produced or low activity of DNA repair or antioxidant enzymes could have contributed to elevated risks of de novo genetic disorders (El-Saadi et al. 2004). Lower sperm counts, semen volumes, total number of sperms, lower percentage of motile form of sperm and abnormal placentation as a result of immature spermatids have also been associated with increased risk of adverse birth outcomes among children of younger fathers (Chen et al. 2008). Fathering at young ages has also been associated with social disadvantages (Chen et al. 2008).

There are several limitations to this study. The use of the CIS-R only identifies subjects with common mental disorders and does not detect co-morbidities or psychotic illness. It was not able to detect subjects with schizophrenic spectrum disorders who may later develop schizophrenia. This is a study on the epidemiology of mental disorders that covers a wide geographical area with interview processes taking about 30 min to 1 h. Parental age at birth was assessed as a variable and this study was not designed to look specifically into the relationship between paternal age and mental disorders. Therefore many details and specific information such as exact age of parents when respondents were born, mental health status of parents and for those with family history of mental disorders, the exact family member who suffered and details of the illness were not able to be elicited.

A significant proportion of respondents, 41% could not remember the age of parents when they were born and were excluded from the survey. The obtained sample size of 2174 gives a significant power of 80%, at estimated sample size of 2628. The excluded group consists of higher rates of older respondents and respondents from Chinese and "Others" ethnic group. This slight excess of Chinese and "Others", and those aged 50 and above who did not know the paternal age is due to general poor cooperation and difficulties in remembering details. This does not significantly affect the study outcome. Regression analysis showed a strong and undeniable association between presence of common mental disorders and extreme paternal ages after controlling for demographic and family history of mental disorders.

As respondents were only asked for presence of family members with mental illness inferences cannot be made as to whether definitively the older fathers had mental illnesses. Advanced paternal age at birth and psychosis (El-Saadi et al. 2004) or more specifically schizophrenia (Dalman and Allebeck 2002; Malaspina et al. 2001; Sipos et al. 2008) has been reported, but the dearth of studies which examine paternal age and common mental disorders suggest that research which can specifically examine the relationship between paternal age and common mental disorders should be carried out.

Acknowledgements

This study is funded by the Ministry of Science Technology and Innovation, Malaysia through Intensification of Research in Prioritized Area (IRPA) grant (IRPA 06-02-02-0034/PR0031/05-01). We would like to gratefully acknowledge Department of Statistics in Malaysia, National University of Malaysia Hospital (HUKM), Penang General Hospital, Sibu General Hospital, Kuching General Hospital, University Science Malaysia Hospital (HUSM) and S.K. Kwa, W.Y. Low, D. Ismail, M. Zainab, H. Rohayah and L.K. Lee for their assistance.

Statement of interest

The authors have not declared any conflicts of interest.

References

Al-Ghazali L, Hamamy H, Al-Arrayad S. 2006. Genetic disorders in the Arab world. Br Med J 333:821–834.

- Auroux MR, Mayaux MJ, Guihard-Moscato ML, Fromantin M, Barthe J, Schwartz D. 1989. Paternal age and mental function of progeny in man. Hum Reprod 4:794–797.
- Babor TF, de la Fuente JR, Saunders J, Grant M. 1992. The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test. Guidelines for use in primary health care. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Bebbington PE, Nayani T. 1995. The psychosis screening questionnaire. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res 5:11–19.
- Brown AS, Schaefer CA, Wyatt RJ, Begg MD, Goetz R, Bresnahan MA, et al. 2002. Parental age and risk of schizophrenia in adult offspring. Am J Psychiatry 59:1528–1533.
- Chen XK, Wen SW, Krewski D, Fleming N, Yang Q, Walker MC. 2008. Paternal age and adverse birth outcomes: teenager or 40 + who is at risk? Hum Reprod 23(6):1290–1296.
- Crow JF. 1999. Spontaneous mutation in man. Mutat Res 437: 5–9.
- Dalman C, Allebeck P. 2002. Paternal age and schizophrenia; Further support for an association. Am J Psychiatry 159: 1591–1592.
- El-Saadi O, Pedersen CB, McNeil TF, Saha S, Welham J, O'Callaghan E, et al. 2004. Paternal and maternal age as risk factor for psychosis: findings from Denmark, Sweden and Australia. Schizophr Res 67:227–236.
- Forehand R, Biggar H, Kotchik BA. 1998. Cumulative risk across family stressor: Short- and long-term effects for adolescents. J Abnorm Child Psychol 26:119–128.
- Goebert D, Nahulu L, Hishinuma E, Bell C, Yuen N, Carlton B, et al. 2000. Cumulative effect of family environment on psychiatric symptomatology among multiethnic adolescents. J Adolesc Health 27:34–42.
- Hare EH, Moran PA. 1979. Raised paternal age in psychiatric patients: Evidence for constitutional hypothesis. Br J Psychiatry 134:169–177.
- Kumaramanickavel G, Joseph B, Vidhya A, Arokiasamay T, Shetty NS. 2002. Consanguinity and ocular genetic diseases in South India; Analysis of a five-year study. Community Genet 5:182–185.
- Lewis G, Pelosi AJ, Araya RC, Dunn G. 1992. Measuring psychiatric disorders in the community. The development of

a standardized assessment for use by lay interviewers. Psychol Med 22:465–486.

- Lewis G. 1994. Assessing Psychiatric disorders with a human interviewer or a computer. J Epidemiol Community Health 48:207–210.
- Malaspina D, Harlap S, Fenning S, Heiman D, Nahon D, Feldman D, et al. 2001. Advancing paternal age and the risk of schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 58:361–367.
- Ministry of Women, Family and Community Development, Malaysia. 2008. [homepage on the internet]. Kuala Lumpur: The Ministry; © 2008 [updated 26 September 2008; cited 28 September 2008]. Table 9.3B: Incest cases by family relationship, 2000–2007 [available from: http://www.kpwkm.gov.my/ BI/Upload/20080623-070619-17003-t9.3b.pdf].
- Robins LN, Helzer JE, Courghan J, Ratcliff KS. 1982. National Institute of Mental Health Diagnostic Interview Schedule; its history, characteristics and validity. Arch Gen Psychiatry 38:381–389.
- Saroja K, Khalid AK, Kadir AB, Kua EH, Spohian M. 1995. Screening for dementia among elderly Malays in urban settlements in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. Malaysian J Psychiatry 3:58–63.
- Singleton N, Bumpstead R, O'Brien M, Lee A, Meltzer H. 2003. Psychiatric morbidity among adults living in private households, 2000. Int Rev Psychiatry 15:65–73.
- Sipos A, Rasmussen F, Harrison G, Tynelius P, Lewis G, Leon DA, et al. 2004. Paternal age and schizophrenia: a population based cohort study. Br Med J 329:1070–1073.
- Tarin JJ, Brines J, Cano A. 1998. Long-term effects of delayed parenthood. Hum Reprod 13:2371–2376.
- Thacker PD. 2004. Biological Clock Ticks for men too: Genetic defects linked to sperm of older fathers. J Am Med Assoc 291:1683–1685.
- Ware JE Jr, Kosinski M, Keller SD. 1996. A 12-Item Short-Form Health Survey Construction of scales and preliminary tests of reliability and validity. Med Care 34:220–233.
- Wing JK, Babor T, Brugha T, Burke J, Cooper JE, Giel R, et al. 1990. SCAN: Schedules for Clinical Assessment in Neuropsychiatry. Arc Gen Psychiatry 46:589–593.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Dopamine transporter genotype influences N-acetyl-aspartate in the left putamen

HARALD SCHERK¹, MARTIN BACKENS², THOMAS SCHNEIDER-AXMANN¹, SUSANNE KRAFT³, CLAUDIA KEMMER³, JULIANA USHER¹, WOLFGANG REITH², PETER FALKAI¹, JOBST MEYER⁴ & OLIVER GRUBER¹

¹Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Georg-August-University Goettingen, Goettingen, Germany, ²Department of Neuroradiology, Saarland University Hospital, Homburg, Germany, ³Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Saarland University Hospital, Homburg, Germany, and ⁴Graduate School of Psychobiology, Department of Neuro-Behavioral Genetics, University of Trier, Trier, Germany

Abstract

Introduction. Dopaminergic activity in the brain is modulated by the dopamine transporter (DAT). Several lines of evidence suggest that a variable number of tandem repeats (VNTR) polymorphism of the *DAT1* gene (SLC6A3) influences its gene expression. The aim of this study was to determine whether the *DAT1 VNTR* polymorphism alters the metabolic ratios NAA/Cho, NAA/Cr, Cho/Cr and Ins/Cr in the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, anterior cingulate cortex, and putamen in healthy subjects and psychiatric patients irrespective of clinical diagnosis. *Material and Methods*. Sixty-four individuals (30 patients with bipolar disorder, 18 patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder, and 16 healthy subjects) participated in the study. The 3'-UTR VNTR polymorphism of *DAT1 (SLC6A3)* gene was genotyped in all individuals. ¹H-MRS was performed in the above-mentioned brain regions. *Results*. The individuals with the homozygous *DAT1* 10-repeat genotype presented significantly higher ratios of NAA/Cho and NAA/Cr in the left putamen compared to the group of individuals with the 9/9-repeat or 9/10-repeat genotype. *Conclusion*. The VNTR polymorphism of the *DAT1*-gene modulates NAA/Cho and NAA/Cr in the left putamen independent of psychiatric diagnosis status. These results suggest an association of *DAT1* VNTR polymorphism, dopaminergic activity, and neuronal function in putamen.

Key words: DAT1, SLC6A3, putamen, magnetic resonance spectroscopy, NAA

Introduction

The neurotransmitter dopamine plays an important role in regulation of basic brain functions including motor behaviour, motivation and working memory. Pharmacological evidence suggests that dysfunction of the dopaminergic system could be involved in the aetiology of different psychiatric disorders, among others bipolar disorder (BD) and obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD).

Dopaminergic activity in the brain depends on the synthesis, re-uptake or catabolism of dopamine in pre-synaptic neurons. The dopamine transporter (DAT) mediates uptake of dopamine from the synaptic cleft into neurons and, in this way, regulates dopaminergic neurotransmission in the brain (Giros and Caron 1993). Reflecting the DAT1-encoding gene (*DAT1*, *SLC6A3*), a 40-bp variable number of tandem repeats (VNTR) polymorphism was identified in exon 15 (Vandenbergh et al. 1992). The tandems are repeated between 3–13 times, with greatest frequency in the 9- and 10-repeat forms in most human populations (Mitchell et al. 2000). As this VNTR resides in the 3' untranslated region, it does not affect the protein's amino acid sequence. However, VNTRs in untranslated regions of genes have been shown to play an important role in the regulation of transcription efficiency, mRNA stability or mRNA sub-cellular localization (Mignone et al. 2002).

Investigation of the functional role of the *DAT1* VNTR revealed inconclusive results. An in vivo SPECT study in abstinent alcoholics and healthy

(Received 20 April 2007; accepted 17 July 2007)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970701586349

Correspondence: Harald Scherk, MD, Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Georg-August-University Goettingen, von-Siebold-Str. 5, 37075 Goettingen, Germany. Tel: +49 551 396641. Fax: +49 551 398952. E-mail: hscherk@uni-goettingen.de

controls revealed a reduced availability of the dopamine transporter in putamen in individuals with the heterozygous 9-/10-repeat genotype compared to individuals with the homozygous 10-repeat genotype (Heinz et al. 2000). A recent study in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder also reported a higher DAT availability in children with the homozygous 10-repeat genotype (Cheon et al. 2005). In contrast to these findings, in another study preliminary data on 14 recently detoxified cocaine abusers and 30 healthy controls showed increased striatal DAT availability in patients with a homozygous or heterozygous 9-repeat genotype (Jacobsen et al. 2000). Two further studies could not find any influence of the DAT1 VNTR genotype on DAT availability in the striatum (Martinez et al. 2001; Krause et al. 2006). Nevertheless, taken together these in vivo SPECT studies suggest that expression of the DAT1 gene might be modulated by the allele frequency of the VNTR polymorphism.

Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy (¹H-MRS) is an imaging method which allows in vivo determination of several brain metabolites such as N-acetyl-aspartate (NAA), choline-containing compounds (Cho), creatine+phosphocreatine (Cr) and inositol+myo-inositol (Ins). NAA is a generally accepted marker for neuronal density and function, even though its exact role in brain metabolism is still unclear. Cho primarily reflects cell membrane phospholipids and cell membrane turnover. Cr represents cell energy metabolism and Ins participates in phospholipid metabolism and signal transduction.

Because an absolute quantification of these compounds is difficult to achieve, most studies focus on specific ratios of the markers of interest.

So far, little is known about the possible effects of genes on these brain metabolites measured by ¹H-MRS. A recent study reported an effect of the glutamate receptor 3 genotype on NAA measures in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (Marenco et al. 2006). These authors were able to show a significant reduction of NAA/Cr levels in the right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in homozygous A-Allele carriers of a single nucleotide polymorphism in the metabotropic glutamate receptor 3.

The aim of the present study was to determine whether the *DAT1* VNTR polymorphism, irrespective of clinical diagnosis, alters the metabolic ratios NAA/Cho, NAA/Cr, Cho/Cr and Ins/Cr in dopaminergic modulated cortical and subcortical brain regions. In order to address this issue, we acquired ¹H-MRS data from the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, left posterior medial frontal (dorsal anterior cingulate) cortex, and the left putamen in healthy individuals and psychiatric patients suffering from bipolar or obsessive-compulsive disorder.

Materials and Methods

Subjects

Thirty euthymic patients with bipolar I disorder, 17 patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder and 16 healthy control subjects participated in the study. Written informed consent was obtained from all subjects and the study was approved by the local ethical committee. Subjects were recruited from the outpatient unit of the Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy of the Saarland University Hospital. The diagnoses of bipolar I disorder and OCD were confirmed by using the German version of the Structural Clinical Interview for DSM-IV (Wittchen et al. 1997). All bipolar disorder patients were receiving stable medication at the time of the study. Twelve were receiving one or two mood stabilizers (three lithium, five sodium valproate, two carbamazepine and five lamotrigine) and/or antidepressants (five) and antipsychotics (six). Eight patients with OCD received treatment with a SSRI, two with a tricyclic antidepressant drug and six were without any drug treatment.

¹H-MRS

Single-volume proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy was performed on a 1.5-Tesla Siemens Magnetom Sonata (Siemens, Erlangen) using a spin-echo sequence with water-suppression and 128 scan averages (TE = 30, TR = 1500). Regions of interest were determined in left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, left posterior medial frontal (dorsal anterior cingulate) cortex and left putamen according to an exactly predefined and standardized algorithm with multiple rechecking procedures in a T2-gradient echo image (TrueFISP) with 24 slices each in three orthogonal orientations. The positions of the voxels were visually inspected and adjusted based on identifiable anatomical landmarks in reference to standard brain atlases (Talairach and Tournoux 1998; Duvernoy 1999). Voxel-size was $10 \times 35 \times 10$ mm for the middle frontal gyrus, $12 \times 20 \times 15$ mm for the posterior medial frontal (dorsal anterior cingulate) cortex and $10 \times 22 \times 15$ mm for the putamen (Figure 1).

All spectra were post-processed by using the Siemens Medical Solutions spectroscopy software package on a Leonardo workstation. Following acquisition, low frequency filtering for removal of the residual water signal and correction for frequency shifts were performed. Data were zero-filled from 1024 to 2048 points. After apodization of the timedomain signal by a Hanning function with 700 ms width, the data were Fourier transformed to the frequency domain. The spectra were baseline corrected with a sixth-order polynomial and first-order



Figure 1. (a) Magnetic resonance imaging demonstrating the localization of the volume of interest in the left putamen. (b) Proton MR spectrum.

phase-corrected. Curve-fitting to the metabolic peaks was applied using Gaussian or Lorentzian line shapes at known frequencies. Relative metabolite concentrations for *N*-acetyl groups (NAA), choline containing compounds (Cho), creatine and phosphocreatine (Cr) and inositol plus myoinositol (Ins) were determined and the metabolic ratios NAA/Cr, NAA/Cho, Cho/Cr and Ins/Cr were calculated.

Genotyping

For the genotyping of the 3'-UTR VNTR of DAT1, genomic DNA was extracted from EDTA blood by standard procedures. DAT1 VNTR-specific primers (forward, 5'-AGCTCAGGCTACTGCCACTC-3'; reverse, 5'- AAAAAGCCATTCGCAAACAT - 3') were used for polymerase chain reaction (PCR). The thermocycler protocol involved an initial denaturation cycle (4 min, 94°C), 35 cycles of denaturation (30 s, 95°C), annealing (30 s, 53.8°C), and extension (30 s, 72° C), followed by a final extension step (7 min, 72° C), and terminating at 4° C. This procedure resulted in fragments of 560 and 600 bp in length. Genomic DNA was amplified by PCR in a final volume of 50 µl containing 100 ng genomic DNA, 10 pmol of each primer (MWG Biotech), 0.2 mM of each dNTP (MBI Fermentas), 7.5 mM MgCl₂, and 1 unit of Taq Polymerase (Eurogentec, Seraing, Belgium). For control, 10 µl of PCR product were visualized on 1-2% agarose gels stained with ethidium bromide. Fragments were subsequently analyzed by automated genotyping using an ABI 310 sequencer.

Statistics

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS 14. All tests were two-tailed. Significance level was P < 0.05. As initial analyses, the influence of the variables gender and handedness on the dependent variables (metabolite ratios) was tested with one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), and the influence of age and education was evaluated calculating Pearson correlation coefficients.

There is evidence to suggest that the homozygous 10-repeat genotype is associated with higher DAT availability as compared to the 9/9 or 9/10 variants (Heinz et al. 2000, Cheon et al. 2005). Therefore, since the group sizes for the 9/9 genotype were rather small (two controls, three bipolar patients, four OCD patients), we pooled subjects with the 9/9 and 9/10 genotypes in our analysis in order to compare them to subjects with the homozygous 10-repeat genotype.

Multivariate analyses of variance (MANOVA) with *DAT1* VNTR polymorphism and diagnosis as independent factors and with ratios of NAA/Cr, NAA/Cho, Cho/Cr and Ins/Cr as dependent variables were calculated separately for each of the three brain regions: left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, posterior medial frontal (dorsal anterior cingulate) cortex and putamen. In case of significance post-hoc univariate analyses for each metabolic ratio were calculated.

Additionally, for patients with bipolar disorder the factors treatment with antipsychotics on the one hand, and prior psychotic symptoms on the other, where entered to the MANOVA additionally to the factor DAT1 intending to analyze the influence of these intervening factors on metabolite ratios.

Results

DAT1 genotype distribution

Thirty-five individuals (19 BD, eight OCD, eight controls) had the homozygous DAT1 10-repeat genotype (10/10) and 29 individuals (11 BD, 10 OCD, eight controls) had the homozygous 9-repeat (9/9) or the heterozygous 9/10-repeat (9/10) genotype (Table I). The second group consisted of nine individuals with the 9/9 genotype (three BD, four OCD, two controls) and 20 individuals with the 9/10 genotype (eight BD, six OCD, six controls).

The two main groups (10/10 genotype versus 9/9 and 9/10 genotype) exhibited no significant differences regarding mean age $(41.7\pm12.8 \text{ vs.} 35.8\pm12.6, P=0.07, \text{ Table I})$ or gender (14 male, 22 female vs. 15male, 14 female, P=0.33). However, the two groups differed from each other with respect to the duration of education $(12.3\pm2.1 \text{ vs.} 13.7\pm2.7 \text{ years}, p=0.02)$. The distributions of the *DAT1* VNTR alleles are consistent with the results of previous investigation (Heinz et al. 2000; Mitchell et al. 2000).

DAT1 genotype and MRS ratios

Statistical analyses did not reveal significant influences of sex, age, handedness or education on metabolite ratios.

From MANOVA with the independent factors DAT1 and diagnosis, a significant influence of *DAT1* genotype on metabolite ratios in the left putamen was observed in the multivariate analyses with the independent factor genotype (F=3.28, P=0.021, Table II). The post-hoc univariate analyses revealed that the individuals with the homozygous 10/10 genotype presented significantly higher ratios of NAA/Cho (+32%, F=11.23, P=0.002) and

Table I. Demographical and genotype data of subjects.

		Geno	otype	
	9/9	9/10	10/10	P
BD (<i>N</i>)	3	8	19	
OCD (N)	4	6	8	
Controls (N)	2	6	8	
	9	20	35	
		29	35	
Age (years; mean \pm SD)	35.8	± 12.6	41.7 ± 12.8	0.07
Gender (male/female)	15	5/14	14/22	0.33
Education (years; mean \pm SD)	13.7	2 ± 2.7	$12.3\!\pm\!2.1$	0.02

BD, bipolar disorder; *N*, number; OCD, obsessive-compulsive disorder; SD, standard deviation.

NAA/Cr (+17%, F=7.20, P = 0.010) in the left putamen compared to the group of individuals with the homozygous 9/9 or heterozygous 9/10 genotype. As there were no significant interactions between DAT1 genotype and diagnosis, this finding was illustrated pooled – over the diagnostic groups (Figure 2). No associations between *DAT1* VNTR polymorphism and the other metabolic ratios in putamen or the metabolic ratios in the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex or the left posterior medial frontal (dorsal anterior cingulate) cortex were observed. As well, interactions between DAT1 genotype and diagnosis were not significant.

Multivariate analyses with the independent factors *DAT1* genotype/treatment with antipsychotics, and *DAT1* genotype/prior psychotic symptoms in patients with bipolar disorder did not reveal any significant influence of antipsychotic treatment or of prior psychotic symptoms on metabolite ratios.

Discussion

In this study we found a significant influence of DAT1 genotype on the metabolic ratios NAA/Cho and NAA/Cr in the left putamen but not in the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex or the left posterior medial frontal (dorsal anterior cingulate) cortex. In more detail, individuals with the homozygous 10/10 genotype exhibited increased ratios of both NAA/ Cho and NAA/Cr in the left putamen compared to the individuals with the homozygous 9/9 or heterozygous 9/10 genotype. These results provide evidence for enhanced NAA levels in the left putamen of subjects homozygous for the 10/10 DAT1 genotype. As NAA is generally assumed to be a marker for neuronal density and function (Burtscher and Holtas 2001), therefore this finding may indicate that individuals with the 10/10 genotype possess a higher density of neurons or neurons with a higher functionality in the left putamen than individuals with the other genotypes. The DAT1 genotype appears, therefore, to modulate the neuronal function in the left putamen. This effect could be mediated by a modulation of the activity of the dopamine transporter at pre-synaptic neurons, leading to an altered synaptic dopaminergic activity, which may influence the functionality of postsynaptic neurons and, consequently, NAA levels in the left putamen.

So far, only one study investigated the connection between dopaminergic activity and NAA levels in the putamen. Ellis et al. (1997) reported that drug naïve, but not levodopa treated patients with idiopathic Parkinson's disease showed significantly reduced NAA/Cho ratio in the putamen compared to healthy controls. They hypothesized that the reduced

Table II.	¹ H-MRS results	in left	dorsolateral	prefrontal	cortex,	left	posterior	medial	frontal	(dorsal	anterior	cingulate)	cortex	and in
putamen o	depending on D	AT1 ge	notype and d	liagnosis.										

	Controls		Bipolar disorder		OCD 1	Fac	tor D/	AT1	Interaction DAT1 × Diagnosis			
	9/9 or 9/10 repeats (n=8) Mean±SD	$ \frac{10/10}{\text{repeats}} \\ (n=8) \\ \text{Mean}\pm\text{SD} $	9/9 or 9/10 repeats (n=11) Mean±SD	10/10 repeats (n=19) Mean \pm SD	9/9 or 9/10 repeats (n=9) Mean±SD	10/10 repeats (n=8) Mean \pm SD	df	F	Р	df	F	Р
DLFPC												
(multivariate analysis)							4, 42	0.16	0.96	8,86	0.44	0.90
NAA/Cho	4.35 ± 1.9	3.80 ± 1.1	4.26 ± 1.5	3.84 ± 1.1	3.30 ± 1.1	3.90 ± 1.6						
NAA/Cr	$2.26\!\pm\!0.4$	1.94 ± 0.5	2.19 ± 0.5	2.05 ± 0.4	2.05 ± 0.4	2.23 ± 0.6						
Cho/Cr	0.56 ± 0.1	0.51 ± 0.0	0.55 ± 0.2	0.57 ± 0.2	0.64 ± 0.1	0.63 ± 0.2						
Ins/Cr	0.44 ± 0.2	0.42 ± 0.1	0.34 ± 0.1	0.38 ± 0.1	0.45 ± 0.1	0.44 ± 0.1						
PMFC (multivariate							4, 51	1.22	0.31	8, 104	0.60	0.77
analysis)	2 91 1 0 4	2 7 9 1 0 5	2 65 1 0 5	2.41 ± 0.6	2 22 1 0 4	260106						
NAA/Cho	2.81 ± 0.4	2.18 ± 0.3	2.05 ± 0.5	2.41 ± 0.0	2.52 ± 0.4	2.00 ± 0.0						
Cho/Cr	1.92 ± 0.4	2.09 ± 0.2	1.93 ± 0.3	1.90 ± 0.0	1.80 ± 0.2	2.00 ± 0.3						
Ins/Cr	0.00 ± 0.1 0.41 ± 0.1	0.17 ± 0.1 0.49 ± 0.1	0.11 ± 0.2 0.44 ± 0.1	0.09 ± 0.2 0.50 ± 0.1	0.01 ± 0.1 0.46 ± 0.1	0.00 ± 0.2 0.48 ± 0.1						
Putamen	0.11 ± 0.1	0.19 - 0.1	0.11_0.1	0.90 - 0.1	0.10 - 0.1	0.10 - 0.1						
(multivariate analysis)							4, 39	3.28	0.021	8,80	0.91	0.51
Post-hoc univa	vriate analysis											
NAA/Cho	2.43 ± 0.9	3.03 ± 0.7	2.64 ± 1.3	3.45 ± 0.8	2.78 ± 0.7	3.20 ± 0.8	1,42	11.2	0.002			
NAA/Cr	1.43 ± 0.6	1.92 ± 0.3	1.62 ± 0.4	1.83 ± 0.3	1.87 ± 0.5	2.06 ± 0.5	1,42	7.20	0.010			
Cho/Cr	0.58 ± 0.1	0.65 ± 0.1	0.68 ± 0.2	0.55 ± 0.1	0.70 ± 0.2	0.65 ± 0.1	1,42	1.04	0.31			
Ins/Cr	0.16 ± 0.1	0.20 ± 0.1	0.19 ± 0.1	0.20 ± 0.1	0.23 ± 0.1	0.21 ± 0.1	1, 42	0.07	0.79			

SD, standard deviation; DLPFC, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex; PMFC, posterior medial frontal cortex; OCD, obsessive-compulsive disorder.

putaminal NAA/Cho ratio might reflect loss of nigrostriatal dopamine terminals. In line with this notion, one could assume that, more generally, a lower number of nigrostriatal dopamine terminals or a lower dopaminergic activity in the striatum may be associated with reduced NAA/Cho ratios. According to this assumption, increased ratios of NAA/Cho and NAA/Cr that were found in the present study in individuals carrying the homozygous *DAT1* VNTR 10/10 repeat genotype might be associated with a higher dopaminergic activity in the left putamen in these individuals. The exact physiological mechanism of this possible association between dopaminergic activity and NAA level remains unresolved and deserves further investigations.

Another unresolved question relates to the fact that the investigated VNTR polymorphism of DAT1resides in the 3' untranslated region of the gene. Therefore, it has no direct influence on the amino acid sequence of the DAT1 protein, and it remains unclear how this polymorphism may exert an effect on the function of the dopamine transporter. Nonetheless, VNTR polymorphisms in untranslated regions have indeed been shown to be able to regulate the translation, degradation and localization of mRNA (Mignone et al. 2002). This may be one way in which the investigated VNTR modulate dopamine transporter availability and dopaminergic activity in the putamen.

It is also important to note that the effects of DAT1 VNTR genotype on metabolic ratios were seen in all individuals irrespective of diagnostic status. This suggests that the observed genetic effect may relate to a basic mechanism of dopaminergic regulation in the putamen. Compatible with this finding, in a previous study we were unable to detect any changes of metabolic ratios in the putamen in patients with bipolar disorder compared to healthy control subjects (Scherk et al. 2006).

Nevertheless, the postulated association between *DAT1* genotype and NAA level in the putamen may also contribute to the patho-physiological mechanisms involved in bipolar and obsessive-compulsive disorder, as the striatum has been hypothesized to be an integral component of neuronal networks that are affected in these diseases (Saxena et al. 2001; Strakowski et al. 2005).

The results of this study are limited by some methodological aspects. We did not obtain a differentiation between proportions of grey or white



Figure 2. Error bars plot of NAA/Cho and NAA/Cr ratios in left putamen. Individuals with DAT1 VNTR 10–10 genotype exhibited significantly increased ratios of NAA/Cho (P=0.001) and NAA/Cr (P<0.05) compared to individuals with the 9/10 or 9/9 genotype.

matter in the investigated volumes of interest. Therefore, we can not definitely exclude that differences of grey and white matter proportions between different subjects might have influenced the metabolite concentrations, although the positioning of the volumes of interest were visually inspected and adjusted based on identifiable anatomical landmarks in reference to standard brain atlases (Talairach and Tournoux 1998; Duvernoy 1999).

Moreover, we only estimated relative metabolite concentrations and computed metabolite ratios instead of absolute metabolite concentrations. Although this is a standard method to estimate changes of metabolites, nonetheless this method has some restrictions as some studies have shown that the creatine level is not as stable as previously thought. Therefore, using only the NAA/Cr ratio might lead to false results as creatine could provide an inconsistent denominator. To eliminate this problem we calculated both the NAA/Cr and NAA/Cho ratios as well as the Cho/Cr ratio. The finding of increased values of both NAA/Cr and NAA/Cho ratios, on the one hand, and of an unchanged Cho/Cr ratio on the other hand can be considered as clear evidence for a reduction of NAA even though we were unable to assess the absolute concentration of NAA itself.

We pooled patients with bipolar I or obsessive compulsive disorder with healthy subjects. Therefore, possible effects of diagnosis on metabolites may mimic the reported genotype effect due to asymmetric diagnosis-by-genotype distribution. This is unlikely, because we observed an asymmetry only with respect to the 10/10 genotype in patients with bipolar disorder and the multivariate analysis did not reveal any effect of diagnosis of bipolar disorder in putamen on metabolites.

Through statistical analysis we were able to show that the treatment with antipsychotics did not influence the metabolite ratios in patients with bipolar disorder. Nevertheless a possible influence of drugs on NAA ratios cannot be excluded.

Initially several statistical tests were performed. However, the main MANOVA analyses with factors DAT1 and diagnosis were calculated only for the three regions, and only when multivariate analyses resulted in significant findings, post-hoc univariate tests were added. That way, the probability of getting false-positive findings because of multiple testing was reduced.

One of the strengths of this study is the relatively large sample of both healthy subjects and patients with bipolar disorder or obsessive compulsive disorder.

Taken together, the present findings are consistent with the view that the *DAT1* VNTR polymorphism may modulate dopaminergic activity in the putamen, and that altered NAA levels may be an indicator for this genetic modulation of neuronal function in the putamen. It seems to be worthwhile to investigate the relationship between dopaminergic activity and NAA levels in further studies.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

References

- Burtscher IM, Holtas S. 2001. Proton MR spectroscopy in clinical routine. J Magn Reson Imaging 13:560–567.
- Cheon KA, Ryu YH, Kim JW, Cho DY. 2005. The homozygosity for 10-repeat allele at dopamine transporter gene and dopamine transporter density in Korean children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: relating to treatment response to methylphenidate. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 15:95–101.
- Duvernoy HM, 1999. The human brain. Surface, three-dimensional sectional anatomy and MRI: Surface, three-dimensional sectional anatomy with MRI and blood supply. Vienna: Springer.
- Ellis CM, Lemmens G, Williams SC, et al. 1997. Changes in putamen N-acetylaspartate and choline ratios in untreated and levodopa-treated Parkinson's disease: a proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. Neurology 49:438–444.
- Giros B, Caron MG. 1993. Molecular characterization of the dopamine transporter. Trends Pharmacol Sci 14:43–49.
- Heinz A, Goldman D, Jones DW, et al. 2000. Genotype influences in vivo dopamine transporter availability in human striatum. Neuropsychopharmacology 22:133–139.
- Jacobsen LK, Staley JK, Zoghbi SS, et al. 2000. Prediction of dopamine transporter binding availability by genotype: a preliminary report. Am J Psychiatry 157:1700–1703.
- Krause J, Dresel SH, Krause KH, La Fougere C, Zill P, Ackenheil M. 2006. Striatal dopamine transporter availability and DAT-1 gene in adults with ADHD: no higher DAT availability in

patients with homozygosity for the 10-repeat allele. World J Biol Psychiatry 7:152–157.

- Marenco S, Steele SU, Egan MF, et al. 2006. Effect of metabotropic glutamate receptor 3 genotype on N-acetylaspartate measures in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. Am J Psychiatry 163:740–742.
- Martinez D, Gelernter J, Abi-Dargham A, et al. 2001. The variable number of tandem repeats polymorphism of the dopamine transporter gene is not associated with significant change in dopamine transporter phenotype in humans. Neuro-psychopharmacology 24:553–560.
- Mignone F, Gissi C, Liuni S, Pesole G. 2002. Untranslated regions of mRNAs. Genome Biol 3: REVIEWS0004.
- Mitchell RJ, Howlett S, Earl L, et al. 2000. Distribution of the 3' VNTR polymorphism in the human dopamine transporter gene in world populations. Hum Biol 72:295–304.
- Saxena S, Bota RG, Brody AL. 2001. Brain-behavior relationship in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Sem Clin Neuropsychiatry 6:82–101.
- Scherk H, Gruber O, Backens M, et al. 2006. MR-spectroscopic alterations in subcortical regions in patients with bipolar I disorder. Schizophr Res 66(Suppl S):66.
- Strakowski SM, DelBEllo MP, Adler CM. 2005. The functional neuroanatomy of bipolar disorder: a review of neuroimaging findings. Mol Psychol 10:105–116.
- Talairach, P. Tournoux. 1998. Coplanar stereotaxic atlas of the human brain. New York: Thieme Medical Publishers.
- Vandenbergh DJ, Persico AM, Hawkins AL, et al. 1992. Human dopamine transporter gene (DAT1) maps to chromosome 5p15.3 and displays a VNTR. Genomics 14:1104–1106.
- Wittchen HU, Zaudig M, Fydrich T. 1997. Strukturiertes klinisches Interview f
 ür DSM-IV Achse I und II. Hogrefe, G
 öttingen.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Dose-related immunohistochemical and ultrastructural changes after oral methylphenidate administration in cerebrum and cerebellum of the rat

MELTEM BAHCELIOGLU¹, RABET GOZIL¹, GULNUR TAKE², CIGDEM ELMAS², HALE OKTEM¹, DURAL KADIOGLU¹, ENGIN CALGUNER¹, DENIZ ERDOGAN², MUSTAFA F. SARGON³, A. CANAN YAZICI⁴, MURAT TAS⁵, YESIM BARDAKCI⁶ & SELAHATTIN SENOL⁷

¹Department of Anatomy, Faculty of Medicine, University of Gazi, Ankara, Turkey, ²Department of Histology and Embryology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Gazi, Ankara, Turkey, ³Department of Anatomy, Faculty of Medicine, University of Hacettepe, Ankara, Turkey, ⁴Department of Biostatistics, Faculty of Medicine, University of Baskent, Ankara, Turkey, ⁵Center of Invitro Fertilisation, Bakırköy Obstetrics-Gynecology and Child Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey, ⁶Zekai Tahir Burak Hospital, Ankara, Turkey, and ⁷Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine, University of Gazi, Ankara, Turkey

Abstract

Methylphenidate is a piperidine derivative and is the drug most often used to treat attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder of children and young adults. Our aim is to investigate dose-dependent dopamine-2 receptor and glial fibrillary acidic protein expression and ultrastructural changes of the rat brain, to demonstrate possible toxicity of the long-term and high dose use of the methylphenidate. In this study, 27 female prepubertal Wistar albino rats, divided into three different dose groups (5, 10 and 20 mg/kg) were treated orally with methylphenidate dissolved in saline solution for 5 days per week during 3 months. At the end of the third month, tissues were removed and sections were collected for immunohistochemical and ultrastructural studies. We believe that methylphenidate causes dose-related activation of the dopaminergic system in several brain regions especially in ventral tegmental area and also causing neuronal degeneration and capillary wall structural changes such as basal membrane thickness and augmentation of the pinostatic vesicle in the endothelial cells. Also, increased dose of Ritalin is inducing astrocytes hypertrophy especially astrogliosis in pia-glial membrane and this is the result of the degenerative changes in prefrontal cortex region due to high dose methylphenidate administration. The dose-related accumulation of the astrocytes in capillary wall might well be a consequence of the need for nutrition of the neuronal tissue, due to transport mechanism deficiency related to neuronal and vascular degeneration. Thus, we believe that the therapeutic dose of methylphenidate must be kept in minimum level to prevent ultrastructural changes.

Key words: ADHD, psycopharmacology, brain development, dopamine D2 receptor occupancy

Introduction

Methylphenidate, mostly known as Ritalin, is a piperidine derivative and is the drug most often used to treat attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), one of the most common behavioural disorders of children and young adults (Amini et al. 2004). Methylphenidate hydrochloride (MPH) is a psychostimulant with a pharmacological profile similar to amphetamine and cocaine, and all these drugs are known as indirect dopamine agonists while the dopaminergic system of the brain plays a central role in reward and motivation (Amini et al. 2004; Yang et al. 2006a).

The great concern about the treatment of MPH is that since in children the central nervous system (CNS) continues its maturation and growth well into the second decade of life, the risk therefore exists for adverse interactions between the developing CNS and long-term psychostimulant treatment (Benes 1998; Castner and Goldman-Rakic 1999; Giedd

Correspondence: Meltem Bahcelioglu, Department of Anatomy, Faculty of Medicine, University of Gazi, Ankara, Turkey. Tel: +90 312 202 4618; Fax: +90 312 212 4647. E-mail: meltemb@gazi.edu.tr

(Received 22 May 2009; accepted 30 June 2009)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970903176683

et al. 1999). Brandon et al. (2003) reported that the adolescent exposure to MPH induces neuronal changes associated with increased addiction liability in rats. Schteinschnaider et al. (2000) reported a case of 8-year-old boy of cerebral arteritis following methylphenidate use and others suggested that the mechanism that provokes cardiovascular strokes could be a consequence of vasculitis plus initial hypertension, considering the chemical and pharmacological similarity between amphetamines and methylphenidate like reported by others (Delaney and Estes 1980; Rothrock et al. 1988; Trugman 1988).

Neuroplasticity in the developing brain is regulated by c-fos and fosB expression through modulation of down-stream genes, such as substance P, dynorphin, and *cdk5* (Chase et al. 2005). Several researchers suggested that the ADHD is associated with dysfunction of dopaminergic circuits, including prefrontal, subcortical regions (e.g., striatum), limbic regions (e.g., hippocampus) and cerebellar vermis (Castellanos 1997; Mostofsky et al. 1998; Dinn et al. 2001; Anderson et al. 2002; Krain and Castellanos 2006). Dopamine action alters gene regulation in striatal neurons (Yano and Steiner 2005). Psychostimulants such as amphetamine and methylphenidate produce changes in gene regulation in striatal projection neurons (Harlan and Garcia 1998; Torres and Horowitz 1999). MPH binds to the dopamine transporter (DAT) and increases striatal extracellular dopamine (Volkow et al. 2001). Yano and Steiner (2005) demonstrated that acute methylphenidate alters the expression of c-fos and substance P preferentially in the sensorimotor striatum. Chase et al. (2005) reported that the MPH exerts its effects at several sites throughout the immature brain which may have implications for the long-term treatment of ADHD and even low doses of MPH increases the expression of two immediate early genes in multiple areas of the brain. Recently, Andreazza et al. (2007) reported that MPH may induce transient DNA damage in the hippocampus, striatum and peripheral blood without any increase in micronuclei frequency, suggesting that such damage might have been repaired by endogenous repairing systems.

The expanded use of methylphenidate stimulates the need to expend researches on the potential toxicity and neuroultrastructural consequences of this drug, particularly during early stages of brain development. The purpose of the present study is to determine dose-dependent changes in D2 receptors, Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP)-positive cells and possible ultrastructural degeneration in the prefrontal cortex, ventral tegmental area and cerebellum of young rat brain after oral methylphenidate administration.

Materials and methods

Animals and treatment

The experimental protocol was approved by the local Ethical Committee for animal studies and conducted at Gazi University Faculty of Medicine. In the experimental protocol, 27 female Wistar albino rats with a weight of 110 g (+20), divided into three different dose groups (5, 10 and 20 mg/kg) with their control groups, and the doses of the methylphenidate (MPH) were chosen according to the studies which indicate that, in rats, the metabolism rate of this drug was faster than humans (Brandon et al. 2001; Schenk and Izenwasser 2002; LeBlanc-Duchin and Taukulis 2004). Female rats were selected for this study according to the previous studies reporting that female rats are more anxious than male rats and their nervous systems may be more susceptible to alteration by psychomotor stimulants (Camp and Robinson 1988; Blanchard et al. 1991; Wooters et al. 2006). Prepubertal (25day-old) rats were treated orally with MPH dissolved in saline solution for 5 days per week during 3 months. We gave MPH orally since this is the route of administration used therapeutically for ADHD. The animals were synchronized to a light-dark cycle (lights on from 08:00 to 20:00 h) beginning at least 2 weeks before the commencement of experiments. These conditions were maintained for 12 weeks during March-May to avoid the possibility of seasonal rhythms affecting the findings.

Tissue sampling

At the end of the third month, all the animals were anaesthetized by ketamine hydrochloride (Ketalar, Parke-Davis, Istanbul, Turkey) 30 mg/kg intramuscularly. For muscle relaxation, 2% xylazine hydrochloride (Rompun, Bayer, Istanbul, Turkey) 6 mg/kg was used. Then, they were perfused with 1.25% glutaraldehyde and 1% paraformaldehyde solutions.

Following perfusion, the cerebral hemispheres were removed from the skull and were separated from each other by a median section. Cerebrum and cerebellar vermis from each group were fixed in neutral formalin for 72 h and processed for paraffin embedding. Sections of $4-5 \,\mu\text{m}$ thickness were processed for polylysin microscope slides.

Immunohistochemistry

For immunohistochemical examination of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), slides were stored in a microwave oven in 0.1 M citrate buffer, (LabVision, Cat # AP-9003-500, USA). Endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked in 3% hydrogen peroxide

(Lot#AHP40114, Cot#TA-125-HP, LabVision, Fremont, CA, USA). Epitopes were stabilized by application of serum blocking solution (Lot#AUB40204, Cot#TA-125-UB, LabVision, USA). Sections were incubated with and GFAP (Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein) Ab-4, rabbit polyclonal antibody (Cat # RB-087-A, Lab Vision, USA), diluated in UltraAb Diluent (Lot#AUD40706, Cot#TA-125-UD, LabVision, USA) 60 min at room temperature. After that, the biotinated secondary antibody (Goat antirabbit, Lot#RBN40218, Cot#TR-125-BN, LabVision, USA), was applied. Then, streptavidin peroxidase (Lot#SHR40211, Cot#TS-125-HR, Lab Vision, USA) was applied to the slides. AEC (Lot#AH41013, Cot#TA-125-HA, Lab Vision, USA) was used as chromogen. Afterwards, the slides were counterstained with haematoxylin.

For immunohistochemical examination of Dopamine 2 Receptor (D2DR), Zymed Histostain-Plus Broad Spectrum kit used (Lot#50681666, Cot#85-9043, San Francisco, CA, USA). Endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked in 3% hydrogen peroxide (Lot#AHP40114, Cot#TA-125-HP, LabVision, Fremont, CA, USA). Epitopes were stabilized by application of serum blocking solution (Lot#50681666, Cot#85-9043). Sections were incubated with Dopamine 2 Receptor (D2DR, mouse polyclonal antibody Lot#F2204, Cot#sc-5303, Santa Cruz, CA, USA) diluated in PBS (phosphate buffered saline, pH 7.4, Lot#50381417, Cot#00-3000, Zymed, San Francisco, CA, USA) overnight at $+4^{\circ}$ C. After that, the biotinated secondary antibody (Lot#50681666, Cot#85-9043, biotinated secondary antibody) was applied. Then, Streptavidin peroxidase (Lot#506 81666, Cot#85-9043) was applied to the slides. 3-Amino-9-ethylcarbazole (Lot#AH41013, Cot#TA-125-HA, Lab Vision, USA) was used as chromogen.

Afterwards, all slides were counterstained with Mayer's haematoxylin. Slides were examined with Photo-light microscope (DM4000B Image Analyze System and, Leica, Germany) and Leica DFC280 plus camera. The number of immune positive cells is measured manually by using QWin software programme in consecutive areas for serial cutaways taken from each subject (Aktas et al. 2009)

Statical analysis

The normality of the distributions of the variables was controlled by Shapiro–Wilk test. Shapiro–Wilk normality test results are showed that the distributions of the variables were not normal while group variances were not homogeneous according to Levene's test. So, the differences between the independent groups were analyzed by Kruskal–Wallis test and then multiple comparisons between pairs of groups were carried out according to Dunn test. Dependent groups were compared by Friedman test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison. Results have been expressed as number of observations (n), mean \pm standard deviation, median and min-max values. *P* value less than 0.05 was considered significant.

All statistical analyses were performed with the SPSS software (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences, version 13.0, SSPS Inc, Chicago, IL, USA).

Electron microscopic study

All tissues were sacrified and immersion fixation method in 0.1 M phosphate buffer containing 2.5% glutaraldehyde for 2–3 h; then they were post fixed in 1% osmium tetra oxide (OsO₄) and dehydrated in a series of graded alcohols (50, 60, 70, 80, 90, 96 and 100% ethanol). After passing through propylene oxide, the specimens were embedded in Araldite CY 212, 2-dodecenyl succinic anhydride, benzyldimethyl amine and dibutylphitalate. Semi-thin sections were cut and stained with toluidine blue and examined with a BH₂ Olympus light microscope. Ultra-thin sections were stained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate and examined with a Carl Zeiss EM 900 transmission electron microscope (TEM).

Results

GFAP

In the cerebrum, glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) positive (+) cells were statistically meaningfully (P < 0.001) more numerous than the cerebellum in all groups (Table I).

In the control group, the histological evaluation of the prefrontal cortex displayed GFAP (+) astrocytes especially on molecular layer of the cortex. A thin layer

Table I. Comparison of the GFAP (+) cell number of the cerebrum and the cerebellum for all dose groups.

	Mean±stand Mea n =	lard deviation dian =6
Groups	Cerebellum	Cerebrum
Control	48.83 ± 0.75 49.00 (48.00–50.00)	$84.50 \pm 1.05^{***}$ 84.50 (83.00–86.00)
Low dose	56.33 ± 5.79 54 (50.00-64.00)	96.50±3.62*** 96.00 (92.00–102.00)
Curative dose	81.33±4.13 80.50 (76.00–87.00)	$127.00 \pm 1.90^{***}$ 127.00 (124.00–129.00)
High dose	119.67±4.93 119.50 (113.00–126.00)	$156.50 \pm 3.62^{***}$ 157.00 (151.00–161.00)

****P*<0.001.



Figure 1. GFAP immunoreactivity in control (a), low dose (b), curative dose (c) and high dose (d) Ritalin treated prefrontal cortex. Immunoreactivity in pial surface (\rightarrow), astrocytes (\uparrow) of superficial and deepest layer of cortex, capillary (\uparrow) were seen (immunoperoxidase–haematoxylin ×100).

of GFAP (+) astrocytes processes were seen under the pial membrane. A group forming GFAP (+) astrocytes network was also detected in the deepest layer of cortex. The surrounding capillaries exhibited no prominent GFAP immunoreactivity (Figure 1a).

In the low dose treated group (5 mg/kg/day), especially molecular layer of the cortex showed an increased number of GFAP (+) astrocytes with intense reaction compared to the control group. GFAP (+) cells were observed remarkably in piaglial membrane as an unfragmanted line (Figure 1b).

In the curative dose treated group (10 mg/kg per day), GFAP (+) cells showed a very strong reactivity and were localized in piaglial membrane. The piaglial membrane was observed as a thick GFAP (+) line. The molecular layer was also detected as a GFAP (+) area and astrocytes immunoreactivity was similar to

the low dose treated group but also in this group, GFAP (+) astrocytes with intense immunoreactivity were observed in the surrounding tissue of the capillary walls (Figure 1c).

In the high dose treated group (20 mg/kg per day), GFAP (+) cells and their immunoreactivity displayed a marked increase. The pia-glial membrane GFAP (+) astrocytes of strong reactivity was similar to curative dose treated group but positive cell number was also increased in molecular layer and deepest cortex layer of this group. GFAP (+) astrocytes of the molecular layer were in close relation with the pia-glial membrane. Besides, in the deepest layer of the cortex, GFAP (+) astrocytes displayed a close relation pattern and were forming a network. They were also forming a line around the capillary walls like curative dose treated group (Figure 1d). A dose-related

	Mean±standard deviation Median							
	Control	Low	Curative	High				
Cerebellum $n = 6$	48.83±0.75 ^{***} 49.00 (48.00–50.00)	$56.33 \pm 5.79^{***}$ 54 (50.00–64.00)	81.33±4.13 ^{***} 80.50 (76.00–87.00)	$\frac{119.67 \pm 4.93^{\star\star\star}}{119.50 \ (113.00 - 126.00)}$				
Cerebrum $n = 6$	84.50±1.05 ^{***} 84.50 (83.00–86.00)	96.50 \pm 3.62 ^{***} 96.00 (92.00–102.00)	$127.00 \pm 1.90^{***}$ 127.00 (124.00–129.00)	$\frac{156.50 \pm 3.62^{\star\star\star}}{157.00 \ (151.00 - 161.00)}$				

Table II. Comparison of the GFAP (+) cell number of the dose groups in cerebrum and cerebellum.

****P*<0.001.

statistically meaningful increase of the GFAP (+) cells was observed (P < 0.001) (Table II).

The histological evaluation of the cerebellar vermis showed that; in the control group, GFAP (+) astrocytes were localized prominently in granule cell layer and in medulla with their cytoplasmic prolongations surrounding capillaries (Figure 2a). In the low dose treated group, especially granular layer astrocytes number was increased with intense immunoreactivity (Figure 2b). In the curative and high dose treated groups, additionally to medulla and granular layer of the cortex, GFAP (+) astrocytes cytoplasmic prolongations were present evidently in molecular layer. Also, the immunoreactive cell number and their labelling level was increased (Figure 2c–d). These findings were found to be statistically meaningful (P < 0.001) (Table II).

D2

In the cerebrum, dopamine-2 (D2) immunoreactivity was particularly observed in prefrontal cortex (PfC) and ventral tegmental area (VTA) where dopaminergic neurons were abundantly localized. In the control group; D2 immunoreactive neurons were dispersed in the PfC region forming regular groups. All dopaminergic neurons show moderate to intense cytoplasmic immunoreactivity. No immunostaining was observed in capillary wall and in glial cells of this region (Figures 3a and 4a). In the low dose treated group; D2 immunoreactivity was similar to control group (Figures 3b and 4b). In the curative dose treated group; D2 immunoreactive neuron were more widespread localized with intense immunoreactivity compared to control group and the capillary dilatation was also present in this group



Figure 2. GFAP immunoreactivity in control (a), low dose (b), curative dose (c) and high dose (d) Ritalin treated cerebellar vermis; Purkinje cells (P), immunoreactive astrocytes/astrocytes prolongations in granular layer (\rightarrow), immunoreactive astrocytes prolongations in perivascular regions (\bigstar) were seen (immunoperoxidase-haematoxylin ×100).



Figure 3. Dopamine D2 receptor immunoreactive regions in control (a), low dose (b), curative dose (c) and high dose (d) Ritalin treated prefrontal cortex; D2DR positive neurons (\rightarrow), glial cells (+), and capillaries (\clubsuit) and immunoreactive neurons (\rightarrow) were seen (immunoperoxidase-haematoxylin ×100).

(Figures 3c and 4c). In the high dose treated group; most evident findings were the capillary dilatation and regional D2 receptor activity of the axons. The neurons of this group showed intense D2 immunoreactivity compared to other groups (Figure 3d and 4d). These findings were found to be statistically meaningful (P < 0.001) (Table III).

The evaluation of the control group showed that the most widespread and intense D2 receptor immunoreactivity was displayed in the ventral tegmental area (VTA). The dopaminergic neurons were organized as groups showing mostly cytoplasmic intense reactivity. The non-dopaminergic neurons were distinguished with their blue-purple colours. No sign of labelling was observed in capillary wall and in glial cells (Figure 5a). In the low dose treated group; D2 receptor immunoreactivity of the VTA was similar to control group like PfC region (Figure 5b). In the curative dose treated group; D2 receptor immunoreactive neuron number of the VTA was increased with intense staining. These findings were similar to PfC results of the same dose. But interestingly, axons of the VTA showed also immunoreactivity along with the neurons (Figure 5c). In the high dose treated group; most evident finding was the intense labelling of the axons additional to intense immunoreactive neurons (Figure 5d).

In the control group of the cerebellum, all layers showed normal structure and dopamine receptor immunoreactivity was minimally observed in cellular level. The dopamine receptor immunoreactivity was present in widespread of the tissue in neuronal fibres. The most intense labelling was distinguished in medullary layer (Figure 6a). In high magnification, Purkinje cells displayed a weak D2 receptor immunoreactivity (Figure 6a inset). In the low dose treated group, most evident changes were the capillary dilatation in the molecular layer. Also, the disruption of the Purkinje cell layer was observed in some areas. As in the control group, dopamine-2 receptor immunostaining was present in neuronal fibres of the medulla but also reactivity around the purkinje cells was increased compared to control group (Figure 6b). In high magnification, purkinje cells showed moderate membranous D2 immunoreactivity (Figure 6b inset). In the curative dose treated group; especially capillary dilatation of the molecular layer was very clear with disruption of the Purkinje cell layer similar to the low dose treated group. The dopamine-2 receptor reactivity evaluation displayed intense neuronal fibre immunoreactivity in some area of the molecular layer apart to other groups. The cerebellar medullary reactivity was also increased



Figure 4. Dopamine D2 receptor immunoreactive regions in control (a), low dose (b), curative dose (c) and high dose (d) Ritalin treated prefrontal cortex; D2DR positive neurons (\mathbf{x}) were seen in high magnification (immunoperoxidase–haematoxylin ×400).

(Figure 6c). In high magnification, Purkinje cells displayed weak to moderate reactivity (Figure 6c inset). In the high dose treated group; capillary dilatation was very obvious. The D2 reactivity of the molecular layer neuronal fibre and the medulla was similar to previous group (Figure 6d). In high magnification, Purkinje cell staining was increased and showed intense labelling compared to other groups. The proximal part of the neuronal fibres exhibited also intense reactivity in this group (Figure 6d inset). Our immunohistochemical results were in accordance with HSCORE findings and they were statistically meaningful (P < 0.001) (Tables IV and V).

Ultrastructure

In the control group, structural evaluation of the prefrontal cortex displayed capillary walls, neurons and myelinated nerves in their normal structure (data not shown). In the low dose treated group; most evident changes observed in PfC, was the pericellular and perivascular oedema. The neuron nuclei showed eucromatic structure with minimal

Table III.	HSCORE	of the	cerebrum	pyramidal	neuron	dopamine	receptor	immunoreactivity.
------------	--------	--------	----------	-----------	--------	----------	----------	-------------------

	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Mean} \pm \text{standard deviation} \\ \text{Median} \\ n = 6 \end{array}$					
	Control group	Low dose group	Curative dose group	High dose group	Р	
Weak	51.4286 ± 25.44836^{a} 60.0000	53.3333±24.22120 ^{a#} 50.0000	$\frac{102.8571 \pm 40.70802^{\text{b}\#}}{100.0000}$	174.2857±37.07135 ^{c#} 180.0000	< 0.001	
Medium	$\begin{array}{c} 67.1429 \pm 35.45621^{a} \\ 60.0000 \end{array}$	$\frac{85.0000 \pm 22.58318^{a^{\sharp}}}{90.0000}$	$\frac{201.4286 \pm 37.60699^{b \$}}{210.0000}$	$270.0000 \pm 42.42641^{\text{c¥}} \\ 270.0000$	< 0.001	
Strong	177.1429±39.03600 ^{a€} 160.0000	220.0000±41.95235 ^{a€} 220.0000	$280.000 \pm 76.59417^{b} \\ 280.0000$	$425.7143 \pm 59.68170^{cc}$ 420.0000	< 0.001	
P	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.001		

Different symbols display differences between groups and intensity.



Figure 5. Dopamine D2 receptor immunoreactive regions in control(a), low dose (b), curative dose (c) and high dose (d) applied ventral tegmental area; D2DR positive neurons (\rightarrow), glial cells (+), and capillaries (\ddagger) and immunoreactive neurons (\rightarrow) were seen (immunoperoxidase-haematoxylin ×100).

invagination while swelling of the mitochondrions and especially in these ones, minimal crystolysis was seen. The rough endoplasmic reticulum cisternae (rER) were active. A few number of pinostatic



Figure 6. Dopamine D2 receptor immunoreactive regions in control (a), low dose (b), curative dose (c) and high dose (d) Ritalin treated cerebellar vermis; Purkinje cells (P), immunoreactive neuronal process (+), capillaries (*) were seen (immunoperoxidase–haematoxylin ×100).



Figure 7. Ultrastructural evaluations in high dose Ritalin treated prefrontal cortex; shrinking neurons (Ne), degenerated cytoplasmic organelles (\clubsuit), heterochromatic and shrinking nucleus (N), capillaries (Cp), pericellular (+) and perivascular (\blacklozenge) oedema were seen (uranyl acetate–lead citrate ×4400).

vesicle inside the endothelium cells with normal basal membrane of the capillary wall and normal cytoplasmic organelle composition were observed (data not shown).

In the curative dose treated group; the pericellular and perivascular oedema were increased. The neurons displayed normal nuclei structure and rER cisternae were active. While, swelling of the mitochondrions with loss of cristae were observed in some cells. In this group, the most prominent change was, additionally to pericellular oedema, cytoplasmic diminution related to cellular shrinking. The evaluation of the capillary wall revealed that the condensation of the endothelium cell nuclei was increased in some area with large mitochondrions and pinostatic vesicle ratio was similar to the low dose treated group but basal membrane was thicker (data not shown).

In the high dose treated group; pericellular oedema was similar to curative dose but perivascular oedema was increased dramatically. The evaluation of the neurons revealed that due to their ultrastructural degeneration, their organelles were not identified clearly and their nucleus was smaller (Figure 7). But, capillary endothelial cell nuclear chromatin was increased especially under nuclear membrane with minimal intracytoplasmic oedema and interestingly increased perivascular oedema. Also, the basal membrane was clearly thicker (Figure 7 inset).

In the control group, structural evaluation of the cerebellum displayed Purkinje cells, neuronal fibres and capillary in their normal structure (data not shown). In the low dose treated group; nucleus and nucleolus of the Purkinje cells displayed normal structure with crystolysis and swelling of the some mitochondrions. The rough endoplasmic reticulum cisternae were active. The pericellular oedema was not observed. The evaluation of the neuronal fibres exhibited existence of the normal structure in smallsized fibres but myelin sheaths disruption and axonal dystrophy of the large-sized fibres (Figure 8a). In the curative dose treated group; shrinking of the Purkinje cells with pericellular oedema was first to notice. In cell nucleus, chromatin accumulation under the membrane was observed. The cytoplasm



Figure 8. Ultrastructural evaluations in low dose (a), curative dose (b) and high dose (c) Ritalin treated cerebellar vermis. P, dose-related increase of cytoplasmic density and condensation of the chromatin in Purkinje cells; M, dose-related increase of the crystolysis and swelling of the mitochondrions (\rightarrow) (uranyl acetate–lead citrate ×4400).

540 M. Bahcelioglu et al.

	Mean \pm standard deviation Median n=6					
	Control	Low	Curative	High	P	
Weak	79.7143±5.58911 ^{a#} 80.0000	$30.0000 \pm 9.86577^{b\#}$ 34.0000	$11.7143 \pm 6.67618^{c\#}$ 12.0000	$13.4286 \pm 5.74042^{c\#}$ 14.0000	< 0.001	
Medium	$7.28657 \pm 2.36039^{a_{\rm F}} \\ 9.0000$	$25.2857 \pm 10.65699^{bF}$ 27.0000	$36.4286 \pm 7.82852^{c^{\downarrow}}$ 39.0000	$\frac{32.5714 \pm 8.90425^{c_{\rm F}}}{33.0000}$	< 0.001	
Strong	11.7143±3.35233 ^{a€} 12.0000	46.2857±8.28079 ^{b€} 46.0000	$\frac{100.8571 \pm 12.26687^{c \varepsilon}}{102.0000}$	$\begin{array}{c} 304.0000 \pm \! 15.51344^{\mathrm{d} \varepsilon} \\ 311.0000 \end{array}$	< 0.001	
P	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001		

Table IV. HSCORE of the cerebellum neuron dopamine receptor immunoreactivity.

Different symbols display differences between groups and intensity.

was electron dense with the appearance of the gigantic mitochondrions. The crystolysis of the mitochondrions was also seen. Compared to the low dose treated group, rER were more active with a high number of ribosome dispersed in the cytoplasm. The evaluation of the neuronal fibres revealed the evident myelin sheaths disruption in all size fibres with axonal dystrophy (Figure 8b). In the high dose treated group; shrinking of the Purkinje cells with pericellular oedema was similar to the curative dose group. The invagination of the cell nucleus and condensation of the chromatin was also noticed. The cytoplasm was highly electron dense and crystolysis of the mitochondrions was very prominent. Other cytoplasmic organelles were not observed related to the cytoplasmic density. In this group, neuronal fibre degeneration was increased. The small-sized fibres showed similar characteristic features like the curative dose while large-sized fibres showed duplication of the myelin sheath (Figure 8c).

Discussion

Practice-dependent plasticity underlies motor learning in everyday life and motor relearning after lesions of the nervous system. Previous studies showed that practice-dependent plasticity is modifiable by neuromodulating transmitters such as norepinephrine (NE), dopamine (DA) or acetylcholine (ACh) (Meintzschel and Ziemann 2006). Dopamine is an important neurotransmitter of the central nervous system controlling the various organ activities depending on the activation of different receptors (Cavallotti et al. 2002).

Consistent with the dopaminergic hypothesis of ADHD, methylphenidate blocks dopamine transporter (DAT), thereby elevating extracellular dopamine levels in various limbic, striatal, cortical and cerebellar terminal fields (Krain and Castellanos 2006; Sellings et al. 2006; Wooters et al. 2006). The agonists of neuromodulating transmitters systems (e.g., methylphenidate) enhanced practice-dependent plasticity, while the antagonists reduced it (Meintzschel and Ziemann 2006). Several researchers studied possible consequences of long-term exposure to methylphenidate and found no increase in dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens and no sensitized locomotor responses in adolescent rats (Kuczenski and Segal 2002; Volkow and Insel 2003). Feron et al. (2005) reported also that, in single-photon emission computed tomography study of five children; methylphenidate does not lead to permanent damage of the nigrostriatal dopaminergic pathways. While, Yang et al. (2006b) demonstrated that the extracellular DA activates the motor nuclei and suppresses incoming peripheral information

Table V. HSCORE of the cerebellum Purkinje cells dopamine receptor immunoreactivity.

	Mean \pm standard deviation Median $n = 6$				
	Control group	Low dose group	Curative dose group	High dose group	Р
Weak	8.5714 ± 3.59894^{a} 8.0000	$10.2557 \pm 3.90360^{a\#}$ 10.0000	16.5714 ± 4.42734^{b} 16.0000	$33.7143 \pm 7.25062^{\circ}$ 36.0000	< 0.001
Medium	9.000 ± 3.46410^{a} 9.0000	18.4286 ± 4.03556^{b} 18.0000	17.14429 ± 4.48808^{b} 18.0000	27.8571 ± 5.92814^{c} 27.0000	< 0.001
Strong	$\frac{8.5714 \pm 5.85540^{\rm a}}{8.0000}$	$\frac{14.5414 \pm 5.74042^{b\epsilon}}{12.0000}$	28.5714±5.38074 ^{c€} 28.0000	$42.5714 \pm 5.96817^{\rm d} \\ 42.0000$	< 0.001
Р	1.000	< 0.05	< 0.01	< 0.05	

Different symbols display differences between groups and intensity.

arriving to the VTA and NAc and this suppression is intensified following chronic MPH application which may be the indication of the development of electrophysiological sensitization. Easton et al. (2007) indicated that MPH has a weaker effect at inhibiting vesicular accumulation of DA and NA compared to its potent synaptosomal effects. Mague et al. (2005) reported evidence that early adolescent exposure to MPH in rats causes complex behavioural adaptations that endure into adulthood. Lagace et al. (2006) studied the neuronal consequences of early-life exposure to MPH and suggested that decreased adult neurogenesis is an enduring consequence of MPH exposure which inhibits the survival of adult-generated neurons in the temporal hippocampus and may reduce progenitor sensitivity to corticosterone-induced decreases in proliferation. Thanos et al. (2007) pointed out that MPH effect of D2R expression in the striatum are sensitive not only to length of treatment but also to the developmental stage at which treatment is given. Consequently, they reported that further studies are needed to evaluate different treatment regimens for assessing optimal duration to minimize adverse effects on the propensity for drug self administration (Thanos et al. 2007).

While, neurobiological theories of ADHD have mainly focused on the prefrontal cortex and basal ganglia, some researchers have also found that children of both sex with ADHD have smaller posterior-inferior lobules of the cerebellar vermis than healthy children (Castellanos et al. 1996; Berquin et al. 1998; Mostofsky et al. 1998; Castellanos et al. 2001; Anderson et al. 2002; Glaser et al. 2006; Krain and Castellanos 2006). The cerebellum is associated with coordination of motor movements but is also known to be involved in non-motor functions such as timing and attentional shifting through connections with frontal regions (Krain and Castellanos 2006). Researches pointed out several compelling reasons for the involvement of cerebellar vermis in both the pathophysiology of ADHD and therapeutic response to stimulant medications (Krain and Castellanos 2006). They reported that cerebellum receives dopamine projections from the ventral tegmental area (granule layer of crus 1 and paraflocculus) and the posterior-inferior lobules of the cerebellar vermis have the highest concentration of DAT (Ikai et al. 1992, 1994; Melchitzky and Lewis 2000). Also, there are reciprocal loops that interconnect a large and diverse set of cerebral cortical areas, including the prefrontal cortex, with the basal ganglia and cerebellum by way of the pons, dentate nucleus, and thalamus (Anderson et al. 2002). The vermis, through its fastigial projections to the ventral tegmental area and locus ceruleus, exerts strong effects on the turnover of dopamine

and noradrenaline in the caudate and nucleus accumbens (Anderson et al. 2002). So, the vermis has been shown to modulate forebrain dopamine systems, to influence locomotor activity, and to contain a significant density of dopamine transporters but cerebellum's influence on cortico-striatalthalamo-cortical circuits, which choose, initiate, and carry out complex motor and cognitive responses still need to be explored (Anderson et al. 2002; Krain and Castellanos 2006).

We believe that Ritalin is causes dose-related activation of the the dopaminergic neurons in brain regions especially in ventral tegmental area. Strong activity of the VTA axons related to increased doses and the close relation of the VTA with dopaminergic path suggest the possibility that Ritalin is activating this dopaminergic pathway.

GFAP is well known to be a good marker for reactive astrocytes in response to the central nervous system injury, due to specificity of it in astrocytes (Eng and DeArmond 1986; Lin et al. 1993). Increased astroglial reaction in the striatum was found by several researchers after MPTP treatment, a well known selective neurotoxicant to deplete striatal dopamine which causes neuronal degeneration of the nigrostriatal pathway (Stromberg et al. 1986; Francis et al. 1995; Araki et al. 2001). Araki et al. (2001) suggested that increases in GFAP staining produced by MPTP in the striatum are linked to decrements in TH staining suggested that factors originating in the damaged dopamine neurons initiated the astrocytes reaction to MPTP.

Our findings shows that the increased dose of Ritalin is inducing astrocytes hypertrophy especially astrogliosis in pia-glial membrane and this is the result of the degenerative changes in prefrontal cortex region due to high dose methylphenidate administration. This astrogliosis related to the degeneration was also prominent in the medullary region of the cerebellum.

Our ultrastructural results show that Ritalin is causing prominent extracellular oedema in prefrontal cortex especially in perivascular area with increased doses. Besides, dose-related basal membrane thickness and augmentation of the pinostatic vesicle in the endothelial cells revealed the result that Ritalin is negatively affecting substance transport. Also, Purkinje cell and neuronal fibres degeneration occurring in the cerebellum is revealing the possibility that Ritalin has negative effect on non-motor functions, in accordance with recent literature findings.

In the light of all our data, we believe that methylphenidate is causes dose-related activation of the dopaminergic system in several brain regions and also causing neuronal degeneration and capillary wall structural changes in ultrastructural level. The doserelated accumulation of the astrocytes in capillary wall might well be a consequence of the need for nutrition of the neuronal tissue, due to transport mechanism deficiency related to neuronal and vascular degeneration. Thus, we believe that the therapeutic dose of methylphenidate must be kept to the minimum level to prevent ultrastructural changes.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by a grant from Gazi University, Research Foundation (Project code no. 01/2004-68).

Statement of interest

None.

References

- Aktas Z, Cansi A, Erdogan D, Take G, Goktas G, Ozdek S, et al. 2009. Retinal ganglion cell toxicity due to oxcarbazepine and valproic acid treatment in rat. Seizure. 18:396–399. doi:10.1016/j.seizure.2009.02.003
- Amini B, Yang PB, Swann AC, Dafny N. 2004. Differential locomotor responses in male rats from three strains to acute methylphenidate. Int J Neurosci 114:1063–1084.
- Anderson CM, Polcari A, Lowen SB, Renshaw PF, Teicher MH. 2002. Effects of methylphenidate on functional magnetic resonance relaxometry of the cerebellar vermis in boys with ADHD. Am J Psychiatry 159:1322–1328.
- Andreazza AC, Frey BN, Valvassori SS, Zanotto C, Gomes KM, Comim CM, et al. 2007. DNA damage in rats after treatment with methylphenidate. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 31:1282–1288.
- Araki T, Mikami T, Tanji H, Matsubara M, Imai Y, Mizugaki M, et al. 2001. Biochemical and immunohistological changes in the brain of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP)-treated mouse. Eur J Pharm Sci 12:231–238.
- Benes FM. 1998. Brain development, VII. Human brain growth spans decades. Am J Psychiatry 155:1489.
- Berquin PC, Giedd JN, Jacobsen LK, Hamburger SD, Krain AL, Rapoport JL, et al. 1998. Cerebellum in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: a morphometric MRI study. Neurology 50:1087–1093.
- Blanchard DC, Shepherd JK, De Padua Carobrez A, Blanchard RJ. 1991. Sex effects in defensive behavior: Baseline differences and drug interactions. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 15:461–468.
- Brandon CL, Marinelli M, Baker LK, White FJ. 2001. Enhanced reactivity and vulnerability to cocaine following methylphenidate treatment in adolescent rats. Neuropsychopharmacology 25:651–661.
- Brandon CL, Marinelli M, White FJ. 2003. Adolescent exposure to Methylphenidate alters the activity of rat midbrain dopamine neurons. Biol Psychiatry 54:1338–1344.
- Camp DM, Robinson TE. 1988. Susceptibility to sensitisation: II. The influence of gonadal hormones on the enduring changes in brain monamines and behaviour produced by the repeated administration of D-amphetamine or restraint stress. Behav Brain Res 30:69–88.
- Castellanos FX. 1997. Toward a pathophysiology of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. Clin Pediatr (Philadelphia) 36:381–393.

- Castellanos FX, Giedd JN, Marsh WL, Hamburger SD, Vaituzis AC, Dickstein DP, et al. 1996. Quantitative brain magnetic resonance imaging in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 53:607–616.
- Castellanos FX, Giedd JN, Berquin PC, Walter JM, Sharp W, Tran T, et al. 2001. Quantitative brain magnetic resonance imaging in girls with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 58:289–295.
- Castner SA, Goldman-Rakic PS. 1999. Long-lasting psychotomimatic consequences of repeated low-dose amphetamine exposure in rhesus monkeys. Neuropsychopharmacology 20:10–28.
- Cavallotti C, Nuti F, Bruzzone P, Mancone M. 2002. Age-related changes in dopamine D2 receptors in rat heart and coronary vessels. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 29:412–418.
- Chase TD, Carrey N, Brown RE, Wilkinson M. 2005. Methylphenidate regulates c-fos and fosB expression in multiple regions of the immature rat brain. Dev Brain Res 156:1–12.
- Delaney P, Estes M. 1980. Intracranial hemorrhage with amphetamine abuse. Neurology 30:1125–1128.
- Dinn WM, Robbins NC, Harris CL. 2001. Adult attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder: Neuropsychological correlates and clinical presentation. Brain Cogn 46:114–121.
- Easton N, Steward C, Marshall F, Fone K, Marsden C. 2007. Effects of amphetamine isomers, methylphenidate and atomoxetine on synaptosomal and synaptic vesicle accumulation and release of dopamine and noradrenaline in vitro in the rat brain. Neuropharmacology 52:405–414.
- Eng LF, DeArmond SJ. 1986. Immunocytochemical studies of astrocytes in normal development and disease. Adv Cell Neurobiol 3:145–171.
- Feron F, Hendriksen J, van Kroonenburgh M, Blom-Coenjaerts C, Kessels A, Jolles J, et al. 2005. Dopamine transporter in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder normalizes after cessation of methylphenidate. Pediatr Neurol 33:179–183.
- Francis JW, Visger J, Markelonis J, Oh TH. 1995. Neuroglial responses to the dopaminergic neurotoxicant 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine in mouse striatum. Neurotoxicol Teratol 17:7–12.
- Giedd JN, Blumenthal J, Jeffries NO, Castellanos FX, Liu H, Zijdenbos A, et al. 1999. Brain development during childhood and adolescence: A longitudinal MRA study. Nat Neurosci 2:861–863.
- Glaser PE, Surgener SP, Grondin R, Gash CR, Palmer M, Castellanos FX, et al. 2006. Cerebellar neurotransmission in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: does dopamine neurotransmission occur in the cerebellar vermis? J Neurosci Methods 151:62–67.
- Harlan RE, Garcia MM. 1998. Drugs of abuse and immediateearly genes in the forebrain. Mol Neurobiol 16:221–267.
- Ikai Y, Takada M, Shinonaga Y, Mizuno N. 1992. Dopaminergic and non-dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area of the rat project, respectively, to the cerebellar cortex and deep cerebellar nuclei. Neuroscience 51:719–728.
- Ikai Y, Takada M, Mizuno N. 1994. Single neurons in the ventral tegmental area that project to both the cerebral and cerebellar cortical areas by way of axon collaterals. Neuroscience 61:925– 934.
- Krain AL, Castellanos FX. 2006. Brain development and ADHD. Clin Psychol Rev 26:433–444.
- Kuczenski R, Segal DS. 2002. Exposure of adolescent rats to oral methylphenidate: Preferential effects on extracellular norepinephrine and absence of sensitization and cross-sensitization to methamphetamine. J Neurosci 22:7264–7271.
- Lagace DC, Yee JK, Bolanos CA, Eisch AJ. 2006. Juvenile administration of methylphenidate attenuates adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Biol Psychiatry 60:1121–1130.

- LeBlanc-Duchin D, Taukulis HK. 2004. Behavioral reactivity to a noradrenergic challenge after chronic oral methylphenidate (Ritalin) in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 79:641–649.
- Lin RC, Polsky K, Matesic DF. 1993. Expression of gammaaminobutyric acid immunoreactivity in reactive astrocytes after ischemia-induced injury in the adult forebrain. Brain Res 600:1–8.
- Mague SD, Andersen SL, Carlezon WA, Jr. 2005. Early developmental exposure to methylphenidate reduces cocaine-induced potentiation of brain stimulation reward in rats. Biol Psychiatry 57:120–125.
- Meintzschel F, Ziemann U. 2006. Modification of practicedependent plasticity in human motor cortex by neuromodulators. Cereb Cortex 16:1106–1115.
- Melchitzky DS, Lewis DA. 2000. Tyrosine hydroxylase- and dopamine transporter-immunoreactive axons in the primate cerebellum. Evidence for a lobular- and laminar-specific dopamine innervation. Neuropsychopharmacology 22:466– 472.
- Mostofsky SH, Reiss AL, Lockhart P, Denckla MB. 1998. Evaluation of cerebellar size in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. J Child Neurol 13:434–439.
- Rothrock JF, Rubenstein R, Lyden PD. 1988. Ischemic stroke associated with methamphetamine inhalation. Neurology 38:589–592.
- Schenk S, Izenwasser S. 2002. Pretreatment with methylphenidate sensitizes rats to the reinforcing effects of cocaine. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 72:651–657.
- Schteinschnaider A, Plaghos LL, Garbugino S, Riveros D, Lazarowski A, Intruvini S, et al. 2000. Cerebral arteritis following methylphenidate use. J Child Neurol 15:265–267.
- Sellings LH, McQuade LE, Clarke PB. 2006. Characterization of dopamine-dependent rewarding and locomotor stimulant effects of intravenously-administered methylphenidate in rats. Neuroscience 141:1457–1468.

- Stromberg L, Bjorklund H, Dahl D, Jonsson G, Sundstrom E, Olson L. 1986. Astrocyte responses to dopaminergic denervations by 6-hydroxydopamine and 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine as evidenced by glial fibrillary acidic protein immunohistochemistry. Brain Res Bull 17:225–236.
- Thanos PK, Michaelides M, Benveniste H, Wang GJ, Volkow ND. 2007. Effects of chronic oral methylphenidate on cocaine selfadministration and striatal dopamine D2 receptors in rodents. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 87:426–433.
- Torres G, Horowitz JM. 1999. Drugs of abuse and brain gene expression. Psychosom Med 61:630–650.
- Trugman JM. 1988. Cerebral arteritis and oral methylphenidate. Lancet 12:584–585.
- Volkow ND, Insel TR. 2003. What are the long-term effects of methylphenidate treatment? Biol Psychiatry 54:1307–1309.
- Volkow ND, Wang G, Fowler JS, Logan J, Gerasimov M, Maynard L, et al. 2001. Therapeutic doses of oral methylphenidate significantly increase extracellular dopamine in the human brain. J Neurosci :R 21:C121.
- Wooters TE, Dwoskin LP, Bardo MT. 2006. Age and sex differences in the locomotor effect of repeated methylphenidate in rats classified as high or low novelty responders. Psychopharmacology (Berlin) 188:18–27.
- Yang PB, Swann AC, Dafny N. 2006a. Acute and chronic methylphenidate dose-response assessment on three adolescent male rat strains. Brain Res Bull 71:301–310.
- Yang PB, Swann AC, Dafny N. 2006b. Chronic methylphenidate modulates locomotor activity and sensory evoked responses in the VTA and NAc of freely behaving rats. Neuropharmacology 51:546–556.
- Yano M, Steiner H. 2005. Topography of methylphenidate (ritalin)-induced gene regulation in the striatum: differential effects on c-fos, substance P and opioid peptides. Neuropsychopharmacology 30:901–915.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Association of monoamine oxidase A (MAOA) polymorphisms and clinical subgroups of major depressive disorders in the Han Chinese population

SAN-YUAN HUANG¹*, MING-TENG LIN^{1,2}*, WEI-WEN LIN¹, CHENG-CHANG HUANG¹, MEE-JEN SHY¹ & RU-BAND LU^{3,4}

¹Department of Psychiatry, Tri-Service General Hospital, National Defense Medical Center, ²Department of Psychiatry, Taichung Armed Forces General Hospital, ³Institute of Behavioral Medicine, and ⁴Department of Psychiatry, College of Medicine, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan, ROC

Abstract

It has been proposed that an MAOA abnormality may be an important factor in the development of major depressive disorder (MDD). Various polymorphisms of the *MAOA* gene have been investigated for possible associations with mood disorders, but results have been inconsistent. The goal of the present study was to investigate whether polymorphisms of the *MAOA* gene are associated with MDD or alternatively with different clinical subgroups of MDD. A total of 590 Han Chinese subjects in Taiwan (312 controls and 278 MDD patients) were recruited. Among the males, there were no associations with MAOA polymorphisms. Among the females, an association was found between *MAOA* polymorphisms and *severe* MDD (P=0.041 for *uVNTR* and 0.017 for *EcoRV* (rs1137070), respectively). However, in analyses of haplotype frequencies and multiple logistic regression, *MAOA* polymorphisms were not associated with either MDD or its subgroups. The results suggest that *MAOA* polymorphisms do not play a major role in the pathogenesis of MDD or its subgroups. However, a potential role for a minor association with some specific subgroups and with different ethnic samples needs to be explored further.

Key words: MAOA gene, major depression, clinical subgroup, association study

Introduction

Major depressive disorder (MDD) is a common and disabling disorder that may result in impairment of daily functioning sufferers (Kessler et al. 2003). Several lines of evidence suggest that the heritability of MDD is about 38%. In twin studies, the genetic correlation of the susceptibility to MDD in men and women is estimated to be 0.55–0.63 (Kendler et al. 2006). We can therefore conclude that genetic factors play a role in MDD.

Over a period of 40 years, the monoamine depletion hypothesis of depression came to be widely accepted (Schildkraut and Kety 1967). Although there are different mechanisms of monoamine actions, many studies have shown that serotonin, norepinephrine and dopamine play important roles in the pathogenesis of MDD. Monoamines are mainly metabolized by monoamine oxidase (MAO). There are two isoforms of MAO (MAOA and MAOB) which can be differentiated based on their substrate and inhibitor specificities. MAOA preferentially metabolizes serotonin, and norepinephrine; MAOB prefers β-phenylethylamine and benzylamine as substrates. Dopamine and tryptamine are metabolized equally by both isoforms (Shih 1991). It is well-accepted that patients with major depression have abnormal MAO activity (Schildkraut 1965; von Knorring et al. 1985). A recent study which suggests that elevated MAOA density is the primary monoamine lowering process during major depression (Meyer et al. 2006) is in line with the hypothesis that MAOA is an important factor in major depression.

(Received 4 February 2007; accepted 13 November 2007)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970701816506

^{*}These two authors contributed equally to this article

Correspondence: San-Yuan Huang, MD, PhD, Assistant Professor and Attending Psychiatrist, Department of Psychiatry, Tri-Service General Hospital, No. 325, Cheng-Kung Road, Sec. 2, Nei-Hu District, Taipei, 114, Taiwan, ROC. Tel: +11 886 2 8792 7220. Fax: +11 886 2 8792 6715. E-mail: hsy@ndmctsgh.edu.tw

Fibroblasts from monozygotic twins had levels of MAOA activity that were highly concordant (Breakefield et al. 1980), indicating that the level of MAOA activity is genetically controlled. The possibility that point mutations in MAOA or lack of the MAOA gene might result in mental retardation and behavioural changes (Brunner et al. 1993; Cases et al. 1995) was suggested. Along these lines, we propose that the expression of the MAOA gene is associated with the pathogenesis of MDD.

In 1998, Sabol et al. identified a functional polymorphism of a variable number tandem repeat in the promoter region of the MAOA gene (*uVNTR*). They found in cell lines that alleles of 3.5 or 4 repeats had 2-10 times more catalytic efficiency than those with alleles of 3 or 5 repeats (Sabol et al. 1998). Another study found in postmortem males that 3 repeat alleles of the MAOA promoter had low transcription activity (Denney et al. 1999). Therefore, our study of the associations of the MAOA gene with major depression focused on the MAOA promoter region. Despite the biological evidence of the involvement of the MAOA gene variants in the etiology of symptoms of depression, association studies contrasting patients with major depressive disorders and control subjects have not showed consistent results. Kunugi et al. (1999) found no significant association between MAOA-uVNTR and unipolar depression. Further studies have shown similar results (Cusin et al. 2002; Lin et al. 2000; Syagailo et al. 2001), whereas other have found a significant association (Schulze et al. 2000; Yu et al. 2005). There are several possible explanations for these conflicting results. These include different clinical phenotypes in major depressive disorder, different frequencies of the MAO gene in different ethnic groups, varying definitions of healthy controls, and the fact that some reports only used a single polymorphism, which may be less powerful than using the haplotype to define the role of the MAOA gene in bipolar disorder.

In our study, we investigated whether the promoter (*uVNTR*) and *EcoRV* (rs1137070) variants of the *MAOA* gene are associated with major depressive disorder in a Taiwan Han Chinese population. To reduce the clinical heterogeneity within major depressive disorder, we examined clinical subgroups of major depressive disorders separately. Individuals with major depressive disorder were classified into several subgroups according to clinical variables including family history of major affective disorder and moderate vs. severe major depression.

Materials and methods

Subjects and clinical assessments

The protocol of this study was approved by the Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects at Tri-Service General Hospital (TSGH), a medical-teaching hospital affiliated with the National Defense Medical Center in Taipei, Taiwan. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants following a full explanation of the study procedure. To minimize the effects of ethnic differences on gene frequencies, all 590 individuals were recruited from the Han Chinese population in northern Taiwan. All participants were unrelated and were matched for ethnicity and geographic origin.

The patient group consisted of 278 patients with major depression (108 males and 170 females) who were recruited from clinical settings. Each patient was initially evaluated by an attending psychiatrist (SYH) and then interviewed by a well-trained psychologist using the Schedule of Affective Disorder and Schizophrenia-Lifetime (SADS-L) (Endicott and Spitzer 1978; Merikangas et al. 1998) and DSM-IV criteria (American Psychiatric Association 1994). The inter-rater reliability κ values of the Chinese Version of the Modified SADS-L were good-to-excellent for major depression, bipolar disorder, anxiety disorder, schizophrenia, and alcohol abuse and dependence (Huang et al. 2004). All patients in this study met DSM-IV criteria for major depressive disorder on the basis of an interview and a best-estimate procedure that used all available information, including clinical observations, medical records and family information. Subjects were recruited either in their first episode or in a recurrent episode. The severity of the episode was assessed with a 21-item Hamilton depression rating scale (HAM-D). Only subjects with a minimum score of 18 on the HAM-D entered the study. Individuals with a history of substance dependence, severe medical illness, organic brain disease, or any concomitant major psychiatric disorders were excluded from the study. Further, patients were classified into four clinical subgroups: major depression with family history, major depression without family history, moderate major depression, and severe major depression. A positive family history here indicates that one or more first-degree relatives had either bipolar disorder or major depression. HAM-D scores between 18 and 24 were defined as moderate major depression; HAM-D scores >24 were defined as severe major depression.

The normal control group included 312 healthy volunteers (201 males and 111 females) recruited

from the community. The Chinese Version of the SADS-L (Endicott and Spitzer 1978; Merikangas et al. 1998) was used to screen out psychiatric conditions in the control group. Control subjects were free of past or present major or minor mental illness including affective disorder, schizophrenia, anxiety disorder, personality disorder and substance use disorders and those with family history of such disorders were excluded.

Genotyping for MAOA gene

The 30-bp repeat polymorphism of the *MAOA-uVNTR* gene (variable number of tandem repeats located upstream of the promoter region) was investigated using a modification of the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) method described by Zhu et al. (1992). The *EcoRV* (1460C > T) polymorphism (rs1137070) in exon 14 of *MAOA* gene were detected using the modified PCR-RFLP (restriction fragment length polymorphism) method described by Hotamisligil and Breakefield (1991). The *MAOA EcoRV* (-) polymorphism remained intact and was 703 bp long, whereas the *MAOA EcoRV* (+) polymorphism was cut into two DNA fragments of 340 and 363 bp by the *EcoRV* restriction enzymes.

Statistical analyses

Independent-samples *t*-tests were employed to determine differences in mean age between patients with major depression and normal controls. Pearson χ^2 analysis was used to compare gender difference between the patient and control groups. Hardy– Weinberg equilibrium was assessed for each group, and the frequencies of genotype and allele were also compared in patients versus controls using Pearson χ^2 analyses. Fisher exact tests were substituted for the Pearson χ^2 -test when sample sizes were smaller than expected (less than five subjects). Multiple logistic regression analysis was applied to correct for effects of possible covariates such as age, gender and other *MAOA* polymorphisms on the risk of major depression. SPSS (version 11.5, SPSS, Taipei, Taiwan) statistical software was used for all analyses and a probability value P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Haplotype frequencies, linkage disequilibrium coefficients, and standardized linkage disequilibrium coefficients between uVNTR and EcoRV polymorphisms in the MAOA gene were estimated by using two computer programs: (1) estimating haplotypes and (2) permutation and model free analysis. Examination of frequencies of haplotypes used Fisher's exact test when small cell sizes were encountered (Zhao and Sham 2002). Power analyses were performed with the use of G-Power computer software and effect size conventions were determined according to the method of Erdfelder et al. (1996). All tests were two-tailed; α was set at 0.05.

Results

Data for gender and age are shown in Table I. The difference in mean age between controls and subjects with major depression (or subgroups) was not significantly different, except for the subgroup of patients without a positive family history for affective disorder (P=0.04). The gender difference between controls and total MDD and its subgroups was significantly different (P<0.001).

The five repeat polymorphism of the *MAOA uVNTR* gene was not found. The 2 repeat allele was rare in our study (four normal males and one MDD male). Therefore, we did not include subjects with the 2 repeat polymorphism of the *MAOAuVNTR*. For data analysis of halplotype (between *MAOA-uVNTR* and *MAOA-EcoRV*) and single *MAOA-uVNTR*, the study included 277 major depression patients (107 males, 170 females) and 308 normal controls (197 males, 111 females). For data analysis of *MAOA-EcoRV*, the study included 278 major depression patients (108 males, 170 females) and 312 normal controls (201 males, 111 females).

Table I. Comparison of the mean age and gender between patients and controls and between controls and patient subgroups.

				Sex	(%)	
Group	Sample Size (N)	Mean age $(\pm SD)(years)$	P^{c}	Male	Female	P^{c}
Total MD ^a	278	39.51(14.706)	0.098	108(38.8)	170(61.2)	< 0.001
MD, positive FH ^a	72	37.79(14.674)	0.949	25(34.7)	47(65.3)	< 0.001
MD, negative FH	206	40.11(14.706)	0.040	83(40.3)	123(59.7)	< 0.001
MD, moderate ^b	81	39.69(15.207)	0.206	33(40.7)	48(59.3)	< 0.001
MD, severe ^b	197	39.43(14.534)	0.141	75(38.1)	122(61.9)	< 0.001
Healthy control subjects	312	37.69(11.972)		201(64.4)	111(35.6)	

^aMD, major depressive disorder; FH, family history.

^bModerate MD indicates HAM-D score 18–24; Severe MD indicates HAM-D score >24.

^cCompared with the control group.

The allele frequencies of MAOA-uVNTR and EcoRV polymorphisms in total MDD patients and the total control group (females and males) were not significantly different (P > 0.1, data not shown). Because the MAOA gene is located on the X chromosome, we analysed males and females separately. Therefore, these results for males and females are not influenced by gender. Among males, neither the MAOA-uVNTR nor the EcoRV polymorphisms showed a significant difference in the allele frequencies between MDD patients and controls, even if they were divided into the different subgroups of major depression (P > 0.1, Table II). Among female subjects, the MAOA-uVNTR genotype frequencies showed weak associations between severe MDD subjects versus controls (P=0.041) (Table II), but the allele frequency was not significantly different between severe MDD subjects and controls (P > 0.1,data not shown). Regarding genotype frequencies of the MAOA-EcoRV polymorphism in female subjects, there were significant associations between total MDD versus controls (P = 0.049), between MDD with family history versus controls (P=0.047), and between severe MDD versus controls (P=0.017)(Table II). But the allele frequency of MAOA-EcoRV was not different between controls and patients with MDD or between controls and MDD subgroups among female subjects (data not shown). Among female subjects, the genotype distributions of *uVNTR* and *EcoRV* polymorphisms of the MAOA gene were in the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium, both in the healthy control subjects and total female patients with MDD (P > 0.05).

Although we found that some subgroups of major depression are associated with the genotypes of the MAOA gene in female subjects (Table II), the most allele frequency did not show this association. To rule out associations by chance, we used haplotype analysis because it is more powerful and can provide more information in an association study. The haplotype frequencies of 3 repeat/ - and 4 repeat/ + were less than 10% in each of the 10 study groups. A strong linkage disequilibrium between the uVNTR and EcoRV of the MAOA gene was also evident. There were no significant differences in the haplotype frequencies of the MAOA gene between controls and total MDD patients, and between the subgroups of MDD patients versus controls (P >0.05, data not shown). In addition, we used multiple logistic regression analysis and corrected for age, and gene to gene interactions for MAOA-uVNTR and EcoRV polymorphisms in the risk of major depression. There were no significant differences between controls and major depression patients or its subgroups both in male and female subjects (Table III).

The study power was approximately 0.42–0.66 to detect a small effect, and 0.99 to detect a medium and large effect in the haplotype and allele frequencies of total males and females respectively. As for the patient subgroups, the statistical power was considerably lower because of the limited sample size. In the present power analysis, effect size conventions were determined according to the method of Erdfelder et al. (1996) as follows: small effect size =0.10, medium effect size =0.30, large effect size =0.50 (α =0.05).

Discussion

Variable tandem repeat alleles of the *MAOA* promoter gene had different transcription activities in cell lines (Hotamisligil and Breakefield 1991; Sabol et al. 1998) and it was thus selected as a good candidate for genetic studies of major depression. In spite of the strong rationale for the present study, however, the results showed that the genotype frequencies of the *MAOA* gene were not associated with major depressive disorder or its subgroups after multiple logistic regression analyses (Table III). Moreover, the haplotype frequencies of the *MAOA* gene did not have a significant association with major depression either in females or in males.

There are some limitations in our study. First, our total sample size was enough to find an effect of MAOA polymorphisms, but after division of subjects into different gender groups or MDD subgroups, the sample size of some subgroups was small. The results should therefore be interpreted carefully, and further research will be needed to rule out possible associations. Second, our study design was a cross-sectional approach, where we employed single time-point observations to subgroups of major depression, which may not corresponded to a lifetime perspective.

This result supports some previous studies (Kunugi et al. 1999; Syagailo et al. 2001; Gutierrez et al. 2004), but whilst contradicting others (Schulze et al. 2000; Yu et al. 2005). In a study by Yu et al. (2005), it was found that 4 repeat alleles of the MAOA uVNTR gene was higher in major depression patients than in controls, and a second study also reported increasing frequencies of the 4 repeat allele in major depression in German patients (Schulze et al. 2000). One of the explanations for these controversial results is ethnic stratification. The frequency of the 3 repeat allele in our control subjects was 0.617 for males and 0.586 for females, and in Japanese subjects the frequency was 0.60 concurrent with the current study population (Kunugi et al. 1999). In Caucasian populations, the 3 repeat allele frequencies were around 0.35–0.42 (Sabol et al. 1998; Cusin et al. 2002) and showed

						Genotype	Ş				
		1 <i>n</i>	NTR in female	(%) s.				uVNTR .	in males (%)		
Group	Females (N^a)	3R/3R	3R/4R	4R/4R	x ²	P^{b}	Males (N^{a})	3R	4R	x ²	P^{b}
Total MD ^a	170	69(40.6)	69(40.6)	32(18.8)	3.691	0.158	107	62(57.9)	45(42.1)	0.730	0.393
MD, positive FH ^a	47	18(38.3)	21(44.7)	8(17.0)	0.772	0.680	25	14(56.0)	11(44.0)	0.455	0.500
MD, negative FH	123	51(41.5)	48(39.0)	24(19.5)	3.880	0.144	82	48(58.5)	34(41.5)	0.476	0.490
MD, moderate	48	13(27.1)	25(52.1)	10(20.8)	0.912	0.634	33	17(51.5)	16(48.5)	1.556	0.212
MD, severe	122	56(45.9)	44(36.1)	22(18.0)	6.405	0.041	74	45(60.8)	29(39.2))	0.104	0.747
Healthy control subjects	111	36(32.4)	58(52.3)	17(15.3)			197	124(62.9)	73(37.1)		
		EcoRV i	n female					EcoR	V in male		
	Females (N^a)	+/+	- /+	-/	\mathbf{x}^2	P^{b}	Males (N^{a})	+	I	x ²	P^{b}
Total MD ^a	170	67(39.4)	72(42.4)	31(18.2)	6.041	0.049	108	61(56.5)	47(43.5)	0.401	0.527
MD, positive FH ^a	47	21(44.7)	17(36.2)	9(19.2)	6.119	0.047	25	12(48.0)	13(52.0)	1.366	0.242
MD, negative FH	123	46(37.4)	55(44.7)	22(17.9)	3.623	0.163	83	49(59.0)	34(41.0)	0.033	0.856
MD, moderate	48	14(29.2)	24(50.0)	10(20.8)	0.741	0.691	33	17(51.5)	16(48.5)	0.883	0.347
MD, severe	122	53(43.4)	48(39.3)	21(17.2)	8.130	0.017	75	44(58.7)	31(41.3)	0.053	0.817
Healthy control subjects	111	30(27.0)	63(56.8)	18(16.2)			201	121(60.2)	80(39.8)		

548 S.-Y. Huang et al.

Table III. Logistic regression analysis of the MAO-A gene (promoter and EcoRV) for risk of major depression, and for risk of its clinical subtypes in female patients.

	Groups							
			Major depres	Major depression $(n = 170)$				
Variable	Odd	ls ratio	95	5% CI	P value	e		
3/3 repeat	0	.396	0.08	4-1.875	0.243			
3/4 repeat	0	.565	0.16	6-1.922	0.361			
+/+	2	.997	0.61	7–14.561	0.174			
+/-	1	.110	0.32	8-3.753	0.867			
Age	1	.006	0.98	9–1.024	0.465			
	MI	D, positive FH $(n = 47)$		MD	, negative FH ($n = 123$)		
Variable	Odds ratio 95% CI		P value	Odds ratio	95% CI	P value		
3/3 repeat	0.236	0.026-2.124	0.198	0.529	0.103-2.704	0.444		
3/4 repeat	0.937	0.209-4.209	0.933	0.467	0.129-1.689	0.246		
+/+	5.095	0.610-42.529	0.133	2.283	0.421-12.393	0.339		
+/-	0.619	0.144-2.653	0.518	1.432	0.393-5.221	0.587		
Age	0.997	0.972-1.022	0.788	1.011	0.993-1.030	0.232		
	MD, moderate $(n=48)$			1	MD, severe $(n = 122)$			
Variable	Odds ratio	95% CI	P value	Odds ratio	95% CI	P value		
3/3 repeat	0.204	0.022-1.876	0.160	0.556	0.119-2.603	0.456		
3/4 repeat	0.719	0.163-3.177	0.664	0.548	0.163-1.847	0.332		
+ / +	3.464	0.380-31.608	0.271	2.508	0.516-12.185	0.254		
+ / -	0.978	0.223-4.282	0.976	1.060	0.315-3.571	0.925		
Age	1.011	0.987-1.035	0.378	1.004	0.986-1.024	0.642		

FH, family history; MD, major depression.

Reference group is 4/4 repeat, -/- and female, respectively.

The *P* values and odds ratios of early-onset major depression (n = 17) have not been shown in this table, but the risk of the *MAO-A* gene for this group was not significantly different, P > 0.1.

There were no significant differences between controls and patients with major depression or male patient subgroups.

lower values than Asian populations (0.58–0.65) (Kunugi et al. 1999; Yu et al. 2005). This difference in allele frequency may be partially responsible for the divergent association results. The ethnicity difference may influence population gene frequencies and may produce a false-positive or false-negative result by chance rather than revealing a direct relationship between an allele and a disease.

However, among subjects with the same ethnicity and the same allele frequency, which was the case in our study, the negative results need to be more carefully explained. Our results still contrasted with previous reports that showed significant associations between *MAOA-uVNTR* and MDD in a Han Chinese population (Yu et al. 2005). In the study of Yu et al. (2005), only a single polymorphism of the MAOA gene in total major depression was detected. The statistical power of a single polymorphism is weaker than haplotype analysis (Kidd. 1993). Thus, we measured two polymorphisms, the promoter *uVNTR* and exonic *EcoRV* in the *MAOA* gene, to assess the association between the MDD group and controls. The haplotype frequencies were analysed to increase statistical power. On the other hand, Yu et al. (2005) used medical staff for controls, whereas the controls in our study were from the community and all had the same diagnostic interview as patients, conducted by a psychiatrist using the SADS-L to rule out psychiatric disorders. Un-screened control subjects could influence the result. Therefore, our results may carry more weight and the probability of a negative finding by chance was relatively low.

The MAOA gene may have a gender-specific effect. In our study, the association of the *MAOA-uVNTR* and *EcoRV* polymorphisms with MDD was only in female subjects. Healthy females with a 4R *MAOA-uVNTR* allele had higher 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid and homovanillic acid levels in their cerebrospinal fluid than subjects with a 3R allele (Jonsson et al. 2000). Deckert et al. (1999) found that there was a significant excess of the 4R allele of *MAOA-uVNTR* in female patients with panic disorder. Stronger differences in genotype frequency of the *MAOA* gene were found in female patients with obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD) than in males

with OCD (Camarena et al. 2001). The 3R uVNTR allele of the MAOA gene in MDD females had a better antidepressant response, but the 3R uVNTR allele of the MAOA gene in MDD males did not (Yu et al. 2005). Therefore, the MAOA gene may have gender effects for some aspects of clinical psychiatry. One of the possible explanations is that the MAOA gene is located on the X chromosome, and female subjects have two X chromosomes. Another consideration is the hormone effect. Estrogen treatment can suppress the expression of MAOA mRNA (Gundlah et al. 2002; Smith et al. 2004) and hence modulate monoamine transcription and mood symptoms.

Phenotype definition is an important issue in candidate gene association studies of complex disorders such as major depression. The use of a narrowly defined phenotype or a refined quantitative phenotype can lead to a dramatic increase in power (Rao and Province 2001). Thus, the use of a narrow, specific subtype of major depression may be powerful enough to detect an association between major depression and the MAOA gene. Although, previous Caucasian studies used some variables to create subtypes of MDD (Schulze et al. 2000), they also used only one polymorphism of the MAOA gene and the association was relatively small (P = 0.055). The strength of our study is that we controlled for the heterogeneity of major depressive disorder by dividing all MDD subjects into different sex and clinical subgroups. Furthermore, we used a more powerful haplotype analysis and multiple logistic regression analysis for correcting age and gene-gene interactions. Therefore, our study results might be more powerful than those of previous studies (Schulze et al. 2000; Yu et al. 2005).

However, environmental factors also play an important role in the aetiology and pathogenesis of major depression and influence some clinical aspects of the disease (Silberg et al. 2001; Eley et al. 2004a). In a study by Eley et al. (2004b,) a gene–environment interaction was found for the serotonin transporter gene in depressed adolescent females. This result suggests that we should consider possible interactions between the MAOA gene and environmental factors in major depression patients. Therefore, further replication studies with stricter methods and with a larger sample size are needed to validate whether different MAOA gene polymorphisms confer different risks for major depression.

In conclusion, we found some female groups within MDD are associated with the *MAOA-uVNTR* and *EcoRV* genotypes, respectively. However in haplotype analysis and in multiple logistic regression analysis for risk of MDD, we could not confirm the association of a single SNP in MDD patients. Therefore, we suggest that the *MAOA* gene does not play a major role in increasing susceptibility to major depression. Nevertheless, since major depression is a heterogeneous disorder, this gene may have a gender specific effect or gene–gene interaction effect in the pathogenesis of MDD.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported in part by National Science Council Grants NSC94-2314-B-016-016, NSC95-2314-B-016-019 (SYH); by the Department of Health Grants DOH94-TD-D-113-040, DOH96-TD-D-113-031 (SYH); by Tri-Service General Hospital Grant TSGH-C92-66, TSGH-C94-76 (SYH). The authors thank Miss Fan-Yi Lin and Mr Fu-Kuei Chang for their assistance in the preparation of the manuscript.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

References

- American Psychiatric Association. 1994. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association. xxvii, 886 pp.
- Breakefield XO, Giller EL Jr, Nurnberger JI Jr, Castiglione CM, Buchsbaum MS, Gershon ES. 1980. Monoamine oxidase type A in fibroblasts from patients with bipolar depressive illness. Psychiatry Res 2:307–314.
- Brunner HG, Nelen M, Breakefield XO, Ropers HH, van Oost BA. 1993. Abnormal behavior associated with a point mutation in the structural gene for monoamine oxidase A. Science 262:578–580.
- Camarena B, Rinetti G, Cruz C, Gomez A, de La Fuente JR, Nicolini H. 2001. Additional evidence that genetic variation of MAO-A gene supports a gender subtype in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Am J Med Genet 105:279–282.
- Cases O, Seif I, Grimsby J, et al. 1995. Aggressive behavior and altered amounts of brain serotonin and norepinephrine in mice lacking MAOA. Science 268:1763–1766.
- Cusin C, Serretti A, Lattuada E, Lilli R, Lorenzi C, Smeraldi E. 2002. Association study of MAO-A, COMT, 5-HT2A, DRD2, and DRD4 polymorphisms with illness time course in mood disorders. Am J Med Genet 114:380–390.
- Deckert J, Catalano M, Syagailo YV, et al. 1999. Excess of high activity monoamine oxidase A gene promoter alleles in female patients with panic disorder. Hum Mol Genet 8:621–624.
- Denney RM, Koch H, Craig IW. 1999. Association between monoamine oxidase A activity in human male skin fibroblasts and genotype of the MAOA promoter-associated variable number tandem repeat. Hum Genet 105:542–551.
- Eley TC, Liang H, Plomin R, et al. 2004a. Parental familial vulnerability, family environment, and their interactions as predictors of depressive symptoms in adolescents. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 43:298–306.
- Eley TC, Sugden K, Corsico A, et al. 2004b. Gene-environment interaction analysis of serotonin system markers with adolescent depression. Mol Psychiatry 9:908–915.
- Endicott J, Spitzer RL. 1978. A diagnostic interview: the schedule for affective disorders and schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 35:837–844.
- Erdfelder E, Faul F, Buchner A. 1996. GPOWER: A general power analysis program. Behav Res Methods Instruments Computers 28:1–11.
- Gundlah C, Lu NZ, Bethea CL. 2002. Ovarian steroid regulation of monoamine oxidase-A and -B mRNAs in the macaque dorsal raphe and hypothalamic nuclei. Psychopharmacology (Berlin) 160:271–282.
- Gutierrez B, Arias B, Gasto C, et al. 2004. Association analysis between a functional polymorphism in the monoamine oxidase A gene promoter and severe mood disorders. Psychiatr Genet 14:203–208.
- Hotamisligil GS, Breakefield XO. 1991. Human monoamine oxidase A gene determines levels of enzyme activity. Am J Hum Genet 49:383–392.
- Huang SY, Lin WW, Ko HC, et al. 2004. Possible interaction of alcohol dehydrogenase and aldehyde dehydrogenase genes with the dopamine D2 receptor gene in anxiety-depressive alcohol dependence. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 28:374–384.
- Jonsson EG, Norton N, Gustavsson JP, Oreland L, Owen MJ, Sedvall GC. 2000. A promoter polymorphism in the monoamine oxidase A gene and its relationships to monoamine metabolite concentrations in CSF of healthy volunteers. J Psychiatr Res 34:239–244.
- Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, et al. 2003. The epidemiology of major depressive disorder: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R). J Am Med Assoc 289:3095–3105.
- Kendler KS, Gatz M, Gardner CO, Pedersen NL. 2006. A Swedish national twin study of lifetime major depression. Am J Psychiatry 163:109–114.
- Kidd KK. 1993. Associations of disease with genetic markers: deja vu all over again. Am J Med Genet 48:71–73.
- Kunugi H, Ishida S, Kato T, et al. 1999. A functional polymorphism in the promoter region of monoamine oxidase-A gene and mood disorders. Mol Psychiatry 4:393–395.
- Lin S, Jiang S, Wu X, et al. 2000. Association analysis between mood disorder and monoamine oxidase gene. Am J Med Genet 96:12–14.
- Merikangas KR, Stevens DE, Fenton B, et al. 1998. Co-morbidity and familial aggregation of alcoholism and anxiety disorders. Psychol Med 28:773–788.

- Meyer JH, Ginovart N, Boovariwala A, et al. 2006. Elevated monoamine oxidase a levels in the brain: an explanation for the monoamine imbalance of major depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 63:1209–1216.
- Rao DC, Province MA. 2001. Genetic dissection of complex traits. San Diego, CA: Academic Press. xxi, 583 pp.
- Sabol SZ, Hu S, Hamer D. 1998. A functional polymorphism in the monoamine oxidase A gene promoter. Hum Genet 103:273–279.
- Schildkraut JJ. 1965. The catecholamine hypothesis of affective disorders: a review of supporting evidence. Am J Psychiatry 122:509–522.
- Schildkraut JJ, Kety SS. 1967. Biogenic amines and emotion. Science 156:21–37.
- Schulze TG, Muller DJ, Krauss H, et al. 2000. Association between a functional polymorphism in the monoamine oxidase A gene promoter and major depressive disorder. Am J Med Genet 96:801–803.
- Shih JC. 1991. Molecular basis of human MAO A and B. Neuropsychopharmacology 4:1–7.
- Silberg J, Rutter M, Neale M, Eaves L. 2001. Genetic moderation of environmental risk for depression and anxiety in adolescent girls. Br J Psychiatry 179:116–121.
- Smith LJ, Henderson JA, Abell CW, Bethea CL. 2004. Effects of ovarian steroids and raloxifene on proteins that synthesize, transport, and degrade serotonin in the raphe region of macaques. Neuropsychopharmacology 29:2035–2045.
- Syagailo YV, Stober G, Grassle M, et al. 2001. Association analysis of the functional monoamine oxidase A gene promoter polymorphism in psychiatric disorders. Am J Med Genet 105:168–171.
- von Knorring L, Perris C, Oreland L, Eisemann M, Holmgren S, Perris H. 1985. Morbidity risk for psychiatric disorders in families of probands with affective disorders divided according to levels of platelet MAO activity. Psychiatry Res 15:271–279.
- Yu YW, Tsai SJ, Hong CJ, Chen TJ, Chen MC, Yang CW. 2005. Association study of a monoamine oxidase a gene promoter polymorphism with major depressive disorder and antidepressant response. Neuropsychopharmacology 30:1719–1723.
- Zhao JH, Sham PC. 2002. Faster haplotype frequency estimation using unrelated subjects. Hum Hered 53:36–41.
- Zhu QS, Grimsby J, Chen K, Shih JC. 1992. Promoter organization and activity of human monoamine oxidase (MAO) A and B genes. J Neurosci 12:4437–4446.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

The neural substrates of affective face recognition in patients with Hwa-Byung and healthy individuals in Korea

BYEONG-TAEK LEE^{1,2}, JONG-WOO PAIK³, RHEE-HUN KANG³, SUN-YONG CHUNG⁴, HO-IN KWON⁵, HYUN-SOO KHANG⁶, IN KYOON LYOO⁷, JEONG-HO CHAE⁸, JUNG-HYE KWON⁵, JONG-WOO KIM⁴, MIN-SOO LEE³ & BYUNG-JOO HAM¹

¹Department of Psychiatry, Hangang Sacred Heart Hospital, Hallym University Medical Center, Seoul, South Korea, ²Office of Admissions, Seoul National University, Seoul, South Korea, ³Department of Psychiatry, College of Medicine, Korea University, Seoul, South Korea, ⁴College of Oriental Medicine, Kyung Hee University, Seoul, South Korea, ⁵Department of Psychology, Korea University, Seoul, South Korea, ⁶Department of Radiology, Seoul Health College, Eulji University Medical Center, Daejeon, South Korea, ⁷Department of Psychiatry, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea, and ⁸Department of Psychiatry, College of Medicine, The Catholic University of Korea, Seoul, South Korea

Abstract

Hwa-Byung (HB) is a Korean culture-bound psychiatric syndrome caused by the suppression of anger. HB patients have various psychological and somatic symptoms, such as chest discomfort, a sensation of heat, and the sensation of having an epigastric mass. In this study, we measured brain activity in HB patients and healthy individuals in response to affective facial stimuli. Using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), the current study measured neural responses to neutral, sad, and angry facial stimuli in 12 healthy individuals and 12 patients with HB. In response to all types of facial stimuli, HB patients showed increased activations in the lingual gyrus and fusiform gyrus compared with healthy persons, but they showed relatively lower activation in the thalamus. We also found that patients with HB showed lower activity in response to the neutral condition in the right ACC than healthy controls. The current study indicates that the suppression of affect results in aberrant function of the brain regions of the visual pathway, and functional impairment in the ACC may contribute to the pathophysiology of HB.

Key words: Hwa-Byung, functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), sad, anger, visual pathway

Abbreviations: BOLD, blood oxygen level dependent, HB, Hwa-Byung, LH, left hemisphere, RH, right hemisphere, TH, thalamus, LG, lingual gyrus, IOG, inferior occipital gyrus, FG, fusiform gyrus.

Introduction

Hwa-Byung (HB) is a common Korean culturebound syndrome, and could be translated as "anger syndrome" (American Psychiatric Association 2000). HB is more prevalent in women and in older individuals (Park et al. 2001). A community-based survey revealed that the prevalence of HB was 4.95% among Korean women 41–65 years old (Park et al. 2001). The cause of HB has been suggested as being the suppression of anger or the projection of anger into the body in reaction to suffering an injustice (Lin 1983; Min 1989). Usually, HB patients have various psychological and somatic symptoms. Somatic symptoms such as pushing-up in the chest, heaviness in the head and chest tightness are typical features of HB. HB is also frequently combined with depression and anxiety symptoms (Park et al. 2002). Generally, women with HB have lived a life of suffering, as a result of their conflict-laden relationships with their spouses (Park et al. 2002). Suffering individuals are not allowed to express their emotions directly, due to certain repressive aspects of Korean culture (Lin 1983; Park et al. 2002). In addition, HB patients usually have difficulty with interpersonal conflicts and anger (Lin 1983).

Correspondence: Byung-Joo Ham, MD, PhD, Department of Neuropsychiatry, Hangang Sacred Heart Hospital, Hallym University Medical Center, Yongdungpo-Dong, Yongdunpo-Gu, Seoul, South Korea 150-719. Tel: +82 2 2639 5460. Fax: +82 2 2677 9095. E-mail: hambj@chol.com

(Received 24 July 2007; accepted 27 March 2008)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970802087130

Several neuroimaging studies have investigated the brain regions involved in processing angry facial expressions (Sprengelmeyer et al. 1998; Blair et al. 1999; Phillips et al. 1999; Damasio et al. 2000; Whalen et al. 2001; Yang et al. 2002; Adams et al. 2003; Strauss et al. 2005). The anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) and amygdala have been the most frequently reported areas that become activated in response to angry facial expressions (Strauss et al. 2005).

To our knowledge, the pathophysiology of HB has not been investigated, and there have been no neuroimaging studies of HB patients. Based on previous evidence of the neural substrates of anger, and the fact that HB is an anger syndrome, we hypothesized that HB patients would have aberrant function with neural substrates of anger and that they would show a tendency for increased sensitization to human facial stimuli.

Previous neuroimaging studies in humans identified several occipitotemporal cortical regions that are preferentially activated in response to faces (Sergent et al. 1992; Kanwisher et al. 1997). In addition, Felleman and Van Essen (1991) proposed that the face-sensitive neurons of the inferior occipital gyrus (IOG) are responsible for recognizing facial features, whereas the fusiform gyrus is responsible for processing whole facial identities (Haxby et al. 2000). In the structural aspect of the visual system, the pathway can be traced to the early stage of the thalamus and primary visual cortex. The lateral geniculate nucleus (LGN) is part of the thalamus, which is the primary processor of visual information received from the retina, in the central nervous system. In addition, it receives many strong feedback connections from the primary visual cortex. The LGN sends projections directly to the primary visual cortex. With incoming facial information from the LGN, the primary cortex can submits the signal into the inferior occipital gyrus.

Thus, the regulated information of facial stimuli with an affective state in the thalamus would flow into the primary visual cortex or lingual gyrus, and then is sent to the inferior occipital cortex and fusiform gyrus. If HB patients are over-sensitized to the facial information on the perceptual level, they should show a larger response to facial stimuli in the primary cortex and the locus for later processing compared with healthy persons. However, if their dysfunction is due to flaws on the cognitive level or later stage, we should observe increased activation only in the fusiform gyrus.

The aim of the study was to investigate brain activation patterns using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) in patients with HB and healthy subjects presented with affective facial stimuli. We tested two hypotheses. First, supposing that an affective problem is a primary component of HB, patients with HB would exhibit increased activation in the brain regions that produce emotions, such as the amygdala and OFC, and decreased activation in brain regions that regulate emotions, such as the ACC, in response to sad and angry facial stimuli, as compared to healthy individuals. Second, if patients with HB have problems regulating incoming visual information, which could involve emotional control in the amygdala and ACC, there might be increased activation in response to affective facial stimuli in the visual system, such as the inferior occipital cortex, and lingual and fusiform gyrus of patients with HB, as compared to healthy controls. More specifically, if the regulating signal influences an earlier stage of visual processing, increased activations will be found only in the fusiform gyrus. Alternatively, if it affects a later stage of visual processing, higher activations will be observed in the earlier structures in the visual pathway, such as the lingual gyrus and IOG.

Material and methods

Subjects and clinical assessment

Twelve patients with HB (mean age 48.4 ± 6.4) and 12 healthy persons (mean age 45.5 \pm 4.4) from the Hangang Sacred Heart Hospital and Kyoung-hee University Hospital in Seoul, participated in the current experiment. All subjects were female and age range for study inclusion was 40-55 years. Demographic and clinical characteristics are presented in Table I. The degree of depressive symptoms of the patients was assessed by the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS) (Hamilton 1967). There was no significant difference in age between the groups (P > 0.1). The diagnosis of HB was established using the Hwa-Byung Diagnostic Interview Schedule (HBDIS; Kim et al. 2004) by two trained psychiatrists. The HBDIS is a semi-structured interview for diagnosing HB, consisting 16 items with seven dimensions. The 16 items include four core items (chest discomfort, a sensation of heat, pushing-up sensation in the chest, a sensation of epigastric mass), four related to somatic symptoms (dry mouth, headache, insomnia, palpitation), two other core items (feel victimized, deep sorrow), three related psychological symptoms (anger, helplessness, fear), one about impaired psychosocial functioning, one about stress, and one regarding medical illness. The validity and reliability of HBDIS have been reported to be high in Korean populations (Kim et al. 2004). Exclusion criteria were a current diagnosis of an Axis-I disorder requiring psychotropic

554 L. Byeong-Taek et al.

Table I. Demographic and clini	cal characteristics.
--------------------------------	----------------------

	Hwa-Byung patients (n	=12)	Healthy subjects ((n = 12)
Demographic and clinical variables	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Age (years)	48.4	6.4	45.5	4.4
17-item HDRS Score	19.8	4.5	NA	
Duration of Illness	17.7	16.2	NA	
Number of previous episodes	2.1	0.928	NA	

HDRS, Hamilton Depression Rating Scale; SD, standard deviation; NA, not applicable.

medication, as identified by the Korean version of the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV (SCID-IV) (Han et al. 2000) except HB, and a DSM-IV Axis-II diagnosis of antisocial or borderline personality disorder. All study subjects were drugfree for at least 2 weeks at the time of scanning. The mean duration of illness in this group was 12.9 months (SD = 5.0). All participants were righthanded according to the Edinburgh Handedness Test (Oldfield 1971). The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board at the Ethical Committee of the Hangang Sacred Heart Hospital. After the subjects were given a complete description of the study, written informed consent was obtained.

Stimulus presentation

Because it is difficult to know if over-sensitization to face stimuli is specific to a given affective stimulus, affective stimulation was induced by the presentation of facial stimuli that included a range of affective valences: neutrality, anger and sadness. We used 18 grayscale faces (six anger, six sad and six neutral) for this study. These were derived from standardized Korean faces from Lee et al. (2004). Based on largesample valence rating studies, a rank between 1 and 6 was previously assigned to each of these pictures according to their valence. Negative (valence scores 1-2), neutral (valence scores 3-4), and positive (valence scores 5-6) facial stimuli were selected for presentation. Each affective condition contained the same number of pictures.

A trial was started by displaying a facial stimulus using a projector; the image was presented for 1.5 s with a 0.5-s inter-stimulus interval. After a series of stimuli were presented, the fixation spot consisting of a single cross on a blank screen was turned on for 12 s. Considering hemodynamic parameters, each run consisted of three alternating 24-s blocks of neutral (N), angry (A), and sad (S) pictures, bracketed by 12s blocks of fixation. The procedure and an example of pictures are summarized in Figure 1. All participants experienced two runs (3 min 46 s per run). Within a run, each block was ordered in a pseudo-random manner to counterbalance the order of conditions (for example, neutral–angry–sad). Before scanning, subjects were instructed not to move and to fixate on the presented faces (e.g. passive viewing). None of the participants admitted having seen the experimental faces before. After each session, participants were asked to describe and then rate the faces according to the dimensions of arousal (low to high, 1–6) and emotional valence (negative to positive, 1–6) measures. A repeated-measures analysis of variance was used to assess group and facial stimuli (neutral, angry and sad) interactions for both valence and arousal ratings.

Acquisition of MR images and statistical analysis

A 1.5-Tesla Siemens Sonata whole-body imaging system (Siemens Medical Systems, Iselin, NJ, USA) was used to acquire scan images. To prevent motion of the participants' heads, padding was placed around their heads. After an anatomical scan was performed (1120 ms TR, 2.73 ms TE, 240 mm FOV, 256×256 matrix size, 24 axial slices without gap, $1.875 \times 1.875 \times 5.0 \text{ mm}^3$ voxel), T2*-weighted functional images were acquired at the same slice locations using an interleaved EPI gradient echo sequence $(64 \times 64 \text{ matrix size}, 40 \text{ ms TE}, 2000 \text{ ms})$ TR, $3.75 \times 3.75 \times 5.0 \text{ mm}^3$ voxel). Functional data were corrected against motion artifacts, which were followed by spatial normalization at $4 \times 4 \times 4$ mm³ resolution and smoothing using a Gaussian kernel of FWHM 7 mm. This procedure was performed using the SPM2 (Wellcome Department of Cognitive Neurology, London, UK), which was used for voxelwise univariate parameter estimation based on a general linear model. In the current study, regions of interest (ROIs) were acquired using MarsBar ROI toolbox for SPM2 (http://marsbar.sourceforge.net) (Brett et al. 2002) for the bilateral amygdalae, rostral ACC, thalami, lingual gyri, inferior occipital gyri, and fusiform gyri. With a height threshold of P <0.01 (uncorrected for multiple comparisons) and a cluster size of 6 voxels, we determined ROIs by activated voxels within the predefined masked regions in any group across all affective conditions.



Figure 1. Example of stimuli and time parameters. The upper face is an example of the neutral condition. The face in the middle row represents the condition of sadness, and the lower picture represents the condition of anger. In each block, the fixation mark was displayed for 1.5 s, and then the facial stimulus was presented for 0.5 s. The affective face conditions were ordered in a pseudo-random manner. The sequence was repeated four times, and then a resting period followed for 12 s.

The specific coordinates of the ROIs found to have significantly activated clusters are listed in Table II. These ROIs are known as loci of emotional or affective information processing (Seminowicz et al. 2004) and face recognition (Murphy et al. 2003). For each ROI, the mean effect size was calculated for each affective condition for each participant, and then the mean activations were compared between HB and healthy groups and facial stimuli (neutral, angry, sad). Significance was tested with analysis of variance or Student's *t*-test (P < 0.05, FDR, corrected for multiple comparisons).

Among the ROIs, it is very difficult to detect activation in the LGN because it is a very small body in terms of volume. Due to the limited spatial resolution of fMRI, we considered the thalamus, including the LGN, as a single ROI, which is known to be the locus for regulating incoming visual information on the visual pathway for facial recognition.

Results

Subjective experience of facial stimuli

The average subjective ratings for arousal/valence of neutral, sad and angry facial pictures were reported

by HB patients (mean = 3.13/2.52, 3.59/1.26 and 4.27/1.64, respectively) and the healthy control subjects (mean = 2.83/3.30, 4.20/2.28 and 4.38/1.72 respectively). There was only a significant difference in subject rating for arousal of sad facial pictures between the two groups (t(22) = 5.025, P < 0.001). Both HB and healthy comparison groups gave higher ratings of arousal for the negative condition compared to the neutral condition

fMRI results

After examining the activated coordinates in each ROI, the amygdala and insular were dropped from the analysis because no activated voxels were found in these ROIs. The specific coordinates of the ROIs are described in Table II. We found main effects only for the group and the affective condition. Group effects were found in the right medial OFC (F(1,22) = 14.625, P < 0.01), the bilateral ACC (left: F(1,22) = 12.036, P < 0.025; right: F(1,22) = 12.121, P < 0.025; right: F(1,22) = 13.509, P < 0.001), the fusiform gyri (left: F(1,22) = 18.439, P < 0.001; right: F(1,22) = 14.633, P < 0.01), the inferior occipital cortices (left: F(1, 22) = 11.421, P < 0.025; right: F(1,22) = 10.115, P < 0.025), and

556 L. Byeong-Taek et al.

Table II. From each ROI, specific coordinate on the MNI space and its mean signal change ratios on exposure to each emotional condition are presented. The standard error is indicated within brackets. The specific signal change ratio was calculated using SPM2. In the table, k represents the cluster size in terms of the number of voxels.

			С	oordina	tes	Hwa-By	ung patients	(N = 12)	Healthy	individuals (N=12)
ROI	Side	k	x	у	z	Neutral	Anger	Sad	Neutral	Anger	Sad
ACC	L	128	0	40	4	-0.123	-0.090	-0.104	-0.036	-0.038	-0.018
						(0.028)	(0.031)	(0.023)	(0.020)	(0.021)	(0.027)
	R	9	8	40	4	-0.112	-0.097	-0.096	-0.046	-0.040	-0.033
						(0.031)	(0.029)	(0.018)	(0.015)	(0.022)	(0.024)
mOFC	R	12	4	44	-16	-0.145	-0.121	-0.092	-0.088	-0.021	-0.028
						(0.035)	(0.033)	(0.029)	(0.024)	(0.034)	(0.024)
Thalamus	L	16	-12	-32	4	-0.046	-0.040	-0.043	0.043	0.003	-0.031
						(0.027)	(0.020)	(0.011)	(0.010)	(0.015)	(0.017)
	R	8	16	-32	4	-0.016	-0.042	-0.037	0.058	-0.001	-0.024
						(0.028)	(0.018)	(0.015)	(0.006)	(0.016)	(0.018)
Lingual gyrus	L	29	-8	-80	-12	0.244	0.206	0.181	0.104	0.021	0.062
						(0.025)	(0.032)	(0.023)	(0.028)	(0.044)	(0.020)
	R	21	12	-84	-16	0.423	0.426	0.412	0.187	0.136	0.172
						(0.060)	(0.064)	(0.067)	(0.040)	(0.058)	(0.044)
IOG	L	20	-48	-72	-8	0.262	0.232	0.259	0.088	0.124	0.127
						(0.029)	(0.041)	(0.046)	(0.022)	(0.028)	(0.016)
	R	25	44	-76	-12	0.286	0.258	0.299	0.117	0.153	0.172
						(0.049)	(0.045)	(0.046)	(0.024)	(0.019)	(0.026)
Fusiform gyrus	L	37	-40	-52	-20	0.298	0.241	0.253	0.110	0.054	0.072
						(0.036)	(0.056)	(0.035)	(0.022)	(0.027)	(0.022)
	R	34	36	-52	-16	0.248	0.254	0.240	0.138	0.078	0.070
						(0.035)	(0.035)	(0.049)	(0.019)	(0.021)	(0.014)

ACC, anterior cingulate cortex; mOFC, medial orbitofrontal cortex; IOG, inferior occipital gyrus.

the lingual gyri (left: F(1,22) = 21.858, P < 0.005; right: F(1,22) = 12.382, P < 0.025).

To identify the exact locus of the effects among the affective conditions, we segregated the contrast into sadness over the neutral condition and anger over the neutral condition. First, the group effect in the left ACC was attributable primarily to the higher activity in healthy participants than in patients with HB under the neutral condition (t(22) = 2.57, P < 0.05) and the sad condition (t(22) = 2.42, P < 0.05). Second, individual differences in the bilateral thalami seemed to be due to the effect under the neutral condition (left: t(22) = 3.09, P < 0.025; right: t(22) = 2.59, P < 0.05), in which healthy controls showed higher activity than patients with HB. Third, the group effect in the left lingual gyrus showed significant differences under all affective conditions (sad: t(22) = 3.72, P < 0.01; angry: t(22) = 3.41, P < 0.025; neutral: t(22) = 3.89, P < 0.01), for which patients with HB showed higher responses than healthy controls. The differences in the right lingual gyrus also resulted from higher activation in patients with HB than in healthy controls under all affective conditions (sad: t(22) = 3.28, P < 0.025; angry: t(22) = 3.35, P < 0.025; neutral: t(22) = 3.00, P < 0.025). Fourth, in the left inferior occipital cortex, we observed significantly larger responses to neutral and sad facial pictures in the patients with HB than in healthy controls (neutral: t(22) = 4.80, P < 0.005; sad: t(22) = 2.71, P < 0.05).

In the right inferior occipital cortex, the pattern observed in the left area was replicated (neutral: t(22) = 3.09, P < 0.025; sad: t(22) = 2.38, P < 0.05). Finally, the main effect in the left fusiform gyrus originated from a higher level of blood oxygenation level-dependent (BOLD) response in patients with HB than in healthy controls under all affective conditions (neutral: t(22) = 4.45, P < 0.005; angry: t(22) = 3.01, P < 0.025; sad: t(22) = 4.36, P < 0.005). Activation in the right fusiform gyrus also replicated the pattern in the left (neutral: t(22) = 2.74, P < 0.05; angry: t(22) = 4.27, P < 0.005; sad: t(22) = 3.34, P < 0.025) (Figure 2).

Although group effects were evident for all ROIs, no main effects for the affective conditions were found.

Discussion

In the current study, we found increased activation in response to angry facial stimuli in the bilateral lingual gyri and fusiform gyri of patients with HB compared to healthy controls (Figure 2). Higher activation in HB in response to sad facial stimuli was found in the bilateral lingual gyri, inferior occipital cortices, and fusiform gyri compared to healthy individuals. We also observed higher activation in response to neutral facial pictures in the bilateral lingual gyri, inferior occipital cortices, and fusiform



Figure 2. The BOLD signal intensity on the visual pathway in the HB patients and healthy controls. The upper figures show the signal intensity at each ROI on the visual pathway in the HB patients (red) and healthy controls (blue) in the neutral condition. The middle figures demonstrate the same contrast in the anger condition. The lower figures reveal that the signal intensity from the lingual gyri is higher in HB patients than in healthy controls. In each row, the left figures represent the results in the left hemisphere and right figures in the right hemisphere. The labels on x axis represent the structure of visual pathway, thalamus, lingual gyrus, inferior occipital gyrus, and fusiform gyrus, respectively. The symbols +, *, ** indicate that the difference in the ROI is significant at *P* values of 0.1, 0.05, 0.01, respectively.

gyri in patients with HB than in healthy controls, whereas healthy controls showed higher activation in the bilateral thalami than patients with HB.

The most interesting finding was that patients with HB showed higher activation in response to all affective facial stimuli in the lingual gyri. This suggests that patients with HB may be over-sensitized to facial stimuli, which may be due to a problem at an earlier stage in face recognition. If this tendency is attributable only to a holistic perception from face recognition, group differences in activation regions should have been found in the fusiform gyrus, rather than in the primary visual cortex.

Similarly, activation patterns in the thalamus of healthy controls revealed higher activity and were different from those in the other regions on the visual pathway for face recognition. This fact could be explained by assuming that the feedback from the primary visual cortex and other areas influences the activity in the thalamus (Wang et al. 2006). As described above, the LGN in the thalamus regulates information flowing through the thalamus and also organizes information that flows into the thalamus. If the primary visual cortex and/or fusiform gyrus of the HB patients fail to submit the regulating signal into the LGN or thalamus, unorganized or unregulated signals from the thalamus will be submitted into the primary visual cortex. Furthermore, the current study did not reveal the activation pattern specific to each affective condition, which suggests that HB patients generalize over-sensitization to every affective expression. This explanation suggests that the individual differences on the perceptual level of face recognition between HB patients and healthy controls might result from a flaw in the feedback system from the visual primary cortex to thalamus.

We also found that patients with HB showed lower activity in response to the neutral condition in the right ACC than healthy controls. The ACC plays an important role in many cognitive and affective processes. ACC dysfunction has been implicated in many psychiatric disorders, including depression (Frodl et al. 2007; Lee et al. 2007), posttraumatic stress disorder (Kim et al. 2007), schizophrenia (Sanders et al. 2002), and obsessive-compulsive disorder (Rauch et al. 2004). Thus, the ACC is thought to be a vulnerable part of an important and common pathway involved in the cognitive and emotional regulation of behavior (Yucel et al. 2003). Our finding is consistent with these implications.

However, we failed to find increased amygdala activation to negative emotional facial stimuli. Previous fMRI studies have reported increased activation in the amygdala in patients with depression (Whalen et al. 2002) and anxiety disorders (Rauch et al. 2003; Pfleiderer et al. 2007). Our results support our suggestion that patients with HB have abnormalities in an earlier stage of face recognition in the feedback system from the visual primary cortex to the thalamus. Further research is needed to test this hypothesis.

Our study has certain limitations that should be considered when interpreting the findings. Although we mentioned the activation in the thalamus, the LGN was not explored separately. The LGN is an important part of the thalamus in the visual system, but the actual size is too small to be observed by fMRI. In the future, more elaborate imaging techniques will specify the visual mechanism of face recognition in HB patients. Second, we did not cover every affective condition, but rather we included only neutral and negative affective conditions such as sadness and anger. We could not include positive affective conditions such as happiness because the negative picture presentation could affect the response to subsequently presented positive pictures, and positive pictures could also affect the response to neutral pictures (Ekman et al. 1980).

In conclusion, this study provides evidence for overactivities of the lingual gyrus, inferior occipital cortex, and fusiform gyrus in patients with HB in response to certain affective stimuli, and dysfunction in the ACC. These findings suggest that the suppression of affect leads to a dysregulated feedback system from the visual primary cortex to the thalamus, resulting in aberrant function of the brain regions of the visual pathway, and that this functional impairment in the ACC might contribute to the pathophysiology of HB.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by a grant of the Oriental Medicine R&D Project, Ministry of Health & Welfare, Republic of Korea (B050023).

Statement of interest

The authors have not declared any conflicts of interest.

References

- Adams RB Jr, Gordon HL, Baird AA, Ambady N, Kleck RE. 2003. Effects of gaze on amygdala sensitivity to anger and fear faces. Science 300(5625):1536.
- American Psychiatric Association. 2000. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 4th ed. Text revision (DSM-IV-TR). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Blair RJ, Morris JS, Frith CD, Perrett DI, Dolan RJ. 1999. Dissociable neural responses to facial expressions of sadness and anger. Brain 122(Pt 5):883–893.
- Brett M, Anton, JL, Valabregue R, Poline JB. 2002. Region of interest analysis using an SPM toolbox [abstract] Presented at the 8th International Conference on Functional Mapping of the Human Brain, 2–6 June 2002, Sendai, Japan. Available on CD-ROM in NeuroImage, Vol 16(2).
- Damasio AR, Grabowski TJ, Bechara A, Damasio H, Ponto LL, Parvizi J, et al. 2000. Subcortical and cortical brain activity during the feeling of self-generated emotions. Nat Neurosci 3(10):1049–1056.
- Ekman P, Freisen WV, Ancoli S. 1980. Facial signs of emotional experience. J Pers Soc Psychol 39:1125–1134.
- Felleman DJ, Van Essen DC. 1991. Distributed hierarchical processing in the primate cerebral cortex. Cereb Cortex 1(1): 1–47.
- Frodl T, Scheuerecker J, Albrecht J, Kleemann AM, Muller-Schunk S, Koutsouleris N, et al. 2007. Neuronal correlates of emotional processing in patients with major depression. World J Biol Psychiatry, in press.
- Hamilton M. 1967. Development of a rating scale for primary depressive illness. Br J Soc Clin Psychol 6(4):278–296.
- Han OS, Hong, JP. 2000. Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorder – Korean Version. Seoul: Hana Medical Publishing Co.
- Haxby JV, Hoffman EA, Gobbini MI. 2000. The distributed human neural system for face perception. Trends Cogn Sci 4(6):223–233.
- Kanwisher N, McDermott J, Chun MM. 1997. The fusiform face area: a module in human extrastriate cortex specialized for face perception. J Neurosci 17(11):4302–4311.
- Kim MJ, Chey J, Chung A, Bae S, Khang H, Ham B, et al. 2007. Diminished rostral anterior cingulate activity in response to threat-related events in posttraumatic stress disorder. J Psychiatr Res 42(4):268–277.
- Lee BT, Cho SW, Khang HS, Lee BC, Choi IG, Lyoo IK, et al. 2007. The neural substrates of effective processing toward positive and negative affective pictures in patients with major depressive disorder. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 31(7):1487–1492.
- Lee WH, Chae JH, Bahk WM, Lee KU. 2004. Development and its preliminary standardization of pictures of facial expressions for affective neurosciences. J Korean Neuropsychiatr Assoc 43:552–558.
- Lin KM. 1983. Hwa-Byung: a Korean culture-bound syndrome? Am J Psychiatry 140(1):105–107.
- Min SK. 1989. A study of the concept of Hwabyung. J Korean Neuropsychiatr Assoc 28(4):604–616.
- Murphy FC, Nimmo-Smith I, Lawrence AD. 2003. Functional neuroanatomy of emotions: a meta-analysis. Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci 3(3):207–233.

- Oldfield RC. 1971. The assessment and analysis of handedness: the Edinburgh inventory. Neuropsychologia 9(1):97–113.
- Park YJ, Kim HS, Kang HC, Kim JW. 2001. A survey of Hwa-Byung in middle-age Korean women. J Transcult Nurs 12(2):115–122.
- Park YJ, Kim HS, Schwartz-Barcott D, Kim JW. 2002. The conceptual structure of hwa-byung in middle-aged Korean women. Health Care Women Int 23(4):389–397.
- Pfleiderer B, Zinkirciran S, Arolt V, Heindel W, Deckert J, Domschke K. 2007. fMRI amygdala activation during a spontaneous panic attack in a patient with panic disorder. World J Biol Psychiatry 8:269–272.
- Phillips ML, Williams L, Senior C, Bullmore ET, Brammer MJ, Andrew C, et al. 1999. A differential neural response to threatening and non-threatening negative facial expressions in paranoid and non-paranoid schizophrenics. Psychiatry Res 92(1):11–31.
- Rauch SL, Shin LM, Wright CI. 2003. Neuroimaging studies of amygdala function in anxiety disorders. Ann NY Acad Sci 985:389–410.
- Sanders GS, Gallup GG, Heinsen H, Hof PR, Schmitz C. 2002. Cognitive deficits, schizophrenia, and the anterior cingulate cortex. Trends Cogn Sci 6:190–192.
- Seminowicz DA, Mayberg HS, McIntosh AR, Goldapple K, Kennedy S, Segal Z, et al. 2004. Limbic-frontal circuitry in major depression: a path modeling metanalysis. NeuroImage 22(1):409–418.

- Sergent J, Ohta S, MacDonald B. 1992. Functional neuroanatomy of face and object processing. A positron emission tomography study. Brain 115(Pt 1):15–36.
- Sprengelmeyer R, Rausch M, Eysel UT, Przuntek H. 1998. Neural structures associated with recognition of facial expressions of basic emotions. Proc Biol Sci 265(1409):1927–1931.
- Strauss MM, Makris N, Aharon I, Vangel MG, Goodman J, Kennedy DN, et al. 2005. fMRI of sensitization to angry faces. NeuroImage 26(2):389–413.
- Wang W, Jones HE, Andolina IM, Salt TE, Sillito AM. 2006. Functional alignment of feedback effects from visual cortex to thalamus. Nat Neurosci 9(10):1330–1336.
- Whalen PJ, Shin LM, McInerney SC, Fischer H, Wright CI, Rauch SL. 2001. A functional MRI study of human amygdala responses to facial expressions of fear versus anger. Emotion 1(1):70–83.
- Whalen PJ, Shin LM, Somerville LH, McLean AA, Kim H. 2002. Functional neuroimaging studies of the amygdala in depression. Semin Clin Neuropsychiatry 7:234–242.
- Yang TT, Menon V, Eliez S, Blasey C, White CD, Reid AJ, et al. 2002. Amygdalar activation associated with positive and negative facial expressions. Neuroreport 13(14):1737–41.
- Yucel M, Wood SJ, Fornito A, Riffkin J, Velakoulis D, Pantelis C. 2003. Anterior cingulate dysfunction: implications for psychiatric disorders? J Psychiatry Neurosci 28:350–354.



ORIGINAL INVESTIGATION

Depressive status does not alter renal oxidative and immunological parameters during early diabetic nephropathy in rats

JAIMAR RINCON¹, ADRIANA PEDREAÑEZ², NINOSKA VIERA³, JOSE L. ARCAYA¹, EDGARDO CARRIZO¹ & JESUS MOSQUERA¹

¹Instituto de Investigaciones Clinicas Dr. Americo Negrette, ²Catedra de Inmunologia, Escuela de Bioanalisis, Facultad de Medicina, and ³Instituto de Investigaciones Odontologicas, Facultad de Odontologia, Universidad del Zulia, Maracaibo, Venezuela

Abstract

Depression is frequently observed among patients with diabetes and depressive status has been associated to activation of inflammatory processes, suggesting a role of depression in the inflammatory events observed in diabetes. To test that proposal, it was studied the effect of depression induced by forced swimming test (FST) on the evolution of early diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes was induced by streptozotocin injection. Rats were submitted to FST for 15 days. Struggle time was determined during FST and motor activity previously to FST. Nitric oxide, malondialdehyde, reduced glutathione and catalase activity were measured in kidney homogenates by enzymatic and biochemical methods. Superoxide anion, monocyte/macrophage (ED-1 positive cells) and RAGE were determined by hystochemical and immunohistochemical methods. Diabetic rats had decreased struggle time and locomotor activity at day 1 of FST. Both control and diabetic rats had those parameters decreased at day 15. Renal oxidative stress, RAGE expression and ED-1 cells were observed increased in diabetic animals. Those parameters were not significantly altered by FST. The depressive status does not alter oxidative and immune parameters during the early renal changes of diabetic nephropathy.

Key words: Diabetes, nephropathy, depression, macrophages, oxidative stress

Introduction

The forced swimming test (FST) represents a stress situation capable of inducing a state of depressive behavioral, reflected in the immobility induced in animals (Porsolt et al. 1977). Depression has been linked to diabetes. In this regard, depression is a common feature among patients with diabetes, and patients with depression have high risk of developing diabetes (Eaton et al. 1996; Anderson et al. 2001; Sahmoun et al. 2007). In addition, depression has been implicated in the modulation of immune system. A bidirectional relation between depression and natural immunity has been identified; depressive episodes are associated with immunodeficiency; conversely, inflammatory activity has been implicated in the pathophysiology of depression suggesting a dual effect on immune system. In this regard, decreased number and activity of NK lymphocyte have been observed in patients with depression. However, depression can be accompanied by an inflammatory state mediated by proinflammatory cytokines (IL-6, TNF and IL-1), increased expression of ICAM-1 and oxidative stress (Lespérance et al. 2004; Kendall-Tackett 2007; Volchegorskiĭ and Mester 2007; Adler et al. 2008).

Monocyte-macrophages, advanced glycation end products receptors (RAGE) and oxidative stress are central mediators of renal inflammation during diabetic nephropathy (Furuta et al. 1993; Sassy-Prigent et al. 2000; Kanauchi et al. 2002; Wendt et al. 2003; Chow et al. 2004; Galkina and Ley 2006; Ohtake et al. 2007; Pan et al. 2007). Since depression has been linked to diabetes and to inflammatory and oxidative events, the aim of the present study was to determine the effect of stress/ depression induced by FST in the progression of experimental diabetic nephropathy.

(Received 1 January 2009; accepted 16 April 2009)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970903030336

Correspondence: Jesus A. Mosquera, M.D., Apartado Postal 23, Maracaibo 4001-A, Zulia, Venezuela. Tel: +58 261 7597247. Fax: +58 261 7597247. E-mail: mosquera99ve@yahoo.com

Methods

Streptozotocin-induced diabetes

Male Sprague–Dawley rats weighing 100–150 g (Instituto Venezolano de Investigaciones Científicas, Venezuela) were used. Diabetes was induced by intravenous injection of streptozotocin (STZ) (55 mg/kg in 0.2 M sodium citrate, pH 4.0; Sigma-Aldrich, MO, USA). Control rats were injected with vehicle. Animals were tested for blood glucose levels 48 h later and several times to confirm the diabetic status using a glucometer (Lifescan, Milpitas, CA, USA). Rats having a blood glucose level of >200 mg/dl were considered to be diabetic. Diabetic rats were randomly divided into four groups: control, control subjected to FST, diabetic rats and diabetic rats subjected to FST. Groups were sacrificed at weeks 4 and 8 of diabetes (these periods included 15 days of FST). Total urine protein was measured using sulphosalicylic acid. Presence of glucose in urine was determined by urine test strips. Experimental procedures followed the ethical guidelines of the committee of bioethical and biosecurity of FONACIT (Caracas, Venezuela).

Forced swimming test

FST was performed with modifications of the Porsolt's procedure (Porsolt et al. 1977). Briefly, rats were placed individually in cylindrical tanks containing water $(25^{\circ}C)$ at a depth of 30 cm. FST was performed daily for 15 days and struggling time was measured during a 30-min test. A rat was judged to be immobile when it remained floating in the water and made only small movements to keep its head above water. Struggle occurred when rats were diving, jumping, strongly moving all four limbs or scratching the walls. Measures of motor activity and weight gain were performed to determine if changes observed in the FST were associated which changes in those parameters. Animals were tested for motor activity in an optical digital animal activity monitor (Opto-Varimex-Minor, Columbus Instruments Co.,

OH, USA), which records motor activity values (pulses) automatically. Prior to FST, total horizontal activity and ambulatory and stereotypic movements were obtained. At day 16, kidneys from controls and depressive rats were removed after perfusion with 20 ml of saline solution under ether anaesthesia. Slices of kidneys were embedded in OCT compound (Tissue Tek, Miles Inc. IL, USA), frozen in dry ice and acetone and stored at -70° C or homogenized for biochemical or enzymatic studies.

Determination of renal oxidative metabolism

Renal superoxide anion production was determined at cellular levels by a previously described cytochemical method (Briggs et al. 1986). In the glomerulus results were expressed as positive cells per glomerular cross section and in the tubulointerstitial area as positive cells per 0.025 mm². Nitric oxide (accumulation of nitrite and nitrate) in the renal homogenates was detected by the Griess reaction (Green et al. 1982) and expressed as µmol/mg of protein. Renal malondialdehyde (MDA) content was assessed by the thiobarbituric acid assay (Ohkawa et al. 1979), and expressed as nmol per mg of protein. Catalase activity was determined by a method described by Aebi (1982) and results were expressed as k per mg of proteins. Content of reduced glutathione (GSH) was determined as previously described (Beutler et al. 1963) and expressed as nmol per mg of renal protein. Total protein content was measured in the renal homogenates by the method of Lowry.

Immunohistochemical studies

Renal monocyte/macrophage infiltration and RAGE expression were determined by indirect immunofluorescence using an anti-rat ED1 monoclonal antibody (Accurate Chemical & Scientific Corporation, NY, USA) and a rabbit anti-rat RAGE polyclonal antibody (Sigma–Aldrich. MO, USA), respectively. As negative controls a no relevant

Table I. Effect of FST on blood, urine and corporal control and diabetic parameters

	Blood glucose (mg/dl)	Total urine protein (mg/24 h)	Urine glucose	Weight gain (g)	Kw/bw (g)
Control $(n = 10)$	127.5+21.8	2.13+1.23	_	287.9+39.2	3.5 ± 0.46
Control FST $(n = 10)$	121 ± 18.5	2.91 ± 1.53	_	264.6 ± 33.3	3.67 ± 0.56
Diabetes 4w $(n=5)$	$355.2 \pm 36.11 *$	3.53 ± 2.04	+	$41.31 \pm 27.6^{\star}$	ND
Diabetes 4w FST $(n = 5)$	$252.5 \pm 50.56 \star$	1.44 ± 1.57	+	$31.52 \pm 11.77 \star$	ND
Diabetes 8w $(n=8)$	$306.4 \pm 84.66 \star$	2.54 ± 1.21	+	$179.4 \pm 82^{\star}$	$5.45 \pm 2.14 \star$
Diabetes 8w FST $(n = 8)$	$330.5 \pm 79.52 \star$	2.16 ± 1.52	+	$114.6 \pm 49.7 \star$	$6.11 \pm 1.62 \star$

4w, 4 weeks; 8 w, 8 weeks; FST, forced swimming test; Kw, kidney weight (g); bw, body weight (Kg); *P < 0.05 vs. control and control FST. ND, not done.

monoclonal antibody or rabbit IgG were used. At least 20 glomeruli and 20 randomly selected tubulointerstitial fields were examined for each renal section and results are expressed as positive cells per glomerular cross-section (GCS) and per 0.025 mm² of tubulointerstitial area.



Figure 1. Basal depressive mood is observed in diabetic rats. Decreased struggle and ambulatory activities (A and B) were observed in diabetic rats at day 1. (C) Increased stereotypic activity in diabetic animals at week 8. After 15 days of FST control and diabetic animals had decreased struggle and ambulatory activities when compare to day 1 (D and E). Decreased stereotypic activity was observed in diabetic animals at week 4 (F).

Statistical analysis

Data were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. To evaluate variations in data, analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Bonferroni multiple comparisons test were used. Significance was assumed to be at P < 0.05.

Results

Biochemical parameters

The biochemical parameters indicated that the STZ injection produced diabetic animals with high levels of blood glucose and glucose excretion (Table I).

There were no differences between values of total urine proteins in diabetic and control animals (Table I). Decreased weight gain and increased kidney weight were observed in diabetic animals. FST did not significantly alter those values in diabetic animals (Table I).

Induction of depression

Initial analysis (first day) using FST showed decreased struggle time and ambulatory activity in diabetic animals (Figures 1A and 1B). Stereotypic activity was elevated in diabetic animals at week 8 (Figure 1C). A significant reduction of those



Figure 2. Oxidative status in control and diabetic animals. Significant increased renal tubular production of superoxide anion (O_2^-) was observed in diabetic animals at week 4 (C). Renal nitrite-nitrates (NO) production was observed increased in diabetic animals at weeks 4 and 8 (D). These alterations were accompanied by increase of thiobarbituric acid reactive substances in diabetic animals at week 4 (E).

parameters was observed in control and diabetic animals when day 1 and day 15 values were compared. No significant differences were observed between controls and diabetic animals at day 15. Diabetic animals (week 4) showed decreased stereotypic activity at day 15 (Figures 1D, 1E and 1F).

Oxidative and immunological parameters

Increased tubular superoxide anion (week 4) and nitric oxide productions (weeks 4 and 8) (Figures 2C and 2D) accompanied with increased lipid peroxidation (week 4) (Figure 2E) were observed in the kidney of STZ-treated animals. Catalase activity and reduced GSH content were elevated in kidney homogenates at 4 and 8 weeks of diabetic nephropathy (Figures 3A and 3B). Renal macrophages (Figures 3C and 3D) and expression of RAGE (Figures 3E and 3F) were increased in diabetic animals at week 8. FST did not induce significant differences in renal oxidative stress, leukocyte infiltration and RAGE expression; only increased tubular superoxide production was observed in FSTdiabetic animals at week 8 (Table II).

Discussion

Depression could increase the risk of developing diabetes and it is common in patients with this disease (Eaton et al. 1996; Freedland 2004;



Figure 3. Renal anti-oxidant status, monocyte/macrophage infiltration and RAGE expression in diabetes. Catalase activity (A) and concentration of reduced glutathione (B) were found incremented in diabetic animals. Increased glomerular ED-1 positive cells were observed at week 8 in diabetic animals (C); however, there was no statistical significance in the interstitial areas (D). Glomerular (E) and interstitial (F) advanced glycation end products receptor (RAGE) expression were found increased in diabetic animals (week 8). FST did not alter significantly values of RAGE.

Table II.	Immunological	and oxidative	e renal paramete	rs in rats with	i diabetes subj	ected or not to	FST
-							

Parameters	Diabetes (4w)	Diabetes FST (4w)	Diabetes (8w)	Diabetes FST (8w)
Superoxide anion				
Glomerulus	0.25 ± 0.12	0.42 ± 0.37	0.58 ± 0.66	0.77 ± 0.54
Interstitium	6.66 ± 4.42	9.92 ± 5.61	7.72 ± 5.74	8.45 ± 4.75
Tubules	9.13 ± 6.05	5.16 ± 4.57	2.87 ± 2.24	$17.01 \pm 12.91 \star$
Nitrite/nitrate	0.48 ± 0.35	0.25 ± 0.07	0.69 ± 0.25	0.63 ± 0.34
Catalase	0.36 ± 0.17	0.28 ± 0.11	0.40 ± 0.15	0.30 ± 0.10
Reduced glutathione	65.64 ± 20.94	43.24 ± 20.73	45.13 ± 13.36	39.93 ± 18.08
Malondialdehyde	0.50 ± 0.34	0.32 ± 0.10	0.24 ± 0.09	0.56 ± 0.82
Macrophages				
Glomerulus	0.44 ± 0.28	0.26 ± 0.16	1.43 ± 0.95	1.18 ± 0.74
Interstitium	1.17 ± 0.51	0.96 ± 0.77	3.46 ± 3.43	1.09 ± 0.70

*P < 0.01 vs. diabetes 8w. Glomerulus (glomerular cross-section), intertitium and tubules (per 0.025 mm²); nitrite–nitrate: μ M/mg protein; catalase: K/mg protein; reduced glutathione: μ M/mg protein; malondialdehyde: nMol/mg protein.

Sahmoun et al. 2007; Kendall-Tackett 2007), suggesting that depression is involved in diabetes. Our results showed that diabetic animals had basal depressive behaviour as shown by the decreased struggle time and ambulatory activity observed in these animals. This finding agrees with the clinical depression observed in diabetic humans. This depressive mood increased during the 15 days of FST in both diabetic and control rats, suggesting that chronic experimental depression were development in all FST groups. FST has been considered as one of the most used tools for screening antidepressants (Lucki 1997; Petit-Demouliere et al. 2005; de Paulis 2007; Fereidoni et al. 2007) and as one of the experimental depression inducer (Takao et al. 1995; Carrizo et al. 1997). Depressive parameters observed in FST need to be confirmed with some spontaneous locomotor activity studies (Petit-Demouliere et al. 2005). According with this, decreased locomotor activities were observed in diabetic rats.

Diabetic nephropathy is a common inflammatory consequence of diabetes, where monocytes/macrophages, expression of RAGE and oxidative stress are involved in the progression of this disease (Sugimoto et al. 1997; Kanauchi et al. 2003; Wendt et al. 2003; Ohtake et al. 2007; Pan et al. 2007). In our study, and consistent with previous reports, increased expression of glomerular and interstitial RAGE, infiltration of ED-1 positive cells and oxidative stress were observed in the kidney of diabetic animals, suggesting the presence of effectors capable of inducing renal damage. Depressive status could be implicated in some of the events during the course of diabetic nephropathy. In this regard, increased expression of ICAM-1 and oxidative stress have been reported in depressed patients (Petit-Demouliere et al. 2005; Volchegorskiĭ and Mester 2007). However, attempts to determine the effect of FSTinduced depression in the cellular and oxidative parameters during the diabetic nephropathy were unsuccessful. No significant differences in renal function, hyperglycaemia, weight gain, monocyte/ macrophage infiltration, RAGE expression and oxidant and antioxidant parameters between diabetic depressed and non depressed rats were observed. These data suggest that the inflammatory effect found during the depressive status (Petit-Demouliere et al. 2005; Kendall-Tackett 2007; Volchegorskiĭ and Mester 2007) was not capable of accelerating the diabetic nephropathy. This study was designed to obtain optimal experimental conditions to determine the modulator effect of depression on kidney. Thus, experiments were performed in two different periods of the diabetic nephropathy (weeks 4 and 8) and under a chronic swim stress condition that it seems to be effective to induce brain biological modifications (Takao et al. 1995). This experiment was performed during initial events of diabetic nephropathy in order to determine how the proinflammatory effects of depression could accelerate renal damage, however, we cannot rule out the possibility that inflammatory effect of depression could have a role in later periods of the diabetic nephropathy; therefore, further investigation is required to demonstrate that proposal.

Acknowledgements

This research was supported by Consejo Cientifico y Humanistico (CONDES, CC-1002-06), Universidad del Zulia.

Statement of Interest

None

References

Aebi HE. 1982. Catalase. In: Bergmeyer HU, editor. Methods of enzymatic analysis. Weinheim: Verlg Chemie. pp 271–282.

566 J. Rincon et al.

- Adler UC, Marques AH, Calil HM. 2008. Inflammatory aspect of depression. Inflammation Allergy Drugs Targets 7:1–5.
- Anderson RJ, Clouse RJ, Freedland KE. 2001. The prevalence of comorbid depression in adults with diabetes: a meta-analysis. Diabetes Care 24:1069–1078.
- Beutler E, Duron O, Milkus B. 1963. Improved method for the determination of blood glutathione. J Lab Clin Med 16:882– 888.
- Briggs RT, Robinson JM, Karnovsky LM, Karnovsky MJ. 1986. Superoxide production by polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Histochemestry 84:371–378.
- Carrizo E, Cano G, Suarez-Roca H, Bonilla E. 1997. Motor activity and quantitative autoradiographic analysis of muscarinic receptors in the brain of rats subjected to the forced swimming test. Brain Res Bull 42:133–139.
- Chow F, Ozols E, Nikolic-Paterson DJ, Atkins RC, Tesch GH. 2004. Macrophages in mouse type 2 diabetic nephropathy: Correlation with diabetic state and progressive renal injury. Kidney Int 65:116–128.
- Eaton WW, Armenian H, Gallo J, Pratt L, Ford DE. 1996. Depression and risk for onset of type II diabetes. A prospective population-based study. Diabetes Care 19:1097–1102.
- de Paulis T. 2007. Drug evaluation: Vilazodone a combined SSRI and 5-HT1A partial agonist for the treatment of depression. Drugs 10:193–201.
- Fereidoni M, Javan M, Semnanian S, Ahmadiani A. 2007. Chronic forced swim stress inhibits ultra-low dose morphineinduced hyperalgesia in rats. Behav Pharmacol 18:667–672.
- Freedland KE. 2004. Depression is a risk factor for the development of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Spectr 17:150–152.
- Furuta T, Saito T, Ootaka T, Soma J, Obara K, Abe K, et al. 1993. The role of macrophages in diabetic glomerulosclerosis. Am J Kidney Dis 21:480–485.
- Galkina E, Ley K. 2006. Leukocyte recruitment and vascular injury in diabetic nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol 17:368–377.
- Green LC, Wagner DA, Glagowski J, Skipper PL, Wishnok JS, Tannenbaum G. 1982. Analysis of nitrate, nitrite and N nitrate in biological fluids. Anal Biochem 126:131–138.
- Kanauchi M, Nishioka H, Hashimoto T. 2002. Oxidative DNA damage and tubulointerstitial injury in diabetic nephropathy. Nephron 91:327–329.
- Kendall-Tackett K. 2007. A new paradigm for depression in new mothers: the central role of inflammation and how breastfeeding and anti-inflammatory. Int Breastfeed J 2:6–12.
- Lespérance F, Frasure-Smith N, Théroux P, Irwin M. 2004. The association between major depression and levels of soluble

intercellular adhesion molecule 1, interleukin-6, and C-reactive protein in patients with recent acute coronary syndromes. Am J Psychiatry 161:271–277.

- Lucki I. 1997. The forced swimming test as a model for core and component behavioral effects of antidepressant drugs. Behav Pharmacol 8:523–532.
- Ohkawa H, Ohishi N, Yagi K. 1979. Assay for lipid peroxides in animal tissues by thiobarbituric acid reaction. Anal Biochem 95:351–358.
- Ohtake K, Ishiyama Y, Uchida H, Muraki E, Kobayashi J. 2007. Dietary nitrite inhibits early glomerular injury in streptozotocin-induced diabetic nephropathy in rats. Nitric Oxide 17: 75–81.
- Pan HZ, Chang D, Feng LG, Xu FJ, Kuang HY, Lu MJ. 2007. Oxidative damage to DNA and its relationship with diabetic complications. Biomed Environ Sci 20:160–163.
- Petit-Demouliere B, Chenu F, Bourin M. 2005. Forced swimming test in mice: a review of antidepressant activity. Psychopharmacology 177:245–255.
- Porsol RD, LePichon M, Jalfre M. 1977. Depression : A new animal model sensitive to antidepressant. Nature 266:730–732.
- Sahmoun AE, Markland MJ, Helgerson SD. 2007. Mental health status and diabetes among whites and Native Americans: Is race an effect modifier? J Health Care Poor Underserved 18:599–608.
- Sassy-Prigent C, Heudes D, Mandet C, Belair MF, Michel O, Perdereau B, et al. 2000. Early glomerular macrophage recruitment in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Diabetes 49:466–475.
- Sugimoto H, Shikata K, Hirata K, Akiyama K, Matsuda M, Kushiro M, et al. 1997. Increased expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) in diabetic rat glomeruli: Glomerular hyperfiltration is a potential mechanism of ICAM-1 upregulation. Diabetes 46:2075–2081.
- Takao K, Nagatani T, Kitamura Y, Kawasaki K, Hayakawa H, Yamawaki S. 1995. Chronic forced swim stress of rats increases frontal cortical 5-HT2 receptors and the wet-dog shakes they mediate but not frontal cortical β-adrenoreceptores. Eur J Pharmacol 294:721–726.
- Volchegorskii IA, Mester NV. 2007. The influence of 3-oxypyridine antioxidants on depression in patients with diabetes mellitus. Klin Med 85:40–45.
- Wendt TM, Tanji N, Guo J, Kislinger TR, Qu W, Lu Y, et al. 2003. RAGE Drives the development of glomerulosclerosis and implicates podocyte activation in the pathogenesis of diabetic nephropathy. Am J Pathol 162:1123–1137.



BRIEF REPORT

Functional magnetic resonance imaging of tics and tic suppression in Gilles de la Tourette syndrome

WOLFRAM KAWOHL, ANNETTE BRÜHL, GUNDA KROWATSCHEK, DANIEL KETTELER & UWE HERWIG

Research Group Clinical and Experimental Psychopathology, Department of Social and General Psychiatry ZH West, Psychiatric University Hospital Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Abstract

Tics are defined as involuntary, quick, sudden, and stereotypical movements or phonic productions. Despite the fact that tic suppression plays an important role for the patient's ability to cope with tic disorders, investigations of the underlying neural correlates using functional imaging focused on tic generation rather than tic suppression. We examined a patient with Gilles de la Tourette syndrome with regard to neural mechanisms of tic generation and tic suppression using fMRI. Three different conditions were compared: "tics", "tics suppressed", and "tics imitated". The comparisons of "tics" to tics suppressed" and of "tics" to "tics imitated" showed similar activation in the anterior cingulate cortex. This leads to distinct suggestions concerning the neural network involved in tic suppression. Similar mechanisms may be involved in tic suppression via mental efforts or active movements.

Key words: Anterior cingulate cortex, fMRI, Gilles de la Tourette syndrome, tic, tic suppression

Introduction

Tics are involuntary, quick, sudden, and stereotypical movements or phonic productions that often lead to severe impairment of motor behaviour and to social stigmatization of the affected person. Regarding the high burden of the patients, it is of major importance to reveal the underlying neurobiology of tics and to develop strategies for their control. Tics have been described as "isolated disinhibited fragments of normal motor or vocal behaviours" (Leckman et al. 1999). This accentuates the importance of inhibition or control for the occurrence of tics.

The feeling which arises before the occurrence of many tics is described as "pressure" or "urge" by patients. Premonitory urges that are reported to occur before the execution of a tic have been interpreted as the involuntary component (Kwak et al. 2003), with the performance of the tic itself as a voluntary response to this urge (Lang 1991). Tics can be suppressed to a certain degree, they worsen under conditions of distress, emotional involvement and when the patient feels unobserved (Kawohl et al. 2007). The suppression of tics is reported to be more or less stressful and resource consuming by many patients. It is, next to the social stigmatization by the tics itself, one of the most straining features of tic disorders. Many patients with tic disorders highlight their ability to control or suppress their tics when describing the impairment caused by tics in everyday live. However, research efforts have usually focused on tic generation instead of tic suppression: the neural mechanism of tic generation have been subject of various functional imaging studies (for a review see Adams et al. (2004)). There is, to our knowledge, only one functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) study investigating tic suppression (Peterson et al. 1998). However, that study did not take into account the role of active movements in tic suppression. The absence of tics during voluntary motor tasks coinciding with supplementary motor activation has been reported for Gilles de la Tourette syndrome (Fattapposta et al. 2005). This leads to the assumption that tic suppression may be linked to the performance of other movements. Nevertheless, tics can be suppressed by mental efforts, as reported by many patients. The aim of our investigation was

Correspondence: Dr. med. Wolfram Kawohl, Psychiatric University Hospital Zurich, Militärstrasse 8, P.O. Box 1930, 8021 Zurich, Switzerland. Tel: +41 44 296 74 61. Fax: +41 44 296 74 49. E-mail: wolfram.kawohl@puk.zh.ch

(Received 20 February 2008; accepted 30 April 2008)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970802118356

to uncover mechanisms underlying tic generation and tic suppression.

Methods

Patient

A 28-year-old, right handed male with Gilles de la Tourette syndrome according to DSM-IV (307.22) participated in the investigation after giving written informed consent. At the time of the fMRI acquisition, the patient had been unmedicated for 2 weeks, after having taken aripiprazole for 17 months. After suffering from severe periods of the disorder with pronounced and frequent motor and vocal tics in the past, the patient reported the preponderance of a simple motor tic of the thumbs (right >> left) at the time of the investigation. He showed good tic control and was able to easily suppress the tics by mere mental effort. However, tic frequency and interference worsened under distress and when alone. He scored 26 points on the Yale Global Tic Severity Scale (YGTSS) (Leckman et al. 1989).

Task

While being scanned with fMRI, the patient exerted three conditions, each lasting 3 min in a block design. In the first condition, "tics", the patient gave free rein to the tics. In the second condition, "tics suppressed", he mentally suppressed the tics. In the third condition, "tics imitated", he imitated the tics by actively and voluntarily moving the right thumb in the way it would be done by the tic. Due to the frequent occurrence of tic at rest no real resting condition was possible. The time in between the different conditions was approximately 1 min.

FMRI acquisition and analysis

Imaging was performed with a 3.0-Tesla General Electrics Signa HD whole body scanner (GE Health Care, Munich, Germany) equipped with a head coil. Initially, high-resolution three-dimensional T1* weighted anatomical volumes were acquired (TR/ TE 9.4/2.1 ms; matrix size 256×256 ; $1 \times 1 \times 1$ mm resolution, axial orientation) for later coregistration with the fMRI. T2* weighted functional MR images were obtained using echoplanar imaging (EPI, TR/ TE 1980/32 ms, flip angle 70° , 22 sequential axial slices covering the whole brain, slice thickness 5 mm, 0.5 mm gap, matrix 64×64 pixels, FOV 220 mm, resulting voxel size $3.4 \times 3.4 \times 5.5$ mm). Altogether 270 volumes were obtained, 90 volumes per condition. During the session, the patient watched a neutral blank screen via digital video goggles (Resonance Technology Inc., Northridge, USA).

FMRI data were analyzed using BrainVoyager QX 1.8 (Brain Innovation, Maastricht, The Netherlands). Preprocessing of the functional scans included motion correction (translation and rotation did not exceed 3 mm), slice scan time correction, high frequency temporal filtering, and removal of linear trends. The three different conditions were compared by building contrasts within the block design.

Results

An increased signal in the "tic" condition compared to the condition "tics suppressed" was observed in the left anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) (Talairach coordinates -11/24/26, BA 24, 135 voxels of 1 mm³ voxel size, P < 0.001, Bonferroni-corrected; Figure 1a). For the same area, a similarly increased signal in the "tic" condition compared to the condition "tics imitated" was observed (Talairach coordinates -9/23/28, BA 24, 357 voxels; P <0.001, Bonferroni-corrected; Figure 1b). No statistically significant difference was observed between the signal changes during the conditions "tics suppressed" and "tics imitated".

Discussion

The "tics" condition was associated with an activation in the left middle anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) when compared to both other conditions, "tics suppressed" (by mental effort) and "tics imitated" (by voluntary action). This area matches the rostral cingulate motor area (CMA, BA24c (Vogt and Vogt 2003)). In the first gaze this similarity between tic suppression and imitation appears to be counterintuitive, but it may be explained within the frame of feedback models. Earlier, electrical stimulation in the cingulate motor area (CMA) was reported to produce involuntary movements and complex gestures (Vogt and Vogt 2003), which could be modified or resisted. Moreover, it is part of a network of paralimbic areas which are activated before tic onset (Bohlhalter et al. 2006), which is in accordance with our results. The mediating role of the CMA between emotional and motivational influences on the one hand, and motor control on the other hand may correspond to the differential influences on tic severity by various emotional states (Wood et al. 2003). Within the frame of our conservative statistical threshold, the ACC was the one area more active during the involuntary happening of tics compared to the suppressed state. We assume that there may be either a dysfunction of the CMA causing continuous pathological activity propagating the tics, or an afferent dysfunctional input

to the CMA. The latter might arise mainly from the basal ganglia or the thalamus (Leckman et al. 2006) and cause a continuous pathological discrepancy between the actual and the desired state. The ACC detects this discrepancy and accordingly initiates the correcting movement in form of a tic. This view would fit with the role of the ACC, especially the caudal or midcingulate area, as an error or conflict detector (Carter et al. 1998; van Veen and Carter 2002).

In our design we cannot determine whether a pathological intrinsic activity is generated in the CMA itself or if it would activate the CMA via afferences from the striatum or the thalamus, because the afferent areas would be active continuously and would not present themselves in any behavioural comparison. An influence by "higher" cortical areas during suppression of tics is also conceivable: The ACC has a strong bidirectional connection with the prefrontal cortex, especially the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) (Bates and Goldman-Rakic 1993; Devinsky et al. 1995; Paus 2001), which is involved in important processes of cognitive and executive control (Brass et al. 2005; Egner and Hirsch 2005). The motor action of tics is assumed to be caused by a propagation of the ACC



Figure 1. (a) Comparison of the conditions "tics" and "tics suppressed", (b) comparison of the conditions "tics" and "tics imitated".

information to the DLPFC and subsequently to premotor (PMC) and supplementary motor area (SMA), and finally to the motor cortex (MC). Our findings would further fit with the assumption of a voluntarily induced suppression of the dysfunctional ACC signal by top-down control from the DLPFC (MacDonald et al. 2000; Paus et al. 2001). Accordingly, in the suppression condition compared with the native tics condition the activity of the ACC would be reduced. During "tics imitated" the subject made the same movements he normally did involuntarily now by actively and voluntarily moving the thumb. We assume in this condition an executive signal by the DLPFC towards the PMC, SMA and MC to initiate a moving of the thumb. Now, the SMA, which is cytoarchitectonally similar to the CMA (BA 24c-BA 6a (Vogt and Vogt 2003)), may be the source of a so called efferential copy of this information to the ACC. This leads to a reduction of the discrepancy between actual and target state. Alternatively, the efferential copy could also arise from the MC (Morecraft and Van Hoesen 1992). Thus, the decreased activity of the ACC of both conditions, "tics suppressed" and "tics imitated" compared to the resting condition "tics" would explain the activation shown in Figure 1.

This is also in accordance to clinical descriptions of patients about tic control by voluntary movements and is used in habit reversal training, a behaviour therapy using voluntary movements to control tics. This leads to the conclusion that similar mechanisms are likely to be involved in tic suppression via mental efforts or active movements.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Leo Towle, Ph.D. for proof reading the manuscript and giving a lot of helpful advice.

Statement of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest concerning commercial or financial involvements.

References

- Adams JR, Troiano AR, Calne DB. 2004. Functional imaging in Tourette's syndrome. J Neural Transm 111:1495–1506.
- Bates JF, Goldman-Rakic PS. 1993. Prefrontal connections of medial motor areas in the rhesus monkey. J Comp Neurol 336:211–228.
- Bohlhalter S, Goldfine A, Matteson S, Garraux G, Hanakawa T, Kansaku K, et al. 2006. Neural correlates of tic generation in

Tourette syndrome: an event-related functional MRI study. Brain 129:2029–2037.

- Brass M, Derrfuss J, Forstmann B, von Cramon DY. 2005. The role of the inferior frontal junction area in cognitive control. Trends Cogn Sci 9:314–316.
- Carter CS, Braver TS, Barch DM, Botvinick MM, Noll D, Cohen JD. 1998. Anterior cingulate cortex, error detection, and the online monitoring of performance. Science 280:747–749.
- Devinsky O, Morrell MJ, Vogt BA. 1995. Contributions of anterior cingulate cortex to behaviour. Brain 118(Pt 1):279– 306.
- Egner T, Hirsch J. 2005. Cognitive control mechanisms resolve conflict through cortical amplification of task-relevant information. Nat Neurosci 8:1784–1790.
- Fattapposta F, Restuccia R, Colonnese C, Labruna L, Garreffa G, Bianco F. 2005. Gilles de la Tourette syndrome and voluntary movement: a functional MRI study. Psychiatry Res 138:269– 272.
- Kawohl W, Schneider F, Vernaleken I, Neuner I. 2007. Aripiprazole in the pharmacotherapy of Gilles de la Tourette syndrome in adult patients. World J Biol Psychiatry epub ahead of print: DOI 10.1080/15622970701762544.
- Kwak C, Dat Vuong K, Jankovic J. 2003. Premonitory sensory phenomenon in Tourette's syndrome. Mov Disord 18:1530– 1533.
- Lang A. 1991. Patient perception of tics and other movement disorders. Neurology 41:223–228.
- Leckman JF, Riddle MA, Hardin MT, Ort SI, Swartz KL, Stevenson J, et al. 1989. The Yale Global Tic Severity Scale: initial testing of a clinician-rated scale of tic severity. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 28:566–573.
- Leckman JF, King RA, Cohen DJ. 1999. Tics and tic disorders. In: Leckman JF, Cohen DJ, editors. Tics, obsessions, compulsions: Developmental psychopathology and clinical care. New York: Wiley & Sons. pp 23–42.
- Leckman JF, Bloch MH, King RA, Scahill L. 2006. Phenomenology of tics and natural history of tic disorders. Adv Neurol 99:1–16.
- MacDonald AW 3rd, Cohen JD, Stenger VA, Carter CS. 2000. Dissociating the role of the dorsolateral prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortex in cognitive control. Science 288:1835–1838.
- Morecraft RJ, Van Hoesen GW. 1992. Cingulate input to the primary and supplementary motor cortices in the rhesus monkey: evidence for somatotopy in areas 24c and 23c. J Comp Neurol 322:471–489.
- Paus T. 2001. Primate anterior cingulate cortex: where motor control, drive and cognition interface. Nat Rev Neurosci 2:417–424.
- Paus T, Castro-Alamancos MA, Petrides M. 2001. Corticocortical connectivity of the human mid-dorsolateral frontal cortex and its modulation by repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation. Eur J Neurosci 14:1405–1411.
- Peterson BS, Skudlarski P, Anderson AW, Zhang H, Gatenby JC, Lacadie CM, et al. 1998. A functional magnetic resonance imaging study of tic suppression in Tourette syndrome. Arch Gen Psychiatry 55:326–333.
- van Veen V, Carter CS. 2002. The anterior cingulate as a conflict monitor: fMRI and ERP studies. Physiol Behav 77:477–482.
- Vogt BA, Vogt L. 2003. Cytology of human dorsal midcingulate and supplementary motor cortices. J Chem Neuroanat 26:301– 309.
- Wood BL, Klebba K, Gbadebo O, Lichter D, Kurlan R, Miller B. 2003. Pilot study of effect of emotional stimuli on tic severity in children with Tourette's syndrome. Mov Disord 18:1392–1395.



BRIEF REPORT

Parental psychiatric hospitalisation and offspring schizophrenia

HOLGER J. SØRENSEN^{1,2}, ERIK L. MORTENSEN^{1,3}, JUNE M. REINISCH^{1,4} & SARNOFF A. MEDNICK^{1,5}

¹Danish Epidemiology Science Center, Institute of Preventive Medicine, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark, ²The Sund Institute and Department of Psychiatry, Amager Hospital, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark, ³Department of Health Psychology, Institute of Public Health, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, ⁴The Kinsey Institute for Research in Sex, Gender, and Reproduction, Indiana University, Bloomington, IN, USA, and ⁵The Social Science Research Institute and Department of Psychology, University of Southern California, USA

Abstract

The risk of schizophrenia has been linked with a family history of schizophrenia and less strongly with other psychiatric disorders in family members. Using data from the Copenhagen Perinatal Cohort and from the Danish Psychiatric Case Register, we studied the relationship between offspring risk of schizophrenia and a range of psychotic and non-psychotic psychiatric diagnoses in parents. Psychiatric admission data after 1969 were available for 7047 cohort members born between 1959 and 1961, and for 7006 mothers and 6993 fathers. Univariate analysis showed that neurosis, alcohol and substance dependence in both parents were associated with elevated risk of offspring schizophrenia; in addition, maternal schizophrenia, affective disorder and personality disorder were associated with elevated risk. Controlling for parental age, parental social status, and parental psychiatric co-diagnosis, offspring risk of schizophrenia was associated with maternal schizophrenia (OR = 15.41 with 95% CI 5.96–39.81) and, independently, with paternal hospitalisation with neurosis (OR = 5.90 with 95% CI 2.23–15.62). The risk of schizophrenia associated with paternal neurosis remained significant after excluding offspring of parents with non-affective psychosis from the sample. These findings suggest that genetic and family studies should not only focus on parental history of schizophrenia since the simple distinction between positive and negative family history could not accurately describe offspring risk in this sample.

Key words: Schizophrenia, parental psychiatric history, offspring risk of schizophrenia, neurosis and schizophrenia, Copenhagen Perinatal Cohort

Introduction

It is well established that schizophrenia aggregates in families (Gottesman 1991). Relatives of patients with schizophrenia not only have higher rates of disorders related to schizophrenia such as schizoaffective disorder, schizotypal personality disorder, and paranoid personality disorder (Kendler and Diehl 1993; Kendler et al. 1995; Ingraham and Kety 2000; Kringlen 2000; Tsuang et al. 2001). Other psychiatric disorders may also aggregate in relatives of schizophrenic patients. A large register-based study found the risk of schizophrenia to be associated with a range of psychiatric diagnoses in family members (Byrne et al. 2002).

It is important to further explore and possibly replicate these findings. Prospective studies linking parental psychiatric hospitalisation history with the offspring risk of hospitalisation with schizophrenia may illuminate whether psychiatric disorders outside the schizophrenia spectrum aggregate in the families of schizophrenic patients. We undertook the present register-based study linking information from the Copenhagen Perinatal Cohort (Zachau-Christiansen and Ross 1975) with the Danish Psychiatric Register (Munk-Jørgensen and Mortensen 1997). Previous analyses of this cohort have shown that maternal hospitalisation with schizophrenia predicts offspring risk of schizophrenia, while paternal hospitalisation with schizophrenia is a weaker predictor (Sørensen et al. 2004). We hypothesised that some parental

Correspondence: Erik Lykke Mortensen, Department of Health Psychology, University of Copenhagen, Øster Farimagsgade 5, P.O. Box 2099, DK-1014 Copenhagen K, Denmark. Tel: +45 3532 7839. Fax: +45 3532 7748. E-mail: e.l.mortensen@pubhealth.ku.dk

(Received 5 July 2006; revised 23 May 2007; accepted 24 May 2007) ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970701472078 psychiatric disorders outside the schizophrenia spectrum might be associated with offspring risk of schizophrenia.

The aim of the study was to investigate the potential associations between a range of parental psychiatric hospital diagnoses and offspring risk of schizophrenia.

Methods

The Copenhagen Perinatal Cohort consists of 9125 individuals delivered by 8949 pregnant women from October 1959 to December 1961 at the maternity department of the Copenhagen University Hospital, Rigshospitalet. At the establishment of this cohort, demographic, socioeconomic, prenatal, and perinatal medical data were recorded prospectively (Villumsen 1970; Reinisch et al. 1993). Previous studies based on this cohort demonstrated associations between parental social status and offspring risk of schizophrenia (Sørensen et al. 2003).

Written approval to conduct a register-based psychiatric follow-up was obtained from the regional scientific and ethics committee. The Danish Psychiatric Register has been computerised since 1 April 1969. It contains data on all admissions to Danish psychiatric inpatient facilities. The diagnostic system in use when The Danish Psychiatric Register was computerised was the *International Classification of Diseases, 8th Revision* (ICD-8).

A total of 8400 infants survived the first month after birth. A total of 7047 cohort members, 7006 of their mothers, and 6993 of their fathers were registered Danish citizens by 1 April 1969. The cohort members and their parents were followed in The Danish Psychiatric Central Register to identify all admissions with a diagnosis of schizophrenia (ICD-8 code 295) among the cohort members and all admissions with a diagnosis of schizophrenia (ICD-8 code 295), affective psychosis (ICD-8 code 296), paranoid psychosis (ICD-8 code 297), reactive psychosis (ICD-8 code 298), neurosis (ICD-8 code 300), personality disorder (ICD-8 code 301), alcohol abuse/dependence (ICD-8 code 303), and other substance abuse/dependence (ICD-8 code 304) in either of the parents. The cohort members and their parents were followed in the register until 1994 when ICD-10 diagnoses were implemented in Denmark.

Statistical analysis

The cumulative incidences of the above mentioned ICD-8 diagnostic categories between 1 April 1969 and 1994 were calculated for both parents. Univariate analysis compared the proportion of offspring

who developed schizophrenia in relation to maternal and paternal ICD-8 diagnostic categories, and unadjusted odds ratios (with 95% CI) were estimated in a logistic regression model. Multivariate logistic regression analysis estimated the odds ratio of offspring developing schizophrenia in relation to each maternal and paternal ICD-8 category with adjustment for parental social status, maternal and paternal age (the covariates were entered as continuous variables). The second adjustment (full model) adjusted for these covariates and for all maternal and paternal ICD-8 diagnostic categories. The analysis was performed using SPSS version 12.0 for windows.

The outputs of the full model represent the independent contribution of each parental ICD-8 diagnostic category to the prediction of offspring risk of schizophrenia without assuming a diagnostic hierarchy. Inherently, the model takes into account concomitant psychiatric diagnoses (some mothers and fathers attracted more than one ICD-8 diagnosis through the lifespan).

Ethics

The study is purely register-based study and consequently, it is not necessary to obtain informed consent according to Danish rules and the Helsinki Declaration.

Results

Table I shows the cumulative incidence of hospitalisation with various ICD-8 diagnoses in mothers and fathers of the cohort members from 1 April 1969 to the end of 1993. The low cumulative incidence of paternal schizophrenia may be related to low reproduction in male schizophrenia and attrition before 1969.

Table II shows the offspring risk of schizophrenia in relation to maternal and paternal history of psychiatric hospitalisation with a range of ICD-8

Table I. Cumulative incidence of hospitalisation with psychiatric disorders in 7006 mothers and 6993 fathers in the Copenhagen Perinatal Cohort.

ICD-8 category	Mothers (<i>n</i> /sample <i>N</i>)	Fathers (<i>n</i> /sample <i>N</i>)
Schizophrenia	0.8% (55/7006)	0.4% (30/6993)
Paranoid psychosis	0.8% (56/7006)	0.3% (20/6993)
Reactive psychosis	2.7% (190/7006)	1.4% (100/6993)
Affective disorder	2.1% (147/7006)	1.1% (80/6993)
Neurotic disorder	4.9% (346/7006)	1.5% (108/6993)
Personality disorder	6.1% (432/7006)	4.5% (316/6993)
Alcohol dependence	3.5% (246/7006)	6.4% (448/6993)
Other substance dependence	2.6% (186/7006)	1.7% (120/6993)

Parental psychiatric hospitalisation ICD-8 diagnostic category	% in offspring with parental diagnosis who developed schizophrenia	% in offspring without parental diaganosis who developed schizophrenia	Odds ratio (95% CI)
Maternal schizophrenia $(n = 55)$	12.7 (7/55)	0.9 (64/6951)	15.69 (6.84–36.00)*
Maternal paranoid psychosis $(n = 56)$	0 (0/56)	0.8 (71/6950)	0
Maternal reactive psychosis $(n = 190)$	1.6 (3/190)	1.0 (68/6816)	1.59 (0.50-5.10)
Maternal affective disorder $(n = 147)$	3.4 (5/147)	1.0 (66/6859)	3.62 (1.44-9.13)*
Maternal neurotic disorder $(n = 346)$	2.9 (10/346)	0.9 (61/6660)	3.22 (1.64-6.34)*
Maternal personality disorder ($n = 432$	3.2 (14/432)	0.9 (57/6574)	3.83(2.12-6.93)*
Maternal alcohol dependence $(n = 246)$	2.9 (7/246)	1.0 (64/6760)	3.06 (1.39-6.76)*
Maternal substance dependence $(n = 186)$	3.2 (6/186)	1.0 (65/6820)	3.46 (1.48-8.10)*
Paternal schizophrenia $(n=30)$	3.3 (1/30)	1.0 (70/6963)	3.40 (0.46-25.28)
Paternal paranoid psychosis $(n=20)$	5.0 (1/20)	1.0 (70/6973)	5.19 (0.69-39.31)
Paternal reactive psychosis $(n = 100)$	3.0 (3/100)	1.0 (68/6893)	3.10 (0.96-10.04)
Paternal affective disorder $(n = 80)$	2.5 (2/80)	1.0 (69/6913)	2.54 (0.61-10.56)
Paternal neurotic disorder $(n = 108)$	6.5 (7/108)	0.9 (64/6885)	7.39 (3.20–16.52)*
Paternal personality disorder $(n = 316)$	1.6 (5/316)	1.0 (66/6677)	1.61 (0.64-4.03)
Paternal alcohol dependence $(n = 448)$	2.0 (9/448)	1.0 (62/6545)	2.14 (1.64-4.34)*
Paternal substance dependence $(n = 120)$	3.3 (4/120)	1.0 (67/6873)	3.50 (1.26–9.77*

Table II. Schizophrenia in offspring with and without parental history of psychiatric hospitalisation with a range of ICD-8 diagnoses.^a

^aBased on 7006 mothers and 6993 fathers.

diagnostic categories. A total of 71 cases with ICD-8 schizophrenia were identified (cumulative incidence of 1.0%). Significant predictors of offspring schizophrenia included the following maternal diagnostic categories: schizophrenia, affective disorder, neurotic disorder, personality disorder, alcohol dependence, other substance dependence; and the following paternal diagnostic categories: neurotic disorder, alcohol dependence and other substance dependence.

Table III shows the results of multivariate logistic regression analysis estimating offspring risk of schizophrenia in relation to the included maternal and paternal ICD-8 diagnostic categories with adjustment for parental social status, maternal and paternal age. The effect of adjusting not only for the covariates but, in addition, for the entire range of parental ICD-8 diagnostic categories, is shown in the second column. In this model, the only significant predictors of offspring risk of schizophrenia was maternal schizophrenia with an adjusted odds ratio of 15.41 with 95% CI 5.96–39.81 and paternal neurotic disorder with an adjusted odds ratio of 5.90 with 95% CI 2.23–15.62.

We examined the distribution of co-diagnoses among the fathers with a hospital diagnosis of

Table III. Risk of offspring schizophrenia in relation to parental history of psychiatric hospitalisation.^a

	Odds rati	o (95% CI)
	First model	Second model (Full model) ^a
Parental psychiatric hospitalisation ICD-8 diagnostic category		
Maternal schizophrenia	15.38 (6.68–35.42)*	15.41 (5.96–39.81)*
Maternal reactive psychosis	1.59 (0.49–5.09)	0.36 (0.09–1.36)
Maternal affective disorder	3.68 (1.46–9.29)*	2.03 (0.74–5.60)
Maternal neurotic disorder	3.17 (1.61-6.25)*	1.69 (0.74–3.85)
Maternal personality disorder	3.83 (2.10-6.98)*	2.17 (0.97-4.86)
Maternal alcohol dependence	3.05 (1.38-6.74)*	1.28 (0.48–3.37)
Maternal substance dependence	3.37 (1.44–7.90)*	1.22 (0.42-3.60)
Paternal schizophrenia	3.10 (0.41-23.24)	1.41 (0.13–15.56)
Paternal paranoid psychosis	4.91 (0.65-37.42)	2.81 (0.26-30.39)
Paternal reactive psychosis	3.14 (0.97–10.19)	1.90 (0.49–7.41)
Paternal affective disorder	2.60 (0.63-10.81)	0.91 (0.18-4.68)
Paternal neurotic disorder	7.25 (3.24–16.24)*	5.90 (2.23–15.62)*
Paternal personality disorder	1.55 (0.62–3.92)	0.43 (0.13–1.42)
Paternal alcohol dependence	2.08 (1.02–4.26)*	1.36 (0.53-3.47)
Paternal substance dependence	3.46 (1.23–9.72)*	2.12 (0.56-8.02)

^aRisk of schizophrenia associated with parental history of psychiatric hospitalisation after adjustment for maternal and paternal age and household social status. The second model adjusted for these covariates and all parental ICD-8 diagnostic categories. This analysis included 6993 subjects.

neurotic disorder. Out of the 108 fathers, 50 had an ICD-8 co-diagnosis of personality disorder, 44 had a co-diagnosis of alcoholism, 19 a co-diagnosis of reactive psychosis, 18 a co-diagnosis of affective disorder, three were registered with a co-diagnosis of paranoid psychosis, and one with an ICD-8 co-diagnosis of schizophrenia. In 1994–1999, only seven of the 108 fathers were hospitalized and received ICD-10 diagnoses (none in the schizophrenia spectrum).

Post-hoc analyses were also conducted on a restricted sample comprising 6585 cohort members (3318 men and 3267 women) with psychiatric hospitalisation data on both parents and excluding offspring of parents with a lifetime diagnosis of ICD-10 code F20-29 or ICD-8 code 295, 297, or 298. In this restricted sample 56 cases (0.9%) had been registered with schizophrenia according to ICD-8. Adjusted for parental social status, maternal and paternal age, paternal hospitalisation with neurosis remained a significant predictor of offspring risk of schizophrenia (OR = 8.30 with 95% CI 3.21-21.42). Further analyses indicated that offspring risk of schizophrenia was more strongly associated with certain sub-categories of paternal neurosis than others. As outlined in Appendix 1, there are nine sub-categories of neurosis according to ICD-8. Hysterical neurosis (code 300.19) and asthenic neurosis (code 300.59) were significant predictors (with clearly elevated odds ratios), while anxiety neurosis (code 300.09), phobic neurosis (code 300.29) and obsessive-compulsive neurosis (code 300.39) were not.

Discussion

The risk of schizophrenia was significantly increased in offspring whose mothers had been hospitalised with schizophrenia while paternal hospitalisation with schizophrenia was not significantly associated with offspring risk of the disorder. However, the risk of schizophrenia was increased more than 6-fold in offspring whose fathers had been hospitalised with a diagnosis of neurosis. This unexpected finding may reflect genetic associations between schizophrenia and other mental disorders leading to psychiatric admission.

It is possible that paternal neurosis in some cases was associated with schizophrenia in second-degree relatives and the wider family circle, but this potential explanation of the elevated risk also assumes a link between neurosis and schizophrenia. A diagnostic hierarchy could have been used to handle co-diagnoses in the parents, but a diagnostic hierarchy was not considered appropriate when detailed clinical information was unavailable. In addition, the analyses adjusting for covariates, but not for co-diagnoses, correspond to an analysis with each diagnostic category at the top of a diagnostic hierarchy (Table III, first column). Furthermore, the results of the analysis based on the restricted sample without offspring of parents with non-affective psychosis strongly suggest that psychotic co-diagnoses do not explain or mediate the association between paternal neurosis and offspring risk of schizophrenia. Finally, the clinical hospital diagnoses in the Danish Psychiatric Central Register may be unreliable, but it is likely that misclassification of the 'exposure' (neurosis) would have introduced noise and biased the results towards null findings.

The relationship between ICD-8 and the contemporary ICD-10 diagnostic classification system is complex and cannot be discussed in detail in this brief report. However, the important question in the context of the present findings is the possible relationship between ICD-8 diagnosis of neurosis and ICD-10 diagnosis of schizophrenia. Few studies have used ICD-10 to evaluate the long-term outcome of the ICD-8 diagnosis of neurosis, but we did not observe a single case of ICD-10 schizophrenia among the fathers having previously received an ICD-8 diagnosis of neurosis. This finding should obviously be interpreted with caution because of the relatively small sample size and because the median age of the fathers with neurotic disorder was 60 years in 1994 when the ICD-10 classification was implemented in Denmark.

In spite of the above mentioned limitations concerning family history information and the fact that detailed clinical information was not available, we believe that our results support the register-based study by Byrne et al. (2002) demonstrating that a simple distinction between schizophrenia positive and schizophrenia negative family history could not accurately describe the offspring risk of schizophrenia. Some independent predictive effect of parental non-psychotic diagnosis appears to exist, and personality traits associated with paternal diagnosis of neurosis may play a role in pathways leading to increased offspring risk of schizophrenia. The broad personality dimension of neuroticism reflects emotional instability (McCrae and Costa 1997) and appears to be partly genetically determined (Bouchard 1994). It includes trait anxiety and depression, and high neuroticism appears to be a broad vulnerability factor for mental disorders, particularly internalising disorders (Khan et al. 2005).

Post-hoc analyses of the Perinatal Cohort suggested that offspring schizophrenia was associated with parental hysterical, asthenic and hypochondric neurosis. It is possible that these conditions are more deviant in males than anxiety neurosis and related conditions, and that the fathers diagnosed with neurosis severe enough to be admitted to a psychiatric department manifested a range of vulnerabilities including emotional instability, chronic distress, poor coping skills and poor social competence. These characteristics may adversely influence the climate of upbringing and interact with genetic predisposition to increase the risk of schizophrenia.

Acknowledgements

Supported by Sygekassernes Helsefond (Health Insurance Foundation) grant to Dr Sørensen, grants HD-17655 and HD-20263 from the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development to Dr Reinisch, grant from the National Institute of Drug Abuse to Dr Reinisch, grant 9700093 from the Danish Research Council to Dr Mortensen, and grant 1400/2-4-1997 from the Danish National Board of Health to Dr Mortensen. Thanks are due to Vibeke Munk, MA, for help with the manuscript and critical comments.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

References

- Bouchard TJ Jr. 1994. Genes, environment, and personality. Science 264:1700–1701.
- Byrne M, Agerbo E, Mortensen PB. 2002. Family history of psychiatric disorders and age at first contact in schizophrenia: an epidemiological study. Br J Psychiatry Suppl 181:S19–S25.
- Gottesman II. 1991. Schizophrenia genesis: the origins of madness. New York: W.H. Freeman.
- Ingraham L, Kety SS. 2000. Adoption studies of schizophrenia. Am J Med Genet 97:18–22.
- Kendler KS, Diehl SR. 1993. The genetics of schizophrenia: a current, genetic epidemiologic perspective. Schizophr Bull 19:261–285.
- Kendler KS, Neale MC, Walsh D. 1995. Evaluating the spectrum concept of schizophrenia in the Roscommon Family Study. Am J Psychiatry 152:749–754.

- Khan AA, Jacobson KC, Gardner CO, Prescott CA, Kendler KS. 2005. Personality and comorbidity of common psychiatric disorders. Br J Psychiatry 186:190–196.
- Kringlen E. 2000. Twin studies in schizophrenia with special emphasis on concordance figures. Am J Med Genet 97:4–11.
- McCrae RR, Costa JT. 1997. Personality trait structure as a human universal. Am Psychol 52:509–516.
- Munk-Jørgensen P, Mortensen PB. 1997. The Danish Psychiatric Central Register. Dan Med Bull 44:82–84.
- Reinisch JM, Mortensen EL, Sanders SA. 1993. The prenatal development project. Acta Psychiatr Scand 370:54–61.
- Sørensen HJ, Mortensen EL, Reinisch JM, Mednick SA. 2003. Do hypertension and diuretic treatment in pregnancy increase the risk of schizophrenia in offspring? Am J Psychiatry 160:464–468.
- Sørensen HJ, Mortensen EL, Reinisch JM, Mednick SA. 2004. Association between prenatal exposure to analgesics and risk of schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry 185:366–371.
- Tsuang MT, Stone WS, Faraone SV. 2001. Genes, environment and schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry (Suppl) 40:S18–S24.
- Villumsen AL. 1970. Environmental factors in congenital malformations: a prospective study of 9006 human pregnancies. 1970. Copenhagen: FADL's Forlag, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen.
- Zachau-Christiansen B, Ross EM. 1975. Babies: human development during the first year. New York: John Wiley & Sons.

Appendix 1

300.09 neurosis anxiosa; 300.19 neurosis hysterica; 300.29 neurosis phobica; 300.39 neurosis obsessiva compulsiva; 300.49 neurosis depressiva; 300.59 neurosis asthenica; 300.69 neurosis cum syndroma depersonalisationis; 300.79 neurosis hypochondica; 300.89 neurosis alia and 300.99 neurosis. The ICD-8 classification of personality disorder consisted of 10 sub-categories: 301.09 disordo persotypus paranoides; nalitatis. 301.19 disordo personalitatis typus affectivus; 301.29 disorder personalitatis, typus schizoides; 301.39 disordo persoexplosivus; 301.49 nalitatis typus neurosis characterogenes typus anankasticus; 301.59 neuroses characterogenes typus hystericus; 301.69 neurosis characterogenes typus asthenicus; 301.79 disordo personalitatis typus antisocialis; 301.8 neurosis characterogenes alia/insufficientia characteris/ casus limitares pseudoneuroticae sive pseudopsychopathicae.

BRIEF REPORT



Winter/summer seasonal changes in malondialdehyde formation as a source of variance in oxidative stress schizophrenia research

ARMANDO L. MORERA¹, AINTZANE INTXAUSTI² & PEDRO ABREU-GONZALEZ³

¹Department of Internal Medicine, Dermatology and Psychiatry, La Laguna University Medical School, Tenerife, Spain, ²La Vera Mental Health Center, Puerto de la Cruz, Tenerife, Spain, and ³Department of Physiology, La Laguna University Medical School, Tenerife, Spain

Abstract

Background. Malondialdehyde (MDA), an oxidative stress biological marker, is one of the most frequently used markers of lipid peroxidation in schizophrenia research. Data regarding MDA levels in schizophrenia are controversial. Our aim is to study the existence of winter/summer seasonal changes in serum MDA levels in schizophrenic patients. *Methods.* Twenty-three clinically stable treated chronic paranoid schizophrenic outpatients were studied in summer and winter. Blood was sampled between 08:30 and 09:00 h. Serum MDA was determined by the thiobarbituric acid reactive substances technique. The clinical state was assessed by means of the Clinical Global Impression (CGI) scale. *Results.* Mean serum MDA levels were significantly higher in summer than winter $(2.49 \pm 0.25 \text{ vs. } 1.86 \pm 0.11 \text{ nmol/ml}, P < 0.03)$. Summer MDA was increased by a 33.9% compared to winter MDA. Age, gender, smoking status, body mass index, psychopharmacological treatment, illness duration, age of illness onset and CGI did not affect significantly MDA levels. *Conclusion.* Our results show that serum MDA presents a winter/summer rhythm of formation, with higher levels in summer than winter. It is strongly advisable to take into account the summer/winter variation in MDA levels when researching into this field.

Key words: Lipid peroxidation, oxidative stress, schizophrenia, seasonality

Introduction

There is accumulative evidence that free radicals play a role in schizophrenia, probably mediated by membrane pathology (Reddy and Yao 1996; Schmidt et al. 2005). Lipid peroxidation is one of the consequences of oxidative stress and the level of malondialdehyde (MDA) is an usual marker of lipid peroxidation (Gawel et al. 2004).

Data regarding MDA levels in schizophrenic patients are controversial. In a recent meta-analysis on MDA levels in schizophrenia (Grignon and Chianetta 2007), an effect size meta-analysis has been reported, confirming the existence of an increase in MDA levels in patients with schizophrenia, but a very large heterogeneity of the results was also reported. Increased levels (McCreadie et al. 1995; Mahadik et al. 1998; Akyol et al. 2002; Khan et al. 2002; Kuloglu et al. 2002; Arvindakshan et al. 2003a, Dakhale et al. 2004; Gama et al. 2006; Zhang et al. 2006), no alterations (Bindoli et al. 1987; Brown et al. 1998; SSRG 2000; Ranjekar et al. 2003) or even a decrease in MDA levels (Arvindakshan et al. 2003b) have been reported.

Seasonal variations in several biological markers have been described (Wirz-Justice and Richter 1979). This seasonal variation may have acted as a source of variance that may help explaining part of the heterogeneity in the results of MDA levels in schizophrenic patients.

The objective of this research is to study the existence of winter/summer seasonal changes in serum MDA levels in a sample of clinically stable treated paranoid schizophrenic outpatients.

Methods

The study was carried out in two phases. The first phase took place in July 2005 while the second was carried out in January 2006. Throughout this paper the terms January/Winter and July/Summer will be used interchangeably. Patients were selected from an outpatient health setting in La Vera Mental Health

Correspondence: Professor Armando L. Morera, Department of Internal Medicine, Dermatology and Psychiatry, La Laguna University Medical School, Ofra, s/n, 38071-La Laguna, Tenerife, Spain. Tel: +34 922 319281. Fax: +34 922 319279. E-mail: amorera@ull.es

(Received 18 May 2007; accepted 5 January 2008)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970801901802

Center in Puerto de la Cruz (Tenerife, Spain). Exclusion criteria were: (1) concomitant physical illness, (2) consumption of alcohol or illegal drugs, (3) pregnancy, (4) mental retardation, (5) being on a special diet (vegetarian, to lose weight, etc.), and (6) consumption of vitamin supplements. Inclusion criteria were: (1) DSM-IV criteria for paranoid schizophrenia, (2) being on a stable psychopharmacological treatment at least 1 year before the start of the study, and (3) the treatment must be kept stable during the follow-up. Patients were asked to keep to their usual eating habits during the study. Diagnostic interviews were carried out by the same psychiatrist, according to the Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI) (Sheehan et al. 1998). The study was carried out in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration and all subjects gave written informed consent before inclusion in the study.

The initial sample (July 2005) was comprised by 30 subjects. Seven subjects dropped out from the study: two due to abnormal transaminase levels, one had a urinary infection, two refused to participate in the follow-up and two did not come to the laboratory on the day of the blood testing. The final sample was comprised by 23 clinically stable chronic schizophrenic outpatients.

Blood samples were extracted and introduced into BD vacutainer SST II advance tubes, without anticoagulant, between 08:30 and 09:00 h, after fasting for one night. The same routine was followed during the two experimental sessions. After each extraction, blood samples were centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 min, and serum was separated and frozen at -70° C until assayed for MDA. To avoid the possible dispersion of serum MDA analysis, all the samples were analyzed at the same time, at the end of the study.

Serum MDA levels, referred to as thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS), were measured according to the method described by Kikugawa et al. (1992). The pink complex coloured samples were placed in a 96-well plate and read at 535 nm in a microplate spectrophotometer reader (Benchmark Plus, Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). The intra- and inter-assay coefficients of variation were 1.82 and 4.01%, respectively.

Clinical global improvement and severity of illness state was assessed in summer and winter by means of the Clinical Global Impression (CGI) scale (Guy 1976).

Data were analyzed using the 13th version of the SPSS statistical package (Illinois, USA). Wilcoxon paired *t*-tests were applied to analyze differences between summer and winter. The effect of clinical and sociodemographic variables on summer and winter MDA levels was studied by a multivariate

General Linear Model (GLM). Multivariate GLM allowed us to carry out a regression analysis and variance analysis for several dependent variables using several covariates and several factor variables. Summer and winter MDA levels acted as dependent variables, while gender (male/female), smoking status (smokers/non-smokers) and treatment (typical/ atypical antipsychotics) acted as factors. Quantitative variables, age, body mass index (BMI), age at illness onset, illness duration and CGI scores, acted as covariates in this model. The biochemist was blind with regard to the samples belonging to summer or winter season.

Results

Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the sample are shown in Table I. Our sample is comprised of medium age chronic patients with long disease duration, on a stable psychopharmacologic treatment and with a stable clinical picture. Seven patients were on fluphenazine decanoate (considered as a typical antipsychotic) and 16 on long-acting risperidone (considered as an atypical antipsychotic).

Mean MDA levels were significantly higher in summer than winter $(2.49 \pm 0.25 \text{ vs. } 1.86 \pm 0.11 \text{ nmol/ml}, P < 0.03)$. MDA levels increased by a 33.9% in summer with respect to winter MDA levels (% summer MDA-% winter MDA).

Table II shows the results of the multivariate GLM. None of the factors, gender (male/female), smoking status (smoker/non-smoker) and antipsychotic treatment (typical/atypical) produced a significant effect on summer or winter MDA levels. The interaction between gender and smoking status and gender and treatment neither produce significant effects. Age, BMI, age at illness onset, illness duration and CGI scores did not produce significant effects on MDA levels in summer and in winter.

Table I. Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the sample.

Variables	
Age, mean \pm SD (min/max)	47.0±16.4 (18/70)
Sex (male/female)	15/8
Civil status (single/married)	17/6
Smokers/non-smokers	12/11
Illness onset, mean ± SD (min/max)	23.9 ± 8.7 (14/44)
Illness duration, mean \pm SD (min/max)	23.5±14.4 (2/49)
Treatment (typical/atypical antipsychotics)	7/16
CGI global improvement summer/ winter, mean ±SD (P value)	3.4±0.8/3.3±0.8 (0.2)
CGI severity of illness summer/winter, mean±SD (P value)	$2.3 \pm 1.4/2.5 \pm 1.5$ (0.2)

578 A.L. Morera et al.

Table II. Effect of clinical and sociodemographic variables on summer and winter MDA levels.

Source	Dependent variable	Sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	Р
BMI	MDAS	1.252	1	1.252	0.492	0.503
	MDAW	0.024	1	0.024	0.150	0.708
Age	MDAS	0.668	1	0.668	0.262	0.622
	MDAW	0.055	1	0.055	0.340	0.576
Illness onset	MDAS	0.981	1	0.981	0.386	0.552
	MDAW	0.178	1	0.178	1.112	0.322
Illness duration	MDAS	0.782	1	0.782	0.307	0.595
	MDAW	0.100	1	0.100	0.625	0.452
CGISIS	MDAS	1.279	1	1.279	0.503	0.498
	MDAW	0.096	1	0.096	0.600	0.461
CGIGIS	MDAS	0.856	1	0.856	0.337	0.578
	MDAW	0.036	1	0.036	0.222	0.650
CGISIW	MDAS	2.016	1	2.016	0.792	0.399
	MDAW	0.029	1	0.029	0.178	0.684
CGIGIW	MDAS	0.985	1	0.985	0.387	0.551
	MDAW	0.052	1	0.052	0.322	0.586
Gender	MDAS	0.301	1	0.301	0.118	0.740
	MDAW	0.226	1	0.226	1.410	0.269
Smoking status	MDAS	1.701	1	1.701	0.668	0.437
	MDAW	0.449	1	0.449	2.798	0.133
Treatment	MDAS	0.317	1	0.317	0.125	0.733
	MDAW	0.119	1	0.119	0.740	0.415
Gender × Smoking status	MDAS	0.045	1	0.045	0.018	0.897
	MDAW	0.003	1	0.003	0.019	0.894
Gender × Treatment	MDAS	0.814	1	0.814	0.320	0.587
	MDAW	0.084	1	0.084	0.523	0.490

BMI, Body Mass Index; CGISIS, Clinical Global Impression Severity of Illness in Summer; CGIGIS, Clinical Global Impression Global Improvement in Summer; CGISIW, Clinical Global Impression Severity of Illness in Winter; CGIGIW, Clinical Global Impression Global Improvement in Winter.

Discussion

As far as we know, our results show for the first time that serum MDA levels in chronic stable treated paranoid schizophrenic outpatients have a winter/ summer pattern of formation, with 33.9% higher MDA levels in summer than winter. No paper published until now (Bindoli et al. 1987; McCreadie et al. 1995; Brown et al. 1998; Mahadik et al. 1998; SSRG 2000; Akyol et al. 2002; Khan et al. 2002; Kuloglu et al. 2002; Arvindakshan et al. 2003a, b, Ranjekar et al. 2003; Dakhale et al. 2004; Gama et al. 2006; Zhang et al. 2006) has taken into account this effect. The reasons for such fluctuations are unknown, but seasonal variations in several biological parameters have been reported (Wirtz-Justice and Richter 1979). Seasonal variations of melatonin synthesis, with higher levels in winter than summer, have also been reported (Morera and Abreu 2006). MDA is an end product of lipid peroxidation, while melatonin has antioxidant properties (Reiter et al. 1995). The relation between antioxidants and prooxidants is in a continuous dynamic equilibrium (Halliwell et al. 1996) and an inverse relationship between melatonin and MDA has been reported (Morera and Abreu 2007).

Therefore, though speculative, an inverse relationship between MDA and melatonin may be a possible explanation. In summer, when melatonin levels are lower, MDA levels are higher. On the other hand, in winter, it is just the opposite: when melatonin levels are higher, MDA levels are lower. Animal experimental data also seem to support this hypothesis. Tunez et al. (2003) have shown that light stimulation, the main inhibitor of melatonin secretion, increases MDA formation, and in summer humans are exposed to more hours of sunlight and more intense light than in winter, when daytime is shorter and light is less intense.

Anticoagulant type (Knight et al. 1987), smoking (Block et al. 2002), gender (Knight et al. 1987; Kharb and Ghalaut 2003) and age (Knight et al. 1987; Kharb et al. 2003) have been described as affecting MDA levels in healthy subjects.

Knight et al. (1987) reported that in healthy donors EDTA plasma MDA levels were lower than heparin, sodium citrate and CPDA plasma MDA ones. Four studies (SSRG 2000; Khan et al. 2002; Arvindakshan et al. 2003; Ranjekar et al. 2003a) used EDTA vacutainer tubes to collect blood. In two papers there were no differences in TBARS levels between schizophrenic patients and healthy controls (SSRG 2000; Ranjekar et al. 2003), while in the other two papers (Khan et al. 2002; Arvindakshan et al. 2003a), schizophrenics had higher levels of MDA than the controls. As in the four studies, patients and controls blood samples were collected in tubes containing EDTA, the same bias is present in both samples of subjects. The fact that we used tubes without anticoagulant for collecting blood has to be taken into account. Thus, we used tubes without anticoagulant, so our results are free of this kind of bias.

Smoking has also been reported to affect MDA levels. Smokers have higher MDA blood levels than non-smokers (Block et al. 2002). We did not find any effect of smoking on MDA levels. Our results are in accordance with the results of Akyol et al. (2002) and Kropp et al. (2005), but are contrary to the results of the SSRG (2000) study which that found that MDA levels were higher in smokers than non-smoker patients, although this difference was not present in the control group. Methodological differences may explain this lack of coherence of results. While Block et al. (2002) measured the level of cotinine, the metabolite of nicotine, the rest of the studies "measured" smoking by questioning the subjects whether or not they smoked.

The effect of the gender on MDA level is quite controversial. Knight et al. (1987) studied 230 male and 148 female healthy subjects, finding that men had significantly higher levels of MDA than women. On the other hand, Kharb (2003) studied MDA blood level in 80 male and 120 female volunteers. They found that women had significantly higher MDA levels than men. We did not find any effect of gender on MDA level. Our results are in accordance with the results of Mahadik et al. (1998), Akyol et al. (2002), Arvindakshan et al. (2003a) and Kropp et al. (2005). Zhang et al. (2006) found no effect of gender on MDA levels in the control group but female schizophrenics had higher MDA level than male schizophrenics.

Older healthy subjects had higher blood MDA levels than younger subjects (Knight et al. 1987; Kharb et al. 2003). We did not find any effect of age on MDA levels in accordance with the results of Mahadik et al. (1998) and Arvindakshan et al. (2003). Sample size may explain these differences. While in the studies of Knight et al. (1987) and Kharb et al. (2003) the samples sizes were 378 and 200 subjects, respectively, the samples of the other studies were comparatively lower, 23 patients in our study, 26 patients in the study of Mahadik et al. (1998) and 52 patients in the study of Arvindakshan et al. (2003a). However, Block et al. (2002) did not find an association between age and MDA levels in a sample of 292 healthy subjects. So the relation between age and MDA is not as simple as we initially believed.

The clinical type of schizophrenia and the type of treatment are among the variables that have been reported affecting MDA levels. Akyol et al. (2002) studies the TBARS levels in a sample of disorganized, paranoid and residual schizophrenics. Only the TBARS level of the residual schizophrenics was significantly higher than the healthy controls. Zhang et al. (2006) reported that paranoid, disorganized and residual schizophrenic patients had higher MDA level than healthy controls, but there were no significant differences in MDA levels among the schizophrenic subgroups. Our sample was comprised of only paranoid schizophrenics, so our data were not subjected to this possible bias.

It has been reported that schizophrenic patients on clozapine had higher MDA level than those on haloperidol (Gama et al. 2006). However, Zhang et al. (2006) found no difference in MDA levels among patients on clozapine, risperidone and typical antipsychotics. Our results are in accordance with those of the Zhang et al. (2006) study, we did not find differences in MDA levels between patients on typical or atypical antipsychotic.

Illness duration (Arvindakhan et al. 2005; Kropp et al. 2005) and age at onset (Krop et al. 2005) do not affect MDA levels. Our results are in consonance with the previous research results.

The most plausible explanation as to why our results were not affected by the previously mentioned variables is due to the methodological design, an intra-subject design; thus all subjects' comparisons were made against themselves.

The major limitation of our study is the small sample size. Although we obtained significant differences in MDA levels between winter and summer, a type I error cannot be completely excluded. The lack of a control group may be argued as a weakness of our study, although according to our objective it was unnecessary. The possible effect of eating habits on our results cannot be completely excluded, despite the fact that we asked the patients not to change their eating habits. The absence of changes in BMI during the study points to the lack of dramatic changes in our patients' diet. On the other hand, the fact that our research has been carried out using an intra-subject design, with repeated measures, in subjects on a stable treatment, points to internal consistency in our results.

To conclude, our results show that MDA presents a winter/summer rhythm of formation, with higher levels in summer and lower levels in winter. The variation in seasonal MDA levels should be taken into account when researching into this field.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

References

- Akyol O, Herken H, Uz E, et al. 2002. The indices of endogenous oxidative and antioxidative processes in plasma from schizophrenic patients. The possible role of oxidant/antioxidant imbalance. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 26:995–1005.
- Arvindakshan M, Sitasawad S, Debsikdar V, et al. 2003a. Essential polyunsaturated fatty acid and lipid peroxide levels in never-medicated and medicated schizophrenia patients. Biol Psychiatry 53:56–64.
- Arvindakshan M, Ghate M, Ranjekar PK, Evans DR, Mahadik SP. 2003b. Supplementation with a combination of omega-3 fatty acids and antioxidants (vitamins E and C) improves the outcome of schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 62:195–204.
- Bindoli A, Rigobello MP, Cavallini L, Dalla LA, Galzigna L. 1987. Decrease of serum malondialdehyde in patients treated with chlorpromazine. Clin Chim Acta 169:329–332.
- Block G, Dietrich M, Norkus EP, et al. 2002. Factors associated with oxidative stress in human populations. Am J Epidemiol 156:274–285.
- Brown K, Reid A, White T, et al. 1998. Vitamin E, lipids, and lipid peroxidation products in tardive dyskinesia. Biol Psychiatry 43:863–867.
- Dakhale G, Khanzode S, Khanzode S, Saoji A, Khobragade L, Turankar A. 2004. Oxidative damage and schizophrenia: the potential benefit by atypical antipsychotics. Neuropsychobiology 49:205–209.
- Gama CS, Salvador M, Andreazza AC, Kapczinski F, Belmontede-Abreu P. 2006. Elevated serum superoxide dismutase and thiobarbituric acid reactive substances in schizophrenia: a study of patients treated with haloperidol or clozapine. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 30:512–515.
- Gawel S, Wardas M, Niedworok E, Wardas P. 2004. Malondialdehyde (MDA) as a lipid peroxidation marker. Wiad Lek 57:453–455.
- Grignon S, Chianetta JM. 2007. Assessment of malondialdehyde levels in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis and some methodological considerations. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 31:365–369.
- Guy W. 1976. ECDEU assessment manual for psychopharmacology. Washington, DC: US Department of Health, Education, and Welfare publication (ADM), Goverment Printing Office.
- Halliwell B. 1996. Antioxidants in human health and disease. Annu Rev Nutr 16:33–50.
- Khan MM, Evans DR, Gunna V, Scheffer RE, Parikh VV, Mahadik SP. 2002. Reduced erythrocyte membrane essential fatty acids and increased lipid peroxides in schizophrenia at the

never-medicated first-episode of psychosis and after years of treatment with antipsychotics. Schizophr Res 58:1–10.

- Kharb S, Ghalaut VS. 2003. Plasma lipoperoxides: a preliminary reference range. Indian J Med Sci 57:105–107.
- Kikugawa K, Kojima T, Yamaki S, Kosugi H. 1992. Interpretation of the thiobarbituric acid reactivity of rat liver and brain homogenates in the presence of ferric ion and ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid. Anal Biochem 202:249–255.
- Knight JA, Smith SE, Kinder VE, Anstall HB. 1987. Reference intervals for plasma lipoperoxides: age-, sex-, and specimenrelated variations. Clin Chem 33:2289–2291.
- Kuloglu M, Ustundag B, Atmaca M, Canatan H, Tezcan AE, Cinkilinc N. 2002. Lipid peroxidation and antioxidant enzyme levels in patients with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Cell Biochem Funct 20:171–175.
- Mahadik SP, Mukherjee S, Scheffer R, Correnti EE, Mahadik JS. 1998. Elevated plasma lipid peroxides at the onset of nonaffective psychosis. Biol Psychiatry 43:674–679.
- McCreadie RG, MacDonald E, Wiles D, Campbell G, Paterson JR. 1995. The Nithsdale Schizophrenia Surveys. XIV: Plasma lipid peroxide and serum vitamin E levels in patients with and without tardive dyskinesia, and in normal subjects. Br J Psychiatry 167:610–617.
- Morera AL, Abreu P. 2006. Seasonality of psychopathology and circannual melatonin rhythm. J Pineal Res 41:279–283.
- Morera AL, Abreu P. 2007. Daytime/night-time and summer/ winter melatonin and malondialdehyde rhythms: an inverse relationship. J Pineal Res 43:313–314.
- Ranjekar PK, Hinge A, Hegde MV, et al. 2003. Decreased antioxidant enzymes and membrane essential polyunsaturated fatty acids in schizophrenic and bipolar mood disorder patients. Psychiatry Res 121:109–122.
- Reddy RD, Yao JK. 1996. Free radical pathology in schizophrenia: a review. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 55:33–43.
- Reiter RJ, Melchiorri D, Sewerynek E, et al. 1995. A review of the evidence supporting melatonin's role as an antioxidant. J Pineal Res 18:1–11.
- Schmidt AJ, Krieg JC, Vedder H. 2005. Antioxidative and steroid systems in neurological and psychiatric disorders. World J Biol Psychiatry 6:26–35.
- Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, et al. 1998. The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.): the development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. J Clin Psychiatry 59(Suppl 20):22–33.
- SSRG. 2000. Smoking habits and plasma lipid peroxide and vitamin E levels in never-treated first-episode patients with schizophrenia. Scottish Schizophrenia Research Group. Br J Psychiatry 176:290–293.
- Tunez I, del Carmen MM, Feijoo M, Valdelvira ME, Munoz-Castaneda J, Montilla P. 2003. Melatonin effect on renal oxidative stress under constant light exposure. Cell Biochem Funct 21:35–40.
- Wirz-Justice A, Richter R. 1979. Seasonality in biochemical determinations: a source of variance and a clue to the temporal incidence of affective illness. Psychiatry Res 1:53–60.
- Zhang XY, Tan YL, Cao et al. 2006. Antioxidant enzymes and lipid peroxidation in different forms of schizophrenia treated with typical and atypical antipsychotics. Schizophr Res 81:291– 300.



BRIEF REPORT

Development of 5-HT transporter density and long-term effects of methylphenidate in an animal model of ADHD

VEIT ROESSNER, TILL MANZKE, ANDREAS BECKER, ARIBERT ROTHENBERGER & NATHALIE BOCK

Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, University of Goettingen, Goettingen, Germany

Abstract

Although stimulants as the treatment of choice are widely prescribed in ADHD, little is known about their long-term neurobiological effects. Hence, for the first time the present study examined the long-term effect of chronic methylphenidate (MPH) administration on striatal 5-hydroxytryptamine transporter (5-HTT) densities in an animal model of ADHD. First, it compared the normal development of striatal 5-HTT densities of spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR) as an animal model of ADHD and Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats as controls; binding of the highly selective ligand of 5-HTT [³H]paroxetine was determined on membrane preparations of the striatum of SHR and WKY rats on postnatal days 25, 50, and 90, i.e. from the time of weaning until adulthood. Second, the long-term effects of chronic administration of 2 mg/kg per day MPH at two different developmental stages (days 25–39 or 50–64) on the striatal 5-HTT density in adulthood could be ruled out in both rat strains at day 90. Long-term effects of MPH treatment on striatal 5-HTT density in adulthood could be ruled out in both healthy (WKY) and "ADHD" rats (SHR). But a higher striatal 5-HTT density in older SHR versus WKY rats might indicate ADHD specific changes in the 5-HT system that needs further investigation not only in animals.

Key words: ADHD, serotonin transporter, methylphenidate, spontaneously hypertensive rat

Introduction

Although methylphenidate (MPH) is the most prescribed therapeutic agent for attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and affected children may be treated with MPH for years (Kollins and March 2007), little is known about the long-term neurobiological adaptations resulting from MPH exposure during this highly plastic and sensitive period of brain maturation (Grund et al. 2006). Its positive effects seem to be mediated mainly by increasing dopamine levels while blocking dopamine transporter (DAT) (Pliszka 2005). Hence, we followed the suggestion of Volkow and Insel (2003) to study animal models that mimic ADHD in order to determine the extent to which synaptic changes might take place when MPH is given. In spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR) as the best studied animal model of ADHD we found an increased DAT density in the striatum at different developmental stages that was decreased in adult SHR by prepubertal treatment with MPH for 2 weeks (Roessner et al. 2008). But possible long-term changes of MPH treatment in the serotonergic system are also of high interest because several human genetic (Albayrak et al. 2008) and neurochemical (Liu and Reichelt 2001) as well as animal behavioural studies (Oades 2007) indicated serotonin's (5-HT) involvement in the pathophysiology of ADHD. For example, exposing rodents to MPH during preadolescence resulted in increased depressionlike behaviours in adulthood manifested in enhanced vulnerability to stressful environments and anxietyeliciting situations, as well as reduced reactivity to natural rewards (Bolanos et al. 2003; Carlezon et al. 2003). These behavioural deficits could be reversed by subsequent treatment with a selective 5-HT reuptake inhibitor (Bolanos et al. 2008). Nevertheless, the long-term influence of MPH on 5-HT metabolism including the 5-HT transporter (5-HTT) remains unclear.

In view of the close interactions between the dopaminergic and 5-HT system in the striatum and the dorsal raphe–striatal 5-HT projection system (Soghomonian et al. 1987) the present study

Correspondence: Dr Nathalie Bock, Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, University of Goettingen, Von-Siebold Strasse 5, 37075 Goettingen, Germany. Tel: +49 551 396610. Fax: +49 551 398120. E-mail: nbock@gwdg.de

(Received 7 August 2008; accepted 24 November 2008)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970802653709

sought to determine the striatal 5-HTT development in SHR and normal (Wistar Kyoto; WKY) rats as well as the long-term influence of MPH treatment on their striatal 5-HTT density.

Materials and methods

Experimental animals

Animal experiments were performed in accordance with German laws for the care and use of experimental animals (as approved by the Bezirksregierung Braunschweig, License AZ: 509.42502/01-08.00). SHR and WKY rats were obtained from a commercial breeder and used for further breeding in our own environmentally conditioned animal facility under standardized conditions. After mating, the dams were housed in single cages with free access to food and water. After weaning, the young rats (only male rats were used) were placed in separate cages, two per cage.

For studying the development of striatal 5-HTT density we took groups of six rats each and decapitated them at the age of 25 (preadolescence), 50 (late adolescence/young adulthood) and 90 days (adulthood).

In the second experiment, a 2-week MPH treatment was started in two groups of rats (WKY, N=6and SHR, N=6) at day 25, in two other groups (WKY, N=6 and SHR, N=6) at day 50. MPH was administered via the freely accessible drinking water for a period of 2 weeks. The dose of MPH was adjusted to 2 mg/kg per day based on daily monitoring of amounts consumed by the two rats per cage and their body weight. These amounts were about 10% of body weight and remained unaffected by the addition of MPH. Littermates (WKY, N=6; SHR, N=6) served as controls and received normal tap water. All rats were decapitated at day 90.

Sample preparation and ligand binding assays

For detailed information see Bock et al. (2005). Briefly, all rats were killed by decapitation at noon, brains were quickly frozen and stored at -80° C. The frozen striatae (100–150 mg) were homogenized for 10 s in 5 vol of ice-cold PBS (potassium phosphate 10 mM plus 0.9% NaCl, pH 7.4, containing 0.1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF) and 0.02% thimerosal). The pellets were resuspended in 30 vol of ice-cold buffer (50 mM Tris– HCl, pH 7.4, containing 120 mM NaCl and 5 mM KCl). After low speed centrifugation (1000 × g, 20 min, 4°C), the supernatants were centrifuged again at 40,000 × g for 10 min at 4°C. The pellets were washed twice in the same buffer and the final pellets were resuspended in buffer to give a final concentration of 60 mg wet weight/ml.

For measurements of [³H]paroxetine binding (as a measure of 5-HTT density), aliquots of the stored membrane suspensions were further diluted to 20 mg wet weight/ml in Tris-buffer (0.2–0.3 mg protein/ml) containing 120 mM NaCl and 5 mM KCl, and incubated for 2 h at room temperature with [³H]paroxetine (specifity activity: 20.2 Ci/mmol) in the absence or presence of 225 μ M 5-HT for the estimation of specific binding. The reaction mixture consisted of 100 ml membrane suspension (20–30 mg protein), 100 ml of [³H]paroxetine containing buffer (six concentrations covering a range of final ligand concentrations in the assay system from 0.05 to 1.00 nM), and 100 ml buffer or 5-HT solution in buffer.

After incubation, the reaction mixtures were readily filtered through Wathman GF/B filters using a 12-channel cell harvester. The radioactivity trapped by the filters was determined by liquid scintillation spectroscopy.

Data analysis and statistics

Nonparametric statistics were used due to the small sample size. The statistical significance of differences between the means of [³H]paroxetine-binding within each rat strain were tested by Kruskal–Wallis one-way analyses of variance by ranks. Additionally, post-hoc pairwise Mann–Whitney *U*-tests (two-tailed) were computed. The level of significance was set at *P* values <0.05. All analyses were carried out using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS version 11.5, 2004).

Results

For the development of striatal $[{}^{3}H]$ paroxetinebinding we found a significant decrease from day 25 to day 50 followed by an increase until day 90 in both rat strains (Figure 1). While there was no difference between both strains comparing day 25, we found a significant higher binding of $[{}^{3}H]$ paroxetine in SHR compared to WKY rats at days 50 and 90 (Table I).

In terms of treatment with MPH no significant changes in striatal [³H]paroxetine-binding could be observed (Table II).

Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study addressing the development of striatal 5-HTT density in SHR as well as the influence of two-week MPH treatment. In untreated SHR and WKY control rats striatal



Figure 1. Development of [³H]paroxetine binding (as a measure of 5-HT transporter density) in the striatum of non-medicated Wistar Kyoto (WKY) and spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR) measured at days 25, 50 and 90. For statistics see Table I.

5-HTT density slightly decreased from day 25 (accordingly preadolescence) to 50 (accordingly late adolescence) followed by an increase until day 90 (accordingly adulthood) exceeding the density at day 25. While at day 25 no significant difference was observed between both strains, the striatal 5-HTT density was higher in SHR than in WKY rats at day 50 and 90.

In accordance with our results, Moll et al. (2000) found only a trend for an age-associated increase of striatal 5-HTT density in WKY rats. Their observed moderate increase of 5.4% from day 25 to day 90 was less pronounced than that in the present study (12% day 25 to day 90). This slight difference could be ascribed possibly to differences within one strain as seen, e.g., also in tissue levels of 5-HT in the ventral striatum of WKY rats identical in strain, age and gender (Schwarting et al. 1998). Furthermore, in another rat model of ADHD, i.e. 6-OHDAlesioned rats, increased striatal 5-HTT density compared to control rats as well as an increase with age in both strains was found (Zhang et al. 2002). This age-dependent increase of striatal 5-HTT has been linked to hyperactivity as a core symptom of ADHD. In SHR (van den Bergh et al. 2006) as well as 6-OHDA-lesioned rats (Zhang et al. 2002) hyperactivity was present only during early development (day 30 and day 24), and not in adulthood (day 59 and day 58). Similarly, the higher striatal 5-HTT in older SHR compared to WKY rats has been linked to impulsivity as another core symptom of ADHD, e.g., impulsivity measured by an intertemporal choice procedure was not different between SHR and WKY rats of young age (40 days old, Adriani et al. 2003) but elevated in adult SHR (8 months old, Fox et al. 2008).

However, these behavioural findings have not been consistent due to methodological differences and the fact that hyperactivity and impulsivity are fractionated in terms of behavioural output, neural basis and neurochemical modulation (Oades et al. 2002; Winstanley et al. 2006). In addition, relating the found age-dependent increase of striatal 5-HTT to behavioural abnormalities is highly speculative because the 5-HT system is very complex (e.g., numerous types of 5-HT receptors have been identified) and still poorly understood (Oades 2007).

Nevertheless, the found developmental course of striatal 5-HTT density in SHR and WKY rats might explain why numerous experiments in rodents demonstrated that stimulants improve impulse control in juvenile animals but failed to decrease, and in most cases increased, impulsive-like behaviour in adult ones (Bizot et al. 2007). This speculation implies a stronger serotonergic component of the impulsive-like behaviour in adult than in infantile and adolescent rodents. In summary, the found developmental course of striatal 5-HTT emphasizes once again that age should be considered when interpreting rat studies on behaviour and neurotransmitter systems in ADHD, because the age or stage of development of the different neurotransmitter components may confound the interpretation of their relationship (Oades 2007).

In both rat strains MPH treatment at different developmental stages had no influence on striatal 5-HTT density measured in adulthood (day 90). To our knowledge there are no comparable neurobiological data in literature, but the present finding of unchanged striatal 5-HTT density indicates that other factors might underlie the increased depression-like behaviours in rodents exposed to MPH during preadolescence reducible by treatment with a selective 5-HT reuptake inhibitor (Bolanos et al. 2008).

Although the sample size of the present study is in the common range of comparable animal studies, the fact that difference in striatal 5-HTT density between the rat strains missed the level of significance in both MPH treatment conditions might possibly be due to the high biological variation and should be regarded as a limitation of the present data.

In conclusion, there seem to be age-dependent changes in striatal 5-HTT density in both SHR and WKY rats resulting in increased striatal 5-HTT density in older ages. The higher striatal 5-HTT density in older SHR compared to WKY rats might indicate ADHD specific changes in the 5-HT system. In addition, this pilot study indicates that MPH has no long-term effect on striatal 5-HTT density in both healthy (WKY) and "ADHD" rats (SHR). But these preliminary findings need further investigation not only in animals.

taole 1. Development of [r.]paroxeune onton	ng (as a measure of)-	dsup 1 Hansp	orter density)	in the striaturn of unine	dicated W.Y.I and Mr.I.R. measur Pairwise Mann-W	bitney U-tests (two-tailed) days.
[³ H]Paroxetine binding (fmol/mg protein) in the striatum of	Day 25 M (SD)	Day 50 M (SD)	Day 90 M (SD)	K-W rang-VA ^a P	Day 25/day 50 P	Day 25/day 90 P	Day 50/day 90 P
WKY rats SHR rats WKY vs. SHR ^b	932 (31) 951 (29) 0.521	776 (35) 847 (29) 0.006**	1152 (29) 1271 (25) 0.004**	0.001***	0.004**	0.004**	0.004** 0.004**
*** $P \leq 0.001$; ** $P \leq 0.01$. ^a K-W rang-VA, Kruskal-Wallis one-way analysi ^b Pairwise Mann-Whitney <i>U</i> -tests (two-tailed).	is of variance by rank	å					

90.
ay (
ıt d
ed 8
sur
nea
и 0
1y 5
r dɛ
20
y 2
: da
d ai
irte
: ste
lent
atn
tre
Ηd
M
veek
2-и
<i>'</i> ith
R
SH
pu
Хa
WK
of v
um
riat
e st
t th
ii
sity
den
ter
por
ansj
Ц
H-
of 5
re
asu
me
as a
<u>بة</u> ش
din
bin
ine
oxet
parc
Ē
[³]
H.
able
Ĥ

					Pairwise N	lann-Whitney U-tests (two	-tailed)
[³ H]Paroxetine binding (ffmol/mg protein) in the striatum of	MPH treatment at day 25 M (SD)	MPH treatment at day 50 M (SD)	Unmedicated controls M (SD)	K-W rang-VA P ^a	MPH at day 25/MPH at day 50 P	MPH at day 25/unmed. controls P	MPH at day 50/unmed. controls P
WKY rats SHR rats WKY vs. SHR ^b	1066 (121) 1163 (92) 0.200	$1122 (96) \\1143 (31) \\0.749$	1106 (28) 1213 (83) 0.037*	0.641 0.236	0.423 0.522	0.423 0.262	0.87 <i>3</i> 0.109

* P \leq 0.05. "K-W rang-VA, Kruskal–Wallis one-way analysis of variance by ranks. "Pairwise Mann–Whitney U-tests (two-tailed).

Acknowledgements

We would like to express our thanks to Professor Gerald Hüther for providing the equipment and for technical support.

Statement of interest

The authors have not declared any conflicts of interest.

References

- Adriani W, Caprioli A, Granstrem O, Carli M, Laviola G. 2003. The spontaneously hypertensive-rat as an animal model of ADHD: evidence for impulsive and non-impulsive subpopulations. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 27:639–651.
- Albayrak O, Friedel S, Schimmelmann BG, Hinney A, Hebebrand J. 2008. Genetic aspects in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Neural Transm 115:305–315.
- Bizot JC, Chenault N, Houze B, Herpin A, David S, Pothion S, Trovero F. 2007. Methylphenidate reduces impulsive behaviour in juvenile Wistar rats, but not in adult Wistar, SHR and WKY rats. Psychopharmacology (Berlin) 193:215–223.
- Bock N, Quentin DJ, Huther G, Moll GH, Banaschewski T, Rothenberger A. 2005. Very early treatment with fluoxetine and reboxetine causing long-lasting change of the serotonin but not the noradrenaline transporter in the frontal cortex of rats. World J Biol Psychiatry 6:107–112.
- Bolanos CA, Barrot M, Berton O, Wallace-Black D, Nestler EJ. 2003. Methylphenidate treatment during pre- and periadolescence alters behavioral responses to emotional stimuli at adulthood. Biol Psychiatry 54:1317–1329.
- Bolanos CA, Willey MD, Maffeo ML, Powers KD, Kinka DW, Grausam KB, Henderson RP. 2008. Antidepressant treatment can normalize adult behavioral deficits induced by early-life exposure to methylphenidate. Biol Psychiatry 63:309–316.
- Carlezon WA Jr, Mague SD, Andersen SL. 2003. Enduring behavioral effects of early exposure to methylphenidate in rats. Biol Psychiatry 54:1330–1337.
- Fox AT, Hand DJ, Reilly MP. 2008. Impulsive choice in a rodent model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Behav Brain Res 187:146–152.
- Grund T, Lehmann K, Bock N, Rothenberger A, Teuchert-Noodt G. 2006. Influence of methylphenidate on brain development –

An update of recent animal experiments. Behav Brain Funct 2:2.

- Kollins SH, March JS. 2007. Advances in the pharmacotherapy of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Biol Psychiatry 62:951– 953.
- Liu Y, Reichelt KL. 2001. A serotonin uptake-stimulating tetrapeptide found in urines from ADHD children. World J Biol Psychiatry 2:144–148.
- Moll GH, Mehnert C, Wicker M, Bock N, Rothenberger A, Ruther E, Huether G. 2000. Age-associated changes in the densities of presynaptic monoamine transporters in different regions of the rat brain from early juvenile life to late adulthood. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 119:251–257.
- Oades RD. 2007. Role of the serotonin system in ADHD: treatment implications. Expert Rev Neurother 7:1357–1374.
- Oades RD, Slusarek M, Velling S, Bondy B. 2002. Serotonin platelet-transporter measures in childhood attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): clinical versus experimental measures of impulsivity. World J Biol Psychiatry 3:96–100.
- Pliszka SR. 2005. The neuropsychopharmacology of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. Biol Psychiatry 57:1385–1390.
- Roessner V, Sagvolden T, Manzke T, Becker A, Rothenberger A, Bock N. 2008. d, 1-Methylphenidate normalizes elevated dopamine transporter density in an animal model of ADHD combined type, but not in one of ADHD inattentive type. submitted.
- Schwarting RK, Thiel CM, Muller CP, Huston JP. 1998. Relationship between anxiety and serotonin in the ventral striatum. Neuroreport 9:1025–1029.
- Soghomonian JJ, Doucet G, Descarries L. 1987. Serotonin innervation in adult rat neostriatum. I. Quantified regional distribution. Brain Res 425:85–100.
- van den Bergh FS, Bloemarts E, Chan JS, Groenink L, Olivier B, Oosting RS. 2006. Spontaneously hypertensive rats do not predict symptoms of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 83:380–390.
- Volkow ND, Insel TR. 2003. What are the long-term effects of methylphenidate treatment? Biol Psychiatry 54:1307–1309.
- Winstanley CA, Eagle DM, Robbins TW. 2006. Behavioral models of impulsivity in relation to ADHD: translation between clinical and preclinical studies. Clin Psychol Rev 26:379–395.
- Zhang K, Davids E, Tarazi FI, Baldessarini RJ. 2002. Serotonin transporter binding increases in caudate-putamen and nucleus accumbens after neonatal 6-hydroxydopamine lesions in rats: implications for motor hyperactivity. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 137:135–138.



BRIEF REPORT

The impact of one session of HF-rTMS on salivary cortisol in healthy female subjects

CHRIS BAEKEN¹, RUDI DE RAEDT², LEMKE LEYMAN², JOHAN SCHIETTECATTE³, KRIS POPPE⁴, LEON KAUFMAN⁵, MARGOT HAES¹, MARIE-ANNE VANDERHASSELT², ELLEN ANCKAERT³ & HUGO D'HAENEN¹

¹Department of Psychiatry, Academic Hospital, Free University of Brussels, UZBrussel, Belgium, ²Department of Psychology, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium, ³Laboratory of Radioimmunology, Academic Hospital, Free University of Brussels, UZBrussel, Belgium, ⁴Department of Endocrinology, Academic Hospital, Free University of Brussels, UZBrussel, Belgium, and ⁵Department of Biostatistics & Medical Informatics, Free University of Brussels, Brussels, Belgium

Abstract

Previous studies in healthy volunteers reported a possible impact of high frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (HF-rTMS) on stress hormones, like cortisol. In this sham-controlled, "single blind", crossover study, we examined whether HF-rTMS had an effect on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, by analysing salivary cortisol levels. Two studies were conducted. First, HF-rTMS on the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) was performed in 28 young healthy female volunteers. Second, in a comparable, but different group of 26 healthy females, HF-rTMS was performed on the right DLPFC. Salivary cortisol levels were assessed before, immediately after and 30 min after real and sham HF-rTMS. We found no support for the hypothesis that one single session of HF-rTMS on the left or the right DLPFC has an immediate or delayed impact on the HPA-axis, as measured by salivary cortisol. Although we controlled for several methodological problems in HF-rTMS research, the hypothesis that one single session of HF-rTMS on the left or on the right DLPFC can influence the HPA-axis in healthy volunteers was not supported.

Key words: *HF-rTMS*, salivary cortisol, healthy volunteers

Introduction

HF-rTMS on the DLPFC is currently used to treat affective disorders or as an experimental tool to investigate neurocognitive processes in healthy volunteers (Burt et al. 2002). An important aspect of the physiology of HF-rTMS could be related to the endocrinological response of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA)-axis, such as cortisol secretion (Evers et al. 2001). Indeed, animal models suggest that rTMS on frontal brain regions attenuates the HPA system (Ji et al. 1998; Keck 2001; Hedges et al. 2003). A hypothesis on the underlying mechanism for its efficacy of the treatment of affective disorders could be that HF-rTMS induces endocrinological changes through its influence on cortico-subcortical neuronal connectivity (Post and Keck 2001).

Few studies examined the endocrinological HFrTMS response on the HPA system in healthy volunteers. George et al. (1996) found in their open study that serum cortisol mean levels increased slightly 30 min after right and left prefrontal stimulation and then declined. Evers et al. (2001) observed only serum cortisol effects using infrathreshold HF-rTMS on the left DLPFC. The same volunteers (both men and women) were stimulated three times a day, so possibly sex differences and successive stimulation sessions could have biased their results (Otte et al. 2005). Also in healthy subjects, rTMS effects on thyroid function were only observed in the suprathreshold condition and recent data in the treatment of affective disorders indicates that suprathreshold rTMS has superior outcome results (Cohrs et al. 1998; Gershon et al. 2003).

Correspondence: Dr Chris Baeken, Department of Psychiatry, University Hospital, Free University of Brussels (VUB), Laarbeeklaan 101, 1090 Brussels, Belgium. Tel: +32 2477 6425. Fax: +32 2477 6407. E-mail: chris.baeken@uzbrussel.be

(Received 13 March 2007; accepted 5 July 2007)

ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970701560351
This sham-controlled study tried to evaluate the lateralized effects of one single session of suprathreshold HF-rTMS on the HPA-axis, measured with easy to obtain salivary cortisol samples. Salivary cortisol correlates highly with serum levels and represents the free, biologically active fraction of the hormone (Vining and McGinley 1986). Salivary cortisol responses can be observed 5-20 min after stress induction, with peak levels after 10-30 min (Kudielka and Kirschbaum 2005). It might be more indicative than serum total cortisol, because salivary cortisol, largely unbound, is independent of cortisol binding globulin (CBG) variations (Lac 2001). We applied HF-rTMS on both the right and left DLPFC in two different but comparable homogeneous samples of healthy female volunteers, stimulating just one cortical region in each participant. Importantly, as proposed by Herwig et al. (2001), taking into account anatomical brain differences, we determined the left and right DLPFC under MRI guidance. We hypothesized that compared to sham and regardless of hemisphere, one single session of HF-rTMS would be related to an increase of salivary cortisol.

Materials and subjects

Subjects

The choice of heterogeneous subject sampling could be an important methodological issue in TMS research (Martin et al. 2003). We chose to use uniform groups of young female subjects because age and gender might induce too much variability in our data. Both groups consisted of healthy, righthanded female volunteers recruited among medical and psychology students, receiving HF-rTMS on the left DLPFC (n = 28, mean age 24.7 \pm 5.9 years) or HF-rTMS on the right DLPFC (n = 26, mean age 25.11 \pm 4.79 years).

Psychiatric disorders were excluded using the Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI; Sheehan et al. 1998). Safety guidelines of the International Society of Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (ISTS) were followed (Anand and Hotson 2002). No drugs were allowed, except birth-control pills. The ethics committee of the Academic Hospital of the Free University of Brussels approved the study and all subjects gave written informed consent. Subjects were financially compensated.

Salivary cortisol sampling

Saliva samples were collected using a Salivette (Sarstedt, Germany), with an insert containing a sterile polyester swab for collecting saliva, yielding a

clear and particle-free sample. The salivettes were used according to the instructions provided by the manufacturer. Salivettes containing saliva were centrifuged at 2000×g for 10 min, and the filtrates were stored frozen (-20° C). Before analysis, the samples were thawed and mixed. Saliva cortisol levels were measured by RIA (Diasorin, Italy), using a modification of an unextracted RIA method for serum cortisol. Briefly, 200 µl saliva were pipetted into the coated tube and incubated with [¹²⁵I]cortisol for 45 min at 37°C. The modified cortisol assay had a measuring range from 0.5–30 µg/l and withinand between-run coefficients of variation of <5 and <10%, respectively.

Study protocol

We used a Magstim high-speed magnetic stimulator (Magstim Company Limited, Wales, UK), connected to a specially designed figure-eight-shaped coil. Before each application, the motor threshold (MT) of the right abductor pollicis brevis muscle of each individual was determined. In order to accurately target the left and right DLPFC (Brodmann area 9/46), the precise stimulation site and position of the coil was determined using MRI non-stereotactic guidance. Perpendicular to this point the precise stimulation site on the skull was marked and stimulated. In each high-frequency (10 Hz) stimulation session, at stimulation intensity of 110% of the subject's MT, subjects received 40 trains of 3.9 s duration, separated by an intertrain interval of 26.1 s. Each session lasted 20 min (1560 pulses per session). For the sham condition, the coil was held at an angle of 90° , only resting on the scalp with one edge. The stimulation order was counterbalanced across subjects. To avoid possible interactions between the two sessions, there was a one week time lag between the real HF-rTMS and the sham procedure. During stimulation, all subjects wore earplugs and were blindfolded.

To obtain a baseline salivary cortisol level each subject delivered a salivette immediately before HFrTMS stimulation (baseline T_1). All subjects then received sham or real rTMS targeted at the left or right DLPFC. All subjects were stimulated in the time interval between 10:00 and 12:00 h. Immediately after stimulation (T_2), participants delivered a second salivette and once more after 30 min (T_3).

Statistical analysis

All results were analysed using SAS version 8.2 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC). The effects of real and sham HF-rTMS on the HPA-axis were analyzed separately using the non-parametric approach for the analyses

Table I. Mean ratings and standard deviations for salivary cortisol (T_1 =just before HF-rTMS, T_2 =just after HF-rTMS, T_3 = 30 min after HF-rTMS) measures for left and right HF-rTMS (real or sham condition) expressed in $\mu g/l$.

	Real	Sham
Time	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)
Left HF-rTMS effects	on salivary cortisol (n =	=28)
T_1	6.35 (3.04)	6.05 (2.87)
T_2	5.84 (2.95)	5.41 (2.39)
T_3	5.21(3.04)	4.72 (1.88)
Right HF- rTMS effect	ts on salivary cortisol (n = 26)
T_1	5.47 (1.80)	6.89 (3.40)
T_2	4.64 (1.48)	5.52 (1.78)
T ₃	4.52 (1.63)	5.48 (2.68)

of a balanced two-period crossover design described by Hills and Armitage (1979).

Results

Salivary cortisol data are presented as arithmetic mean and simple standard deviation in $\mu g/l$ (Table I). Analyses on the salivary cortisol data were performed on the change during HF-rTMS (T₂-T₁), as well as the change observed 30 min after the end of each HF-rTMS session (T₃-T₁).

HF-rTMS on the left DLPFC

The results of the Hills and Armitage nonparametric approach showed no evidence of a stimulation (treatment)-period or sequence effect. The mean difference in salivary cortisol concentrations between T₁ and T₂ after real and sham HFrTMS was $0.12\pm2.26 \ \mu g/l$ (P =0.872, NS). Mean salivary cortisol levels at T₁ were for real HF-rTMS $6.35 \pm 3.04 \,\mu\text{g/l}$ and for sham HF-rTMS $6.05 \pm 2.87 \,\mu\text{g/l}$. Salivary cortisol measurements declined were $5.84 \pm 2.95 \,\mu\text{g/l}$ for real and $5.41 \pm 2.39 \,\mu\text{g/l}$ for sham HF-rTMS at T₂. When considering the salivary cortisol change between T₁ and T₃, measures further declined in both HF-rTMS conditions (Mean salivary cortisol levels at T₃ were $5.21 \pm 3.04 \,\mu\text{g/l}$ for real and $4.72 \pm 1.88 \,\mu\text{g/l}$ for sham HF-rTMS) and no significant difference was observed (P = 0.696, NS). See also Table II.

HF-rTMS on the right DLPFC

Due to two missing values, two volunteers were not included in the statistical analyses. At one of the fixed time points they did not produce enough saliva, needed to be analyzed. The Hills and Armitage approach non-parametric tests also did not demonstrate a stimulation (treatment)-period or sequence effect after one stimulation session on the right DLPFC. Mean difference in salivary cortisol levels immediately after stimulation (T_2-T_1) was $0.73 \pm$ 2.74 μ g/l (P = 0.505, NS). In analogy with the other group of female volunteers, immediately after stimulating the right DLPFC, salivary cortisol levels diminished in both conditions (from $5.47 \pm 1.80 \,\mu\text{g/l}$ for real and from $6.89 \pm 3.40 \,\mu\text{g/l}$ for sham stimulation at T_1 to $4.64 \pm 1.48 \ \mu\text{g/l}$ and $5.52 \pm 1.78 \ \mu\text{g/l}$ at T_2 , respectively). Thirty minutes after stimulation (T_3-T_1) , salivary cortisol values further diminished $(4.52+1.63 \,\mu\text{g/l} \text{ for real and } 5.48+2.68 \,\mu\text{g/l} \text{ for}$ sham stimulation at T₃), and no significant difference between real and sham HF-rTMS was demonstrated (P = 0.271, NS). For details see Table II.

Table II. Data are means \pm SD. Analyses on the salivary cortisol data were performed on the change during HF-rTMS (T₂-T₁), as well as the change observed 30 min after the end of each HF-rTMS session (T₃-T₁). A negative value implies a lowering of that value. *P* values were assessed using methods described by Hills and Armitage (*P*<0.05). For salivary cortisol mean ratings and standard deviations expressed in μ g/L for T₁, T₂ and T₃ see Table I.

HF-rTMS	Real	Sham	Difference (mean±SD)	P value
Left (n=28)	Change on salivary cortisol immediately after one session (T_2-T_1) -0.52 ± 1.71 Change on salivary cortisol 30 min after one session (T_3-T_1) -1.15 ± 2.56	Change on salivary cortisol immediately after one session (T_2-T_1) -0.64 ± 1.38 Change on salivary cortisol 30 min after one session (T_3-T_1) -1.34 ± 1.78	0.12 ± 2.26 0.18 ± 3.07	0.872 0.696
Right (<i>n</i> = 26)	Change on salivary cortisol immediately after one session (T2-T1) -0.70 ± 0.74 Change on salivary cortisol 30 min after one session (T ₃ -T ₁) -0.98 ± 1.17	Change on salivary cortisol immediately after one session (T_2-T_1) -1.43 ± 2.42 Change on salivary cortisol 30 min after one session (T_3-T_1) -1.25 ± 2.53	0.73 ± 2.74 0.27 ± 2.84	0.505

T₁ = just before HF-rTMS, T₂ = just after HF-rTMS, T₃ = 30 min after HF-rTMS.

Even though corrections for individual differences in brain anatomy were anticipated, our results indicate that one single session of HF-rTMS on the left and/or right DLPFC may not be able to influence the HPA –axis in healthy female volunteers. The general decrease in cortisol concentrations under real and sham condition most likely represents the decline during the daytime as part of the circadian variation of cortisol levels (Hanson et al. 2000). Our results are in agreement with former controlled suprathreshold HF-rTMS studies in normal volunteers, using serum cortisol (Evers et al. 2001).

There are some possible explanations for our negative findings. First, HF-rTMS effects on the HPA-axes in unipolar depressed patients are generally found two weeks or more after successful daily HF-rTMS treatment (Zwanzger at al. 2003; Loo and Mitchell 2005). So, one stimulation session may be too short to influence the HPA-axis and the duration of stimulation may be more important than the intensity, as also stated by Evers et al. (2001). Second, another important variable is gender (Kudielka et al. 2004). It is possible that oral contraceptives (OC) and the menstrual cycle phase could have had an impact on salivary measurements: in a study by Kirschbaum et al. (1999), women using OC showed blunted free cortisol responses to psychological stress compared to medication-free women. Almost all of our female volunteers used OC, which might partially explain the lack of salivary cortisol changes due to the higher free cortisol binding. Third, despite the fact that salivary cortisol sampling is not invasive, salivary cortisol measurement produces more variability than does serum cortisol (Reynolds et al. 1998). Fourth, although sham stimulation in our study was performed at a 90° angle, ensuring minimal stimulation of the DLPFC, it is possible that in our study a partially active placebo was used (Loo et al. 2000).

To avoid hormonal bias further HF-rTMS research on the HPA axis would need to be carried out in male volunteers or menstrual cycles should be taken into account in larger samples of healthy females. Besides salivary cortisol both total and free serum cortisol following strict time schedules could be sampled, as put forward by other researchers (Reynolds et al. 1998; Van Duinen et al. 2005). Because cortisol may be affected differently in healthy individuals and depressed patients (Erickson et al. 2003), it remains also of interest to assess the impact of one single session HF-rTMS on the HPAaxis in depressed patients.

Acknowledgements

This research was supported by a grant from the Scientific Fund W. Gepts UZBrussel. The authors wish to acknowledge the contributions of Pamela Dalby of Vesalius College, Brussels for support in language revision. We also wish to thank Prof. Dr. L. Luypaert, Prof. Dr. T. Stadnik, P. Van Schuerbeek and P. Clerinx from the Department of Radiology of the AZ-VUB hospital for technical assistance in data collection and MRI data analyses.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

- Anand S, Hotson J. 2002. Transcranial magnetic stimulation: neurophysiological applications and safety. Brain Cogn 50:366– 386.
- Burt T, Lisanby SH, Sackeim HA. 2002. Neuropsychiatric applications of transcranial magnetic stimulation: a meta analysis. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 5:73–103.
- Cohrs S, Tergau F, Riech S, et al. 1998. High-frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation delays rapid eye movement sleep. Neuroreport 9:3439–3443.
- Erickson K, Drevets W, Schulkin J. 2003. Glucocorticoid regulation of diverse cognitive functions in normal and pathological emotional states. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 27:233–246.
- Evers S, Hengst K, Pecuch PW. 2001. The impact of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on pituitary hormone levels and cortisol in healthy subjects. J Affect Disord 66:83–88.
- George MS, Wassermann EM, Williams WA, et al. 1996. Changes in mood and hormone levels after rapid-rate transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) of the prefrontal cortex. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 8:172–180.
- Gershon AA, Dannon PN, Grunhaus L. 2003. Transcranial magnetic stimulation in the treatment of depression. Am J Psychiatry 160:835–845.
- Hanson EK, Maas CJ, Meijman TF, Godaert GL. 2000. Cortisol secretion throughout the day, perceptions of the work environment, and negative affect. Ann Behav Med 22:316–324.
- Hedges DW, Massari C, Salyer DL, et al. 2003. Duration of transcranial magnetic stimulation effects on the neuroendocrine stress response and coping behavior of adult male rats. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 27:633–638.
- Herwig U, Padberg F, Unger J, Spitzer M, Schonfeldt-Lecuona C. 2001. Transcranial magnetic stimulation in therapy studies: examination of the reliability of "standard" coil positioning by neuronavigation. Biol Psychiatry 50:58–61.
- Hills M, Armitage P. 1979. The two-period cross-over clinical trial. Br J Clin Pharmacol 8:7–20.
- Keck ME, Holsboer F. 2001. Hyperactivity of CRH neuronal circuits as a target for therapeutic interventions in affective disorders. Peptides 22:835–844.
- Kirschbaum C, Kudielka BM, Gaab J, Schommer NC, Hellhammer DH. 1999. Impact of gender, menstrual cycle phase, and oral contraceptives on the activity of the hypothalamuspituitary-adrenal axis. Psychosom Med 61:154–162.

590 C. Baeken et al.

- Kudielka BM, Kirschbaum C. 2005. Sex differences in HPA axis responses to stress: a review. Biol Psychol 69:113–132.
- Kudielka BM, Buske-Kirschbaum A, Hellhammer DH, Kirschbaum C. 2004. HPA axis responses to laboratory psychosocial stress in healthy elderly adults, younger adults, and children: impact of age and gender. Psychoneuroendocrinology 29: 83–98.
- Lac G. 2001. Saliva assays in clinical and research biology. Pathol Biol (Paris) 49:660–667.
- Loo CK, Mitchell PB. 2005. A review of the efficacy of transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) treatment for depression, and current and future strategies to optimize efficacy. J Affect Disord 88:255–267.
- Loo CK, Taylor JL, Gandevia SC, McDarmont BN, Mitchell PB, Sachdev PS. 2000. Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) in controlled treatment studies: are some "sham" forms active? Biol Psychiatry 47:325–331.
- Martin JL, Barbanoj MJ, Schlaepfer TE, Thompson E, Perez V, Kulisevsky J. 2003. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation for the treatment of depression. Systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 182:480–491.
- Otte C, Hart S, Neylan TC, Marmar CR, Yaffe K, Mohr DC. 2005. A meta-analysis of cortisol response to challenge in

human aging: importance of gender. Psychoneuroendocrinology 30:80-91.

- Post A, Keck ME. 2001. Transcranial magnetic stimulation as a therapeutic tool in psychiatry: what do we know about the neurobiological mechanisms? J Psychiatr Res 35:193–215.
- Reynolds RM, Bendall HE, Whorwood CB, Wood PJ, Walker BR, Phillips DI. 1998. Reproducibility of the low dose dexamethasone suppression test: comparison between direct plasma and salivary cortisol assays. Clin Endocrinol (Oxford) 49:307–310.
- Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, et al. 1998. The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.): the development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. J Clin Psychiatry 59:22– 33.
- van Duinen MA, Schruers KR, Maes M, Griez EJ. 2005. CO2 challenge results in hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal activation in healthy volunteers. J Psychopharmacol 19:243–247.
- Vining RF, McGinley RA. 1986. Hormones in saliva. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci 23:95–146.
- Zwanzger P, Baghai TC, Padberg F, et al. 2003. The combined dexamethasone-CRH test before and after repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) in major depression. Psychoneuroendocrinology 28:376–385.



BRIEF REPORT

Verbal working memory and functional outcome in patients with unipolar major depressive disorder

YASUHIRO KANEDA

Department of Psychiatry, Iwaki Clinic, Tokushima, Japan

Abstract

In this naturalistic cross-sectional study, the author tested the hypothesis that verbal working memory (WM) in major depressive disorder (MDD) would predict functional outcome. The subjects consisted of 54 clinic adult out-patients. The author found that, in the patients with current episode of MDD, functional outcome was significantly correlated with depressive scores, but not with Digit Sequencing Task scores. Meanwhile, in a sample of full remitted or partial remitted (mildly depressed) patients, functional outcome was significantly correlated with both Digit Sequencing Task scores and depressive scores. Moreover, in a sample of full remitted or partial remitted (mildly depressed) patients, the Digit Sequencing Task score significantly contributed to the prediction of the functional outcome, but the depressive score did not. The findings in this study suggested that enhancement of verbal WM function may be useful to achieve normalization of functioning as an important component of remission in addition to symptomatic remission.

Key words: Cross-sectional study, functional outcome, major depressive disorder, verbal working memory

Introduction

Major depressive disorder (MDD) is a significant health problem with economic implications, and estimates of the economic burden of depression range from \$52 billion in 1990 to \$83 billion in 2000 (Malone 2007). Among several factors, employment is considered to have a great impact on the societal costs of depression, due to lost income, lost productivity, and disability income payments.

In a previous report (Kaneda et al. in press), the author demonstrated that neurocognitive performance, particularly verbal working memory (WM), was more important than clinical symptoms to predict employment status in patients with schizophrenia. Patients with major depressive disorder also have been reported to perform less well in neurocognitive tests than normal controls, even after their depression is successfully treated with modern antidepressants (Gualtieri et al. 2006; Reppermund et al. 2008). In a recent report, Gualtieri and Morgan (2008) reported that substantial numbers of patients with depression are cognitively impaired, and the author also demonstrated that a depressionassociated deficit in verbal WM existed even after remission (Kaneda in press). However, little emphasis has been placed on relation between neurocognitive function and psychosocial or functional outcome in studies of depression to date. The purpose of this study was to test the hypothesis that a specific type of cognitive impairment, namely verbal WM, in patients with MDD would predict functional outcome.

Experimental procedures

Sample

The subjects for this naturalistic cross-sectional study consisted of 54 clinic adult out-patients (aged 21–59 years): 22 patients who met DSM-IV (American Psychiatric Association 1994) criteria for current episode of unipolar MDD (nonpsychotic) and 32 patients who were in full remission or partial remission (mild depression). Patients had no comorbid psychiatric disorders and no medical, neurological or developmental conditions that might affect cognition. The investigation was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and the informed consent was obtained from all subjects.

Correspondence: Yasuhiro Kaneda, MD, PhD, Department of Psychiatry, Iwaki Clinic, 11-1 Kamimizuta, Gakubara, Anan, Tokushima 774-0014, Japan. Tel: +81 884 23 5600. Fax: +81 884 22 1780. E-mail: kaneday-tsh@umin.ac.jp

(Received 8 March 2009; accepted 20 June 2009)

Thirty-five (65%) were women; the patients had a mean age of 41.0 (SD = 10.6), and a mean age at onset of 37.7 (11.7) years. Seven out of 22 (32%) patients with current episode of MDD were on antidepressants, and six (27%) of them were on benzodiazepines. Twenty-eight out of 32 (88%) remitted patients were on the antidepressants, and 16 (50%) of them were on benzodiazepines.

Clinical assessments

The assessments were performed using the sevenitem Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HAM-D7; McIntyre et al. 2002) for severity of depression and remission: full remission defined as an HAM-D7 of 3 or less, and partial remission (mild depression) as a score of 10 or less, and Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia (BACS; Keefe et al. 2004) Digit Sequencing Task (patients are presented with clusters of numbers in random order of increasing length, and they are asked to tell the experimenter the numbers in order, from lowest to highest) for verbal WM. The BACS Digit Sequencing Task has been validated in normal controls (Keefe et al. 2004). Digit Sequencing Task scores for each depression group were normalized against their respective age-matched control group (data available upon request). Functional outcome (productivity), such as working, doing household chores, or going to school was assessed by the author based on the interviews with patients and their partners/parents/ children, and was defined as follows: 0=nonimpaired, 1=mildly impaired, 2=moderately impaired, 3=severely impaired). Demographic data are presented in Table I.

Data analysis

JMI (Version 5.1.2) for Macintosh was used to perform the analysis. For numerical variables, the *t*-tests procedures for independent group comparison were used to compare the differences in variables between two groups, and the differences between three groups were compared by the analysis of variance (ANOVA), followed by *post hoc* comparisons. Pearson's correlation was used to examine the relationships between two numerical variables. A logistic regression model with forward selection criteria was used to predict the functional outcome using the demographic variables, depressive and verbal WM scores.

Results

First, as reported elsewhere (Kaneda in press), Digit Sequencing Task scores were not significantly different between the two groups of patients with

								en as mean (SD).	llent data are giv	¹ Paroxetine equiva
										remission
-0.59 (1.2)	17.0 (4.5)	6.9 (2.9)	8.7 (12.7)	22.5 (21.7)	2.1 (2.2)	41.1(10.8)	12.2 (2.3)	43.7 (10.9)	32 (22/10)	depression Patients in
-0.97 (1.5)	17.2(4.3)	15.2(1.9)	9.8(16.0)	13.2 (22.8)	4.4(5.3)	32.2 (11.2)	11.9(2.0)	37.1 (9.0)	22 (13/9)	Patients in acute
-0.75 (1.3)	17.1(4.4)	10.4(4.8)	9.1(14.0)	18.7 (22.4)	3.0 (3.9)	37.7 (11.7)	12.0 (2.2)	41.0(10.6)	54 (35/19)	Total patients
BACS Digit Sequencing Task score $(z \text{ score}^3)$	BACS Digit Sequencing Task score (raw)	HAM-D7 (Total)	Dose of benzodiazepines (mg/day) ²	Dose of antidepressants (mg/day) ¹	Duration of the illness (years)	Age at onset (years)	Education (years)	Age (years)	N (F/M)	
BACS Digit	BACS Digit									

Table I. Demographic data

Diazepam equivalent data are given as mean (SD).

³z scores were calculated using the age-matched control group means and standard deviations. BACS, Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia; HAM-D7, seven-item Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression.

current episode of MDD and in full remission or partial remission (mild depression), even after controlling for the education level.

Second, examination of the relationships between functional outcome and Digit Sequencing Task and depressive scores in the two groups, patients with current episode of MDD and in full remission or partial remission (mild depression), the results were different between the two: in the patients with current episode of MDD, functional outcome was significantly correlated with depressive scores (r=0.45, df=21, P<0.05), but not with Digit Sequencing Task scores (r=-0.14, df=21, P=0.54). Meanwhile, in a sample of full remitted or partial remitted (mildly depressed) patients, functional outcome was significantly correlated with both Digit Sequencing Task scores (r=-0.43, df=31, P<0.05) and depressive scores (r=0.38, df=31, P<0.05).

Third, in a multiple regression analysis with a forward stepwise procedure, the depressive score in the group of patients with current episode of MDD (F = 5.1, df = 1, P < 0.05) significantly contributed to the prediction of the functional outcome, but the Digit Sequencing Task score did not. Meanwhile in a sample of full remitted or partial remitted (mildly depressed) patients, the Digit Sequencing Task score (F = 4.5, df = 1, P < 0.05) significantly contributed to the prediction of the functional outcome, but the depressive score did not.

Fourth, examination of the relationships between Digit Sequencing Task and depressive scores revealed that Digit Sequencing Task scores were not significantly correlated with depressive scores in either patients with current episode of MDD (r = -0.03, df = 21, P = 0.89) or in full remission or partial remission (mild depression) (r = -0.32, df = 31, P = 0.08). In addition, there were no significant correlations between Digit Sequencing Task scores and the dose of antidepressants (r = -0.13, df = 31, P = 0.49) or benzodiazepines (r = -0.30, df = 31, P = 0.09) in a sample of full remitted or partial remitted (mildly depressed) patients.

Discussion

These findings in this study suggested relations between MDD-associated deficit in verbal WM and functional outcome in a sample of full remitted or partial remitted (mildly depressed) patients. The findings seems to be inconsistent with those of Kennedy et al. (2007), who reported, in their review, that residual symptomatology after remission from depression may lead to enduring psychosocial impairment, as may subtle neurocognitive deficits. Nonetheless, the findings in this study do not underscore the importance of clinical remission from depression, which is defined objective outcome indicated by a quantifiable score with a depressive symptom measurement tool. On the contrary, symptomatic full remission should be always achieved as the primary goal of treatment, since it is the optimal outcome in depression (McIntyre et al. 2005; Möller 2008). Meanwhile, the findings in this study suggested that enhancement of verbal WM function by, e.g., cognitive rehabilitation may be useful to achieve normalization of functioning as an important component of remission (Zimmerman et al. 2006) when symptomatic full remission is failed to achieve. Besides, the possibility of influence of medications, particularly benzodiazepines (Stewart 2005), on the verbal WM dysfunction cannot completely be ruled out. Another limitation in this study was that patients in full remission and partial remission (mild depression) were combined for statistical analyses, mainly because there were few patients in full remission. Therefore, a further longitudinal study using patients without benzodiazepines might be necessary to confirm the results of the present study.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

None.

- American Psychiatric Association. 1994. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition (DSM-IV). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Gualtieri CT, Morgan DW. 2008. The frequency of cognitive impairment in patients with anxiety, depression, and bipolar disorder: An unaccounted source of variance in clinical trials. J Clin Psychiatry 69:1122–1130.
- Gualtieri CT, Johnson LG, Benedict KB. 2006. Neurocognition in depression: Patients on and off medication versus healthy comparison subjects. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 18: 217–225.
- Kaneda Y. In press. Verbal working memory impairment in patients with current episode of unipolar major depressive disorder and in remission. Clin Neuropharmacol.
- Kaneda Y, Jayathilak K, Meltzer HY. In press. Determinants of work outcome in schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorder: A role of cognitive function. Psychiatr Res.
- Keefe RSE, Goldberg TE, Harvey PD, Gold JM, Poe MP, Coughenour L. 2004. The brief assessment of cognition in schizophrenia: Reliability, sensitivity, and comparison with a standard neurocognitive battery. Schizophr Res 68:283–297.
- Kennedy N, Foy K, Sherazi R, McDonough M, McKeon P. 2007. Long-term social functioning after depression treated by psychiatrists: a review. Bipolar Disord 9:25–37.
- Malone DC. 2007. A budget-impact and cost-effectiveness model for second-line treatment of major depression. J Manag Care Pharm 13:S8–18.
- McIntyre R, Kennedy S, Bagby RM, Bakish D. 2002. Assessing full remission. J Psychiatry Neurosci 27:235–239.

594 Y. Kaneda

- McIntyre RS, Konarski JZ, Mancini DA, Fulton KA, Parikh SV, Grigoriadis S, et al. 2005. Measuring the severity of depression and remission in primary care: validation of the HAMD-7 scale. Can Med Assoc J 173:1327–1334.
- Möller HJ. 2008. Outcomes in major depressive disorder: The evolving concept of remission and its implications for treatment. World J Biol Psychiatry 9:102–114.
- Reppermund S, Ising M, Lucae S, Zihl J. 2008. Cognitive impairment in unipolar depression is persistent and non-

specific: Further evidence for the final common pathway disorder hypothesis. Psychol Med 30:1–12.

- Stewart SA. 2005. The effects of benzodiazepines on cognition. J Clin Psychiatry 66(Suppl 2):9–13.
- Zimmerman M, McGlinchey JB, Posternak MA, Friedman M, Attiullah N, Boerescu D. 2006. How should remission from depression be defined? The depressed patient's perspective. Am J Psychiatry 163:148–150.

h F S B

BRIEF REPORT

Case-control study of association between the functional candidate gene *ERBB3* and schizophrenia in Caucasian population*

DAWEI LI¹*, GUOYIN FENG² & LIN HE^{1,3,4}

¹Bio-X Center, Key Laboratory for the Genetics of Developmental and Neuropsychiatric Disorders (Ministry of Education), Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ²Shanghai Institute of Mental Health, Shanghai, China, ³Institutes of Biomedical Sciences, Fudan University, Shanghai, China, and ⁴Institute for Nutritional Sciences, Shanghai Institutes of Biological Sciences, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Shanghai, China

Abstract

Schizophrenia is a common psychiatric disorder with a complex genetic aetiology. Evidence shows that the oligodendrocyte and myelin-related genes including *ERBB3* are closely related to schizophrenia. Two recent studies (Kanazawa et al. (Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 2007;144:113)) and Watanabe et al. (Neurosci Res 2007;57:574) reported there was no association between *ERBB3* and schizophrenia in Japanese population. We investigated the *ERBB3* gene given the putative functional nature of the gene and population heterogeneity between Asian and Caucasian. Scottish case and control samples were sequenced with four SNPs (rs705708 at intron 15, rs2271189, rs773123, rs2271188 at exon 27). We detected rs773123, which is a nonsynonymous Ser/Cys polymorphism located seven bases downstream of rs2271189, with P = 0.034. The subgroups of male patients and patients with age at onset <45 showed evidence of significant association with *P* values of 0.0046 and 0.0055, respectively. To our knowledge, this is the first association study between *ERBB3* and schizophrenia in the Caucasian population. Further investigation with large sample size should be helpful to clarify the nature of the gene.

Key words: association, case-control, ERBB3, myelin, schizophrenia

Introduction

Schizophrenia is a severe, often chronic and common complex debilitating mental illness with a large genetic component (Faraone et al. 2002; Rujescu 2008). The oligodendrocyte and myelin-related genes including ERBB3 (HER3) have been found to be highly related to schizophrenia (Hakak et al. 2001; Tkachev et al. 2003). The ERBB3 gene maps to human chromosome 12q13 covering 22,702 base pairs. The region 12q13 has been reported to be involved in schizophrenia (Deb-Rinker et al. 2002). ERBB3 expresses a 6.2-kb transcript in a variety of normal tissues of epithelial origin (Kraus et al. 1989). The neuregulin receptor ERBB3 is a member of the epidermal growth factor receptor family, which plays fundamental roles in the regulation of cell survival, proliferation, differentiation, and cellular transformation in response to various specific growth factors (Holbro et al. 2003; Walters et al. 2003).

In a microarray study, Tkachev et al. (2003) found that the amount of the ERBB3 mRNA was reduced by 2.29-fold in patients with schizophrenia. Moreover, quantitative polymerase chain reaction (PCR) analysis on brains have confirmed significant downregulation of ERBB3 by 1.97 (P=0.0005) and 2.62 (P=0.001) in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder, respectively (Tkachev et al. 2003). DNA microarray has also shown the ERBB3 receptor to be downregulated in schizophrenics (Hakak et al. 2001). The high degree of correlation between the expression changes in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder provide compelling evidence for common pathophysiological pathways that may govern the disease phenotypes of schizophrenia (Hakak et al. 2001; Deb-Rinker et al. 2002; Tkachev et al. 2003). Moreover, it has been found that loss of ERBB3

Correspondence: Dawei Li: Bio-X Center, Shanghai Jiao Tong, University, 1954 Huashan Road, Shanghai 200030, China. E-mail: dwlidwli@gmail.com. Or Lin He: Institutes of Biomedical Sciences Fudan University, 138 Yixueyuan Road, Shanghai 200032, China. Tel/Fax: 86-21-62822491. E-mail: helinhelin@gmail.com

*The experimental work and statistical analyses were completed in 2004.

(Received 3 May 2009; accepted 6 July 2009)

results in embryonic lethality in mice with brain defects (Cho and Leahy 2002; Niendorf et al. 2007). In addition, the neuregulin 1 gene (NRG1), which codes for the neuron-derived ligand for the ERBB3 receptor, has been identified as a promising susceptibility gene for schizophrenia by our group (Tang et al. 2004; Zhao et al. 2004; Li et al. 2006). There was evidence showing co-expression and functional inter-activity between ERBB3 and NRG1 (Britsch 2007; Parlapani et al. 2008), such as the entry of NRG1 beta1 to the parenchyma of the brain and spinal cord (Kastin et al. 2004). Two recent studies (Kanazawa et al. 2007; Watanabe et al. 2007) reported there was no association between ERBB3 and schizophrenia in the Japanese population. We studied the Scottish population by sequencing four single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) (rs705708 at intron 15, rs2271189, rs773123, rs2271188 at exon 27).

Methods

One hundred and ninety cases and 196 controls of Caucasian origin were genotyped using sequencing analysis. The cases contained 82 (71.9%) male and 32 (28.1%) female with a mean age at onset of 26.39 years, SD = 11.29 and the controls comprised 105 (59.3%) male and 72 (40.7%) female with a mean age at onset of 38.52 years, SD = 11.07 (based on the samples genotyped successfully). All the patients were interviewed and diagnosed by two independent psychiatrists according to American Psychiatric Association's Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders - IV (DSM-IV). A standard informed consent for the genetic analysis, which was reviewed and approved by the local psychiatry research ethical committee in Scotland, was given by all subjects after the nature of study had been fully explained. Peripheral blood samples were taken from the subjects, and genomic DNA was then extracted from the whole blood using the modified phenol-chloroform method (Gao et al. 2001).

The SNPs were genotyped using the Nested PCRbased sequencing analysis. The primers were shown in supplementary Table I. The PCR products were purified, and then subjected to heat inactivation. The products were then sequenced using an ABI BigDye Terminator Cycle Sequencing Kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) on an ABI 3100 DNA sequencer (Applied Biosystems). The protocols used were as described in one of our previous study (Liu et al. 2005).

The chi-square test was used to check if genotype distributions of the samples were in Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium. The statistical significance of the differences in the allele frequency distributions was estimated using the program Clump 2.2 (Sham and Curtis 1995). The P values were corrected as they were assessed using the Monte Carlo approach rather than the $\times 2$ distribution (Sham and Curtis 1995). Each computation was performed with at least 100,000 simulations. The odds ratio and relative risk (95% CI) were calculated using EPI (Ver. 5). The frequencies of multiple marker haplotypes were estimated using both the EHPLUS program (Zhao et al. 2000) and PHASE 2.02 (Stephens et al. 2001). The standardized measure of linkage disequilibrium (LD) for each pair of markers, denoted as D', was estimated by 2LD software (Zapata et al. 2001). Linkage disequilibrium (LD) plots were generated by Haploview (Barrett et al. 2005). All tests were two tailed and significance was accepted at P < 0.05. We also combined our data with the data from Kanazawa et al. (2007) and Watanabe et al. (2007) using metaanalysis. The method was described in our previous studies (Li et al. 2006). The SNP rs2271188, which was investigated in Kanazawa's study, was excluded from the analysis because of low heterozygosity in our samples.

Results

Genotype distributions of the SNPs were in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium except rs2271189 in cases (P=0.0006) (Supplementary Table II). The results showed that there was no evidence of significant association for rs705708 and rs2271189. However, we found rs773123 with low heterozygosity of 83% "TT" genotype and 17% "AT" genotype. It is located seven bases downstream of the synonymous SNP (rs2271189, Arg) in the 27th exon. Kanazawa et al. 2007 reported rs773123 was not associated with schizophrenia in Japanese population. However, there was a big difference on allele frequency at rs773123 between Asian and Caucasian populations (such as the T [Cys] allele is 69% in Kanazawa et al.'s study and 92% in our study). We detected evidence of statistically significant difference in the allele frequency distributions between patients and controls with P value 0.034 after Monte Carlo simulation (OR 0.41, 95% C.I. 0.18–0.96) (Table I). The subgroups of male patients and patients with age at onset <45 showed evidence of significant association with schizophrenia with P values of 0.0046 and 0.0055, respectively (Table II). The P values from genotypic analysis were even slightly smaller than the P values from allelic analysis (Tables I and II). This nonsynonymous SNP can lead to the change of coding protein residue from AGC[Ser] to TGC[Cys]. Strong linkage disequilibrium was observed between rs2271189 and two other SNPs

				Patie	ents	Con	itrols			
SNPs ^a	Alleles	Distance ^b	Function	Allele I ^c	Allele2 ^d	Allele1 ^c	Allele2 ^d	P value	Odds ratio (95% CI)	Relative risk (95% CI)
rs705708 rs2271189	A/G C/T	0 6.078	intron synonymous [Are]	$74 \ (48.68\%) \\119 \ (61.98\%)$	78 (51.32%) 73 (38.02%)	132 (42.86%) 208 (62.65%)	176 (57.14%) 124 (37.35%)	$0.24 \\ 0.88$	1.26 < 0.84 - 1.90 > 0.97 < 0.66 - 1.43 > 0.97 < 0.66 - 1.43 > 0.97 < 0.66 - 1.43 > 0.97 < 0.66 -	1.14 < 0.92 - 1.40 > 0.99 < 0.86 - 1.14 > 0.99
rs773123	A/T	6.085	nonsynonymous, [Ser] to [Cys]	7 (3.65%)	185 (96.35%)	28 (8.43%)	304 (91.57%)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.034 \\ 0.028^{\circ} \end{array}$	0.41 < 0.18-0.96 >	0.43 < 0.19-0.97 >
^a NCBI SNF ^b Positions o. ^c Number of ^d Number of	Cluster SNPs & the first	· ID. are shown a polymorph	s distances (kb) from rs705708. uism alleles in alphabetical order for rphism alleles in alphabetical order	r each SNP. : for each SNP.						

Table I. Results of case-control analyses for each SNP.

The experimental work and statistical analyses were carried out during 2003–2004. Eight SNPs were selected for genotyping on a small set of samples, and only the SNPs with evidence of $^{\circ}P$ value from the genotypic analysis of AT vs. TT (OR =0.39 < 0.16, 0.93 >). P value < 0.05 is in boldface were replicated in the total Caucasian subjects association

Table II. Results of different sex and age at onset groups.

A candidate gene study

597

SNPs/Sex/Age at onset	P values	Odds ratio (95% CI)
rs705708		
Male	0.46	1.19 (0.74,1.93)
Female	0.47	1.33 (0.61,2.93)
Early age at onset	0.62	1.12 (0.72,1.73)
Late age at onset	0.43	1.76 (0.41,7.51)
rs2271189		
Male	0.56	0.87 (0.54,1.41)
Female	0.92	0.97 (0.49,1.91)
Early age at onset	0.87	0.97 (0.63,1.48)
Late age at onset	0.93	1.06 (0.26,4.39)
rs773123		
Male	0.0046	0.09 (0.01,0.71)
	0.0034 ^a	
Female	0.44	0.55 (0.12,2.59)
Early age at onset	0.0055	0.21 (0.06,0.7)
	0.0039 ^a	
Late age at onset	0.41	1.5 (0.16,13.75)

 ^{a}P value from the genotypic analysis of AT vs. TT. Early age at onset group was defined as individuals with age at onset <45.

(D' > 0.97); however, LD between rs705708 and rs773123 was very weak (Supplementary Table III and Supplementary Figure). Meta-analysis of each SNP showed no evidence of significance (Supplementary Table IV). There was no evidence of significance for either overall or individual haplotypic analysis (overall P = 0.068) for the haplotypes with frequencies >5% in both cases and controls. However, the haplotype (GCT) showed a P value of 0.047 with frequency of 0.01 in cases and frequency of 0.054 in controls (Table III).

Conclusion

To conclude, our study showed evidence of association between the nonsynonymous SNP (rs773123) with schizophrenia in the Caucasian population, in particular in male patients and patients of early age

Table III. Results of multi-marker haplotypes of the case-control study in the Caucasian population.

Haplotype ^a	Frequency in cases	Frequency in controls	P value ^b
111	0.0801	0.0401	0.10
121	0.4298	0.3609	0.19
211	0.455	0.5122	0.30
212	0.01	0.0536	0.047
Overall	P value, on 3 deg (chi-square	rees of freedom $=$ $= 7.1291)$	0.068

^aFor each haplotype, alleles are concatenated according to the order rs705708, rs2271189 and rs773123. 1 =the first polymorphism allele; 2 =the second polymorphism allele, as shown in Table I.

^bP values <0.05 are in boldface italic.

The haplotypes with frequencies < 0.05 in both cases and control were not shown.

at onset. To our knowledge, this is the first association study between *ERBB3* and schizophrenia in Caucasian population. Further study with large sample size should be carried out. The involvement of the epidermal growth factor receptor family genes including *ERBB3* in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia deserves further investigation.

Acknowledgements

We thank Dr David St Clair (Department of Mental Health, University of Aberdeen) for providing all the DNA samples. We are deeply grateful to all the subjects participating in this study, as well as to the psychiatrists and mental health workers who helped us with identification of the families. This work was supported by grants (07DZ22917, 2006CB910600, 2006BAI05A05, 2006AA02A407, 2007CB947300, KSCX2-YW-R-01) and the Shanghai Leading Academic Discipline Project (B205).

Statement of interest

None.

Electronic-database information

Accession numbers and URLs for data presented herein are as follows:

GenBank, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Genbank/ for *ERBB3*;

Online dbSNP, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/SNP/ for *ERBB3*;

Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man (OMIM), http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Omim/ for *ERBB3*.

- Barrett JC, Fry B, Maller J, Daly MJ. 2005. Haploview: Analysis and visualization of LD and haplotype maps. Bioinformatics 21:263–265.
- Britsch S. 2007. The neuregulin-I/ErbB signaling system in development and disease. Adv Anat Embryol Cell Biol 190: 1–65.
- Cho HS, Leahy DJ. 2002. Structure of the extracellular region of HER3 reveals an interdomain tether. Science 297:1330–1333.
- Deb-Rinker P, O'Reilly RL, Torrey EF, Singh SM. 2002. Molecular characterization of a 2.7-kb, 12q13-specific, retroviral-related sequence isolated by RDA from monozygotic twin pairs discordant for schizophrenia. Genome 45:381–390.
- Faraone SV, Taylor L, Tsuang MT. 2002. The molecular genetics of schizophrenia: An emerging consensus. Expert Rev Mol Med 2002:1–13.
- Gao B, Guo J, She C, Shu A, Yang M, Tan Z, et al. 2001. Mutations in IHH, encoding Indian hedgehog, cause brachydactyly type A-1. Nat Genet 28:386–388.
- Hakak Y, Walker JR, Li C, Wong WH, Davis KL, Buxbaum JD, et al. 2001. Genome-wide expression analysis reveals dysregulation of myelination-related genes in chronic schizophrenia. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98:4746–4751.

- Holbro T, Beerli RR, Maurer F, Koziczak M, Barbas CF, 3rd, Hynes NE. 2003. The ErbB2/ErbB3 heterodimer functions as an oncogenic unit: ErbB2 requires ErbB3 to drive breast tumor cell proliferation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100:8933–8938.
- Kanazawa T, Glatt SJ, Tsutsumi A, Kikuyama H, Koh J, Yoneda H, et al. 2007. Schizophrenia is not associated with the functional candidate gene ERBB3: Results from a case-control study. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 144:113–116.
- Kastin AJ, Akerstrom V, Pan W. 2004. Neuregulin-1-beta1 enters brain and spinal cord by receptor-mediated transport. J Neurochem 88:965–970.
- Kraus MH, Issing W, Miki T, Popescu NC, Aaronson SA. 1989. Isolation and characterization of ERBB3, a third member of the ERBB/epidermal growth factor receptor family: evidence for overexpression in a subset of human mammary tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 86:9193–9197.
- Li D, Collier DA, He L. 2006. Meta-analysis shows strong positive association of the neuregulin 1 (NRG1) gene with schizophrenia. Hum Mol Genet 15:1995–2002.
- Liu J, Shi Y, Tang W, Guo T, Li D, Yang Y, et al. 2005. Positive association of the human GABA-A-receptor beta 2 subunit gene haplotype with schizophrenia in the Chinese Han population. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 334:817–823.
- Niendorf S, Oksche A, Kisser A, Lohler J, Prinz M, Schorle H, et al. 2007. Essential role of Ubiquitin specific protease 8 (UBPy) for receptor tyrosine kinase stability and endocytic trafficking in vivo. Mol Cell Biol 27:5029–5039.
- Parlapani E, Schmitt A, Wirths O, Bauer M, Sommer C, Rueb U, et al. 2008. Gene expression of neuregulin-1 isoforms in different brain regions of elderly schizophrenia patients. World J Biol Psychiatry 9:1–8.
- Rujescu D. 2008. Is the roller coaster ride in schizophrenia genetics coming to an end? breakthrough or wishful thinking? World J Biol Psychiatry 9:162–164.
- Sham PC, Curtis D. 1995. Monte Carlo tests for associations between disease and alleles at highly polymorphic loci. Ann Hum Genet 59(Pt 1):97–105.
- Stephens M, Smith NJ, Donnelly P. 2001. A new statistical method for haplotype reconstruction from population data. Am J Hum Genet 68:978–989.
- Tang JX, Chen WY, He G, Zhou J, Gu NF, Feng GY, et al. 2004. Polymorphisms within 5' end of the Neuregulin 1 gene are genetically associated with schizophrenia in the Chinese population. Mol Psychiatry 9:11–12.
- Tkachev D, Mimmack ML, Ryan MM, Wayland M, Freeman T, Jones PB, et al. 2003. Oligodendrocyte dysfunction in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Lancet 362:798–805.
- Walters DK, French JD, Arendt BK, Jelinek DF. 2003. Atypical expression of ErbB3 in myeloma cells: Cross-talk between ErbB3 and the interferon-alpha signaling complex. Oncogene 22:3598–3607.
- Watanabe Y, Fukui N, Nunokawa A, Muratake T, Kaneko N, Kitamura H, et al. 2007. No association between the ERBB3 gene and schizophrenia in a Japanese population. Neurosci Res 57:574–578.
- Zapata C, Carollo C, Rodriguez S. 2001. Sampling variance and distribution of the D' measure of overall gametic disequilibrium between multiallelic loci. Ann Hum Genet 65:395–406.
- Zhao JH, Curtis D, Sham PC. 2000. Model-free analysis and permutation tests for allelic associations. Hum Hered 50:133– 139.
- Zhao X, Shi Y, Tang J, Tang R, Yu L, Gu N, et al. 2004. A case control and family based association study of the neuregulin1 gene and schizophrenia. J Med Genet 41:31–34.



Obsessive-compulsive disorder followed by psychotic episode in long-term ecstasy misuse

CARLO MARCHESI, MATTEO TONNA & CARLO MAGGINI

Department of Neuroscience, Psychiatric Division, University of Parma, Italy

Abstract

Aim. We report the case of two young subjects who developed an obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) during a heavy use of ecstasy. After several months of discontinuation of the drug, major depression with psychotic features developed in one subject and a psychotic disorder in the other individual. No mental disorder preceded the use of ecstasy in any subject. *Findings.* A familial and personality vulnerability for mental disorder was revealed in one subject, but not in the other, and all physical, laboratory and cerebral NMR evaluations showed normal results in both patients. Remission of OCD and depressive episode or psychotic disorder was achieved after treatment with a serotoninergic medication associated with an antipsychotic. *Conclusions.* The heavy long-term use of ecstasy may induce an alteration in the brain balance between serotonin and dopamine, which might constitute a pathophysiological mechanism underlying the onset of obsessive-compulsive, depressive and psychotic symptoms. The heavy use of ecstasy probably interacted with a vulnerability to psychiatric disorder in one subject, whereas we cannot exclude that an "ecstasy disorder" ex novo affected the other individual.

Key words: Ecstasy, obsessive-compulsive disorder, major depression, psychosis, serotonin

Introduction

The use of ecstasy (MDMA) can induce acute psychological effects including: (1) generally, euphoria and reduction of negative thoughts; (2) sometimes, hyperactivity, flight of ideas, insomnia, hallucinations, depersonalisation, anxiety, agitation and bizarre behaviour; (3) occasionally, panic attacks, delirium, or brief psychotic episodes (Green 2003).

In addition, MDMA shows long-term effects, which outlast the actual drug experience by months or years, such as cognitive impairment, greater impulsivity, panic attacks, recurrent paranoia, hallucinations and severe depression (Kalant 2001; Green 2003).

An increase in serotonin (5-HT) and dopamine (DA) release is the major mechanism underlying the acute mental effects of ecstasy (Kalant 2001), whereas the long-term effects have been suggested to depend on a decrease of serotoninergic function.

This damage has been clearly demonstrated in animal experiments (Green 2003; Gouzoulis-Mayfrank and Daumann 2006). In humans, one postmortem study (Kish et al. 2000) reported severe depletion (50-80%) of striatal 5-HT and 5-HIAA in the brain of a 26-year-old male subject who had regularly taken MDMA for 9 years. Moreover, several studies found a reduction of 5-HIAA in the cerebrospinal fluid of ectasy users, and brain imaging studies suggested a brain damage and glial proliferation in heavy MDMA users (Gouzoulis-Mayfrank and Daumann 2006). Therefore, some evidence suggests that a long-term effect of MDMA might induce brain alterations, particularly involving the serotoninergic system. However, some methodological problems suggest caution to infer a causal relationship between MDMA use, cerebral alterations and the onset of psychopathological conditions (Curran 2000).

We present the clinical history of two patients who showed the onset of obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) after a long period of use of ecstasy alone. Moreover, many months after discontinuation of MDMA, a depressive episode with psychotic features developed in one patient and a psychotic disorder in the other.

(Received 16 March 2007; accepted 15 May 2007)

Correspondence: Carlo Marchesi, MD, Dipartimento di Neuroscienze, Sezione di Psichiatria, Università di Parma, Strada del Quartiere 2, 43100 Parma, Italy. Tel: +39 521 703523 508. Fax: +39 521 230611. E-mail: carlo.marchesi@unipr.it

Case one

A 16-year-old girl used ecstasy for 1 year (four to five tablets per week; total lifetime intake of about 200 tablets). After the first 2-3 months of MDMA consumption, the patient began to spend most of her time performing complex rituals before leaving or after returning home. The compulsive behaviour was associated with obsessive thoughts: obsessive phobias, numerical, symmetry and order obsessions, over-crowding of thoughts accompanied by poor insight and resistance. The disorder significantly interfered with her daily life: even automatic activity such as writing or walking became influenced by exact, compulsive rules. The great interference of compulsive behaviour led the patient to abandon the school. She discontinued MDMA use because she considered ecstasy responsible for the OCD. After discontinuation, the OCD improved but did not disappear. Three months later, the patient was hospitalised for the onset of a severe depressive episode with psychotic features and worsening of the OCD. Anamnestic information did not report the existence of mental disorders before the ecstasy use. Moreover, clinical evaluation showed the presence of major depression and delusional disorder in relatives. Finally, the patient was diagnosed, using the Structured Interview for DSM-IV personality disorders (Pfohl et al. 1997), as affected by a borderline personality disorder. All physical, laboratory and cerebral NMR evaluations failed to show abnormal results. After 2 months of treatment with an antidepressant (clomipramine) and an antipsychotic (olanzapine), remission of depressive episode and OCD was achieved.

Case two

A 23-year-old man started to use MDMA at 20 years of age and stopped the drug use after more than 2 years of consumption (one to two tablets per week for a total lifetime intake of about 150 tablets) because of the sudden onset of obsessions of contamination. The obsessions were associated with a compulsive potomanic behaviour, justified by the patient's need for "inner" purification. The severity of symptoms induced a water intoxication and the patient was hospitalised in a medical ward. After discharge, the obsessions of contamination worsened and were associated with different and complex compulsive acts of purification which caused great interference in his daily life; particularly, he was unable to work and to attend his daily activities. Eight months after MDMA discontinuation, a psychotic disorder developed and the patient was hospitalized in a psychiatric clinic. All

physical, laboratory and cerebral NMR evaluations failed to show abnormal results. Anamnestic information and clinical evaluations did not support the existence of a mental or a personality disorder before the use of ecstasy. Moreover, no mental disorder was found in any relative. He was treated with an antipsychotic (risperidone) and a serotoninergic antidepressant (sertraline). A complete remission of both psychotic and obsessive-compulsive symptoms was achieved only after 1 year of treatment.

Discussion

These case reports raise the question about the causal relationship between ecstasy misuse and onset of mental disorders. It is not easy to answer the question of whether MDMA induced psychopathological conditions in these subjects. However, we must take into account several findings.

No mental disorder affected the two patients before the use of ecstasy. Therefore, we can exclude that they used ecstasy as a self-medication for a preexisting depressive or anxiety disorder, as suggested by previous studies (Curran 2000; Lieb et al. 2002; Huizinik et al. 2006).

During the abuse of ecstasy, the two patients did not use any other drugs. Almost only poly-drug abusers were evaluated in previous studies investigating psychopathological effects of ecstasy. Concomitant opiate and alcohol addiction was found to be a risk factor for developing mental disorders in ecstasy users (Schifano et al. 2000).

The two patients first developed OCD after longterm use of ecstasy. In agreement with this finding, in a previous study Parrott et al. (2001) observed higher scores in OC subscale of SCL-90 in heavy ecstasy poly-drug users than in control subjects; more recently (Lieb et al. 2002), the prevalence of OCD was found to be twice as frequent in MDMA users than in non-users. However, the onset of OCD followed the drug abuse in only a minority (16%) of ecstasy users.

A dysfunction of the serotoninergic system has been hypothesized to underline the development of OCD in non-addicted subjects (Aouizerate et al. 2004; Chamberlain et al. 2005). In fact, the specific treatment response to serotoninergic medications and the transient exacerbation of symptoms after a pharmacological challenge with specific 5HT agonists suggest that an imbalance of 5HT is involved in the pathogenesis of OCD (Zohar et al. 2000; Micallef and Blin 2001).

A psychotic depressive episode or a psychotic disorder developed in the patients some months after MDMA discontinuation. Previous studies reported a high prevalence (nearly 30%) of depression

in MDMA users (Schifano et al. 1998; Topp et al. 1999; Lieb et al. 2002). Interestingly, in a high percentage (40%) of the ecstasy users major depression developed after drug abuse (Lieb et al. 2002). Also psychosis is a well-documented psychopathological condition associated with MDMA use (McGuire et al. 1994; Schifano et al. 1998; Topp et al. 1999; Curran et al. 2004). However, psychosis induced by ecstasy use is generally a short-lasting disorder (Topp et al. 1999; Curran et al. 2004), whereas in our patient the psychotic symptoms remitted after 1 year of treatment.

The association between OCD and major depression or psychotic disorder is a well-documented clinical condition in non-addicted patients (Aouizerate et al. 2004; Chamberlain et al. 2005). Recently, this association has been investigated in neurophysiological, neuropsychological and neuroimaging studies (Aouizerate et al. 2004; Poyurovsky et al. 2004; Chamberlain et al. 2005; Bottas et al. 2005). The 5HT/DA dysfunction in cortical-striatal-thalamic-cortical pathways has been suggested as a possible pathophysiological mechanism underlying the association between obsessive-compulsive, depressive and psychotic symptoms in non-addicted patients.

Acutely, MDMA is known to increase 5HT and DA activity, whereas long-term use decreases 5HT function (this effect was observed after using ecstasy 25 times) (McCann et al. 1998). The long-term effect on the DA system appears to be more controversial (Green et al. 2003; Goñi-Allo et al. 2006). Therefore, the MDMA effect on the serotoninergic and probably on the dopaminergic system might be involved in the onset of psychopathological conditions, such as major depression, anxiety and psychotic disorders, in ecstasy users. In accord with this hypothesis, a higher incidence of these disorders was found in subjects with pre-existing MDMA misuse (Lieb et al. 2002), particularly in heavy users (Schifano et al. 1998).

Mental disorders do not develop in all ecstasy users. Therefore, a pre-disposition to psychiatric illnesses may need to exist for psychopathological symptoms to develop in some ecstasy users.

In view of these observations, a specific causal role as a primary risk factor for the onset of mental disorders in our patients cannot be attributed to ecstasy with certainty, even though heavy use of the drug lasted several months and was followed by mental disorders. However, in one of our patients ecstasy misuse probably interacted with a vulnerability to psychiatric disorders. In fact, the girl was affected by a borderline personality disorder which predisposes people to suffer from several mental disorders, such as substance abuse, depression, anxiety and eating disorders (Skodol et al. 2002; Lieb et al. 2004). Moreover, this patient also showed a familial vulnerability to major depression and psychotic disorder (Shih et al. 2004). In contrast, the young man did not show any personality or familial predisposition to mental disorders. However, we cannot exclude that this patient might have been vulnerable to psychotic disorders, because his psychotic disorder lasted much longer than the usual ecstasy-induced psychosis (Curran et al. 2004). Therefore, the onset of the mental disorder in the girl was probably induced by the interaction between ecstasy misuse and personality and familial vulnerability rather than representing an ex novo "ecstasy disorder". In contrast, it is difficult to say whether an ex novo "ecstasy disorder" affected the young man.

Conclusion

Our case reports suggest that the assessment of personality and psychiatric family history in ecstasy users might be a useful clinical tool: (1) to identify a predisposition for the development of mental disorders; (2) to verify the association between ecstasy abuse and the onset of a specific mental disorder in vulnerable individuals; and (3) to clarify whether ecstasy may induce mental disorders in absence of other risk factors.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

- Aouizerate B, Guehl D, Cuny E, et al. 2004. Pathophysiology of obsessive-compulsive disorder. A necessary link between phenomenology, neuropsychology, imagery and physology. Prog Neurobiol 72:195–221.
- Bottas A, Cooke RG, Richter MA. 2005. Comorbidity and pathophysiology of obsessive-compulsive disorder in schizophrenia: is there evidence for a schizo-obsessive subtype of schizophrenia? J Psychiatr Neurosci 30:187–193.
- Chamberlain SR, Blackwell AD, Fineberg NA, Robbins TW, Sahakian BJ. 2005. The neuopsychology of obsessive compulsive disorder: the importance of failures in cognitive and behavioral inhibition as candidate endophenotypic markers. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 29:399–419.
- Curran HV. 2000. Is MDMA ("Ecstasy") neurotoxic in humans? An overview of evidence and of methodological problems in research. Neuropsychobiology 42:34–41.
- Curran C, Byrappa N, McBride A. 2004. Stimulant psychosis: systematic review. Br J Psychiatry 185:196–204.

602 C. Marchesi et al.

- Goñi-Allo B, Ramos M, Hervias I, Lasheras B, Aguirre N. 2006. Studies on striatal neurotoxicity caused by the 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine/malnate combination: implications for serotonin/ dopamine interactions. J Psychopharmacol 20: 245–256.
- Gouzoulis-Mayfrank E, Daumann J. 2006. Neurotoxicity of methylenedioxymethamphetamines (MDMA; ecstasy) in humans: how strong is the evidence for persistent brain damage? Addiction 101:348–361.
- Green AR, Mechan AO, Elliott JM, O'Shea E, Colado MI. 2003. The pharmachology and clinical pharmachology of 3,4methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA, "ecstasy"). Pharmacol Rev 55:463–508.
- Huizinik AC, Ferdinand RF, Van der Ende J, Verhulst FC. 2006. Symptoms of anxiety and depression in childhood and use of MDMA: prospective, population based study. Br Med J 332:825–828.
- Kalant H. 2001. The pharmachology and toxicology of "ecstasy" (MDMA) and related drugs. Can Med Assoc J 165:917–928.
- Kish SJ, Furukawa Y, Ang L, Vorce SP, Kalasinsky KS. 2000. Striatal serotonin is depleted in brain of a human MDMA (ecstasy) user. Neurology 55:294–296.
- Lieb K, Zanarini MC, Schmahl C, Linehan MM, Bohus M. 2004. Borderline personality disorder. Lancet 364:453–461.
- Lieb R, Schuetz CG, Pfister H, von Sydow K, Wittchen HU. 2002. Mental disorders in ecstasy users: a prospective-longitudinal investigation. Drug Alcohol Depend 68:195–207.
- McCann UD, Szabo Z, Scheffe U, Dannals RF, Ricaurte GA. 1998. Positron emission tomographic evidence of toxic effect of MDMA ("Ecstasy") on brain serotonin neurons in human beings. Lancet 352:1433–1437.
- McGuire P, Cope H, Fahy TA. 1994. Diversity of psychopatology associated with use of 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine ("Ecstasy"). Br J Psychiatry 165:391–395.

- Micallef J, Blin O. 2001. Neurobiology and clinical pharmachology of obsessive-compulsive disorder. Clin Neuropharmacol 24:191–207.
- Parrott AC, Milani RM, Parmar R, Turner JJD. 2001. Recreational ecstasy/MDMA and other drug users from the UK and Italy: psychiatric symptoms and psychobiological problems. Psychopharmacology 159:77–82.
- Pfohl B, Blum N, Zimmerman M. 1997. Structured interview for DSM-IV personality. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press.
- Poyurovsky M, Weizman A, Weizman R. 2004. Obsessivecompulsive disorder in schizophreina. Clinical characteristic and treatment. CNS Drugs 18:989–1010.
- Schifano F, Di Furia L, Forza G, Minicuci N, Bricolo R. 1998. MDMA ("ecstasy") consumption in the context of polydrug abuse: a report on 150 patients. Drug Alcohol Depend 52:85– 90.
- Schifano F. 2000. Potential human neurotoxicity of MDMA ("Ecstasy"): subjective self-reports, evidence from an Italian drug addiction centre and clinical case studies. Neuropsychobiology 42:25–33.
- Shih RA, Belmonte PL, Zandi PP. 2004. A review of the evidence from family, twin and adoption studies for a genetic contribution to adult psychiatric disorders. Int Rev Psychiatry 16:260– 283.
- Skodol AE, Gunderson JG, Pfohl B, Widiger TA, Livesley WJ., Siever LJ. 2002. The borderline diagnosis I: Psychopathology, comorbidity, and personality structure. Biol Psychiatry 51:936– 950.
- Topp L, Hando J, Dillon P, Roche A, Solowij N. 1999. Ecstasy use in Australia: patterns of use and associated harm. Drug Alcohol Depend 55:105–115.
- Zohar J, Chropa M, Sasson Y, Amiaz R, Amital D. 2000. Obsessive-compulsive disorder: serotonin and beyond. World J Biol Psychiatry 1:92–100.



Bispectral index monitoring during dissociative pseudo-seizure

ALEXANDER SARTORIUS¹ & CHRISTIAN SCHMAHL²

¹Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, and ²Department of Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, Central Institute of Mental Health, Mannheim, Germany

Abstract

Severe forms of dissociation or conversion can lead to events clinically often described as pseudo-seizures. Borderline personality disorder is a clinical condition which is often accompanied by a high susceptibility for dissociation and dissociative states are characterized by memory disturbance and perceptual alterations. We report a case of a patient with a complete anaesthesia, paralysis and amnesia for about 1 h. Within this time period we measured a bispectrum EEG index called BIS. Deepest recorded BIS value was 47. The described pattern of short but deep BIS reductions is completely discongruent to the findings during physiological sleep, during general anaesthesia, but very similar (and even more pronounced) to those during self-hypnosis. This makes former assumptions plausible that hypnosis and severe forms of dissociation (or conversion) may share common aetiologies.

Key words: Bispectral index, dissociation, hypnosis, pseudo-seizure, EEG

Introduction

Severe forms of dissociation or conversion can lead to events clinically often described as pseudoseizures. Borderline personality disorder is a clinical condition which is often accompanied by a high susceptibility for dissociation and dissociative states are characterized by memory disturbance and perceptual alterations (Ludascher et al. 2007). As an extreme variant, pseudo-seizures often appear as events with complete anaesthesia, paralysis and amnesia. In such cases patients have a high risk of iatrogenic complications resulting from a treatment of an assumed status epilepticus (Pakalnis et al. 1991).

Here, we report a case of a patient with a complete anaesthesia, paralysis and amnesia for about 1 h. Within this time period we measured a bispectrum EEG index called BIS, which is usually recorded during general anaesthesia to gain information about the 'depth of anaesthesia' and to prevent awareness. In short, bispectrum analyses are used to search for nonlinear interactions. The well-known Fourier transform of the second-order cumulant is the traditional power spectrum. To gain additional information about phases or coherences a thirdorder cumulant-generating Fourier transform can be performed which is called bispectrum. Bispectral index is a squared normalized version of the bispectrum yielding dimensionless numbers between 0 (indicating the absence of brain electrical activity) and 100 (indicating an awake patient) (Sigl et al. 1994).

Case report

We report a female 32-year-old patient with a diagnosis of borderline personality disorder according to DSM-IV criteria without somatic comorbidity, who was in inpatient treatment at our institution. She had been suffering from pseudoepileptic seizures for about 2 years, neurological causes had been carefully ruled out. Body weight was 88 kg, height 163 cm. In initial clinical examination (12/2006) she presented without pathological findings. No pathological alterations were detected in routine laboratory investigations. Drug screening and pregnancy test were also negative. She received a stable medication with valproate 1200 mg/day, citalopram 20 mg/day and quetiapine 150 mg/day.

The patient initially hyperventilated for about 5 min and then presented with a pseudo-seizure

Correspondence: Alexander Sartorius, Dipl Phys, MD, Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Central Institute of Mental Health, J5, 68159 Mannheim, Germany. Tel: +49 621 1703 2984. Fax: +49 621 1703 3165. E-mail: Alexander.Sartorius@zi-mannheim.de

(Received 1 May 2007; revised 18 June 2007; accepted 21 June 2007) ISSN 1562-2975 print/ISSN 1814-1412 online © 2009 Informa UK Ltd. (Informa Healthcare, Taylor & Francis AS) DOI: 10.3109/15622970701530933 with complete paralysis, anaesthesia, and unconsciousness for about 60 min. Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) was 3 for the whole time period. She had a complete amnesia for this event. Neurological status was completely normal after returning to full vigilance.

BIS was recorded for about 12 min (see Figure 1) from 7 to 19 min after pseudo-seizure initiation. Deepest recorded BIS value was 47. The signal quality index (SQI) was at maximum during the whole recording and the BIS number was validated by the device (solid form displayed) throughout the measurement. No one touched the patient or attempted to arouse the patient during the time of the recording.

Discussion

To the best of our knowledge this is the second report quantifying BIS during a dissociative pseudoseizure with complete paralysis, analgesia and amnesia. There is just one case report of a patient suffering from a pseudo-seizure and a subsequent BIS recording. In the case of Donnelly et al. (2006) the patient had received hypnotic medication (benzodiazepines and phenytoin) before monitoring and time course was not graphically demonstrated. They described that immediate readings gave a BIS number in the mid-80s stabilizing between 92 and 95. Then, presumably after a short time period recording was stopped.

Physiological sleep and general anaesthesia share about the same levels of total BIS reduction: Slow wave sleep BIS levels are usually between 40 and 60, REM sleep levels between 50 and 60 (Sleigh et al.



Figure 1. BIS-values during case of pseudo-seizure.

1999; Nieuwenhuijs et al. 2002). During general anaesthesia (and, e.g., during anaesthesia for electroconvulsive therapy) BIS values drop to values between 40 and 60 (Johansen 2006; Sartorius et al. 2006). The main point with respect to this report is the slow and uniformly continuous manner of BIS reductions in sleep and anaesthesia. In our case the described pattern of short but deep BIS reductions (Figure 1) is completely discongruent to the findings during physiological sleep or during general anaesthesia, but very similar (and even more pronounced) to those during self-hypnosis (Burkle et al. 2005). Burkle et al. showed a graphical time course with three abrupt BIS droppings below 80 during the central 50 min of a surgical procedure (a mastectomy and a sentinel node biopsy in a female patient suffering from an invasive ductal breast carcinoma). This makes former assumptions plausible that hypnosis and severe forms of dissociation (or conversion) may share common aetiologies. Such associations have already been claimed for hysterical and hypnotic blindness (Sackeim et al. 1979) or hysterical conversion and hypnosis in general (Babinski 1914; Vuilleumier 2005).

The time-pattern of multiple, short-term, discontinuous and striking BIS-'droppings' in our case and in the case of self-hypnosis (Burkle et al. 2005) is surprisingly different from the stable pattern of analgesia, paralysis, and unconsciousness, which were continuous and without abrupt fluctuations.

From an anaesthesiological point of view 'anaesthesia' can be split up into a triangle consisting of 'hypnosis', analgesia and areflexia. BIS reflects mainly 'hypnosis' and not analgesia or areflexia. The anaesthesiological term 'hypnosis' can be further split up into awareness, consciousness and loss of response or recall (amnesia) (Rosow et al. 2001). Therefore, a continuous BIS below a certain level seems not to be necessary (but sufficient) to reach 'hypnosis'.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

References

Babinski MJ. 1914. Contribution à l'étude des troubles mentaux dans l'hémiplégie organique cérébrale. Revue Neurologique 27:845–848.

- Burkle CM, Jankowski CJ, Torsher LC, Rho EH, Degnim AC. 2005. BIS monitor findings during self-hypnosis. J Clin Monit Comput 19:391–393.
- Donnelly B, Boyd V. 2006. Use of the bispectral index (BIS) monitor to aid in the diagnosis of pseudoseizures. Br J Anaesth 96:538–539.
- Johansen JW. 2006. Update on bispectral index monitoring. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol 20:81–99.
- Ludascher P, Bohus M, Lieb K, Philipsen A, Jochims A, Schmahl C. 2007. Elevated pain thresholds correlate with dissociation and aversive arousal in patients with borderline personality disorder. Psychiatry Res 149:291–296.
- Nieuwenhuijs D, Coleman EL, Douglas NJ, Drummond GB, Dahan A. 2002. Bispectral index values and spectral edge frequency at different stages of physiologic sleep. Anesth Analg 94:125–129.
- Pakalnis A, Drake ME Jr, Phillips B. 1991. Neuropsychiatric aspects of psychogenic status epilepticus. Neurology 41:1104– 1106.

- Rosow C, Manberg PJ. 2001. Bispectral index monitoring. Anesthesiol Clin N Am 19:947–966.
- Sackeim HA, Nordlie JW, Gur RC. 1979. A model of hysterical and hypnotic blindness: cognition, motivation, and awareness. J Abnorm Psychol 88:474–489.
- Sartorius A, Munoz-Canales EM, Krumm B, et al. 2006. ECT anesthesia: the lighter the better? Pharmacopsychiatry 39:201– 204.
- Sigl JC, Chamoun NG. 1994. An introduction to bispectral analysis for the electroencephalogram. J Clin Monit 10:392– 404.
- Sleigh JW, Andrzejowski J, Steyn-Ross A, Steyn-Ross M. 1999. The bispectral index: a measure of depth of sleep? Anesth Analg 88:659–661.
- Vuilleumier P. 2005. Hysterical conversion and brain function. Prog Brain Res 150:309–329.



Myocarditis after overdose of conventional antipsychotics

MANJEET S. BHATIA, RAVI GUPTA & JEEVANSHU DHAWAN

Department of Psychiatry, University College of Medical Sciences and GTB Hospital, Shahdara, Delhi, India

Abstract

Many reports are available regarding myocarditis induced by clozapine; however, it is an uncommon adverse effect with conventional antipsychotics. We are presenting a case who developed myocarditis after overdose of haloperidol and recovered in a few days after stopping the drug.

Key words: Myocarditis, haloperidol

Introduction

Myocarditis is not very common after conventional antipsychotics use, though many case reports describe its emergence after clozapine treatment (Kilian et al. 1999; Coulter et al. 2001; Grenade et al. 2001). Diagnosis of myocarditis is based upon electrocardiographic changes (transient ST-T wave abnormalities), elevated cardiac enzymes and sometimes signs of heart failure (Kirpekar et al. 2001; Wynne and Braunwald, 2005). We describe a patient who developed myocarditis after overdose of conventional antipsychotic drugs.

A 65-year-old female presented to the emergency room with complaints of unconsciousness and difficulty in breathing. Her relatives reported that she had taken an overdose of antipsychotics which were prescribed to her for the treatment of schizophrenia (haloperidol 15 mg/day, chlorpromazine 100 mg/day and trihexyphenidyl 6 mg/day) since the age of 37 years. According to her family members she had few exacerbations in the initial 20 years of contracting the illness, but was doing well on the medications as described above and did not suffer any exacerbation over the past 8 years. Although she was upset for the past few days as she had to take the pills everyday, she never disclosed any wish to harm herself or symptoms suggestive of depression. She was performing all her chores and was under regular follow-up of a psychiatrist. Past history and other medical records (reports of routine laboratory investigations, ECGs that were repeated annually) did not have evidence of any other chronic medical disorder. When empty strips of drugs were examined it appeared that she had consumed 1200 mg of chlorpromazine, 80 mg of haloperidol along with 10 mg of trihexyphenidyl in a single day, just before she was found unconscious. On examination her pulse rate was 92/min and it was irregular; right brachial systolic blood pressure was 70 mmHg, while diastolic blood pressure was not recordable; she was afebrile and respiration was laboured and shallow. She appeared pale and was responding only to deep painful stimuli. Chest examination revealed bilateral coarse crepitations and neurological examination showed sluggish deep tendon reflexes with planter reflex equivocal bilaterally. A venous blood sample was drawn for investigations.

Due to her condition, 100% oxygen was started after securing airway at a rate of 2–3 l/min, intravenous dopamine infusion was started at a rate of 5 μ g/ kg per min. Immediate EKG was ordered and showed sinus rhythm, generalized ST depression along with T wave inversion in V3–V6 leads along with multiple ventricular ectopic beats. Arterial blood gas analysis gave evidence of metabolic acidosis that was treated with intravenous Sodabicarb. She was shifted to the intensive care unit, where rate of dopamine was increased to 8 μ g/kg per min with Ringer Lactate infusion.

Her blood sample was sent for routine haematological and biochemical examination with electrolyte

(Received 2 June 2007; accepted 10 September 2007)

Correspondence: Ravi Gupta, MBBS, MD, 1061, Kissan marg, Barkat Nagar, Jaipur-302015, India. Tel: +91 99119 22595. E-mail: guptaravi_2003@yahoo.co.in

assessment and serum CPK. Results reveled that her hemoglobin was 11.6 g% (12–16 g%); TLC was 10,870/mm³ (4000–11,000/mm³); DLC: polymorphs 60% (55–65%), lymphocytes 38% (30– 40%), eosinophils 2%; blood urea was 65 mg% (20–40 mg%); serum Na⁺ was 134 mEq/l (130–145 mEq/l), serum K⁺ was 4.0 mEq/l (3.5–5 mEq/l); random blood sugar was 145 mg%, and serum CPK was 1873 U/l (50–150 U/l). Lipid profile was also within normal limits. A diagnosis of drug-induced myocarditis was made and treatment continued with the addition of platelet aggregation inhibitors.

By the second day she improved; BP escalated to 114/74 mmHg, her chest cleared, and level of consciousness improved. She was started with nasal tube feeding, and on the third day respiratory support was withdrawn and dopamine stopped. Her vitals improved further; ECG and CPK level came down to normal after 4 days (1168 U/l on the second day; 698 U/l on the third day and 110 U/l on the fourth day). She was discharged after 6 days with risperidone 2 mg/day after disappearance of all symptoms.

Discussion

In this case, diagnosis of myocarditis was made upon the clinical conditions of shock, ECG changes and cardiac enzymes. Other causes were excluded as the patient did not have any history of fever, substance use or exposure to any drug other than these psychotropic drugs that could induce myocarditis (Wynne and Braunwald, 2005), and the symptoms resolved after stopping the drug (Wynne and Braunwald, 2005). Myocarditis has been frequently reported after clozapine therapy (Kilian et al. 1999) and less commonly with other atypical antipsychotics e.g., quetiapine (Roesch-Ely et al. 2002); however, only 11 cases could be found for haloperidol and 14 for chlorpromazine (Coulter et al. 2001). It may occur due to type 1 hypersensitivity if it occurs early in the treatment (Kilian et al. 1999). Supporting reports are available that describe drug-induced myocarditis associated with peripheral eosinophilia and leukocytic infiltration in the myocardium (Kilian et al. 1999; Kirpekar et al. 2001; Ansari et al. 2003). However, we did not find peripheral eosinophilia and a histopathological report of myocardium was not available, we opine that direct myocardial damage, as hypothesized by Kilian et al. (1999), occurred in this case. This possibility is further supported by the elevated serum CPK level. In these circumstances, serum CPK elevation could occur in the presence of neuroleptic malignant syndrome, after skeletal muscle trauma, cardioversion, convulsions, etc.

However, we did not find any evidence of skeletal muscle trauma, or convulsion, and patient did not have any feature suggestive of neuroleptic malignant syndrome, e.g., rigidity, fever, labile blood pressure, etc., during hospital stay. It was made sure from the records that she had not received any intramuscular injection. Since she was brought in in a state of shock, an immediate intravenous line was established and all drugs were injected only via this route. Moreover, the pattern of normalization of serum CPK is very typical to that seen after myocardial damage (Antman and Braunwald 2005). Since the patient had been on the same drugs for a fairly long period without any sign of myocardial damage in the past, it is possible that the higher doses of the drugs induced the toxic reaction in the myocardium precipitating the clinical syndrome.

There remains a possibility that the patient had overdosed to deliberately harm herself. As many as 10% of schizophrenics commit deliberate self harm, but it is more common in subjects with frequent exacerbations, poor drug responders, being young, male, recent rejection, functional impairment, dependence on treatment, hopelessness, etc. (Norquist and Narrow 2000). Few of these factors were found in this patient; however, it is still difficult to comment whether it was such an attempt, as the patient did not disclose it on interview. However, it should be remembered that this patient was under our treatment only for a short duration and had a comorbid serious medical illness, and this situation might have prohibited the development of a therapeutic alliance.

In conclusion, we feel that even those drugs that are considered non-lethal should be prescribed with caution and should be kept away from patients, especially where a risk factor of overdosing is present.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

- Ansari A, Maron BJ, Berntson DG. 2003. Drug induced toxic myocarditis. Tex Heart Inst J 30:76–79.
- Antman EM, Braunwald E. 2005. ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. In: Kasper DL, Braunwald E, Fauci AS, Hauser SL, Longo DL, Jameson JL, editors. Harrisons principles of internal medicine. New York: McGraw Hill. pp 1448–1459.

- Coulter DM, Bate A, Meyboom RHB, Lindquist M, Edwards IR. 2001. Antipsychotic drugs and heart muscle disorder in international pharmacovigilance: data mining study. Br Med J 322:1207–1209.
- Grenade LL, Graham D, Trontell A. 2001. Myocarditis and cardiomayopathy associated with clozapine use in United States. New Eng J Med 345:224–225.
- Kilian JG, Kerr K, Lawrance C, Celermajer DS. 1999. Myocarditis and cardiomyopathy associated with clozapine. Lancet 354:1841–1845.
- Kirpekar VC, Deshpande SM, Joshi PP. 2001. Reversible myocarditis in a patient receiving clozapine. Indian Heart J 53:779–781.
- Norquist GS, Narrow WE. 2000. Schizophrenia: Epidemiology. In: Sadock BJ, Sadock VA, editors. Comprehensive textbook of psychiatry. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams and Williams. pp 1110–1116.
- Roesch-Ely D, Einsiedel RV, Kathöfer S, Schwaninger M, Weisbrod M. 2002. Myocarditis with quetiapine. Am J Psychiatry 159:1607–1608.
- Wynne J, Braunwald E. 2005. Cardiomyopathy and myocarditis. In: Kasper DL, Braunwald E, Fauci AS, Hauser SL, Longo DL, Jameson JL, editors. Harrisons principles of internal medicine. New York: McGraw Hill. pp 1408–1414.



A case of non-SIADH-induced hyponatremia in depression after treatment with reboxetine

KATJA KOELKEBECK¹, KATHARINA DOMSCHKE¹, PETER ZWANZGER¹, GUENTER HETZEL¹*, DETLEF LANG² & VOLKER AROLT¹

¹University of Muenster, Department of Psychiatry, Muenster, Germany, and ²University of Muenster, Department of Internal Medicine D, Muenster, Germany

Abstract

Hyponatremia is a well-known side effect of antidepressant treatment with serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI) or combined serotonin and noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors (SNRI), and is linked to the syndrome of inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone (SIADH) in most cases. In contrast, only very few data are available on hyponatremia following treatment with selective noradrenalin reuptake inhibitors (NaRI). In this report, we describe the case of a patient who developed severe hyponatremia after treatment with reboxetine. However, extensive laboratory testing did not reveal inappropriate secretion of ADH, suggesting that SIADH did not account for hyponatremia in our case. Proposing further examination of the underlying pathomechanism of hyponatremia as a side effect of NaRIs, we discuss the importance of careful monitoring of serum sodium levels in patients treated with NaRIs.

Key words: Hyponatremia, SIADH, antidepressants, depression, reboxetine

Introduction

Sufficient evidence has been provided showing that recent antidepressants such as selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), selective serotonin/noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs) or noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors (NaRIs) are safe and well tolerated and therefore particularly suitable for treatment of depression in the elderly. However, treatment with SSRIs and SNRIs (e.g., Kirby and Ames 2001; Romero et al. 2007; Singh 2007) is sometimes accompanied by hyponatremia, which is considered a potential side effect of antidepressants and linked to the syndrome of inadequate antidiuretic hormone secretion (SIADH) in the majority of cases (Spigset and Hedenmalm 1996; Bouman et al. 1998; Leung et al. 1998; Strachan and Shepherd 1998; Kirby and Ames 2001), leading to a retention of solute-free water. Hyponatremia is a phenomenon often observed in the elderly, with drug side effects and polydipsia (Kirby and Ames 2001) being possible causes. Drugs may trigger the inappropriate secretion of the antidiuretic hormone, also known as vasopressin, and may thus lead to severe side effects, e.g., seizures and coma (e.g., Siegel et al. 1998). Compared to SSRIs and SNRIs there are only few data available on hyponatremia following treatment with NaRIs (Ranieri et al. 2000; Sand et al. 2002; Abdelrahman et al. 2003), some of them provided by reports to the manufacturing company (Schwartz and Veith 2000). These cases comprise observations of SIADH-induced hyponatremia in reboxetinemedicated elderly patients.

In this report, we present the case of another patient, who developed hyponatremia after treatment with reboxetine, however without any signs of inadequate ADH secretion. Remarkably, this patient had developed hyponatremia in a previous episode after treatment with an SNRI.

Case report

Mrs K. was a 73-year-old patient who had been suffering from recurrent major depression for many years. When she was admitted to the Department of Psychiatry for the first time, antidepressant

* Present address: Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy II, Hospital for Psychiatry and Neurology, Winnenden, Germany. Correspondence: Katja Koelkebeck, MD, Department of Psychiatry, University of Muenster, Albert-Schweitzer-Str. 11, 48149 Muenster, Germany. Tel: +49 251 8356601. Fax: +49 251 8356612. E-mail: katja.koelkebeck@ukmuenster.de

(Received 25 June 2007; accepted 17 September 2007)

treatment with venlafaxine had led to severe hyponatremia with serum sodium levels of 115 mmol/l (reference range: 132–145 mmol/l). At that time, the patient had symptoms such as fatigue, disorientation, cognitive deficits, and delusions. Although antidepressant treatment with venlafaxine was discontinued and changed to reboxetine up to 8 mg/ day, hyponatremia and hyponatremia-associated symptoms persisted until reboxetine dosage was reduced to 4 mg/day. During the following 2-year interval, the patient kept stable with regard to depression. Serum sodium levels during reboxetine treatment with a daily dose of 4 mg were within normal range. At this time, venlafaxine was considered to be the most likely cause for hyponatremia in this patient.

Two years later, depression recurred despite continuation of antidepressant treatment and the patient was again admitted to our hospital. At the time of admission her serum sodium levels were within a normal range. Antidepressant medication was changed to mirtazapine up to 60 mg and later to clomipramine up to 150 mg/day. At all times laboratory monitoring showed normal serum sodium levels. After a temporary improvement of depressive symptoms, antidepressant treatment again had to be changed because of another relapse. Since the patient had been stable during reboxetine treatment for 2 years and had a history of hyponatremia associated with SSRI/SNRI treatment, another course of reboxetine was initiated. However, after re-administration of reboxetine at a daily dose of 4 mg, serum sodium dropped to 123 mmol/l within 7 days. Severe hyponatremia-associated symptoms such as psychotic symptoms and aggressive behaviour recurred. After discontinuation of antidepressant treatment and substitution of sodium chloride the symptoms disappeared within a few days and the serum sodium returned to a lownormal level. Administration of haloperidol did not influence the patient's symptomatology.

Since hyponatremia is one of the most common electrolyte disorders in elderly patients and can occur due to a number of different reasons, extensive clinical and laboratory examinations were carried out during this hospitalisation period to rule out any other medical reason or contributing factors, e.g., tumours, respiratory diseases, acute nervous system or metabolic diseases potentially influencing volume and sodium level regulation (Ranieri et al. 2000). Apart from arterial hypertension the patient's medical history was unremarkable. For the last 5 years her blood pressure had been treated with metoprolol 95 mg and hydrochlorothiazide 12.5 mg, and was stable. Diagnostic screening for infections, tumours or neurological diseases was negative. The patient's EEG was intermittently slowed in the left occipital brain region, while MRI of the brain was normal with respect to the patient's age. Mini Mental State Examination at the time of admission was 28 points. There was no evidence of psychogenic polydipsia (Kirby and Ames 2001), volume depletion or polyuria. Ultrasonography of the kidney revealed only age-related changes. The patient suffered from mild hyperglycemia (HbA1c, 5.1%; reference range, 3.4– 4.7%). The patient had no history of alcohol abuse, γ -GT (25 U/l, reference range, <39) and lipase (52 U/l, reference range, 13–60 U/l) were within the normal range. TSH (2.79 U/l, reference range, 0.35–4.5 U/l) was also within normal limits.

Moreover, laboratory blood and urine tests were carried out to screen for SIADH. However, serum levels of antidiuretic hormone (ADH) (1.3 and 1.7 pg/ml, reference range, 1.1–4.5 pg/ml), serum-osmolality (291 and 297 mOsm/kg, reference range, 280–320 mOsm/kg), urine specific gravity (1.010 g/ml, reference range, 1.010–1.025 g/ml), urine osmolality (351 mOsm/kg, reference range, 50–1200 mOsm/kg) and urine sodium (63 mmol/l, reference range, 54–150 mmol/l) were within the normal range. Therefore, SIADH was ruled out as a potential reason for hyponatremia in our patient.

Discussion

In the present case, antidepressant treatment with reboxetine was followed by severe hyponatremia accompanied by typical hyponatremia-associated symptoms such as disorientation, delusions and agitation. This constellation is in accordance with four previous reports also showing the occurrence of hyponatremia during reboxetine treatment (Ranieri et al. 2000; Schwartz and Veith 2000; Sand et al. 2002; Abdelrahman et al. 2003). In line with earlier studies, symptoms improved after the administration of sodium chloride, while no response to antipsychotic medication was observed (Brown et al. 1983; Verghese et al. 1998; Kawai et al. 2002). This underlines the notion that observed neuropsychological symptoms seem to be hyponatremia-related. However, further clinical and laboratory parameters failed to detect any signs of inadequate ADH secretion. Thus, in the present case hyponatremia has unlikely been induced by SIADH. Apart from that other medical reasons for hyponatremia were ruled out by means of extensive laboratory and clinical examinations. It is remarkable that initially our patient had developed hyponatremia during treatment with an SNRI, suggesting a particular vulnerability to this side effect. It could also be speculated that subsequent treatment with reboxetine might have maintained hyponatremia and the associated symptoms. Taking into account the improvement of symptoms after dose reduction, hyponatremia under reboxetine seems to be dosedependent.

In conclusion, this is the first report on hyponatremia induced by reboxetine that is not associated with inadequate ADH secretion. The previous development of hyponatremia after treatment with SNRIs suggests an increased vulnerability to this kind of side effects in some patients, which might not be limited to antidepressant subgroups. The case underlines the necessity of close laboratory monitoring of serum sodium levels during antidepressant treatment both with SSRIs and NaRIs in elderly people – even though these compounds are usually safe and well tolerated. Therefore, further examination of the pathomechanism of hyponatremia as a side effect after NaRI treatment should be aimed at.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

References

- Abdelrahman N, Kleinman Y, Rund D, Da'as N. 2003. Hyponatremia associated with the initiation of reboxetine therapy. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 59:177.
- Bouman WP, Pinner G, Johnson H. 1998. Incidence of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) induced hyponatraemia

due to the syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone (SIADH) secretion in the elderly. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 13:12–15.

- Brown RP, Kocsis JH, Cohen SK. 1983. Delusional depression and inappropriate antidiuretic hormone secretion. Biol Psychiatry 18:1059–1063.
- Kawai N, Baba A, Suzuki T. 2002. Risperidone failed to improve polydipsia-hyponatremia of the schizophrenic patients. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 56:107–110.
- Kirby D, Ames D. 2001. Hyponatraemia and selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitors in elderly patients. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 16:484–493.
- Leung VP, Chiu HF, Lam LC. 1998. Hyponatremia associated with paroxetine. Pharmacopsychiatry 31:32–34.
- Ranieri P, Franzoni S, Trabucchi M. 2000. Reboxetine and hyponatremia. New Engl J Med 342:215–216.
- Romero S, Pintor L, Serra M, Plana T, Navarro V, Gasto C, et al. 2007. Syndrome of inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone due to citalopram and venlafaxine. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 29:81–84.
- Sand PG, Atzinger AK, Buwe A. 2002. SNRI and hyponatremia. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 17:491–492.
- Schwartz G, Veith J. 2000. Reboxetine and Hyponatremia. New Engl J Med 342:215–216.
- Siegel AJ, Baldessarini RJ, Klepser MB, McDonald JC. 1998. Primary and drug-induced disorders of water homeostasis in psychiatric patients: principles of diagnosis and management. Harvard Rev Psychiatry 6:190–200.
- Singh T. 2007. Atomoxetine-induced hypontremia. Aust NZ J Psychiatry 41:458.
- Spigset O, Hedenmalm K. 1996. Hyponatremia during treatment with clomipramine, perphenazine, or clozapine: study of therapeutic drug monitoring samples. J Clin Psychopharmacol 16:412–414.
- Strachan J, Shepherd J. 1998. Hyponatraemia associated with the use of selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitors. Aust NZ J Psychiatry 32:295–298.
- Verghese C, Abraham G, Nair C, et al. 1998. Absence of changes in antidiuretic hormone, angiotensin II, and atrial natriuretic peptide with clozapine treatment of polydipsia-hyponatremia: 2 case reports. J Clin Psychiatry 59:415–419.



Misdiagnosis of bipolar disorder as borderline personality disorder: clinical and economic consequences

HYACINTH JOHN¹ & VERINDER SHARMA^{2,3}

¹Department of Psychiatry, University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario, Canada, ²Departments of Psychiatry and Obstetrics & Gynecology, University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario, Canada, and ³Specialized Adult Program, Regional Mental Health Care London, London, Ontario, Canada

Abstract

We report the case of a 26-year-old patient with bipolar spectrum disorder who was misdiagnosed with borderline personality disorder. In spite of trials of various psychotropic drugs and frequent, prolonged hospitalizations, the patient had remained chronically symptomatic. Following a detailed examination of the longitudinal illness course and confirmation of the diagnosis of bipolar spectrum disorder, antidepressants were discontinued and the patient was treated with lamotrigine and quetiapine. This treatment resulted in sustained euthymia and cessation of deliberate self-harm in addition to a significant reduction in utilization of health resources.

Key words: Bipolar disorder, borderline personality disorder, misdiagnosis, deliberate self-harm, economic burden

Introduction

Borderline personality disorder occurs in 1-2% of the general population and is arguably the most common personality disorder encountered in clinical settings (Torgersen et al. 2001) affecting about 10% of psychiatric outpatients and up to 20% of inpatients (Skokol et al. 2002).

The relationship between borderline personality disorder and bipolar disorders remains controversial (Benazzi 2006; Gunderson et al. 2006; Paris et al. 2007). The overlapping symptoms between the two disorders such as affective instability, unstable interpersonal relationships, and impulsivity contribute to the diagnostic confusion. Among young people the presence of mixed episodes makes it difficult to distinguish between borderline personality disorder and an emerging bipolar disorder (Akiskal et al. 1997). Subsyndromal symptoms that occur interepisodically in patients with bipolar disorder may resemble borderline psychopathology (Akiskal et al. 1997).

The consequences of misdiagnosis of bipolar disorder as borderline personality disorder can be serious, as patients may not receive optimal treatment. We present the case of a patient with bipolar spectrum disorder who was misdiagnosed as having borderline personality disorder and discuss the clinical and economic consequences of misdiagnosis and mismanagement.

Case history

Mrs D is a 26-year-old unemployed, happily married lady who developed symptoms of anorexia nervosa at the age of 15. The onset of symptoms coincided with her sexual abuse by a former boyfriend. Her first contact with psychiatry was at the age of 17 when she was hospitalized for anorexia nervosa. After discharge from hospital, the patient continued to struggle with symptoms of the eating disorder; however, she coped quite well over the next 3 years. The start of a new relationship with her current husband at the age of 21 appeared to trigger thoughts of her previous abuse and she developed symptoms of depression including sad mood, anhedonia, social withdrawal, disrupted sleep, decreased appetite, lack of energy, poor concentration, and thoughts of suicide. She denied having any symptoms of (hypo)mania or psychosis and there was no history of substance use disorders. Family history

Correspondence: Dr Verinder Sharma, Specialized Adult Program, Regional Mental Health Care London, 850 Highbury Avenue North, PO Box 5532, Station B, London, Ontario, Canada N6A 4H1. E-mail: vsharma@uwo.ca

(Received 19 April 2007; accepted 15 November 2007)

revealed presence of depression on the paternal side and anxiety disorders on the maternal side. Over a 4year period, she was tried on multiple psychotropic medications including neuroleptics, and benzodiazepines, and antidepressants, but never received mood stabilizers. Of the antidepressants tried, five were considered adequate trials, five were discontinued due to side effects and four were not used at a therapeutic range for an adequate treatment duration. Adequacy was defined as one trial of an average daily dose of a minimum 20 mg fluoxetine equivalent for a period of 90 days (Weilburg et al. 2003). There was an initial response to some of the antidepressants but the improvement was not sustained. Of the neuroleptics used, quetiapine was reported as beneficial in the reduction of anxiety and improvement of sleep only. The patient did not report any benefit with the use of benzodiazepines. Compliance to medications did not play a role in lack of response. In addition to a pharmacological approach she also participated in emotion-focused psychotherapy with a community psychologist on a weekly basis.

Soon after the introduction of antidepressants she began to engage in self-harm initially on a weekly basis and gradually the self-mutilation in the form of cutting became a daily occurrence. There had been episodes of self-harm on a couple of occasions as a teenager but never on a consistent basis. She had made 63 visits to the emergency department over a 4-year period including five visits for drug overdoses, 16 for suicidal ideation, and 42 for self inflicted lacerations. She had required 11 admissions to the inpatient psychiatry unit, one admission to the mood disorders unit and there were at least 65 outpatient hospital visits, which did not include weekly psychotherapy sessions. She was given multiple diagnoses including post-traumatic stress disorder, anorexia nervosa-restricting type, major depressive disorder, and dependant personality disorder but borderline personality disorder remained the main diagnosis. Interestingly, a formal personality assessment using the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis II Personality Disorders (SCID II) (First et al. 1997) completed by a community psychologist showed no evidence of Axis II psychopathology.

Admission to the Mood Disorders Program

Mrs D was referred to the Mood Disorders Program with a history of refractory depression and chronic suicidal ideation. She presented with symptoms of low mood, irritability, anger, racing thoughts, low energy, poor concentration, reduced interest and sleep disturbance. Her appetite was low but her weight had been stable. The Structured Clinical Interview for DSM IV (First et al. 1994) confirmed the current diagnosis of major depressive disorder and lifetime diagnoses of anorexia nervosa-restricting type, and post-traumatic stress disorder. According to the SCID-I there was no evidence of a bipolar disorder; however, she did meet the diagnostic criteria for bipolar spectrum disorder as proposed by Ghaemi et al. (2002). Using the Clinical Global Impressions Scale for use in bipolar illness (CGI-BP) (Spearing et al. 1997) for both depression and overall bipolar illness, the patient scored 6 (severely ill) on the severity of illness scale.

The patient met criteria A and B as well as six D criteria including hyperthymic personality, recurrent major depressive episodes, brief major depressive episodes, early age of onset of major depressive episodes, antidepressant wear-off and lack of response to >3 antidepressant treatment trials.

Her medications at the time of admission included nortriptyline 50 mg, quetiapine 100 mg, and trazodone 200 mg/day. She was weaned off the antidepressants due to lack of effectiveness. Moreover, there was evidence that antidepressants had lead to induction of mixed episodes in that after their initiation the patient reported a further decrease in mood, increased anger, irritability and racing thoughts. The quetiapine dose was optimized to 150 mg and she was started on lamotrigine which was gradually increased to 200 mg a day. During the 6 months following her discharge, she had three emergency department visits but there were no admissions to hospital. During this period she had reduced the lamotrigine dose to 150 mg due to

Table I. A proposed definition of bipolar spectrum disorder.

2. Antidepressant-induced mania or hypomania

- 1. Hyperthymic personality (at baseline, non-depressive state)
- 2. Recurrent major depressive episodes (>3)
- 3. Brief major depressive episodes (on average, <3 months)
- 4. Atypical depressive symptoms (DSM-IV criteria)
- 5. Psychotic major depressive episodes
- 6. Early age of onset of major depressive episode (<age 25)
- 7. Postpartum depression
- 8. Antidepressant "wear-off" (acute but not prophylactic response)
- 9. Lack of response to >3 antidepressant treatment trials

From: Ghaemi et al. (2002) Can J Psychiatry 47:125–134 (reproduced with permission).

A. At least one major depressive episode

B. No spontaneous hypomanic or manic episodes

C. Either of the following, plus at least two items from criterion D,

or both of the following plus one item from criterion D: 1. A family history of bipolar disorder in a first-degree relative

D. If no items from criterion C are present, six of the following nine criteria are needed:

614 H. John & V. Sharma

financial concerns about her ability to pay for the drug costs. Once drug coverage was obtained the lamotrigine dose was increased to 200 mg and quetiapine to 300 mg/day. Over the past 2 years she has not had any visits to the emergency department and she has not engaged in self-harm behavior. Once the medications were adjusted she was classified as much improved on the CGI-BP, compared with the preceding and worst phase of illness. The patient did not report any medication side effects that interfered with her function or comfort.

Economic burden

We calculated the economic burden associated with emergency room visits and hospital admissions. Over a 51-month period prior to her admission to the Mood Disorders Program, the total cost was calculated at \$102,968 with an average yearly cost of \$24,228. Since being diagnosed with bipolar spectrum disorder and managed with lamotrigine and quetiapine, she has had three visits to the emergency department and no admissions to hospital. The total cost incurred over this 12-month period was \$627.

Discussion

The patient's primary diagnosis prior to admission to the Mood Disorders Program was borderline personality disorder. However, a closer examination of the longitudinal course suggested a diagnosis of bipolar spectrum disorder as proposed by Ghaemi et al. (2002). Additionally the diagnosis of mixed depression should be considered (Benazzi et al. 2004). Mixed depression is based on the coexistence of a major depressive episode and at least two of three excitatory symptoms including inner tension, psychomotor agitation, and racing thoughts. This clinical picture emerged after the patient received antidepressant medications. Antidepressants are known to cause treatment refractoriness in patients with a bipolar diathesis (Sharma 2001; Sharma et al. 2005) and may contribute to suicidality by inducing mixed episodes (Balazs et al. 2006). Increased risk of suicidality in mixed depression may be mediated by irritability and psychomotor agitation (Balazs et al. 2006). When there is suspicion of a bipolar diathesis, antidepressants should be used with caution in monotherapy or in combination with mood stabilizers and/or neuroleptics. Despite trials of several antidepressants used alone or in combination with neuroleptics, she remained highly symptomatic and engaged in self-abusive behaviour on a daily basis. It is likely that both the discontinuation of antidepressants as well as the addition of lamotrigine to

quetiapine contributed to the patient's ability to achieve and maintain euthymia.

Differentiating borderline personality disorder from bipolar disorder is challenging in the clinical setting particularly in regards to the overlap of affective instability and impulsivity. To further complicate the diagnostic challenge, studies demonstrate a high co-occurrence between these two disorders (Magill 2004; Paris et al. 2007). A detailed longitudinal history can help differentiate if the symptoms represent discrete episodes or a long-standing pattern of functioning. With the overlap of affective lability and impulsivity between bipolar disorder and borderline personality disorder one would expect a similar response to mood stabilizers and atypical neuroleptics. Mood stabilizers and atypical neuroleptics are effective in controlling mood fluctuations in bipolar disorder (Evins 2003; Moller and Nasrallah 2003; Hadjipavlou et al. 2004; Perlis et al. 2006); however, in borderline personality disorder these medications primarily effect impulsivity (Pinto and Akiskal 1998; Hollander et al. 2001, 2005; Zanarini and Frankenburg 2001; Frankenburg and Zanarini 2002; Hilger et al. 2003; Bogenschutz and Nurnberg 2004; Preston et al. 2004; Zanarini et al. 2004). More research will need to be done to make direct comparisons of response to medications specifically in patients without comorbid illness (Binks et al. 2006).

The financial burden associated with the misdiagnosis of bipolar disorder can be staggering, but the emotional pain and suffering that the patients and their families endure is of prime concern. Once the patient is labelled with a personality disorder, health care professionals believe that the patient is unlikely to improve, will not benefit from medication management and any treatment compliance will be poor (Lewis and Appleby 1988). Patients may feel that they are not being listened to or taken seriously. This can further exacerbate their symptoms as they become desperate to do impulsive things to be heard. Often times they give up on themselves and believe that there is no chance of improvement. This was the case with Mrs D, who felt that once diagnosed with borderline personality disorder her symptoms were not taken seriously.

Unfortunately, once the patient has been diagnosed as having a personality disorder, psychiatrists often see these patients as problematic and undeserving of medical care (Lewis and Appleby 1988; Pfohl et al. 1999; Krawitz 2004). Without the proper diagnosis and management they continue to place a large burden on the mental health system. This case emphasizes the need to be cautious about diagnosing individuals with a personality disorder based solely on a cross-sectional assessment. Importance must be placed on obtaining a detailed longitudinal history to avoid the negative consequences that can be deleterious for both the patient and the mental health care system.

Acknowledgements

Mrs Cynthia S. Corpse and Mrs Christine I. Drake are thanked for their help in the preparation of the manuscript.

Statement of interest

In the past 2 years, Dr Verinder Sharma has received funds for research from the following: Astrazeneca, Lilly, Novartis, Ontario Mental Health Foundation, Stanley Foundation, Servier, Lilly, and Janssen-Ortho. Dr Hyacinth John has no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

- Akiskal H, Judd LL, Lemmi H. 1997. Subthreshold depressions: clinical and polysomnographic validation of dysthymic, residual and masked forms. J Affect Disord 45:53–63.
- Balazs J, Benazzi F, Rihmer Z, et al. 2006. The close link between suicide attempts and mixed (bipolar) depression: implications for suicide prevention. J Affective Disord 91:133–138.
- Benazzi F. 2006. Borderline personality-bipolar spectrum relationship. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 30:68– 74.
- Benazzi F, Koukopoulos A, Akiskal HS. 2004. Toward a validation of a new definition of agitated depression as a bipolar mixed state (mixed depression). Eur Psychiatry 19:85–90.
- Binks CA, Fenton M, McCarthy L, Lee T, Adams CE, Duggan C. 2006. Pharmacological interventions for people with borderline personality disorder. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 1:CD005653.
- Bogenschutz MP, Nurnberg GH. 2004. Olanzapine versus placebo in the treatment of borderline personality disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 65:104–109.
- Evins AE. 2003. Efficacy of newer anticonvusant medications in bipolar spectrum mood disorders. J Clin Psychiatry 64:9–14.
- First MB, Spitzer RL, Gibbon M, Williams JBW. 1994. Structured Clinical Interview for Axis I DSM-IV Disorders, patient edition. SCID-I/P, Version 2.0. New York: New York State Psychiatric Institute, Biometrics Research.
- First MB, Spitzer RL, Gibbon M, Williams JBW, Benjamin L. 1997. Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis II Personality Disorders (SCID-II). Biometrics Research Department, New York State Psychiatric Institute, Biometrics Research.
- Frankenburg FR, Zanarini MC. 2002. Divalprox sodium treatment of women with borderline personality disorder and bipolar II disorder: a double-blind placebo controlled pilot study. J Clin Psychiatry 63:442–446.
- Ghaemi SN, Ko JY, Goodwin FK. 2002. "Cade's disease" and beyond: misdiagnosis, antidepressant use, and a proposed definition for bipolar spectrum disorder. Can J Psychiatry 47:125–134.
- Gunderson JG, Weinberg I, Daversa MT, et al. 2006. Descriptive and longitudinal observations on the relationship of borderline personality disorder and bipolar disorder. Am J Psychiatry 163:1173–1178.

- Hadjipavlou G, Mok H, Yatham LN. 2004. Pharmcotherpay of bipolar II disorder: a critical review of current evidence. Bipolar Disord 6:14–25.
- Hilger E, Barnas C, Kasper S. 2003. Quetiapine in the treatment of borderline personality disorder. World J Biol Psychiatry 1:42–44.
- Hollander E, Allen A, Lopez RP, et al. 2001. A preliminary double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of divalproex sodium in borderline personality disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 62:199–203.
- Hollander E, Swann A, Coccaro EF, Jiang P, Smith TB. 2005. Impact of trait impulsivity and state aggression on divalproex versus placebo response in borderline personality disorder. Am J Psychiatry 162:621–624.
- Krawitz R. 2004. Borderline Personality Disorder: Attitudinal change following training. Aust NZ J Psychiatry 38:554–559.
- Lewis G, Appleby L. 1988. Personality disorder: the patients psychiatrists dislike. Br J Psychiatry 153:44–49.
- Magill C. 2004. The boundry between borderline personality disorder and bipolar disorder: current concepts and challenges. Can J Psychiatry 49:551–556.
- Moller HJ, Nasrallah HA. 2003. Treatment of bipolar disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 64:9–17.
- Paris J, Gunderson J, Weinberg I. 2007. The interface between borderline personality disorder and bipolar spectrum disorders. Compr Psychiatry 48:145–154.
- Perlis RH, Welge JA, Vornik LA, Hirschfeld RM, Keck PE. 2006. Atypical antipsychotics in the treatment of mania: a metaanalysis of randomized, placebo-controlled trials. J Clin Psychiatry 67:509–516.
- Pfohl B, Silk K, Robins C. 1999. Attitudes towards borderline personality disorder: a survey of 752 clinicians. Geneva: International Society for the Study of Personality Disorders 6th International Congress on the Disorders of Personality.
- Pinto OC, Akiskal HS. 1998. Lamotrigine as a promising approach to borderline personality: an open case series without concurrent DSM-IV major mood disorder. J Affect Disord 51:333–343.
- Preston GA, Marchant BK, Reimherr FW, Strong RE, Hedges W. 2004. Borderline personality disorder in patients with bipolar disorder and response to lamotrigine. J Affect Disord 79:97– 303.
- Sharma V. 2001. Loss of response to antidepressants and subsequent refractoriness: diagnostic and treatment issues. J Affect Disord 64:99–106.
- Sharma V, Khan M, Smith A. 2005. A closer look at treatment resistant depression: is it due to a bipolar diathesis? J Affect Disord 84:251–257.
- Skokol A, Gunderson JG, Pfohl B, et al. 2002. The borderline diagnosis I: psychopathology, comorbidity, and personality structure. Biol Psychiatry 51:936–950.
- Spearing MK, Post RM, Leverich GS, Brandt D, Nolen W. 1997. Modification of the Clinical Global Impressions (CGI) scale for use in bipolar illness (BP): the CGI-BP. Psychiatry Res 73:159– 171.
- Torgersen S, Kringlen E, Cramer V. 2001. The prevalence of personality disorders in a community sample. Arch Gen Psychiatry 50:991–999.
- Weilburg JP, O'Leary KM, Meigs JB, Hennen J, Stafford RS. 2003. Evaluation of the adequacy of outpatient antidepressant treatment. Psychiatr Serv 54:1233–1239.
- Zanarini MC, Frankenburg FR. 2001. Olanzapine treatment of female borderline personality disorder patients: a double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study. J Clin Psychiatry 62:849–854.
- Zanarini MC, Frankenburg FR, Parachini EA. 2004. A preliminary, randomized trial of fluoxetine, olanzapine, and the olanzapine-fluoxetine combination in women with borderline personality disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 65:903–907.

Limbic encephalitis presenting with anxiety and depression: A comprehensive neuropsychological formulation

IREM YALUÐ¹, MURAT ALEMDAR², ALI EVREN TUFAN³, ELIF KIRMIZI-ALSAN¹ & HUSEYIN KUTLU¹

Departments of ¹Psychiatry, ²Neurology, and ³Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine, University of Kocaeli, Kocaeli, Turkey

Abstract

Limbic encephalitis (LE) is a paraneoplastic neurological disorder in which, typically, the neurological symptoms occur before the cancer is diagnosed. We report on a 52-year-old male with LE who has depressive and anxiety symptoms. Cranial MRI revealed increased hippocampal signal intensities in both temporal lobes. Extensive range of symptoms concerning emotion, personality and social functioning was assessed with a comprehensive neuropsychological formulation. The neuropsychological test battery showed dysfunction of hippocampus, medial temporal lobes, limbic system and frontal diencephalic structures. The current literature about the neurological mechanisms underlying the neuropsychological findings of LE is also briefly reviewed in this report.

Key words: Limbic encephalitis, anxiety, depression

Introduction

Limbic encephalitis is a paraneoplastic neurological disorder in which, typically, the neurological symptoms occur before the cancer is diagnosed. In a recent study, the diagnostic criteria were defined as: (i) a compatible clinical picture; (ii) an interval of less than 4 years between the development of neurological symptoms and tumour diagnosis; (iii) exclusion of other neurooncological complications; and (iv) at least one of the following: CSF with inflammatory changes but negative cytology, MRI demonstrating temporal lobe abnormalities, EEG showing epileptic activity in the temporal lobes (Gultekin et al. 2000).

Neuropsychiatric symptoms include short-term memory disturbance, epileptic seizures, confusion of acute onset, changes in personality, hallucinations, depression and cognitive disturbances. Here we report on a case of limbic encephalitis presenting with depressive and anxiety symptoms, and review the neurological substrates of psychiatric findings. We believe the case to be particularly important because of the neurospychological battery involved.

Case report

A 52-year-old, divorced male patient with a primary level of education admitted to our hospital with complaints of fear (i.e. of staying alone at home and of strangers looking at him in the street), trembling, unsteady and choking, feeling sad, hopeless, anhedonia, suicidal thoughts and forgetfulness in December 2005. His complaints started, with forgetfulness and decreased concentration, 9 months previously after being posted to another city from his hometown. Fears, akathisia, feelings of trembling, unsteadiness and choking, along with feeling sad, anhedonia and suicidal thoughts appeared later. However, neither he nor his family described hallucinations, aggressive behaviours or increase in appetite. The patient applied three times to the psychiatry department of a state hospital and was followed briefly with the diagnoses of bipolar disorder, depression and paranoid disorder, and was treated with olanzapine, valproate, amisulpiride, quetiapine and risperidone but to no avail. Past medical history was positive for alcohol abuse of 25 years' duration, cigarette smoking (20 packet-years)

Correspondence: Murat Alemdar, MD, Department of Neurology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Kocaeli, 41380 Umuttepe, Kocaeli, Turkey. Tel: +90 532 5096756. Fax: +90 262 3038004.

(Received 27 June 2007; accepted 26 November 2007)



and an attack of myocardial infarction 5 years previously. He was also diagnosed with melanoma 10 years previously. The patient quit drinking alcohol after the diagnosis of melanoma. He had no history of any substance abuse. Family history was positive for maternal loss at the age of 12 years due to homicide where the offender was the father.

Physical and neurological examination at the time of admission revealed no pathology. At the initial mental status examination, the patient was found to be a well-groomed male with limited communication. Orientation, spontaneous and voluntary attention, concentration and memory were normal. Judgement, reality testing, abstract thought and intelligence were normal. Speech was hypophonic and poor in content. Thought content was notable for anxiety and hopelessness. Mood was judged to be depressive, affect dysphoric. Sleep was decreased; libido and appetite were found to be normal. There was a significant psychomotor retardation.

While the aetiology was investigated, sertraline (titrated up to 100 mg/day) and alprazolam (1.5 mg/day) were introduced to alleviate his anxiety, fears and insomnia. Upon failure, sertraline was changed to paroxetine 20 mg/day, and olanzapine 5 mg/day was added to treat the paranoid symptoms. Serum biochemistry, liver and renal function tests, lipid screening, vitamin B12 and folate, complete blood count, thyroid function tests and viral serology were all within normal limits.

A chest X-ray and 16-channel EEG were found to be normal. Cranial MRI in January 2006 revealed increased hippocampal signal intensities in both right and left temporal lobes, which were more pronounced in the latter (Figure 1). This was thought to be due to limbic encephalitis of probable viral origin.

A neurology consultation was initiated due to the neuro-radiological findings and the patient was referred to the inpatient unit of the neurology department to evaluate the aetiology. Lumbar puncture, viral and tumour markers were all found to be normal. To rule out a paraneoplastic syndrome due to a primary focus, abdominal USG, and CT of the thorax, upper and lower abdomen were performed. These were found to be normal, except for simple cortical cysts in both kidneys. An initial blood smear and a re-evaluation were done to rule out lymphoma. A few atypical lymphocytes were noted. However, other markers were all normal. During the patient's stay in neurology, increasing levels of anxiety and disorganized behaviour were noted. There were also brief periods of amnesia with confabulation and spells of hyperventilation. He also complained of disorientation, especially in the morning when awakening. The patient was therefore readmitted to the psychiatry inpatient unit.

Wechsler Memory Scale-Revised (WMS-R), Digit Span Learning, Tower of London (ToL), Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST), Face Recognition, Judgment of Line Orientation, Verbal Memory Processes, Verbal Fluency, Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Revised (WAISR) similarities subtest and Stroop Color Word Test (SCWT) were applied during neuropsychological evaluation (Lezak 1983; Oner 1997; Karakas 2004; Mesulam 2004; Atalay 2005).

In the WMS-R, the patient recalled personal and actual information only with phonemic cues, simple attention was narrowed, and there were problems in maintaining attention. The performances in visual and verbal paired associates, visual reproduction and figural memory subtests were decreased. In the subtests of WMS-R, searching and formation of memories was distorted. This pattern was thought to display dysfunction of hippocampus, medial temporal lobes, limbic system and some diencephalic structures. Verbal fluency was decreased and there were problems in planning. During the WCST session, he had problems in formation of categories,



Figure 1. Coronal FLAIR sequences of brain MRI revealed increased signal on bilateral limbic areas: 153 × 73 mm (150 × 150 DPI).

resisting interferences and maintaining formed categories. Consequently he showed perseverative errors and was unable to form a category. This executive dysfunction (problems in adapting to varied stimuli, maintaining this adaptation, making choices, abstracting, and frontal complex attention) corresponded to early levels of frontal dementia.

SCWT displayed problems in resisting interference and inhibiting unwanted responses. This pattern was congruent with frontal dysfunction and seemed to be due to problems in cognitive flexibility, maintaining goal-directed behaviour and speed of cognitive processing. Verbal Memory Processes displayed a frontal type of degeneration with severely distorted free recall; however, being capable of making a choice among presented data. He evidenced an inefficient capacity to search long-term memory for information. Visio-spatial processes were also dysfunctional. The dismal performance displayed in the tests of Judgment of Line Orientation and Face Recognition may be evidence of a dorsal degeneration, possibly involving the parietal association cortex.

The performance in the similarities subtest of WAIS-R was also congruent with a dementia process in the early stages, with problems in daily logic and a preference for concrete answers. He couldn't succeed in even one of the 12 attempted trials in the Digit Span Learning test, which may reveal problem with encoding, storage and recall of information which may in turn be a marker for damage to medial temporal and hippocampal structures. He also displayed problems in the ToL test which evaluates executive functions, such as problem solving, planning, behavioural inhibition, cognitive flexibility, judgement and rule-governed behaviour.

The patient was sent for whole body positron emission tomography imaging in June 2006 to search for the origin of the possible malignancy, to the Istanbul University, Cerrahpasa Medical Faculty Hospital. This revealed a hypermetabolic area (an increased enhancement of [¹⁸F]fluorodexyglucose; maximal standard update value was 7.8) in the suprahilar zone of the right lung, highly suspected for malignancy. Bronchoalveolar lavage did not show atypical cells. However, the location of the suspected lesion was not suitable for an endobronchial or transthoracic needle biopsy. Thoracotomy was offered, but the patient and his family did not accept it.

A flexible endoscopy of the larynx was undertaken during the second period of hospitalization to further rule out a malignancy because of the presence of melanoma in the past medical history. According to the autoimmune hypothesis for limbic encephalitis, Anti-Hu and Anti-Yo antibodies are frequently observed. However, our case was negative for the aforementioned antibodies in serum. The depressive and anxiety symptoms of the patient decreased on treatment with olanzapine 5 mg/day and alprazolam 1 mg/day, and he was discharged.

Discussion

Because the panic, anxiety, depressive and paranoid symptoms of our patient were acute, of late-onset and he had no pre-morbid symptoms, an organic aetiology was primarily suspected. Nevertheless, because the psychiatric symptoms were predominant and disabling, psychotropic medication was started and which was beneficial for the patient. To clarify the organic aetiology, diagnostic tests (neuro-imaging, biochemical, neuropsychological tests, etc.) were performed. According to the diagnostic criteria used by Gultekin et al. (2000), MRI findings, clinical symptoms, neuropsychological and laboratory findings and exclusion of other aetiologies for encephalitis (i.e. herpes virus, neurosyphilis), the case was diagnosed as limbic encephalitis.

Neuropsychological symptoms precede cancer diagnosis in 60% of patients with paraneoplastic limbic encephalitis (Gultekin et al. 2000). Limbic system involvement was shown with radiological (i.e. hippocampal lesions in MRI), functional (i.e. neuropsychological testing) and clinical findings in our case. Anti-Hu, anti-Ta and anti-Ma antibodies were negative, as in 40% of all patients with limbic encephalitis (Gultekin et al. 2000). In patients without these antibodies, tumour distribution was diverse, with cancer of the lung the most common (36%), and 57% had positive MRI. Although it could not be confirmed with further diagnostic procedures, the positron emission tomography results in our case also revealed a lesion in the right lung highly suspected of malignancy. Our patient had been diagnosed with melanoma 10 years previously. However, there is no temporal relationship between the diagnosis of melanoma and the neuropsychiatric findings in the patient.

On psychological examination, our patient was noted to have depressive symptoms and anxiety. The thought content of our patient was notable for anxiety and hopelessness. Mood was judged to be depressive, affect dysphoric. Sleep was decreased. As the patient and his family described an acute settling of the sustained symptoms (rather than fluctuations), and no hallucinations, aggressive behaviour or change in appetite or libido, frontotemporal dementia was excluded.

In our patient, the predominance of frontal dysfunction shown in neuropsychological tests may be explained by his childhood. Considering the importance of the hippocampus in both emotional regulation and memory, one would not be surprised to learn that hippocampal activation patterns of humans differ according to attachment status. Indeed, Buchheim and colleagues (2006) showed that subjects with unresolved attachments, especially traumatic events, had increased activation of medial temporal regions, including the amygdala and hippocampus, in the course of a functional MRI procedure, compared to controls. They interpreted this finding as linking unresolved attachment to emotional dysregulation of the attachment system.

Recently, Benke et al. (2004) also reported a case with limbic and cerebellar paraneoplastic syndrome, which was associated with a squamous lung carcinoma, who had severe anterograde memory loss, frontal executive dysfunction and behavioural alterations. Brain MRI of this case revealed inflammatory changes followed by progressive atrophy affecting the cerebellum and both temporal lobes, and the authors suggested that the related atrophy may present as a chronic, progressive, multifocal encephalopathy, and that the associated cognitive impairments may include several cognitive domains in LE.

The dysfunction at the hippocampal level may also have acted on the structures upstream, causing them to dysfunction. Hippocampal dysfunction may hamper learning, memory formation and therefore frontal executive functions. Through its link with the amygdale, this may disrupt the matching of novel stimuli with long-term memory representation of its affective significance. Also, via afferents projecting from the amygdala to striatal circuits, it may disrupt emotional expressiveness (hence apathy, anhedonia), motor activity (hence the psychomotor retardation) and cognitive processes (hence problems in executive function, behavioural inhibition and paranoid ideations) (Habib 2000).

Although less frequent than depression, anxiety is also observed with focal brain lesions, usually involving the temporolimbic lobe. In mammals, the amygdala is a key structure in fear conditioning. And direct electrical stimulation of any limbic sector in humans may evoke a visceral sensation or an emotion, usually fear or anxiety (Bakchine 2000).

Studies of patients with focal lesions to temporolimbic structures provide an extensive range of symptoms related to emotion, personality and social functioning. A large network, including the hippocampus, amygdala and multiple cortical and subcortical circuits, appears to modulate affect and emotional behaviour (Bakchine 2000). The connections with the frontal and prefrontal orbital appear especially important. Most temporal symptoms are difficult to localize specifically to the temporal lobes, or to the left or right sides. This may be explained in terms of the extended temporolimbic system working as a parallel distributed processing network. The findings in our patient illustrate the importance of neuropsychological test battery involvement in evaluation of LE cases for better understanding the neurological mechanisms underlying the behavioural symptoms.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

- Atalay D. 2005. Planning in adults: Study of Reliability and Validity of Tower of London Test. Istanbul. Unpublished, Master Dissertation Thesis.
- Bakchine S. 2000. Temporal lobe behavioral Syndromes. In: Bogousslavsky J, Cummings JL, editors. Behavior and mood disorders in focal brain lesions. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. pp 369–398.
- Benke T, Wagner M, Pallua AK, Muigg A, Stockhammer G. 2004. Long-term cognitive and MRI findings in a patient with paraneoplastic limbic encephalitis. J Neurooncol 66:217.
- Buchheim A, Erk S, George C, et al. 2006. Measuring attachment representation in an FMRI environment: a pilot study. Psychopathology 39:144–152.
- Gultekin SH, Rosenfeld MR, Voltz R, Eichen J, Posner JB, Dalmau J. 2000. Paraneoplastic limbic encephalitis: neurological symptoms, immunological findings and tumour association in 50 patients. Brain 123:1481–1494.
- Habib M. 2000. Disorders of motivation. In: Bogousslavsky J, Cummings JL, editors. Behavior and mood disorders in focal brain lesions. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. pp 261–284.
- Karakas S. 2004. Handbook of BILNOT Battery: Studies of Research and Development for Neuropsychological Tests. Ankara: Dizayn Ofset.
- Lezak MD. 1983. Neuropsychological assessment. 2nd ed. New York: Oxford University Press. pp 312–532.
- Mesulam MM. 2004. Principles of behavioral and cognitive neurology. Gurvit H, editor/transl. Istanbul: Yelkovan Press.
- Oner N. 1997. Psychological tests used in Turkey: A reference source. Istanbul: Bogazici University Press.



A case with occurring adverse effects when cross-over titration from fluvoxamine to paroxetine associated with increasing the plasma fluvoxamine level in major depressive disorder

HIKARU HORI, REIJI YOSHIMURA, NOBUHISA UEDA, ATSUKO IKENOUCHI-SUGITA, WAKAKO UMENE-NAKANO & JUN NAKAMURA

Department of Psychiatry, University of Occupational and Environmental Health Iseigaoka, Yahatanishi-ku, Kitakyushu, Japan

Abstract

Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) are first line drugs for treating not only depressive disorder but also anxiety disorder. Fluvoxamine, a SSRI, is mainly metabolized by cytochrome P450 (CYP) 2D6 and 1A2. However, paroxetine, an another SSRI is potent inhibitor for CYP 2D6. We report a case with depression whose plasma fluvoxamine level rapidly increased after the addition of paroxetine while switching from fluvoxamine to paroxetine. The case indicates that emerging adverse effects via the pharmacokinetic interaction of these drugs when switching patients from fluvoxamine to paroxetine can occur.

Key words: Fluvoxamine, paroxetine, plasma concentration, depression

Introduction

It is generally accepted that significant plasma concentration-response relationships exist for tricyclic antidepressants and non-tricyclic antidepressants, such as nortriptyline (Asberg et al. 1971), imipramine (Glassman et al. 1977), desipramine (Nelson et al. 1982), mianserin (Otani et al. 1991), and trazodone (Mihara et al. 2002). Fluvoxamine belongs to the class of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs). It is effective for the treatment of depression, panic disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder, and eating disorders (De Wilde and Doogan 1982; Palmer and Benfield 1994; Papakostas et al. 2007). Compared to classical tricyclic antidepressants, fluvoxamine has fewer anticholinergic side effects, such as dry mouth, abnormal accommodation, and urinary hesitation and seems to be devoid of cardiotoxic and proconvulsive effects (Benfield and Ward 1986). However, fluvoxamine sometimes induces nausea and somnolence (Palmer and Benfield 1994; Ueda et al. 2001). Gerstenberg et al. (2003) reported that there is a therapeutic threshold for the steady-state plasma concentrations (Css) of fluvoxamine, and that a Css of fluvoxamine plus fluvoxamino acid, a major metabolite in fluvoxamine, of above 180 ng/ml best predicts a good response to fluvoxamine in depressed patients. We have reported that the lowest level of plasma fluvoxamine for a response to occur was 98 ng/nl in bulimic patients (Ikenouchi-Sugita et al. 2007). Kasper et al. (1993) reported that higher concentrations of fluvoxamine were significantly associated with more side effects. We have also demonstrated that patients with emerging nausea induced by fluvoxamine had slightly higher plasma levels of fluvoxamine than those without emerging nausea (Ueda et al. 2001). These findings suggest that plasma fluvoxamine levels are associated with the drug's clinical response and adverse effects. Therefore, plasma drug monitoring of fluvoxamine might be useful in maximizing drug response and avoiding drug adverse effects. In the present study, we reported a case with depression, whose plasma fluvoxamine level was rapidly increased after adding paroxetine when cross-over titration from fluvoxamine to paroxetine, a switch which might have been associated with adverse effects seen.

Correspondence: Reiji Yoshimura, Department of Psychiatry, University of Occupational and Environmental Health, Iseigaoka, Yahatanishi-ku, Kitakyushu, Fukuoka 8078555, Japan. Tel: +81 93 6917253. Fax: +81 93 6924894. E-mail: yoshi621@med.uoeh-u.ac.jp

(Received 28 October 2007; accepted 10 April 2008)

Case report

A 44-year-old female patient was diagnosed with major depressive disorder according to the DSM-IV-TR. She complained of depressed mood, self-blame, anxiety, agitation, and insomnia and her score on the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (Ham-D) was 26. Her physical condition was not particular. Treatment with fluvoxamine was initiated with a dose of 50 mg/day, and the dose was increased to 200 mg/day and maintained for 6 weeks with the same dose. Her Css of fluvoxamine at 200 mg/day was 128 ng/ml. Since her depressive state was not improved (her score on the Ham-D was 20), she was switched from fluvoxamine to paroxetine. The dose of fluvoxamine was reduced to 150 mg/day, and 20 mg of paroxetine was started (added on fluvoxamine). Five days after paroxetine administration (her Css paroxetine levels was 22 ng/nl), she complained of somnolence, dizziness, nausea, and orthostatic hypotension. Her Css of fluvoxamine at 150 mg/day was increased to 224 ng/ml, despite the decrease of the dose. Thereafter, paroxetine was stopped, and only fluvoxamine (150 mg/day) was continued. The adverse effects disappeared, and her Css of fluvoxamine at 150 mg/day was 98 ng/day. She had not received any other medication besides fluvoxamine and paroxetine. Subsequently, milnacipran was administered and increased to 150 mg/day instead of fluvoxamine, but her depressive state persisted. Finally, paroxetine was restarted and increased to 40 mg/day (her Css paroxetine level was 56 ng/nl), and her depressive state remitted without any adverse effects occurring. We examined her genotype of cytochrome P450 (CYP) 2D6, and the result was a CYP 2D6 was *1/*10 (extensive metabolizer).

Discussion

Approximately 50-60% of all treated depressed patients fail to show adequate response to their initially prescribed SSRIs. Patients with an insufficient response to one SSRI are often switched to another SSRI (Ruhe et al. 2006). Fluvoxamine is one of the candidate drugs for treating not only depressive disorder, but also anxiety disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder, or eating disorders (De Wilde and Doogan 1982; Palmer and Benfield 1994). We have demonstrated that plasma fluvoxamine level was raised in parallel with the increase in its dosage (Ueda et al. in press). Fluvoxamine is mainly metabolized by CYP 2D6 and 1A2 (Brosen et al. 1993; Perucca et al. 1994; Carrillo et al. 1996; Brosen 1998; Vandel 2003). However, paroxetine, another SSRI, is a potent inhibitor for CYP 2D6. In the present study, we reported a case with emerging adverse effects whose plasma fluvoxamine level was acutely increased after adding paroxetine when switching from fluvoxamine to paroxetine. Paroxetine is a strong CYP2D6 inhibitor (von Moltke et al. 1995). Thus, the administration of paroxetine significantly impaired the activity of CYP2D6 to contribute to the metabolism of fluvoxamine, which led to a two-fold increase in the fluvoxamine plasma level, despite a modest decrease in the fluvoxamine dosage (from 200 to 150 mg/day). Previous studies demonstrated that higher plasma fluvoxamine levels were related to adverse effects (Kasper et al. 1993; Ueda et al. 2001). Therefore, it is probable that the adverse effects were associated with a high plasma fluvoxamine level. In addition, the most important finding in the present case was that the increase of the plasma fluvoxamine level occurred within only 5 days after paroxetine administration. This suggests that the inhibition of CYP2D6 by paroxetine emerges rapidly. This finding is in accordance with the previous reports that plasma levels of several antidepressants metabolized by CYP 2D6 were increased within 7-10 days after paroxetine addition (Sandson 2003). Administration of paroxetine alone (40 mg/day) improved her depressive symptoms without any adverse effects such as somnolence, dizziness, nausea, and orthostatic hypotension, suggesting that treatment with paroxetine was independent of the emergence of those adverse effects.

The result of patient's genotyping of CYP2D6 was 1/10 (extensive metabolizer). The gene coding for CYP1A2 is highly polymorphic and DNA testing can identify common variations that result in dramatically differences in patient exposure that may lead to adverse reactions or lack of efficacy at normal therapeutic doses. Since CYP1A2 activity is the undisturbed subroute of fluvoxamine metabolisation, co-administration of the CYP2D6 inhibitor paroxetine should partly (although not completely) be balanced by CYP1A2 activity. Therefore, a genetically decreased activity of CYP1A2 could be expected in this case of drastically increased plasma fluvoxamine levels. However, we did not determine the patient's genotyping of CYP1A2 in the present case. In any case, to combine fluvoxamine and paroxetine is a high risk, since this leads to inhibition of CYP2D6 by paroxetine and of CYP1A2 and CYP2C19 by fluvoxamine. Generally, the combination should be avoided, and clinicians should be very cautious for occurring unexpected adverse effects when cross-over titration from fluvoxamine to paroxetine.

In conclusion, we reported a case of depression whose genotypes of CYP2D6 was *1/*10 (extensive metabolizer) with adverse effects occurring in parallel with the rapid increase of her plasma fluvoxamine

level after paroxetine addition. Caution should be exercised when cross-over titration from fluvoxamine to paroxetine via the inhibition of CYP2D6 by paroxetine. Initiating paroxetine in a smaller dose might be a safer course.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have not declared any conflicts of interest.

References

- Asberg M, Cronholm B, Sjoquvist F, Tuck D. 1971. Relationship between plasma level and therapeutic effect of nortriptyline. Br Med J 3:331–334.
- Benfield P, Ward A. 1986. Fluvoxamine: a review of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties, and therapeutic efficacy in depressive illness. Drug 13:313–334.
- Brosen K. 1998. Differences in interactions of SSRIs. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 13(Suppl 5):45–47.
- Brosen K, Skjelbo E, Rasmussen BB, Poulsen HE, Loft. 1993. Fluvoxamine is a potent inhibitor of cytochrome P450 1A2. Biochem Pharmacol 45:1211–1214.
- Carrillo JA, Dahl ML, Svensson JO, Alm C, Rodriguez I, Bertilsson L. 1996. Disposition of fluvoxamine in humans is determined by the polymorphic CYP2D6 and also by the CYP1A2. Clin Pharmacol Ther 60:183–190.
- De Wilde JEM, Doogan DP. 1982. Fluvoxamine and clomipramine in endogeneous depression. J Affect Disord 4:249–259.
- Gerstenberg G, Aoshima T, Fukusawa T, Yoshida K, Takahashi H, Higuchi H, et al. 2003. Relationship between clinical effects of fluvoxamine and the steady-state plasma concentarations of fluvoxamine and its major metabolite fluvoxamino acid in Japanese depressed patients. Psychopharmacology 167: 443–448.
- Glassman AH, Perel JM, Shostak M, Kantor SJ, Fleiss JL. 1977. Clinical implication of imipramine plasma levels for depressive illness. Arch Gen Psychiatry 34:197–204.
- Ikenouchi-Sugita A, Yoshimura R, Hori H, Ueda N, Nakamura J. 2007. Therapeutic drug monitoring of plasma fluvoxamine

levels for treating bulimia nervosa. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 61:452.

- Kasper S, Dotsch M, Kick H, Viera A, Möller HJ. 1993. Plasma concentrations of fluvoxamine and maprotiline in major depression: implications on therapeutic efficacy and side effects. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 3:13–21.
- Mihara K, Yasui-Furukori N, Kondo T, Ishida M, Ono S, Ohkubo T, et al. 2002. Relationship between plasma concentrations of trazodone and its active metabolite, *m*-chlorophenylpiperazine, and its clinical effect in depressed patients. Ther Drug Monit 24:563–566.
- Nelson JC, Jatlow P, Quinlan DM, Bowers MB. 1982. Desipramine plasma concentration and antidepressant response. Arch Gen Psychiatry 39:1419–1422.
- Otani K, Kaneko S, Sasa H, Kondo T, Fukushima Y. 1991. Is there a therapeutic window for plasma concentration of mianserin plus desmethylmianserin? Hum Psychopharmacol 6:243–248.
- Palmer KJ, Benfield P. 1994. Fluvoxamine: an overview of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties, and therapeutic efficacy in depressive illness. CNS Drugs 1:57–87.
- Papakostas GI, Charles D, Fava M. 2007. Are typical starting doses of the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors sub–optimal? A meta-analysis of randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-finding studies in major depressive disorder. World J Biol Psychiatry 13:1–8.
- Perucca KJ, Gatti G, Spina E. 1994. Clinical pharmacokinetics of fluvoxamine. Clin Pharmacokinet 27:175–190.
- Ruhe HG, Huyser J, Swinkels JA, Schene AH. 2006. Switching antidepressants after a first selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor in major depressive disorder: a systematic review. J Clin Psychiatry 67:1836–1855.
- Sandson NB. 2003. Drug Interactions Case Book. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Ueda N, Yoshimura R, Shinkai K, Terao T, Nakamura J. 2001. Characteristics of fluvoxamine-induced nausea. Psychiatry Res 104:259–264.
- Ueda N, Yoshimura R, Nakamura J. 2008. Fluvoxamine improves some depressive symptoms by influencing noradrenergic neurons. Psychiatry Res (in press)
- Vandel P. 2003. Antidepressant drugs in the elderly-role of the cytochrome P450 2D6. World J Biol Psychaitry 4:74–80.
- Von Moltke LL, Greenblatt DJ, Court MH. 1995. Inhibition of alprazolam and desipramine hydroxylation in vitro by paroxetine and fluvoxamine: comparison with other selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor antidepressants. J Clin Psychopharmacol 15:125–131.


Quetiapine-associated dysphagia

IZCHAK KOHEN¹ & PAULA LESTER²

¹Zucker Hillside Hospital, North Shore – Long Island Jewish Health System, Glen Oaks, NY, USA, and ²Winthrop University Hospital, Mineola, NY, USA

Abstract

We report a case of quetiapine-induced dysphagia in a geriatric patient which improved with discontinuation of the antipsychotic. The patient had developed dysphagia while being treated with antipsychotics for bipolar disorder. The patient's dysphagia showed significant improvement when she was taken off quetiapine. We review the available literature on antipsychotic-related dysphagia and suggest that clinicans need to be aware of the potential for this syndrome even with lower potency antipsychotics.

Key words: Antipsychotics, geriatric

Introduction

Antipsychotics, also known as neuroleptics or major tranquilizers, are often used for the treatment of psychoses such as schizophrenia (Sokoloff and Pavlakovic 1997). In the elderly, antipsychotics are often used to treat aggressive or disruptive behaviour in the context of dementia with psychosis (Jenike 1988). Antipsychotics as a class can exacerbate or even cause oro-pharyngeal dysphagia by causing extrapyramidal side effects (EPS) (Rainer et al. 2007).

Antipsychotics are divided into subgroups based on potency and adverse side effect profiles. Low potency antipsychotics (such as thioridazine or chlorpromazine), are less commonly associated with EPS and more likely to cause anticholinergic side effects such as sedation, orthostatic hypotension and dry mouth. High potency agents (such as haloperidol) are more likely to cause EPS and less likely to cause anticholinergic side effects. Moderate potency agents (such as loxapine) are thought to have an intermediate potential for all side effects (Maletta et al. 1991).

The mechanism of action of antipsychotics involves blockade of dopamine receptors in the basal ganglia. EPS including drug-induced parkinsonism occurs in 12–45% of patients on antipsychotics, with higher rates in the elderly. Symptoms include tremor at rest, rigidity, bradykinesia, and blunted affect with masked facies (Casey 1993). Atypical antipsychotics such as olanzapine and quetiapine are less likely than conventional antipsychotics such as haloperidol to cause EPS (Miller et al. 1998).

Drug-induced parkinsonism may have serious implications for swallowing (Stoschus and Allescher 1993). Up to 50% of patients with Parkinson's disease may have some degree of dysphagia, and treatment with levodopa or dopamine agonists may lead to improved swallowing in some affected patients (Weiden and Harrigan 1986). However, more recent studies have shown limited impact of levodopa on Parkinson's disease patients with dysphagia (Hunter et al. 1997). Oro-pharyngeal deficits in Parkinson's disease include defective tongue movements, reduced initiation of tongue movement, slowed oral transit time, delayed initiation of swallow, misdirected swallowing, irregular epiglottic movement, and silent aspiration (Buchholz 1994).

(Received 13 September 2007; accepted 2 May 2008)

Correspondence: Izchak Kohen, MD, North Shore – Long Island Jewish Health System, The Zucker Hillside Hospital, Geriatric Psychiatry Division, Ambulatory Care Pavillion – Room 2106, 75-59 263rd Street, Glen Oaks, NY 11004, USA. Tel: +1-718-470-8153. Fax: +1-718-962-7712. E-mail:ikohen@nshs.edu.

In this article, we report a case of a geriatric patient with quetiapine-induced dysphagia who improved with cessation of use of antipsychotics.

Case report

A 66-year-old female with a 30-year history of bipolar disorder was admitted to an inpatient psychiatric hospital unit for worsening depression. The patient also had prominent referential beliefs and paranoid delusions. Nine months earlier she was diagnosed with cerebellar dysfunction due to a possible stroke. She had a swallow evaluation at that time with a modified barium swallow (MBS) that showed delayed oral stage of swallowing and silent aspiration of thickened fluids. At that time, she had been on aripiprazole.

On admission at this time, she was on quetiapine at a dose of 200 mg/day as well as on lorazepam 1.5 mg/day and citalopram 20 mg/day. She had been on this regimen for several months with no change in medications or doses. She was noted to have difficulty swallowing and had an MBS which showed delayed transfer of puree and fluids with aspiration of thick fluids, with the recommendation of a dyphagia pureed diet with thick fluids as she failed trials of thin fluids. The patient did not demonstrate any other extrapyramidal side effects. On neurological exam, the patient had residual cerebellar symptoms of dysmetria, dysarthria and ataxia with no change from that observed 9 months earlier. A repeat magnetic resonance imaging of the brain showed no change from 9 months earlier. The patient was tapered off the antipsychotic medication and had a repeat modified barium swallow evaluation performed 1 month later by the same speech and swallow therapist at the speech and swallow laboratory, using the same tmethodology as previously. This study was done to determine whether the patient improved while off quetiapine. The repeat study recommended a pureed dysphagia diet but allowed for regular thin fluids. There were no other changes in her medication regimen although she did receive a course of electroconvulsive therapy (ECT).

Discussion

The rate of oropharyngeal swallow dysfunction is about 6% in the general population (Groher and Bukatman 1986). Dysphagia in the elderly most commonly occurs due to neurological disease or structural changes in the oro-pharynx. Swallow problems including choking, aspiration pneumonia and asphyxia have been commonly found in the psychiatric population (Fioritti et al. 1997). The rigidity and bradykinesia caused by antipsychotics may be responsible for the impairment in the oral phase of the swallowing (Robbins et al. 1986). One study reported the prevalence of dysphagia in a population with mental health disorders to be 32%, although it did not report whether those patients were on antipsychotics. Dysphagia in patients with psychiatric illness may also be due to non-pharmacological causes such as behavioural changes, environmental changes and cognitive dysfunction (Regan et al. 2006). The rate of death from asphyxia in psychiatric patients in Ireland was reported to be 100 times that of the general population (Craig 1982).

One literature review of 11 case reports of EPSrelated dysphagia showed an age range of 35–79. Medium to high potency antipsychotics were implicated in eight of the cases, while three were related to atypical antipsychotics. In four of the cases, dysphagia was the only prominent manifestation of EPS. The onset of symptoms from initiation of the antipsychotic is about 1 month, with a range of a few days to 3 months. There were case reports of dysphagia induced by risperidone and olanzapine, but not by quetiapine (Dziewas et al. 2007).

The case reported above involved a patient whose dysphagia improved when taken off quetiapine. We believe that the discontinuation of the atypical antipsychotic led to improvement in the dysphagia of the patient, even if it did not completely eliminate it. In this case, the patient's quality of life was improved as she was able to be switched to much more palatable regular fluids instead of thick fluids when off the antipsychotic. Furthermore, we believe that the case raises the possibility of dysphagia exacerbated or worsened even by lower potency atypicals such as quetiapine. In this case, it is unlikely that the dysphagia resolved spontaneously as it persisted at the same level for 9 months until quetiapine was stopped. While the patient's cerebellar symptoms contributed to the dysphagia initially, the dysphagia worsened on quetiapine and improved off it with no change in her neurological condition. There were two separate speech and swallow evaluations done in the same laboratory, by the same therapist, using the same technique. The speech and swallow therapist was blinded to the fact that quetiapine was discontinued.

From a clinical point of view, early diagnosis of bradykinetic EPS-related dysphagia presents a challenge. Diagnosis of EPS-related dysphagia can be made either by modified barium swallow (MBS) or by fiberoptic endoscopic evaluation of swallowing (FEES). The FEES may be a more useful test, as endoscopy has the potential to minimize the effect of behavioural issues on the results of the test. In addition, the FEES does not expose patients to radiation (Langmore 1982).

For reducing dysphagia, several strategies can be used; non-pharmacological strategies can include education of patients about rate and volume of food bolus, staff monitoring and intervention, as well as speech and swallow screenings. Pharmacological strategies include discontinuing antipsychotic treatment, lowering the dose or changing to another drug which is less likely to cause EPS. Sometimes, even switching from one high-potency antipsychotic to another may lead to improved swallowing (Dziewas et al. 2007).

Conclusion

We believe that our case raises the possibility of worsening or exacerbation of dysphagia, even with low potency atypical antispychotics such as quetiapine. We suggest that clinicians need to be aware of the potential for this syndrome, even with lower potency antipsychotics. The Naranjo algorithm can be used to assess the likelihood that a change in clinical status is the result of an adverse drug reaction (ADR) rather than the result of other factors, such as progression of disease (Berry et al. 1998). Using the Naranjo algorithm, this case had a score of 5, meaning that an ADR is probable.

EPS-related dysphagia is a dangerous but potentially reversible side effect in patients receiving antipsychotics. Having a high index of suspicion and clinical awareness may facilitate early diagnosis and appropriate treatment. In the future, further research including prospective observational studies are needed to learn more about the incidence and course of this manifestation and to evaluate systematically different treatment options.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have not declared any conflicts of interest.

References

- Berry LL, Segal R, Sherrin TP. 1998. Sensitivity and specificity of three methods of detecting adverse drug reactions. Am J Hosp Pharm 45:1534–1539.
- Buchholz DW. 1994. Neurogenic dysphagia: What is the cause when the cause is not obvious? Dysphagia 9:245–255.
- Casey DE. 1993. Neuroleptic-induced acute extrapyramidal syndromes and tardive dyskinesia. Psychiatr Clin N Am 16(3): 589–610.
- Craig TJ. 1982. Medication use and deaths attributed to asphyxia among psychiatric patients. Am J Psychiatry 137(11):1366– 1373.
- Dziewas R, Warnecke T, Schnabel M. 2007. Neuroleptic-induced dysphagia: Case report and literature review. Dysphagia 22: 63–67.
- Fioritti A, Giaccotto L, Melega V. 1997. Choking incidents among psychiatric patients: retrospective analysis of thirtyone cases from the west bologna psychiatric ward. Can J Psychiatry 42:515–520.
- Groher ME, Bukatman R. 1986. Prevalence of swallowing disorders in two teaching hospitals. Dysphagia 1:3-6.
- Hunter PC, Crameri J, Austin S, Woodward MC, Hughes AJ. 1997. Response of parkinsonian swallowing dysfunction to dopaminergic stimulation. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 63(5):579–583.
- Jenike MA. 1988. Psychoactive drugs in the elderly: antipsychotics and anxiolytics. Geriatrics 43:53–65.
- Langmore SE. 1982. Endoscopic evaluation and treatment of swallowing disorders. New York: Thieme.
- Maletta G, Mattox KM, Dysken M. 1991. Guidelines for prescribing psychoactive drugs in the elderly, part 2. Geriatrics 46(9):52–60.
- Miller CH, Mohr F, Umbricht D. 1998. The prevalence of acute extrapyramidal signs and symptoms in patients treated with clozapone, risperidone, and conventional antipsychotics. J Clin Psychiatry 59:69–75.
- Rainer D, Tobias W, Schnabel M. 2007. Neuroleptic-induced dysphagia: Case report and literature review. Dysphagia 22: 63–67.
- Regan J, Sowman R, Walsh I. 2006. Prevalence of dysphagia in acute and community mental health settings. Dysphagia 21(2):95–101.
- Robbins JA, Logemann J, Kirshner A. 1986. Swallowing and speech in Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol 19(2):283–287.
- Sokoloff LG, Pavlakovic R. 1997. Neuroleptic-induced dysphagia. Dysphagia 12:177–179.
- Stoschus B, Allescher HD. 1993. Drug-induced dysphagia. Dysphagia 8:154–159.
- Weiden P, Harrigan M. 1986. A clinical guide for diagnosing and managing patients with drug-induced dysphagia. Hosp Community Psychiatry 37(4):396–398.



Beneficial effects of N-acetylcysteine in treatment resistant schizophrenia

MAHMUT BULUT¹, HALUK ASUMAN SAVAS¹, ABDURRAHMAN ALTINDAG¹, OSMAN VIRIT¹ & ALICAN DALKILIC²

¹Department of Psychiatry, Gaziantep University Faculty of Medicine, Gaziantep, Turkey, and ²St. Elizabeths Hospital, Washington, DC, USA

Abstract

Poor response to antipsychotics is still an important problem in the treatment of many schizophrenia patients. *N*-Acetylcysteine (NAC) is a compound that exerts anti-oxidant and scavenging actions against reactive oxygen species. This paper reports a case of poorly responsive schizophrenia patient who improved considerably with add-on NAC 600 mg/day. The NAC might work through activating cysteine-glutamate antiporters or reducing in nitric oxide (NO) metabolites, free radicals and cytokines or through both of these mechanisms.

Key words: N-Acetylcysteine, schizophrenia, drug therapy, combination, treatment resistant

Introduction

Poor response to antipsychotics is still an important problem in the treatment of many schizophrenia patients. Augmentation strategies as suggested in schizophrenia treatment guidelines such as with lithium (Schulz et al. 1999) and anticonvulsants (Basan et al. 2004), fail to produce adequate benefits in significant number of patients. Therefore, it is necessary to look for alternative or additional drug treatment possibilities.

The growing evidence of increased oxidative stress and diminished enzymatic antioxidants may be relevant to the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. These findings may suggest some clues for the new treatment strategies with antioxidants in schizophrenia (Akyol et al. 2002; Zoroglu et al. 2002).

N-Acetylcysteine (NAC) has long been used clinically as a mucolytic agent for chronic bronchitis and for patients with acute lung injury or acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). *N*-Acetylcysteine is a compound that exerts anti-oxidant and scavenging actions against reactive oxygen species. In patients with ARDS, NAC has been shown to reduce the symptoms and to shorten the duration of ARDS, presumably acting as an anti-oxidant and restoring the decrease in glutathione in cases of lung injury (Kao et al. 2006).

This paper reports a case of treatment-resistant schizophrenia patient who improved considerably with add-on NAC 600 mg/day.

Case

Mrs H.D. was a 24-year-old single, unemployed woman living with her parents. She was brought into Psychotic Disorders Unit of Psychiatry Clinics at the Gaziantep University School of Medicine Hospital by her parents for excitation and worsening psychosis. She claimed that "her parents had wanted to poison her, and they were talking negatively and despised her". She was irritable, aggressive and guarded. She had depressed mood, decreased of sleep, poor appetite, auditory hallucinations, and persecutory delusions. She has been followed at our clinic for 7 years prior to this presentation. After psychiatric evaluation she was hospitalized for exacerbation of schizophrenia, paranoid type based on DSM-IV-TR criteria. Results of neurological and physical examinations and laboratory tests were within normal limits. She did not have any other medical illnesses. Her vital signs were normal.

Correspondence: Dr Haluk Asuman Savas, Tip Fakultesi Psikiyatri, AD 27310, Gaziantep Universitesi, Gaziantep, Turkey. E-mail: dr_haluksavas@yahoo.com.tr

(Received 11 January 2008; accepted 25 June 2009)

She did not have any history of substance abuse or dependence. There were no history of psychiatric disorderds in her relatives and extended family.

The symptoms had worsened 5 weeks earlier while she was on ziprasidone 160 mg/day and zuclopentixole decaonate 200 mg intramuscular (i.m.) every 15 days. A week after worsening of her symptoms she was admitted to psychiatric unit at another hospital. Ziprasidone and zuclopentixole decaonate had been discontinued and risperidone 8 mg/day had been initiated. Because of acute distonia biperiden HCl 4 mg/day and because of akathisia clonazepam 2 mg/ day had been added to risperidone. She had been discharged after 4 weeks of inpatient psychiatric treatment and she was brought to our clinic ome day after her discharge from other hospital. Ther was no significant improvement in her psychiatric symptoms.

In history; the patient's age of illness onset was 17. Over 7 years she was continuously treated with several typical and atypical antipsychotics at full therapeutic doses for adequate periods. Overall she demonsrated slight clinical improvement. Her persecutory delusions, auditory hallucinations, social withdrawal and cognitive impairment contunied. This current episode was diagnosed as exacerbation of schizophrenia. Delirium, probable organic causes, and substance abuse were ruled out.

Admission to our unit was the tenth psychiatric hospitalization of the patient. She was diagnosed with treatment-resistant schizophrenia according to the NICE criteria (NICE 2002) as evidenced by a lack of satisfactory clinical improvement despite the sequential use of the recommended doses of at least two antipsychotic drugs for 6-8 weeks, at least one of which was a second-generation antipsychotic. At the day of administration initial Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANNS) score was 143, Clinical Global Impression (CGI) severity-of-illness score was 6 and Calgary Depession Scale score was 11. Based on history, the patient benefited most from combination treatment with olanzapine and zuclopenthixole decaonate. Thus olanzapine 20 mg/day, zuclopenthixole decaonate 200 mg once every 15 day were started. Clonazepam 4 mg/day were continued and risperidone was discontinued. The patient developed oculogyric crisis, which was treated with biperiden HCl 4 mg/day successfully. After 22 days after this treatment regimen PANSS score decreased to 78, CGI score to 4 and Calgary Depression Scale score to 8. Around 37th day of admission her psychotic symptoms worsened. The PANSS score increased to 102 and CGI score increased to 6. Calgary Depression Scale score was still 8. The informed consent was obtained from her

next of kin and NAC 600 mg p.o. daily was added on to the mentioned treatment regimen. Seven days after addition of NAC the PANSS score decreased to 59, CGI score decreased to 4. Calgary Depression Scale remained to 8. She was discharged on the 67th day of the hospitalization. At discharge, PANSS score was 56, CGI score was 4. Calgary depression scale score was 8. The patient and relatives reported marked improvement in spontaneity, social skills and family relations. She was doing routine housework such as cooking and cleaning spontaneously and her self-esteem was normal. One month after discharge from hospital her PANSS, CGI and Calgary depression scale scores were 56, 4 and 8, respectively.

Discussion

A number of studies have indicated that free radicalmediated neuronal damage plays a role in the pathophysiology of psychiatric disorders such as depression, bipolar disorders, and schizophrenia. Oxidative damage may account for deteriorating course and poor outcome in schizophrenia (Akyol et al. 2002; Savas et al. 2002, 2006; Zoroglu et al. 2002; Yanik et al. 2004; Selek et al. 2007). Recently the role of free radicals and nitric oxide (NO) have been studied in schizophrenia (Zoroglu et al. 2002). Increased NO production by nitric oxide synthetases (NOSs) suggests a possible role of NO in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia (Akyol et al. 2002). The generation of NO following N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) or norepinephrine receptor activation seems to be important in the context of central nervous system pathology (Moncada et al. 1991). NO is associated to both neurotoxic and neuroprotective effects. NO is responsible for the glutamate-induced activation of guanylate cyclase which is considered its physiological target, but is associated to glutamate neurotoxicity and dopamine-induced cell-death. Oxidative stress plays a role in the cognitive deficits of schizophrenia patients. This may involve reduced glutamatergic neurotransmission since the oxidation of the redoxsensitive site in the NMDA receptor reduces the activation of this receptor (Perez-Neri et al. 2006).

There is growing evidence that the glutamatergic system plays a role in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia (Olney et al. 1995; Heckers et al. 2002). Since glutamate and dopamine interact in a complex way (Farber et al. 1998) the glutamatergic hypothesis of schizophrenia could also integrate dopaminergic abnormalities (Olney et al. 1995; Farber 2003). In a previous study, increased Glu signals in patients with recurrent episodes of schizophrenia treated with neuroleptics were reported (Tebartz van Elst et al. 2005). In a recent study, significant correlations were found between prefrontal Glu concentrations and rating scores for schizophreniform symptoms, but not with antipsychotic medication in first episode schizophrenia patients. Those Glu findings might reflect factors intimately associated with schizophrenia but not reflect chronic medication effects or factors involved in the progress of illness (Olbrich et al. 2007).

Application of phencyclidine and other glutamate receptor blockers can cause schizophreniform symptoms (Olney et al. 1995). In a previous study, activation of cysteine-glutamate antiporters by using the cysteine prodrug NAC reversed psychomimetic effects in rodent phencyclidine model of schizophrenia (Baker et al. 2007). Mahadik et al. (2006) reported that dietary supplementation of antioxidants and omega-3 fatty acids were found to improve symptoms of schizophrenia. However, in this study, the patients were treated by a combination of antipsychotics and these agents; therefore it is hard to estimate the effect due of antioxidants alone (Mahadik et al. 2006).

In our case we envisaged that the patient might benefit from supplementation of NAC as an antioxidant and a precursor of glutathione. The NAC might work through activating cysteine-glutamate antiporters or reducing in NO metabolites, free radicals and cytokines or through both of these these mechanisms.

Finally, with the hypothesized mechanism(s) of action, NAC treatment demonstrated beneficial effects in a treatment-resistant schizophrenia patient and it has been well tolerated. In some cases of schizophrenia, especially in treatment-resistant cases, addition of NAC to the treatment regimen might be a useful intervetion.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

None.

References

- Akyol O, Herken H, Uz E, Fadillioglu E, Unal S, Sogut S, et al. 2002. The indices of endogenous oxidative and antioxidative processes in plasma from schizophrenic patients: The possible role of oxidant/antioxidant imbalance. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 26:995–1005.
- Baker DA, Madayag A, Kristiansen LV, Meador-Woodruff JH, Haroutunian V, Raju I. 2007. Contribution of cystine-gluta-

mate antiporters to the psychotomimetic affects of phencyclidine. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:1760–1772.

- Basan A, Kissling W, Leucht S. 2004. Valproate as an adjunct to antipsychotics for schizophrenia: A systematic review of randomized trials. Schizophr Res 70:33–37.
- Farber NB. 2003. The NMDA receptor hypofunction model of psychosis. Ann NY Acad Sci 1003:119–130.
- Farber NB, Newcomer JW, Olney JW. 1998. The glutamate synapse in neuropsychiatric disorders. Focus on schizophrenia and Alzheimer's disease. Prog Brain Res 116:421–437.
- Heckers S, Stone D, Walsh J, Shick J, Koul P, Benes FM. 2002. Differential hippocampal expression of glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 and 67 messenger RNA in bipolar disorder and schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 59:521–529.
- Kao SJ, Wang D, Lin IH, Che IH. 2006. N-Acetylcysteine abrogates acute lung injury induced by endotoxin. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 33:33–40.
- Mahadik SP, Pillai A, Joshi S, Foster A. 2006. Prevention of oxidative stress-mediated neuropathology and improved clinical outcome by adjunctive use of a combination of antioxidants and omega-3 fatty acids in schizophrenia. Int Rev Psychiatry 2:119–131.
- Moncada S, Palmer RM, Higgs EA. 1991. Nitric oxide: Physiology, pathophysiology and pharmacology. Pharmacol Rev 43:109–142.
- National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE). 2002. Technology appraisal Guidance No. 43, Guidance on the use of newer (atypical) antipsychotic drugs for the treatment of schizophrenia. London.
- Olbrich HM, Valerius G, Rüsch N, Büchert M, Thiel T, Hennig J, et al. 2007. Frontolimbic glutamate alterations in first episode schizophrenia: Evidence from a magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. World J Biol Psychiatry 9:59–63.
- Olney JW, Farber NB. 1995. Glutamate receptor dysfunction and schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 52:998–1007.
- Perez-Neri I, Ramirez-Bermudez J, Montes S, Rios C. 2006. Possible mechanisms of neurodegeneration in schizophrenia. Neurochem Res 31:1279–1294.
- Savas HA, Herken H, Yurekli M, Uz E, Tutkun H, Zoroglu SS, et al. 2002. Possible role of nitric oxide and adrenomedullin in bipolar affective disorder. Neuropsychobiology 45:57–61.
- Savas HA, Gergerlioglu HS, Armutcu F, Herken H, Yilmaz HR, Kocoglu E, et al. 2006. Elevated serum nitric oxide and superoxide dismutase in euthymic bipolar patients: Impact of past episodes. World J Biol Psychiatry 7:51–55.
- Schulz SC, Thompson PA, Jacobs M, Ninan PT, Robinson D, Weiden PJ, et al. 1999. Lithium augmentation fails to reduce symptoms in poorly responsive schizophrenic outpatients. J Clin Psychiatry 60:366–372.
- Selek S, Savas HA, Gergerlioglu HS, Bulbul F, Uz E, Yumru M. 2007. The course of nitric oxide and superoxide dismutase during treatment of bipolar depressive episode. J Affect Disord 107:89–94.
- Tebartz van Elst L, Valerius G, Büchert M, et al. 2005. Increased prefrontal and hippocampal glutamate concentration in schizophrenia. Evidence from a magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. Biol Psychiatry 58:724–730.
- Yanik M, Vural H, Tutkun H, Zoroglu SS, Savas HA, Herken H, et al. 2004. The role of the arginine-nitric oxide pathway in the pathogenesis of bipolar affective disorder. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci :.7 254:43–47.
- Zoroglu SS, Herken H, Yurekli M, Uz E, Tutkun H, Savas HA et al. 2002. The possible pathophysiological role of plasma nitric oxide and adrenomedullin in schizophrenia. J Psychiatr Res 36:309–315.



Unilateral rubral tremor following treatment with risperidone

YU-CHIH SHEN

Department of Psychiatry, Tzu-Chi General Hospital, Hualien City, Taiwan, ROC, and Graduate Institute of Medical Science, Tzu-Chi University, Hualien City, Taiwan, ROC

Abstract

Rubral tremor is a rare movement disorder that occurs typically with midbrain damage. The main features of this tremor are its low frequency, irregular rhythm, presence at rest, and acceleration during posture and active movement. Antipsychotic agent-induced tremors are usually bilateral parkinsonian tremors. We found no previous reports of unilateral rubral tremor in the literature. A 23-year-old man had unilateral rubral tremors as a result of a midbrain lesion plus risperidone exposure for treatment of manic symptoms. After we stopped the use of risperidone, the tremor became less apparent and then disappeared. This case highlights the importance of being aware of this rare complication in susceptible patients receiving risperidone treatment.

Key words: rubral tremor, parkinsonian tremor, antipsychotic agents, risperidone

Introduction

Rubral tremor is a rare movement disorder that occurs typically with midbrain damage. Its frequency usually is 2–5 Hz and includes resting, postural and kinetic components. It becomes more pronounced with a fixed posture, and further increases in amplitude with intentional voluntary movement (Vidailhet et al. 1998). Some authorities believe that it is actually a cerebellar postural tremor plus a parkinsonian tremor (Vidailhet et al. 1998), and can be caused by multiple sclerosis (MS) (Poser and Brinar 2004), vascular insults (Tan et al. 2001), tumours (Leung et al. 1999), head trauma (Krack et al. 1994), neuroleptic exposure (Friedman 1992), and toxoplasma abscess (Pezzini et al. 2002).

Currently, numerous atypical antipsychotic agents such as risperidone, olanzapine, quetiepine and aripiprazole are approved for the treatment of acute manic episodes (Derry and Moore 2007). Patients on these dopamine receptor antagonists may experience all of the common motor symptoms of idiopathic parkinsonism, including tremor, rigidity and bradykinesia. Drug-induced parkinsonian tremor is usually bilateral and commonly occurs during the first 5–30 days of treatment. We found no reports of drug-induced unilateral rubral tremor in the literature. We report the first case of a manic patient with unilateral rubral tremor related to a midbrain lesion plus risperidone exposure.

Case report

Mr L, a 23-year-old man, was admitted to the hospital because his relatives were worried about his "unusual behaviour". He was convinced that a particular woman he knew from long before was communicating with him to express her love. A psychiatric examination revealed racing thoughts, and speech that was circumstantial, partly incomprehensible, and not directed. His mood was elated and sometimes irritable. He was unusually selfconfident, showed psychomotor agitation, and reported a decreased need of sleep. These symptoms had developed within a few days and had now lasted for about 2 weeks. Clearly, he was suffering from a manic episode with psychotic features.

During hospitalization, the patient was treated with mood stabilizers, such as valproate and clonazepam and behavioural therapy. The mood symptoms subsided gradually but disruptive behaviours were still present. We then added an atypical antipsychotic, risperidone, for further management. We titrated the daily dose of risperidone from 2 to

(Received 8 October 2007; accepted 31 January 2008)

Correspondence: Yu-Chih Shen, Department of Psychiatry, Tzu-Chi General Hospital, 707, Sec. 3, Chung Yang Rd, Hualien 970, Taiwan. Tel: +886 3 8561825. Fax: +886 3 8577161. E-mail: shengmp@so-net.net.tw

4 mg in 3 days. On the fourth day of risperidone use, there was a unilateral resting tremor over the right extremities at a frequency of 3–4 Hz which was accelerated during sustained posture and guided movement. There was no tremor on the opposite limb.

We consulted a neurologist and the patient was evaluated under the impression of rubral tremor. Tremography of the right upper extremity revealed regular burst formation at a frequency of 3-4 Hz in either a synchronous or alternative pattern with a particular posture. Brain MRI revealed increased signal density over the left cerebral peduncle, left paramedian of the mid-brain (including left red nucleus) and dorsal pons on T2-weighted imaging. Small bright lesions in the bilateral corona radiata were also noted which may have been related to the midbrain abnormalities. The possible differential diagnosis included multiple sclerosis, encephalitis, vasculitis and other rare neurological illnesses. IgG synthesis of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) ruled out multiple sclerosis. On agarose gel electrophoresis of the CSF, no multiple bands in the "slow" IgG region were found when compared with control CSF. Results of other laboratory tests including the erythrocyte sedimentation rate, C-reactive protein, rheumatoid factor, antistreptolysin-O, rapid plasma regain, and human immunodeficiency virus test ruled out encephalitis. In addition, CSF studies such as cell counts, proteins and glucose levels, aerobic and anaerobic cultures, polymerase chain reaction analysis of herpes simplex virus and varicella-zoster virus, India ink for Cryptococcus infection, acid-fast stain for tuberculosis infection, and fungus stain revealed no abnormal findings. Results of antinuclear antibody, complement levels, antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody and angiograms of cerebral, mesenteri or renal arteries ruled out vasculitis. Other laboratory exams to rule out rare illnesses such as Wilson's disease, Hallervorden-Spatz syndrome and seizure disorders including plasma concentrations of copper and ceruloplasmin, blood analysis for acanthocytes and evoked potentials also revealed no abnormal findings.

We discontinued risperidone and the tremor became less apparent and then disappeared. Another mood stabilizer, carbamazepine, was added to control manic symptoms and disturbing behaviours. Treatment with the two mood stabilizers, valproate and carbamazepine, combined with behaviour therapy, resulted in gradual improvement of his manic symptoms.

Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first description of unilateral rubral tremor as a result of midbrain lesion plus risperidone exposure in treating a manic patient. It appears that a therapeutic dose of risperidone can lead to rubral tremor in susceptible patients. Taken together, our case and a previous report (Friedman 1992) of risperidone-induced rubral tremor in a patient with post-traumatic ataxia suggest that the therapeutic use of risperidone could lead to rubral tremor in certain patients who have underlying brain lesions. However, our patient had only right-side extremity rubral tremor, which is different from the previous report. The unilateral rubral tremor may be related to his left-side midbrain lesion plus treatment with risperidone.

Previous reports have indicated some risk factors for development of rubral tremor and extrapyramidal symptoms in patients receiving antipsychotic medication (Friedman 1992; Worrel et al. 2000). These factors include a past history of mood disorder or substance abuse, rapid dosage increase or a large total dose of the drug, advanced age, underlying brain problems and concurrent antidopaminergic medications. Our patient had a mood disorder, rapid dosage increase and underlying brain lesions that might have led to the development of unilateral rubral tremor after risperidone treatment.

The neural mechanisms underlying rubral tremor have been investigated in monkeys (Ohye et al. 1988). Three major neural elements in the ventromedial tegmental (VMT) areas, the parvocellular division of the red nucleus, the cerebellothalamic fibres passing through the red nucleus, and the nigrostriatal fibers have been found to have interactions in producing tremors. In an animal study, these three elements were destroyed stereotaxically from the VMT area either separately or in various combinations. When all three elements were destroyed, rubral tremors appeared (Ohye et al. 1988).

In our case, the development of unilateral rubral tremor could have been due to lesions which destroyed only the parvocellular division of the red nucleus and cerebellothalamic fibers passing through the red nucleus but spared the nigrostriatal fibers. The patient appeared normal when not taking an antipsychotic agent. An antipsychotic agent, such as risperidone might have some effects on the nigrostriatal fibers and cause dysfunction of all three elements. Rubral tremor developed in our patient similar to those in experiments in monkeys after the three elements were destroyed. In conclusion, we present the first case of unilateral rubral tremor as a result of midbrain lesion plus risperidone exposure in treating mania. This case highlights the importance of being aware of rare complications in susceptible patients receiving risperidone treatment.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The author has no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

References

Derry S, Moore RA. 2007. Atypical antipsychotics in bipolar disorder: systematic review of randomised trials. BMC Psychiatry 7:40.

- Friedman JH. 1992. "Rubral" tremor induced by a neuroleptic drug. Mov Disord 7:281–282.
- Krack P, Deuschl G, Kaps M, Warnke P, Schneider S, Traupe H. 1994. Delayed onset of "rubral tremor" 23 years after brainstem trauma. Mov Disord 9:240–242.
- Leung GK, Fan YW, Ho SL.1999. Rubral tremor associated with cavernous angioma of the midbrain. Mov Disord 14:191–193.
- Ohye C, Shibazaki T, Hirai T, Wada H, Kawashima Y, Hirato M, et al. 1988. A special role of the parvocellular red nucleus in lesion-induced spontaneous tremor in monkeys. Behav Brain Res 28:241–243.
- Pezzini A, Zavarise P, Palvarini L, Viale P, Oladeji O, Padovani A. 2002. Holmes' tremor following midbrain Toxoplasma abscess: clinical features and treatment of a case. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 8:177–180.
- Poser CM, Brinar VV. 2004. Diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: an historical review. Clin Neurol Neurosurg 106: 147–158.
- Tan H, Turanli G, Ay H, Saatci I. 2001. Rubral tremor after thalamic infarction in childhood. Pediatr Neurol 25:409–412.
- Vidailhet M, Jedynak CP, Pollak P, Agid Y. 1998. Pathology of symptomatic tremors. Mov Disord 13 Suppl 3:49–54.
- Worrel JA, Marken PA, Beckman SE, Ruehter VL. 2000. Atypical antipsychotic agents: a critical review. Am J Health Syst Pharm 57:238–255.



Transcranial direct current stimulation in a patient with therapy-resistant major depression

ULRICH PALM, DANIEL KEESER, CHRISTINA SCHILLER, ZOE FINTESCU, EVA REISINGER, THOMAS C. BAGHAI, CHRISTOPH MULERT & FRANK PADBERG

Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Ludwig-Maximilians University, Munich, Germany

Abstract

Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) of the prefrontal cortex (PFC) has been reported to exert significant antidepressant effects in patients with major depression. Several recent studies found an improvement of depressive symptoms in drug-free patients. Here we report the case of a 66-year-old female patient suffering from recurrent major depressive episodes who underwent anodal tDCS of the left dorsolateral PFC over 4 weeks as an add-on treatment to a stable antidepressant medication. Only a modest improvement of depressive symptoms was observed after tDCS, i.e. reduction of the baseline scores in the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale from 23 to 19 and in the Beck Depression Inventory from 27 to 20. However, there was an increase from 52 to 90% in the Regensburg Verbal Fluency Test. In addition, EEG was used to assess the acute effects of tDCS. Low resolution brain electromagnetic tomography (LORETA) showed a left unilateral focal effect (25–40% reduced power) in the delta, theta and alpha frequency bands. The same effect appeared in the surface analysis of the EEG. The absolute, as well as the relative power decreased significantly in the delta, theta and alpha bands after a comparison of the spectral analysis. Though tDCS over 4 weeks did not exert clinically meaningful antidepressant effects in this case of therapy-resistant depression, the findings for cognitive measures and EEG suggest that beneficial effects may occur in depressed subjects and future studies need to further explore this approach also in therapy-resistant major depression.

Key words: Major depressive disorder, transcranial direct current stimulation, tDCS

Introduction

The method of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) is known since the 1960s and based on experimental research in animal models (Bindman 1962). In humans, anodal tDCS enhances working memory and reaction time due to excitability alteration in neurons (Nitsche et al. 2005). Several studies suggested that tDCS may be helpful in post-stroke rehabilitation (Hummel et al. 2005) and in the treatment of central pain in traumatic spinal cord injury (Fregni et al. 2006c). The reduction of depressive symptoms has been shown in consecutive studies by Fregni and co-workers. Fregni et al. (2006a) found a significant decrease in the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale and Beck Depression Inventory after 5 days of active stimulation in comparison to a group of patients with sham stimulation. In another study (Fregni et al. 2006b) including 18 antidepressant-free patients with recurrent major depressive episodes, a significant reduction in the Hamilton depression score was found after 5 days of active tDCS. Interestingly, mood improvement and cognitive improvement were not correlated suggesting that independent mechanisms are responsible for cognitive and mood changes. This finding has been replicated by Boggio et al. (2007a). In 40 antidepressant-free patients suffering from unipolar major depression, Boggio et al (2007b) found a significant reduction in the Hamilton and Beck depression scores after DLPFC tDCS over 2 weeks compared to occipital and sham tDCS. Despite the particular need for novel effective antidepressant interventions in therapy-resistant depression there are no published data on tDCS in this difficult-to-treat group to our knowledge.

Here, we report the case of a 66-year-old woman suffering from a drug-resistant recurrent major depressive episode who was treated with anodal

(Received 30 June 2008; accepted 17 September 2008)

Correspondence: Ulrich Palm, Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Ludwig-Maximilian University Munich, D-80336 Munich, Germany. Tel: +49 89 51605730. Fax: +49 89 51605882. E-mail: Ulrich.Palm@med.uni-muenchen.de

tDCS of the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex over 4 weeks.

Case report

The 66-year-old female patient was suffering from a recurrent major depression (DSM-IV: 296.33) and had depressive episodes in 1986 and 1990. The current episode began in 2006 following a treatment of tinnitus with corticoids. The patient had undergone several failed antidepressant trials: the first combination of mirtazapine, venlafaxine and olanzapine had no obvious effect on the improvement of depressive symptoms. The second combination of paroxetine 40 mg, reboxetine 4 mg, mirtazapine 30 mg, risperidone 1 mg and lithium 800 mg brought a partial response of the depressive syndrome. When tDCS was considered the patient was still suffering from anhedonia, lack of energy and concentration. ECT was rejected by the patient. The treatment regime had been stable for 6 weeks and was carried on during tDCS treatment.

In accordance with the safety criteria of tDCS in humans, we used the protocol suggested by Nitsche et al. (2003a,b). We applied a weak direct current of 1 mA to the cortex. We used a CE-certified DCstimulator (eldith DC-stimulator, neuroconn, Ilmenau, Germany). The anode was placed over the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC-EEG F3/int. 10–20 system), the cathode was placed over the right supraorbital region. The sponges (35 cm^2) were soaked with physiological 144 mmol/l NaCl solution. After 10 stimulations we changed to water-soaked sponges. The duration of the each stimulation was 20 min with phases of 15 s ramp up and 15 s ramp down. Over all we performed 16 stimulations in a period of 27 days, initially daily, and afterwards two-daily when the patient changed to outpatient status.

In advance of the stimulation we performed several neuropsychological tests and ratings: Beck Depression Inventory (BDI), Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAMD) and Clinical Global Impression (CGI) for clinical assessment, the Regensburg Word Fluency Assessment (RWT) and the Verbal Learning and Memory Test A/B (VLMT in four parallel versions A–D) for neuropsychological assessment. After a cycle of five stimulations we measured again BDI, HAMD, CGI, RWT and VLMT-C. After the second cycle of five stimulations we rated BDI, HAMD, CGI, RWT, VLMT-D. The rater was not blinded to the treatment. After the 16th stimulation the patient refused to continue treatment and ratings for personal reasons.

tDCS was started at 1 mA over 20 min with a ramp up and a ramp down of each 15 s (in toto 1230 s). The measured impedance initially showed variations between 50 and 70 k Ω in accordance to the skin contact and the pressure applied to the sponges and dropped to 10–20 k Ω during ramp-up-phase. During the stimulation all parameters were supervised constantly by the Eldith DC Stimulator. An excess of limitations, e.g., impedance rise by drying up or chute of the electrodes the stimulation was automatically finished. The itching sensation under tDCS application with 144 mmol/l NaCl solution was reported as uncomfortable but not painful. The duration of the sensation was about 2 min. After changing to water-soaked sponges, the duration of the itching sensation diminished to ~ 1 min. Stimulation with water was reported more comfortable due to less itching sensation. Skin lesions did not appear (Palm et al. in press).

Overall, clinical rating showed a modest improvement of depressive symptoms (Table I). We found a reduction of the baseline HAMD score from 25 points at baseline to 22 after five stimulations and to 19 points after 10 stimulations. Further ratings did not take place as the patient wanted to stop the treatment. The BDI showed a reduction from 27 to 20 or 21 points after five and 10 stimulations, respectively. In the Regensburg word fluency assessment (RWT) in different versions, we found a percentage of 90% after 10 stimulations in comparison to 52% at baseline. The VLMT was constant at 27 points. The CGI was constant at 4. Although CGI showed no difference from baseline to the end, there has been a mild subjective and objective cognitive improvement. The further antidepressant treatment was moderately changed after end of tDCS and consisted in lithium 800 mg, reboxetine 4 mg and paroxetine 40 mg, but there was no improvement of depressive symptoms in the followup examinations.

Table I. Scores in measures of psychopathology and cognition.

	HAMD	BDI	CORE	PANAS	VLMT W-F	RWT	CGI	MMST
Baseline	25	27	12	16/16	A: 27 B: 42	PR 52	4	28/30
5 tDCS stimulations 1. rating	22	20		18/12	C: 27		4	
5 tDCS stimulations 2. rating	19	21	12	20/17	D: 27	PR 90	4	

Acute effects of tDCS on the EEG were assessed with a Neuroscan Synamps apparatus using an electrode cap with 33 electrodes (all referred to channel Cz). After EEG baseline recording, we measured after treatment with 20 min sham tDCS (Eldith sham device), the patient was blinded to this condition. Fifteen minutes after the first active tDCS treatment EEG recording was repeated, the time was needed for drying the hair to avoid malfunction. Electrode skin impedance was always less than 5 k Ω . We used an electrooculogram below the left eye. The electrodes were placed according to the International 10/20 system (Jasper 1958) with the additional electrodes FC1, FC2, FC5, FC6, CP5, CP6, P09, P010. Fpz served as ground electrode. The patient was instructed to remain in an alert state with her eyes closed in a sound-attenuated room. The EEG was recorded for 10 min with a sampling rate of 1000 Hz and an analogous banpass filter (0.16-200 Hz). Offline we changed the sampling rate to 250 Hz and used a 70-Hz low-pass filter. Before analysis, artefact detection was performed visually with the exclusion of all EEG segments that contained obvious eye or muscle artefacts or a decrease in alertness. The scalp sites were grouped into three sagittal regions, frontal (Fp1, Fp2, F3, FC1, F4, FC2, FC5, F7, F8, FC6, Fz), central (T3, T4, CP5, CP6, C3, C4, Cz) and posterior (T5, T6, P3, P4, Pz, O1, O2) for the surface EEG analysis. After recomputation to the average reference, spectral analysis was performed for 27 electrodes (we excluded the electrodes T1, T2, P09 and P010 due to bad quality). The EEG was Fourier transformed for at least 2-s epochs using the Brain Vision Analyzer software Version 1.05. Epochs were reduced to 80 epochs (2 min 40 s). The EEG was analyzed in four frequency bands: delta (1-3 Hz), theta (4-7 Hz), alpha (8-12 Hz) and beta (13-25 Hz). A summary of real versus placebo treatment results are presented in Table II.

In addition we carried out a source analysis with LORETA (Pascual-Marqui et al. 1994). The LORETA changes showed up an asymmetric and focal effect (25-40% reduced activity) in the following frequency bands: delta (1.0-6.0 Hz), theta (6.5-8.0

Hz), alpha 1 (8.5–10.0 Hz) and alpha 2 (10.5–12.0 Hz) (see Figure 1).

Discussion

In our case, tDCS had very limited effects on the course of a therapy-resistant depressive episode. The improvement in clinical symptoms was modest. Verbal fluency improved after ten tDCS sessions, but no effect was observed on verbal memory performance. A placebo effect on cognitive tasks may be possible, but the cognitive enhancement by tDCS has frequently been reported. Learning effects are not likely due to different versions of the tasks. Interestingly, the acute effects of a single session of tDCS on the EEG were rather pronounced. The differences between EEG effects after sham and after active tDCS suggest a specific efficacy of tDCS on neuromodulation and are probably more intensive after a couple of stimulations. Moreover, we observed similar somatosensory side effects as described by Dundas et al. (2007) in their trial of perception of comfort during tDCS. The use of water showed no other methodological and functional difficulties than the use of NaCl, in both cases the measured impedances depended on the skin contact of the sponges, and in both cases an erythema was found under the sponges after stimulation. In summary, tDCS was well tolerated and no adverse effects were reported.

Boggio et al. (2007b) found a decrease of depressive symptoms in the HAMD from 21 to 13 after 2 weeks of 2 mA treatment which means an average reduction by 8 points. Fregni et al. (2006b) found a decrease by 58% in the HAMD from the baseline score of 23.5 (stimulation with 1 mA over 5 days). In our case, the HAMD decreased from 25 to 19 (6 points) after 2 weeks of 1 mA treatment. In contrast to the studies of Boggio et al. (2007), Fregni et al. (2006a,b) we applied tDCS in a patient with therapy-resistant major depression and continuous psychopharmacological treatment. The moderate effects that we found suggest a lower efficacy of weak tDCS in this case of chronic and therapy-resistant depressive disorder. Another question is whether an antidepressant or

Table II. Summary of significant differences in the surface EEG after active tDCS compared to sham treatment.

	А	bsolute power (µV	⁷²)	Relative power (%)			
Comparison tDCS EEG vs. baseline EEG	Delta	Theta	Alpha	Delta	Theta	Alpha	
Frontal Central Posterior	** ↓		*** ↓ ** ↓	** ↓	*↓	*** ↓ ** ↓	

Paired *t*-test significance: * $P \le 0.05$; ** $P \le 0.01$; *** $P \le 0.001$; $\downarrow =$ significantly decreased.



Figure 1. The acute effect of real tDCS on the current densities measured by LORETA. The signal measured about 15 min after the real prefrontal tDCS at the EEG Point F3 decreased the current density in the delta, theta and alpha bands. The figure shows the significant effect between real versus sham measurements for the theta frequency band. The effect was laterally in the superior frontal gyrus (xyz = -24, 59, 22; BA 9). The paired *t*-test was used with corrected *P* values: $P \le 0.05$. xyz =maximum in the Talairach space. TF, converted *z*-value.

phase-prophylactic medication may alter the effect of tDCS on neuroplasticity and result in lower antide-pressant effects.

However, tDCS has been proven to be a powerful tool for changing cortex excitability. The acute EEG changes following tDCS point in this direction and even more pronounced changes are probable when tDCS is repeated over a longer period. In contrast to former studies with antidepressant-free patients, the application of tDCS in this single case of a multi-drugresistant and chronic depressive patient seems to have not the same quick and significant effects. The protocol we used was restricted to 1 mA for reasons of safety, and higher stimulation intensity and/or longer tDCS sessions may yield more robust results.

In conclusion, there is further need for studies evaluating tDCS as an add-on-treatment in therapyresistant patients.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have not declared any conflicts of interest.

References

- Bindman LJ, Lippold OC, Redfearn JW. 1962. Long-lasting changes in the level of the electrical activity of the cerebral cortex produced bypolarizing currents. Nature 10:584–585.
- Boggio PS, Bermpohl F, Vergara AO, Muniz AL, Nahas FH, Leme PB, et al. 2007a. Go-no-go task performance improvement after anodal transcranial DC stimulation of the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in major depression. J Affect Disord 101:91–98.

- Boggio PS, Rigonatti SP, Ribeiro RB, Myczkowski ML, Nitsche MA, Pascual-Leone A, et al. 2007b. A randomized, doubleblind clinical trial on the efficacy of cortical direct current stimulation for the treatment of major depression. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 11:1–6.
- Dundas JE, Thickbroom GW, Mastaglia FL. 2007. Perception of comfort during transcranial DC stimulation: Effect of NaCl solution concentration applied to sponge electrodes. Clin Neurophysiol 118:1166–1170.
- Fregni F, Boggio PS, Nitsche MA, Marcolin MA, Rigonatti SP, Pascual-Leone A. 2006a. Treatment of major depression with transcranial direct current stimulation. Bipolar Disord 8:203– 205.
- Fregni F, Boggio PS, Nitsche MA, Rigonatti SP, Pascual-Leone A. 2006b. Cognitive effects of repeated sessions of transcranial direct current stimulation in patients with depression. Depression Anxiety 23:1–3.
- Fregni F, Boggio PS, Lima MC, Ferreira MJ, Wagner T, Rigonatti SP, et al. 2006c. A sham-controlled, phase II trial of transcranial direct current stimulation for the treatment of central pain in traumatic spinal cord injury. Pain 122:197–209.
- Hummel F, Celnik P, Giraux P, Floel A, Wu WH, Gerloff C, et al. 2005. Effects of non-invasive cortical stimulation on skilled motor function in chronic stroke. Brain 128:490–499.
- Jasper, HH. 1958. The Ten Twenty Electrode System of the International Federation. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 10:371–375.
- Nitsche MA, Liebetanz D, Lang N, Antal A, Tergau F, Paulus W. 2003a. Safety criteria for transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) in humans. Clin Neurophysiol 114:2220–2222.
- Nitsche MA, Liebetanz D, Antal A, Lang N, Tergau F, Paulus W. 2003b. Modulation of cortical excitability by weak direct current stimulation – technical, safety and functional aspects. Clin Neurophysiol 56(Suppl):255–276.
- Nitsche MA, Seeber A, Frommann K, Klein CC, Rochford C, Nitsche MS, et al. 2005. Modulating parameters of exciatbility during and after transcranial direct current stimulation of the human motor cortex. J Physiol 568:291–303.
- Palm U, Keeser D, Schiller C, Fintescu F, Reisinger E, Nitsche MA, et al. Skin lesions after treatment with transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS). J Brain Stim, in press
- Pascual-Marqui RD, Michel CM. 1994. Low resolution electromagnetic tomography: a new method for localizing electrical activity in the brain. Int J Psychophysiol 18:49–65.



Late-onset obsessive compulsive disorder associated with possible gliomatosis cerebri

VINEET KUMAR¹, SUBHO CHAKRABARTI¹, MANISH MODI² & MANOJ SAHOO¹

¹Department of Psychiatry, and ²Department of Neurology, Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research (PGIMER), Chandigarh, India

Abstract

Onset of obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) after the age of 50 years is rare, and should alert the physician to possible "organic" causes of OCD. These include infections, degenerative disorders, brain injury and cerebrovascular lesions, principally involving the frontal lobes and basal ganglia. The current patient had obsessive images, anxiety, auditory hallucinations and seizures following (possible) gliomatosis cerebri, with onset around 69 years of age. The atypical presentation, lesions involving the cortical–basal ganglia–thalamic–cortical circuit and the association with neurological signs/symptoms, was characteristic. However, late-onset OCD has not been commonly reported with diffuse lesions, and the association with gliomatosis cerebri is not known. This patient's case illustrates the need for careful screening of older patients with recently acquired OCD, and for further systematic study of OCD in the broad range of neuropsychiatric disorders affecting the elderly.

Key words: Obsessive-compulsive, late-onset, gliomatosis cerebri

Introduction

Onset of obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) after the age of 50 years is rare. In one study only five such patients were found, out of an OCD patient population of over 1000, in whom symptoms of OCD first developed late in life (Weiss and Jenike 2000). Although thresholds for late-onset OCD differ across studies, most patients with onsets in the fifth decade, or later, appear to develop the illness secondary to a variety of neurological conditions. Accordingly, late-onset OCD has been reported subsequent to encephalitis, Parkinson's disease, Tourette's syndrome, Huntington's or Sydenham's chorea, cerebrovascular lesions, traumatic brain injury, brain tumours, etc. Localization of brain pathology also spans the anatomical spectrum from diffuse involvement to concentration in focal areas such as the frontal and parietal lobes, as well as the basal ganglia. The involvement of frontal lobes and basal ganglia seems particularly characteristic of lateonset OCD with almost all patients showing evidence of focal lesions in these areas (Philpot and Banerjee 1998; Chacko et al. 2000; Coetzer 2004). This concurs with what is known about the neuroanatomic basis of OCD. Although a primary pathological process underlying core OC symptoms has not been definitively identified, morphometric and functional imaging studies have consistently implicated the cortico–striato–pallidal–thalamic circuitry in "idiopathic" OCD (Gross-Isseroff et al. 2003; Desarkar et al. 2007).

Case report

A 69-year-old retired accountant presented initially to neurology, from where he was referred to the psychiatric services. He had no past history of psychiatric problems, although his eldest daughter had suffered from depression. The patient himself had undergone bilateral cataract extraction; following intra-ocular implants his vision was normal. He had a thyroid nodule removed, subsequent to which he developed tetany, but recovered and was well on calcium and vitamin D supplements. He had also been diagnosed with grade II benign prostatic hyperplasia, but had been asymptomatic since being instituted on a 5α reductase inhibitor.

Correspondence: Vineet Kumar, Department of Psychiatry, PGIMER, Chandigarh – 160012, India. Tel.: 9914208825, 9216821605, 9876821606. E-mail: vinpsy@yahoo.com

(Received 2 January 2009; accepted 22 April 2009)

His initial complaints included mild psychic anxiety, palpitations and a "sinking" sensation in the epigastrium. These would occur in stereotyped episodes, each lasting for about 15 min to 1 h, without any accompanying impairment of consciousness. He also complained of dizziness and had considerable difficulty falling asleep. Shortly after this, he started having obsessive images of nude females and external genitalia of his young grandson. Despite recognizing these as senseless, he was very distressed by such images and felt extremely guilty that he was "seeing" such things. He prayed a lot, but by doing so was able to control these images from recurring only for a short while. Over the next 2-3 months, he consulted several private psychiatrists, who initiated him on combinations of different SSRIs and benzodiazepines. However, he did not continue any of the SSRIs for more than 2 weeks, because of numbness of extremities and worsening of insomnia, which he attributed to them. A few weeks later he had three episodes of generalized tonic-clonic seizures, which led to an admission to the neurology inpatient unit. Neurological examination was unremarkable, but an MRI-brain showed bilateral (including corpus callosum), asymmetrical, multi-focal white and grey matter lesions, which were non-enhancing and had no mass effect (Figure 1).

Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (¹H-MRS) showed decrease in *N*-acetylaspartate levels (NAA) and increase in choline (Cho) levels, suggestive of mitotic lesions. Other physical causes for his anxiety symptoms, such as hypothyroidism or hypoparathyroidism were ruled out since thyroid functions, serum calcium, electrolytes, haemogram, renal function tests were all normal. CSF examination, CECT



Figure 1. Baseline MRI. Coronal T2 FLAIR image showing hyperintense lesions in the left temporal lobe in the hippocampal region. Also evident are diffuse asymmetrical white and grey matter hyperintensities in the parietal lobe as well as corpus callosum.

chest and abdomen and whole body PET-CT were also unremarkable. A 20-channel EEG with a recording time of about 25 min did not show any epileptiform discharges. A provisional diagnosis of gliomatosis cerebri (GC) was made based on the radiological findings; he was started on phenytoin (300 mg/day). The seizures were well controlled with phenytoin; hence the EEG was not repeated. Although he had no further seizures, within a week he started experiencing auditory hallucinations, both elementary sounds and voices. At this point he was referred to psychiatry. The patient and his family were reluctant to try SSRIs again. This coupled with the unusual response and non-compliance with these drugs in the past prompted a conservative approach to treatment. He was continued on phenytoin, to which low doses of clonazepam (0.5 mg/day) and haloperidol (up to 2.5 mg/day) were added. Hallucinations remitted completely with this treatment within about 10 days, anxiety symptoms were also helped, but his obsessive images persisted. The patient was taught the technique of thought stopping, but he was unable to do this on a regular basis.

A follow-up MRI scan after 3 months showed marked increase in size of the lesions, perifocal edema and mid-line shift (Figure 2).

The patient's health also began to deteriorate and he started developing episodes of altered sensorium, disorientation and agitation. The tentative diagnosis was disclosed. It was mentioned that a brain biopsy might be required for confirmation, but after a discussion of the benefits and risks the family did not want it to be done. Unfortunately, the patient's condition worsened further over the next few



Figure 2. Follow-up MRI. Coronal MRI done 3 months later revealed increase in the size of lesion with mass effect in temporal lobe.

months as he developed right hemiparesis and aphasia. Despite best efforts, he did not survive for more than a month thereafter.

Discussion

Epidemiological studies indicate that the mean age at onset of idiopathic OCD is usually in the second or third decade of life (Rasmussen and Eisen 1992). Onset of OCD after the age 50 should, therefore, alert the physician to possible "organic" causes of OCD.

In the index patient OC symptoms were most probably secondary to GC. Serial MRIs showed that the lesions were first visible in the left temporal lobe, following which they gradually extended to involve several regions of the brain. The final picture showed extensive involvement with multiple diffuse white and grey matter lesions in different brain areas, including the corpus callosum. Marked increase in size of the lesions, perifocal oedema and mid-line shift were also evident. A MRI showing diffuse, extensive, contiguous involvement (particularly of the corpus callosum), with preservation of the overall cerebral structure is often characteristic of GC (del Carpio-O'Donovan et al. 1996; Bendszus et al. 2000). However, changes on the MRI can be nonspecific and other causes of non-enhancing lesions (listed in the table) need to be considered (Felsberg et al. 1994; del Carpio-O'Donovan et al. 1996; Bendszus et al. 2000) (see Table).

Additionally, decrease in NAA levels and increase in Cho levels were noted on MRS in this patient. The most common finding on MRS in GC is a decreased level of NAA; increased Cho, increased choline/creatinine and Cho/NAA ratios have also been reported (Bendszus et al. 2000; Guzmán-de-Villoria et al. 2007). The diagnosis was further supported by the absence of evidence of any primary lesion, a normal CSF examination and a normal metabolic profile. The final confirmation of GC is usually by histopathology (Guzmán-de-Villoria et al. 2007), which was not possible as a brain biopsy was not consented to. Therefore, the diagnosis of GC remained provisional.

GC is a rare primary brain tumor, commonly characterized by diffuse infiltration of the brain with

Table I. Differential diagnosis of non-enhancing white matter lesions

Ischaemia Gliomatosis cerebri Multiple sclerosis Adrenoleukodystrophy Subacute sclerosing panencephalitis Viral encephalitis Metachromatic leukodystrophy neoplastic glial cells that affect various areas (Kim et al. 1998). Extensive hemispheric white matter and corpus callosum infiltration is characteristic, with lesser spread to subcortical and cortical grey matter. Surgery is often not practical considering the extent of the disease; standard chemotherapy has been unsuccessful, and although brain irradiation can stabilize or improve neurological function in some patients, its impact on survival has yet to be proven Consequently, the prognosis for GC is generally poor, with a median survival time of only 12 months (Vates et al. 2003). Considering these factors, the family of this patient preferred him to continue on symptomatic treatment, which unfortunately did not prolong his life for long.

Psychiatric symptoms have been previously reported among patients with GC including depression, dementia and personality changes (Duron et al. 2008). However, to the best of our knowledge the association of GC with late-onset OCD has not been reported in the past.

In this patient the initial involvement of the left temporal lobe could explain the auditory hallucinations. As the lesion spread, it involved other areas including the components of limbic system which might be responsible for the anxiety symptoms. Involvement of the frontal lobe and basal ganglia could account for the obsessive images. Presence of multiple diffuse lesions would explain the generalized tonic-clonic seizures.

Apart from the late-onset and presence of neurological illness, this patient had other features common with previous reports of late-onset OCD secondary to organic factors. These included the atypical presentation, lesions involving the corticalbasal ganglia-thalamic-cortical circuit, and the association with neurologic signs/symptoms such as seizures, dizziness, unilateral weakness and changes in behaviour/personality, which also happen to be common presenting features of GC (Kim et al. 1998). Then again, diffuse brain lesions causing OCD has not been commonly reported in earlier descriptions of late-onset OCD.

Response to treatment of late-onset OCD secondary to neurological disorders is highly variable. Some authors have indicated that the majority of these patients had a relatively poor outcome, with limited response to psychotropic medication (Weiss and Jenike 2000); others have concluded that the presumed organic aetiology in late-onset OCD does not preclude the possibility of successful treatment (Philpot and Banerjee 1998; Carmin et al. 2002). In this patient, however, the unusual response to SSRIs and the eventual poor outcome was in all probability related to the underlying condition, i.e. GC. In conclusion, the unfortunate case of this elderly gentleman demonstrates that late-onset OCD is often associated with all manner of neurological conditions. A high index of suspicion for such conditions and careful work-up of older patients with recently acquired OCD is thus required. Furthermore, given the paucity of information regarding OCD later in life, a systematic study of OCD in the broad range of neuropsychiatric disorders affecting the elderly is now indicated.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of Interest

None.

References

- Bendszus M, Warmuth-Metz M, Klein R, Burger R, Schichor C, Tonn JC, et al. 2000. MR spectroscopy in gliomatosis cerebri. Am J Neuroradiol 21:375–380.
- Carmin CN, Wiegartz PS, Yunus U, Gillock KL. 2002. Treatment of late-onset OCD following basal ganglia infarct. Depression Anxiety 15:87–90.
- Chacko RC, Corbin MA, Harper RG. 2000. Acquired obsessivecompulsive disorder associated with basal ganglia lesions. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 12:269–272.
- Coetzer BR. 2004. Obsessive-compulsive disorder following brain injury: a review. Int J Psychiatr Med 34:363–377.

- del Carpio-O'Donovan R, Korah I, Salazar A, Melancon D. 1996. Gliomatosis cerebri. Radiology 198:831–835.
- Desarkar P, Sinha VK, Jagadheesan K, Nizamie SH. 2007. Subcortical functioning in obsessive-compulsive disorder: an exploratory EEG coherence study. World J Biol Psychiatry 8:196–200.
- Duron E, Lazareth A, Gaubert J-Y, Raso C, Hanon O, Rigaud A-S. 2008. Gliomatosis cerebri presenting as rapidly progressive dementia and parkinsonism in an elderly woman: a case report. J Med Case Reports 2:53.
- Felsberg GJ, Silver SA, Brown MT, Tien RD. 1994. Gliomatosis cerebri: radiologic-pathologic correlation. Am J Neuroradiol 15:1745–1753.
- Gross-Isseroff R, Hermesh H, Zohar J, Weizman A. 2003. Neuroimaging commonality between schizophrenia and obsessive compulsive disorder: a putative basis for schizoobsessive disorder? World J Biol Psychiatry 4:129–134.
- Guzmán-de-Villoria JA, Sánchez-González J, Muñoz L, Reig S, Benito C, García-Barreno P, et al. 2007. ¹H MR spectroscopy in the assessment of gliomatosis cerebri. Am J Roentgenol 188:710–714.
- Kim DG, Yang HJ, Park IA, Chi JG, Jung HW, Han DH, et al. 1998. Gliomatosis cerebri: clinical features, treatment, and prognosis. Acta Neurochir 140:755–762.
- Philpot MP, Banerjee S. 1998. Obsessive-compulsive disorder in the elderly. Behav Neurol 11:117–121.
- Rasmussen SA, Eisen JL. 1992. The epidemiology and clinical features of obsessive-compulsive disorder. Psychiatr Clin North Am 15:743–759.
- Vates GE, Chang S, Lamborn KS, Prados M, Berger MS. 2003. Gliomatosis cerebri: a review of 22 cases. Neurosurgery 53:261–271.
- Weiss AP, Jenike MA. 2000. Late-onset obsessive-compulsive disorder: a case series. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 12: 265–268.



MICHAEL LIEBRENZ¹, RUDOLF STOHLER¹ & ALAIN BORGEAT²

¹Psychiatric University Hospital, Research Group on Substance Use Disorders, Zurich, Switzerland, and ²Department of Anesthesiology, Orthopedic University Hospital Balgrist, Zurich, Switzerland

Abstract

Background: The intravenous administration of ketamine, an *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist, results in a great improvement of depression symptoms, but it is not clear for how long. This single-case trial was conducted to explore the duration of improvement and the effects of a second administration on the clinical outcome. *Methods:* In an open label trial, a 55-year-old male patient with treatment-resistant major depression and a co-occurring alcohol and benzodiazepine dependence received two intravenous infusions of 0.5 mg/kg ketamine over the course of 6 weeks. Depression severity was assessed by means of a weekly clinical interview, the 21-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS), and the 21-item Beck Depression Inventory (BDI). *Results:* The first ketamine infusion lead to a pronounced improvement of symptoms, peaking on the second day post infusion (HDRS -56.6%, BDI -65.4%). Positive effects started fading by day 7, reaching baseline by day 35. The second infusion was less efficacious: HDRS and BDI were reduced by 43 and 35%, respectively, and returned to baseline by day 7. *Conclusion:* In this patient with a co-occurring substance use disorder, repeated administrations of ketamine produced positive results. Since the second application has been less efficacious, doses and schedule of administrations need to be further investigated.

Key words: Treatment-resistant major depression, N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist, ketamine

Introduction

Although the number of antidepressant substances has grown considerably over the last decades, many patients suffering from depression continue to be symptomatic despite intensive treatment. It is widely accepted that at least 20% of all depressed patients do not respond adequately to several antidepressant drugs (Crown et al. 2002). While most investigations had revealed that monoaminergic system dysregulation contributed to depression (Delgado 2000; Hirschfeld 2000) it was not until recently that an involvement of the glutamatergic system was demonstrated (Krystal et al. 2002). Consequently, it was suggested that by directly targeting the NMDA receptor, it might be possible to modulate glutamate and GABA systems, thus creating a target for novel antidepressants (Krystal et al. 2002). The exact mechanisms through which NMDA receptor antagonists exert their rapid antidepressant effects are still being discussed, however there is some speculation if directly targeting the NMDA receptor might eliminate long neurotrophic signalling cascades, which could be the reason for the delayed effects of traditional antidepressants (Manji et al. 2003).

Several NMDA receptor antagonists are currently under investigation as antidepressants (e.g., memantine, riluzole and ketamine). Although early results are promising, sample sizes are still small and clinical results preliminary.

A recent study with i.v. ketamine resulted in a pronounced improvement of depression within hours of beginning the treatment (Zarate et al. 2006). In this trial, 71% of all otherwise treatment-resistant patients responded (>-50% on the HDRS) to a single ketamine application (Zarate et al. 2006).

Ketamine is a chiral compound and a dissociative anaesthetic. Because of vivid hallucination induced by ketamine in dosages necessary for anaesthesia

(Received 8 March 2007; accepted 24 April 2007)

Correspondence: Michael Liebrenz, Selnaustr. 9, 8001 Zürich, Switzerland. Tel: +41 44 205 58 20. Fax: +41 44 205 58 02. E-mail: Michael.Liebrenz@puk.zh.ch

(0.7–2 mg/kg bodyweight) its use in human medicine has decreased. For antidepressant effects a dosage of 0.5 mg/kg has been needed. In that dosage no anaesthesia is induced.

Known side effects include perceptual disturbances, confusion, elevations of blood pressure, euphoria, dizziness, and increased libido. These adverse effects cease about 80–110 min after an i.v. infusion.

So far, patients with a current co-occurring substance use disorder were excluded from studies on ketamine's antidepressant action. While such exclusion might have been necessary to establish effectiveness, it also constitutes a serious limitation to a wider applicability, since substance use disorders are very frequent in depressed patients (Kessler et al. 2005). Petrakis et al. (2004) have shown that subjects with a family history of alcohol dependence react slightly different to the infusion of ketamine than those without. However, they found no differences regarding mood states post infusion but a blunted response to the dissociative, intoxicant, and dysphoriant properties of ketamine, whereas negative symptoms were slightly more pronounced. In our eyes, these findings do not constitute an a priori reason for excluding patients with a current diagnosis of alcohol dependence from this procedure - rather the opposite. Furthermore, we found no reports on repeated applications of ketamine in the same subject. This led to questions about the sustainability of ketamine's effect on depression; and if effects indeed faded over time, whether a second infusion would result in improvements.

Therefore, our objectives were to replicate and further evaluate ketamine's antidepressant effects in a patient with a treatment-resistant depression and a co-occurring substance use disorder.

Methods

A fifty-five year old male subject who met DSM-IV criteria for a treatment-resistant major depression and a co-occurring dependence on alcohol, benzodiazepines, and nicotine was included in this study. At the time of inclusion the subject was severely depressed as indicated by weekly clinical interviews, scores on the 21-item HDRS (Hamilton 1960) of 36, and a BDI (Beck 1974) score of 26. The Structured Clinical Interview for Axis I and II DSM-IV disorders (Spitzer et al. 1992) revealed no history of schizophrenia, schizoaffective, bipolar or personality disorders.

Over the course of 4 years the subject had been admitted seven times to inpatient psychiatric services with the following symptoms: restlessness, feelings of hopelessness, helplessness, feelings of guilt, sadness, anxiety, early morning awakening, blunted libido, loss of interest in formerly enjoyable activities, and suicidal ideation.

Past pharmacological treatments had included citalopram (40 mg/day), paroxetine (40 mg/day), mianserine (120 mg/day), mirtazapine (30 mg/day), venlafaxine (375 mg/day), trimipramine (350 mg/ day), trazodone (900 mg/day), and escitalopram (20 mg/day). Augmentation therapy had comprised metylphenidate, valproic acid, lithium, olanzapine, quetiapine, buspirone, buprenorphine, and chlorprothixene. All antidepressant medications were given over an adequate time period. Additionally, the subject had received cognitive behavioural therapy. All interventions had been well tolerated, but had failed to achieve remission.

Consumption of nicotine and alcohol had been stable over the course of 6 months at three packs of cigarettes/day and 2.5 l beer/day, respectively, while consumption of benzodiazepines had risen over the same period from 5 to 15 mg lorazepam/day. The subject did not consume any other legal or illegal substances as indicated by urinalysis. A routine medical work up showed no irregularities, with the exception of a high blood pressure (RR 155/95 mmHg). Routine laboratory evaluation revealed the following abnormalities: cholesterol 8.3 mmol/l, and γ -GT 97 U/l. A cranial MRI, an EEG, an ECG, and chest radiography showed no pathological findings. BMI was 24.8.

Before the first ketamine infusion, anti-depressant medication with trimipramine was tapered to zero to avoid cardiac complications.

A first intravenous infusion of saline solution with 0.5 mg/kg of ketamine hydrochloride (Ketalar[®], Pfizer) via an infusion pump over 50 min was followed by a clinical assessment of depression severity (on days 1 and 2, and thereafter on a weekly basis), by the HDRS, carried out by the same psychiatrist. The subject also completed the self rating questionnaire BDI two hours post infusion and on days 1, 2 and 7 after treatment.

Once the subjected reported a complete fading of effects and reached initial values on the HDRS and BDI, a second infusion of an unchanged ketamine dose was administered. This design was chosen first to test the sustainability of effects after the first infusion and second to allow for a comparison of effectiveness between the first and the second application.

During administration of ketamine, ECG, blood pressure, and oxygen saturation were continuously monitored.

Written informed consent from the subject was obtained after the procedures had been fully explained.

Results

Regression of symptoms started within 25 min of the first ketamine infusion. The subject started to report feelings of dizziness, nausea and dissociative symptoms. He then depicted a sensation of being "lulled in cotton" and being "slightly agravic". However, these sensations vanished 2 h after the end of the infusion.

With the onset of the above effects the subject also began to describe a reduction in restlessness and tension. During the procedure the subject remained conscious and oriented. Thirty minutes after the end of treatment the patient felt entirely unimpaired and moved around freely. Immediately after the end of the infusion he reported feeling less depressed, exhibiting no more signs of sadness or anxiety. His mood continued to improve over the next several hours and days as indicated by declining scores on both the HDRS and the BDI.

At baseline, 2 h prior to the first infusion, depression scores on the HDRS had been 36 and 26 on the BDI, respectively. Two hours afterwards the BDI score had dropped by 9 points (or 35%) to 17 and continued to decrease to 11 (-58%) 1 day and to 9 (-65%) 2 days after the end of the first infusion. By day 7, BDI scores had risen back to 14. The HDRS score had sunk to 16 (-57%) 2 days after the intervention and to 14 (-61%) on day 7. Positive effects lasted for 14 days. By day 21 post infusion, the HDRS score had returned to 25, increasing to 27 on day 28 and to 35 on day 35. By this time, the BDI had increased to 25.

On day 35 the patient received a second infusion of ketamine (same procedure as infusion one). The subject rapidly experienced the same effects (e.g., dissociative symptoms, dizziness) as previously described. However, they were less pronounced compared to the first administration. Again, improvement of symptoms was almost instantly evident, as indicated by a 6-point decrease in BDI scores to 19 (-24%) 2 h and to 16 (-36%) 1 day post treatment. Two days after the second infusion at 10:00 h, HDRS score was at 20 (-43%); however, the same day at 17:00 h, BDI had returned to 25. Seven days after the second treatment HDRS score reached its initial value of 35. Overall, the subject reported effects as present, but less pronounced and faster fading in comparison to the first infusion. Monitoring remained uneventful following both ketamine applications and no cardiovascular complications or other side effects were observed.

Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first report on the effects of a treatment course with two subsequent intravenous infusions of 0.5 mg/kg ketamine.

The patient suffering from a treatment-resistant major depression lasting for 4 years, experienced a reduction of symptoms of -61% on the HDRS and of -65% on the BDI after the first infusion. On the self rating questionnaire BDI, even remission was indicated (<9). The positive effects started to fade 7 days following infusion, reaching initial values by day 35. This could indicate that a single infusion of ketamine might not lead to a sustained remission.

The second infusion of ketamine was accompanied by slightly less pronounced dissociative symptoms. The improvement, as indicated by a decrease of the HDRS score by 43%, was present, but was experienced as faster fading and less powerful by the patient. The exact reason for this remains unclear. The occurrence of tachyphylaxia following ketamine administration has not been reported in the anaesthesia literature and therefore seems unlikely. However, during the second infusion of the same ketamine dosage, feelings of "comfortable numbness" (Check 2006) were slightly less pronounced and heart rate was distinctively lower (average of 79 in comparison to 95 bpm during the first infusion), suggesting that the presence of a certain intensity of psychomimetic effects was necessary for the antidepressant effects to occur (Zarate et al. 2006).

In accordance with findings of Berman et al. (2000) and Zarate et al. (2006) we found ketamine to exert strong antidepressant effects despite the subject's current co-occurring abuse of benzodiazepines and alcohol. Therefore, treatment with ketamine might be a valuable option for a wider range of patients than previously reported. Interestingly patients with a life-time diagnosis of "any substance abuse/dependence" (ASAD) or with a life-time diagnosis of "alcohol abuse/dependence" (AAD) did not fare worse than those without (HDRS reduction: ASAD -63.3%; AAD -66.5%; without -47.3%, Zarate et al. 2006, table).

In comparison to trials with other NMDA receptor antagonists like riluzole (Zarate et al. 2004) in the same clinical context, it seems noteworthy that during both treatments, the onset of improvements started very rapidly within minutes after infusion. The use of NMDA receptor antagonists might open new ways of therapy but further studies with more patients and different doses, intervals, and forms of application will be needed.

Statement concerning human studies

We report about an open label trial of ketamine in a single case. The study procedures and possible side effects of the study medication had been carefully explained and patient's written informed consent was obtained. In this case of an off label clinical treatment and in agreement with Swiss law no authorization by a research ethical committee was required and therefore not obtained. This was confirmed by the president of the local ethics committee.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

References

- Beck AT, Beamesderfer A. 1974. Assessment of depression: the depression inventory. Mod Probl Pharmacopsychiatry 7:151–169.
- Berman RM, Cappiello A, Anand A, et al. 2000. Antidepressant effects of ketamine in depressed patients. Biol Psychiatry 47:351–354.

- Check E. 2006. Depression: Comfortably numb. Nature 443:629-631.
- Crown WH, Finkelstein S, Berndt ER, et al. 2002. The impact of treatment-resistant depression on health care utilization and costs. J Clin Psychiatry 63:963–971.
- Delgado PL. 2000. Depression: the case for a monoamine deficiency. J Clin Psychiatry 61:4–6.
- Hamilton M. 1960. A rating scale for depression. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 23:56–62.
- Hirschfeld RM. 2000. History and evolution of the monoamine hypothesis of depression. J Clin Psychiatry 61 (Suppl 6):4–6.
- Kessler RC, Chiu WT, Demler O, Merikangas KR, Walters EE. 2005. Prevalence, severity, and comorbidity of 12-month DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62:617–627.
- Manji HK, Quiroz JA, Sporn J, et al. 2003. Enhancing neuronal plasticity and cellular resilience to develop novel, improved therapeutics for difficult-to-treat depression. Biol Psychiatry 53:707–742.
- Papakostas GI. 2006. Dopaminergic-based pharmacotherapies for depression. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 16:391–402.
- Petrakis IL, Limoncelli D, Gueorguieva R, et al. 2004. Altered NMDA glutamate receptor antagonist response in individuals with a family vulnerability to alcoholism. Am J Psychiatry 161:1776–1782.
- Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Gibbon M, First MB. 1992. The Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-III-R (SCID). I: History, rationale, and description. Arch Gen Psychiatry 49:624–629.
- Zarate CA, Payne LJ, Quiroz J, et al. 2004. An open-label trial of riluzole in patients with treatment-resistant major depression. Am J Psychiatry 161:171–174.
- Zarate CA Jr, Singh JB, Carlson PJ, et al. 2006. A randomised trial of an N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonist in treatmentresistant major depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 63:856–864.



Zuclopenthixol-induced neuroleptic malignant syndrome presenting as fever of unknown origin, hyperglycaemia and acute myocardial infarction in a 60-year-old man

ASUMAN ORHAN VAROGLU¹, ORHAN ATES², OMER LUTFI GUNDOGDU¹, ASUDE AKSOY³ & ORHAN DENIZ¹

Departments of ¹Neurology, ²Ophtalmology and ³General Internal Medicine, Medical Faculty, University of Ataturk, Erzurum, Private Hayat Hospital, Elazig, Turkey

Abstract

Neuroleptic malignant syndrome (NMS) is a rare clinical condition and potentially life-threatening complication of antipsychotic medications. We report a patient with an atypical presentation of NMS. A 60-year-old man with schizophrenia was admitted to our hospital with disturbed consciousness, fever and marked extrapyramidal rigidity both in the upper and lower extremities. He had been given i.m. zuclopenthixol 200 mg/month but had not taken the last dose. Laboratory investigations showed that creatinine phosphokinase 428 IU/l (normal up to 130), lactate dehydrogenase 772 IU/l (normal up to 450), blood glucose 256 mg/dl (65–110). Urine analyses revealed ketonuria. White blood cell (WBC) count was 6100 cells/mm³. Therefore, the patient was diagnosed as having NMS and antipsychotic medications were stopped. Adequate hydration was provided and bromocryptine 5 mg was started three times a day. Despite treatment, the patient died due to acute myocardial infarction after 3 days of hospitalization.

Key words: Neuroleptic malignant syndrome (NMS), zuclopenthixol, hyperglycaemia, acute myocardial infarction, schizophrenia

Introduction

Neuroleptic malignant syndrome (NMS) is characterized by fever, signs of autonomic dysregulation (e.g., pallor, diaphoresis, blood pressure instability, tachycardia, pulmonary congestion and tachypnea), extrapyramidal rigidity and altered consciousness. NMS is usually induced by a reaction of antipsychotic medications and other drugs that affect the dopaminergic system on administration or withdrawal (Hasan and Buckley 1998). The frequency of NMS is approximately 0.07-2.2% of patients treated with neuroleptics. Risk factors are dehydration, use of multiple antipsychotic medications, agitation, previous episodes, rate and route of neuroleptic administration (Aruna and Murungi 2005). The rapidly fatal course is an uncommon event (Lenler-Petersen et al. 1990). The mortality rate of NMS in the literature is 10–20%. After the onset of symptoms and signs, death occurs within 3-30 days. The most common causes of death were respiratory or renal failure, cardiovascular collapse and arrhythmias (Caroff 1980; Levenson 1985; Shalev and Munitz 1986). We report a case of zuclopenthixol-induced NMS associated with hyperglycaemia and acute myocardial infarction in a 60 year-old man with schizophrenia.

Case report

A 60-year-old man with schizophrenia was admitted to our hospital because of disturbed consciousness, fever and hypertonicity of both upper and lower extremities. The patient was diagnosed with schizophrenia 20 years previously. He was taking zuclopenthixol intramuscularly 200 mg once a month, but it was not known how long he had been taking this medication. He was not taking any other medications. No medication of any kind was prescribed of prior to zuclopenthixol. He received his last dose four days ago. No diabetes mellitus or cardiovascular

Correspondence: Asuman Orhan Varoglu, Department of Neurology, Medical Faculty, Ataturk University, Erzurum, Turkey. Tel: +90 442 2361212/1096. Fax: +90 442 2361301. E-mail: asumanorhan@yahoo.com

(Received 21 March 2007; accepted 29 September 2007)

disease were present in the patient's previous medical history, although a family history of cardiovascular disease was present.

On admission, his body temperature was 40°C and blood pressure was 100/60 mmHg. Laboratory investigations revealed: creatinine phosphokinase 428 IU/l (normal up to 130), lactate dehydrogenase 772 IU/l (normal up to 450). The level of plasma triglyceride (TG) 190 mg/dl, low density protein (LDL) 156 mg/dl, high density lipoprotein (HDL) 56 mg/dl.The patient's body mass index (BMI) was 24 kg/m². Central obesity and microalbuminuria were not observed. The level of blood glucose was elevated: 256 mg/dl at time of admission. In addition, ketonuria was detected on urine analysis. The patient was investigated by an endocrinologist and treatment was started immediately according to their suggestions. Two days after beginning therapy, level of blood glucose was decreased to 200 mg/dl, and ketonuria was observed at lower level in the urine. Nevertheless, 3 days after admission blood glucose rose to 298 mg/dl and ketonuria increased in the urine. White blood cells were 6100 cells/mm³. Serum electrolytes showed: sodium 146 mEq/l, calcium 8.9 mg/dl, potassium 4.8 mEq/l, blood urea nitrogen (BUN) 25 mg/dl, serum creatinine concentration 0.8 mg/dl and myocardial creatinine phosphokinase (CKMB) 27 IU/l.

A computerized scan of the patient's head was within normal limits. Because the patient was admitted to hospital with fever of unknown origin, analysis of the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) was performed but the results were unremarkable. No bacterial pathogens were identified in the blood, urine and CSF cultures. ECG examinations were normal initially. Consequently, the patient was diagnosed as NMS caused by use of zuclopenthixol.

At the beginning of therapy, antipsychotic medication was stopped and the patient was hydrated by 3500 cc/day isolayte solution. Bromocryptine 5 mg three times a day was administered. For agitation, diazepam 20 mg was started twice a day.

After 2 days of the therapy, the level of CK was decreased to 374 IU/l. Agitation and consciousness of the patient were slightly improved. The level of CK increased to 442 IU/l again; ST segment elevation was observed in the anterior derivation on the ECG examinations. The patient was examined by a cardiologist, and was diagnosed as having acute myocardial infarction and treatment was started at once. However, the patient died suddenly due to cardiogenic shock 3 days after admission.

Discussion

NMS is an uncommon syndrome, which is usually induced by a reaction to antipsychotic therapy. In the NMS, there is a blockage of dopamine in the nigrostriatal tracts. According to Levenson (1985), diagnostic criteria for neuroleptic malignant syndrome include major and minor criteria. Fever, muscular rigidity and raised creatinine phosphokinase are the major criteria. Tachycardia, labile blood pressure, tachypnoea, altered consciousness, sweating, leucocytosis are minor criteria. Three or two major and four minor criteria are the diagnostic threshold. Rhabdomyolysis usually accompanies this syndrome (Hasan and Buckley 1998).

Early diagnosis and immediate treatment of NMS are very important because of its high potential lethality. In the literature, it is reported that death occurs within 3–30 days after the onset of symptoms and results from respiratory or renal failure, cardiovascular collapse and arrhythmias (Caroff 1980; Levenson 1985; Shalev et al. 1989). As soon as the patient was diagnosed with NMS, treatment was initiated at once; however, the he died on third day of therapy. Lenler-Petersen et al. reported that sudden death is very infrequent in the literature (1990).

The exact mechanisms responsible for NMS are still unclear. To authors' knowledge, NMS is believed to result from metabolic abnormalities of intracellular calcium. Therefore, treatment should include either bromocryptine or dantrolene. Dantrolene works by blocking the release of calcium from the sarcoplasmic reticulum, and bromocryptine is a direct dopamine agonist causing inhibition of calcium ion uptake in skeletal muscle (Mieno et al. 2003). Some authors suggested that the combination of these drugs is very effective for the treatment of NMS (Shalev et al. 1989; Caroff and Mann 1993), despite the fact that dantrolene is less recommended on its own.

In the lateral hypothalamus, inhibition of dopaminergic receptors may contribute to the fever (Fiebel and Schiffer 1981). In a previous report, the mortality rate of NMS was shown to be high, and the clinical condition is very serious in patients with fever (Hadad et al. 2003). Similarly, in our case body temperature was 40° C and very serious complications were present.

Zuclopenthixol decanoate is a long-acting form of zuclopenthixol that has been made more lipophilic by esterification of decanoic acid. The esters of zuclopenthixol are dissolved in fractionated coconut oil and, when injected i.m., diffuse slowly from the oil depot to the body water phase where they are rapidly hydrolysed to the active substance. Maximum serum concentrations of zuclopenthixol are reached 3–7 days following i.m. injection (Szukalski et al. 1986). In our case, the last dose of zuclopenthixol was administrated 4 days before admission. Thus, NMS developed while zuclopenthixol was at maximum serum concentrations.

There is a little knowledge about cardiac abnormalities in NMS. To our knowledge, a few cases died from cardiac complications in NMS in the literature (Lenler-Petersen et al. 1990; Benaissa et al. 1998; Patrick et al. 2003). In one of these reports, cardiac and skeletal muscles showed similar changes, suggesting a common disease process on post mortem investigation (Patrick et al. 2003). In another report, elevated CK was an indicator of cardiac involvement in NMS in Parkinson's disease. In addition, high levels of serum myosine light chain I and CK–MB are useful indicators of lethality (Sato et al. 2005). Our case died due to acute myocardial infarction when serum CK level was elevated again.

Atypical antipsychotics are usually associated with a risk of metabolic syndrome (Goethe et al. 2007). The features of metabolic syndrome are impaired glucose regulation or diabetes, insulin resistance, raised arterial pressure $\geq 160/90$ mmHg, raised plasma triglyceride levels, raised LDL cholesterol level, and/or low HDL cholesterol level, central obesity and/or BMI > 30 kg/m² and microalbuminuria (Cihan and Pabinger 2007). Our patient was not diagnosed as having metabolic syndrome, because none of the features of metabolic syndrome were present, except for impaired glucose regulation and moderate hypercholesterolemia.

Here, we report a case of NMS in an elderly ma with hyperglycaemia. There were a few cases with hyperglycaemia in NMS in the literature. In one of them, Saeki et al. (1998) described a case of NMS associated with disseminated intravascular coagulation followed by hyperosmolar non-ketotic diabetic coma in an elderly patient with Parkinson's disease during l-dopa therapy. The symptoms recovered within several days on treatment. In another report, a patient with NMS, who developed diabetic ketoacidosis, was treated immediately but this patient died several days after admission (de Boer and Gaete 1992).

Certain antipsychotics may be associated with new-onset glucose intolerance, including acute diabetes and ketoacidosis. The pathophysiology of this effect is likely to be a complex mechanism (Bottai et al. 2005). Some authors report that hyperglycaemia can reduce dopaminergic transmission and increase postsynaptic dopaminergic supersensitivity, thus bringing about NMS (Saller and Kopin 1981; Chu et al. 1986). Some recent studies suggest that hyperglycaemia causes increased risk of myocardial infarction, peripheral vascular disease, stroke, renal damage, vision loss, cataract, etc. Also, hyperglycaemia induces oxidative stress and increases the production of proinflammatory molecules. These events eventually cause endothelial dysfunction and lead to tissue and target organ damage (Das Undurti 2003). Therefore, there may be a positive association among hyperglycaemia and cardiac abnormalities and mortality from NMS.

Since antipyschotics might induce hyperglycaemia, a physician must be alert to NMS in patients treated with antipsychotic medications, and especially to hyperglycaemia in order to prevent cardiac complications.

To the authors' knowledge, using bromocryptine for suppression of calcium in a few postpartum cases induced acute myocardial infarction (Hayashi et al. 2003). However, these authors did not report that using bromocryptine for NMS had worsened the cardiac complications. Sparrow et al. (2003) reported that postmortem histology of cardiac and skeletal muscle showed similar changes of focal cellular necrosis and vacuolation suggesting a common disease (Patrick 2003). Therefore, it is difficult to say that the cause of cardiac complications is the use of bromocryptine. Perhaps the cause of these complications is NMS itself. It is necessary that experimental and clinical investigations should be made to assess the link between bromocryptine and cardiac complications in NMS.

The mortality rate of NMS is high when associated with any unusual complications (de Boer and Gaete 1992). The early diagnosis and treatment of these complications are very important for the prognosis of NMS. However, the presence of these complications in NMS makes treatment difficult, particularly in elderly patients.

Conclusion

We have demonstrated that NMS is a potentially life-threatening disease when accompanied by infrequent complications, and physicians should be alert to the presence of hyperglycaemia, because hyperglycaemia is a risk factor for cardiac complication in NMS in elderly patients treated with zuclopenthixol.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

References

- Aruna AS, Murungi JH. 2005. Fluphenazine-induced neuroleptic malignant syndrome in a schizophrenic patient. Ann Pharmacother 39:1131–1135.
- Benaissa ML, Bekka R, Baud FJ. 1998. Acute cardiac failure in a case of rapidly lethal neuroleptic malignant syndrome. Intensive Care Med 24:86–94.
- Bottai T, Quintin P, Perrin E. 2005. Antipsychotics and the risk of diabetes: a general data review. Eur Psychiatry 20:349–357.
- Caroff SN. 1980. The neuroleptic malignant syndrome. J Clin Psychiatry 41:79–83.
- Caroff SE, Mann SC. 1993. Neuroleptic malignant syndrome. Med Clin North Am 77:185–202.
- Cihan AY, Pabinger I. 2007. Metabolic syndrome and venous thrombosis: potential role of microparticles. Haematologica 92:92e065.
- Chu PC, Lin MT, Shian LR, Leu SY. 1986. Alteration in physiologic functions and in brain monoamine content in streptozocin-diabetic rats. Diabetes 35:481–485.
- Das Undurtion. 2003. Insulin: an endogenous cardioprotector. Curr Opin Crit Care 9:375–383.
- de Boer C, Gaete HP. 1992. Neuroleptic malignant syndrome and diabetic keto-acidosis. Br J Psychiatry 161:856–858.
- Fiebel JH, Schiffer RB. 1981. Sympathoadrenomedullary hyperactivity in the neuroleptic malignant syndrome. Am J Psychiatr 138:1115–1156.
- Goethe JW, Szarek BL, Caley CF, Woolley SB. 2007. Signs and symptoms associated with the metabolic syndrome in psychiatric inpatients receiving antipsychotics: a retrospective chart review. J Clin Psychiatry 68:22–28.
- Hadad E, Weinbroum AA, Ben-Abraham R. 2003. Drug-induced hyperthermia and muscle rigidity: a practical approach. Eur J Emerg Med 10:149–154.

- Hasan S, Buckley P. 1998. Novel antipsychotics and the neuroleptic malignant syndrome: a review and critique. Am J Psychiatry 155:11131–1136.
- Hayashi Y, Ibe T, Kawato H, et al. 2003. Postpartum acute myocardial infarction induced by ergonovine administration. Intern Med 42:983–986.
- Lenler-Petersen P, Hansen BD, Hasselstrom. 1990. A rapidly progressing lethal case of neuroleptic malignant syndrome. Intensive Care Med 16:267–268.
- Levenson JL. 1985. Neuroleptic malignant syndrome. Am J Psychiatry 142:1137–1145.
- Mieno S, Asada K, Horimoto H, Sasaki S. 2003. Neuroleptic malignant syndrome following cardiac surgery: successful treatment with dantrolene. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 24:458– 460.
- Saeki H, Muneta S, Kobayashi T. 1998. Malignant syndrome associated with disseminated intravascular coagulation and a high level of amylase in serum, followed by diabetic coma in an elderly patient with Parkinson's disease during L-dopa therapy. Nippon Ronen Igakkai Zasshi 35:139–144.
- Saller CF, Kopin IJ. 1981. Glucose potentiates haloperidol induced catalepsy. Life Sci 29:2337–2341.
- Sato Y, Honda Y, Asoh T, Iwamoto J, Kanoko T, Satoh K. 2005. Cardiac involvement in malignant syndrome in Parkinson's disease. Eur Neurol 54:88–92.
- Shalev A, Munitz H. 1986. The neuroleptic malignant syndrome: agent and host interaction. Acta Psychiatr Scand 73:337–347.
- Shalev A, Hermesh H, Munitz H. 1989. Mortality from neuroleptic malignant syndrome. J Clin Psychiatry 50:18–25.
- Sparrow P, Murnaghan D, Kearney P, Hogan J, Sheppard MN. 2003. Acute cardiac failure in neuroleptic malignant syndrome. Eur J Heart Fail 5:575–578.
- Szukalski B, Lipska B, Welbel L, Nurowska K. 1986. Serum levels and clinical response in long-term pharmacotherapy with zuclopenthixol decanoate. Psychopharmacology (Berlin) 89:428–431.



Is anorexia nervosa a neuropsychiatric developmental disorder? An illustrative case report

JACOB KERBESHIAN¹ & LARRY BURD²

¹Department of Neuroscience, University of North Dakota School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Grand Forks, ND, USA, and ²Department of Pediatrics, University of North Dakota School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Grand Forks, ND, USA

Abstract

We propose the concept that anorexia nervosa is a neuropsychiatric developmental disorder. In support of the concept we present a case report of a 12-year-old girl with high functioning autistic disorder who developed Tourette syndrome and obsessive-compulsive disorder. She subsequently experienced a distinct onset of partial anorexia nervosa characterized by fear of gaining weight, body image distortions, food preference idiosyncrasies including avoidance of fat, dietary restriction, a pursuit of thinness, episodic self-induced vomiting, the missing of her menstrual cycles, and a 10% decrement in expected weight for height. She fell short of the required 15% decrement in expected weight for height to qualify for the full syndrome. Our case presentation emphasizes the longitudinal commonalities and symptomatic overlap of her multiple comorbidities. We discuss treatment approaches typically used with individuals with neuropsychiatric developmental disorders which might benefit higher functioning individuals with eating disorders. We conclude with examples of a neuropsychiatric developmental approach to generate a research agenda for anorexia nervosa.

Key words: Anorexia nervosa, Tourette syndrome, autism, obsessive-compulsive disorder, neuropsychiatric disorders

Neuropsychiatric developmental disorders (NPDD) are defined by an onset during infancy, childhood, or the adolescent years (Kerbeshian and Burd 2007). There is a temporal unfolding and progression of the course of symptoms. As symptoms aggregate into definable syndromes there may be concurrent variation in syndromal comorbidities over time. This progression of dysfunction modifies and is conversely modified by the lines of normal and expectable development. This epigenetically programmed course is the product of a longitudinal transaction between genetic endowment and environmental experience. These progressive changes in syndromal phenomenology are captured in part by the concept of heterotypic continuity. As defined by Costello et al. (2003), there is continuity of the underlying vulnerability to a disorder that exposes a child to different disorders as a function of age, or there is an underlying disorder with differing manifestations at different ages.

The relationship between NPDD and its comorbidities is refracted through the developmental lens of age-dependent influences. Our working definition of comorbidity is that of a greater than chance likelihood that if one condition is present, it will be accompanied by another. Commonly the concept of comorbidity is applied contemporaneously, that is, the comorbid conditions are present at the same point in time. We might call this cross-sectional or horizontal comorbidity. However, the concept of comorbidity may also be given a developmental dimension and applied over a span of time. Clarkin and Kendall have defined this vertical or longitudinal comorbidity as the greater than chance likelihood that the occurrence of one condition will be followed by another (Clarkin and Kendall 1992; Kendall and Clarkin 1992). Such a perspective can add flexibility to the application of otherwise rigid hierarchical diagnostic schema. One is then enabled to distinguish second-order diagnostic patterns

(Received 4 September 2007; accepted 6 March 2008)

Correspondence: Larry Burd, PhD, Professor, Department of Pediatrics, University of North Dakota School of Medicine and Health Sciences, 501 N Columbia Road, Grand Forks, ND, USA. Tel: +1 701 777 3683. Fax: +1 701 777 4474. E-mail: laburd@medicine. nodak.edu

through the dimension of time, providing some clarity to what may appear to be indistinct overlapping diagnostic constructs. The subjective impression in some such cases might be that of one condition evolving into or being replaced by another, or in other words, heterotypic continuity.

Anorexia nervosa (AN) is an eating disorder characterized by refusal to maintain a minimal body weight, a fear of gaining weight, distortions in body image and, in postmenarchal females, amenorrhea (American Psychiatric Association 2000). In contrast to most NPDDs, AN is more prevalent in females and in affluent societies. Although family and twin studies point to biogenetic factors in the condition, the expression of AN is strongly mediated by ontogenetic and sociocultural variables (Nilsson et al. 1998; American Psychiatric Association 2006). AN frequently presents with multiple comorbidities including mood disorders; anxiety disorders, including obsessive-compulsive disorder; and substance use disorders (Wonderlich and Mitchell 1997). The DSM III and the DSM III-R classified AN with the disorders usually first evident in infancy, childhood or adolescence. The DSM-IV and DSM-IV-TR moved AN and other eating disorders to a separate eating disorders section as a number of them had a typical range of age of onset during later adolescence and early adulthood. Additionally it was noted that AN and other eating disorders are usually diagnosed, treated, and researched by specialists in the field of eating disorders (Shaffer et al. 1998).

The DSM-IV-TR definition of AN requires a weight of less than 85% of that expected for age and height. Although this could be seen as a severity of illness measure, which in most other DSM-IV-TR definitions has more of a quantifying than qualifying emphasis, it is nonetheless a necessary criterion for making a diagnosis of AN. By strict definition, an individual meeting all the criteria for AN with the exception of the weight criterion should be classified as having an eating disorder not otherwise specified. Crow et al. have convincingly argued that in AN there is unclear value in a diagnostic criterion that utilizes a dichotomous cutoff such as percentage of expected weight to establish syndromal severity (Crow et al. 2002). In their work, discriminant analysis failed to differentiate between full AN and partial AN (pAN).

In the DSM-IV-TR, obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) presents with obsessions and/or compulsions (American Psychiatric Association 2000). The symptoms are time-consuming, interfere with functioning, are not restricted in content to another disorder, such as AN, and are not attributable to substance abuse or a medical condition. Through imaging and neurochemical studies, the neurobiological substrate for the pharmacotherapy and the psychotherapy of OCD appears to be in the neural module defined by the orbitofrontal cortex and its reciprocal connections with striatal and thalamic nuclei (van den Heuvel et al. 2005). Serotonin reuptake inhibitor antidepressants and the cognitive-behavioural technique of exposure-response prevention appear to be about equally effective, while similarly affecting neuroanatomic substrates (American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry 1998).

Autistic disorder (AD) is the prototypic pervasive developmental disorder and a classic presentation of a NPDD (Volkmar et al. 1999). The current conceptualization of the condition includes an age of onset of before 3 years of age; the presence of impairment in social interaction, including the realm of peers, sharing and emotional reciprocity; impairment in communication, including delayed or deviant modes of communication; and restricted and stereotyped behaviours and interests (American Psychiatric Association 2000). Individuals with AD may exhibit pica, characterized by the eating of nonnutritive substances. AD frequently has multiple other feeding and eating components such as restricted food preferences or strong avoidance of some textures, colours, or odours of foods.

Tourette syndrome (TS) has been described as a model neuropsychiatric disorder of childhood (Cohen et al. 1997). Diagnostic criteria for Toilette's disorder include the presence of multiple motor tics and one or more vocal tics of greater than a year's duration, with an age of onset of prior to 18 years old. In individuals with TS, there may be a number of neurobehavioural correlates, which are not necessary in making the diagnosis and are variable in their expression (Freeman et al. 2000). Among these correlates is obsessive-compulsive disorder or obsessive-compulsive behaviour. Family and genetic studies point to the heritability of the condition.

We propose that, at least in some cases, AN may be conceptualized as a NPDD. As test of concept, we will present a complex case of pAN in a 12-yearold girl, who has also the comorbid syndromes of OCD, AD and TS. We make the assumption, bolstered by the work of Crow et al., that conclusions relevant to our case of pAN will also be germane to full AN (Crow et al. 2002). Where relevant, we will review data regarding comorbidity among the DSM-IV-TR disorders our patient exhibits and data regarding the influence of shared aetiological factors among these disorders. Our presentation of the shared phenomenologies among these conditions will infer that these symptoms may be reflective of common neurobiological substrates. We will attempt the challenging and complex exercise of simultaneously applying the concepts of cross-sectional and longitudinal comorbidity to observed clinical phenomenon. Finally, we will give examples of the generation of testable hypotheses following from the application the neuropsychiatric developmental model to our case.

Case study: Barbara U

We first evaluated Barbara U. as an 11-year-old fifth grader, referred for difficulties with an eating disorder, obsessions, compulsions, a developmental deviation, and a tic disorder. We utilize a pseudonym to protect the patient's confidentiality to meet the ethical requirements in conducting research. Barbara was her mother's first pregnancy. The pregnancy was complicated by hyperemesis gravidarum, resulting in a hospitalization at three months of gestation for treatment of dehydration. Mother did not use alcohol, tobacco, or illegal drugs during the pregnancy. The delivery was vaginal.

Barbara had significant difficulties with her development dating back to her birth. She was born at 7 months of gestation, weighing 2100 g. She required 2 months of neonatal intensive care for respiratory distress, required intubation, and mechanical ventilation. Barbara's third toes were longer than her large toes or second toes on both of her feet. Both of her fourth toes were short and incurving. Chromosomal studies and a paediatric genetic assessment were declined due to concerns about cost. One month after discharge, she was readmitted to the hospital for another month due to severe failure to thrive associated with poor suck. She was treated with intravenous and gavage feedings. She was walking by 13 months of age, with periodic toewalking. At 18 months of age she had surgical correction of a ventriculoseptal defect. Around this time, the mother noted Barbara did not exhibit a reciprocal social smile, avoided eye contact and, as time went on, became actively and interpersonally avoidant. By age 2 years, these symptoms were quite prominent. She would lead her mother around by the hand and would mechanically point her in the direction in which she might want something done. She was uniformly indifferent to others but did have recognition of her mother and father. She sought contact with her parents, but without affection and only when she needed something or needed protection. She was toilet trained at 2 years of age.

As a preschooler, Barbara was quite agile and exhibited an exceptional sense of balance. Barbara had significant delays in her speech and language with the emergence of recognizable speech after age 3 years. She had normal brain stem auditory evoked potentials as an infant and again at age 4 years. At age 4 years, she exhibited a pattern of echolalia followed by conversations with herself consisting primarily of complex repetitions of things she had heard at other times. These interactive conversations would last late into the night. After pacing back and forth in her room, she would sleep for just 4 hours a night. During the day, she often exhibited body rocking, especially when excited, which was often accompanied with pulling out clumps of her own hair or hitting herself on the forehead. Barbara would become very distressed with even minor changes in her environment.

At age 4, after a workup with a normal EEG, brain CT scan, and thyroid function blood tests, she was diagnosed with autism. By 5 years of age, Barbara began to make significant improvements in her speech and language and interpersonal relatedness skills. She continued with abnormalities in the rhythm and prosody of speech, avoidance of eye contact, a persistent falsetto voice present in virtually all situations, and clumsiness and impaired use of metacommunicational motor movements. She also manifested odd accessory and other motor movements.

Early on, Barbara exhibited a number of precocious splinter skills. Before talking, she demonstrated excellent drawing skills, including the use of three-dimensional perspective. She lost this by 8 years of age. She was able to read prior to starting school, and by the first grade was reading several grade levels in advance of her classmates. While she was able to read sentences and passages fluently, she did not have even basic comprehension of the material. Until the fifth grade her comprehension abilities were far below her decoding skills. Barbara demonstrated excellent rote memory for dates and times, but had not mastered the savant calendar trick.

When Barbara was 3 years of age she would collect dryer antistatic sheets and sleep with them, apparently being stimulated by the smell. Between 6 and 9 years of age, she exhibited a marked hypersensitivity to tastes which to others were fairly bland. At 9 years of age, her parents built an addition to their house, and Barbara's bedroom was moved. She then began collecting her saliva in her mouth, being loathe to swallow it, complaining that it was dirty. As a consequence she would dribble her saliva and express concern that her lips were being dirtied. She began to constantly wash her hands and complained about fears of germs and contamination. She was quite selective in what she would touch. She developed specific concerns about contamination of her food. She would collect nonsense articles such as used erasers. There were no evening up or checking rituals. At night, while pacing on her toes in her room, she would talk about a number of thoughts running through her mind, usually detailed and repetitive replays of the day's events.

Since 4 years of age, Barbara has had a pattern of waxing and waning motor and vocal tics. Her motor tics included bilateral facial grimacing, the spasmodic blinking of her left eye, a tensing of the left cheek and occasional shoulder shrugging. These movements have been fairly consistent and continual. By age 11 years, she developed a frequent spitting tic. Her echolalia continued and she used a high pitched falsetto voice in a breathy manner. She would also interrupt her speech with brief bursts of hyperpnoea.

Cognitive testing at 7 years 3 months with the Stanford-Binet found an IQ of 80, with a mental age of 6 years 2 months. At age 10 years, she was given a more complete neuropsychological evaluation. The full scale IQ on the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children was 84, Verbal of 82 and Performance of 90, and a Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test-Revised resulted in a standard score of 102. Additional speech and language testing indicated she had a good deal of difficulty with environmental cues, particularly as related to learning about other people or anticipating or predicting their actions (theory of mind). Her decoding skills in reading were at a Percentile Rank of 32.

On our initial contact, Barbara was 11 years old. The family history included two healthy younger brothers age 2 years. One of these brothers also had webbing between the second and third toes of both his feet. Her father had bouts of excessive alcohol usage. Maternal great-grandmother had a mental illness and the maternal grandmother had obsessions. Barbara's mother has had problems with cleanliness compulsions, occasional spasmodic eye blinking and tensing of the forehead with wide opening of the eyes. Mother walked on her toes until she was 18 years of age, and even as an adult has periods of toe walking. Barbara's mother worked in the home and her father was a student.

Barbara denied having auditory, visual, or olfactory hallucinations. She has not been seen as paranoid or overly suspicious. We had diagnosed her with the following: AD with hyperlexia, TS, and OCD. At age 11, we started Barbara on fluvoxamine, maintaining her on 12.5 mg/day, as higher doses were associated with nausea and urinary incontinence. Both her compulsions and tics would wax and wane and included touching compulsions. The fluvoxamine improved her spitting, but the facial tics and fears of contamination, especially of food, continued unchanged.

During our subsequent treatment of Barbara, we saw the evolution of an eating disorder. She developed an increasing preoccupation with her weight. Mother dates this preoccupation as following Barbara's seeing one of her classmates become sick and vomit after eating a meal in school. Barbara complained about feeling queasy. Following a miscommunication with mother, Barbara's fluvoxamine was stopped and she had increasing difficulties. Initially, she began to actively avoid food due to concern about contamination and germs. She subsequently became obsessively preoccupied with fear of becoming fat. She started weighing herself many times during the day and she lost weight (from 48.1 kg to 46.3 kg). She drank very few liquids and developed enuresis with a waxing and waning course. She would eat dry toast and especially avoided cheese or fatty foods. Teachers were concerned she would not drink milk in school and that her use of the bathroom diminished markedly. She then began to pull her clothes tight around her to make herself look thinner but her parents reported that her clothes appeared to be extremely loose. She then began to disrobe before her evening pacing routine. She was diagnosed with a nonspecific eating disorder. We referred her to a clinical psychologist who provided behavioural and cognitive-behavioural interventions and she was treated with clonidine and fluvoxamine.

Her paediatrician, who monitored her growth, indicated she was below the 10th percentile of her ideal body weight of 52.2 kg. Barbara had also begun to miss her menstrual periods. She met criteria for AN, with the exception of the 15% weight loss criterion. Her persistent weighing of herself continued. She became very upset if the scale showed even a minor weight increase.

Barbara's tics and obsessive-compulsive symptoms ultimately came under control with a combination of clonidine 0.025 mg qid and fluvoxamine 50 mg bid. This also improved her pattern of anxiety, especially the separation anxiety. She began to sleep well at night and her energy level was good. Her weight stabilized and she was able to maintain in the range of 47.2 kg. Mother also began to accommodate to Barbara's food preferences by avoiding fatty foods, but was able to get her to take in carbohydrates. Barbara continued to be preoccupied with food and with her weight. A year later following our first contact with Barbara, she had again lost weight down to 46.3 kg, and had begun episodically to vomit, usually after drinking large volumes of fluids. She would hide her vomitus about the house. She would tell her mother she felt skinny and bony, and that she was worried about gaining weight.

By the time of her entry into the sixth grade, Barbara was doing reasonably well, with the exception of her eating disorder. She was mainstreamed in most of her classes with resource room help. Her reading comprehension scores were at average levels. She was pleased to report she had received 100's on some of her tests. She was enjoying school and appeared motivated. She slowly gained to 48.6 kg and was struggling hard not to vomit. She developed a capacity for verbal expression of her subjective experience of symptoms. For example, she reflected on why, in the past, she was compelled to avoid eve contact. She stated that when she looked another individual in the eye, she perceived a light emanating from the eye, causing her a sense of photophobia. This caused her to look away. If she wished to persist in maintaining eye contact, she would have to squint. Her description was congruent with a sensory phenomenon preceding the expression of a motor tic. Her falsetto diminished, there was a more natural prosody to her speech, she related more warmly and appeared less odd. She expressed an affect of sadness regarding some of her difficulties. We continued with her pharmacotherapy and psychotherapy. Barbara increasingly relied on postprandial vomiting to avoid gaining weight, rather than restriction of intake. By the end of her sixth grade year, which was cut short due to a natural disaster in the community, Barbara had dropped from 49.5 to 47.7 kg. At the end of that school year, the family moved to another community, and Barbara was lost to follow-up. Subsequently, we received a note from mother, indicating that Barbara's situation was again deteriorating. She asked for her medical records to be transferred to another clinic out of state.

Over a nearly 5-year period, Barbara's weight had fluctuated between 45.4 and 49.5 kg. We felt that she otherwise met full criteria for a diagnosis of AN, with the exception of the 15% weight loss criterion. This would place her in the grouping of patients described by Crow et al. (2002) as pAN. We propose that our findings regarding pAN in Barbara's case may have relevance for the full syndrome of AN

We will now review selected studies of the comorbidities that Barbara experienced, with the goal of emphasizing shared aetiological factors and common neurobiological substrates. There is a dearth of epidemiological studies exploring the prevalence of Barbara's other comorbidities and her eating disorder. In a group of 30 women with severe eating disorders, not all of whom had AN, Wentz et al. (2005) studied the prevalence of childhood onset neuropsychiatric disorders, a concept congruent with NPDD. They found 23% with autism spectrum disorders and 27% with a tic disorder, suggesting that having an eating disorder carries a greater risk for the expression of these other categories of conditions. The association between AN per se and TS is based primarily on case reports.

There are reports of a subset of eating disorder patients with both TS and OCD (Guarda et al. 1999). AN and TS in a young man has been reported (Annibali et al. 1986). TS and AN was first reported in 1979 (Yaryura-Tobias 1979). The association between OCD and AN is more robust (McElroy et al. 1994; Lennkh et al. 1998; Wentz et al. 2001; Serpell et al. 2002; Halmi et al. 2003). The phenomenological similarities suggest that both AN and OCD may share common brain-behavioural pathways (Barbarich 2002). The relationship between AN and obsessive-compulsive personality may be an even stronger association (Anderluh et al. 2003). Dysregulation in the serotonin system has been implicated in both OCD and AN (Barbarich 2002; Kim 2003). Finally, the link between AN and OCD through the symptom pattern of body dysmorphic disorder as a disturbance of body image is interesting (McElroy et al. 1994; Rabe-Jablonska and Sobow 2000). A link between body dysmorphic disorder and TS is also noteworthy (Sverd et al. 1997). Associations between AN and AD have also been reported (Gillberg 1983). First-degree relatives of individuals with AN are more likely to exhibit symptoms of a pervasive developmental disorder. Multiple case studies of individuals with concurrent AN and AD have been published (Stiver and Dobbins, 1980; Fisman et al. 1996; Gillberg et al. 1996; Gillberg 1998; Gillberg and Billstedt 2000) The results of Wentz et al. (2001) notwithstanding, Bolte et al. (2002) note that in a subgroup of 29 significantly underweight autistic spectrum disorder patients none met criteria for AN. The risk of being underweight and of having an eating disorder is increased among Asperger syndrome patients (Sobanski et al. 1999). Serotonin abnormalities may connect some studies of AN and AD. Hyperserotonemia has long been an episodic finding in AD (Chandana et al. 2005). The related eating disorder of bulimia nervosa is associated with increased turnover of the serotonin metabolite, 5-HIAA. Serotonin selective reuptake inhibitors have been helpful in treating the repetitive behaviours of AD and the binge-eating/purging elements in anorexia nervosa (McDougle et al. 2000). If AN and the above-noted comorbidities in Barbara's case are related, one might expect common features of nonpharmacological treatment approaches. Cognitivebehavioural psychotherapy has long been utilized with benefit in treating AN and OCD (Mitchell et al. 2001). The related interventions of exposure with response prevention, habit reversal, and applied behavioural analysis have been shown to be helpful in the treatment of AN, AD, TS and OCD (Boutelle 1998; Grindle and Remington 2002; Kennedy et al.

1995; Lovaas 1993; Mavissakalian 1982; McEachin et al. 1993; Wilhelm et al. 2003).

In exploring the relationship among Barbara's comorbidities exclusive of her pAN we note the following. TS and AD co-occur at a greater than chance rate (Baron-Cohen et al. 1999). In individuals with AD, TS may serve as a positive prognostic indicator (Burd et al. 1987; Kerbeshian et al. 1990). Not only is there a greater likelihood of OCD and obsessive-compulsive symptoms occurring in individuals with TS, but about 10% of individuals with OCD will exhibit tics or TS. TS and OCD may be alternate expressions of a common diathesis (Comings and Comings 1991; Leckman 2002). The issue of concurrence between autism and OCD is somewhat controversial, due to overlapping phenomenology between the obsessive need for sameness and repetitive behaviour in individuals with AD, and the ritualistic and stereotyped patterns one sees in the symptoms of OCD (Baron-Cohen 1989; McDougle et al. 1995). However, there are convincing case reports supporting concurrence between AD traits and OCD (Bejerot et al. 2001). The association among TS, OCD, and AD is well accepted with TS serving as a bridging comorbidity between the latter two (Cath et al. 2001; Zappella 2002). Table I outlines the strength of associations among the combination of comorbidities noted in Barbara's case. These commonalities allow for the fitting of TS, OCD, and AD within the construct of NPDDs. The association among these disorders and pAN in Barbara's case is most interesting, given the commonly assumed greater salience of cultural, social, experiential, and psychological variables implicated in the genesis of AN, as compared to the others. AN typically has not been thought of as a NPDD. Challenging this perspective, Klump et al. (2007) conducted a study supporting early to middle adolescence as a developmental phase threshold for the expression of a genetic risk for disordered eating.

We will now discuss the microcosm of specific symptoms across Barbara's comorbidities that determine the macrocosm of her clinical syndromes. The DSM schema of mental disorders is based essentially on a syndromal classification strategy.

Table I. Strength of association among comorbidities.

Distinct syndromes are defined by patterns of symptomatic specificity conforming to a level of diagnostic validity. Validity is in part defined by the statistical separability of one syndrome from another. Specific symptoms, however, may be criteria in multiple syndromes, albeit often differently nuanced. One way of exploring the neuropsychiatric developmental roots of pAN in Barbara's case would be to list the permutations of the symptom-based criteria for her comorbidities across time and across diagnoses. We have previously used a similar mode of case analysis (Kerbeshian and Burd 2005). As an example, Barbara's persistent preoccupation with and intense fear of weight gain or of being fat in AN could as well be conceptualized as a preoccupation with stereotyped and restricted patterns of interest in a high functioning person with AD. The resultant behaviours could also be conceptualized as a pattern of adherence to nonfunctional routines or rituals. In the case of OCD, the persistent preoccupation with weight and associated behaviours may also be viewed as the recurrence of thoughts, impulses and images that define obsessions, and the driven repetitive behaviours or mental acts that define compulsions. In the case of TS, the more complex "mental tics" reported as premonitory urges to tic, or heightened, or distorted body sensory phenomenon are evocative of the body image distortion present in AN. In Table II, we summarize examples of shared phenomenology among Barbara's four comorbid diagnoses.

The sequence of emergence and overlap of NPDD comorbidities in Barbara's case are consistent with what one would expect, given the range of ages of onset of her conditions. By definition, the age of onset of AD is below 3 years of age. The median age of onset of TS is 6–7 years; the modal age of onset of OCD in females is 20–29 years, but childhood onset is fairly common; and the typical age of onset of AN is 14–18 years (American Psychiatric Association 2000).

Barbara experienced an evolution over time of specific symptoms across different syndromes, what we might term symptom ontogenesis. We will now track over time the transformation of component symptoms with the aim of inferring a microscopic

T 1 . 1'					37	V
Larger scale studies					А	А
Common diathesis						Х
Family history studies X			Х		Х	
Similar phenomenology			Х			Х
Common neurotransmitters		Х		Х		
Common medication response		Х	Х	Х	Х	
Case reports	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Strength Of Association	AN&TS	AD&OCD	AN&OCD	AN&AD	TS&AD	TS&OCD

654 J. Kerbeshian & L. Burd

Criteria	AD	TS	OCD	AN
AD: Stereotyped and restricted patterns of interest	Х		Х	Х
AD: Adherence to nonfunctional routines or rituals	Х	Х	Х	Х
TS: Tics, (mental tics), premonitory urges or sensations		Х	Х	Х
OCD: Recurrent thoughts impulses or images	Х	Х	Х	Х
OCD: Driven repetitive behaviors or mental acts	Х	Х	Х	Х
OCD: Unrealistic prevention of distress or dreaded situation			Х	Х
AN: Illogical intense fear of gaining or becoming fat			Х	Х
AN: Distrubance in way body or shape experienced			Х	Х
AN: Restricting food intake			Х	Х
AN: Binge-eating/purging	Х	Х		Х
AN: impairment in perception of the self	Х			Х
	AD	TS	OCD	AN

view of the progression of her longitudinal comorbidity. For example, let us trace the progression of her abnormal integration of food and feeding across her development. As a preterm infant and through the first month of her life, Barbara had a failure to thrive and poor suck requiring intravenous and gavage feedings. Although such a symptom pattern may be more attributable to the risks associated with preterm birth, we note that very preterm birth and birth trauma are risk factors for AN in girls (Cnattingius et al. 1999). At age three, she exhibited a repetitive seeking of olfactory stimulation from dryer antistatic sheets, symptomatic of her autism. By 6–9 years old, her olfactory sensitivity was replaced by a gustatory hypersensitivity, again most likely a symptomatic manifestation of her autism. By age 9, Barbara began to experience what was likely a precursor symptom to her OCD and her pAN, namely her being loathe to swallow her own saliva due to its being dirty, coupled with her concerns that her food was contaminated. At age 11, the spitting tic of her TS may in part have incorporated her sensations and concerns about swallowing her own saliva, and may have presaged the postprandial vomiting of her eating disorder through the intermediary of her vomiting also being a tic (van den Evnde, et al. 2007). By age 11, her feeling queasy after eating may have been a sustained echo phenomenon of her TS after seeing her classmate vomiting and/or a triggering element of her OCD symptom of fear of germs and contamination of her food. The fear of contamination of food was temporally connected with and ultimately replaced by her fear of becoming fat and her compensatory eating behaviours to avoid weight gain, leading to the symptoms of her pAN.

We believe we have made a plausible case for pAN being on a continuum with other NPDDs in Barbara's case. Her course of illness with comorbidities reflects one ontogenetic pathway to pAN, a pathway which is noticeably transparent due to the severity of her other NPDD comorbidities. It may be that analogous but less severe neurobiological, developmental, and psychosocial factors are present in other individuals who develop AN. These factors may not rise to the level of recognition of component or comorbid syndromal diagnoses as appears to have been the case with Barbara. We believe that the adoption of this perspective could serve as a template for the generation of testable hypotheses, not only in the case of AN, but for other NPDDs as well. An example follows.

PANDAS is an acronym for paediatric autoimmune neuropsychiatric disorder associated with streptococcus and presenting with OCD and/or a tic disorder (Leonard and Swedo 2001; Snider and Swedo 2003). Individuals with higher B-lymphocyte antigen D 8/17 positivity with post-streptococcal central nervous system autoimmunity may be most susceptible. A high expression of the D 8/17 lymphocyte antigen in autistic patients serves as a marker for compulsion severity (Hollander et al. 1999). Antibodies against human putamen have been noted in adolescents with AN (Harel et al. 2001). There have been reported case studies of group A β-hemolytic streptococcus infectiontriggered OCD and AN (Henry et al., 1999). A critical review of the literature regarding PANDAS-AN indicated there is some evidence in support of the concept, but this is limited by methodological problems (Puxley et al. 2008). The prevalence of D 8/17 positive individuals among PANDAS and AN patients is increased (Sokol et al. 2002). Additionally, there have been cases of less specific paediatric infection-triggered autoimmune neuropsychiatric disorders (PITANDs) in AN (Sokol 2000; Sokol and Gray 1997). Is it possible that D 8/17 positivity is a common biological susceptibility marker for autism, PANDAS related OCD and TS, and AN? This suggests the hypothesis: "Post-streptococcal autoimmunity and B-lymphocyte D 8/17 antigenicity are risk factors for AN and related eating

disorders". We speculate for the sake of example. If such a hypothesis were to be validated by casecontrolled studies, one could see D 8/17 positivity not only as a risk factor for AN, but also as an endophenotype which might help in searching for a candidate susceptibility gene(s) in AN. Clinically, one could test for D 8/17 positivity in families with a history of AN in order to ascertain those at greatest risk.

Another example of hypothesis generation conceiving of AN as on the spectrum of NPDD is as follows. Deletions of imprinted genes at chromosomal locus 15q11-q13 have been associated with a condition known as Angelman syndrome, of which many individuals may also have autism spectrum disorders, and with Prader-Willi syndrome (PW) (Williams 2005). Individuals with PW exhibit hyperphagia, food seeking, skin picking, hoarding, obsessive-compulsive redoing, seeking symmetry, pursuing exactness, cleanliness, ordering, and arranging (Dykens et al. 1996; Dykens and Shah 2003). An adult with PW and AN has been reported (Counts 2001). Additionally, 15q11-q13 is felt to be one of the more common autism susceptibility loci (Kerbeshian et al. 1990). Maternally derived duplication in the 15q11-q13 area may be linked to a subset of AD patients with savant skills (Nurmi et al. 2003). The savant skills of drawing with perspective and of hyperlexia have been noted in our patient and others (Burd et al. 1987). Hyperlexia has been noted in PW (Burd and Kerbeshian 1989). Hypothesis: "There is a candidate gene susceptibility locus for AN in the 15q11-q13 region". If such an hypothesis could be supported in some cases by clinical studies, one might further explore whether genetic processes such as imprinting could also be playing a role in the pathway to the AN phenotype.

We believe that the concept of NPDD readily incorporates the pAN in our patient. Whether other subtypes of AN, or AN in general fits this construct remains to be seen. We believe the research agenda, hypothesis generation, and treatment approaches for AN could all benefit if a NPDD perspective were to be applied to AN in addition to the already existing rich and fruitful research and clinical agenda.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have not declared any conflicts of interest.

References

- American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry. 1998. Practice parameters for the assessment and treatment of children and adolescents with obsessive compulsive disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 37:27–45S.
- American Psychiatric Association. 2000. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th ed, text revision.Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- American Psychiatric Association. 2006. Treatment of patients with eating disorders, third edition. Am J Psychiatry 163(Suppl 7):4–54.
- Anderluh MB, Tchanturia K, Rabe-Hesketh S, Treasure J. 2003. Childhood obsessive-compulsive personality traits in adult women with eating disorders: defining a broader eating disorder phenotype. Am J Psychiatry 160:242–247.
- Annibali JA, Kales JD, Tan TL. 1986. Anorexia nervosa in a young man with Tourette's syndrome. J Clin Psychiatry 47:324–326.
- Barbarich N. 2002. Is there a common mechanism of serotonin dysregulation in anorexia nervosa and obsessive compulsive disorder? Eat Weight Disord 7:221–231.
- Baron-Cohen S. 1989. Do autistic children have obsessions and compulsions? Br J Clin Psychol 28(Pt 3):193–200.
- Baron-Cohen S, Scahill VL, Izaguirre J, Hornsey H, Robertson MM. 1999. The prevalence of Gilles de la Tourette syndrome in children and adolescents with autism: a large scale study. Psychol Med 29:1151–1159.
- Bejerot S, Nylander L, Lindstrom E. 2001. Autistic traits in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Nord J Psychiatry 55:169–176.
- Bolte S, Ozkara N, Poustka F. 2002. Autism spectrum disorders and low body weight: is there really a systematic association? Int J Eat Disord 31:349–351.
- Boutelle KN. 1998. The use of exposure with response prevention in a male anorexic. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry 29:79–84.
- Burd L, Kerbeshian J. 1989. Hyperlexia in Prader-Willi syndrome. Lancet ii:983–984.
- Burd L, Fisher WW, Kerbeshian J, Arnold ME. 1987. Is development of Tourette disorder a marker for improvement in patients with autism and other pervasive developmental disorders? J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 26:162–165.
- Cath DC, Spinhoven P, Hoogduin CA, Landman AD, van Woerkom TC, van de Wetering BJ, et al. 2001. Repetitive behaviors in Tourette's syndrome and OCD with and without tics: what are the differences? Psychiatry Res 101:171–185.
- Chandana SR, Behen ME, Juhasz C, Muzik O, Rothermel RD, Mangner TJ, et al. 2005. Significance of abnormalities in developmental trajectory and asymmetry of cortical serotonin synthesis in autism. Int J Dev Neurosci 23:171–182.
- Clarkin JF, Kendall PC. 1992. Comorbidity and treatment planning: summary and future directions. J Consult Clin Psychol 60:904–908.
- Cnattingius S, Hultman CM, Dahl M, Sparen P. 1999. Very preterm birth, birth trauma, and the risk of anorexia nervosa among girls. Arch Gen Psychiatry 56:634–638.
- Cohen DJ, Leckman JF, Pauls D. 1997. Neuropsychiatric disorders of childhood: Tourette's syndrome as a model. Acta Paediatr Suppl 422:106–111.
- Comings DE, Comings BG. 1991. Clinical and genetic relationships between autism-pervasive developmental disorder and Tourette syndrome: a study of 19 cases. Am J Med Genet 39:180–191.
- Costello EJ, Mustillo S, Erkanli A, Keeler G, Angold A. 2003. Prevalence and development of psychiatric disorders in childhood and adolescence. Arch Gen Psychiatry 60:837–844.

656 J. Kerbeshian & L. Burd

- Counts D. 2001. An adult with Prader-Willi syndrome and anorexia nervosa: a case report. Int J Eat Disord 30:231–233.
- Crow SJ, Stewart AW, Halmi K, Mitchell JE, Kraemer HC. 2002. Full syndromal versus subthreshold anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa, and binge eating disorder: a multicenter study. Int J Eat Disord 32:309–318.
- Dykens E, Shah B. 2003. Psychiatric disorders in Prader-Willi syndrome: epidemiology and management. CNS Drugs 17:167–178.
- Dykens EM, Leckman JF, Cassidy SB. 1996. Obsessions and compulsions in Prader–Willi syndrome. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 37:995–1002.
- Fisman S, Steele M, Short J, Byrne T, Lavallee C. 1996. Case study: anorexia nervosa and autistic disorder in an adolescent girl. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 35:937–940.
- Freeman RD, Fast DK, Burd L, Kerbeshian J, Robertson MM, Sandor P. 2000. An international perspective on Tourette syndrome: selected findings from 3,500 individuals in 22 countries. Dev Med Child Neurol 42:436–447.
- Gillberg C. 1983. Are autism and anorexia nervosa related? Br J Psychiatry 142:428.
- Gillberg C. 1998. Asperger syndrome and high-functioning autism. Br J Psychiatry 172:200–209.
- Gillberg C, Billstedt E. 2000. Autism and Asperger syndrome: coexistence with other clinical disorders. Acta Psychiatr Scand 102:321–330.
- Gillberg IC, Gillberg C, Rastam M, Johansson M. 1996. The cognitive profile of anorexia nervosa: a comparative study including a community-based sample. Compr Psychiatry 37:23–30.
- Grindle CF, Remington B. 2002. Discrete-trial training for autistic children when reward is delayed: a comparison of conditioned cue value and response marking. J Appl Behav Anal 35:187–190.
- Guarda AS, Treasure J, Robertson MM. 1999. Eating disorders and Tourette syndrome: A case series of comorbidity and associated obsessive-compulsive symptomatology. CNS Spectrums 4[2]:77–86.
- Halmi KA, Sunday SR, Klump KL, Strobe M, Leckman JF, Fichter M, et al. 2003. Obsessions and compulsions in anorexia nervosa subtypes. Int J Eat Disord 33:308–319.
- Harel Z, Hallett J, Riggs S, Vaz R, Kiessling L. 2001. Antibodies against human putamen in adolescents with anorexia nervosa. Int J Eat Disord 29:463–469.
- Henry MC, Perlmutter SJ, Swedo SE. 1999. Anorexia, OCD, and streptococcus. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 38:228– 229.
- Hollander E, DelGiudice-Asch G, Simon L, Schmeidler J, Cartwright C, DeCaria CM, et al. 1999. B lymphocyte antigen D8/ 17 and repetitive behaviors in autism. Am J Psychiatry 156:317–320.
- Kendall PC, Clarkin JF. 1992. Introduction to special section: comorbidity and treatment implications. J Consult Clin Psychol 60:833–834.
- Kennedy SH, Katz R, Neitzert CS, Ralevski E, Mendlowitz S. 1995. Exposure with response prevention treatment of anorexia nervosa-bulimic subtype and bulimia nervosa. Behav Res Ther 33:685–689.
- Kerbeshian J, Burd L. 2005. Moving target: the developing social brain and psychopathology. Psychiatr Ann 35:839–852.
- Kerbeshian J, Burd L. 2007. Chain reaction or time bomb: a neuropsychiatic-developmental/neurodevelopmental formulation of tourettisms, pervasive developmental disorder, and shizophreniform symptomatology associated with PANDAS. World J Biol Psychiatry 8:201–207.
- Kerbeshian J, Burd L, Randall T, Martsolf J, Jalal S. 1990. Autism, profound mental retardation and atypical bipolar

disorder in a 33-year-old female with a deletion of 15q12. J Ment Defic Res 34(Pt 2):205–210.

- Kim SS. 2003. Role of fluoxetine in anorexia nervosa. Ann Pharmacother 37:890–892.
- Klump KL, Burt A, McGue M, Iacono WG. 2007. Changes in genetic and environmental influences on disordered eating across adolescence: a longitudinal twin study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 64:1409–1415.
- Leckman JF. 2002. Tourette's syndrome. Lancet 360:1577-1586.
- Lennkh C, Strnad A, Bailer U, Biener D, Fodor G, de Zwaan M. 1998. Comorbidity of obsessive compulsive disorder in patients with eating disorders. EatWeight Disord 3:37–41.
- Leonard HL, Swedo SE. 2001. Paediatric autoimmune neuropsychiatric disorders associated with streptococcal infection (PANDAS). Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 4:191–198.
- Lovaas OI. 1993. The development of a treatment-research project for developmentally disabled and autistic children. J Appl Behav Anal 26:617–630.
- Mavissakalian M. 1982. Anorexia nervosa treated with response prevention and prolonged exposure. Behav Res Ther 20:27–31.
- McDougle CJ, Kresch LE, Goodman WK, Naylor ST, Volkmar FR, Cohen DJ, et al. 1995. A case-controlled study of repetitive thoughts and behavior in adults with autistic disorder and obsessive-compulsive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 152:772–777.
- McDougle CJ, Kresch LE, Posey DJ. 2000. Repetitive thoughts and behavior in pervasive developmental disorders: treatment with serotonin reuptake inhibitors. J Autism Dev Disord 30:427–435.
- McEachin JJ, Smith T, Lovaas OI. 1993. Long-term outcome for children with autism who received early intensive behavioral treatment. Am J Ment Retard 97:359–372.
- McElroy SL, Phillips KA, Keck PE, Jr. 1994. Obsessive compulsive spectrum disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 55(Suppl):33–51.
- Mitchell JE, Peterson CB, Myers T, Wonderlich S. 2001. Combining pharmacotherapy and psychotherapy in the treatment of patients with eating disorders. Psychiatr Clin North Am 24:315–323.
- Nilsson EW, Gillberg C, Rastam M. 1998. Familial factors in anorexia nervosa: a community-based study. Compr Psychiatry 39:392–399.
- Nurmi EL, Amin T, Olson LM, Jacobs MM, McCauley JL, Lam AY, et al. 2003. Dense linkage disequilibrium mapping in the 15q11–q13 maternal expression domain yields evidence for association in autism. Mol Psychiatry 8:624–634.
- Puxley F, Mitsund M, Iosif A, Lask B. 2008. PANDAS anorexia nervosa-Endangered, extinct or nonexistent? Int J Eat Disord 41:15–21.
- Rabe-Jablonska JJ, Sobow TM. 2000. The links between body dysmorphic disorder and eating disorders. Eur Psychiatry 15:302–305.
- Shaffer D, Widiger TA, Pincus HA. 1998. DSM-IV child disorders, part II: final overview. In: Widiger TA, Frances AJ, Pincus HA, Ross R, First MB, Davis W, et al., eds. DSM-IV Sourcebook, Volume 4. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Serpell L, Livingstone A, Neiderman M, Lask B. 2002. Anorexia nervosa: obsessive-compulsive disorder, obsessive-compulsive personality disorder, or neither? Clin Psychol Rev 22:647–669.
- Snider LA, Swedo SE. 2003. Post-streptococcal autoimmune disorders of the central nervous system. Curr Opin Neurol 16:359–365.
- Sobanski E, Marcus A, Hennighausen K, Hebebrand J, Schmidt MH. 1999. Further evidence for a low body weight in male children and adolescents with Asperger's disorder. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 8:312–314.

- Sokol MS. 2000. Infection-triggered anorexia nervosa in children: clinical description of four cases. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 10:133–145.
- Sokol MS, Gray NS. 1997. Case study: an infection-triggered, autoimmune subtype of anorexia nervosa. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 36:1128–1133.
- Sokol MS, Ward PE, Tamiya H, Kondo DG, Houston D, Zabriskie JB. 2002. D8/17 expression on B lymphocytes in anorexia nervosa. Am J Psychiatry 159:1430–1432.
- Stiver RL, Dobbins JP. 1980. Treatment of atypical anorexia nervosa in the public school: an autistic girl. J Autism Dev Disord 10:67–73.
- Sverd J, Kerbeshian J, Montero G, Ferrante S, Donner M. 1997. Co-occurrence of body dysmorphic disorder and Tourette's disorder. Three patient examples. Psychosomatics 38:578–581.
- van den Eynde F, Senturk V, Naudts K. 2007. Gilles de la Tourette's syndrome mimicking an eating disorder. Turk J Psychiatry 18:1–4.
- van den Heuvel OA, Veltman DJ, Groenewegen HJ, Cath DC, van Balkom AJ, van Hartskamp J, et al. 2005. Frontal-striatal dysfunction during planning in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62:301–309.
- Volkmar F, Cook EH Jr, Pomeroy J, Realmuto G, Tanguay P. 1999. Practice parameters for the assessment and treatment of children, adolescents, and adults with autism and other pervasive developmental disorders. American Academy of

Child and Adolescent Psychiatry Working Group on Quality Issues. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 38:32–54S.

- Wentz E, Gillberg C, Gillberg IC, Rastam M. 2001. Ten-year follow-up of adolescent-onset anorexia nervosa: psychiatric disorders and overall functioning scales. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 42:613–622.
- Wentz E, Lacey JH, Waller G, Rastam M, Turk J, Gillberg C. 2005. Childhood onset neuropsychiatric disorders in adult eating disorder patients. A pilot study. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 14:431–437.
- Wilhelm S, Deckersbach T, Coffey BJ, Bohne A, Peterson AL, Baer L. 2003. Habit reversal versus supportive psychotherapy for Tourette's disorder: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Psychiatry 160:1175–1177.
- Williams CA. 2005. Neurological aspects of the Angelman syndrome. Brain Dev 27:88–94.
- Wonderlich SA, Mitchell JE. 1997. Eating disorders and comorbidity: empirical, conceptual, and clinical implications. Psychopharmacol Bull 33:381–390.
- Yaryura-Tobias JA. 1979. Gilles de la Tourette syndrome. Interactions with other neuropsychiatric disorders. Acta Psychiatr Scand 59:9–16.
- Zappella M. 2002. Early-onset Tourette syndrome with reversible autistic behaviour: a dysmaturational disorder. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 11:18–23.



A controlled single case study with repeated fMRI measurements during the treatment of a patient with obsessive-compulsive disorder: Testing the nonlinear dynamics approach to psychotherapy

GÜNTER SCHIEPEK¹, IGOR TOMINSCHEK², SUSANNE KARCH³, JÜRGEN LUTZ⁴, CHRISTOPH MULERT³, THOMAS MEINDL⁴ & OLIVER POGARELL³

¹Department of Psychology, Ludwig-Maximilians-University of Munich, Munich, Germany, and Research Program in Synergetics, Neuroscience, and Therapy Research, Private Medical University Salzburg, Salzburg, Austria, ²Tagklinik Westend of the Psychosomatic Hospital Windach, Munich, Germany, ³Department of Psychiatry, Ludwig-Maximilians-University of Munich, Munich, Germany, and ⁴Institute of Clinical Radiology, Ludwig-Maximilians-University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Abstract

There is increasing evidence that obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) is associated with a dysfunction of cortico-striatothalamo-cortical neuronal circuits. In order to examine treatment-related changes in neuronal processes, a drug-naive female patient with OCD (subtype: washing/contamination fear) and an age- and gender-matched healthy control were repeatedly tested using functional magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) during the presentation of a symptom provocation task. Patient-specific visual stimuli of symptom provoking situations were compared with disgust provoking and neutral pictures. FMRI scanning was conducted at the beginning, during and upon completion of an inpatient treatment. During the treatment period of more than eight weeks (combined behavioural and systemic couple therapy) the patient filled out a therapy process questionnaire (TPQ) which was administered daily. Results show a phase transition-like change characterized by a sudden reduction of clinical symptoms as assessed by the Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale (Y-BOCS) in the middle of the treatment period. Before the discontinuous symptom reduction occurred, the dynamic complexity of the TPO-time series increased which might be indicative for a critical instability of the system. The fMRI results at the beginning of the treatment suggest strong activities in various brain regions, especially in the anterior cingulate cortex. The results of the second and third acquisition revealed comparably smaller OCD-related neuronal responses. The results may indicate that important clinical changes are taking place during the psychotherapy process which correspond to changing patterns of brain activation as well as to critical instabilities and phase-transition like phenomena in the time-series of the patient's daily self-report data.

Key words: Obsessive-compulsive disorder, functional MRI, psychotherapy process, nonlinear phase transition, anterior cingulate cortex

Introduction

Whereas some studies report changes in brain activities after successful psychological treatment of OCD, little is known about the dynamics of psychotherapeutic processes and their neural correlates.

Neuroimaging studies showed that the frontocortico-striatal circuitry is affected in OCD. This circuitry seems to be explicative for executive dysfunctions and impulse control disorders (Friedlander and Desrocher 2006; Schiepek et al. 2007). Neurophysiological and brain imaging studies on washing/ contamination fear reported variations in various brain regions, e.g., subcortical areas (Desarkar et al. 2007), increased rCBF in the left orbitofrontal cortex and in the anterior cingulate cortex (Rauch et al. 1998, PET-study), as well as increased activity in the ventromedial prefrontal cortex (Mataix-Cols et al. 2004, fMRI-study), in the ventrolateral prefrontal

(Received 19 December 2007; accepted 10 June 2008)

Correspondence: Prof. Dr. Günter Schiepek, Research Program in Synergetics, Neuroscience, and Therapy Research, Christian Doppler University Hospital, Ignaz-Harrer Str. 79, A-5020 Salzburg, Austria. Tel: +43 662 4483 56709. E-mail: guenter.schiepek@ccsys.de
cortex, the gyrus parahippocampalis, and the right insula (Shapira et al. 2003, fMRI-study). Gross-Isseroff et al. (2003) reported on communalities between OCD and schizophrenia in the caudate nucleus, orbitofrontal cortex, anterior cingulate, and mediodorsal thalamic nucleus.

Evaluations of cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) using neuroimaging methods showed reduced responses in the caudate nucleus (NCd) after treatment (right NCd: Baxter et al. 1992 (FDG-PET, nine patients CBT, nine patients fluoxetine, four healthy controls); Nakatani et al. 2003 (fMRI, 22 patients behaviour therapy (BT), 31 healthy controls); left and right NCd: Schwartz et al. 1996 (FDG-PET, nine patients CBT, nine controls)). Pre-treatment associations between orbitofrontal cortex, caudate nucleus, and putamen (Baxter et al. 1992), as well as between orbitofrontal cortex, caudate nucleus, and thalamic structures (Schwartz et al. 1996) decreased after successful CBT. Brody et al. (1998) reported on higher pre-treatment metabolic activity in the left orbitofrontal cortex predicting a better outcome after behaviour therapy, but not after treatment with fluoxetine (FDG-PET, 27 patients). Using a symptom provocation task, Nakao et al. (2005, fMRI study) found reduced activity in the orbitofrontal cortex, anterior cingulate cortex, putamen, insula, temporal and occipital cortex, and cerebellum after successful BT, as well as after successful medical treatment with fluvoxamine.

These partially heterogeneous results indicate that further research on the neurobiological effects of the psychological treatment of OCD is warranted. It is assumed that treatment including CBT may lead to a "normalization" of neurobiological processes. However, relatively little is known about the specific mechanisms of psychological or pharmacological treatment (Etkin et al. 2005) and especially about treatment-related changes. For this purpose, neuroimaging procedures should be applied not only at the beginning and upon completion of the therapy but also during the treatment process.

The aim of this study was to investigate OCDrelated BOLD responses and to display variations during the therapeutic process. We assumed that reduced symptom severity should correspond to reduced activity in OCD-related brain regions. With daily ratings, phase-transition-like phenomena between patterns of emotions and cognitions were hypothesized to occur, each transition accompanied by critical instabilities manifesting transient increases in fluctuations or dynamic complexity of the time series. Similar structures of therapeutic change processes were identified in recent processoutcome studies (Haken and Schiepek 2006; Schiepek and Perlitz in press). The phase-transitions observed could be associated with intensive and widespread brain activity compared to brain responses after the transition. As ACC is thought to be connected with conflict monitoring (van Veen and Carter 2002a,b) or – in terms of synergetics – to be a symmetry monitoring system, respectively, dynamic instabilities should be correlated to ACC activity.

Methods and Materials

Subjects

A 34-year-old female patient with OCD (washing/ contamination fear) (DSM IV: 300.3, APA 1994) was investigated. The patient had been unmedicated for several years and devoid of comorbid psychiatric or somatic diagnoses (clinical judgement based on ICD-10 and DSM-IV criteria and on a psychiatric interview). The father of the patient died at the age of 58 years, suffering from alcohol dependence and OCD (controlling compulsions). The younger sister of the patient met the criteria of major depression, eating disorder, and OCD. The obsessive-compulsive symptoms of the patient had begun about 4 years before admission to the psychosomatic hospital.

On a special ward for OCD the patient was treated with combined behaviour therapy and systemic therapy (couple therapy). The duration of the hospital stay was 59 days. The functional MRI data of the patient were compared to those of a healthy, female, control subject (38 years) without any history of neurological or psychiatric disorders.

A written informed consent was obtained from both participants after procedures had been fully explained according to the guidelines of the ethics committee of the University of Munich.

Real-time monitoring procedure

Upon admission, the patient was asked to fill out the Therapy Process Questionnaire (TPQ, Haken and Schiepek 2006) presented on a PC screen at the end of each day, using the internet-based Synergetic Navigation System. Daily ratings were given on seven-point Likert scales or visual analogue scales, and then transformed into time series of the clinical course. A factor analysis of the items was realized in a former study and resulted in the following seven subscales of the TPQ: (1) experience of progress, confidence, and self-efficacy during the ongoing therapy, (2) insight and development of new perspectives, (3) intensity of therapeutic work and intrinsic motivation, (4) social climate and interpersonal relations to other patients, (5) quality of the therapeutic relationship, (6) dysphoric emotions and self-relatedness, (7) symptom severity. The subscales resulted from a factor analysis which produced seven factors with eigenvalues >1 (cumulated explained variance: 59.6%). Cronbach's alpha ranges from .82 (subscale VII) to .94 (subscale I). Reliability and validity measures of the TPQ were reported in detail in Haken and Schiepek (2006).

The real-time monitoring technology is an internet-based service which allows the continuous visualization of raw data and subscale values as time series. For further analysis the dynamic complexity of the time series was calculated and visualized. Dynamic complexity is a combined measure of the intensity of fluctuations, and the distribution of the values over the available range (Schiepek 2003). Fluctuations are calculated by summing up the ratio between the absolute difference of the measurements between two turning points (i.e. the change between ascending and descending values, or vice versa) to the duration of this change process. The fluctuation is sensitive to the frequency and amplitudes of value alternations. The distribution measure is high if the values are not concentrated within small subdivisions of the range, but follow an equal distribution over the range of possible measurement values. The multiplicative combination of both results become evident in the *dynamic complexity* of the time series which was calculated within a gliding window (window width: 7 days) (for details of the algorithm, see Haken and Schiepek 2006).

Outcome criteria

Treatment effects were measured using the Y-BOCS (Goodman et al. 1989a,b), BDI (Beck Depression Inventory, Beck and Steer 1987), SCL-90 (Symptom Check List, Derogatis 1983), and the INK (Incongruence Questionnaire, Grosse Holtforth et al. 2004). The Y-BOCS was administered weekly, the other questionnaires were completed at the beginning and at the end of the hospital stay.

fMRI scanning

The fMRI scans were carried out three times during the stay at days 9, 30, and 57. The second acquisition was done after an intensive period of critical instability of the time series, but just before the flooding treatment was started. The healthy control was also scanned three times at identical time intervals so was the patient. Both subjects were scanned with a 1.5-Tesla MRI scanner (Magnetom Sonata; Siemens, Erlangen, Germany) and a standard head coil. A high-resolution T1-weighted scan was acquired for anatomical referencing. Functional images were obtained with a gradient echo-planar imaging sequence (repetition time: 4000 ms; echo time: 53 ms; 16 axial slices; matrix size: 64×64 ; slice thickness: 6 mm; gap: 0.3 mm).

For the processing and statistical analysis of the fMRI data, the Brain Voyager Software Package (Goebel, Maastricht) was used. The first five images were excluded from any further analysis due to inhomogeneities of the magnetic field. The preprocessing of the functional data included high-pass filtering (cutoff three cycles in time course) to low-frequency signal drift inherent in echo planar imaging, slice scan time correction, spatial smoothing (Gaussian filter with FWHM 8.0 mm) and a 3D motion correction. In addition, the functional images were transferred to a standard Talairach brain.

Significant fMRI activity was determined by crosscorrelation of MR image pixel intensity with an expected hemodynamic response function. Voxelwise *t*-tests were used to identify the brain areas in which the percent signal change associated with each contrast was significantly different between patient and control subject under different conditions, respectively (GLM analysis). BOLD responses thresholded at P < 0.001 uncorrected for multiple comparisons were regarded as significant. Only clusters with more than 50 activated voxels were included in the analyses.

Picture material and stimulation paradigm

The visual stimulation consisted of 30 symptom provoking, 30 disgust provoking, and 30 neutral pictures. Disgust and neutral pictures were taken from the International Affective Picture System (IAPS, Lang 1997/2001). The OCD-relevant pictures had been photographed by the patient: the pictures showed specific triggers for obsessive-compulsive behaviours. The scenes were captured with a digital camera from the patient's home context (see Schienle et al. 2005, for first using this individualized symptom provocation paradigm with OCD patients). All pictures were shown twice each for four seconds in pseudorandomized order. The same picture sequence was presented to the patient and the matched control subject. All pictures were presented to the participants prior to the first fMRI session in order to reduce primacy, surprise or habituation effects.

After the MRI session subjects were asked to rate the pictures by means of five-point scales for (a) emotional valence, (b) arousal, (c) ambiguity, and (d) self-efficacy. The ratings for valence and arousal used the visual symbols of the IAPS standard rating procedure (five steps), the ambiguity and selfefficacy ratings were done on a five-point scale (with 1 = "not at all" and 5 = "very strong").

Results

Therapy effects

The patient started with a Y-BOCS score of 14 (mild symptom severity) in the first week of treatment. Although this score corresponds to only mild symptom severity, the patient's suffering from OCD was strong, and she was obviously impaired in her daily routines and vocational activities. The score slightly increased up to 17 (moderate severity) until week 3 of treatment and then decreased to a value of 4 in week 5. Between weeks 5 and 8 the Y-BOCS scores remained stable on a low level and reached a score of one (i.e. no clinical OCD) by the end of treatment (Figure 1).

The BDI overall score was 21 at the beginning and 3 at the end of treatment. A pre-post comparison of the SCL-90 showed reduced values in all psychopathological subscales at the end of therapy. The most pronounced pre- versus post-differences were seen in the subscales of obsession/compulsion (raw score: 2.7 vs. 0; t-value: 77 vs. 37), depression (raw score: 2.8 vs. 0; t-value: 75 vs. 37), and aggression/ hostility (raw score: 2.0 vs. 0; t-value: 68 vs. 39). The total score was reduced from 1.32 to 0.16 (t-value: 66 vs. 46) indicating a significant clinical improvement. The experienced incongruence between personal needs and goals on one hand and the actual fulfilment of these needs and goals on the other hand was measured by the incongruence questionnaire (INK). The incongruence of the subscale "goals to approach" was reduced from 3.54 (pre) to 1.84 (post), the incongruence of the subscale "goals to avoid" was reduced from 3.50 to 1.45, and the overall incongruence was reduced from 3.52 to 1.64.



Figure 1. Grey dots and line: the course of the Y-BOCS scores (ratings once a week, scale on the right side). Black line: dynamic complexity, averaged over all 45 items of the TPQ. The dynamic complexity of each item is based on daily ratings and calculated within a gliding window of 7 days (scale on the left side). X-axis: days of hospital stay. Black arrows indicate the days where fMRI sessions were taking place.

This is a significant increase in experienced emotional congruence which is seen as an important factor of mental health (Grawe 2004).

Clinical course and time series data

The problems of the patient can be seen in a context of autonomy conflicts with her husband. Symptoms started after a dermatological infection of her husband, and the focus of her symptoms and anxieties concentrated on getting infected from her husband. Before the actual clinical stay, she visited some sessions of couple therapy together with her husband and an ambulatory individual psychotherapy, which was interrupted when a potential separation was discussed as a possible solution by the therapist.

Actual development: After the second couple therapy session the patient decided to file for divorce. This decision was accompanied by feelings of anger. The couple's therapy session took place 2 days before the second fMRI session. The period before this critical event and her decision were characterized by intensive fluctuations and increased complexity of her daily ratings of therapy-related feelings and cognitions (Figure 2). The average dynamic complexity of all items of the TPQ



Figure 2. (a) The course of two TPQ items: Concerning my personal goals, I was successful (1 = ``not at all'', 7 = ``very successful'' (grey line); Today, I avoided situations provoking obsessions or compulsions <math>(1 = ``not at all'', 7 = ``very much'') (black line). (b) The course of two factors (subscales) of the TPQ (items were *z*-transformed and averaged). Factor 1: progress of therapeutic work/confidence/self-efficacy (grey line). Factor 7: symptom severity (black line). *X*-axis: days of hospital stay.

manifested a significant peak between days 15 and 30 (Figure 1). Evidently the patient was destabilized and a phase transition took place, in the period before the second couple therapy session. Twenty-six out of 45 TPQ items manifested statistically increased complexity values during this period.

The flooding procedure started one day after the second fMRI session. Thus, specific psychopathological variations were demonstrated before decisive psychotherapeutic interventions took place (rapid early response Hayes et al. 2007; Lambert and Ogles 2004): alterations in brain activity (see below), increased instability of the therapy dynamics, and the beginning of an essential symptom reduction (mirrored by her daily ratings, see Figure 2) as well as by the Y-BOCS (see Figure 1) occurred before the flooding was started. The increased complexity of her daily ratings followed by changed dynamics (Figure 2) can be seen as a phase-transition in the sense of nonlinear dynamic systems theory. Clinically, the phase-transition concerned a pattern including several components like finishing an important and long-term subliminal decision process, becoming aware of one's emotions, and a clear-cut symptom reduction. Evidently, the system was destabilized before a discontinuous symptom reduction begun which was initiated before the flooding started and the second fMRI session took place.

Self-report data on the stimulus material

Figure 3 shows the results of the participants' evaluation of pictures immediately after the fMRI scans. The neutral pictures were rated more positive by the patient (Mean = 4.92) than by the control subject (Mean = 3.75, t = 11.19, P = 0.000). The patient rated the OCD-related pictures more negative than the disgust-associated pictures (1.73 vs. 2.22, t = -3.27, P = 0.002). The reverse was true in the healthy subject (OCD-related pictures: 2.57 vs. disgust pictures: 1.90, t = 6.33, P = 0.000). The OCD stimuli were rated by the patient more positive in the third fMRI session (2.06) compared to the first session (1.46) (t = 3.84; P = 0.001). Furthermore, arousal ratings differentiated clearly between OCD (4.53), disgust (2.93), and neutral pictures (1.00) (OCD vs. disgust: t = 6.03, P = 0.000; OCD vs. neutral: t = 33.87, P = 0.000; disgust vs. neutral: t = 8.61, P = 0.000). The arousal level of the patient was smallest for the neutral pictures and greatest for the individual OCD-associated pictures. Concerning OCD-related pictures, the arousal decreased from the first session (4.53) to the second session (3.96)and from the second session to the third session (2.00). By contrast, the experienced self-efficacy increased from the second session (1.73) compared to the third session (4.23). For the control person, arousal was most intensive for disgust pictures (disgust: 3.26, OCD: 1.06, neutral: 1.73, first session). The individual scores in the ambiguity scale were not very pronounced, neither for the patient nor for the control subject. Self-efficacy related to OCD pictures differentiated clearly between patient and control. For the control subject it seemed to be easier to cope with OCD pictures (4.92) than with disgust provoking situations (3.03). For the patient her own OCD situations were the most difficult to cope with at the beginning of the therapy (session 1: OCD-pictures: 1.53, disgust pictures: 3.66, t = 6.80, P = 0.000), whereas at the end of treatment there was no more difference (session 3: OCD-pictures: 4.23, disgust-pictures: 4.26, t = 0.11, P = 0.910). Interestingly, self-efficacy during disgust provocation seemed greater for the patient than for the control person (mean over all three sessions: 3.91 vs. 3.03, t = 4.48, P = 0.000).

Functional MRI data

At the beginning of the therapy, the patient demonstrated enhanced activations during the presentation of OCD-associated pictures compared to the presentation of neutral pictures in medial frontal brain regions, including the anterior cingulate cortex (BA 32/24), supplementary motor cortex (BA 6), medial frontal gyrus (BA 9), and the medial and left lateral part of the superior frontal gyrus (BA 10). Moreover, symptom-related pictures compared to neutral pictures produced enhanced activations mainly in the following areas: superior frontal gyrus (BA 9/10), inferior frontal gyrus, insula (BA 47), inferior frontal and inferior temporal gyrus (BA 47/38), superior temporal gyrus (BA 38), precentral gyrus (BA 6), inferior parietal lobe (BA 40), thalamus (L > R), and caudate nucleus. In addition, clear differences could be observed in the (pre-) cuneus (BA 7), the fusiform gyrus (BA 37) as well as (secondary) visual-association areas in occipito-parietal brain regions (e.g. superior and inferior parietal lobe (BA 7/39), middle and inferior occipital gyrus (BA 18)). The BOLD responses in these areas were more

Figure 3. Ratings of the pictures which were presented during the fMRI sessions. Left column: patient; right column: healthy control. The diagrams represent the experienced intensities of emotional valence (5 = positive, 1 = negative), arousal (5 = very strong, 1 = no arousal), ambiguity (5 = very strong, 1 = no ambiguity), and self-efficacy (5 = I feel able to handle this situation, 1 = no at all). Results are showing the intensities of neutral, disgust provoking, and OCD provoking pictures, during the first (1), second (2), and third (3) fMRI session.



Figure 3 (Continued)

pronounced during the OCD-associated stimulation than in the control condition (Figure 4).

The comparison of OCD-specific brain responses at the beginning of the therapy and the second fMRI measurement during the therapy revealed reduced contributions mainly of the medial frontal gyrus (BA 8/6) and anterior cingulate cortex (BA 32/24), superior and middle frontal gyrus (BA 6/10), precentral gyrus (BA 44/45), superior temporal gyrus (BA 22), cuneus (BA 19/18), the thalamus and

664 G. Schiepek et al.



Figure 4. OCD-related functional MRI activation of the patient at the beginning of the therapy (OCD-related pictures minus neutral pictures; x = 4, y = -62, z = -3; *P*(uncor) < 0.001).

caudate nucleus in both hemispheres as well as the right fusiform gyrus during the second session (Figure 5).

The OCD-associated BOLD responses (activations during the presentation of OCD-related pictures compared to activations during the presentation of neutral pictures) of the second and third session at the end of therapy revealed only small differences. Slightly enhanced responses were found during the second session compared to the third session in the precuneus (BA 7), and the inferior parietal lobe (BA 40). However, the middle frontal gyrus (BA 8), the left inferior parietal lobe (BA 40), the cuneus (BA 18/19) the superior and middle frontal gyrus, and the cingulate gyrus (BA 32) responded slightly stronger during the third session compared to the second session (Figure 6).

The comparison of disgust-related BOLD responses did not show any significant results. However, when the influence of BOLD responses was examined on a lower significance level (p < .005; uncorrected for multiple comparisons), disgust-related activities during the first session were observed in the thalamus, the middle frontal gyrus (BA 46/8), the postcentral gyrus (BA 2), the (pre-)cuneus, the inferior frontal gyrus, the anterior cingulate gyrus (BA 32) and the fusiform gyrus. The activations in the superior frontal gyrus (BA 10), the thalamus, the postcentral gyrus (BA 3), the precuneus, the inferior parietal lobe, and the fusiform gyrus (BA 20/36) slightly decreased between the first session and the second session. A comparison of the second and the third session differences in the left middle frontal gyrus (BA 46/10), and the left inferior frontal gyrus showed that these brain areas were stronger activated during the second session. However, slightly increased brain activations in the third session compared to the second session were evident in the left thalamus, the (pre-)cuneus (BA 30/31), the right superior temporal gyrus (BA 22), the left inferior frontal gyrus (BA 20), and the left insula (BA 13).

The healthy subject showed comparable BOLD responses during the presentation of OCD-related pictures and neutral pictures. Slightly enhanced activations during the neutral condition compared to the OCD-related pictures where shown in the left



Figure 5. OCD-related BOLD responses in the patient at the beginning of the therapy compared to the BOLD responses during the second session (OCD-related pictures minus neutral pictures; x = 1, y = -82, z = 1; P(uncor) < 0.001).



Figure 6. OCD-related BOLD responses in the patient during the second session compared to the BOLD responses at the end of therapy (OCD-related pictures minus neutral pictures; x = -18, y = -37, z = 46; *P*(uncor) <0.001).

inferior occipital gyrus. In addition, the superior frontal gyrus (BA 6), the middle frontal gyrus (BA 8), the inferior frontal gyrus (BA 44/45), and the right superior temporal gyrus (BA 13) were stronger activated during the OCD condition compared to the neutral condition (Figure 7).

In order to compare the MRI activity after the presentation of disgust-related pictures to brain responses after the presentation of neutral pictures in the healthy control subject, the significance level was lowered to P < 0.005 (uncorrected for multiple comparisons). Disgust associated information revealed enhanced BOLD activity in the left medial and bilateral lateral part of the superior frontal gyrus (BA 8/9), medial frontal gyrus (BA 6), the precuneus (BA 7), the cuneus (BA 17), the left precentral gyrus, the right postcentral gyrus (BA 2/3), the left caudate body, and the right superior temporal gyrus.

These disgust-specific responses (disgust minus neutral condition) hardly changed even when presented several times in functional MRI sessions. Slightly enhanced responses during the first session compared to the second session were shown in the medial frontal gyrus (BA 6), the precentral gyrus (BA 6), and the left caudate body. The disgustspecific responses of the second MRI session were somewhat enhanced in the left precuneus (BA 7) and the inferior frontal gyrus (BA 44) compared to those activations in the third MRI session.

Discussion

The aim of the study was to identify the association between brain activity and changes in the subjective experience of psychotherapy. Daily ratings of the therapy processes were done using an internet-based Real-Time Monitoring device (Synergetic Navigation System) which allowed ongoing data analyses of the resulting time series. Three repeated fMRI sessions were performed (1) before and at the end of the treatment period as well as (2) immediately after a critical instability.

Concerning functional MRI data, the most pronounced changes in brain activity occurred between the first and the second session. As these changes happened before the flooding procedure was started,



Figure 7. Functional MRI activation during the presentation of the OCD-related pictures in the healthy control subject (first session, OCD-related pictures minus neutral pictures; x = -2, y = 10, z = 13; *P*(uncor) < 0.001).

these variations may indicate early rapid responses in psychotherapy (Lambert and Ogles 2004; Hayes et al. 2007). They occurred after a preceding instability. Marked alterations in brain activity were to be observed before or during symptom reduction took place, not afterwards.

Alterations in brain activity involved widespread areas, e.g., the medial frontal brain regions including anterior cingulate cortex, superior and middle frontal gyrus, inferior frontal and precentral gyrus, superior temporal gyrus, superior parietal lobe, cuneus, thalamus and caudate nucleus in both hemispheres, as well as the right fusiform gyrus. Activations in parietal structures like the precuneus or gyrus supramarginalis matched the results of other studies using OCD-specific stimulation in comparison to emotion provoking material (disgust, fear) (e.g., Schienle et al. 2005, fMRI-study, 10 patients, 10 healthy controls). Any activation in the dorsolateral-caudate-striatum-thalamus circuitry has repeatedly been demonstrated to "normalize" after psychotherapeutic treatment (e.g., Baxter et al. 1992; Schwartz et al. 1996).

The function of the anterior caudate nucleus in OCD is less clear. Some studies have shown that the caudate nucleus is part of the modulatory control model of OCD and could play a role in the washing/ contamination fear syndrome (e.g., Rauch et al. 1998; Saxena et al. 1998; Friedlander and Desrocher 2006; Schiepek et al. 2007 Whiteside et al. 2004). The cingulate cortex comprises various functions like somatosensoric integration, mediation of affective and cognitive processes, control of attention, and processing of painful stimuli. Additionally, it plays an important role as conflict monitoring system: it is sensitive to ambiguous or conflicting information (van Veen and Carter 2002a,b; Davidson et al. 2003), is involved in decision processes (Sanfey et al. 2003; King-Casas et al. 2005), and its activation is predictive to treatment outcome in depression (e.g., Mayberg et al. 1997; Pizzagalli et al. 2001; Etkin et al. 2005; Evans et al. 2006). In terms of complexity theory, it could be an indicator of symmetry states of brain functioning, which is characterized by two or more dynamic patterns or attractors in competition. Therefore, the ACC activation at the beginning of the therapy could either be part of the pathology or it could be indicative for the critical instability of the cognitive-affective system of the patient (or both). The dynamic complexity of the TPQ data decreased from 0.066 (the days around the first fMRI session) to 0.033 (around the second session) which means a reduction by 50%. The second fMRI measurement was conducted during a local minimum of critical fluctuations. Whether the change in cingulate

activation could be attributed to an altered critical symmetry state of the neural self-organization before versus after the phase-transition or to changes in symptom severity cannot be decided within a single case study. Nevertheless, this seems to be an interesting question for further research. Since it could be an indicator for the instability hypothesis, that Y-BOCS scores were similar during fMRI sessions one and two, compared to a 50% reduction in dynamic complexity.

Limitations

There are several limitations to our results. The data were obtained from a single patient and a single control subject and can, therefore, only provide a first approach to this issue. The investigation of a single control subject can be misleading since effects and potential confounders introduced by one healthy subject are not definable or controllable. However, the brain activity of the patient in our study showed neural responses dependent on her subjective experience and independent of the results of the healthy subject. These results are in line with those of previous studies in literature. The healthy control did not show alteration between sessions concerning the evaluation of the pictures. As expected, brain responses of the healthy control were pronounced during the presentation of disgustrelated pictures. Small effects were demonstrated when the pictures did not produce strong affective responses.

Although there is an increasing interest in the neuropsychology of positive emotions (e.g., Ryff and Singer 2003), their role within the psychopathology of OCD is not clear. Hence, no positive pictures were integrated in the study.

Statistical analyses of fMRI data were done without correction for multiple comparisons, but the statistical threshold is not unusual for small sample sizes. Nevertheless, the results should be considered preliminary.

Despite these limitations we were able to demonstrate a clear effect of psychotherapy on neural responses contributing to the understanding of neurobiological bases of OCD and therapy processes.

Conclusion

It seems to be worthwhile having a closer look at the neurobiology of psychotherapy processes, using combined strategies of functional brain imaging and time-series data. We were able to demonstrate marked changes in brain activation during a psychological treatment, associated with a dynamic phase-transition followed by a pronounced symptom reduction. The results emphasize the importance of an individualized symptom provoking paradigm as well as the application of repeated assessments of functional MRI. Real-time monitoring technology can help to determine important variations in therapy processes in order to analyse symptom reduction, complexity changes or phase transitions.

The theory of a self-organizing brain undergoing cascades of cognitive-affective phase-transitions during the process of psychotherapy could be an interesting framework for the creation of hypotheses, data interpretation, and modelling brain dynamics (Friston et al. 2003; Haken 2002; Haken and Schiepek 2006).

Acknowledgements

This study was part of a research project on the "Neuroscience of Psychotherapy" supported by the Austrian National Bank, Nr 11931, the German Society of Systemic and Family Therapy, and the German Systemic Society.

Statement of interest

The authors have not declared any conflicts of interest.

- American Psychiatric Association. 1994. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. 4th rev ed. Washington, DC: APA.
- Baxter Jr LR, Schwartz JM, Bergman KS, Szuba MP, Guze BH, Mazziotta JC, et al. 1992. Caudate glucose metabolic rate changes with both drug and behavior therapy for obsessivecompulsive disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 49:681–689.
- Beck AT, Steer RA. 1987. Beck Depression Inventory Manual. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation.
- Brody AL, Saxena S, Schwartz JM, Stoessel PW, Maidment K, Phelps ME, et al. 1998. FDG-PET predictors of response to behavioral therapy and pharmacotherapy in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Psychiatry Res – Neuroimaging 84:1–6.
- Davidson RJ, Pizzagalli D, Nitschke JB, Kalin NH. 2003. Parsing the subcomponents of emotion and disorders of emotion: Perspectives from affective neuroscience. In: Davidson RJ, Scherer KR, Goldsmith HH, editors. Handbook of affective sciences. Oxford: Oxford University Press. pp 8–24.
- Derogatis LR. 1983. SCL-90: Administration, scoring, and procedures manual for the revised version. Baltimore, MD: Clinical Psychometric Research.
- Desarkar P, Sinha VK, Jagadheesan K, Nizamie SH. 2007. Subcortical functioning in obsessive-compulsive disorder: an exploratory EEG coherence study. World J Biol Psychiatry 8:196–200.
- Etkin A, Pittenger C, Polan HJ, Kandel ER. 2005. Toward a neurobiology of psychotherapy: Basic science and clinical applications. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 17:145–158.

- Evans KC, Dougherty DD, Pollack MH, Rauch SL. 2006. Using neuroimaging to predict treatment response in mood and anxiety disorders. Ann Clin Psychiatry 18:33–42.
- Friedlander L, Desrocher M. 2006. Neuroimaging studies of obsessive-compulsive disorder in adults and children. Clin Psychol Rev 26:32–49.
- Friston KJ, Harrison L, Penny W. 2003. Dynamic causal modelling. Neuroimage 19:1273–1302.
- Goodman WK, Price LH, Rasmussen SA, Mazure C, Fleischmann RL, Hill CL, et al. 1989a. The Yale-Brown obsessive compulsive scale. I. Development, use, and reliability. Arch Gen Psychiatry 46:1006–1011.
- Goodman WK, Price LH, Rasmussen SA, Mazure C, Delgado P, Heninger GR, et al. 1989b. The Yale-Brown obsessive compulsive scale. II. Validity. Arch Gen Psychiatry 46:1012–1016.
 Grawe K. 2004. Neuropsychotherapie. Göttingen: Hogrefe.
- Grosse Holtforth M, Grawe K, Tamcan Ö. 2004. Inkongruenzfragebogen (INK). Göttingen: Hogrefe.
- Gross-Isseroff R, Hermesh H, Zohar J, Weizman A. 2003. Neuroimaging communality between schizophrenia and obsessive compulsive disorder: a putative basis for schizo-obsessive disorder? World J Biol Psychiatry 4:129–134.
- Haken H. 2002. Brain dynamics. Berlin: Springer.
- Haken H, Schiepek G. 2006. Synergetik in der Psychologie. Göttingen: Hogrefe.
- Hayes AM, Feldman GC, Beevers CG, Laurenceau JP, Cardaciotto LA, Lewis-Smith J. 2007. Discontinuities and cognitive changes in an exposure-based cognitive therapy for depression. J Consult Clin Psychol 75:409–421.
- King-Casas B, Tomlin D, Anen C, Camerer CF, Quartz SR, Montague PR. 2005. Getting to know you: reputation and trust in a two-person economic exchange. Science 308:78–83.
- Lambert MJ, Ogles BM. 2004. The efficacy and effectiveness of psychotherapy. In: Lambert MJ, editor. Handbook of psychotherapy and behavior change. New York: Wiley. pp 139– 193.
- Lang PJ, Bradley MM, Cuthbert BN. 1997/2001. International Affective Picture System (IAPS): Instruction manual and affective ratings. Gainesville, FL: Center for Research in Psychophysiology, University of Florida.
- Mataix-Cols D, Wooderson S, Lawrence N, Brammer MJ, Speckens A, Phillips ML. 2004. Distinct neural correlates of washing, checking, and hoarding symptom dimensions in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 61:564– 576.
- Mayberg HS, Brannan SK, Mahurin RK, Jerabek PA, Brickman JS, Tekell JL, et al. 1997. Cingulate function in depression: a potential predictor of treatment response. Neuroreport 8:1057– 1061.
- Nakatani E, Nakgawa A, Ohara Y, Goto S, Uozumi N, Iwakiri M, et al. 2003. Effects of behavior therapy on regional cerebral blood flow in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Psychiatry Res 124:113–120.
- Nakao T, Nakagawa A, Yoshiura T, Nakatani E, Nabeyama M, Yoshizato C, et al. 2005. Brain activation of patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder during neuropsychological and symptom provocation tasks before and after symptom improvement. A functional magnetic resonance imaging study. Biol Psychiatry 57:901–910.
- Pizzagalli D, Pascual-Marqui RD, Nitschke JB, Oakes TR, Larson CL, Abercrombie HC, et al. 2001. Anterior cingulate activity as a predictor of degree of treatment response in major depression: Evidence from brain electrical tomography analysis. Am J Psychiatry 158:405–415.
- Rauch SL, Dougherty DD, Shin LM, Alpert NM, Manzo P, Leahy L, et al. 1998. Neural correlates of factor-analyzed OCD symptom dimensions: A PET study. CNS Spectrum 3:37–43.

668 G. Schiepek et al.

- Ryff CD, Singer BH. 2003. The role of emotions on pathways to positive health. In: Davidson RJ, Scherer KR, Goldsmith HH, editors. Handbook of affective sciences. New York: Oxford University Press. pp 1083–1104.
- Sanfey AG, Rilling JK, Aronson JA, Nystrom LE, Cohen JD. 2003. The neural basis of economic decision-making in the Ultimatum Game. Science 300:1755–1758.
- Saxena S, Brody AL, Schwartz JM, Baxter LR. 1998. Neuroimaging und frontal-subcortical circuitry in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Br J Psychiatry 173(Suppl 35):26–37.
- Schienle A, Schäfer A, Stark R, Walter B, Vaitl D. 2005. Neural responses of OCD patients towards disorder relevant, generally disgust-inducing and fear-inducing pictures. Int J Psychophysiol 57:69–77.
- Schiepek G. 2003. A dynamic systems approach to clinical case formulation. Eur J Psychol Assess 19:175–184.
- Schiepek G, Tominschek I, Karch S, Mulert C, Pogarell O. 2007. Neurobiologische Korrelate der Zwangsstörungen – Aktuelle Befunde zur funktionellen Bildgebung (Neuroimaging and the neurobiology of obsessive-comulsive disorder). Psychother Psychosom Med Psychol 57:379–394.

- Schiepek G, Perlitz V. in press. Self-organization and clinical psychology. In: Meyer N. editor. Encyclopedia in complexity and systems science. New York: Springer.
- Schwartz JM, Stoessel PW, Baxter LR, Martin KM, Phelps ME. 1996. Systematic changes in cerebral glucose metabolic rate after successful behavior modification treatment of obsessivecompulsive disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 53:109–113.
- Shapira NA, Liu Y, He AG, Bradley MM, Lessig MC, James GA, et al. 2003. Brain activation by disgust-inducing pictures in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Biol Psychiatry 54:751–756.
- van Veen V, Carter CS. 2002a. The anterior cingulate cortex as a conflict monitor: fMRI and ERP studies. Physiol Behav 77:477–482.
- van Veen V, Carter CS. 2002b. The timing of action-monitoring processes in the anterior cingulate cortex. J Cogn Neurosci 14:593–602.
- Whiteside SP, Port JD, Abramowitz JS. 2004. A meta-analysis of functional neuroimaging in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Psychiatry Res – Neuroimaging 132:69–79.

CASE REPORT

Delusion of pregnancy associated with antipsychotic induced metabolic syndrome

NARAYANA MANJUNATHA¹ & SAHOO SADDICHHA²

¹National Institute of Mental health and Neurosciences (NIMHANS), Bangalore, India, and ²Emergency Management and Research Institute, Hyderabad, India

Abstract

Metabolic syndrome is currently the research topic of several studies. Although physical manifestations of metabolic syndrome have been described, the psychological and psychiatric impact of metabolic syndrome has not been studied to date. We report the first case of antipsychotic-induced metabolic syndrome which was associated with development of delusions of pregnancy in a post-menopausal woman.

Key words: Delusion of pregnancy, obesity, metabolic syndrome

Introduction

Metabolic syndrome, as originally elucidated by Reaven (1988), was originally proposed to explain the link between insulin resistance and hypertension in the causation of cardiovascular disease (Levitt and Lambert 2002). There are several physical manifestations of metabolic syndrome (Bonow and Eckel 2003); however, the psychological and psychiatric impact of metabolic syndrome has not been studied to date, which may be important not only for predicting outcome, but also may determine presentation of psychopathology (Bitton et al. 1991; Wirshing et al. 2002). Delusion of pregnancy is one such rare symptom seen due to organic, functional or drug-induced causes (Qureshi et al. 2001). An earlier report had described delusion of pregnancy in young girls due to drug-induced lactation and amenorrhea accompanied by breast changes (Cramer 1971). We report the first case of antipsychotic-induced metabolic syndrome which was associated with development of delusions of pregnancy in a post-menopausal woman.

Case report

A 48-year-old, post-menopausal, divorced mother of one child, diagnosed with paranoid schizophrenia

for last 16 years and treated with different antipsychotics, with moderate response, was brought to us claiming that she was pregnant for the last 7 months to her ex-husband (despite not having any contact or sexual intercourse with her husband for last 8 years), because her abdomen was enlarging gradually. Detailed history revealed near-complete resolution of positive symptoms of psychosis (no delusions or hallucinations) with the exception of negative symptoms. Clozapine had then been started 10 months previously after cross tapering and stopping other antipsychotics. Since then, her son revealed that she had developed obesity, especially around the waist. Three months after initiation of clozapine, she had started claiming that she could sense fetal movements inside her abdomen and requested safe delivery of the child. Investigations revealed BP 126/94 mmHg, weight 72 kg, height 154 cm, waist circumference (WC) 88 cm, and BMI 30.38 kg/m². FSH, LH, serum prolactin and serum insulin were normal for her age, repeated pregnancy tests were negative and abdominal ultrasound revealed no abnormalities. She had no lactation. Serum biochemistry revealed triglyceride (TGL) level of 203 mg/dl, HDL of 42 mg/dl and FBS level of 96 mg/dl.

(Received 13 August 2008; accepted 17 September 2008)

Correspondence: Sahoo Saddichha, Partner, Division of Clinical Research, Emergency Management and Research Institute (EMRI), Hyderabad, India. Tel: +91 9000 013816. Email: saddichha@gmail.com

Discussion

As the patient had been on treatment with clozapine 350 mg/day prior to admission and she met IDF criteria (IDF 2005) for metabolic syndrome (decreased HDL, increased WC and TGL), she was diagnosed as having delusions of pregnancy due to antipsychotic-induced metabolic syndrome, which is itself uncommon in schizophrenia. It is also possible that these delusions were misinterpreted by the patient as a result of her increasing abdominal girth. However, the role of metabolic syndrome (as increasing waist circumference and weight) cannot be discounted in the etiology of delusion formation.

She was started on amisulpride 400 mg/day with partial improvement noted at 6 months follow-up. A diagnosis of ovarian disease was initially entertained, but later discarded due to normal FSH, LH and insulin values.

Although the epidemiology of delusions of pregnancy is not well known, it has been fairly commonly reported, both among male (Chaturvedi 1989; Bitton et al. 1991; Shanker 1991; Miller and Forcier 1992; Michael et al. 1994; Radhakrishnan et al. 1999) and female (Cramer 1971; de Pauw 1990; Dutta and Vankar 1996) patients. It has to be clinically differentiated from pseudocyesis, simulated pregnancy, pseudo-pregnancy and Couvades syndrome (Bonow and Eckel 2003). We believe that our patient had pseudocyesis rather than pseudopregnancy as all investigations were normal.

Coenaesthopathological processes, in which combination of primary somatic sensations arising from the abdomen and other parts of the body due to central obesity (Cramer 1971; Bitton et al. 1991) and endocrinological changes resulting in metabolic syndrome induced by antipsychotic treatment (Cramer 1971; de Pauw 1990; Dutta and Vankar 1996), were misinterpreted as signs of pregnancy leading to our patient developing delusions of pregnancy.

Conclusion

Along with physical aspects, psychiatric aspects of metabolic syndrome need to be studied further systematically, in terms of psychopathology, i.e. delusion, somatic problems, dysmorphophobia and poor self esteem among others.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have not declared any conflicts of interest.

- Bitton G, Thibaut F, Lefevre-Lesage I. 1991. Delusions of pregnancy in a man. Am J Psychiatry 148(6):811–812.
- Bonow RO, Eckel RH. 2003. Diet. Obesity, and cardiovascular risk. New Engl J Med 348:2057.
- Chaturvedi SK. 1989. Delusion of pregnancy in men. Br J Psychiatry 155:422-423.
- Cramer B. 1971. Delusion of pregnancy in a girl with druginduced lactation. Am J Psychiatry 127:960–963.
- de Pauw KW. 1990. Three thousand days of pregnancy: A case of monosymptomatic delusional pseudocyesis responding to pimozide. Br J Psychiatry 157:924–928.
- Dutta S, Vankar GK. 1996. Delusions of pregnancy: A report of four cases. Indian J Psychiatry 38:254–256.
- IDF. 2005. The IDF consensus worldwide definition of the metabolic syndrome. Brussels: International Diabetes Federation (available at www.idf.org).
- Levitt NS, Lambert EV. 2002. The foetal origins of the metabolic syndrome – a South African perspective. Cardiovasc J S Afr 13:179–180.
- Michael A, Joseph A, Pallen A. 1994. Delusions of pregnancy. Br J Psychiatry 164:244–246.
- Miller LJ, Forcier K. 1992. Situational influence on the development of delusions of pregnancy in a man. Am J Psychiatry 149:140.
- Qureshi NA, Al-Habeeb TA, Al-Ghamdy YS, Abdelgadir MH, Quinn JG. 2001. Delusions of pregnancy in Saudi Arabia: A socio-cultural perspective. Transcultural Psychiatry 38(2):231– 142.
- Reaven GM. 1988. Role of insulin resistance in human disease (Banting Lecture). Diabetes 37:1595–1607.
- Radhakrishnan R, Satheeshkumar G, Chaturvedi SK. 1999. Recurrent delusions of pregnancy in a male. Psychopathology 32:1–4.
- Shanker R. 1991. Delusion of pregnancy in schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry 159:285–286.
- Wirshing DA, Boyd JA, Pierre JM, Saunders CS, Wirshing WC, Azizian K, et al. 2002. Delusions associated with quetiapinerelated weight redistribution. J Clin Psychiatry 63(3):247–248.



CASE REPORT

Worsening of bruxism with atomoxetine: A case report

DATTATREYA MENDHEKAR¹ & DEEP LOHIA²

¹Neuropsychiatry and Headache Clinic, Pratap Nagar, Delhi, India, and ²Elmhurst Hospital Center, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, Psychiatry, New York, USA

Abstract

Atomoxetine is the only FDA-approved non-stimulant to treat ADHD. We report a case of Atomoxetine-related exacerbation of nocturnal bruxism in a 12-yr old boy with ADHD, subsiding on discontinuing the drug, but re-worsening with retrial, finally subsiding upon adding Buspirone. This is the first report of its kind showing such an association, not included in any pre- or post-marketing data. Clinical implications and possible mechanisms are discussed.

Key words: ADHD, adverse effects, side effects, childhood ADHD

Bruxism, or pathological grinding of teeth, is a common problem in paediatric population. It can be a serious problem, leading to severe abrasion of teeth or their mobilization in the alveolar ridge, as well as facial pain and damage to temporomandibular joint. Atomoxetine, the only non-stimulant currently FDA-approved for ADHD in children, has shown efficacy in more than 10 controlled trials (Pliszka et al. 2006). The common adverse effects with atomoxetine are nausea, vomiting, fatigue, decreased appetite, abdominal pain and somnolence.

We report a case of exacerbation of nocturnal bruxism while on atomoxetine therapy, which was confirmed on re-challenge. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first case report of atomoxetinerelated bruxism in the existing literature.

"A", a 12-year-old boy, presented with a 5-year history of poor concentration, distractibility, poor scholastic performance and inability to perform any task within a given time period. He had developmental delays in motor and language areas. He also had history of nocturnal bruxism, which would vary in frequency, from once in 3–5 days, lasting about 5 min, being very mild so as not to bother him or his family members. IQ testing revealed mild mental retardation. After detailed clinical assessment, a diagnosis of ADD was made. He was referred for behavioural therapy, but did not show much improvement. Subsequently, he was started on atomoxetine 10 mg/day, with significant improvement in attention reported by the parents within 3 weeks. At week 4, the parents noticed that the boy's nocturnal bruxism had worsened. It would occur daily at midnight and would last for 15-20 min. The teeth grinding sound was so loud as to wake up others in the room. No daytime abnormal movements were noted. Atomoxetine was stopped immediately, with returning of intensity and frequency of bruxism to baseline. After remaining drug free for 3 weeks, atomoxetine was restarted. Again, the child showed exacerbation of bruxism as before. Subsequently buspirone 10 mg/ day was added to ongoing therapy with marked improvement in bruxism. At 12 weeks follow-up, frequency of bruxism was once in 7-10 days, and of mild intensity. The probability of an adverse drug reaction was assessed using the Naranjo probability scale (Naranjo et al. 1981), which indicated a probable association between atomoxetine and bruxism.

A pubmed search revealed no reports of bruxism with atomoxetine. Full prescribing information also did not describe this adverse effect either in preor post-marketing data (Strattera (atomoxetine)

(Received 7 June 2008; accepted 22 October 2008)

Correspondence: D. Mendhekar, Neuropsychiatry and Headache Clinic, 10867 Pratap Nagar, Metro Pillar 129, Delhi 110007, India. Tel: +91 9868900900

672 D. Mendhekar & D. Lohia

Prescribing information 2007). In this case, we established the temporal relationship between atomoxetine and exacerbation of nocturnal bruxism, confirmed upon rechallenge with atomoxetine. Its pathophysiology, however, is debatable and the literature is controversial regarding the mechanism for bruxism. Substances related to dopaminergic, serotonergic and adrenergic systems suppress or exacerbate bruxism activity (Winocur et al. 2003). Mechanism of action of atomoxetine in the control and maintenance of ADHD symptoms is thought to be through the highly specific presynaptic reuptake inhibition of norepinephrine (Manos et al. 2007). Further systematic studies are needed to understand this phenomenon better.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have not declared any conflicts of interest.

- Manos MJ, Tom-Revzon C, Bukstein OG, Crismon ML. 2005. Changes and challenges: managing ADHD in a fast-paced world. J Manag Care Pharm 13:S2–13.
- Naranjo CA, Busto U, Sellers EM, Sandor P, Ruiz I, Roberts EA, et al. 1981. A method for estimating the probability of adverse drug reactions. Clin Pharmacol Ther 30:239–245.
- Pliszka SR, Crismon ML, Hughes CW, Corners CK, Emslie GJ, Jensen PS, et al. 2006. The Texas Children's Medication Algorithm Project: Revision of the algorithm for pharmacotherapy of attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 45:642–657.
- Strattera (atomoxetine). Prescribing information. 2007. Indianapolis, IN: Eli Lilly and Company.
- Winocur E, Gavish A, Voikovitch M, Emodi-Prlman A, Eli I. 2003. Drugs and bruxism: A critical review. J Orofac Pain 17:99–111.



CASE REPORT

Augmentative transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) combined with brain navigation in drug-resistant rapid cycling bipolar depression: A case report of acute and maintenance efficacy

BERNARDO DELL'OSSO & A. CARLO ALTAMURA

Department of Psychiatry, University of Milan, Fondazione IRCCS Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Mangiagalli e Regina Elena, Via Francesco Sforza 35, 20122, Milano, Italy

Abstract

The efficacy of transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) has been poorly investigated in the acute and maintenance treatment of bipolar depression. The present case supports the efficacy of low-frequency repetitive TMS (rTMS) of the right dorsolateral pre-frontal cortex (RDLPFC) combined to brain navigation in a drug-resistant, bipolar depressed subject with rapid cycling. While continuing the pharmacological treatment at stable doses, the patient was stimulated for 3 weeks at 1 Hz, 110% of motor threshold, 300 stimuli/day showing a significant improvement on the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS₂₁), the Montgomery–Asberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS) and the Clinical Global Impression, improvement scale (CGI-I) total scores. On completion of the 3-week rTMS, the patient was treated with periodic maintenance sessions of rTMS at the same parameters of acute phase for an additional 6 months, at the end of which the therapeutic gains were maintained according to rating scales scores. Larger controlled trials assessing the acute and maintenance efficacy of rTMS in bipolar depression are needed.

Key words: Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS), right dorsolateral pre-frontal cortex (RDLPFC), brain navigation, bipolar depression

Introduction

Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) allows a non-invasive electrical stimulation of the cerebral cortex by means of magnetic fields generated by a handheld coil. Traditionally used in neurophysiology as a research tool, TMS has since been applied in a variety of psychiatric disorders as a potentially therapeutic intervention.

Recent meta-analyses showed mixed results for rTMS in major depressives (Holtzheimer et al. 2001; Burt et al. 2002; Martin et al. 2003; Couturier 2005), and major concerns on published papers include the wide variability of used parameter settings, the limited samples of patients in randomised trials, the small number of sham-controlled studies and the complex reproducibility of results.

With regard to studies specifically performed on bipolar depression, three controlled studies have been published to date (Dolberg et al. 2002; Nahas et al. 2003; Tamas et al. 2007), two of which limited by the small samples. The larger study among these, a single-blind randomised sham-controlled trial (Nahas et al. 2003), performed for 2 weeks in 23 bipolar depressed/mixed patients, failed to find a statistically significant superiority for left prefrontal rTMS at 5 Hz over sham stimulation. In a subsequent maintenance study (Li et al. 2004), performed in seven bipolar depressed patients who had previously responded to acute rTMS, three out of seven subjects completed one full year of weekly maintenance rTMS, maintaining the same level of improvement achieved at the end of the acute treatment.

As reported in the present case, it is of clinical interest to investigate potential stabilizing effect of rTMS in bipolar disorder, a condition in which recurrence prevention is one of the most critical issues for clinicians to manage.

(Received 19 July 2007; accepted 13 November 2007)

Correspondence: Bernardo Dell'osso, Department of Psychiatry, University of Milan, Fondazione IRCCS Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Mangiagalli e Regina Elena, Via Francesco Sforza 35, 20122, Milano, Italy. E-mail: bernardo.dellosso@mssm.edu; carlo.altamura@ policlinico.mi.it

Case report

Mrs MC, a 60-year-old retired woman, married and with one daughter, was referred to our centre for a bipolar disorder type I, according to DSM-IV-TR criteria, with poor response to pharmacological treatment. On referral, the patient reported that the disorder had begun at the age of 40 with a depressive episode; the patient subsequently experienced frequent brief depressive episodes and a few mixed episodes that were treated with a combination of antidepressants plus lithium with poor response. During the last 3 years, the patient had an average of four full episodes (three depressive episodes and onr mixed episode) and several subclinical mixed episodes every year.

When we first visited the patient, she was depressed and her symptoms were quantified with HDRS₂₁ and MADRS scores of middle severity (19 and 22, respectively), and she was rated as 'markedly ill' on the Clinical Global Impression, severity of illness, scale (CGI-S). No manic/hypomanic symptoms were present as indicated by the Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS). During the course of the illness, the patient had been treated with different combined therapies (Table I) for adequate periods (at least 8 weeks) including different selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (paroxetine up to 40 mg/day, sertraline up to 200 mg/day) and serotonin norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (venlafaxine up to 225 mg/day, duloxetine up to 90 mg/day) combined to mood stabilizers (lithium up to 900 mg/day). The patient's last treatment consisted of bupropion (150 mg/day) plus valproate (500 mg/day, plasma level of 64 μ g/ml), and she had been on this treatment at the above-specified dosages for 3 months - i.e. the duration of the current major depressive episode (MDE) - without any symptom improvement.

The patient was then asked to undergo an investigational treatment with rTMS, conceived as a 3-week open-label stimulation of the RDLPFC at 1 Hz, 110% of the motor threshold. After giving her written informed consent, the patient was stimulated for 15 subsequent work-days, with a single session consisting of five trains of 60 stimuli separated by 1 min of pause, and a total of 300 stimuli per session (4500 stimuli over 3 weeks). During the stimulation period, the patient was maintained on her previous pharmacological treatment at the same dosage of the last 3 months. Before starting the stimulation, a magnetic resonance image (MRI) of patient's brain was obtained and installed on a computer software of Brain Navigation in order to target the stimulation area (RDLPFC) with extreme precision and reliability during the treatment period. In fact, once the Table I. Patient's demographic and clinical features including score reduction in HDRS₂₁, MADRS, CGI-I and YMRS during the acute and maintenance phase of rTMS.

Demographic and clinical variables

Age, 60	
Sex, female	
Marital status, married with 1 daughter	
Occupational status, retired	
Age at onset, 40	
Age at first treatment, 41	
Diagnosis, bipolar disorder type I, rapid cycling (DSM-IV-TR)	;
Mean number of mood episodes/year (depressive during the last 3 years of illness, 4	e and mixed)
Previous pharmacological treatments.	Duration
Clomipramine (150 mg/day) plus lithium (900 mg/day)	48 weeks
Imipramine (200 mg/day) plus lithium (900 mg/day)	30 weeks
Parozetine (40 mg/day) plus lithium	16 weeks
(900 mg/day)	24 1
Sertraline (200 mg/day) plus lithium	24 weeks
(900 mg/day)	0 1
Venlataxine (225 mg/day) plus lithium	8 weeks
(900 mg/day)	10 1
Duloxetine (40 mg/day) plus lithium	10 weeks
(900 mg/day)	
Bupropion (150 mg/day) plus valproate	12 weeks
$(64 \ \mu\text{g/ml})$	
Evaluation scales total scores at baseline,	
$HDRS_{21}$ 19, MADRS 22, YMRS 3	с. 1 с
rTMS	first week of
HDRS ₂₁ 17, MADRS 20, YMRS 4, CGI- improved'	['minimally
Evaluation scales total scores at the end of the s of rTMS	second week
HDRS ₂₁ 14, MADRS 17, YMRS 3, CGI-	I 'modeately
Evaluation scales total scores at the end of the t	hird week of
improved'	very much
Evaluation scales total scores at 6-month follow- maintenance sessions of rTMS	up visit after
HDRS ₂₁ 7, MADRS, 11 YMRS 3, CGI-I improved'	'very much

*Dosages of different pharmacological agents into brackets are referred to full or best tolerated doses.

registration of patient's RDLPFC was performed at baseline, Brain Navigation allowed to stimulate exactly the same area during each session of rTMS.

After recording patient's motor threshold in order to set the intensity of the stimulation, she was treated with 3 weeks of rTMS and her clinical conditions were assessed at the end of each week through CGI-I, HDRS₂₁, MADRS and YMRS. Safety and tolerability were assessed at each session after baseline using spontaneously reported events.

After 3 weeks of stimulation, patient' symptoms were markedly improved as confirmed by a HDRS₂₁

score of 8, a MADRS score of 11 and a CGI-I rating of 'very much improved'. During the stimulation cycle, the patient did not show any manic/hypomanic activation and no side effect but slight headache during the first 3 days. Of clinical interest, the more significant score reduction on rating scales occurred during the third week of treatment (Table I).

At the end of the acute treatment, the patient was asked to continue the stimulation for an additional 6 months with periodic sessions of rTMS every other week (two consecutive sessions every 15 days) at the same parameters of the acute phase. After 6 months of maintenance rTMS, during which no change was made in the pharmacological treatment, the patient maintained the same level of improvement obtained at the end of the acute phase without reporting any side effect, as assessed during the monthly follow-up visits and confirmed by HDRS₂₁ and MADRS scores of 7 and 11 respectively.

Discussion

With regard to the acute phase outcome, some considerations may be put forward in light of the stimulation parameters used. The choice to trial low frequency rTMS was motivated by theoretical reasons such as a lower risk of accidental seizure and a better tolerability (Loo and Mitchell 2005). In terms of stimulation site, it has been pointed out in neuropsychological and imaging studies a contrasting role in mood regulation between right and left hemispheres (Loo and Mitchell 2005), and the hypothesis that the RDLPFC stimulation at low frequency may produce the same antidepressant effect as the left DLPFC stimulation at high frequency is still considered valid. In addition, several studies performed on major depressives have targeted the RDLPFC as stimulation area (e.g., Stern et al. 2007; Tamas et al. 2007). With regard to intensity, studies performed at higher intensities of stimulation, as was done in the present case, were more likely to show positive results (Gershon et al. 2003). Of note, a longer duration of treatment (3 weeks) was used in the acute phase of the present case in comparison to the traditionally reported duration in most acute trials (2 weeks). As a matter of fact, the most significant clinical improvement occurred during the third week of treatment with rTMS in the described case without relevant differences in terms of symptom clusters (e.g., melancholic versus anxiety/somatization items). Some authors, in fact, stressed that a treatment period longer than 2 weeks may be necessary for optimal outcomes. In this perspective, a recent small double-blind, sham-controlled study of slow rTMS in bipolar depressives indicated that 4-week active

stimulation of the RDLPFC produced continued improvement even after the stimulation period (Tamas et al. 2007). It may be speculated that is not only the number of stimuli per session to be relevant for outcome, but the duration of treatment as well, and that a reduced number of stimuli per session within a higher number of sessions may translate into a better efficacy and safety.

With regard to 6-month results, there are few maintenance studies - particularly in bipolar depression - to refer to in order to provide a possible explanation. Recently, two open studies examining the maintenance effect of rTMS in patients with unipolar (O'Reardon et al. 2005) or bipolar depression (Li et al. 2004) reported positive results. However, both studies used different parameters than the present case in term of frequency (high frequency versus low frequency), target area (left DLPFC vs. right DLPFC), number of stimuli per session (1600-2000 vs. 300) and frequency of maintenance sessions (every week versus every other week). Basically, a less aggressive protocol was used in the present case than in Li and O'Reardon' studies. In addition, the described patient presented not only a diagnosis of MDE in bipolar disorder but was also characterized by a high recurrence index with several episodes in her recent clinical history and, in this perspective, the therapeutic gains seem of particular clinical interest. On this basis, it may be speculated that once the response is achieved, this may be maintained with a limited number of maintenance sessions. Finally, in both the acute and maintenance treatment phases of the present case, rTMS was combined to Brain Navigation which might have contributed to treatment efficacy. Nevertheless, the provided hypothesis on the efficacy of rTMS in the acute and maintenance phases of the reported case should be considered speculative given the lack of large double-blind controlled trials on the argument.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest with any commercial or other associations in connection with the submitted article.

References

Burt T, Lisanby SH, Sackeim HA. 2002. Neuropsychiatric applications of transcranial magnetic stimulation: a meta analysis. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 5:73–103.

- Couturier JL. 2005. Efficacy of rapid-rate repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in the treatment of depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Psychiatry Neurosci 30: 83–90.
- Dolberg OT, Dannon PN, Schreiber S, Grunhaus L. 2002. Transcranial magnetic stimulation in patients with bipolar depression: a double blind, controlled study. Bipolar Disord 4(Suppl 1):94–95.
- Gershon AA, Dannon PN, Grunhaus L. 2003. Transcranial magnetic stimulation in the treatment of depression. Am J Psychiatry 160:835–845.
- Holtzheimer PE 3rd, Russo J, Avery DH. 2001. A meta-analysis of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in the treatment of depression. Psychopharmacol Bull 35:149–169.
- Li X, Nahas Z, Anderson B, Kozel FA, George MS. 2004. Can left prefrontal rTMS be used as a maintenance treatment for bipolar depression? Depress Anxiety 20:98–100.
- Loo CK, Mitchell PB. 2005. A review of the efficacy of transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) treatment for depression, and current and future strategies to optimize efficacy. J Affect Disord 88:255–267.

- Martin JL, Barbanoj MJ, Schlaepfer TE, Thompson E, Perez V, Kulisevsky J. 2003. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation for the treatment of depression. Systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 182:480–491.
- Nahas Z, Kozel FA, Li X, Anderson B, George MS. 2003. Left prefrontal transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) treatment of depression in bipolar affective disorder: a pilot study of acute safety and efficacy. Bipolar Disord 5:40–47.
- O'Reardon JP, Blumner KH, Peshek AD, Pradilla RR, Pimiento PC. 2005. Long-term maintenance therapy for major depressive disorder with rTMS. J Clin Psychiatry 66:1524–1528.
- Stern WM, Tormos JM, Press DZ, Pearlman C, Pascual-Leone A. 2007. Antidepressant effects of high and low frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation to the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 19:179–186.
- Tamas RL, Menkes D, El-Mallakh RS. 2007. Stimulating research: A prospective, randomized, double-blind, shamcontrolled study of slow transcranial magnetic stimulation in depressed bipolar patients. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 19:198–199.

VIEWPOINT

A different hypothesis on hyponatremia in psychiatric patients: Treatment implications and experiences

BRANIMIR MARGETIĆ & BRANKA AUKST-MARGETIĆ

Neuropsychiatric Hospital "Dr Ivan Barbot", Popovača, Croatia

Abstract

Polydipsia, chronic or intermittent, with or without hyponatremia, frequently occurs among chronic patients with schizophrenia. The pathogenesis of polydipsia remains poorly understood. The key assumption of our hypothesis is that in some of these patients, polydipsia and hyponatremia are consequences of patients' adjustment to a prolonged intake of an insufficient diet, dominantly poor in potassium. Deficits of potassium, without significant hypokalemia, may cause impairment of the urine-concentrating ability with polyuria-polydipsia. A fall of intracellular tonicity, dominantly due to a decreased amount of K^+ and attendant anions in cells, should be accompanied with a fall of extracellular osmolality. Because of the diminished content of ions that may diffuse out of cells and because osmotic equilibrium between the ECF and ICF compartments cannot be established in a short period of time, these patients have a diminished ability to adapt to an excessive intake of fluids. These mechanisms might be related to the development of polydipsia and water intoxication in patients with different mental and somatic disorders. The experiences with the therapeutic effects of diets containing an sufficient amount of potassium in two patients with schizophrenia are described. Further investigations are needed, and we suggest a possible approach to test our hypotheses.

Key words: Hyponatremia, polydipsia, psychiatric patients, potassium

Introduction

Polydipsia, chronic or intermittent, occurs frequently among chronic psychiatric patients (de Leon et al. 1994). The prevalence is at least 20%, and half of these patients probably develop hyponatremia (de Leon 2003). The majority of psychiatric patients with "primary polydipsia", as sometimes termed polydipsia not explained by medical causes - suffer from schizophrenia (Mercier-Guidez and Loas 2000), although the condition could be associated with alcoholism, mental retardation, affective disorders, organic brain disorders, anorexia and personality disorders. It can be loosely characterized as a progressive process with stages from simple polydipsia with accompanying polyuria to polydipsia with water intoxication and physical complications secondary to ingestion of fluids in large quantities (de Leon et al. 1994). Enuresis, incontinence, bladder dilation, hydronephrosis, renal and congestive heart failure, osteoporosis and associated pathological fractures (Halbreich and Palter 1996) are sometimes consequences of the condition. It may also lead to different symptoms, such as nausea, vomiting, delirium, ataxia, seizures, and sudden death, which are mostly referred to water intoxication and hyponatremia (de Leon et al. 1994).

The pathogenesis of polydipsia remains poorly understood, and similarly its treatment remains a clinical challenge. Polydipsia is still commonly considered a side effect of antipsychotic treatment (Jessani et al. 2006), because the prolonged D2 blockade might have influence on drinking behaviour (Meerabux et al. 2005). On the other hand, polydipsia was first recognized in patients with schizophrenia in the 1930s (Illowsky and Kirch 1988), and it is estimated that the frequency has changed little over the years.

Among the possible causes of hyponatremia is the syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone

(Received 4 April 2008; accepted 19 August 2008)



Articles published in the Viewpoint section of this Journal may not meet the strict editorial and scientific standards that are applied to major articles in The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry. In addition, the viewpoints expressed in these articles do not necessarily represent those of the Editors or the Editorial Board.

Correspondence: Branimir Margetić, Neuropsychiatric Hospital "Dr. Ivan Barbot", Jelengradska 1, 44317 Popovača, Croatia. Fax: +38 5446 79005. E-mail: branimir.margetic@zg.t-com.hr

secretion (SIADH), when patients secrete abnormally high levels of the antidiuretic hormone (arginine vasopressin, AVP) relative to plasma osmolality, resulting in inappropriate free-water retention and a fall in serum Na⁺ concentration. Although it has been reported that patients with schizophrenia on antipsychotic medications have lower plasma levels of AVP than volunteers, it has been also reported that these patients have, for a level of plasma osmolality, increased levels of AVP (Goldman et al. 1988) and that in these patients AVP is secreted even when the plasma osmolality falls below the limit of 270 mOsm/kg (Malidelis et al. 2005). Furthermore, the roles of other hormones associated in osmoregulation, such as angiotensin II and atrial natriuretic peptide, remain ambiguous (Verghese et al. 1998) or completely uninvestigated (e.g., aldosterone).

However, psychiatric patients with polydipsia usually have euvolemic hyponatremia. They generally have no oedema, hypertension, hypocalcaemia or hypokalemia. The question is: why is "sodium diluted" and other elements in the blood are not diluted? In other words, the condition cannot be explained solely on a dilutional basis, and in such circumstances alternative explanations are needful (Verbalis 2006).

Basic postulations

Hyponatremia might be associated with malnutrition (Cawley 2007) or a changed diet (Adrogué and Madias 2000). Because of different reasons psychiatric patients often have insufficient nutrition. However, the possible importance of malnutrition in the development of hyponatremia in these patients has not yet been investigated. Importantly, hyponatremia is often intermittent, even in patients who are administered a stable medication regime for certain a period of time, without obvious stress and without changes in smoking habit. Thus, our hypothesis is that in some of these patients the condition might be related to diet, and that changes of diet may have a therapeutic effect.

Differences in concentrations of anions and cations in extracellular (ECF) and intracellular (ICF) compartments depend on different factors such as selective permeability of the cell membrane, the presence of proteins and other large anions and the functioning of the sodium–potassium exchange pump. These factors are responsible for the resting membrane potential (Seeley et al. 1992). It is necessary that osmotic equilibrium is established between the ECF and ICF. Although many substances in body fluids have some influences, intracellular osmolality primarily depends on potassium (K⁺) ions and organic solutes other than urea, whereas the extracellular osmolality primarily depends on the sodium ions level (Na⁺) plus its attendant anions, chloride and bicarbonate. Plasma sodium levels depend on the concentration of other ions and organic solutes in a complex way. Complex equations on that issue exist (Nguyen and Kurtz 2004). Basically, a fall in ECF tonicity causes water to move into cells, expanding the ICF volume. The preservation of cell volume is possible, but cells must lose K⁺ ions plus an anion and/or lower their content of organic solutes (Edoute et al. 2003). However, we have postulated that the opposite process may be an explanation. If a patient has an insufficient diet, poor with potassium, then a fall of intracellular tonicity (dominantly due to a decreased amount of K^+ and attendant anions in cells) should be accompanied with a similar fall of extracellular osmolality. In fact, a fall of extracellular osmolality would be dominantly accomplished with the loss of sodium, but also with relatively increased activity of AVP. In such circumstances, levels of urine sodium should be increased (Figure 1). Thus, the key assumption of our hypothesis is that in these patients, polydipsia and hyponatremia are consequences of patients' adjustment to a prolonged intake of an insufficient diet, dominantly poor with potassium, and that normal levels of plasma potassium do not mean that there are no deficits of that ion in the organisms. We certainly do not neglect the importance of drugs, other ions or proteins, possible genetic influences, or changes of hormonal and renal function, on the contrary.

Furthermore, we have postulated that if there is a chronic deficit of K⁺ in a polydipsic patient a diminished content of different anions and anionic proteins should exist in ICF. The result of such a diminished content of anions in ICF might be that, during the excessive intake of fluids, the cell has diminished possibilities to lose anions. Depending on the possibility of molecules to diffuse, a relatively fast fall in the concentration of anions that may diffuse should be expected. In ICF, the proportions of anions that may and may not diffuse would be changed more than in a normal person after taking liquids. The results are that an osmotic equilibrium between the ECF and ICF compartments cannot be established in a short period of time without the development of oedema, simply because days are needed for slow adaptation - the diminishing of the content of anions that may not diffuse. In such circumstances a rapid fall of plasma Na⁺ levels should be expected too. The increased electrical gradient would cause some Na⁺ to diffuse in the cell. However, because of its increased concentration gradient, some of K⁺ would diffuse out the cell. That is perhaps a reason why the hypokalemia would



Figure 1. stability of the cell's volume and the electric activity. The ellipse represents the cell membrane in the imaginary situations. The normal situation is shown on the left, and the situation of chronic euvolemic hyponatremia is shown on the right. The most effective osmoles in the ECF and ICF compartment are shown. The volume of the cell in both situations is the same. (A) Postulations on osmotic equilibrium. The important deficit of K^+ (on the right) is accompanied with a decreased content of attendant anions, and the consequence is the decreased osmolality in ICF. The constant cell volume is an imperative task closely related to the maintaining of osmotic equilibrium. An organism would achieve that task dominantly by the extrusion of Na⁺ and attendant anions. (B) Postulations on membrane potentials. Although the creation of resting membrane and action potentials depend on the intra- and extracellular concentrations of different ions, they primarily depend on potassium and sodium concentrations on both sides of cell membrane. The resting membrane is more permeable to K⁺ than to the other ions, and this permeability is the dominant source of the resting potentials. That is why the equilibrium (or the Nernst potential) for K⁺ (when the K⁺ influx = K⁺ efflux), calculated by the Nernst equation for body temperature of 37° C (E = -61 mV × log [K⁺]_{i/}[K⁺]_e), is rather similar to the resting membrane potential. In both the presented imaginary situations the Nernst potential for K⁺ is practically the same, -94mV (inside of cell). The development of action potentials, when the cells' membranes become highly permeable to Na⁺ in both of the presented situations is +61 mV. Therefore, it seems possible that important changes of osmolality and ions concentrations are not necessarily accompanied by important changes in the cell's electrical activity.

be observed less often in more serious cases. Thus, the conclusion might be that these patients have expressly diminished possibilities of being able to adapt to the excessive intake of fluids.

Some previous observations are worth mentioning.

Earlier studies have shown that K⁺ deprivation induced polyuria and impairment of the urineconcentrating ability in humans and experimental animals. Results from the animal study by Amlal et al. (2000) have shown that a K^+ deprivation induced urinary-concentrating defects as early as 12 h of K^+ deprivation and that the syndrome of polyuria-polydipsia follows after 24 h of K⁺ restriction. Rats from the same study fed a K⁺-free diet developed significant hypokalemia at 6 days. Importantly, these results suggest that a deficit of potassium in the organism is sufficient to cause polyuria-polydipsia, even without obvious hypokalemia (Amlal et al. 2000). Furthermore, it has been reported that in hyponatremic patients, K⁺ administration increased sodium levels (Nguyen and Kurtz 2004), and that in food-deprived goats with hyponatremia additional supplementation with KCl may maintain their plasma concentration of sodium (Holtenius 1990).

In case reports on hyponatremia induced by different psychotropic medications, only rarely has

the diet been mentioned. Miehle et al. (2005) have reported the case of SIADH with hypokalemia in an elderly patient associated with the use of citalopram and, importantly, with reduced food intake for 5 days. Are similar cases the consequences of drugs' impact on hormonal or renal functions, or associated with nausea and decreased food intake? Either way, older age is a risk factor for the development of hyponatremia (Adrogué and Madias 2000), and also for the development of hyponatremia associated with the use of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) (Bouman et al. 1998), and people from that population often have inadequate diet (Lee and Frongillo 2001).

Experiences

We followed the importance of potassium-rich food in two male hyponatremic, otherwise healthy, patients with chronic schizophrenia who had no delusions related to fluid intake. The patients were receiving treatment with conventional antipsychotics (haloperidol, fluphenazine, promazine), and it is considered that such treatment has little if any influence on curbing polydipsia (Goldman and Hussain 2004). Both patients smoke a pack of cigarettes daily (with no obvious changes of that habit during a prolonged period), and the second patient was treated with biperiden. These factors might be linked to an exaggeration of the condition (Goldman and Hussain 2004). No other drugs that may cause polydipsia and/or hyponatremia (e.g., lithium, carbamazepine, diuretics or antihypertensive drugs) were used. Doses of all drugs were stable, the patients were not exposed to obvious stress, forced water restriction was not used, and smoking was not restricted during the follow-up. Therefore, the only important change during that period was the change of diet. Because these patients sometimes do not eat, their food intakes were supervised. They had daily caloric intakes between 2200 and 2500 kcal, and at least 1000 kcal was in the form of food rich in potassium (e.g., meat, fish, bananas, tomato soup). In the first patient with hyponatremia (at 07:00 Na 127 mmol/l; K 3.8 mmol/l; at 17:00 Na 128 mmol/l, K 4.1 mmol/l, and diurnal weight gain of 6.1%), stabilization was recorded after 2 weeks (at 07:00 Na 136 mmol/l, K 5.0 mmol/l; at 17:00 Na 138 mmol/l, K 4.9 mmol/l, and diurnal weight gain of 1.3%) and after 5 weeks (at 07:00 Na 144 mmol/l, K 4.5 mmol/l; at 17:00 Na 141 mmol/l, K 4.5 mmol/ l, and diurnal weight gain of 1.26%). In the second patient with hyponatremia (at 07:00 Na 139 mmol/l, K 3.8 mmol/l; at 17:00 Na 130 mmol/l, K 4.6 mmol/ l, and diurnal weight gain of 4.5%) stabilization was recorded after 1 week (at 07:00 Na 141 mmol/l, K 5.1 mmol/l; at 17:00 Na 136 mmol/l, K 4.3 mmol/l, and diurnal weight gain of 1.5%). Diurnal weight gains were monitored because they often significantly correlate with urine excretion (Vieweg et al. 1991).

Remarks and questions

In patients with hyponatremia, normal plasma potassium levels do not mean that patients have no deficits of that ion in the body. The authors of recently published articles on the treatment of acute or chronic hypotonic hyponatremia have mentioned different approaches, have mentioned the formulas for calculating the needed quantities of Na⁺, but have not mentioned potassium or food (Costanzo et al. 2004; Douglas 2006; Parenti et al. 2007), except if hypokalemia is present (Adrogue and Madias 2000). Basically, the treatments are concentrated on "visible" changes in ECF. The possibility that the key changes in ICF only have to be accompanied with the changes in ECF is rather neglected in usual clinical practice.

One may expect decreased urinary excretion of K^+ in these patients. These patients probably have relatively lower potassium excretion than patients without it or normal persons. However, potassium excretion is under the control of aldosterone, and

aldosterone activity depends on plasma potassium levels. Therefore, patients with polydipsia-hyponatremia usually have no hypokalemia, and most probably have urinary K^+ excretion in normal but broad ranges, 25–125 mmol in 24 h.

The question is why hypokalemia is not ubiquitous but rather uncommonly present if the patient's intake of potassium is lower than is necessary? Healthy persons or animals on a diet without potassium would have a normal urinary excretion of potassium during the next few days, and after that initial period a decrease of plasma potassium levels and a decrease of urinary excretion would be developed. The prolongation of such a test would cause the death of an organism. However, according to our hypothesis, the process of the development of hyponatremia is rather different. We assume that these patients have lower contents of potassium in their diet during prolonged periods of time, and that these contents are insufficient to achieve normal cell tonicity, but are compatible with life. Indeed, the main questions which we would like to address to physiologists are the following: can a certain quantity of potassium in food be sufficient for survival, but insufficient for normal functioning, and how would an organism adapt to such changes of potassium intake?

One may ask, if potassium has the key role, why KCl was not used during follow-up? Here, it should not be forgotten that the diminished content of K^+ in ICF must be accompanied by a diminished content of different anions, which are dominantly organic molecules. In other words, if we want to treat "visible" hyponatremia in these patients, we should normalize K^+ concentrations in ICF. The normalization of K^+ concentrations in ICF should be accompanied by the normalization of contents of organic anions (e.g., re-synthesis of anionic proteins). Thus, in our opinion, the stable therapeutic effects of different ingredients of food with a sufficient amount of potassium would be more certain than treatment with KCl.

Unfortunately we had no capacity to use more sophisticated laboratories, or to test our hypothesis in more patients while taking standardized meals. However, we are absolutely aware that this mechanism can probably explain the development of polydipsia-hyponatremia only in a certain population of patients. In some patients the condition is clearly associated with delusions (e.g., "... I drink a lot, because I have to wash my dirty intestines ..."), in others with the use of certain drugs (e.g., carbamazepine, different antidepressives) (Holtschmidt-Täschner and Soyka 2007; Koelkebeck et al. in press). Yet our hypothesis gives rise to many general and specific "psychiatric", questions. For example, can a decreased food intake, and especially intake of potassium, be an important factor in the development of hyponatremia regardless of the primary diagnosis (e.g., in elderly, on intensive care units, after surgery, in patients with tumours, in psychiatric patients)? Can we prevent or improve the treatment of hyponatremia with food rich in potassium? Can we expect a stable therapeutic effect without a normalization of the contents in ICF? In frames of psychiatric care, it has been reported that the intensity of polydipsia and hyponatremia is significantly related to hospitalization length (Schnur et al. 1997). Does that mean that the menus of these patients may influence the outcomes? If yes, that fact most probably would not only be related to some psychiatric patients.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors report no financial affiliations or other relationships relevant to the subject of this manuscript

- Adrogué HJ, Madias NE. 2000. Hyponatremia. New Engl J Med 342:1581–1589.
- Amlal H, Krane CM, Chen Q, Soleimani M. 2000. Early polyuria and urinary concentrating defect in potassium deprivation. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 279:F655–663.
- Bouman WP, Pinner G, Johnson H. 1998. Incidence of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) induced hyponatraemia due to the syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone (SIADH) secretion in the elderly. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 13:12–15.
- Cawley MJ. 2007. Hyponatremia: Current treatment strategies and the role of vasopressin antagonists. Ann Pharmacother 41:840–850.
- Costanzo ES, Antes LM, Christensen AJ. 2004. Behavioral and medical treatment of chronic polydipsia in a patient with schizophrenia and diabetes insipidus. Psychosom Med 66: 283–286.
- de Leon J. 2003. Polydipsia a study in a long-term psychiatric unit. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 253:37–39.
- de Leon J, Verghese C, Tracy J, Josiassen R, Simpson GM. 1994. Polydipsia and water intoxication in psychiatric patients: a review of the epidemiological literature. Biol Psychiatry 35: 408–419.
- Douglas I. 2006. Hyponatremia: Why it matters, how it presents. how we can manage it Cleve Clin J Med 73(Suppl 3):S4–12.
- Edoute Y, Davids MR, Johnston C, Halperin ML. 2003. An integrative physiological approach to polyuria and hyponatraemia: a 'double-take' on the diagnosis and therapy in a patient with schizophrenia. Q J Med 96:531–540.

- Goldman MB, Hussain N. 2004. Absence of effect of olanzapine on primary polydipsia: results of a double-blind, randomized study. J Clin Psychopharmacol 24:678–680.
- Goldman MB, Luchins DJ, Robertson GL. 1988. Mechanisms of altered water metabolism in psychotic patients with polydipsia and hyponatremia. New Engl J Med 318:397–403.
- Halbreich U, Palter S. 1996. Accelerated osteoporosis in psychiatric patients: possible pathophysiological processes. Schizophr Bull 22:447–454.
- Holtenius K. 1990. Plasma electrolyte concentration in fooddeprived goats orally upplemented with potassium chloride. Br J Nutr 64:211–218.
- Holtschmidt-Täschner B, Soyka M. 2007. Hyponatremia-induced seizure during carbamazepine treatment. World J Biol Psychiatry 8:51–53.
- Illowsky BP, Kirch DG. 1988. Polydipsia and hyponatremia in psychiatric patients. Am J Psychiatry 145:675–683.
- Jessani M, Montgomery J, Fedde JD, Josiassen RC. 2006. Lack of association between antipsychotics and hyponatremia in chronic schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 83:307–309.
- Koelkebeck K, Domschke K, Zwanzger P, Hetzel G, Lang D, Arolt V. 2008. A case of non-SIADH-induced hyponatremia in depression after treatment with reboxetine. World J Biol Psychiatry. Epub ahead of print
- Lee JS, Frongillo EA Jr. 2001. Nutritional and health consequences are associated with food insecurity among U.S. elderly persons. J Nutr 131:1503–1509.
- Malidelis YI, Panayotacopoulou MT, van Heerikhuize JJ, Unmehopa UA, Kontostavlaki DP, Swaab DF. 2005. Absence of a difference in the neurosecretory activity of supraoptic nucleus vasopressin neurons of neuroleptic-treated schizophrenic patients. Neuroendocrinology 82:63–69.
- Meerabux J, Iwayama Y, Sakurai T, Ohba H, Toyota T, Yamada K, et al. 2005. Association of an orexin 1 receptor 408Val variant with polydipsia-hyponatremia in schizophrenic subjects. Biol Psychiatry 58:401–407.
- Mercier-Guidez E, Loas G. 2000. Polydipsia and water intoxication in 353 psychiatric inpatients: an epidemiological and psychopathological study. Eur Psychiatry 15:306–311.
- Miehle K, Paschke R, Koch CA. 2005. Citalopram therapy as a risk factor for symptomatic hyponatremia caused by the syndrome of inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone (SIADH): a case report. Pharmacopsychiatry 38:181–182.
- Nguyen MK, Kurtz I. 2004. New insights into the pathophysiology of the dysnatremias: a quantitative analysis. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 287:F172–180.
- Parenti G, Ricca V, Zogheri A, Serio M, Mannelli M, Peri A. 2007. A case of hyponatremia caused by central hypocortisolism. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab 3:369–375.
- Schnur DB, Frick S, Smith S. 1997. Temporal stability of polydipsia-hyponatremia. Schizophr Res 26:199–202.
- Seeley RR, Stephens TD, Tate P. 1992. Mebrane potentials. In: Anatomy and physiology. 2nd ed. St Louis, MO: Mosby Year Book, Inc. p 252–269.
- Verbalis JG. 2006. Whole-body volume regulation and escape from antidiuresis. Am J Med. 119(7 Suppl 1):S21–29.
- Verghese C, Abraham G, Nair C, Stanilla JK, de Leon J, Phillips MI, et al. 1998. Absence of changes in antidiuretic hormone, angiotensin II, and atrial natriuretic peptide with clozapine treatment of polydipsia-hyponatremia: 2 case reports. J Clin Psychiatry 59:415–419.
- Vieweg WV, Godleski LS, Graham P, Barber J, Kellogg E, Glick J, et al. 1991. The link between fluid intake and weight gain in psychosis. Psychosomatics 32:52–57.

VIEWPOINT

Trazodone generates m-CPP: In 2008 risks from m-CPP might outweigh benefits of trazodone

RICHARD E. KAST

Department of Psychiatry, University of Vermont, Burlington, VY, USA

Abstract

Since deleterious effects of *m*-CPP, the primary catabolic metabolite of trazodone, were last reviewed 2 years ago, research data continue to accrue showing that clinically significant levels of *m*-CPP (a) are generated in patients using trazodone for sleep and (b) are present 24 h a day and (c) have potentially serious ill effects. This commentary argues that the documented potential for harm and multiple risks of *m*-CPP outweigh potential benefits of trazodone, given the development and marketing of many safer alternatives since trazodone's introduction in the 1980s.

Key words: Anxiety, fibrosis, inflammation, m-CPP, trazodone

Introduction

In 2008 trazodone is still commonly recommended as an antidepressant (Quaseem et al. 2008) and sleep aid (Flannagan et al. 2007; Roth 2008). Its current clinical use is mainly as sleep aid. This commentary reviews recent data leading to a conclusion that continued trazodone use should be re-considered and curtailed. Trazodone's primary metabolic catabolite is *m*-clorophenylpiperazine, *m*-CPP. A previous review (Kast 2007) concluded that *m*-CPP risks might not be worth the benefits of trazodone, this update now concludes the same. Wider awareness of the large database that continues to accrue, showing potential harm of *m*-CPP, is important.

Known by various trade names (Desyrel, Molipaxin, Trittico, Thombran and Trialodine) trazodone is cheap, available generically, and relatively safe in single-drug overdose. The central problem of trazodone is its hepatic catabolism by CYP3A4 to m-CPP, as shown in Figure 1. Basic pharmacological and pharmacokinetic properties of m-CPP are listed in Table I.

m-CPP is generated also from the trazodonerelated antidepressant nefazodone (Barbhaiya et al. 1996). Nefazodone was withdrawn from the market in most countries in 1996 due to hepatotoxicity.

Initial, middle, or late insomnia are core features of depression. The selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, SSRIs, though comprising the mainstay of current treatment of depression can fragment sleep further even when they are effective in alleviating the mood disorder (Pandi-Perumal et al. 2008). In current clinical practice, trazodone, as a sleepenhancing antidepressant, is often added to counter or correct SSRI induced sleep fragmentation.

High and clinically significant daytime *m*-CPP levels (about 100 ng/ml or a tenth of plasma trazodone levels) continue to be documented during in normal humans taking a common trazodone dose for sleep, 150 mg once at bedtime (Mercolini et al. 2008). This is comparable to levels attained when anxiety or panic attacks are provoked by i.v. *m*-CPP in studies with normal human volunteers (Van Veen et al. 2007).

An odd street drug-of-abuse

m-CPP is becoming a street drug-of-abuse. Some patients report pleasant or desirable feelings after

(Received 10 November 2008; accepted 6 February 2009)

Articles published in the Viewpoint section of this Journal may not meet the strict editorial and scientific standards that are applied to major articles in The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry. In addition, the viewpoints expressed in these articles do not necessarily represent those of the Editors or the Editorial Board.

Correspondence: Richard E. Kast, MD, Department of Psychiatry, University of Vermont, 2 Church Street, Burlington, VT 05401 USA. Tel: +1 802 863 2462. E-mail: rekast@email.com



Figure 1. Chemical structures of trazodone and m-CPP.

ingesting street *m*-CPP but most people report headaches, anxiety, panic, confusion, and depressed mood (Kovaleva et al. 2008). Patients presenting with acute *m*-CPP ingestion often report dysphoria and show great distress without being able to further specify or add detail. A similar clinical picture is often obtained after research administration of *m*-CPP to young healthy human volunteers (Gijsman et al. 1998; Feuchtl et al. 2004).

Street *m*-CPP tablets, sold as "LSD", "ecstasy", "dumpers", "rainbows", and other names, are usually characteristically multicolored tablets containing 20-40 mg m-CPP with unknown contaminants and excipients. A common patient dose is several of these. Expected *m*-CPP blood levels from street ingestion is unknown. Research volunteers with prior experience of the real street drug ecstasy (3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine, MDMA) report that *m*-CPP in doses from 17.5 to 52.5 mg/ 70 kg produced MDMA-like stimulant and hallucinogenic effect (Johanson et al. 2006). m-CPP is appearing as an adulterant in cocaine and other street drugs-of-abuse (Staack et al. 2007; Kovaleva et al. 2008).

m-CPP stimulates 5-HT2B and 5-HT2C receptors

m-CPP as potent and clinically relevant agonist at 5-HT2B and 5-HT2C receptors was reviewed previously (Kast 2007). Agonism at 5-HT2B or 5-HT2C is expected to be destructive psychiatrically and somatically. Additional observations since 2006 confirm and extend that data:

- (a) *m*-CPP agonism at 5-HT2B and 5-HT2C receptors was shown to be either anxiolytic or anxiogenic, depending on specific brain location of *m*-CPP infusion in mice (Nunesde-Souza et al. 2008).
- (b) It is the 5-HT2B agonism by pergolide in humans treated for parkinsonism that generates and is the direct cause of tricuspid and mitral valve fibrosis in a fifth of those so treated (Junghanns et al. 2007; Görnemann et al. 2008). Several hundred percent increased risk of clinically significant cardiac valve fibrosis after pergolide was seen (Schade et al. 2007), leading to pergolide's withdrawal from the US market. It is not unreasonable to suspect similar pro-fibrosis *m*-CPP mediated consequences of trazodone use.
- (c) 5-HT2B receptor density on pulmonary artery endothelium is increased in pulmonary hypertension. Stimulation of 5-HT2B receptors is crucial for the associated pulmonary artery fibrosis (Launay et al. 2002). A long history associates fibrosis of liver, lung, cardiac valves, and retroperitoneal space with 5-HT2B agonism (Ruddell et al. 2006; Kast et al. 2007).
- (d) 5-HT2C agonists stimulate neurons in the suprachiasmatic nucleus, generating a lightmimetic effect, further disrupting day-night cycles (Varcoe et al. 2008).

Table I. Some basic pharmacology and pharmacokinetics of *m*-CPP. "Tobacco" is underlined as a strong CYP 3A4 inducer only because of its ubiquity.

$T_{1/2}$	3-6 h
T_{\max}	Wide inter-individual variation (h)
C_{\max}	Unknown
Generated by	Hepatic metabolism of trazodone or nefazodone by CYP3A4
Catabolism	By CYP 2D6 to inactive hydroxy-m-CPP (renal excretion)
Some common, strong, hepatic CYP3A4 inhibitors	Indinavir, nelfinavir, ritonavir, clarithromycin, itraconazole,
	ketoconazole, nefazodone, saquinavir, telithromycin
Some common hepatic CYP3A4 inducers	Efvirenz, nevirapine, barbituates, carbamazapine, modafinil, pioglitazone, troglitazone, tobacco, rifabutin, phenytoin
Average daytime plasma concentration after bedtime dose of 150 mg trazodone	100 ng/ml

m-CPP as anxiogen

m-CPP is a potent anxiogen in humans and rodents, as previously reviewed (Kast 2007). Empirical data supporting the anxiogenic nature of trazodone and m-CPP continues to accrue:

- (a) A 6-week comparison of trazodone to sertraline found both similarly separated from placebo in lowering depression, but anxiety burden was higher in the trazodone group (Munizza et al. 2006). The occasional patient will have an intolerable anxiety response to trazodone (Munizza et al. 2006).
- (b) Concordant rodent studies show anxiogenic properties of *m*-CPP and anxiolytic properties of other experimental selective 5-HT2C antagonists (Bagdy et al. 2001; Harada et al. 2006).
- (c) De novo appearance of psychycotic signs and symptoms is rarely noted after trazodone use (Mizoguchi et al. 2005).
- (d) Studies into the nature of anxiety and panic continue to use i.v. *m*-CPP to generate signs and symptoms of these disorders in normal human volunteers (Van Veen et al. 2007; Bagady et al. 2002). *m*-CPP levels in these studies (40-100 ng/ml (Van Veen et al. 2007; Bagady et al. 2002)) are comparable to those seen in patients treated for insomnia with trazodone (10 ng/ml m-CPP after a single 100 mg trazodone dose in healthy volunteers (Patel et al. 2008), 100 ng/ml in patients treated chronically with 150 mg trazodone at bedtime (Mercolini et al. 2008)). It cannot be excluded that in anxiety generation slope of *m*-CPP concentration change is important as well as actual serum level.

Additional m-CPP toxicities

Dose-proportional memory impairment is seen in rats given m-CPP (Khaliq et al. 2008). We should worry about similar decrements in humans until formal study can allay such fears.

5-HT2B agonism in a neuroectodermal cell line was shown to result in increased TACE, tumour necrosis factor-alpha converting enzyme (Schneider et al. 2006). TACE is responsible for conversion of outer cell membrane-bound TNF-alpha to soluble, circulating, TNF-alpha. Increased soluble TNF was demonstrated after 5-HT2B agonists (Schneider et al. 2006). If this were to occur in humans, unfortunate pro-inflammatory and fibrogenic consequences can be expected.

Post-mortem study of brain tissue of depressed patients shows evidence of oxidative stress (Michel

et al. 2008). We have several lines of evidence that trazodone might increase this brain oxidative stress. Mice exposed to 4 h of stress by watching, hearing, and proximity to cagemates exposed to unpleasant foot electric shocks, similar to depressed patients in the post-mortem study above showed increased brain lipid peroxidation products even though they themselves received no shocks or any noxious stimuli other than proximity to suffering cagemates (Matsumoto et al 1999). Adding m-CPP to these stressed mice potentiated increases in lipid peroxidation products (Matsumoto et al 1999). Concordant with these findings are in vitro evidence of oxidative stress from nefazodone and trazodone by mitochondrial potential collapse and glutathione depletion (Dykens et al 2008).

Conclusion

The outlined deleterious effects of trazodone's primary metabolite *m*-CPP probably make trazodone's ongoing use generally inadvisable. Safer alternatives exist for depression and insomnia treatment.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

None.

- Bagdy G, Graf M, Anheuer ZE, Modos EA, Kantor S. 2001. Anxiety-like effects induced by acute fluoxetine, sertraline or m-CPP treatment are reversed by pretreatment with the 5-HT2C receptor antagonist SB-242084 but not the 5-HT1A receptor antagonist WAY-100635. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 4:399–408.
- Barbhaiya RH, Buch AB, Greene DS. 1996. Single and multiple dose pharmacokinetics of nefazodone in subjects classified as extensive and poor metabolizers of dextromethorphan. Br J Clin Pharmacol 42(5):573–581.
- Dykens JA, Jamieson JD, Marroquin LD, Nadanaciva S, Xu JJ, Dunn MC, et al. 2008. In vitro assessment of mitochondrial dysfunction and cytotoxicity of nefazodone, trazodone, and buspirone. Toxicol Sci 103(2):335–45.
- Feuchtl A, Bagli M, Stephan R, Frahnert C, Kölsch H, Kühn KU, et al. 2004. Pharmacokinetics of m-chlorophenylpiperazine after intravenous and oraladministration in healthy male volunteers: implication for the pharmacodynamic profile. Pharmacopsychiatry 37:180–188.
- Flanagan SR, Greenwald B, Wieber S. 2007. Pharmacological treatment of insomnia for individuals with brain injury. J Head Trauma Rehabil 22(1):67–70.
- Gijsman HJ, Van Gerven JM, Tieleman MC, Schoemaker RC, Pieters MS, Ferrari MD, et al. 1998. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic profile of oral and intravenous meta -chlorophenylpiperazine in healthy volunteers. J Clin Psychopharmacol 18:289–295.

- Görnemann T, Hübner H, Gmeiner P, Horowski R, Latté KP, Flieger M, et al. 2008. Characterization of the molecular fragment that is responsible for agonism of pergolide at serotonin 5-hydroxytryptamine 2B and 5-hydroxytryptamine 2A receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 324:1136–1145.
- Harada K, Aota M, Inoue T, Matsuda R, Mihara T, Yamaji T, et al. 2006. Anxiolytic activity of a novel potent serotonin 5-HT2C receptor antagonist FR260010: a comparison with diazepam and buspirone. Eur J Pharmacol 553:171–184.
- Johanson CE, Kilbey M, Gatchalian K, Tancer M. 2006. Discriminative stimulus effects of 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA) in humans trained to discriminate among *d*-amphetamine, *m*-chlorophenylpiperazine and placebo. Drug Alcohol Depend 81:27–36.
- Junghanns S, Fuhrmann JT, Simonis G, Oelwein C, Koch R, Strasser RH, et al. 2007. Valvular heart disease in Parkinson's disease patients treated with dopamine agonists: a readerblinded monocenter echocardiography study. Mov Disord 22:234–8.
- Kast RE. 2007. Are we done with trazodone? The potential for damage by mCPP a metabolite of trazodone. Acta Neuropsychiatr 19:220–221.
- Kast RE, Altschuler EL. 2007. Dopamine agonists and valvular heart disease. New Engl J Med 356:1677.
- Khaliq S, Irfan B, Haider S, Haleem DJ. 2008. m-CPP induced hypolocomotion does not interfere in the assessment of memory functions in rats. Pak J Pharm Sci 21:139–143.
- Kovaleva J, Devuyst E, De Paepe P, Verstraete A. 2008. Acutechlorophenylpiperazine overdose: a case report and review of the literature. Ther Drug Monit 30:394–398.
- Launay JM, Hervé P, Peoc'h K, Tournois C, Callebert J, Nebigil CG, et al. 2002. Function of the serotonin 5-hydroxytryptamine 2B receptor in pulmonary hypertension. Nat Med 8(10):1129–1135.
- Matsumoto K, Yobimoto K, Huong NT, Abdel-Fattah M, Van Hien T, Watanabe H. 1999. Psychological stress-induced enhancement of brain lipid peroxidation via nitric oxide systems and its modulation by anxiolytic and anxiogenic drugs in mice. Brain Res 839(1):74–84.
- Mercolini L, Colliva C, Amore M, Fanali S, Raggi MA. 2008. HPLC analysis of the antidepressant trazodone and its main metabolite m-CPP in human plasma. J Pharm Biomed Anal 47:882–887.
- Michel TM, Camara S, Tatschner T, Frangou S, Sheldrick AJ, Riederer P, et al. 2008. Increased xanthine oxidase in the thalamus and putamen in depression. World J Biol Psychiatry 12:1–7.
- Mizoguchi Y, Monji A. 2005. Low-dose-trazodone-induced disorganized type psychosis. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 17:253–254.

- Munizza C, Olivieri L, Di Loreto G, Dionisio P. 2006. A comparative, randomized, double-blind study of trazodone prolonged-release and sertraline in the treatment of major depressive disorder. Curr Med Res Opin 22:1703–1713.
- Nunes-de-Souza V, Nunes-de-Souza RL, Rodgers RJ, Canto-de-Souza A. 2008. 5-HT2 receptor activation in the midbrain periaqueductal grey (PAG) reduces anxiety-like behaviour in mice. Behav Brain Res 187:72–79.
- Pandi-Perumal SR, Trakht I, Srinivasan V, Spence DW, Poeggeler B, Hardeland R, et al. 2008. The effect of melatonergic and non-melatonergic antidepressants on sleep: weighing the alternatives. World J Biol Psychiatry 4:1–13 [Epub ahead of print].
- Patel BN, Sharma N, Sanyal M, Shrivastav PS. 2008. High throughput and sensitive determination of trazodone and its primary metabolite, m-chlorophenylpiperazine, in human plasma by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr B Anal Technol Biomed Life Sci 871(1):44–54.
- Qaseem A, Snow V, Denberg TD, Forciea MA, Owens DK. 2008. Clinical Efficacy Assessment Subcommittee of American College of Physicians. Using second-generation antidepressants to treat depressive disorders: a clinical practice guideline from the American College of Physicians. Ann Intern Med 149(10):725–733.
- Roth T. 2009. Hypnotic use for insomnia management in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Sleep Med 10(1):19–25.
- Ruddell RG, Oakley F, Hussain Z, Yeung I, Bryan-Lluka LJ, Ramm GA. 2006. A role for serotonin (5-HT) in hepatic stellate cell function and liver fibrosis. Am J Pathol 169:861– 876.
- Schade R, Andersohn F, Suissa S, Haverkamp W, Garbe E. 2007. Dopamine agonists and the risk of cardiac-valve regurgitation. New Engl J Med 356:29–38.
- Schneider B, Pietri M, Mouillet-Richard S, Ermonval M, Mutel V, Launay JM, et al. 2006. Control of bioamine metabolism by 5-HT2B and alpha 1D autoreceptors through reactive oxygen species and tumor necrosis factor-alpha signaling in neuronal cells. Ann NY Acad Sci 1091:123–141.
- Staack RF, Paul LD, Schmid D, Roider G, Rolf B. 2007. Proof of a 1-(3-chlorophenyl)piperazine (mCPP) intake: use as adulterant of cocaine resulting in drug-drug interactions? J Chromatogr B Anal Technol Biomed Life Sci 855:127–133.
- Varcoe TJ, Kennaway DJ. 2008. Activation of 5-HT2C receptors acutely induces Per1 gene expression in the rat SCN in vitro. Brain Res 1209:19–28.
- Van Veen JF, Van der Wee NJ, Fiselier J, Van Vliet IM, Westenberg HG. 2007. Behavioural effects of rapid intravenous administration of meta-chlorophenylpiperazine (m-CPP) in patients with generalized social anxiety disorder, panic disorder and healthy controls. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 17(10):637–642.



LETTER TO THE EDITOR

Ashwagandha for anxiety disorders

CHITTARANJAN ANDRADE

Department of Psychopharmacology, National Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences, Bangalore, India

Key words: Ashwagandha, Withania somnifera, anxiety, treatment

Sir,

In their extensive review and treatment guideline, Bandelow et al. (2008) described various pharmacological interventions for the management of anxiety disorders. They listed Ginkgo biloba and kava kava among the herbal preparations that have been studied. However, they did not refer to an important herb, Ashwagandha (ASW), which has for long been used in traditional medicine to treat disorders related to stress (Handa 1995; Satyavati 1995).

ASW is obtained from the root of the plant *Withania somnifera*. The plant grows wild but is also cultivated for medicinal use in many parts of India as well as in other Asian countries. Preclinical studies suggest that ASW contains an ingredient with GABA-mimetic activity (Mehta et al. 1991; Kulkarni et al. 1993; Cott et al. 1994). ASW also downregulates 5-HT1 and upregulates 5-HT2 receptors in the rat brain; these changes are accompanied by a decrease in behavioural indices of anxiety and depression (Tripathi et al. 1998). In animal models, ASW glycowithanolides have an anxiolytic effect comparable to that of lorazepam (Bhattacharya et al. 2000).

At least three studies have examined the efficacy of ASW in anxiety disorders. In a preliminary investigation, the safety and efficacy of an ethanolic extract of ASW were examined in 50 patients with anxiety disorders. By the end of the first month of treatment, 36 patients showed moderate to excellent improvement at a dose of 1 g/day; in about half of these cases, these statistically significant benefits developed within the first 2 weeks, itself. These 36 patients were continued on ASW for up to 18 months, after which the medication was uneventfully withdrawn. ASW remained effective and was very well tolerated (data available from the author on request).

In a double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial, we (Andrade et al. 2000) randomized 40 patients with ICD-10 anxiety disorders to receive either flexibly-dosed ethanolic extract of ASW (1.0-2.5 g/ day) or placebo for 6 weeks. About two-thirds of the sample was diagnosed with generalized anxiety disorder. By the end of the second week of treatment, 12 of 17 ASW patients but only six of 16 placebo patients met criteria for response. At the end of the study, 15 of 17 ASW patients versus only eight of 16 placebo patients had responded (P < 0.05). Mean Hamilton Anxiety Scale scores dropped from about 18.0 in the two groups at baseline to 8.5 with ASW versus 12.2 with placebo at the 6-week treatment endpoint. ASW was well tolerated and had a placebo level of adverse effects. At the end of the study, abrupt withdrawal of ASW did not precipitate withdrawal phenomena. Thus, ASW appeared to have several of the advantages but none of the disadvantages of conventional anxiolytic drugs such as antidepressants and the benzodiazepines.

Auddy et al. (2008) described a 2-month, doubleblind, randomized controlled study which examined benefits with a standardized extract of ASW in 130 subjects who received a descriptive diagnosis of chronic stress in an Ayurvedic hospital. ASW was dosed at 125, 250, or 500 mg/day; a fourth group of patients received placebo. All doses of ASW attenuated modified HAM-A scores significantly more than did placebo at the 1-month follow-up; there was

(Received 19 December 2008; accepted 23 January 2009)

Correspondence: Chittaranjan Andrade, MD, Professor, Department of Psychopharmacology National Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences, Bangalore 560 029, India. Tel.: +91 80 26995109. Fax: +91 80 26564830. E-mail: andrade@nimhans.kar.nic.in or andradec@gmail.com

^{*}Letters published in this Journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the Editors or the Editorial Board.

further improvement at the 2-month endpoint. The benefits with ASW appeared to be dose-dependent; placebo patients improved little. Furthermore, relative to placebo, ASW significantly lowered heart rate (by 6-8%), systolic blood pressure (by 2-3%), and diastolic blood pressure (by 5-6%); there were significant reductions in serum cortisol, fasting blood sugar, serum lipid, and C-reactive protein levels, as well.

All of these three studies were industry-initiated and none was of sufficient quality for recommendations to be based upon; nevertheless, it does appear that ASW merits study as a possibly safe and effective treatment of anxiety disorders. At the very least, clinicians should be aware of the use of ASW in complementary and alternative medicine. Finally, other herbal treatments for anxiety are also available in India and elsewhere in the world; these treatments may also merit scientific study.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

No financial support was received from any source for the preparation of this letter. I have no financial interest which would either favor or disfavour the thoughts and conclusions advanced in this letter. I have no financial interest which would influence any of the contents of this article. About 10 years ago, I received a very small (approximately USD 2000) but completely unrestricted grant from Gufic, an Indian pharmaceutical company, to study the clinical efficacy of its proprietary formulation of Ashwagandha in anxiety disorders. I describe my study in this letter.

- Andrade C, Aswath A, Chaturvedi SK, Srinivasa M, Raguram R. 2000. A double-blind, placebo-controlled evaluation of the anxiolytic efficacy of an ethanolic extract of *Withania somnifera*. Indian J Psychiatry 42:295–301.
- Auddy B, Hazra J, Mitra A, Abedon B, Ghosal S. 2008. A standardized Withania somnifera extract significantly reduces stress-related parameters in chronically stressed humans: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study. J Am Nutracetical Association 11:50–56.
- Bandelow B, Zohar J, Hollander E, Kasper S, Möller HJ, on behalf of the WFSBP Task Force on Treatment Guidelines for Anxiety, Obsessive-Compulsive and Posttraumatic Stress Disorders. 2008. World Federation of Societies of Biological Psychiatry (WFSBP) Guidelines for the pharmacological treatment of anxiety, obsessive-compulsive and posttraumatic stress disorders – first revision. World J Biol Psychiatry 9: 248–312.
- Bhattacharya SK, Bhattacharya A, Sairam K, Ghosal S. 2000. Anxiolytic-antidepressant activity of *Withania somnifera* glycowithanolides: an experimental study. Phytomedicine 7: 463–469.
- Cott J, Misra R, Dev S. 1994. Novel pharmacological profile of some psychoactive medicinal plant extracts. Psychopharmacol Bull 30:95.
- Handa SS. 1995. Plants and plant products for mental health. In: Koslow SH, Murthy RS, Coelho GV, editors. Decade of the brain. Rockville. MD: US Department of Health and Human Services. pp 163–171.
- Kulkarni SK, George B. 1996. Anticonvulsant action of Withania somnifera (Aswagandha) root extract against pentylenetetrazolinduced kindling in mice. Phytother Res 10:447–449.
- Mehta AK, Binkley P, Gandhi SS, Ticku MK. 1991. Pharmacological effects of *Withania somnifera* root extract on GABA-A receptor complex. Indian J Med Res 94:312–315.
- Satyavati GV. 1995. Leads from Ayurveda on medicinal plants acting on the nervous system. In: Koslow SH, Murthy RS, Coelho GV, editors. Decade of the brain. Rockville. MD: US Department of Health and Human Services. pp 185–190.
- Tripathi AK, Dey S, Singh RH, Dey PK. 1998. Alterations in the sensitivity of 5-HT receptor subtypes following chronic asvagandha treatment in rats. Ancient Science of Life 17:169–181.



LETTER TO THE EDITOR

Mirtazapine and hyperpigmentation

DATTATREYA MENDHEKAR¹ & AMIR INAMDAR²

¹Neuropsychiatry and Headache Clinic, Pratap Nagar Metro Pillar 129, Delhi-7, India, and ²GlaxoSmithKline – Discovery Medicine, Neurosciences Centre for Excellence in Drug Discovery, New Frontiers Science Park, Harlow, UK

Key words: Adverse effects, antidepressants, depression

Sir,

Among the antidepressants, mirtazapine has a unique structure and mechanism of action, which could be best described as a nonadrenergic and specific serotonergic antidepressant. Common side effects of this drug are somnolence, dry mouth, increased appetite and weight gain (Montgomery 1995). We report a case of a woman with depressive disorder who was being treated with mirtazapine and developed hyperpigmentation in photo-sensitive areas. To our knowledge, this is the first reported side-effect in the existing literature.

Mrs A, a 38-year-old fair-complexioned married woman presented to us with a history of sadness, anxiety, disturbed biological functioning and low confidence levels of 2 years duration. Her symptoms met DSM-IV criteria for major depressive disorder. In the initial phase of her illness, for approximately 18 months, she was drug nave and had undergone a few sessions of psychotherapy without any improvement. Subsequently, she was started on imipramine 25 mg/day but this medication was discontinued after 15 days because of severe dryness of mouth and constipation.

She was then started on mirtazapine 7.5 mg/day which was increased to 15 mg/day over a period of 2 weeks. She tolerated this drug very well and showed good clinical response with improvement in sadness of mood and biological functioning. She, however, had a recurrence of depressive symptoms when the dose of mirtazapine was reduced to 7.5 mg. She was therefore stabilized on a daily dose of 15 mg of mirtazapine. After 8 months of mirtazapine therapy, she and her family members noticed a darkening of her skin complexion in the exposed areas of her body such as face, extensor part of forearm and posterior aspect of the neck. However abnormal pigmentation was absent in the sclera, nails and teeth. There was no history of any dermatological disorder preceding the administration of mirtazapine therapy. She did not have any endocrinological abnormalities and all her routine investigations were within normal limits including serum iron and blood glucose levels. Mrs A denied having used new soap, cream or different kind of food. She also denied more exposure to sunlight than usual and was not pregnant.

Dermatological consultation confirmed it as a case of hyperpigmentation. She refused to give consent for a skin biopsy stating cosmetic reasons. Mirtazapine was discontinued completely and it was replaced with sertraline 100 mg/day. She showed mild improvement in her hyperpigmentation over the next 6 months. The probability of an adverse drug reaction was assessed using the Naranjo probability scale (Naranjo et al. 1981). This indicated a possible association between mirtazapine and hyperpigmentation.

A literature review and PubMed search found that, besides tricyclic antidepressant drugs (Metelitsa et al. 2005), there have been reports of hyperpigmentation with citalopram (Inalz et al. 2001) and sertraline (Ghanizadeh 2007). A similar search (using the keywords mirtazapine, pigmentation and hyperpigmentation) found no published reports of hyperpigmentation with mirtazapine. Our finding is important: firstly because atypical antidepressants

(Received 19 June 2008; accepted 20 February 2009)

Correspondence: Dattatreya Mendhekar, Neuropsychiatry and Headache Clinic – Psychiatry, 10867 Pratap Nagar Delhi, Delhi 110007, India. Tel.: 09868900900.

^{*}Letters published in this Journal do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the Editors or the Editorial Board.

are now routinely prescribed over tricyclic antidepressants and secondly because the side effect did not appear to be fully reversible even after 6 months of follow-up. Secretion of the melanocyte stimulating hormone (α -MSH) is closely linked to serotonin and dopamine and, through its actions on tyrosinase and melanin synthesis, may be related to hyperpigmentation (Ghanizadeh 2007). A more conclusive association can be determined by rechallenge to mirtazapine: however, since the subject would not consent to rechallenge this was not carried out. Further studies are needed to try and determine the exact biological mechanism for the emergence of hyperpigmentation.

Acknowledgements

None.

Statement of interest

The authors have not declared any conflicts of interest.

- Montgomery SA. 1995. Safety of mirtazapine: a review. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 10(Suppl 4):37–45.
- Naranjo CA, Busto U, Sellers EM, Sandor P, Ruiz I, Roberts EA, et al. 1981. A method for estimating the probability of adverse drug reactions. Clin Pharmacol Ther 30:239–245.
- Metelitsa AL, Nguyen GK, Lin AN. 2005. Imipramine-induced facial pigmentation: case report and literature review. J Cutan Med Surg 9:341–345.
- Inalöz HS, Kirtak N, Herken H, Ozgöztaşi O, Aynacioğlu AS. 2001. Citalopram-induced photopigmentation. J Dermatol 28: 742–745.
- Ghanizadeh A. 2007. Sertraline and hyperpigmentation: a case report. CNS Spectrum 12:418.

Two essential psychiatry books from Informa Healthcare

SAVE 10%



These books will also be available as e-books.

informa healthcare

To see the full books catalogue visit http://catalogue.informahealthcare.com

informahealthcare.com

NOW LIVE!

One platform unites more than 170 journals

All Informa Healthcare journals currently listed on informapharmascience.com and informaworld.com are now available on one united platform: informahealthcare.com

The new site combines all of the pharmaceutical and medical journal titles to simplify customer experience, deliver a comprehensive archive portfolio as well as adding improved navigation and functionality.

This **new and improved service** brings together quality information to better meet your needs.

Visit **www.informahealthcare.com** to review a complete list of journals on the new platform.

informa healthcare

MD7627

nform

www.informahealthcare.com